
COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PUBLIC ELECTRONIC INFORMATION PACKAGE FOR  
COUNCIL (IN-PERSON) MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 19, 2023 – 8:30 A.M. – 1 P.M. 



RHPA

Duties and Obiects of Colleges

Dufy of College
z.l It is the duty of the College to work in consultation with the Minister to ensure, as a

matter of public urterest, that the people of Ontario have access to adequate numbers of

qualified, iLitl"¿ and competent regulated health professionals' 2008' c' l8' s- l'

Objects of College
3. ( I ) The College has the following objects'

l. To regulate the practice of the profession and to govern the members in accordance

with the healttr profession Act, this Code and the Regulated Health Professions

Act, I991 and the regulations and by-,laws'

2. To.develop, establish and maintain standards of qualification lor persons to be issued

certificates o f registration.

3. To develop, establish and maintain programs and standards of practice to assure the

qualify of the practice of the profession'

4. 'I-o develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge and skill and programs to

promoteãntinuing evaluation, competence and improvement among the members'

4.1 To develop, in collaboration and consultation with other Colleges, standards of

knowledgå, skill and judgment relating to the performance olcontrolled acts

"o-,ooriumong 
healih professions to enhance interprolessional collaboration, while

respecting the rinique character of individual health professions and their members'

5. To develop, establish and maintain standards of professional ethics for the members'

6- To develop, establish and rnaintain programs to assist individuals to exercise their

rights under this Code and the Regulated Heatth Professions Act, ] 991 '

T.Toadminister the health profession Act, this code and the Regulated Health

professions Act, lggl as it relates to the profession and to perform the other duties

and exercise the other po\Ãiers that are imposed or conlened on the College'

g- To promote and enhance relations befween the College and its members, other

health profession colleges, key stakeholders, and the pubtic.

9. To promote inter-professional collaboration with other health profession colleges'

10. To develop, establish, and maintain standards and programs to promote the ability

of members to respond to changes in practice environments, advances in

technolory and other emerging issues-

I l. Any other objects retating to human health care that the Council considers

desirable. t9é1, c. 18, SJrte¿. 2, s.3 (l); 2007, c- 10, Sched' M, s' l8; 2009, c'26'

s. 2a (l l)-

Dufy
(2) In carrying out its objects, the College has a duty to serye and protect the public

interest. I991, c. 18, Sched. 2, s- 3 (2)'

.1



Version date: October 12, 2017 

 

 

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO 
MISSION, VISION, VALUES AND STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES  

 
MISSION 
 
The College of Chiropractors of Ontario regulates the profession in the public 
interest to assure ethical and competent chiropractic care. 
 
VISION 
 
Committed to Regulatory Excellence in the Public Interest in a Diverse 
Environment. 
 
VALUES 
 

• Integrity  
• Respect 
• Collaborative 
• Innovative 
• Transparent 
• Responsive 

 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 
 

 
1. Build public trust and confidence and promote understanding of the role of 

CCO amongst all stakeholders. 
 

2. Ensure the practice of members is safe, ethical, and patient-centered. 
 

3. Ensure standards and core competencies promote excellence of care while 
responding to emerging developments. 

 
4. Optimize the use of technology to facilitate regulatory functions and 

communications. 
 

5. Continue to meet CCO’s statutory mandate and resource priorities in a 
fiscally responsible manner. 
 

                                      Developed at the strategic planning session: September 2017  
 



CCO Gooe or CoruDUcr FoR CunneruT AND

Fonuen E¡-ecreD AND Puellc MeMeeRs oF
Cou n¡c r L AN D N o tt -G o u N c I L Colt¡ lvl ¡rrer M eM B E RS @Ð
Executive Committee
Approved by Gouncil: September 28,2012
Amended: February 23,2016, April 19, 20'16, September 15,2016
Re-Affirmed bv Council: November 29, 2018

Current and former elected and public members of Council and non-Council committee

members must, at all times, maintain high standards of integrity, honesty and loyalty
when discharging their College duties. They must act in the best interest of the College.

They shall:

l. be familiar and comply with the provisions of the Regulated Health Professions

Act, 1991 (RHPA),its regulations and the Health Professions Procedural Code,

the Chiropractic Act 1991, its regulations, and the by-laws and policies of the

College;

2. diligently take part in committee work and actively serve on committees as

elected and appointed by the Council;

3. regularly attend meetings on time and participate constructively in discussions;

4. offer opinions and express views on matters before the College, Council and

committee, when appropriate;

5. participate in all deliberations and communications in a respectful, courteous and

professional manner, recognizing the diverse background, skills and experience of
members on Council and committees;

6. uphold the decisions made by Council and committees, regardless of the level of
prior individual disagreement;

7. place the interests of the College, Council and committee above self-interests;

8. avoid and, where that is not possible, declare any appearance of or actual conflicts

of interestst;

9. refrain from including or referencing Council or committee positions held at the

College in any personal or business promotional materials, advertisements and

business cards;2

I There is a general assumption of real or perceived conflict unless confirmation of no conflict by the

Executive Committee and/or Council, which will be addressed promptly.
2 This section does not preclude the use ofprofessional biographies for professional involvement.



CCO Code of Conduct
November 29,2018

10. preserve conf,rdentiality of all information before Council or committee unless
disclosure has been authorized by Council or otherwise exempted under s. 36(1)
ofthe RHPA;

11. refrain from communicating to members, including other Council or committee
members, on statutory committees regarding registration, complaints, reports,
investigations, disciplinary or fitness to practise proceedings which coulã be
perceived as an attempt to influence a statutory committee or a breach of
confidentiality, unless he or she is a membcr of the panel or, where there is no
panel, of the statutory committee dealing with the matter;

12. rcfrain from communicating to members and stakeholdet' on behalf of CCO
including on social media, unless authorized by Councila;

13. respect the boundaries of staff whose role is not to report to or work for individual
Council or committee members; and

14. be respectful of others and not engage in behaviour that might reasonably be
perceived as verbal, physical or sexual abuse or harassment.

Potential Breaches of the Gode of Conduct

15. An elected or appointed member of Council or non-Council committee member
who becomes aware of any potential breach of this code of conduct should
immediately advise the President and Registrar, or if the potential breach involves
the President, advise the Vice President and Registrar; and,

16. Potential breaches will be addressed first through informal discussion with the
Council member(s) or non-Council committee member(s), and subsequently by
written communication expressing concerns and potential conseq.,"n"ir.

I, , Council member or non-Council committee member of the
College of Chiropractors of Ontario undertake to comply with the CCO Code of Conduct
for Current and Former Elected and Public Members of Council and Non-Council
Comrnittee Members, both during and follcrving rny term on CCo Council or a
committee

Signature Witness:

Date

3 Stakeholders include professional associations, societies, and other organizations related to the regulation,
education and practice of chiropractic.
a This does not preclude Council members from communicating about CCO, provided they are not
communicating on behalf of CCO.

2



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Rules of Order of the Council of the
Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario

Approved by Council: September 20,2014
Amended: June17,2020

In this Schedule, "Council Member" means a Member of the Council of the CCO.

Each agenda topic may be introduced briefly by the person or committee
representative raising it. Council Members may ask questions for clarification.
However, a Council Member shall make a motion and another Council Member
shall second the motion before it can be debated.

When any Council Member wishes to speak, they shall so indicate by raising
their hand. When speaking the Council Member shall address the presiding

officer and confine themselves to the matter under discussion.

Staff persons and consultants with expertise in a matter may be permitted by the
presiding officer to provide information or answer specific questions about the
matter.

Observers at a Council meeting shall not speak to a matter that is under debate

A Council Member shall not speak again on the debate of a matter until every
other Council Member of Council who wishes to speak to it has been given an

opportunity to do so. An exception is that the person introducing the matter or a
staff person or consultant may answer questions about the matter. Council
Members shall not speak to a matter more than twice without the permission of
the presiding officer.

No Council Member may speak longer than five minutes upon any motion except
with the permission of the Council.

When a motion is under debate, no other motion can be made except to amend
it, to postpone it, to put the motion to a vote, to adjourn the debate or the Council
meeting or to refer the motion to a committee.

A motion to amend the motion then under debate shall be disposed of first. Only
one motion to amend the motion under debate can be made at a time.

When it appears to the presiding officer that the debate on a matter has
concluded, that Council has passed a motion to vote on the motion or that the
time allocated to the debate of the matter has concluded, the presiding officer
shall put the motion to a vote.

When a matter is being voted on, no Council Member shall enter or leave the
Council room, and no further debate is permitted.

I

10

11.



12.

Rules of Order of Council

No Council Member shall be present in the room, participate in a debate or vote
upon any motion in which they have a conflict of interest, and the vote of any
Council Member so interested shall be disallowed.

13. Any motion decided by the Council shall not be re-introduced during the same
session except by a two-thirds vote of the Council then present.

14 Whenever the presiding officer is of the opinion that a motion offered to the
Council is contrary to these rules or the by-laws, the presiding officer shall rule
the motion out of order and give reasons for doing so.

15 The presiding officer shall preserve order and decorum, and shall decide
questions of order, subject to an appeal to the Council without debate.

16 The above rules may be relaxed by the presiding officer if it appears that greater
informality is beneficial in the particular circumstances unless the Council
requires strict adherence.

17 Council Members shall not discuss a matter with observers while it is being
debated.

18. Council Members shall turn off their electronic devices during Council meetings
and, except during a break in the meeting, shall not use their electronic devices.
Computers shall only be used during Council meetings to review materials
related to the matter under debate (e.9., electronic copies of background
documents) and to make personal notes of the debate. The presiding officer may
make reasonable exceptions (e.9., if a Council Member is awaiting an important
message on an urgent matter).

19. Council Members shall be silent while others are speaking

In all cases not provided for in these rules or the by-laws, the current edition of
Robert's Rules of Order shall be followed so far as they may be applicable and
consistent witlr these rules.

20

2



List of Commonly Used Acronyms at CCO
as at November 17, 2022

Acronym Full Name

ACE Accessing Centre for Expertise, Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of
Toronto

ADR Alternative Dispute Resolution
AFC Alliance For Chiropractic (formerly CAC)
ASNFPO Accountins Standards for Not-for-Profit Organizations

BDC Board of Directors of Chiropractic
ccA Canadian Chiropractic Association
ccBc Colleee of Chiropractors of British Columbia

CCEB Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board
ccEc Council on Chiropractic Education (Canada)

cccr Canadian Chiropractic Guideline Initiative
cco Colleee of Chiropractors of Ontario
CCPA Canadian Chiropractic Protective Association

CCRF Canadian Chiropractic Research Foundation
Chiropractic Act Chiropractic Act, 1991

cMcc Canadian Memorial Chiropractic Collese

CMOH Chief Medical Officer of Health

cNo College of Nurses of Ontario
covtD-19 SARS - CoV- 2
Code Health P r ofess ions P r ocedur al Co de, Schedule 2 to the RHPA

coNo of of Ontario

CPGs Clinical Fractice Guidelines
CPMF Colleee Performance Measurement Framework

CPSO Colleee of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario

D'Youville D'Youville Colleee - Chiropractic Program
DAC Desierated Assessment Centre

DEI Diversitv. Eouitv and Inclusion
FCC Federation of Canadian Chiropractic
FCCOS(C) Fellow of the of
FCCR(C) Fellow of the of
FCCPOR(C) Fellow of the Canadian Chiropractic College of Physical and Occupational

Rehabilitation (Canada)

FCCS(C) Fellow of the of Sciences

FRCCSS(C) Fellow of the Royal College of Chiropractic Sports Sciences

FCLB Federation of Chiropractic Licensing Boards

FOt Freedom of Information
Grc Guaranteed Invesfrnent Certificate
HARP Healins Arts Radiation Protection Act, 1990

HIA Heqlth Insurance Act, 1990

HPARB Health Professions Appeal and Review Board

HPRAC Health Professions Resulatory Advisory Council

HPRO Health Profession Regulators of Ontario

rcRc Inquiries. Complaints and Reports Committee

KPI Key Performance Indicators
LSO Law Socie8 of Ontario
MESPO Model for the Etaluation of Scopes of Practice in Ontmio

MOH Ministrv of Health
MTCU Ministrv of Traihine, Colleges and Universities

NBCE National Board of Chiropractic Examiners

NHSU National Universitv of Health Sciences - Chiropractic Proglam

NWG Nominations Working Group
NYCC New York Chiropractic Collese



2

Acronym FullName

ocA Ontario Chiropractic Association
ODP Ottice ljevelopment Proiect
oFc Office of the Faimess Commissioner
OHIP Ontario Health Insurance Plan
OHPR Ontario Health Professions Regulators
OHR OntarioHealthRe gulators.ca (HPRO's nublic-focused website)
OHRC Ontario Human Riehts Commission
PHIPA Personal Health Information Protection Act. 2004
PPA Peer and Practice Assessment
PIPEDA Personal Informqtion and Protection of Electronic Documents Act
PSA Professional Standards Authoritv for Health and Social Care (U.K.)
PVO Prosecutorial Viabilitv Opinion
QA Oualitv Assurance
RFP Request for Proposal
RHPA Regulated Health Professions Act, I99I
SCERP Specified Continuine Education or Remediation Prosram
SOAR Society of Ontario Adiudicators and Resulators
SPPA Statutorv Powers Procedural Act. 1990
SWOT Strengths, Weaknesses" Opporhrnities. Threats
TCL Terms. Conditions and Limitations
UOIT Universi8 of Ontario Institute of Technoloey
UQTR Universitd du Oudbec d Trois-Rividres
WHO World Health Organization
WSIB Workolace Safetv and Insurance Board



 

 

 
 
 

AGENDA (Public) 1 
 

COUNCIL MEETING  
 

Wednesday, April 19, 2023 (8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m.) 2  
 

In Person for CCO Council  3 
 

Attendees 
 

Council members  
Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar 

Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel 
Ms Beth Ann Kenny, Recording Secretary  

Mr. Robert MacKay, Facilitator 4 
 

 
AGENDA (Public) 5  

 
Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

 CALL TO ORDER 7 AND LAND 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT  8 

Welcome Mizel/ 
Gravelle 

High 

     
 

1 Informa�on which is included for background or context (i.e., not requiring Council ac�on) is shaded in grey.  
2 Subject to Council’s direc�on.  
3 Guests to atend virtually un�l further no�ce (please advise Rose Bustria if you would like to atend). 
4  To facilitate the President’s chairing of this mee�ng (at the President’s request and as directed by the 
Execu�ve). 
5 If you would like the complete background documenta�on rela�ng to any item on the agenda, please speak 
to Dr. Mizel, President and Ms Willson (informa�on may be subject to confiden�ality provisions). 
6 Subject to Council’s direc�on.  
7 Council members to be familiar with and comply with the rules of order. If required, Dr. Mizel, President, to 
appoint a parliamentarian.  
 
8 Land acknowledgment 

Let us acknowledge that in our meeting space today, we gather on the Treaty Lands and Territory of the 
Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation as well as the traditional territory of the Haudenosaunee and the 
Huron-Wendat peoples.  We recognize that we have a responsibility to work towards meaningful reconciliation 
between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples and through this land acknowledgement, we are honoring 
the land, Indigenous peoples, and deepening our understanding of truth. 

 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

2 
 

2 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

 1. Consent Agenda Approve Council  High 
     

10 1.1 Discipline Committee Report     
11 1.1.1 HPRO Training (Discipline) – 

  May 26, June 9, 2023 
FYI   

14 1.2  Fitness to Practise Committee 
 Report  

   

15 1.3  Inquiries, Complaints, and 
 Reports Committee (ICRC) 
 Report  

   

 Health Professions Appeal and Review 
Board (HPARB) Decisions 9 

   

17 1.3.1  Shannel Pearson and Chris  
  Triantafilou (received January 31, 
  2023) (ICRC decision upheld)  

   

35 1.3.2  Channel Pearson and Guy  
  Pelletier (received January 31, 
  2023) (ICRC decision upheld) 

   

54 1.4 Patient Relations Committee Report    
56 1.5 Advertising Committee Report      
     
 2. Main Agenda  Adopt Council High 

     
 2.1 Conflict of Interest  Review/ 

Declare 
any real 
or 
perceived 
conflicts 
of 
interest 
as agenda 
item 
reached 
10 
 
 

Council High 

 
9 HPARB decisions are public documents and are included in the Council informa�on packages for transparency 
and to demonstrate feedback on ICRC decision making from an independent review body.   
10 Standing conflicts of interest do not need to be declared at every mee�ng. 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

3 
 

3 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

 3. Adoption of Minutes 11     
     
 4. Committee Reports     

73 4.1 Executive Committee Report  
 
 

Report/ 
Approve 
Recom-
menda-
tions 

Mizel/ 
Council 
 
 
 

High 

     
 Move in Camera 12    
     
     
 Move Out of Camera and Ratify 

Decisions made In Camera 
   

  
 

   

 Dr. B.J. Hardick v CCO 13    
202 4.1.17 Endorsement of Justice O’Brien 

  re: hearing on February 17, 2023 
Review 
Decision 

Council Medium 

211 4.1.18 Order dated February 17, 2023 FYI   
214 4.1.19 Grey Areas dated April 2023  

  “The Legal Value of a Sound 
  Policy-Making Process” 

FYI   

     
 Ministry of Health     
 College Performance Measurement 

Framework (CPMF) 14  
Verbal 
Report 

Friedman High 

217 4.1.20 CPMF Report (filed March 31, 
  2023) 

Review Council High 

337 4.1.21 Key Performance Indicators dated 
  November 21, 2021 

   

338 4.1.22  DEI Plan (approved April 20, 
  2022)  

   

 
11 Only members present at the mee�ng should approve the minutes. Once Council minutes are approved, 
they are posted on the CCO website.   
12 Council may go in camera to discuss items iden�fied in Ss. 7 (2) of the Code, such as financial maters, 
government rela�ons, and advice from lawyers.   
13 Court orders are public documents. Legal advice, if any, to be discussed in camera.   
14 CCO’s third CPMF Report was submited on March 31, 2023 and is available on CCO’s website. 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

4 
 

4 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

346 4.1.23 HPRO Information re: DEI tools 
  and resources 15 

Verbal 
Report/ 
Incorpor-
ate into 
CCO 
Plan 

Kenny/ 
DEI 
Officers 

Medium 

 Other Ministry Related Matters Verbal 
Report/ 
Review 

Willson/ 
Friedman/ 
Council 

Medium 

394 4.1.24 Circulation of Proposed  
  Amendments to Registration  
  Regulation: Creation of  
  Emergency Class of Registration 
  – February 28, 2023  

   

414 4.1.25 Posting of CCO Draft Regulation 
  on Regulatory Registry 

Back- 
ground/ 
Context 

  

419 4.1.26 Regulatory Registry – Current 
  Proposals 
 

   

 Bill 60, Your Health Act, 2023 (Proposed 
“As of Right” Legislation and “Reducing 
Wait Times for Publicly Funded 
Surgeries and Diagnostics”) 

   

426 4.1.27 News Release dated January 19, 
  2023 entitled “New “As of Right” 
  Rules a First in Canada to Attract 
  More Health Care Workers to 
  Ontario” 

   

429 4.1.28 News Release dated February 21, 
  2023 entitled “Ontario Reducing 
  Wait Times for Publicly Funded 
  Surgeries and  Diagnostics” 

   

439 4.1.30 Correspondence dated February 
  9, 2023 to Ms Henry, Director, 
  Health Workforce Regulatory 
  Oversight Branch, MOH from 
  Elinor Larney, Chair, HPRO 

   

443 4.1.31 Extract from Bill 60, Your Health 
  Act, 2023  

   

 
15 The Pa�ent Rela�ons Commitee is reviewing the DEI Plan to incorporate best prac�ces from the work 
conducted by HPRO. 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

5 
 

5 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

460 4.1.32  Communication dated February 
  22, 2023 re: Your Health: A Plan 
  for Connected and Convenient 
  Care 

Back- 
ground/ 
Context 

  

463 4.1.33 Media dated March 9, 2023  
  entitled “Ontario considers  
  expanding scope of practice for 
  nurses, pharmacists, and more” 

   

465 4.1.34 Media dated March 13, 2023  
  “Gelinas worried unregistered 
  health workers might abuse  
  system” 

   

468 4.1.35  Media dated April 5, 2023  
  entitled “Ontario to expand list of 
  tests midwives can order;  
  midwives say it’s a first step” 

   

     
 Strategic Planning    

493 4.1.38  Article from October 21, 2022 
  meeting entitled “Cyber  
  resilience:12 key controls to  
  strengthen your security” 

   

496 4.1.39  Various Cyber Security Training 
  Sessions 16 

   

     
 Communications/Media Back- 

ground/ 
Context 

  

498 4.1.40 Communication exchange with 
  CBC Reporter 

   

504 4.1.41  CBC article dated March 11,  
  2023 entitled “Backlogged  
  tribunals creating distress for 
  Ontarians waiting months or  
  years to be heard” 

   

512 4.1.42 President’s Message – March 28, 
  2023 

Review Council Medium 

 Council and Committees    
515 4.1.43  Health and Safety Protocols for 

  Hybrid (In-Person/Virtual)  
Approve Council Medium 

 
16 Staff atending. 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

6 
 

6 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

  Council and Committee Meetings 
  (draft) 

517 4.1.44  COVID-19 Protocols for Hybrid 
  (In-Person/Virtual) Council and 
  Committee Meetings 

Revoke 
(if new 
Protocol 
approved) 

Council Medium 

518 4.1.45  Internal Policy I-021: Guidance 
  for New Committee Chairs 

Approve Council Medium 

 Elections    
520 4.1.46  Announcement of Election  

  Results 
Verbal 
Report 

Willson Medium 

522 4.1.47 Distribution of Election  
  information dated January 26, 
  2023 

Back- 
ground/ 
Context 

  

547 4.1.48 Distribution of Candidate  
  Biographies in District 6 dated 
  March 6, 2023 

   

550 4.1.49  Distribution of further Candidate 
  information in District 6 dated 
  March 10, 2023 

   

553 4.1.50  Distribution of ballots in District 
  6 dated March 13, 2023 

   

555 4.1.51  Communication from OCA re: 
  Voting for 2023 Elections to  
  CCO Council 

   

     
 Other Chiropractic/Health Related 

Stakeholders 
Primarily 
FYI 
(subject to 
questions) 

Council Medium 

 Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA)    
 Animal Chiropractic Verbal 

Report 
Willson Medium 

610 4.1.54  S-009: Chiropractic Care of  
  Animals 

Back 
ground/ 
Context 

  

614 4.1.55  Historical Correspondence re: 
  Chiropractic Care of Animals 
  with CVO 

Review Council Medium 

628 4.1.56  New Discussion paper from  
  Ministry of Agriculture, Food and 
  Rural Affairs dated March 1,  
  2023 

Review 
 

Council Medium 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

7 
 

7 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

655 4.1.57 Correspondence dated February 
  16, 2023 to Ms Willson from Ms 
  Caroline Brereton, CEO, OCA 

Review Council Medium 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

 Federation of Canadian Chiropractic 
(FCC) 

Primarily 
FYI 
subject to 
questions 

  

 College of Chiropractors of Alberta    
675 4.1.61 Hearing Tribunal Written  

  Decision and Orders for the  
  Hearing of Dr. Curtis  Wall on 
  January 27, 2023 

Back-
ground/ 
Context 

  

797 4.1.63 Letter to CCO dated March 7, 
  2023 

   

800 4.1.64 CCGI Stakeholder Report –  
  March 2023 

   

 Health Profession Regulators of Ontario 
(HPRO) 

   

807 4.1.65 HPRO Remarks to Ontario’s  
  Standing Committee on Social 
  Policy Bill 60 Your Health Act, 
  2023 (March 21, 2023) 

Verbal 
Report 

Willson Medium 

811 4.1.66 HPRO Correspondence dated 
  March  10, 2023, re: Registration 
  Open for Spring 2023 Discipline 
  Orientation Workshop – Basic 
  and Advanced Sessions 

   

816 4.1.67 HPRO Legislative Update for 
  February 2023 

   

 Other Ontario Health Regulatory 
Colleges  

   

830 4.1.68 Michael Venneri v. College of 
  Traditional Chinese Medicine 
  Practitioners and Acupuncturists 
  of Ontario 

   

     



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

8 
 

8 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

841 4.2 Quality Assurance Committee Report Report/ 
Approve 
Recomm-
endations 

Groulx High 

850 4.2.3  Responses of CCO Members  
  Registered in the General (i.e., 
  Active) Class of Registration for 
  2023 Renewal of Selected  
  Practice-Related Questions  

Back- 
ground/ 
Context 

  

     
851 4.3 Registration Committee Report Report/ 

Approve 
Recom-
menda-
tions 
 

De 
Domenico
/ 
Willson/ 
Friedman/ 
Council 

High 

854 4.3.1 CCO distribution of proposed 
  amendments to Registration  
  Regulation (Emergency Class of 
  Registration) February 28, 2023 

Back 
ground/ 
Context 

  

883 4.3.2  Communication with the Ministry 
  re: CCO’s Emergency Class – 
  Regulatory Registry Posting 

   

889 4.3.3 Feedback as of April 10, 2023 
 
 
 
 

Review Council High 

898 4.3.4 Application for Temporary  
  Certificate of Registration (draft) 

Approve Council Medium 

902 4.3.5  Application for Temporary  
  Certificate of Registration  
  (current) 

   

 Office of the Fairness Commissioner Back 
ground/ 
Context 

  

906 4.3.6 CCO’s 2021 Fair Registration 
  Practices Report 
 

   

925 4.3.7  Notification dated March 15,  
  2023 re: Fair Registration  
  Practice reporting 

   

932 4.3.8 OFC Newsletter dated March    



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

9 
 

9 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

  2023 – Regulator Spotlight 
     
 5. New Business    TBD   
     
 6. FYI   Back-

ground/ 
Context 
only  

  

     
937 6.1 Chiropractic and Manual Therapies 

 (2023) “A  two-year follow up: 
 Twitter activity regarding 
 misinformation about spinal 
 manipulation chiropractic care and 
 boosting immunity during the 
 COVID-19 pandemic” 

   

949 6.2 Press Release dated March 30, 2023 
 “Province Helping More Ontario 
 Students Become Doctors at Home in 
 Ontario”  

   

954 6.3 Announcement dated April 5, 2023 
 “CPSO Removes Barriers for 
 Internationally Educated Physicians” 

   

957 6.4 CTV news March 24, 2023 “Coun. 
 Josh Matlow broke code of conduct 
 on Twitter, should face 10-day pay 
 suspension, says commissioner” 
 

   

968 6.5 Grey Areas (March 2023)     
970 6.6 Council Members Terms (dated 

 March 17, 2023) 
   

     
     
 DATE AND TIME OF MEETINGS 17    
     
 ADJOURNMENT     
     

 
All Executive Committee and Council meetings are in person and are scheduled from 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. 
unless otherwise noted.  
 

 
17 Please mark your calendar and advise Rose Bustria ASAP if you are unable to atend any mee�ngs. 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

10 
 

10 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): April 19, 2023 (in person)                                                                                                   

Executive Committee Meeting Dates to December 2023 
 

Year Date Time Event Location 
2023 Wednesday, May 17 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, August 11 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, October 27 18 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 

Council Meeting Dates to December 2023 
 

Year Date Time Event Location 

2023 Wednesday, April 19 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Thursday, April 20 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting (Elections) CCO 

 Tuesday, June 20 6:00 p.m. Presidents’ Dinner 19  TBD 

 Wednesday, June 21 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Wednesday, June 21 6:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. AGM 
 
 
 
 

The Royal Sonesta, Toronto, 
Yorkville 
Barclay Room 20 

 Friday, September 8 1:00 p.m. – 4:30 p.m. Meeting White Oaks Resort and Spa 21 

 Saturday, September 9 8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m. Strategic 
Planning/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

White Oaks 

 Sunday, September 10 8:30 a.m. – 11:30 p.m. Strategic 
Planning/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

White Oaks 

 Thursday, November 23 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting (budget) CCO 

 Friday, November 24 8:30 a.m. – 11:30 a.m. Training/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

CCO 

 Friday, November 24 6:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. Holiday Party TBD 

 

 

 
18 Note change in date to October 27, 2023 (from October 20, 2023). 
19 For current and former BDC Chairs and CCO Presidents. 
 
20 The Royal Sonesta, Toronto, Yorkville, 220 Bloor Street West, Toronto, Ontario M5S 1T8 
htps://www.sonesta.com/royal-sonesta/on/toronto/yorkville-royal-sonesta-hotel-toronto/ 
 
21 White Oaks Resort and Spa: 253 Taylor Rd, Niagara-on-the-Lake, Ontario 
www.whiteoaksresort.com 
 

https://www.sonesta.com/royal-sonesta/on/toronto/yorkville-royal-sonesta-hotel-toronto/
http://www.whiteoaksresort.com/


ITEM 1.1 Generated Internally

Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario
Discipline Gommittee Report to Gouncil
April 19,2023

10

Committee
Members:

Mr. Shawn Southern, Chair
Dr. Dennis Mizel
Mr. Scott Stewart
Dr. Julia Viscomi
Mr. Robert Mackay, Council Appointed member
Dr. Daniela Arciero, non-Council member
Dr. Murray Townsend, non-Council member
Dr. Matt Tribe, non-Council member

Staff Support: Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Committee Mandate

To adjudicate specified allegations of professional misconduct or incompetence
referred to the committee by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee.
To review applications for reinstatement following a discipline hearing.

Since the last report to Council, there have been no meetings of the committee, however,
there has been hearing dates with respect to Dr. Brian Moore as follows: December 12-

16, December 19-20,2022, January 25-26,2023, February 7,13,14,2023, March
1,2,9,21and continuing on April 11,12,17 & 18, 2023.

The Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO) is holding its next Discipline
Orientation on May 26,2023(Basic) and June 9, 2023(Advanced). Just a reminder that
according to our bylaws, every member of Council may be called upon to serve on a
discipline panel to ensure the timely adjudication of discipline referrals. If any Council
members are interested in the above training and have not attended the program
previously, please contact Ms Rose Bustria. The training is offered three times per year

I would like to thank the members of the discipline committee for their time and
commitment. Also, appreciation goes to all Council members who have given their time
and expertise to serve on a panel or panels. Thank you to Mr. Robert MacKay, Council
appointed member, for addressing urgent discipline matters in a timely manner. The
Discipline Committee continues to meet its mandate while conducting hearings as

required to ensure compliance with CCO's public interest mandate.

Respectfully Submitted,

Mr. Shawn Southern,
Chair

o

o



Health
Profession
Regulators
of 0ntario

il'ilPRo

Program Obiectives

This program is designed to
provide professiona I regulators

with a comprehensive

orientation to the discipline
process. At the conclusion of the
session, participants will have an

understanding of:
r' Relevant principles of

administrative law
/ Roles of various participants

in the hearings process

/ Activities that occur prior to a
hearing

/ Procedures associated with
the process, including

hearings held electronically
/ Responsibilities of panel

members

Note: scheduled subject to change

, Facultv

Luisa Ritacca, Stockwoods LLP

&

Julie Maciura,

Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc

Discipline Orientation
Committee Members

. Tina Langlois, College of
Medical Radiation & lmaging

Tech nologists of Onta rio

. Genevieve Plummer, Ontario

College of Pharmacists

ITEM 1.1 .1

Discipline Orientation Workshop
Basic Session-May 26,2023 Webinar

Conductine a Discioline - ln-Person and Online Hearinss

Registration into the Go-To-Webinar System Opens

lntroduction and Legal Framework
Topics include: applicable legislation, jurisdiction, the public in-
terest, confidentiality, disclosure, allegations, penalties, and

costs

11

8:45 a.m.

9:00 a.m.

9:45 a.m.

10:00 a.m

10:45 a.m.

11:00 a.m.

12:00 p.m.

1:00 p.m.

1:45 p.m.

2:00 p.m.

2:45 p.m.

3:00 p.m.

BREAK

Principles of Administrative Law and Fitness to Practice Process

Topics include: nature of a hearing, natural justice, transparency,
burden of proof, and accountability, and how the FTP process

differs from discipline, and the definition of incapacity

BREAK

Pre-Hearing Procedures and Roles of Participants in the
Hearings Process

Role-play will focus on conducting a videoconference Pre-

Hearing Conference and the goal of narrowing the issues, coming
to an agreed statement of fact, and developing joint submissions
on penalty; discussion will focus on the roles of panel members,
members, prosecution and defence counsel, independent legal

counsel, intervenors, media, experts, witnesses, court reporters,
and staff

TUNCH BREAK

Roles of Participants in the Hearing Process (Continupd) and
The Discipline Hearing
Discussion willfocus on the roles of panel members, members,
prosecution and defence counsel, independent legal counsel,
intervenors, media, experts, witnesses, court reporters, and

staff; through a role-play, participants will experience an abbrevi-
ated, contested virtual hearing

BREAK

The Discipline Hearing (Continued)

BREAK

3:45 p.m.

Responsibilities of Panel Members
Discussion will focus on panel member conduct prior to, during,
and after the hearing by using real case examples of situations
where panel member conduct is questioned (completion of as-

signed homework recommended)

Wrap Up and Closing of Session

All registration will be confirmed within five (5) business days. lf you do not receive confirmation, pleose contoct HPRO ot
info@requlatedhealthprofessions.on.co or by phone qt 4L6-493-4076. See Registrotion Form for rates ond payment informotion.



Health
Profession
Regulators
of OntarioriiiPRo

Progra m Description

This advanced program was

developed because of the success

ofthe Basic Program and an

identified need for advanced

training. lt is a "beyond-the basics"

learning opportunity for
adjudicators. The advanced
program will help discipline panel

members develop their skills to
deal with challenging situations
while chairing hearings and

deliberations. The program is

intended to develop critical

thinking and the "how to" needed

to meet unique situations.
Participants will learn how to
confidently control the
proceedings, demonstrate
fairness, assess the evidence,

facilitate panel deliberations and

ensure adequate reasons for the
decision while meeting head-on, a

complex array of challenges that
can arise in hearings.

Note: scheduled subiect to change

Faculty

Luisa Ritacca, Stockwoods LLP

&
Julie Maciura,

Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc

Discipli ne Orientation
Committee Members

. Tina Langlois, College of
Medical Radiation & lmaging

Technologists of Onta rio

. Genevieve Plummer, Ontario
College of Pharmacists

8:45 a.m.

9:00 a.m.

9:05 a.m.

9:35 a.m.

9:55 a.m.

10:10 a.m.

10:25 p.m.

11:00 a.m.

11:15 a.m.

11:45 a.m.

12:45 p.m.

1:25 p.m.

1:40 p.m.

2:30 p.m.

2:45 p.m.

3:45 p.m.

Discipline Orientation Vi rtual Workshop
Advanced Session-June 9, 2023

conducting a Discipline Hearing - ln-Person and online Hearings

Registration into the Zoom Meeting

Welcome and Basic Overview
lntroduction to the concepts of controlling the proceedings,

giving parties a fair opportunity to participate, explaining the

decision, and managing conflicts/potential bias

"Give Everyone a Chance" - Role PlaY

Participants will act out scenes which demonstrate the first and

last rule structure for objections, motions and submissions, and

how the panel ensures fairness to the parties

"You're in Charge"

Participants will consider challenging situations that test the
panel's ability to be in charge of conducting the hearing and

control the proceedings

BREAK

"You're in Charge" (continued)

"Only the Evidence"
Participants will discuss how they would deal with the evidence

and how the evidence forms the basis for the decision

12

BREAK

"Only the Evidence" (continued)

LUNCH BREAK

"Explain Yourself"
Participants will interact to learn about the deliberation process,

hlghlighting the Chair's role itr leadirrg the deliberation process

and how it is separated from the reason-writing process, A

perfunctory credibility assessment, which could lead to an

appeal, is highlighted; requirements for adequate reasons in

decision-write are also highlighted

BREAK

"Explai n Yourself" (continued)

BREAK

"No Connection with ParticiPants"
Scenarios will be presented which demonstrate situations where

panel members may find themselves unwittingly mingling with

the parties or realize that they may know a witness from their
personal or professional lives

Concluding Remarks and Evaluation

All registrotion will be confirmed within five (5) business doys. lf you do not receive confirmotion, please contoct HPRO qt

info@requlotedhealthprofessions.on.ca or by phone ot 416-49g-4076. See Registration Form for rates ond poyment informotion.



13
Discipline Orientation Workshop-Spring 2O23

Basic (May 251 & Advanced (June 9) Sessions

Registration Form

REG ISTRANT I N FORMATION

Name:

Health
Profession
Regulators
of Ontario

College

Phone:

Email

Accommodation Needs (please advise if you wish to be contacted prior to the event re. your specific needs)

Have you attending a previous Discipline Orientation Workshop? O Yes ONo

Have you participated in discipline hearings? O Yes (1) O Yes (2-5) O Yes (5+) O lrto

lf the person completing the form is not the Registrant, please share the following:
Name & email of person completing the form

* Member rates apply to all Council, Committee Members, and Stoff of HPRO Members HST #871392825

College to be invoiced for registrations submitted from thot College, payoble in odvonce of the session

See the HPRO website (www.reautateanea for terms/policies reloted to event registrotion

SUBMIT FORM BY:

Mail: HPRO - 301-395 Osborne St, PO Box244, Beaverton ON LOK 1A0 | Fax: 1-866-8L4-5456

Ema il : info(o resulated hea lthprofessions.on.ca

RATES (HST |NCTUDED)

Basic (May 26 only)

Basic (May 26 only)

Advanced (June 9 only)

Advanced (June 9 only)

Basic & Advanced (both)

Basic & Advanced (both)

Basic Session Binder Only
(by req uest/by courier)

HPRO Member*

Non-Member

HPRO Member*

Non-Member

HPRO Member*

Non-Member

Only'til May 1

By May 1

s4s0

Ssso

S4so

Ssso

Ssoo

Sgoo

Szs

After May 1

Ssoo

Soso

$soo

Soso

seoo

Srooo

N/A

TOTAL



ITEM 1.2
Generated Internally

Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario
Fitness to Practise Gommittee Report to Council
April 19,2023

14

Members: Dr. Dennis Mizel, Chair
Ms Robyn Gravelle
Dr. Angelo Santin

Staff Support: Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel
Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar

Committee Mandate

To hear and determine allegations of mental or physical incapacity referred to the
committee by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee.
To review applications for reinstatement following an incapacity finding.

rI
The Fitness to Practise committee has no recommendations at this time

Since the last council meeting the committee has not held a meeting or hearing.

a



15
ITEM 1.3 Generated Internally

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report to Council
April 19,2023

Members: Mr. Markus de Domenico, Chair,
Mr. Gagandeep Dhanda
Dr. Michael Gauthier,
Dr. Sarah Green,
Dr. Ian Quist, non-Council Member
Ms Kelly Malcolm, Investigator
Ms Christine McKeown,Inquiries, Complaints & Reports Officer
Ms Tina Perryman, Manager, Inquiries, Complaints & Reports

Staff Support:

Committee Mandate

o To respond to inquiries, complaints and reports in a manner consistent with CCO's
legislative mandate under the RHPA.

o To review investigation reports carried out pursuant to s. 75 of the RHPA, and to make
decisions conceming any further action, including the referral of specified allegations of
professional misconduct or incompetence to the Discipline Committee and the imposition
of interim terms, conditions or limitations on a member's certificate of registration.

I
Since the last report to Council, the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC)
met on two occasions by zoom) as follows:

February reviewed 14 cases
Made decisions on 7 cases
Appointed 75(1Xa) investigators on 1 case
Appointed 75(1)(c) investigators on 6 cases

March reviewed L6 cases
Made decisions on 9 cases
Appointed 75(1Xa) investigator on 2 cases
Appointed 75(1Xc) investigators on 3 cases

April reviewed 16 cases
Made decisions on 1l cases
Appointed 75(l)(a) investigator on I case
Appointed 75(1)(c) investigators on 2 cases



16

The Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB) upheld 2 Committee decisions,
(attached).

The Committee would like to thank Dr. Julia Viscomi for being able to participate on an
ICRC panel to review a matter and facilitate the ICRC's disposition in accordance with the
provisions of the RHPA.

The Committee continues to work diligently to meet time lines with a high volume of matters

to consider. Virtual meetings have been effective to date.



Health Professions
Appeal and Review
Board

In reply please quote: File # 22-CRV-0021

January 30,2023

Shannel Pearson

Dr. Chris Triantafilou, D.C

La Commission
d'appel et de r6vision
des professions de la sant6

|TEM 1.3.1 Ontario

CONFIDENTIAL

Applicant Complainant

Respondent

D

17
K4ffitrffisvffi',$}

JAt'l 3 tr A['?"3

eolLcGE oF cmenornagroR,$

Rn: Cowrpr,arNT REVIEw - CnrRopnacrrc
Snq,NNnL Pn,msoN AND CHRrs TnuNurrr.ou D.C.

Enclosed herewith is a true copy of the Decision and Reasons of the Health Professions Appeal

and Review Board in the above-noted matter.

While your file is now closed, please note that parties to Complaint Reviews of the Health

Professions Appeal and Review Board have the right to request a judicial review of the Board's

decision within 30 days of the date the decision was madel. You may wish to consider obtaining

legal advice to determine what options are available to you. To request a judicial review contact

the Divisional Court at 416-327-5 I 00.

Yours sincerely,
HEALTH PROFESSIONS APPEAL AND REVIEW BOARD

Natalie Moskowitz
Case Officer

Encl: Decision dated January 30,2023

c. College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCOPRA File # TRIANTAFILOU2I-JA-20)

I Section 5 oftheJudicial Review ProcedureAct

151 Bloor Street West, 96 Floor
Toronto, Ontario M5S 154

TeVT616 416-327-8512
Toll free/Sans frais l -866-282-217 9

TTY/ATS 416-326-7TTY(889)
TTY Toll free/ATS sans frais 1-877-301-0TTY(889)

Facsimile/T6lecopieur 41 6-327 -8524

151, rue Bloor ouest, 9" 6tage

Toronto, Ontario M5S lS4



18
File # 22-CRV-0021

HEALTII PIIOFESSIONS APPEAL AND'IIEVIEW BOARD

PRESENT:

Trina Morissette, Vice-Chair, Presiding
Greg Kanargelidis, Board Member
Yasmeen Siddiqui, Board Member

Review held on September 27,2022 in Ontario (by teleconference)

IN THE MATTER OF A COMPLAINT REVIEW UNDER SECTION 29(1) of the Health

Professions Procedural Code, Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, Statutes

of Ontario , 1991, c.18, as amended

BETWEEN:

SIIANNEL PEARSON

Applicant

CHRIS TRIANTAFILOU, DC

Respondent

Appearances:

and

The Applicant:
For the College of Chiropractors of Ontario

Shannel Pearson
Tina Perryman

I.

1.

DECISION AND REASONS

DECISION

The Health Professions Appeal and Review Board confirms the decision of the Inquiries,

Complaints and Reports Committee of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario to take no

further action.



19
2 This decision arises from a request made to the Health Professions Appeal and Review

Board (the Board) by Shannel Pqarson (the Applicarrt) to review a decisio-n of thp

Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (the Committee) of the College of

Chiropractors of Ontario (the College). The decision concerned a complaint regarding the

conduct and actions of Chris Triantafilou, DC (the Respondent). The Committee

investigated the complaint and decided to take no further action.

il. BACKGROUND

3. The Respondent is a chiropractor at the Back in Motion Clinic (the Clinic)

4. The Applicant slipped and fell on ice in December 2018, developing lower back pain.

5. The Respondent treated the Applicant in the spring of 2019.

6. In July 2019, the Respondent referred the Applicant to another chiropractor

The Applicant also raised concerns about another chiropractor, which are addressed in a

separate decision.

The Complaint and the Response

The Complaint

The Applicant complained against the Respondent for incompetent practice causing

harm.

The Applicant also complained that the Respondent released the Applicant's file to

another individual, without the Applicant's consent, which was then used to attack the

Applicant on social media.

7

8

9

2



20
10. The Applicant provided context to her complaint which included the following

information.

11 The Applicant explained that she went to see the Respondent, an Advanced Biostructural

Correction (ABC) chiropractor, for lower back pain after a fall. She showed improvement

in the first three weeks but then developed a severe discomfort consisting of no range of

motion (back/hips) and a pulling sensation like "someone has a death grip on my spine".

She stated that the original lower back pain subsided while the extreme discomfort and

"death grip" escalated. At the same time, she added that it also affected her mental clarity

and put her in severe emotional distress. The Applicant explained that she had symptoms

virtually 241'l withlittle relief, even during bed rest. She felt worse after every

appointment subsequent to her initial improvement'

The Applicant stated that part of the ABC treatment included stretches called meningeal

stretches and added that she received 15 of these stretches (one visit per week) from

March 2019 to June 2019. She added that she had explained to the Respondent several

times that something was seriously wrong and that "I want to crawl out of my skin". She

was told by the Respondent that this was part of the "unwinding" process and that she

could feel worse before she felt better.

t2.

l3

t4

The Applicant stated that, in addition to the original symptoms, by thc begirrning olJuue

Z17g,her neck was completely 'Jammed" and extremely painful. She had never had any

cervical issues prior to seeing the Respondent. At the end of June 2019, the Respondent

told her he did not know what to do. The Applicant discontinued treatment.

The Applicant noted that upon reading more about the ABC protocol, she learned that the

meningeal stretches are supposed to relieve tension and there are two different sides a

person can be stretched. The Applicant had a strong suspicion that the Respondent was

going the wrong way and instead was increasing the tension on her spine and nervous

system.

J



21
15.

The Response

16

T7.

18

19.

20

Needing answers, the Applicant explained that on July 24,2019, she saw another

chiropractor who con-fiqned the Respondent was going the wrong w4.y. One week later,

the Applicant learned that the Respondent had started lessons with her new chiropractor

The Respondent provided a written response to the complaint, which included the

following information.

The Respondent advised that the Applicant initially reported buttock and hip pain as well

as lower back pain. The Applicant also reported soreness in her neck and shoulders

during her new patient exam history. He explained that her fall was not a simple one; the

Applicant stated that she had fallen out of a moving car at an approximate speed of 10

km/h that her father was driving.

The Respondent stated that throughout the Applicant's treatments, she reported

improvements in her health before and after treatments. His notes have no reference to

and he has no recollection of "death grip on my spine." In fact, on March 27 ,2019, the

Applicant specifically said that she felt light and pain free for the first time in a long time

The Respondent explained that during the Applicant's initial visit, she was very anxious,

nervous and described her body as hypersensitive. This emotional stress was reported to

him several times during her new patient examination. The Applicant had seen health

care professionals with the hope that they would help her condition. The treatments

before attending the Clinic were ineffective according to the Applicant, which amplified

her frustration and emotional state.

The Respondent noted that at most visits the Applicant reported feeling relief and overall

improvements to her health. The Respondent stated that the Applicant's complaint stated

"i showed improvements in the first 3 weeks" but later she writes, "I am into [the

4



22

2l

22

23

Respondent'sl Clinic every week complaining how horrible I felt. The Respondent

submitted that this was clearly inconsistent and inaccurate'

The Respondent's treatment notes show 13 visits where meningeal releases were

pertbrmed. 'l'he "skrn crawling" feeling that the Applicant described was mentioned

twice.

Based on the Respondent's notes, the reason that the Applicant did not come back for her

re-evaluation appointment was due to radiation burns she was convinced she sustained by

the x-ray machine. June was her best month of treatment; she was at her peak of feeling

good. He never told her father that he did not know what to do. The Respondent's notes

indicate that on several occasions there were positive outcomes and on more than one

occasion indicate how pleased the Applicant was with her overall progress.

In mid-July, the Respondent closed his office and relocated to Waterloo. The Respondent

sated that he gave the Applicant and her father two options for an ABC provider and also

gave her the option of using the College's doctor's search on their website.

In a subsequent response to the Committee, the Respondent clarified that he did not

receive lessons from another chiropractor in ABC. He stated that chiropractors exchange

treatments.

24.

25

The Applicant's Reply

The Applicant was provided a copy of the Respondent's response for reply. In her reply,

the Applicant raised her second concern that the Respondent released her records to Dr. J

without her consent. The Applicant explained that Dr. J had been affacking her online and

posting private information from her records which only the Respondent would know.

The Applicant stated that this proved the Respondent broke doctor-patient confidentiality.

5



26.

23
The Applicant also advised that she wished to withdraw certain information from the

record in this rnatter, namely Dr. M's report. The Applieant explained that this

information was mistakenly attached to this complaint when its reference should have

been limited to the second complaint she filed against another chiropractor.

The Applicant also stated that the fall from her father's vehicle was greatly exaggerated.

She explained that as she was getting out of the car at her apartment, her father edged

forward unexpectedly and she slipped on a patch of ice. She sustained a bruise on the side

of her thigh but did not seek medical help until a few weeks later when the lower back

pain started.

The Applicant also disputed the references to being "anxious and nervous" and

"hlpersensitive". She stated that she never conveyed to the Respondent her mental state

at any appointment until May and June 2019 when the symptoms later attributed to him

started.

The Applicant also stated that the Respondent's notes were mostly fabricated and

provided examples where, she believed, there are concerns surrounding these notes

The Respondent's Additionul Response

In response to the Applicant's reply, the Respondent provided additional information

which included the following.

27.

28

29

30

31

32.

The Respondent stated that he stands behind his notes and noted that it was clear that the

Applicant recalled events very differently than what his notes statg.

The Respondent added that he always has been and will continue to be very thorough. He

takes his job and his responsibilities associated with it seriously. Every time the

Applicant presented at his office he went above and beyond providing the best care to the

best of his ability in a safe and supportive environment.

6



Questions fraw the Commitlee

JJ On October 28,2021, the Committee requested additional information from the

Respondent. Questions it posed included:

24

background information on ABC as well as the main determining factors for

implementing ABC and whether there were any known contraindications to

ABC; and

an explanation of the Respondent's typical patient care assessment and

treatment protocols.

a

a

36

34 On or about November 8,2021, the Respondent provided responses to the Committee's

questions.

The Committee's Decision

35. The Committee investigated the complaint and decided to take no further action.

Incompetent practice causing harm / sequelae

In its decision, the Committee summarized the background of the interactions between

the parties. It noted that the Respondent treated the Applicant in the spring of 2019. The

Applicant alleged that her condition did not improve and even deteriorated under the

Respondent's care. The Applicant alleged that the Respondent was incompetent, and that

his incompetent treatment caused her harm.

37 The Committee decided to take no further action on this concern because there was no

information to support the allegation. The Committee explained that when it is assessing

whether chiropractic care leads to a deterioration in a patient's condition, the first

question is whether the person was an appropriate candidate for the treatment that was

7



25

38

rendered. In this regard, the Committee reviewed the Applicant's patient records and

noted thet th€y wefe (egsonably thorough. It noted that the Applicant initially presented at

the Respondent's office as follows:

March 6,2019
[The Applicant] came in with her father today because of back, buttock and his

pains. During the history she stated that she had been feeling very anxious and

nervous. She also stated her whole body felt hypersensitive. During the history

exam [the Applicant] also complained of neck and shoulder pains.

t...1
[the Applicant] also complained of her 4th digit (Right Hand) soreness/numbness

This complaint has occurred mostly for the last 10 years and moving her head

around especially in extension decreases the soreness/numbness.

t...1
The pain does not radiate anywhere in her body and stays localized.

[The Applicant] indicated "Aching" bilaterally around her SI Joitrts, Glutes and

hip regions.
She indicated almost extreme symptoms and disability on her Visual Analog

Scale.

The Committee also noted that the Applicant stated she "felt worse after every '

appointment after my initial improvement." However, according to the progress notes,

the Committee found that the Applicant reported subjective improvement in her

symptoms. For example, the progress notes said:

June 5, 2019

[The Applicant came into my office today over the moon with happiness and joy;

Her mood changed from her usual negative disposition to a more positive one.

Her "pain went down (sic) from 1000/10 Io a 4110." She stated she is feeling

hopeful againeven though today her pain went up to a 10/10. I adjusted het (...)
in that hour lapse she felt the sitting was a bit uncomfortable. I treated her again.

Everyone left my office very happy as [the Applicant] started to feel the same

kind of relief we were getting I the first month of care.

Jwte 12,2019

[The Applicant] stated that she had 1 day of good relief and no change in her SI's
She stated she is feeling a decrease in mobility and discomfort but, not pain. I
assessed her SI joints again. I adjusted her. She again states that she feeling better

post-treatment.
June 19, 2019

[The Applicant] came into the office today again over the moon with happiness

and more excitement as she felt incredible since her last adjustment. She also

8



39

40

4t.

42.

26
stated that she feels that she is a2ll0 and that this was the "first time ever" [the
Appticantl states that last night she started to feel a bit stiff but, today she states

"almost fullmobility" and "no pain" and'"no feeling of wanting to get out of her

skin especially in the low back and pelvis." I adjusted her. Again she felt amazing

leaving my office and was in a very positive mood.

Unfortunately, these improvements were not sustained.

The Committee empathized with the Applicant with regard to her condition. However, it

noted that it was important to understand that it acts as a screening body to determine

whether a complaint should be referred to the Discipline Committee. The presence of

ongoing symptoms does not necessarily mean that the Respondent failed to maintain the

standards of the profession. Rather, "[t]he test for whether a health care professional fell

below the standard of care is not based on the subjective viewpoint of the patient as to

outcomes, but rather is based upon whether fthe professional's] actions met objective

standards." In this case, the Committee found thaf fhe standards were maintained even

thrrugh unfoftunately the results were not what everysne wortld havc hopcd for.

The Committee also found that there was no information that the Respondent was "forced

to take lessons" with another chiropractor,

The Committee opined that, even if the Respondent's treatments were a factor in thc

Applicant's symptoms, this would not mean that the Respondent's treatments were

inappropriate. Unforturnately, patients receiving clriropractic, or any other form of health

care, may not respond to treatment as they would anticipate. There are many variables,

both within and outside the body, which can affect one's response to treatment in either a

positive or a negative way, and therefore definitive results can be hard to predict.

The Committee decided to take no further action because, from an objective standpoint, it

did not appear that the Respondent failed to maintain the standards of the profession. The

Committee commented that it appeared she sought treatment from the Respondent while

suffering from a number of complex and hard-to-treat symptoms. Although the Applicant

alleged the Respondent "caused harm", the Committee was not in a position to determine

9



27the exact cause(s) of her condition, which was likely multifactorial. The Committee

added that the inforrnation ftom other professionals did not indicate lhat the Respondent

harmed the Applicant or failed to maintain the standards of the profession.

Releasing file without consent

43. The Committee noted that the Applicant said that the Respondent released her file to Dr.

J, who is described as the founder of the ABC technique. She said that Dr. J criticized her

on social media.

44 The Committee found that there was no information.to support further action on the

allegation of breaching confi dentiality.

45 In addition to the above, the Committee noted that it was required to consider the

Respondent's prior history, if any. The Committee noted that in this case, the Respondent

had no relevant history with the College.

IIr. REQUEST FOR REVTEW

In an email dated January 12,2022, the Applicant requested that the Board review the

Committee's decision.

IV. POWERS OF'THE BOARI)

47. After conducting a review of a decision of the Committee, the Board may do one or more

of the following:

a) confirm al1 or part of the Committee's decision;

b) make recommendations to the Committee;

c) require the Committee to exercise any of its powers other than to request a

Regi strar' s investigation.

46

10



v.

49

28
48. The Board cannot recornmend or require the Committee to do things outside its

juris-diction, such as make a finding of misconduct or incompetence against thc member

or require the referral of specified allegations to the Discipline Committee that would not,

if proved, constitute either professional misconduct or incompetence.

ANALYSIS AND REASONS

Pursuant to section 33(1) of the Health Professions Procedural Code (the Code), being

Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, I99I , the mandate of the Board in a

complaint review is to consider either the adequacy of the Committee's investigation, the

reasonableness of its decision, or both.

The Committee is to act in relation to the College's objectives under section 3 of the

Code,which include, in part, to maintain programs and standards of practice to assure the

quality of the prae tice of the profcssion, tu nraintain standards of lcnowledge arirJ skill and

programs to promote continuing improvement among the members, and to serve and

protect the public interest.

50

5l The Committee's mandate is to screen complaints about its members. The Committee

considers the information it obtains to determine whether, in all of the circumstances, a

referral of specified allegations of professional misconduct to the College's Discipline

Committee is warrantcd or if some other remedial action should be taken. Dispositions

available to the Committee upon considering a complaint include taking nu action with

regard to a member's practice, issuing a caution or directing other remedial measures

intended to improve an aspect of a member's practice, or referring specified allegations

of professional misconduct or incompetence to the Discipline Committee if the

allegations are related to the complaint.

The Respondent did not attend the Review. The Board notes that there is no legislative

requirement for parties to attend the Review and the Board draws no inference from the

Respondent' s non-attendance.

52.

11



53. The Board has considered the Applicant's submissions, examined the Record of

luvestigation (the Re-cord), and leyiewed the Committee's decision.
29

54.

Adequacy of the Investigation

An adequate investigation does not need to be exhaustive. Rather, the Committee must

seek to obtain the essential information relevant to making an informed decision

regarding the issues raised in the complaint.

55. The Committee obtained the following documents:

o the Applicant's complaint and subsequent communications with the

Committee investigator;

o the Applicant's reply to the Respondent's response;

. various links to online information regarding the ABC technique;

o x-rays from Universal Health & Rehabilitation, including a report from Dr. M

dated October 3,2020;

o a statement from the Applicant's father dated April 19, 202I;

o the Respondent's initial response and subsequent responses;

o the Applicant's patient file from the Clinic;

. additional information from the Respondent in response to Committee

questions;

o a written statement from the chiropractor who treated the Applicant after the

Respondent moved his practice;

o a written statement from another chiropractor, Dr. A, accompanied by the

Applicant's patient records; and

o the Respondent's conduct history with the College.

At the Review and in her written submissions to the Board, the Applicant submitted that

the Record in this matter inappropriately included information from unrelated

practitioners (Dr. A and Dr. M). The Record, however, is missing the patient files from

56

12



57

58

59

30
the chiropractor who treated the Applicant after the Respondent moved his practice' The

Applicant also submitted that there were several errors stemming from a copy and paste

of the complaints the Applicant tiled against two chiropractors, including the

Respondent. The Applicant submitted that the file was tainted because the Respondent

was responding to allegations she had not made against him and he received information

he should not have had access to. As an example, the Applicant stated that she did not

accuse the Respondent of neck trauma.

The Applicant submitted that there was no investigation whatsoever. She stated that a

proper investigation would have asked an outside ABC source if there was such a thing a

as a wrong-way meningeal stretch and what the consequences could be to the patient. She

stated that ABC meningeal stretches are not taught at any chiropractic college in North

America.

The Board notes that the Code provides the Committee a wide discretion in conducting

its investigation.

In this case, the Applicant's concerns were summarized, and she provided information to

the Committee as well as had an opportunity to reply to the Respondent's responses'

Although the Applicant raised an issue with a specific concern that, she submitted, was

more appropriately addressed by another chiropractor in a separate matter, the Board

notes that the patient records in this matter also refer to pains in the neck area and as

such, despite the specific concern might have been addressed to another chiropractor, this

does not invalidate the Committee's investigation in this matter. The Board fuither notes

that the Committee's decision reviewed the Respondent's overall care and treatment

provided to the Applicant. The Respondent provided information regarding his overall

care, which included, based on his contemporaneous notes, reference to neck pain.

Regarding the Committee's receipt and review of information obtained from other health

care practitioners, as noted above, the Committee had the legislative discretion to choose

to request this information. The Board notes that the Applicant complained that tho

60

13



31

61,

62.

63.

64

Respondent caused irreparable harm to her. As such, it was not unreasonable that the

Committee obtain, andprovide the Respondent in its Record, information from

practitioners who saw and/or treated the Applicant following the Respondent's care.

In response to the Applicant's issue that the Committee should have obtained the fulI

patient records from the chiropractor who treated the Applicant after the Respondent, the

Board acknowledges that the Applicant bases her conclusion on the fact that the

subsequent chiropractor stretched her in the opposite direction. The Board notes again

that the Committee reviewed the overall care provided by the Respondent. In addition,

the Board further notes that the Committee obtained a written statement from the

subsequent chiropractor which it reviewed and considcrcd.

The Board finds that there is no basis on which to conclude that the Committee did not

have the expertise to assess the complaint, or more specifically, the ABC technique. The

Board is not persuaded that the Committee required additional expertise to understand the

Applicant's concerns, consider the Respondent's response, and evaluate the patient

records.

Prior to the Review, the Applicant provided to the Board additional links to online

information regarding the ABC technique. The Board notes that the Applicant had

initially sent informationregarding this technique to the Committee. Considering the

expertise of the Committee and its review of the Record in this matter, the Board is not

persuaded that this additional information might reasonably have affected the

Committee's decision.

In addition to the above, the Committee had the perspectives of both parties, a written

statement from the Applicant's father, online-available information submitted by the

Applicant regarding the ABC technique as well as the Respondent's conduct history with

the College.

t4



67

32
65 There is no indication of further information that might reasonably be expected to have

affected the decision, should the Commitee have acquired it.

66. Accordingly, the Board finds that the Committee's investigation was adequate.

Reasonableness of the Decision

In determining the reasonableness of the Committee's decision, the question for the

Board is not whether it would arrive at the same decision as the Committee. Rather, the

Board considers the outcome of the Committee's decision in light of the underlying

rationale for thc decision, to ensure that the decision as a whole is transparent, intelligible

and justified. That is, in considering whether a decision is reasonable, the Board is

concemed with both the outcome of the decision and the reasoning process that led to

that outcome. It considers whether the Committee based its decision on a chain of

analysis that is coherent and rational and is justified in relation to the relevant facts ancl

the laws applicable to the decision-making process.

68 At the Review and in her written submissions, the Applicant submitted that the

Committee failed to address her concern that the Respondent incorrectly used the ABC

technique (i.e., he stretched her in the wrong direction).

As previously noted, the Board finds that the Committee reviewed the Respondent's care

and treatment provided to the Applicant in its entirety, including the direction the

meningeal stretches were performed. The Board also notes that additional questions were

posed to the Respondent by the Committee to obtain more information on the

Respondent's knowledge of this technique.

69.

70 The Applicant reiterated her issues with the care and treatment she obtained from the

Respondent and submitted that the Committee's decision was uffeasonable.

15



33
7T ;fhe Board acknowledges that the Applicant's recollection and perception of her visits

with the Respondent differ from the Respondent's explanation provided in his responses

The Board notes that the Committee reviewed and relied on the patient records obtained

through the investigation process. Patient records are legal documents which all health

professionals are required to make. They provide a contemporaneous record of the

interactions with the patient, made by health professionals prior to the commencement of

any complaint or legal process. As such, in the absence of compelling information to the

contrary,medical records are a reliable source of information as to what occurred during

patient encounters.

In her written submissions, the Applicant submitted that the Respondent was provided

with details of her complaint prior to the Respondent forwarding her patient file to the

Committee. In doing so, the Committee allowed the Respondent additional time to amend

andlor delete the information in her patient records to substantiate his response.

The Board is not persuaded that the Respondent amended or deleted any information in

the patient records nor is there any information in the Record to substantiate this

allegation. The Board has considered the patient records - specifically the Respondent's

contemporaneous notes - and finds that it supports the Respondent's response as relied

on and detailed by the Committee.

The Board further notes that the circumstances of this complaint required the Committee,

which included three professional members, to rely on its chiropractic knowledge and

expertise related to the expected standards of the profession in assessing the

Respondent's conduct and actions. The Committee expressed its conclusion that the

Applicant's concerns were not supported by the information and the Commiffee makes

frequent and specific references to the information in the Record.

The Committee's decision makes it clear that it considered the Applicant's concerns,

addressed them, and provided coherent reasons for its conclusions. Having considered the

72

73

75

74.

76.

t6



34information in the Record and the Committee's decision, the Board finds that the

Committee's deoision dernonstrates a coherent and rational connection between the

relevant facts, the outcome of the decision and the reasoning process that led it to that

outcome, and that its decision as a whole is transparent, intelligible and justified.

77 The Board therefore finds that the Committee's decision to take no further action is

reasonable.

VI. DECISION

78. Pursuant to section 35(1) of the Code, the Board confirms the Committee's decision to

take no further action.

ISSUED January 30,2023

Trinu Xt[urisselle

Trina Morissette

Greg Kanargelidis

Greg Kanargelidis

Yasnteen Siddiqui

Yasmeen Siddiqui

Cette d6cision est aussi disponible en frangais. Pour obtenir la version de la d6cision en frangais, veuillez contacter

hparb@ontario.ca

t7



Health Professions
Appeal and Review
Board

La Commission
d'appel et de r6vision
des professions de Ia sant6

|TEM 1.3.2

Pffifl=lflHi+,Riffi

j&fd 3 X awT

cor"E E6E 0s, csf ERGF&qcr0R$
se. sl{Tf!&io

Ontario

CONFIDENTIALIn reply please quote: File # 22-CRV-0020

January 30,2023

Shannel Pearson

Dr. Guy Pelletier, D.C

35

Applicant Complainant

Respondent

Rr: Covrpr,arNTREvIEw-CnrnopRlcrrc
Snq,NNnL Pnanson AND GUY Pnllnrrrn. D.C.

Enclosed herewith is a true copy of the Decision and Reasons of the Health Professions Appeal
and Review Board in the above-noted matter.

While your file is now closed, please note that parties to Complaint Reviews of the Health
Professions Appeal and Review Board have the right to request a judicial review of the Board's
decision within 30 days of the date the decision was madel. You may wish to consider obtaining

legal advice to determine what options are available to you. To request a judicial review contact
the Divisional Court at 416-327-5I00.

Yours sincerely,
IIEALTH PROFESSIONS APPEAL AND REVIEW BOARI)

Natalie Moskowitz
Case Officer

Encl: Decision dated January 30,2023

c. College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCOPRA File # PELLETIER21-JA-20)

I Section 5 of the Judicial Review Procedure Act

151 Bloor Street West, 9'h Floor
Toronto, Ontario M5S lS4

TeVT616 416-32'1-8512
Toll free/Sans frais 1-866-282-2179

TTY/ATS 41 6-326-7TTY(889)
TTY Toll free/ATS sans frais 1-877-301-0TTY(889)

Facsimile/T€l6c opieut 416-327 -8524

151, rue Bloor ouest, 9" 6tage
Toronto, Ontario M5S 1S4



36
File # 22-CRV-0020

HEALTH PROFESSIONS APPEAL AND REVIEW BOAIII)

PRESENT:

Trina Morissette, Vice-Chair, Presiding
Greg Kanargelidis, Board Member
Yasmeen Siddiqui, Board Member

Review held on September 27,2022 in Ontario (by teleconference)

IN THE MATTER OF A COMPLAINT REVIEW UNDER SECTION 29(1) of the Health
professions procedural Code, Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, Stattfies

of Ontario, 1991, c.18, as amended

BETWEEN:

SHANNEL PEARSON

Ap-plicant

GUY PELLETIERO DC

Respondent

Appearances:

and

Tho Applicant:
For the College of Chiropractors of Ontario

Shannel Pearson
Tina Perryman

DECISION AND REASONS

L DECISION

The Health Professions Appeal and Review Board confirms the decision of the Inquiries,

Complaints and Reports Committee of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario to take no

further action.

1



2 This decision arises from a request made to the Health Professions Appeal and Review

Board (the Board) by Shannel Pearson (the Applicant) to review a decision of the

Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (the Committee) of the College of

Chiropractors of Ontario (the College). The decision concerned a complaint regarding the

conduct and actions of Guy Pelletier, DC (the Respondent). The Committee investigated

the complaint and decided to take no further action'

IL BACKGROUND

J The Respondent is a chiropractor at the Brant Pain Relief Clinic (the Clinic).

The Applicant was referrecl to the Respondent and began regular sessions starting on July

37

4

6.

24,2019.

5. On June 4,2020,the Applicant was discharged as a patient'

The Applicant also raised concerns about another chiropractor, which are addressed in a

separate decision.

The Complaint and the ResPonse

The Complaint

7. The Applicant comPlained about

o psychological/emotionalabuse;

o excessive treatment causing harm;

o discontinuing needed care and failing to refer the Applicant to another health

care professional; and

. record keeping.

2



8

9

The Applicant provided context to her complaint which included the following

information.

38

The Applicant stated that at the first appointment, the Respondent confirmed to her that

another chiropractor she had been seeing for lower back pain had stretched her in the

wrong direction, resulting in severe pain in the spine. The Applicant was told by the

Respondent that he could set up a conference call with Dr. J fthe founder of Advanced

Biostructural Correction (ABC)I which never happened. The Respondent told the

Applicant that stretching in the wrong direction even one time can cause a multifude of

issues including fuzziness and depression.

The Applicant added that at that first appointment, after a stretch in the proper direction,

she received what felt like a complete release of tension, both physical and emotional.

However, the relief was short lived and on the next several appointments, the Respondent

would ask the Applicant to reftrrn in twenty minutes as she would completely lose the

adjustment.

Over the next several weeks, the Applicant stated that she was making little improvement

but that one aspect that drastically improved was her mental clarity and vision. She was

thinking and seeing clearly for the first time in months. By mid-Septenrber, after rigorous

treatments three times per week, most of the Applicant's symptoms had subsided except

for her neck which locked up for two weeks straight. The only symptom that remained

was the intermittent difficulty straightening her lower back (sacnrm) from a seated

position. The Applicant explained that she continued treatment once per week starting in

November 2019 and assumed her back issue would eventually work itself out. She stated

that it never went away and she eventually "relapsed" which made her believe the tension

was never fully reversed. She noted however, that the Respondent has gotten her to a

threshold where she could function.

By mid-February 2020,the Applicant stated that she started feeling as though something

was not right and after aparticularly uncomfortable anterior stretch, the back of her head

10.

11.

3

12.



started "clicking" continuously. She also experienced temporomandibular joint (TMJ)-

like symptoms for the.first time. 39

13

t4.

15

16

17.

At the end of March2020,the Applicant had a complete relapse with virtually all of her

original symptoms returning.

On April 7,2020,the Applicant received treatment from the Respondent three times a

week with only hours of relief either immediately following the appointment or shortly

after returning home.

In May 2020,the Applicant stated that she was feeling worse and stated that the

Respondent had given her 106 meningeal stretches in two months. As awful as she said

the meningeal stretches were, the Applicant would come in for her appointment each time

dying for relief to try to get through the day. After several weeks, the Applicant stated

that the Respondent told her "I don't know what to do". The Applicant asked the

Respondent to consult Dr. J on how to proceed with her treatment since he had originally

offered to do so that past July, but the Respondent ignored her request.

On June 4,2020,the Applicant once more asked the Respondent to consult with Dr. J.

She stated that the Respondent seemed upset and told her that he did not know what more

he could do. The Respondent advised the Applicant that a tumour might be causing her

problems.

The next morning, on June 5,2020, the Applicant stated that she attended the Clinic for

her appointment and was told by the receptionist that the appointment had been

cancelled. The Applicant was asked to leave the building. The Respondent would not

speak to her or explain the reason for the cancellation.

In addition to her original symptoms, the Applicant stated that by June2020, her neck

was completely'Jammed" and extremely painful.

4

18



I9

40
The Applicant added that she has attended t'wo emergency departments (ERs) of t'wo

Toronto hospitals and was referred to orthopaedic and neurology departments. The

Applicant later saw another specialist, Dr. M, for an assessment of whiplash-like

symptoms. The Applicant advised that it was determined that her C I and C2 vertebraes

were misaligned.

The Response

21.

22

23.

20 The Respondent provided a written response to the complaint which included the

following information.

The Respondent stated that he never told the Applicant that the chiropractor she saw

before him stretched her in the wrong direction and he did not say that he would anange

a conference call with Dr. J. The Respondent commented that patients do not lose

adjustments, Depending on the condition and the severity of discomfott, apractitioner of

the ABC method will adjust the body until it is stable. Sometimes the patient is revisited

the same day to help accelerate their progress The Applicant was in severe distress and he

was trying to alleviate her suffering.

The Respondent noted that there were no severe skuctural issues reported that could

justify the Applicant's sentiment that "the next several weeks were extremely scary as I

was making little improvement." The Respondent stated that nothing seemed out of the

ordinary in thc first several weeks of treatment and the only thing he observed was how

emotional the Applicant was before each visit.

The Respondent stated that his notes coincide with the Applicant's claims that "by mid-

September, after rigorous treatment 3 times per week, most of the symptoms subsided,

however, my neck locked up for 2 weeks straight." The Respondent added that by

September 6,z}lg,the Applicant was returning to work and on September 20,20l9,her

neck tension was subsiding.

5



24 The Respondent noted that on October !8,2019, the Applicant reported low back

stiffrress and difficulty straightening after a seated position. He added that, in her

statement where the Applicant states: "which makes me believe the tension was never

fully reversed", she was implying that no amount of treatment could undo her initial

complaints. The Respondent observed that the Applicant always straightened up when

she stood up during treatment with no grimacing or difficulfy.

41

25 On March II,2020,the Respondent noted that the Applicant had a good week except for

one day, she reported feeling a click in her upper cervical. TMJ was never reported or

documented and as such, the Respondent stated that this claim was false'

26 The Respondent stated that atthe end of March 2020, the Applicant was only seeing him

once every two weeks. When he left for vacation, she would have only missed two visits

and in terms of connecting the lapse in time of seeing the Respondent with her relapse,

the Respondent added that he left t'wo very competent ABC physicians at his office who

were covering his patients while he was away.

27. The Respondent stated that treatment frequency resumed to three times per week on April

7,2020, and the Applicant received short-term relief after treatment where tension would

release and then would retum fairly quickly. On April 27,2020, the Respondent

recommended MRI imaging but the Applicant was reluctant. He added that in April

2020,the Applicant's level of emotional distress and lack of progress were becoming

increasingly concerning. Also concerning was her and her father's unwillingness to seek

advanced imaging or medical consultation to rule out other potentially non-structural

causes

28. The Respondent noted that in May 2020, the Applicant did not report that she was feeling

worse after treatment. His notes indicate short-term relief after treatments' '

Zg. The Applicant's statement that she received 106 meningeal releases in two months is

6

another fabrication



30.

31.

32.

42

The Respondent denied he ever said "I don't know what to do". Due to the Applicant's

level of distress, the Respondent insisted she seek a medical consult to rule out medical or

psychological pathology. He added that when he conferred with Dr. J, Dr. J supported his

decision. The Respondent stated that the Applicant's claim that she requested he consult

with Dr. J for an additional time was a lie. The Respondent noted that he was very

concerned with her presentation that day. He observed the Applicant leaning against the

wall sobbing. She made the following statements: "the pain is unbearable", o'I can't live

like this". The Respondent documented another discussion he had with the Applicant and

her father reconrmending a medical consultation. The Applicant's father insisted she did

not neecl any further testing. The Respondent restated that he felt a medical consult would

be best and the only way to make them comply was to discontinue treatment until she

received one.

The Respondent stated that the Applicant's father contirmed to argue and seemed to

ignore anything he was saying. The Applicant's father demanded that he treat her. The

Respondent asked them to leave the Clinic. The Applicant's father then threatened saying

he would not leave, and he would "burn the house down" if she was not treated. Once the

Applicant and her father left, the Respondent drafted a letter stating he would be

withdrawing his services until the Applicant was medically cleared. 'I'he Respondent's

receptionist emailed and called both the Applicant and her father to inform them of the

letter and to cancel her appointment scheduled for the next day. The Respondent added

that he did not feel that the Applicant's condition was life-threatening and in his opinion,

there would be no adverse effect to discontinuing treatment. The decision to discontinue

treatment was due to lack of progress and he felt the best course was a medical consult,

which the Applicant refused to seek.

The Respondent also added that in June 2020, his notes do not show any report of

cervical complaints. They do show a complaint of feeling locked with severe tension in

the lumbar spine and in June 2020, the Respondent repeatedly referred the Applicant to

get more testing but she refused his advice.

7



43

34

35

36

JJ The Respondent noted that nowhere in Dr. M's report is there reference to trauma or

excessive treatment. Dr. M states: "I find fthe Applicant's] claims inconsistent as she

continues to seek and receive cervical adjustment after she states having had trauma and

excessive treatment in the Past."

The Applicant's Reply

The Applicant was provided with a copy of the Respondent's response to which she

replied. This reply included the following information.

The Applicant questioned that if it is "absurd" that the Respondent's treatments caused

her whiplash-like symptoms, why is the Respondent not admitting that he gave her 106

meningeal stretches in two months? She alleged that these stretches were deleted from

the treatment notes.

The Applicant stated that she never "said" that the Respondent had told her that her

previous chiropractor was stretching her in the wrong direction. She concluded that the

previous chiropractor had stretched her in the wrong position because the Respondent

stretched her in the opposite direction.

37. The Applicant added that after her turnaround, she had asked the Respondent on two

separate occasions if there was a possibility that she could relapse' The Respondent

assured her that it was never coming back. The Respondent had assured her that the ABC

treatment would fix her posture starting with the very first treatment. The Applicant

stated that her posture never changed in a year and if anything, it was worse than ever.

The Committee's Decision

38. The Committee investigated the complaint and decided to take no further action.

8



P sy cho I o gic al/emotional abus e 44

In its decision, the Committee recognized that the Applicant's health challenges would be

very distressing. However, it found that there was no information that the Respondent

abused her psychologically or emotionally.

39

40.

Excessive treatment causing harm

The Committee explained that when assessing whether chiropractic care led to a

deterioration in a patient's condition, its first question is whether the person was an

approprial.e canrJidate for the treatment that was rendered. In this rcgard, the Committee

reviewed the Applicant's patient records and noted that the records were reasonably

thorough. It found that there were no contraindications to the care that was rendered.

Although the Applicant said the meningeal stretches caused trauma, the Committee noted

that Dr. M's report did not mentiorl trauma or excessive treatment but rather,, as the

Respondent pointed out, it states that the Applicant "continues to seek and receive

cervical adjustment after she states having had trauma and excessive treatment in the

past." The information from other professionals did not indicate that the Respondent

treated the Applicant excessively, harmed her, or failed to maintain the standards of the

profession.

4t. The Committee observed that although the Applicant's complaint said she was making

littlc irnprovement under the Respondent's care, it appeared that she reported some

subjective improvements. As the Applicant noted: "[t]wo or three times, I received

TOTAL relief on the table (mental and physical), as if a tightly wound elastic were cut

with scissors." Unfortunately, these improvements did not last. The Applicant said she

had a complete relapse at the end of March2020. This coincided with the emergence of

the COVID-19 pandemic. As the Respondent pointed out, the Applicant only missed two

appointments due to his self-isolation, and other providers were available. There is no

information that the Respondent caused the relapse.

9



42

43

45
The Committee empathized with the Applicant with regard to her symptoms. However, it

stated that it was important to understand that the Committee acts as a screening body to

determine whether a complaint should be referred to the Discipline Committee. The

presence of negative sequalae did not necessarily mean that the Respondent failed to

maintain the standards of the profession. Rather, "[t]he test for whether a health care

professional fell below the standard of care is not based on the subjective viewpoint of

the patient as to outcomes, but rather is based upon whether [the professional's] actions

met objective standards." In this case, the standards were maintained even though

unforfunately the results were not what everyone would have hoped for' Although the

Committee empathized with the Applicant, it appeared she sought treatment from the

Respondent while suffering fi'om a number of complex and hard-to-trcat symptoms'

Although the Applicant alleged the Respondent'ocaused harm", the Committee was not in

a position to determine the exact cause(s) of her condition, which was likely multi-

factorial.

The Committee opined that, even if the Respondent's treatments were a factor in the

Applicant's symptoms, this would not mean that the Respondent's treatments were

inappropriate. Unforfunately, patients receiving chiropractic, or any other form of health

care, may not respond to treatment as they would anticipate. There are many variables,

both within and outside the body, which can affect one's response to treatment in either a

positive or a negative way, and therefore definitive results can be hard to predict. The

Committee took no further action because, from an objective standpoint, it did not appear

that the Respondent failed to maintain the standards of the profession.

Discontinuing needed care andfailing to refer to another health care professional

The Committee noted that the Applicant stated that when the Respondent said "I don't

know what to do", she suggested he contact Dr. J but the Respondent ignored her' The

Committee commented that chiropractors must refer to another professional when it is

appropriate. In doing so, they use professional judgement about the individual(s) or

44.

10



45

47

Through the course of your treatments there have been signs and symptoms where

I feel may be related to other possible causes, and not from the nerves, muscles,

bone or spine. Due to my concerns, I have recommended on several occasions

that you follow up with your medical Doctor to rule out the possibility that your

health problem does not fall within the scope of Chiropractic. It is my duty as a

doctor of Chiropractic to make you aware of my concelns and refer you
appropriotely. To this date you hove not followed my recommendation. In good

conscience I now need to withdraw my services from you until you have been

cleared medically.

46 The Committee empathized with the Applicant however, it decided to take no further

action because it is not in the patient's interest to continue the doctor-patient relationship

where there is a lack of rapport.

Record keeping

The Committee noted the Applicant's concern that there were gaps in her patient records.

For example, she said that on April 9,2020, she and her father returned to the office after

her appointment to report good results she experienced on her way home. She observed

that this was not recorded.

The Committee noted that there was a noticeable white space in the April 9, 2020 SOAP

note. However, it did not appear that the Respondent ignored the Applicant's report of

relief on Aprit 9 , 2020, because the next entry, dated April 13, 2020, states: "felt a release

46
profession(s) to whom the referral is made; they are not required to refer to any specific

person named by the patient. In this case, the progress notes showed the following:

Mon Apr 7 ,2020 [...] recommended MRI imaging but reluctant

Thu May 14,2020 discussed with patient and father about lack of progress, level
of distress and concems [sic] of possible non-structural causes - they said they

have already done that and wanted to continue tx for 2 weeks then reassess

The Committee also noted the Respondent's letter dated June 4, 2020,withdrawing his

services which read as follows:

48

11



47

49

after last visit, but the tension returned fairly quickly." Overall, the Committee found that

no firrther action was waffanted with regards to the Respondent's records.

In addition to the above, the Committee noted that it was required to consider the

Respondent's prior history, if any. The Committee noted that in this case, the Respondent

had no relevant history with the College.

IIr. REQUEST FOR REVIEW

50. In an email dated January 12,2022, the Applicant requested that the Board review the

Committee's decision.

IV. POWERS OF THE BOARI)

51 After conducting a review of a decision of the Committee, the Board may do one or more

of the following:

a) confirm all or part of the Committee's decision;

b) make recommendations to the Committee;

c) require the Committee to exercise any of its powers other than to request a

Registrar' s investigation.

52. The Board cannot recommend or require the Committee to do things outside its

jurisdiction, such as make a finding of misconduct or incompetence against the member

or require the referral of specified allegations to the Discipline Committee that would not,

if proved, constitute either professional misconduct or incompetence.

V. ANALYSIS AND REASONS

Pursuant to section 33(1) of the Health Professions Procedural Code (the Code), being

Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, the mandate of the Board in a

53.

I2



54.

48
complaint review is to consider either the adequacy of the Committee's investigation, the

reasonableness of its decision, or both.

The Committee is to act in relation to the College's objectives under section 3 of the

Code,which include, in part, to maintain programs and standards of practice to assure the

quality of the practice of the profession, to maintain standards of knowledge and skill and

programs to promote continuing improvement among the members, and to serve and

protect the public interest.

The Committee's mandate is to screen complaints about its members. The Committee

considers the information it obtains to determine whether, in all of the circumstances, a

referral of specified allegations of professional misconduct to the College's Discipline

Committee is warranted or if some other remedial action should be taken. Dispositions

available to the Committee upon considering a complaint include taking no action with

regard to a member's practice, issuing a caution or clirecting othe,r rernedial measures

intended to improve an aspect of a member's practice, or referring specified allegations

of professional misconduct or incompetence to the Discipline Committee if the

allegations are related to the complaint.

The Respondent did not attend the Review. The Board notes that there is no legislative

requirement for parties to attend the Review and the Board draws no inference from the

R espondent' s non-attendance.

The Board has considered the Applicant's submissions, examined the Record of

Investigation (the Record), and reviewed the Committee's decision.

Adequacy of the Investigation

An adequate investigation does not need to be exhaustive. Rather, the Committee must

seek to obtain the essential information relevant to making an informed decision

regarding the issues raised in the complaint.

55

57.

56.

58.

13



49
59. The Committee obtained the following documents:

o the Applicant's complaint and subsequent communications with the

Committee investigator;

o the Applicant's reply to the Respondent's response;

o various links to online information regarding the ABC technique;

o a chart prepared by the Applicant noting the meningeal stretches she received;

o a statement from the Applicant's father dated April 19,2021;

o email exchanges between the Applicant's father and Dr, J;

o a statement from the Applicant's father's girlfriend dated April 17, 202I;

o the Respondent's initial response and subsequent responses;

o the Applicant's patient file from the Clinic;

r the Applicant's patient files from other health professionals who treated her

including Dr. A and Dr. N;

. x-rays from Universal Health & Rehabilitation, including a report from Dr. M

dated October 3,2020;

o additional information from the Respondent in response to Committee

questions;

o a statement from another patient of the Clinic who witnessed the incident of

June 5, 2020;

o a statement from the administrator of the Clinic dated March 16,2021; and

o the Respondent's conduct history with the College.

At the Review and in her written submissions, the Applicant questioned the expertise of

the Committee and submitted that aproper investigation would have asked an outside

ABC source if there was such a thing a as a wrong-way meningeal stretch and what the

consequences could be to the patient. She stated that ABC meningeal stretches are not

taught at any chiropractic college in North America. She subrnitted that the only

investigation undertaken in this matter was conducted by herself and her father.

60

t4



61 The Board notes that the Code provides the Committee with a wide discretion in

conducting its investigation. 50

62

63

64

65

The Board finds that there is no basis on which to conclude that the Committee did not

have the expertise to assess the complaint, or more specifically, the ABC technique. The

Board is not persuaded that the Committee required additional expertise to understand the

Applicant's concerns? consider the Respondent's response, and evaluate the patient

records.

Prior to the Review, the Applicant provided to the Board additional links to onltne

information regarding the ABC technique. The Board notes that the Applicant had

initially sent information regarding this technique to the Committee. Considering the

expertise of the Committee and its review of the Record in this matter, the Board is not

persuaded that this additional information might have reasonably affected the

Commitfee's decision.

In addition io the above, the Committee had the perspectives of both parties, a wriffen

statement from the Applicant's father and his girlfriend as well as other witnesses, online-

available information submitted by the Applicant regarding the ABC technique, patient

records from other health professionals who treated the Applicant, as well as the

Respondent's conduct history with the College.

There is no indication of further information that might reasonably be expected to have

affected the decision, should the Committee have acquired it.

66. Accordingly, the Board finds that the Committee's investigation was adequate.

Reasonableness of the Decision

In determining the reasonableness of the Committee's decision, the question for the

Board is not whether it would arrive at the same decision as the Committee. Rather, the

67

15



51

68.

69

70

Board considers the outcome of the Committee's decision in light of the underlying

rationale for the decision, to ensure that the decision as a whole is transparent, intelligible

and justified. That is, in considering whether a decision is reasonable, the Board is

concerned with both the outcome of the decision and the reasoning process that led to

that outcome. It considers whether the Commiffee based its decision on a chain of

analysis that is coherent and rational and is justified in relation to the relevant facts and

the laws applicable to the decision-making process.

At the Review and in her written submissions to the Board, the Applicant reiterated her

concerns. She specifically questioned the certification of the Respondent to perform the

ABC technique and the Committee's expertise in determining whether the Respondent's

treatment caused her permanent damage. The Applicant submitted that the Committee did

not act in the public's best interest. She submitted that even if the information confirmed

that the Respondent harmed her, the Committee chose to do nothing. She did not receive

quality care from the Respondent; he left her damaged. The Applicant added that she was

seeking help from the Committee and that its decision was unreasonable.

The Board acknowledges that the Applicant's recollection and perception of her visits

with the Respondent differ from the Respondent's explanation provided in his responses.

The Board notes that the Committee reviewed and relied on the patient records obtained

through the investigation process. Patient records are legal documents which all health

professionals are required to make. They provide a contemporaneous record of the

interactions with the patient, made by health professionals prior to the commencement of

any complaint or legal process. As such, in the absence of compelling information to the

contrary, patient records are a reliable source of information as to what occurred during

patient encounters. The Board also notes that additional questions were posed to the

Respondent by the Committee to obtain more information on the Respondent's

knowledge of the ABC technique.

l6



71.

72.

52
The Board further notes that the circumstances of this complaint required the Committee,

which included three professional members, to rely on its chiropractic knowledge and

expertise related to the expected standards of the profession in assessing the

Respondent's conduct and actions. The Committee expressed its conclusion that:

there was no information that the Respondent abused the Applicant

psychologically or emotionally;

there was no information that the Respondent did not maintain the standards

of the profession or caused harm to the Applicant; and

the Respondent's decision and actions regarding the termination of the

physician-patient relationship wore appropriate in the circumstances.

The Board has reviewed the information in the Record and finds that the Committee's

decision regarding these aspects of the complaint is reasonable.

Regarding the concern surrounding the Respondent's record keeping, the Board observes

that the Committee considered the Applicant's allegation that there were gaps in her

patient records and specifically the Respondent's contemporaneous notes of Apiil9,

2020, where the Respondent failed to record the good results she experienced on her way

home. The Committee decided to take no further action on this concern as it noted a

reference to this information in the following visit with the Respondent on April 13,

2020.

The Board has reviewed the information in the Record and finds that the Committee's

decision on this aspect of the complaint, is supported by the information in the Record

and is reasonable.

In conclusion, the Board finds that the Committee's decision makes it clear that it

considered the Applicant's concerns, addressed them, and provided coherent reasons for

its conclusions. Having considered the information in the Record and the Committee's

decision, the Board finds that the Committee's decision demonstrates a coherent and

a

o

a

73

74

75

t7



rational connection between the relevant facts, the outcome of the decision and the

reasoning process that led it to that outcome, and that its decision as a whole is

transparent, intelligible and justified.

76 The Board therefore finds that the Committee's decision to take no further action is

reasonable.

VL DECISION

Pursuant to section 35(1) of the Code, the Board confirms the Committee's decision to

take no further action.

ISSUED January 30,2023

Trina Morissette

Trina Morissette

Greg Kanargelidis

Greg Kanargelidis

Yasmeen Siddiqui

Yasmeen Siddiqui

Cette d6cision est aussi disponible en frangais. Pour obtenir la version de la d6cision en frangais, veuillez contacter

hparb@ontario.ca

53

77

18



ITEM 1.4
Generated Internally

54
Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario
Patient Relations Committee Report to Council
April 19,2023

Members: Ms Anuli Ausbeth * Ajagu, Chair
Dr. Kyle Grice
Ms Zoe Kariunas
Dr. Michelle Campbell, non-Council member
Dr. Don Rey Juan, non-Council member

Staff Support: Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar
Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Committee Mandate

To develop and implement a program/guidelines to enhance the doctor-patient
relationship.
To develop and implement measures for preventing and dealing with sexual abuse of
patients.
To develop, establish and maintain programs to assist individuals in exercising their
rights under the RHPA.

The Patient Relations Committee met on March 30,2023, since the last meeting of Council.

The Committee reviewed the DEI resources from the Health Professions Regulators of
Ontario, including the Self Assessment Guide. These resources will be further reviewed in
assessing and revising CCO's DEI plan.

The Committee continues to monitor funding for therapy and counselling and review new
applications for funding for therapy, consistent with CCO Policy P-018: Policy for Therapy
and Counselling for Patients Sexually Abused by Members.

The Committee reviewed statistics related to languages spoken in Ontario but is not
recommending any further translations of the Partnership of Care at this time. The
Partnership of Care is currently translated into 8 of the most commonly used languages in
Ontario.

The Committee reviewed an invitation to join the Citizen Advisory Group (CAG) as well as
additional information from the CAG. As there arc22 health regulatory colleges that are
members of the CAG, the Committee is of the opinion that it would be beneficial for CCO
to join the CAG on a trial basis. The estimate of a one year membership in the CAG is $650
CCO staff will participate for one year and will report on the value add to the work of the
Committee.

o

o

a



Patient Relations Committee Report to Council: April 19, 2023

I would like to thank the members and staff of the Patient Relations Committee for all of
their contributions during this time.

Respectfu lly submitted,

Ms Anuli Ausbeth-Ajagu
Chair, Patient Relations Committee

2

55



ITEM 1.5 56
Generated Internally

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Advertising Committee Report to Gouncil
April 19,2023

Members: Dr. Jarrod Goldin, Chair
Mr. Gagandeep Dhanda
Dr. Angelo Santin
Dr. Colleen Pattrick, non-Council member

Staff Support: Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar

Committee Mandate

To review proposed advertisements by members to ensure compliance with
CCO's Standard of Practice 5-016: Advertising and Guideline G-016:
Advertising.

The Advertising Committee has not met since the last meeting of Council.

The Committee reviewed and provided feedback on a number of proposed
advertisements submitted by members.

a



ITEM 4.1

t

Generated Internally

73

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Executive Committee Report to Council
April 19,2023

Members: Dr. Dennis Mizel, Chair
Dr. Sarah Green, Vice-Chair
Mr. Markus de Domenico, Treasurer
Dr. Jarrod Goldin
Ms Robyn Gravelle
Dr. Paul Groulx
Mr. Shawn Southern

Staff Support: Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar
Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Mandate

To exercise the powers of council between meetings of council with
respect to any matter requiring immediate attention other than the power
to make amend or revoke a regulation or by-law
To provide leadership in exercising cco's mandate to regulate
chiropractic in the pubiic interest

r
I lntroduction

o I am pleased to provide this report on behalf of the Executive Committee (the
"Committee).

o Since the last report to council, the Committee has met on one occasion,
namely March 24,2023. The draft, confidential minutes for March 24,2023
are included in the Council information packages and are subject to approval
at the next meeting, scheduled for May 17 ,20h.

o

a



2

Executive Committee Report to Council - April L9,2023

74

a

I would like to welcome back to CCO Council Drs. Suah Gteen, Janod

Goldin and Colin Goudreau. Thankyou for your ongoing interest in serving

on CCO Council and in CCO's responsibility to regulate chiropractic in the

public interest. Drs. Green and Goldin were acclaimed in their respective

districts, and Dr. Goudreau was successful in the election in District 6.

Council members will note that the agenda for this urueting includes a ncw

approach, in that items which are included for background and context are

trightightea in grey in the agencla. That hopefrrlly directs Council members'

agention to those items requiring discussion and decisions. The Committee is

open to feedback about other ways in which to facilitate the effective

d^istribution of information packages. At the March 24,2023 meeting, we had

a presentation from the Diligent Group which presented one approach, and

this along with other options will be considered with further recofilmendations

to go to Council.

ll Potential in Gamera Matter$ - $s, 7 (21at the Oode



5
Executive Committee Re port to Council - April 1-g,2023

77

o

o

o

Ministry of Health - college performance Measurement
fr-lmework (GPMF) and Rerated Matters (rtem 4.1.24 and
following, page 394, Main Agenda)

I trust and expect that all council members will have reviewed cco's cpMF
Report, filed on March 3r,2023 with the Ministry. cco has made
considerable progress on several initiatives identified in2022,and we will
continue to move forward with the various priorities identified by council.
The September 2023 meetings will also provide an opportunity for Council to
review best practices and to ensure we ar€ meeting our objectives, consistent
with the report. I will ask Mr. Joel Friedman to take us through the highlights
of the report.

cco has two related documents which should also be reviewed by the
respective committees when the committees are formed on April 20,2023,
namely the key Performance Indicators dated November 2l,202l,and the
DEI Plan (approved April 20,2022).I am also aware that HpRo has produced
helpful resources which will facilitate revisions to cco,s DEI plan. cco's
DEI Officers, as well as the newly formed Patient Relations Committee will
be undertaking this important work.

cco's 2022 Annual Report is in the process of being prepared, and an
advanced copy of the report will be available at the ZOZZ-nCt:vtscheduled for
June 21, 2023 at the Royal Sonesta Hotel, starting at 6:00 p.m. (the details are
included in the Agenda for all council meetings, including the April 19,2023
meeting). consistent with the prior year, the2022 Annual Report will focus
on CCO's CPMF Report.

Another Ministry matter of high priority is the distribution and the
Registration Regulation amendments relating to an emergency class of
registration. A consideration of this topic is defened to the Registration
Committee Report later in the Council agenda.



5

o

Executive Committee RePo rt to Council - APril L9,2023

78
CCO continues to monitor legislative changes, including the progress of Bill
60, Your Health Ac1,2023. HPRO, on behalf of its members, made a

submission to the Standing Committee expressing sorle concems about thc

legislation. The Ministry has had various information and consultation

seisions with HPRO, and the directly affected regulators (namely CPSO,

CNO, College of Respiratory Therapists, and College of Medial Laboratory

Therapists).

Strategic Planning/Topic Specific Meetlngs (ltem 4.1.36 and
following, Pog@ 473, Main Agenda)

Included in the Council Information Package is the CCO 2022 Strategic

Ptanning Session Report. When the new committees are formed on April 20,

2023,f witt ask all commiftee chairs to review this summary report to confirm

all action identified by council has been appropriately addressed or that there

is a status report on any future action required. I am aware many items are in

progress, inCluding for example ongoing cyber security training, and the

safety and security audit.

The Executive Committee was tasked with reviewing some matters, inclueling

government relations. At this time, CCO is monitoring various government

i-nitiatives and responding appropriately, leveraging the work being done on

an ongoing basis by HPRO, and the recommendation is that CCO retain any

gou.ti-*t relations consultants on an as needed basis, careftilly considering

bCO't reguiatory role as clistinguishable from the advocac-y roies of other

organizations such as the OCA.

In preparation for the Septembet 2023 meetings which will include topic

rpe"id" meetings and training, I encourage all council members to forward

uiry .."o-*ended topics to Ms Willson and me at the earliest opportunity so

*" ,* proceed with effective plzuuring, including retaining appropriate and

relevant experts to facilitate CCO's discussions. Suggestions to date have

included ef:fective council evaluation, safety and security, and a consideration

of the areas of focus in the most recent CPMF, namely diversity, equrty and

inclusion as weii as cyber security (both of which were also considered at the

September 2022meetings). CCO's CPMF Report, Action Plan, and Key

Peiformance Indicators will also be reviewed through the lens of public

interest protection and CCO's mission, vision and strategic objectives'

IV

o

a



7
Executive Committee Re port to Council - April 19,2023

v council and committees (ltem 4.1.4g and following, page s15,
Main Agenda)

o At the March 24,2023 meeting, the committee considered the covlD_lg
Protocols for Hybrid Meetings and determined that the protocol should reflect
a Health and Safety Protocol, rather than a COVID-19 protocol. Accordingly,
the committee has the following recommendation for council's
consideration:

79

o

O

That council approve Hlatth and safety protocolsfor Hybrid (In-
P er s on/Virtual) C ouncil and Committe e Me etings.

on approval of the newprotocol, the covlD-19 protocol can be revoked.

The committee is also recommending a new policy r-02r: Guidance for New
committee chairs to facilitate effective chairing oicco committees. The
policy may also be helpful for experienced chaiis, so the policy could retain
its meaning by removing the word "ned'if council is agreeable.

a

Thqt council approve I-021; Guidancefor New committee chairs.

In accordance with cco by-laws and approved processes, an election was
conducted in District 6 in March 20% i€sulting in lr. coiin Goudreau
returning to CCo Council. The various documints used in the election process
are included in the council information package for background and context.
The committee will be reviewing the documents to determine if any further
changes are required to ensure the elections are conducted in a fair and
transparent manner with all candidates band their supporters being encouraged
to ensure all communications are professional and respectful. Consistent wih
council' s previous improvement recommendations, candidates attended an
orientation session on February 2r,2023 to review the roles and
responsibilities of CCO Council members.

Recommendation 4:

Recommendation 5:



8

o

a

a

VI

Executive Committee RePort to Council - April L9,2023

1 Examples of agendas from other regulators were included in the February 24,2023 Council

information package.

80

My understanding is that the results of the election were not challenged as of
the deadline datebf April12,2022. The Election Review Committee

reviewed the various material from the candidates, and addressed one issue

that was raised relating to a candidate speaking at an event. The Election

Review Committee deiermined that speaking at the event did not create areal

or perceived conflict of interest. Ms Willson will provide a verbal report at the

April 19, 2023 Council meeting.

Gonsideration of Changes to Meeting Processes/lnformation
packages (ltem 4.1.53 ind following, page 588 Main Agenda)

The Committee has been considering various changes to both processes at

Council meetings and the inclusion of information in council information

packages.

Ideas to date include:

o Incorporating some of the best practices of other regulators

identified inihe various agenclas from other regrtlafors included in
previous information Packages; 

I

o including in the 
"o**itt"e 

reports or the agendas an identification

of the pnUti" interest benefits and risks associated with a particular

action;
o Identifuing how any committee recofilmendations relate to cco's

duties, or mission/vision/strategic obj ectives ;

o orienting chairs following the composition of new committees on

April 20-, 2023Io outline their role and responsibilities in working

*ith th"ir staff support to facilitate the preparation of agendas and

reporting to Council;
o Consistency on how reports are received at Council (i.e., motion to

approve, adopt, accept) and when those motions occur;

o ionsistency in how ihe reports are made at Council i.e., focus only

on the motions/recommenclations rather than reading the report;

o Having designated e-mail addresses for Council members which

are devoted to CCO materials only to enhance security;

o Having links in the agenda to background and contextdocuments;

o Having better reliance on CCO's Rules of Procedure (included at

the front of every information package) including the role of
presiding officer.



9
Executive Committee Re port to Council - Ap ril 19,2O23

81
a Improvements are being made on an ongoing basis. For example:

o for this council agenda, the background and context documents are
shaded in grey. This indicates to more experienced council
members that they will likery have seen the information before, or
that the information does not require action by council but is
useful to understanding the broader health regulatory landscape
and may therefore be of assistance to less experienced council
members.

o The Executive Report now incrudes the item and page numbers in
the report itself (as well as being referenced in the agenda) for
easier access to the documents. The new policy r-02r: Guidance
for New committee chairs will also be implemented with the new
committees as a starting point and may be amended depending on
the t'eedback received.

o I have found it extremely helpful to have Mr. MacKay facilitate the
meetings, allowing me to focus on the responsibility of chairing.

on March 24,2023, the committee received a presentation from Diligent,
which is a company with an online platform roi ttre distribution of
information and materials to board members. The next Executive will
consider the advisability of using this or a similar product, which may
necessitate a Request for Proposals to ensure we are exercising fiscai
responsibility and due diligence.

a

vll other chiropractic/Health Related stakeholders (ltem 4.1,54 and
following, page 610 Main Agenda)

o Information concerning CCO's involvement with other chiropractic/health
related stakeholders is included in the Council information package primarily
as FYI.

o The topic of animal chiropractic has been reviewed at both the Executive and
Quality Assurance Committees. Ms Willson and Mr. Friedman had a meeting
with Ms Jan Robinson, Registrar at the College of Veterinarians of Ontario,
on March 17 ,2023. Another meeting was held between cco and the ocA on
April 5, 2023. At that meeting, Ms willson, Mr. Friedman, Dr. Katherine
Tibor, and Dr. sarah Dale attended on behalf of cco. Dr. Dale is a cco peer
assessor who has recently obtained her animal chiropractic certification.



10

Executive Committee RePort to Council - April 19,2023

82
o

a

There is a long history of communications between cco and the cvo
concerning animal chiropractic. Council members will note the first animal

chiropractl standard of practice was approved by Council in 1998. Since that

time, cco has not had any complaints from animal owners about the

chiropractic care of animals. Ms Willson is preparing a submission to the

Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs outlining the history and

background of animal chiropractic through the lens of public interest

prote-ction to facilitate the Ministry's curretlt legislative review of the

Veterinarians Act. The OCA is partiuipati[g ill vzuious advocacy cfforts on

behalf of their members who provide chiropractic care to animals.

Council members will also note that:

o Dr. Green, Ms Willson and I attended the special meeting of FCC on

April 12, 2023 addressing the topic of accrediting the approved

chiropractic specialties. Further information will be reported on this

and other FCa initiatives following the meetings to be held in Toronto

April22,23,2023;

I encourage Uouncil members to review the confidential information

from the CCE} relating to updates on the launch of the new CCEB

examination, policies, and the AGM. CCEB administers examinations

on behalf of the regulators in Canada, and it is important that CCO be

mindful or and r"vi"* the efforts undertaken to ensure individuals who

are registered have successfirlly compieted examinations that are vaiici,

reliable and defensible;

HPRO made submissions on behalf of its members to the Standing

committee on Social Policy relating to Bill 60 Your Health Act, 2023,

identifing some concerns from the perspective of regulators. I found

the ,roriunlnts helpful and insightful in explaining the key issues on

behalf of regulators;

CCO staff continue to participate in various HPRO working groups,

including the CPMF working group;

As a member of HPRO, CCO receives regular Legislative Updates

outlining changes in legislative, prepared by Richard Steinecke and his

colleagues. These updates are important to understanding the changes

goverirnent has paJsed into law as part oftheir legislative agenda, and

i 
"tt"o*uge 

all Council members to review these updates'

a

o

a

a



TT
Executive Committee Report to Council - April t9, ZOZ3

a_2(a)
Vlll Conclusion

o Thank you to all council members and staff for your ongoing support and
commitment. I would be remiss if I did not extend a special thank you to Ms
Robyn Gravelle whose term on council is expiring in May 2023. ihaok yo,r,
Ms Gravelle, for your contributions to council and cco's key committees,
including Executive and Quality Assurance. We look forwardto honouring
you at the June 21,2023 AGM.

I thank all council members for your support, and thoughtful and spirited
discussions over the past several months. I have enjoyed serving as Council's
President over the last term, and I look forward to serving in a mentoring and
supportive role for the next President, Executive and Council. I believe we
have accomplished a great deal during a challenging time. I extend my
personal thanks to everyone on Council and staff for your participation and
commitment to CCo, and for your steadfast focus on cCo's public interest
mandate. I trust and expect the next term will continue the positive
momentum and build on CCo's accomplishments over the past term. Thank
you all!

I would be pleased to answer any questions arising from my report.

a

a

Respectfully submitted by,

Dr. Dennis Mizel,
President



|TEM 4.1 .17

crrATroN: Hardick v. college of chiropractors of ontario,2023 ONSC 1479
DMSIONAL COURT FILE NO.: 060/23

DATE:20230303

202

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE - ONTARIO
DIVISIONAL COURT

RE:

BEFORE:

COUNSEL:

HEARD:

BENJAMIN HARDICK

AND:

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO

Justice O'Brien

D. Cowling and A. Boissonneau-Lehner, for the Applicant

C. Paliare, K. Jones, and D. Rosenbluth, for the Respondent

February L7,2023

Applicant

Respondent

ENDORSEMENT

Overview

tll The moving party Dr. Hardick seeks an interim stay of the operation of a bylaw of the
respondent College of Chiropractors of Ontario (the "College") pending the hearing of his
application for judicial review. The by-law has the effect of disqualifiring Dr. Hardick from
running in the upcoming election to become a member of the College's Council, which is akin to
its board of directors.

l2l In approximately October 2022, after Dr. Hardick had contacted the College to express an
interest in running for Council, the College's Executive Committee (ooEC") began considiring an
amendment to its By-Law 6: Election of Council Members (the "Bylaw"). Until the events at issue

!n this proceeding, s. 6.9(e) of the Bylawprovided that members were ineligible to run for Council
if they had been the subject of a finding of professional misconduct within the three years before
the election. After a number of meetings and a process of consultation, the Collegi decided to
amend the Bylaw to provide that members were ineligible for election to Council if ihey had been
the subject of a finding of professional misconduct in the preceding six years.

t3l In 2018, Dr. Hardick was the subject of professional discipline by the College's Discipline
Committee. According to the previous version of the Bylaw, Dr. Hardick would have been eti ibte
to run for the upcoming election. Howevero the amended Bylaw precluded Dr. Hardick,s
candidature.



Page:2 203

t4l Dr. Hardick submits that the College amended the Bylaw specifically to render him
ineligible to stand for election to Council inthe 2023 election. In his submission, this constituted

bacl faith ancl an irnproper pulpose. He further submits the Bylaw should be struck on the basis that

it impermissibly purports to have retrospective effect by providing consequences ftrr past conduct.

t5] Dr. Hardick goes on to say that in the absence of a stay, he will suffer irreparable harm, as

he will have been wrongfully denied his right to run for the 2023 Council election. He submits that

the balance of convenience weighs in his favour given that a stay would simply continue a status

quo that existed for well ovcr 20 years prior to the Bylaw amendment. He has undertaken to

tirminate his candidacy and/or resign his seat on Council should he win a seat but fail on the

application for judicial review.

t6] The deadline for submitting nomination papers for election to Council was the date this

motion was heard, February 17, 2023. At the conclusion of argument on the motion, I advised

orally that the stay was denied and Dr. Hardick's motion dismissed, with reasons to follow. I
dismissed the motion for the following reasons.

Analysis

Test for Granting a Stay

l7l The test regarding whether to grant a stay is set out in RJR-MacDonald Inc. v. Canada
(Attorney General), [1994] I S.C.R. 311. Ordinarily, the moving party must demonstrate thatthere

is a serious issue to be tried; that it will suffer irreparable harm if the stay is not granted; and that

the balance of convenience favours a stay. However, the minimal threshold atthe first step assumes

that the stay will operate as a temporary measure pending the full hearing. In cases where, as a

practical matter, the rights of the parties will be determined by the outcome of the stay motion, the

question becomes whether there is a strong likelihood that the case will succeed on the merits:

ioronto (City) v. Ontario (Attorney General),2018 ONCA 76t,I42 O.R. (3d) 481, at para. 10.

18] Dr. Hardick disputes the relevance of the Toronto case. There, the province passed

legislation during a municipal election period to change the ward structure fuom 47 to 25 wards.

The city successfully challenged the constitutionality of the new legislation in the Superior Court

of Justice. In response to the Attorney General's motion seeking a stay pending appeal, the Court

of Appeal articulated the first part of the stay test as whether there was a strong likelihood that the

appeal would succeed. This more onerous test was necessary because the Court's decision on the

stay could effectively determine whether the election proceeded on the basis of 25 or 47 wards.

19] Dr. Hardick submits that the case is distinguishable in that there was no way to undo the

municipal election once it occurred. In the current case, he says, it will be possible to reverse a

decision to stay the Bylaw given that, should Dr. Hardick win a seat on Council but be unsuccessful

on judicial review, he has undertaken to resign his Council seat.

tl0] I disagree that Dr. Hardick resigning his seat would effectively ooundo" the election. First,

I am not as confident as Dr. Hardick that his judicial review, which has not yet been scheduled,

will be heard and decided quickly enough to avoid a period during which he would be involved in

the College's govemance. More importantly, resigning from his seat would not reverse the

election. Although there was a suggestion in the evidence that the second-place candidate might



Page: 3

be able to assume his seat, the College's bylaws provide that when a seat of an elected Council
member becomes vacant, an election will be held. This would be an entirely new election with
new dynamics. It is unknown, for example, which of the previous candidates or which new
candidates would choose to run. In other wordso if Dr. Hardick won his seat and was ultimately
unsuccessful on his judicial review, he likely would have held office for some period although
unqualified to do so and a new election would then need to be held. In these circumstances, the
stay effectively would determine the parties' rights in the pending election. This leads me to apply
the higher standard at the first stage of the stay test.

Is there a strong likelihood the judicial review will succeed?

[1 1] Turning then to the first part of the test, I am unable to find a strong likelihood that the
judicial review will succeed. The standard of review applicable to the review of a professional
regulator's bylaw is reasonableness. As the Supreme Court of Canada stated in Green v. Law
Society of Manitoba, 2017 SCC 20, 407 D.L.R. (4th) 573, at para. 20, in the context of a law
society rule, the rule will be set aside only if it "is one no reasonable body informed by the relevant
factors could have enacted."

tIzl Dr. Hardick has not demonstrated a strong likelihood that the Bylaw will be found to be
unreasonable. Dr. Hardick does not take issue with what the College describes as a "cooling off
period" following a finding of professional misconduct. His position is that it was unreasonable
for the College to make the Bylaw amendment effective immediately. He submits that in
implementing the amendment immediately, the College gave the amendment impermissible
retrospective effect. He also submits that Council's actions demonstrate bad faith and an improper
pu{pose.

A. Retrospective Effect

[13] As explained by the Supreme Court of Canada in Tran v. Canada (Pubtic Safety and
Emergency Preparedness),2}I7 SCC 50, [201712 S.C.R. 289,atpan 43, thepresumption against
retrospectivity is a rule of statutory interpretation. Its purpose is to protect acquired rights and
prevent a change in the law from attaching new prejudicial consequences to a completed
transaction. The presumption works such that 'ostatutes are not to be construed as having
retrospective operation unless such a construction is expressly or by necessary implication required
by the language of the Act": Tran, at para.43, quoting ftom Gustavson Drilling (1964) Ltd.
v. Minister of National Revenueo[197711 s.C.R. 271, r975 canLII4 (SCC), atp.279.

t14] However, the presumption exists to ensure laws will apply retrospectively only where the
legislature has clearly signaled that it has weighed the benefits of retrospectivity with its potential
unfairness. Where the legislature signals by express language or necessary implication tliat it has
tumed its mind to the issue of retrospectivity, the presumption does not apply: Tran, atpara. 50.

tl5] In this case, I accept, as submitted by the College, that there is a strong likelihood a panel
would find that council expressly engaged with the issue of retrospectivity.

[16] The issue of the Bylaw amendment came before Council at a special meeting held on
January 20,2023. Eleven of Council's 16 members were present. They voted unanimously to
approve the proposed amendment to the Bylaw.

204



Page:4 205

lLTl There was then a debate as to when the amendment should come into effect. Some Council

members took the position that the effective date should be delayed until after the upcoming2023
elections for Council. Others held the view that an irnrnediate effective date was in the public
interest. They reasoned that if it was in the public interest to amend the Bylaw, it was equally in
the public interest to implcmcnt the amendments immediately and not wait until after the next

election.

tl8l Ultimately, Council voted 6-5 in favour of implementing the amendments immediately. Of
Council's 16 members, 9 are chiropractors who arc clcctcd by their peers in specific eleotoral

districts and 7 are public members appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. All six votes

in favour of immediate implementation came from Council's public members.

119] The vote as to whether the amendment should be delayed was an express engagement with
the issue of retrospectivity. The only concern with immediate implementation was the question of
fairness to anyone caught by the changes inthe2023 election. Council was aware that the issue of
the Bylaw amendment was triggered by Dr. Hardick's interest in running. Indeed, the package of
material provided to Council members in advance of the meeting included letters from
Dr. Hardick's supporters specifically raising the issue of his disqualification for candidacy should

the amendment be passed immediately. In short, there is a strong argument to say that Council,

after debate and some dissent, voted that the amended Bylaw should have retrospective effect and

should capture those who would be impacted retrospectively in lhe 2023 elcction.

t20l Dr. Hardick points to a statement in the EC report to Council for the January 20,2023
meeting, which, he submits, provides evidence that Council did not consider the impact of the

amendment on him. The report states: "Consistent with legal advice, Council was encouraged to

make its policy decision on a principled basis, and information concerning individual(s) who had

already expressed an interest in running for election was not part of Council's deliberations." The

report goes on to state:

The By-law Amendments do not target any one member. Rather, the By-law
Amendments will affect anyone who, following a full and fair investigation,
hearing, and referral to the discipline committee, has been found to have committed

an act of misconduct or is incompetent as reflected on the COO's public register at

any time up to six years from the finding.

l2|l In my view, this excerpt should be read to say that Council was not targeting Dr. Hardick
to prevent him from running for Council. This does not mean Council was unaware of the possible

retrospective impact of the amended Bylaw.

122] Dr. Hardick also submits that it was not open to Council to pass a bylaw with retrospective

application where the enabling statute, the Health Professions Procedural Code (the o'Code"),

being Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c. 18 (the "RHPA"),
does not expressly authorize it to do so.

l23l It goes without saying that delegated legislation must fall within the bounds ofthe authority
provided by the enabling statute. Howevero the Supreme Court of Canada has repeatedly

emphasized a professional regulator's broad discretion to regulate. ln Green, for example, it



Page:5

compared rules made by a law society to bylaws passed by municipal councils. The Court
emphasized that such bylaws oomust reflect the broad discretion provincial legislators have
traditionally accorded to municipalities engaged in delegated legislation"; atpara.21, quoting from
Catalyst Paper Corp. v. North Cowichan (District), 201,2 SCC 2, I20l2l I S.C.R. 5, at paru. 19.
The Court further underscored, at para. 22, the professional regulator's 'obroad discretion to
regulate ... on the basis of a number of policy considerations related to the public interest." See
also Trinity lVestern University v. Law Society of Upper Canada,2018 SCC33, [2018] 2 S.C.R.
453,atpara.18.

t24l Here, the College has a duty under s. 3(2) of the Code to serve and protect the public
interest. Further, Council is granted broad powers to pass bylaws relating to the administration and
internal affairs of the College, combined with express authority to pass bylaws regarding
qualifications for members to run for Council, as well as conditions disquali$'ing members of
Council. Subsection 94(l) of the Code provides, in relevant part:

9a(1) The Council may make by-laws relating to the administrative and intemal
affairs of the College and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the
Council may make by-laws,

(d.1) respecting the election of Council members, including requirements
for members to be able to vote, electoral districts and election recounts;

(d.2) respecting the qualification and terms of office of Council members
who are elected;

(d.3) prescribing conditions disqualiffing elected members from sitting on
the Council and governing the removal of disqualified Council members;

l25l In the circumstances of this case, Council expressly passed the Bylaw amendment to serve
and protect the public interest. I will deal more fully below with the allegations that the College
targeted Dr. Hardick with its amendments to the Bylaw. For now, I focus on the evidence the
College relies on to say it was focused on the public interest.

L26l The College fully acknowledges that Council's EC began to look into the issue of the
cooling-off period after Dr. Hardick contacted the College's Registrar in August and September
2022 to express an interest in running for Council. The EC was aware that Dr. Hardick had been
found to have committed professional misconduct. This type of issue had not arisen at the College
since 1999, when a Council member had been the subject of a Discipline Committee hearing.

l27l Since 1999, the environment in which the College operates as a regulatory health college
had changed substantially. There had been significant changes to the expectation that regulatory
colleges act in the public interest, including stricter requirements related, for example, to the
publication of information regarding members on the public register. In addition, in 2020, the
Ontario Ministry of Health established annual reporting requirements for all regulated health

206



Page: 6 207

profession colleges using a College Performance Measurement Framework ("CPMF") to measure

and report, in a standardized manner, how they were acting in the public interest. An important
aim of the CPMF was consistcncy across colleges. The College had been working to improve its
processes and structures, guided by the goals of the CPMF.

128] In this context, the College's EC considered Dr. Hardick's potential candidacy to raise an

important issue for consideration in the current regulatory environment. During its initial meetings

to discuss the issue triggered by Dr. Hardick's candidacy, the EC received information that a
number of other regulated health colleges had a six-year cooling off period, including the three

largest colleges: the College of Nurses of Ontario, the College of Physicians and Surgeons of
Ontario and the Ontario College of Pharmacists.

l29l The EC came to the view and recommendation that the six-year cooling off period was a
best practice. It reasoned that such a change increased the chances that the candidate would be

running for election to regulate the profession in the public interest rather than to address their
recent interactions with the College. Further, it found the amendment to be in the public interest

because of enhanced public confidence in the College by members of the public who might be

concerned about Council members who had recently been found to have committed professional

misconduct or be incompetent. Finally, the EC was of the view that the amendment reduced the

chance of a candidate, if elected, having a conflict of interest when dealing with issues related to
a recent finding o-[professioual misconduct.

t30] At the same time that it was considering the amendment in dispute, the EC also looked at

other cooling off periods in the bylaws. It recommended an additional amendment so that the six-
year cooling off period would also apply to the appointment of non-Council members to
committees.

t31] The EC's recommendation came before Council at the November 24, 2022 meeting.

Council decided that it was in the public interest to solicit stakeholder feedback regarding the

proposed amendments. Therefore, on December 2,2022, it circulated a request for feedback. The

College received extensive responses to this request, most of which were supportive of the

proposed changes. Among other positive responses, the Ontario Chiropractic Association, which
represents approximately 80% of the College's members, sent a supportive letter. The College also

received some feedback opposing the timing of the changes.

l32l Prior to the January 20, 2023 meeting at which Council held its votes, each Council
member received an information package containing the complete set of feedback received during
the consultation process. As set out above, the amendment passed unanimously, though the

decision to implement the changes immediately passed 6-5 with the public members all voting in
favour of immediate implementation.

t33] In brief, Council passed the amendment with a focus on adhering to best practices in
protecting the public and in the context of a regulatory environment intent on public accountability.
It also expressly considered and voted in favour of the Bylaw's retrospective application.



Page:7

I34l Dr. Hardick has not provided any authority for the proposition that a public regulator is not
entitled to pass a bylaw with retrospective application where the bylaw is expressly intended to
protect the public interest and where the delegated authority specifically turned its mind to its
retrospective impact. In view of the College's broad statutory mandate to serve and protect the
public, combined with Council's wide bylaw powers, Dr. Hardick has not demonstrated his claim
on this point has a strong likelihood of success. Put otherwise, in the circumstances of this case,
Dr. Hardick has not shown a strong likelihood that, on judicial review, a panel of this Court would
find Council's amendment to be outside the range of options available to the College applying a
reasonableness standard.

B. Bad Faith/Improper Motive

[35] Dr. Hardick also submits that the Bylaw amendment should be quashed on the basis that
Council passed it in bad faith and pursuant to an improper motive. He submits that the College's
claims that it was acting in the public interest constitute a "thin veneer" hiding the real substance
of the matter, which was to target his candidacy. He asks the Court to infer bad faith and improper
purposes from factors such as the following: But for the fact of Dr. Hardick having notified the
College's Registrar that he intended to run for election, there would have been no amendmentprior
to the current election cycle; the process was accelerated to capture him prior to the current
election; he was the only member affected by the change for the current election; Council did not
apply the same rule to sitting Council members; and there was no urgency to the amendment given
that the College had considered the prior version of the Bylaw to be in the public interest for the
previous 20 years.

t36] Bad faith connotes a lack of candour, frankness and impartiality. It includes atbitary or
unfair conduct and the exercise of power to serve private pulposes at the expense of the public
interest: Equity Waste Management of Canada Corp v. Halton Hitls (Town), IggT CanLIl2742
(Ont. C.A.), 35 O.R. (3d) 321, atparu.61. Bylaws also may be set aside where they are passed for
an improper pu{pose, including a purpose collateral to the one for which the power to make the
bylaw was granted: Hummel Properties Inc. v. Niagara-onihe Lake (Town),2022 ONCA 737, at
para.26; Markhamv. Sandwich South (Iownship ofl,1998 CanLII5312 (Ont. C.A.), atpara.24.

I37l Dr. Hardick faces a heavy burden in seeking to demonstrate bad faith on the part of the
majority of Council members: Friends of Lansdowne Inc. v. Ottawa (CW),2012 ONCA 273,ll0
O.R. (3d) l,atpara.79.

[38] Dr. Hardick has not identified any private pu{pose or other personal reason that the public
members of Council voted in favour of the immediate implementation of the Bylaw. Indeed, he
acknowledged on cross-examination that he was not aware of any public member of Council
having a bias against him, nor was he able to identify any motivation against him.

[39] I do not find a strong likelihood that on judicial review this Court would find the College
acted for a purpose other than the public interest. Although the process of amending the Bylaw
was triggered by Dr. Hardick's expression of interest, the basis for the review was to ensure the
College's qualification rules complied with best practice. The College proceeded on an expedited
basis and ultimately Council decided to pass the amendment with immediate effect. But it only did

208



Page:8

so after engaging in consultations with the profession and public, through which the proposed

amendment received broad support.

t40l With respect to the argument that the amendment did not potentially disqualify sitting

Council members, there is a distinction between the retroactive and retrospective application of a
bylaw. Retrospectivity changes the future legal effect of past events whereas retroactivity changes

the legal effect of past events as if the law were different when those events occurred: Ruth
Sullivan, Sullivan on the Construction of Statutes,Tthed (Markham: LexisNexis,2022), at $ 25.02

[4] and 25.05 [1]; Gustavson, at p.279. The fact that Council did not give the Bylaw retroactive

effect does not detract from its ability to give the Bylaw retrospective effect. Sitting Council
members are in a different position than those running for election. To disqualify them would mean

undoing the results of an election ex postJaclo. Moreover, there is no evidence that any current

Council member would have been captured by such a rule.

t41l Overall, in my view, a panel of this Court on judicial review would likely interpret the

College as having acted in the public interest in a manner that impacted a particular member,

Dr. Hardick, but not with the purpose of doing so. Therefore, in my view, Dr. Hardick has not

demonstrated a strong likelihood that, on judicial review, the Bylaw would be found unreasonable.

Will Dr. Hurdick suffer irreparable harm?

142) I accept that Dr. Hardick will suffer irreparable harm if prevented from running in the

election. The next election for the seat on Council in his electoral district will be in2026. By then,

the finding of professional misconduct against him will be sufficiently outdated that the Bylaw
will not prevent him from running. Still, I do not consider the opportunity to run in the next election

to obviate the three-year wait and lost opportunity to participate in the current governance of the

College.

Does the balance of conveniencefavour a stay?

l43l Overall, the balance of convenience weighs in favour of denying a stay. When a court is

considering a request for a stay suspending the operation of a validly enacted law, the law is
presumed to be in the public good. In assessing the balance of convenience, therefore, the motions
judge must proceed on the assumption that the law, or bylaw in this case, is directed to the public

interest and serves a valid public purpose: Harper v. Canada (Attorney General),2000 SCC 57, 2

S.C.R. 7 64, at para. 9 ; RJR-MacDonald, at pp. 348-49.

l44l This presumed public interest must be weighed against Dr. Hardick's assertion of his own
rights. I have found that he stands to suffer irreparable harm if he is prevented from running in the

election. That said, and although not a cure for the harm he will suffer, he will have the opportunity

to run again in the next election. Meanwhile, if the election proceeds on an invalid basis, this must

be presumed to harm the public interest as a whole. Practically speaking, as I have said above, the

election cannot simply be undone by Dr. Hardick's undertaking to resign. Requiring that an

entirely new election be held, potentially with new candidates, in my view constitutes a greater

harm than requiring Dr. Hardick to wait for the next election cycle.

209



Page: 9

Disposition

t45] Therefore, as indicated at the conclusion of the hearing, the motion is dismissed.
Dr. Hardick shall pay costs to the College in the agreed-upon amount of $20,000.

210

,(dL
O'Brien J

Date: March 3,2023



COURI 0r

*

ITEM 4.1,18

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

(Divisional Gourt)

Court File No.: 060123

211

THE HONOURABLE JUSTTCE O'BRIEN )

)

)

FRIDAY, THE 17TH
DAY OF FEBRUARY,2023

BETWEEN
BENJAMIN HARDICK

Applicant (Moving Party)

-and-

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO
Respondent (Responding Party)

ORDER

THIS MOTION, made by Dr. Benjamin Hardick ("Dr. Hardick") for an interim and

interlocutory injunction to stay the implementation and operation of by-law 6.9(e) as

amended of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario (the "College"), along with other

ancillary relief, was heard on this day via videoconference, with judgment being granted

this day for the reasons set out in the endorsement released on March 3,2023.

ON READING the materials filed by the parties, including the motion records,

factums, transcripts, and authorities, and on hearing the submissions of the lawyers for

the parties, and on being advised by the parties of their agreement as to the quantum of

costs payable to the successful party,

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the motion is dismissed



212
2. THIS COURT ORDERS that Dr. Hardick shall pay costs to the College of $20,000

inclusive of tax and disbursements.

THIS ORDER BEARS INTEREST at the rate of 5% per year commencing on February

17th,2023.

Digitally signed by
Saurabh Baweja
Dal.e: 2023.03.28
1 1:38:01 -04'00'

Saurabh
aeJWBa



BENJAMIN HARDICK
ApplicanVMoving Party

COLLEGE OF
CHIROPRACTORS OF
ONTARIO
RespondenUResponding

and
Court File No. 060123

P

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

(Divisional Gourt)
Proceeding commenced at

TORONTO

ORDER

PALIARE ROLAND ROSENBERG ROTHSTEIN LLP
155 Wellington Street West, 35th Floor
Toronto ON MsV 3H1
F: 416.646.4301

Chris Paliare (LSO#1 3367P)
T: 416-646-4318
chris. paliare@paliareroland.com

Karen Jones (LSO# 42270L1
T: 416-646-4339
karen.jones@pal iareroland. com

Daniel Rosenbluth (LSO #71044U1
T: 416-646-6307
dan iel. rosen b luth @pal i a re rola nd.com

Lawyers for the Respondent (Responding Party)
College of Chiropractors of Ontario

213



Crey Areas
I

SML|TEM 4.1.19 Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc
Barrirtefi & Solicitds

A COMMENTARY ON LECAL ISSUES AFFECTINC PROFESSIONAL RECULATION

214
The Legal Value of a Sound

Policy-Making Process

by Bernie LeBlanc
April2023 - No. 277

A major function of the Council or Board of a regulator
is to make policies that direct the organization and
guide the profession or industry. Most commentators
agree that a sound process results in better quality
policies. A model process might be described as
follows:

1. ldentifying an issue warranting a policy,
2. Researching the nature of the issue and

options for addressing it,
3. Preparing a briefing note for the policy decision

makers,
4. Consulting with stakeholders and affected

persons,
5. Deciding on what the policy should be,
6. lmplementing the policy, and
7. Monitoring the impact of the policy and

reviewing and revising the policy as needed.

However, a sound policy-making process can also
help defend the validity of the policy from legal
challenge. ln Sobevs West lnc. v. Colleoe of
Pharmacists of British Columbia, 2016 BCCA 41
(Canlll), a lower court decision found a policy by a
pharmacy regulator, prohibiting customer incentive
programs, to be unreasonable because there was no
empirical evidence to support it. (The decision was
reversed on appeal, although the appeal court
commented that "the evidence suppoding the need for
the bylaws was thin".)

The value of a sound policy-making process was
demonstrated in the recent decision of Hardick v.

Colleoe of Chiropractors of Ontario, 2023 ONSC 1479
(Canlll)- ln that case the regulator amended its
election by-law to extend the period, from three years
to six years, of disqualification for being elected to the

Council after having been disciplined. The change was
made after the registrant, who had been disciplined
five years previously, indicated an interest in running
for election. The registrant brought an application for
judicial review challenging the validity of the by-law
and sought a stay to enable him to seek office in the
upcoming Council election. He argued that the by-law
was amended in bad faith and for an improper
purpose. He also argued that the by-law had an
imperm issible retrospective effect.

The Court refused to issue the requested stay.

The Court concluded that there was not a strong
likelihood that the judicial review application would
succeed. On the issue of retrospectivity, the Court
found that there was evidence that the Council had
expressly considered whether the amendment should
apply to the upcoming election. ln fact, there was a
separate vote on the effective date of the amendment.
The Council voted, six in favour and five opposed, that
"if it was in the public interest to amend the Bylaw, it
was equally in the public interest to implement the
amendments immediately and not wait until after the
next election." All six votes in favour of an immediate
effect came from publicly-appointed members of the
Council.

The Court noted that the information package
considered by the Council identified that the by-law
amendment was triggered by the registrant's interest
in running for election. Thus, the fairness to the
registrant of changing the rules was before the
Council.

The Court also observed that the materials before the
Council expressly stated that the decision should be
made to protect the public interest. While the Council's
Executive Committee was aware of the registrant's
interest in running for election and that the current by-
law only had a three-year cooling off period,
circumstances had changed since that by-law had
originally been enacted.

FOR MORE INFORMATION
This newsletter is published by Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc, a law firm practising in the field of professional regulation. lf you are not receiving a copy and would like one,
please contact: Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc, 401 Bay Street, Suite 2308, P.O. Box 23, Toronlo, ON M5H 2Y4, Tel:416-599-2200 Fax:416-593-7867,
E-MaiI: infofgisml-law.com

WANT TO REPRINT AN ARTICLE
A number of readers have asked to reprint articles in their own newslefters. Our policy is that readers may reprint an article as long as credit is given to both the newsletter
and the firm. Please send us a copy of the issue of the newsletter which contains a reprint from Grey Areas.



Crey Areas Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc
Bnriites & Sali{itor5

A COMMENTARY ON LECAL ISSUES AFFECTINC PROFESSIONAL RECULATION

SML

215
Since 1999, the environment in which the
College operates as a regulatory health
college had changed substantially. There had
beerr significant changes to the expectation
that regulatory colleges act in the public
interest, including stricter requirements
related, for example, to the publication of
information regarding members on the public
register. ln addition, in 2020, the Ontario
Ministry of Health established annual reporting
requirements for all regulated health
profession colleges using a College
Performance Measurement Framework
('CPMF") to measure and report, in a
standardized manner, how they were acting in
the public interest. An important aim of the
CPMF was consistency across colleges. The
College had been working to improve its
processes and structures, guided by Llre guarls

of the CPMF.

The information package before the Council indicated
that several other health regulators had a six-year
cooling off period. Three rationales were contained in
the Council briefing materials as to why a six-year
cooling off period would be a best practise:

It reasoned that such a change increased the
chances that the candidate would be running
for election to regulate the profession in the
public interest rather than to address their
recent interactions with the College. Fr.trther, it
found the amendment to be in the public
interest because of enhanced public
confidence in the College by members of the
public who might be concerned about Council
members who had recently been found to have
committed professional misconduct or be
incompetent. Finally, the EC was of the view
that the amendment reduced the chance of a
candidate, if elected, having a conflict of

interest when dealing with issues related to a
recent finding of professional misconduct.

The Court also noted that other portions of the by-laws
that did not affect the upcoming election, such as
appointments to committees, were amended at the
same time in a similar way.

The Court also observed that, not only was the
amendment considered over several meetings, but
there had also been a public consultation on the
proposed by-law amendment, and that feedback had
been presented to the Council.

ln brief, Council passed the amendment with a
focus on adhering to best practices in
protecting the public and in the context of a
regulatory environment intent on public
accountability.

Similarly, the Court also found that it was unlikely that
the registrant would be able to establish that the by-
law amendment was made in bad faith and for an
improper purpose.

Although the process of amending the Bylaw
was triggered by Dr. Hardick's expression of
interest, the basis for the review was to ensure
the College's qualification rules complied with
best practice. The College proceeded on an
expedited basis and ultimately Council decided
to pass the arnendnrent with inrmediate effect.
But it only did so after engaging in

consultations with the profession and public,
through which the proposed amendment
received broad support....

Overall, in my view, a panel of this Court on
judicial review would likely interpret the
College as having acted in the public interest
in a manner that impacted a particular
member, Dr. Hardick, but not with the purpose
of doing so. Therefore, in my view, Dr. Hardick

Page | 2



Crey Areas Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc
Barister & SoliciioG

A COMMENTARY ON LECAL ISSUES AFFECTINC PROFESSIONAL RECULATION

SML

216has not demonstrated a strong likelihood that,
on judicial review, the Bylaw would be found
unreasonable.

While the Court found that the by-law amendment
would cause irreparable harm to the registrant, the
balance of convenience still weighed in favour of
denying the stay. The potential disruption, of having to
remove the registrant should he win the election but
then be unsuccessful on the later application for
judicial review, was too great.

The outcome for the regulator in this case was greatly
assisted by its policy-making process involving:

comprehensive briefing materials focussing
on the public interest rationale for the change
including evidence of the approach of other
regulators,
external consultation on the proposal (even
though one was not required by the enabling
legislation), and
the participation of public members in the
decision.

a

a

a

Page | 3



|TEM 4.1-20
Rose Bustria

217

To:
Cc:

Sent:

Subject:

From:

Attachments:

Jo-Ann Willson
March 31,2023 9:08 AM
Allison Henry (allison.henry@ontario.ca); Maurier, Jason (MOH)
Joel Friedman; Dennis Mizel (drmizel@stcatharineschiropractic.com)

CCO's College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF) Report
for 2022 (dated March 31,2022)
CP MF2022Ma rc h 3 1,2023. pdf

Good morning

Attached please find CCO's CPMF Report for 2022 dated March 3I,2022.l would like to thank Joel
Friedman, Deputy Registrar, for the compilation of the relevant data and the preparation of CCO's
Report. We look forward to an ongoing dialogue with the Ministry concerning the CPMF and how to
effectively facilitate the best practices demonstrated by all health regulators in Ontario, consistent with
our respective public interest mandates. CCO's 2A22 CPMF Report has been posted on the CCO website
at https://cco.on.calwp-content/uploads/2023l03/CPMF2022March312023.pdf

Thank you

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (41 6) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Toll Free: 1-877-577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.GCo.on.cEr ,

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related
to the COVID-19 global pandemlc. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the emailor phone contact
information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 41,6-922-6355 ext. l-00 or email
rece ptio n @cco.o n.ca
and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated
with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require accommodations. Please ensure that all communications with CCO are
respectful and professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

1



218

@ Coileg€ ol Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Ctiroprathiens de tOntario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF) Reporting Tool

Reporting Year: JanuarV 2022 - December 20ZZ

Version Date: March 3L,2023



219
College ol Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraficiens de I'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Table of Contents
4

7

8

33

2lPage



220
@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario

fordre des Chiropraticiens de fontorio
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

3lPage



221
KD

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

lntroduction

The College Performance Measurement Framework (CPMF)

with the aim of answering the question "how well are Colleges executing their mandate which is to act in the public interest?" This information ra.ill:

1. Strengthen accountabilityand oversightofOntario's health regulatoryColleges;

2. Help Colleges improve their performance;

Each College will report on seven Domains with the support of six components, as illustrated in Table 1.

Table 1: CPMF Measurement Domains and Components

Measutement
domains

Standards

Context
measures

Planned

improvement
actions

-+ Critical attributes of an excellent health regulator in Ontario that should be measured for the purpose of the

CPMF.

-+ Performance-based activities that a College is expected to achieve and against wrich a College will be

measured.

-) lnitiatives a College commits to implement over the next reporting period to improve its performance on one

or more standards, where appropriate.

Measures -+ More specific requirements to demonstrate and enable the assessment of how a College achieves a Standard.

Evidence
-+ Decisions, activities, processes, or the quantifiable results that are being used to demonstrate and assess a

College's achievement of a standard.

-+ Statistical data Colleges report that will provide helpful context about a College's perfiormance related to a

standard.

t

2

3

4

5

4lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3I,2O23

CPMF Mode , 222

achieve as an excellent regulator.

Figure 1: CPMF Model for Measuring Regulatory Excellence

Organizational Focus
Appl:6sn1i

Registrant Focus

Results &
lmprovement Registrant FOcus

7 Measuremenl,
Reporting and
lmprovement

/ The College
continuously
assesses nlsks, and
measutes,

evaluates, and
improves its
pertormance.

/ The College is
transparent about its
peiormance and
improvement
activities.

6 Suitability to Practice
College effofts to ensure
that only those individuals
who are qualified, skilled
and competent are
registered, and only those
registrants who remain
competent, safe and
ethical continue to
p ra cti ce th e profe ssio n.

The Coilege's policies,

standards of practice, and
practice guidelines are based
on the best available evidence,
reflect cunent best practicet
are aligned with changing
publications and where
appropiate aligned with other

Policies2 Resources
The College's ability to have
the financial and human
resources to meet its statutory
objects and regulatory

now and in the future

3 System Partner
Extent to which a College wo*s
w ith oth e r C ollegesl sysfem

as appropriate, to help
execute its mandate effectively,
eff i ci e ntly a nd/or cootdi n ate d

to ensure it responds to

College effotts to ensure its
confi dential information is retained
securely and used appropriately in
admin isteing regulatory activities,
legislative du$es and objects.

1 Governance
r' College effotts to

ensure Council and
Commiftees have the
required knowledge
and skills to wanant
good governance.

/ lntegriUin Council
decision making.

/ College efforts in
disclosing how
decisions are made,
planned to be made,
and actions taken that
are communicated in
ways that are

accesslb/e to, timely
and useful for relevant
audiences

5 | P age



KD
College of Chiropractors of ontarao
ljordre des chiropraticiens de l'ontario

Figure 2: CPMF Domains and Standards

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

223

Standards

1. Council and statutory committee members have the knowledge, skills, and commitment needed to effectively execute

their role and pertaini to the mandate of the College.

2. Council decisions are made in the public interest.

3. The acts to foster public trust thro about decisions made and actions taken

4. The rsa ble steward of its ncial and hum resources.

5. The College actively engages with other health regulatory Colleges and system partners to align oversight of the practice

of the and su rt execution of its mandate.

5. The College maintains cooperative and collaborative relationships responds in a timely and effective manner to
changing public expectations.

7. lnformation collected the College is from unauthorized disclosure.

8. Policies, standards of practice, and practice guidelines are based in the best available evidence, reflect current best

are aligned with cha blic ons, and where a al with other

9. The College has processes and procedures in place to assess the competency, safety, and ethics of the people it

registers.

10. The College ensures the continued competence of all active registrants through its Quality Assurance processes. This

includes an assessment oftheir com ethical and of care.

11. The is accessible and su

12. All complaints, reports, and investigations are prioritized based on public risk, and conducted in a timely manner with

actions to rotect the blic.

13. The College com nts is coordinated and i

14. The College monitors, reports on, and improves its performance.

Domains

Governance

Resources

System Partner

lnformation Management

Regulatory Policies

Suitability to Practice

Measurement, Reporting and

lmprovement

6lPage



@
College of Chimpractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Onlario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 37,2O23

224
The CPMF Reporting Tool

Standards.

improvement and the various commitments Colleges have made to improve their performance in serving and protecting the public as per their 2027 CPMF Reports. The focus of the

each other.

The ministry's Summary Report will be posted in English and French and weblinks to the report will be shared with the Colleges once it is published

TlPage



@D
College of Chiropraclors ol Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

225
For this reporting cycle, Colleges will be asked to report on:

. Their performance against the CpMF standards and updates on the improvements Colleges committed to undertake in their previous CPMF reports;

. provide detailed improvement plans where they do not fully meet a benchmarked Evidence.

Completing the CPMF Reporting Tool

interpreted given the uniqueness of the profession each College oversees.

and progress made on commitments from previous years.

What has changed in 2022?

referencing College documents.

8lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontaric

Part 1: Measurement Domains

CCO CPMF ReportingTool - March3I,2OZ3

226

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

lf yes, pleose insert o link ond indicote the page number where they can be found; if not, pleose list criterio.

identifies competencies for candidates for election to Council and appointment of non-council committee members in the following
ments:

Competencies for Council and Committee Members - this document was passed by CCO Council on November 25, ZOZtto identify
competencies for Council and committee members, including competencies that candidates may already possess and competencies
that can be learned and developed through CCO orientation and educational opportunities.
2022 Notice of Election - the Notice of Election identifies the criteria for being eligible for election to Council and the factors and the

available to the public.

CCO Bv-law 6 and Bv-law L2 identify criteria and requirements for being eligible to be a Council or committee member

a

a

a

safety,

ash

blic

pert
pu

cco
EX

n,

usiness,

the

ent
rch,

bin

n

resea

Electio

docum

ence

of
knowledge,

and

ce

This

protectio
ing:

experi

ns.

Noti

s,

nd

clud

a

n

o22

education

2

functio
nt,
roles

the

ckground

and

n

ba

t.

materia

nagem

ncru

ton

previous

ma

mandate

ls,

Co

lect
different

e

to

risk

m

skil

CCO'S

fro
their

to

n

ication

election

nt

ients
n

opment,

deu

for

pat

mu

e

ncl

devel
releva

bt

com

igi

to

nd

cluding

roles
policy

tn

a

raged

being

other

ents,
cou

v

en

an

pat

from

and

of
are

and

ber

interperson
re

e,

ca

ogy
health

mem

ro

oln

rces,

candidates

tech

at
ropractic

on

oversight

th

resou

chi

precl ude

at
n

d

an

ctes

n

to

mau

wou

h

inform

lated

ing,

re

boards

that

n

competen

n

n

nting,

s

o
pla

butes
flou

interest

accou

VA

attri

of

se rvt n

or

ed

al

zationa

cts

ifi
and

n

nct

nflco

ident
skil

interest,
orga
fina

The competency and suitability criteria are public: Chocsi,: rn ile nr

u

Professional members are
eligible to stand for election to
Council only after:

i. Meetlng pre-defined
competency and suitability
criteria; and

Eenchmorked Evidence

a.

Fl
o
c,
oz
F
an

LIJ
Uz
z
d.
LLI

o
(9

-lz

Oo

9lPage



(@ nlr: ;i:iffitffi;* ilr,r"',"n. CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

227
,'no", orstokeholders,consultingpolicies,

implementdtion.
drafting

to
(1.e.,

barriers
steps

ony
the

ond
Outline

timelines
medsure.this

expectedtaking,
implement
bewill

fullyto
College

plan

theetc.)
College'sthe

procedures,
describe

or
of

policiesexisting
"partiotly"tsresponsethe

10lPage



Z.N Cott*" of chirooractors of Ontario

\!/ r:oroL oes Chirbpraticiens de l'ontario
CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3t,2023 228

Yes

Choose an item.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Duration of orientation training.

Please briefly describe the format of orientation training (e.9., in-person, online, with facilitator, testing knowledge at the end)

Please insert a link and indicate the page number iftraining topics are public OR list orientation training topics.

Candidates, Council and Committee members are required to participate in various orientation and training sessions throughout the year.
These include:

. ln April 2021, Council approved a mandatorv orientation session {communicated to members and stakeholders as part of the 2022
Notice of Election) for candidates for CCO Council for the 2022 elections to Council. This training session was led by CCO staff and
outside legal counsel and took place on February 23,2022 from 6 pm -8 pm.

r On April 2L,2022,8:30 am - 1pm, Council and committee members participated in an orientation on the College's mandate and
objectives, duties and roles of committees, and duties of council and committee members. This was led by the Registrar and General
Counsel and outside legal counsel.

. At various times in May - June 2022, each committee held an introduction to its committee at its first meeting.
r On September 9 - 11, 2022 - Council and staff attended strategic planning and educational sessions related to best practices on

CPMF, conflict of interest, Diversity, Equity and lnclusion and Cyber Security.
o On November 25,2O22,8:30 am - 11:30 am, Council and committee members attended an educational session on regulatory

practices led by outside legal counsel and staff.
r New Council and Discipline committee members are required to complete the discipline training sessions conducted by the Health

Professions Regulators of Ontario (HPRO).

lf the resptsnse is "purtiallv" ctr "na", is the (.:olleg( pl(irning to impr$r! it5 pe rfotficn(:e ov€t the rtexi rcpariinq periot)?

A d d i t i o n o I c o ft1 n {} il t,. f a t ( I ( r i f i c a t i a n I o p t i a r t a I i :

ii. attending an orientation training
about the College's mandate
and expectations pertaining
to the member's role and
responsibilities.

11 lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tjordre des Chiroptaticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 229

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

The competency and suitability criteria are public: Choose an ;tem.

lf yes, pleose insert a tink and indicote the poge number where they con be found; iI not, pleose list criteria.

Competencies for Council and Committee Members - this document was passed by Council on November 25,202t to identify

competencies for Council and Committee members.

CCO Bv-law 7 and Bv-law 12 identify duties and powers of executive officers and committee chair and criteria for appointing committee

members. Candidates interested in all committee positions are required to submit a letter of intent and curriculum vitae, identifying

their interest, relevant competencies, skills and qualifications for committees. Committee members may also speak to their interest,

competencies, skills and qualifications to Council, prior to the appointment to committee.

CCO Council pass€d a policy, lnternal Policv l-019: Policv on Nominations and Electicn Procedures for Committee Positions (page 168 of

April 21, 2022 public Council package), on November 25,2027, to outline the policies and procedures for the nomination and election

procedures for committee positions. CCO applied this policy to elections of committee members, which took place on Aoril2I' 2O22.

Consistent with the CpMF-inspired move toward competency-based selection and appointments process for all members of Council or

committees, CCO, like many health regulators in Ontario, has amended its bv-laws to permit the appointment of an individual who is

neither a member of the college nor a public member appointed by government, but who demonstrates the competencies, skills and

judgement to contribute to the work of a specific committee. Mr. MacKay was reappointed to the Discipline Committee on ApIi|-zL
2022, consistent with this policY.

With respect to evidencing the suitability of nominees, in keeping with the aspirational objectives of Measure 1.1 of the CPMF this year

the CCO Executive Committee directed all Council members to provide their interest, and relevant background and skills for any desired

Committee position. These responses were compiled for Council's consideration at the meeting on A34ji--.M. Matching interest

with skills and competency for committee membership is a recognized best practice, supported by the MOHLTC and highlighted in the

landmark 2018 inquiry into the BC College of Dental Surgeons undertaken by Harry Cayton (known as the 'Cayton Report'l.

b. Statutory Committee candidates

have:

i. Met pre-defined
competency and suitability
criteria; and

Benchmorked Evidence

12lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors ol Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 230

Yes

"no", orstokeholders,consultingpolicies,

implementation.
drafting

to
(i.e.,

borriers
steps

dny
the

ond
Outline

timelines

meosufe.this
expectedtoking,

implement
bewill

fullyto
College

plan
theetc.)

College'sthe
procedures,

describe
of

or
policiesexisting

"portially''rsresponsethe

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please briefly describe the format of each orientation training (e.g., in-person, online, with facilitator, testing knowledge at the end).

Please insert a link and indicate the page number iftraining topics are public oR list orientation training topics for statutory committee.

Candidates for CCO elections attended a mandatory orientation session conducted by outside counsel and CCO staff on February 23,
2022.
committee members are required to attend an orientation session, which took place on April 21,2o22, g:30 am - 1 pm, on the college,s
mandate and objectives, duties and roles of committees, and duties of council and committee members. This was led by the Registrar
and General Counsel and outside legal counsel.
At various times in May - June 2022, each committee held an introduction to its committee at its first meeting.
New Council and Discipline committee members are required to complete the Discipline Training sessions conducted by the Health
Professions Reeulators of Ontario (HpRO).

All council and committee members are encouraged to attend additional HPRo training sessions, including governance training, reasons
writing and others.

Statutory Committee orientation training.Duration of each

ii. attended an orientation
traininB about the mandate
of the Committee and
expectations pertaining to a

membe/s role and
responsibilities.

13lPage



@ nm;::iffi:r,ffi;:?t'ilt"n. CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023 231

Choose an item.f fhc re-99dn,{e l$ "portir:lly" or "nrs", [s the Cfitlrye planniilg tu imprave its performttnt:e ovrnr the nexf rcp crting Period?

tianal):Adtiitiontl conments fttt ciarificatian (ap

14lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Lordre des Chiroprsticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 232

Choose an item-

Yes
The College fulfills this requirement:

Duration of orientation training.

Please briefly describe the format of orientation training (e.g., in-person, online, with facilitator, testing knowledge at the end).

Please insert a link and indicate the page number iftraining topics are public OR list orientation training topics.

Once appointed to Council, new public members participate in informal communication with the President, Registrar and General
Counsel, and outside legal counsel on the College's mandate and expectations pertaining to the appointee's role and responsibilities.
Council members, including public members, are required to attend an orientation session, which took place on April 21, 2022,8:3O am
- 1 pm, on the College's mandate and objectives, duties and roles of committees, and duties of council and committee members. This
was led bythe Registrar and General Counsel and outside legal counsel.
New Council and Discipline committee members are required to complete the discipline training sessions conducted by the Health
Professions Regulators of Ontario (HPRO).

All Council and committee members are encouraged to attend additional HPRO training sessions, including governance training, reasons
writing and others.

f ilro ri:spense is " pa rtifi li\/" ar " na" . i:; tha Callege pksnninq to im prove its pe rt'onTance avtr rhe !1cxt re poning Wiad?

,4cJoiticr)ol conrn en5 t'ar rirr,7,,or'ion (0ptionnI):

c. Prior to attending their first
meeting, public appointments to
Council undertake an orientation
training course provided by the
College about the college's
mandate and expectations
pertaining to the appointee's
role and responsibilities.

15lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3I,2023 233

Yes

::..: . - , ...:..'..:t.. ; ':t r:. .'..:: ::- ._.,.':..':-'

3CO will continue to receive training and education on evaluating Council effectiveness and will be further exploring options of

mplementing a framework for Council evaluation in2023.

The College fulfills this requirement Partially

Please provide the year when Framework was developed OR last updated.

please insert a link to Framework OR link to Council meeting materials and indicate the page number where the Framework is found and was apprwed.

Evaluation and assessment results are discussed at public Coilncil meeting: illcsf iir lttill.

lf yes, pleose insert o tink to the lost Council meeting and indi:ote the poge number where the most recent evoluation results hove been presented and discussed'

As part of its strategic planning sessions on September 9 -1,1,,2022, CCO Council and staff attended educational sessions on practices of

cther colleges related to evaluating Council performance, led by CCO outside consultants and legal counsel. CCo will continue to receive

training and education on evaluating Council effectiveness and implementing a framewcrk for evaluation in 2023.

a. Council has developed and

implemented a framework to
regularly evaluate the
effectiveness of:

i. Council meetings; and

ii. Council.

16lPagn



@)
College of Chiropraciors of Ontario
lJOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31., 2023

234
Partially

Yes

The College fulfills this requirement:

Has a third party been engaged by the College for evaluation of Council effectiveness? Choose an item.

lfyes, how often do they occur?

Please indicate the year of last third-party evaluation.

Although CCO has not engaged a third party for a formal review of the Council's effectiveness in 2O22, CCO has brought in outside
:onsultants, including regulatory consultants, legal counsel and communication experts to facilitate education sessions on issues related to
Sovernance, best practices for regulators, evaluating Council performance, and duties of Council. On September 9 - 11,2022, Council and
:ommittee members attended an educational session on evaluating Council performance, led by CCO outside consultants and legal counsel

ICO last updated its missions, vision, values, and strategic objectives using an outside facilitator in2O77 (last full strategic planning to
rpdate CCO's mission, vision, values, and strategic objectives).

ll the response is "partially'' ar "nc", is the kllegt planniilg to irnprt)ve its aerforman<:e over the next reportinq pena()?

CCO will continue to receive training and education on evaluating Council effectiveness and will be further exploring options of
implementing a framework for Council evaluation in 2023.

Additianu! tarlme n!s fcr tlnrificotion (aptionol)

b. The framework includes a third-
party assessment of Council
effectiveness at a minimum every
three years.

lTlPage



KE
College of Chiropractors of Ontaric
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

235

Yes
)

Additioircl cor'1,.r]?tni.trq)t alorfl{:ofion fr:ptiorol):

CCO will continue to hold education and training sessions for Council and committee informed by Council and committee member feedback.

PartiallyThe College fulfills this requirement:

please insert a link to documents outlining how outcome evaluations have informed Council and Committee trahing

please insert a link to Council meeting materials and indicate the page number where this information is found OR

please briefly describe how this has been done for the training provided over the last calendar vear.

Council and committee education and training are informed by council and committee member feedback and direction. Specific education and

training in 2O22took place at various times during the year - in February and April for orientation, September for strate8ic planning and

November for an end of year educational sessions. Topics included introduction to CCO and professional regulation, duties of council and

committee members, governance, best practices of colleges with respect to CPMF, avoidance of conflict of interest, diversity, equity and

inclusion training, cyber security training, lessons learned from the covlD-19 pandemic and reflections on professional regulation.

CCO staff also participated in various education and training, including presenting and attending the CNAR Conference in October 2022,

attending the HpRO EDI consultation sessions in December 2022, attending an educational session "Equality, Diversity and lnclusion: Cultural

Competence Skills for Legal Professionals", put on by York University on November L5,2022, "Changing Tides: The Ebb and Flow of

Administrative Justice" put on by the Society of Ontario Adjudicators and Regulators on November 3,2022, continuing education on

prosecuting and defending discipline cases on April 19, 2022, and various Administrative Law continuing professional development events.

Materials from educational sessions are often included in public Council packages.

and indicate the page numbers-

c. Ongoing training provided to
Council and Committee members

has been informed by:

i. the out@me of relevant
evaluation(s);

ii. the needs identified bY

Council and Committee
members! and/or

lSlPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

236
PartiallyThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to documents outlining how evolving public expectations have informed Council and Committee training and indicate the page numbers.

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials and indicate the page number where this information is found OR

Please briefly describe how this has been done for the training provided over the last calendar vear.

ln April 2021, Council approved a mandatorv orientation session (communicated to members and stakeholders as part of the 2022
Notice of Election) for candidates for CCO Council for the 2O22 elections to Council. This training session was led by CCO staff and
outside legal counsel and took place on February 23,2022 from 6 pm - 8 pm.
On April 2L,2022,8:30 am - 1 pm, Council and committee members participated in an qiglglq on the College's mandate and
objectives, duties and roles of committees, and duties of council and committee members. This was led by the Registrar and General
Counsel and outside legal counsel.
At various times in May - June 2O22, each committee held an introduction and orientation to its committee at the first meeting of each
committee. Depending on the committee, staff and outside legal counsel provided this orientation.
On September 9 - 17,2022 - 8:30 am - 1L:30 am, Council and committee members attended a strategic planning session, which
addressed topics such as: best practices of colleges with respect to CPMF, avoidance of conflict of interest, diversity, equity and inclusion
training, cyber security training led by CCO outside consultants and legal counsel.
On November 25,2022,8:30 am - 11:30 am, Council and committee members attended educational sessions on lessons learned from
the COVID-19 pandemic and messages around professional regulation, led by outside legal counsel Richard Steinecke.
New Council and Discipline committee members are required to complete the Discipline Training sessions conducted by the Health
Professions Resulators of Ontario (HPRO).

CCO staff also participated in various education and training, including presenting and attending the CNAR Conference in October 2O22 and
attending the HPRO EDI consultation sessions in December 2022.
Review of standards of practice, policies and guidelines continue to be informed by emerging regulatory issues, input from the lnquiries,
Complaints and Reports Committee based on trends and emerging issues in complaints, and correspondences from system partners,
such as chiropractic professional associations.

iii. evolving public expectations
including risk management
and Diversity, Equity, and
lnclusion.

Further clarif ication:

Colleges are encouraged to define
public expectations based on input
from the public, their members, and
stakeholders.

Risk management is essential to
effective oversight since internal and
external risks may impact the ability
of Council to fulfill its mandate.

19 | Page



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tjordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

237
Yes

Acld lionai c u n me' nts lc r cla rifi cati o n (aptianc I ):

Education and training sessions for Council members, committee members and staff will continue to be informed by emerging issues, public

expectations, and risk management, with input provided by Council and committee members and emergency regulatory issues.

20lPage



@D
College of Chiropraciors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3I,2023

238

Yes
The College fulfills this requirement:

Please provide the year when the Council Code of Conduct and 'Conflict of lnterest' policy was last evaluated/updated.

nclu

Please briefly describe any changes madeto the Council Code ofConduct and'Conflict of lnterest policy'resultingfrom the last review.

has several code of conduct documents that are required to be signed by council and committee members on an annual basis. These
de:

r Code of Conduct (public document on CCO'S website, reviewed on an annual basis, last amended April 2016)
r Confidentialitv Undertakins (public document on CCO'S website, reviewed on an annual basis, last amended April 201g)t lnternal Policv l-015: Zero Tolerance for Abuse, Neglect and Harassment (internal policy, reviewed on an annual basis, last amended

September 2018)

in every Council and committee information package, are the mtss on VI so n, VA lues and strategic obje ctives of cco a n d th e d uties
o b ects of th e Co lege unde the Regulated Health Professions Act, L991 (RHPA) and he code of conduct fo Cou n cil and committee
bers. Council and com mittees lways revt ew these d ocu ments at the first meeting of a new cou ncil or committee to ensu re that ncicou

committee mem bers have an u nderstanding of the regulatory and strategi c objectives of the College These documents re al so
ncl u ded as pa rt of ny cou ncil and comm ittee tra tn ing

also has a Policv on Conflict of lnterest for Council and Non-Council Committee Members which
consideration of a conflict of interest on a specific matter. This is a public document availab

is ncl U d ed and reviewed eve ry me
here IS a on cco's website

reviews all conduct documents on an annual basis and will seek outside legal advice in making updates to these documents.

a. The College Council has a Code of
Conduct and 'Conflict of lnterest'
policy that is:

i. reviewed at least every three
years to ensure it reflects
current legislation, practices,
public expectations, issues,
and emerging initiatives (e.g.,

Diversity, Equity, and
lnclusion); and

Fu rther clarif ication :

Colleges are best placed to determine
the public expectations, issues and
emerging initiatives based on input
from their members, stakeholders,
and the public. While there will be
similarities across Colleges such as

Diversity, Equity, and lnclusion, this is

also an opportunity to reflect
additional issues, expectations, and
emerging initiatives unique to a

College or profession.

LU(J
z
z
E
LU

o
(9

d

z

oo

6t
oz
att

21 lPage



@ :e'n';:$iiff rff$* ?i'ffi 
"n"

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

239
Choose an itemlflhe raspons( is "pafticllY'' ot "no", is to inprove its pedorntqnca over the next r*pcrting peilod?ihe CollEQe plunnfttg

y';d d it i cs n it I m n m e nts fo ( cl a rili cati o n ! o ption o I )

221? age



KD
College of Chiroprac-tors of Ontario
tiordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Onlario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

240
Yes

Choose an item

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the Council Code of Conduct and 'Conflict of lnterest' Policy OR Council meeting materials where the policy is found and was last discussed
and approved and indicate the page number.

lncluded in every Council.and committee information package, are the mission, vison, values and strategic objectives of CCO and the duties
and objects ofthe College underthe Regulated Heolth Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA) and the code of conduct for Council and committee
members. Council and committees always review these documents at the first meeting of a new council or committee to ensure that council
and committee members have an understanding of the regulatory and strategic objectives of the College. These documents are also
ncluded as part of any council and committee training.

CCO has several code of conduct documents that are required to be signed by council and committee members on an annual basis. These
nclude:

o Code of Conduct (public document on CCO's website, reviewed on an annual basis, last amended April 2016)
. Confidentialitv Undertakins (public document on CCO'S website, reviewed on an annual basis, last amended April 2018)
r lnternal Policv l-015: Zero Tolerance for Abuse. Neelect and Harassment (internal policy, reviewed on an annual basis, last amended

September 2018)

ii. accessible to the public.

23lPage



KD
College o{ Chiropractors of ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de rontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

241
,4d{tiircro; cr::irtr;cnis/r:r iir;rtfi:ofion /oiriiatr.rt

The College fulfills this requirernent: Yes

Cooling off period is enforced through: Choose an item.

please provide the year that the cooling off period policy was developed OR last evaluated/updated.

Please provide the length ofthe cooling off period.

How does the college define the cooling off period?

- lns€rt a link to policy / document specifying the cooling off period, including circumstances where it is enforced and indicate the page number;

- lnsert a link to Council meeting where cooling off period has been discussed and decided upon and indicate the page number; OR

- Where not publicly available, please briefly describe the cooling off policy.

CCO Bv-law 5: Election of Council Members and Bv-law 12: Appointment of Non-Council Members identify "coolinB off" periods as follows:

r A member may be on CCO council or a committee for a maximum of nine years and then is required to be off CCO council or a

committee for at least three years until being eligible for election again to Council or appointment to a committee.

. A member may only be chair of Council or a committee for a maximum of two consecutive years.

r A member is required to not be an employee, officer or director of a professional chiropractic organization that is identified as having

a conflict of interest with CCO for a period of at least three years before being eligible for election to CCO Council

. On Decem ber 2, 2022, proposed amendments to By-law 6 and By-law 12 were circulated to stakeholders, including members, for

feedback on increasing the cooling off period from to six years from three years the amount of time that must have elapsed since a

disciplinary finding or disqualification from serving against any prospective Council candidate or committee appointee. This

circulation is available at the l{lqingb!. Feedback and final approval for these amendments were reviewed and considered in

January 2023.

b. The College enforces a minimum
time before an individual can be

elected to Council after holding a

position that could create an

actual or perceived conflict of
interest with respect their
Council duties (i.e., cooling off
periods).

Further clarification:

Colleges may provide additional
methods not listed here by which they
meet the evidence.

24lP age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiroprsticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

242
Choose an item

Yes

Choose an item

A:irJirionr/ corlir;nnis ji:r c/crrflccrir: r: I o 1:ttir:na ! )

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please provide the year when conflict of interest the questionnaire was implemented OR last evaluated/updated.

Member(s) note whether their questionnaire requires amendments at each Council meeting and whether they have any conflicts of interest based on Council
agenda items: Choose an ite m.

Please insert a link to the most recent Council meeting materials that includes the questionnaire and indicate the page number.

3CO has a Policv on Conflict of lnterest for Council and Non-Council Committee Members and Code of Conduct which are included and
'eviewed every time there is a consideration of a conflict of interest on a specific matter. This is a public document available on CCO's

A/ebsite. At the beginning of every Council and committee meetings, council and committee members are required to identify any conflict of
nterest that may arise with any item on the agenda, based on the criteria of this policy. The remainder of Council and committee members
ruillthen make a determination of whether this member has a conflict and whether they should be absent from the meeting for this agenda
tem. Legal advice may also be sought, depending on the issue.

3CO reviews all conduct documents on an annual basis and will seek outside legal advice in making updates to these documents. CCO

3ouncil received training on conflict of interest as part of its strategic planning sessions on September 9 - tl,2O2Z.

Add it iona I ca nt mcn ls Jor (lo rilicotion I o pt iona l)

c. The College has a conflict-of-
interest questionnaire that all

Council members must complete
annually.
Additionallv:

i. the completed
questionnaires are included
as an appendix to each

Council meeting package;

ii. questionnaires include
definitions of conflict of
interesU

iii. questionnaires include
questions based on areas of
risk for conflict of interest
identified by Council that are
specific to the profession

and/or College; and

iv. at the beginning of each
Council meeting, members
must declare any updates to
their responses and any
conflict of interest specific to
the meetins aqenda.

25lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3L, 2023

243

Choose an item

The College fulfills this requirement:

. Please briefly describe how the College makes public interest rationale for Council decisions accessible for the public.

. Please insert a link to Council meeting materials that include an example of how the College references a public interest rationale and indicate the page number.

louncil materials include committee reports that describe the public interest rationale, as well as processes, research and background

Taterials for any motion that is made for approval from Council. Reports to Council often includes research on practices ard procedures of
rther jurisdictions and Ontario regulators in Ontario, feedback from distributions from members, patients and stakeholders and government
'egulations and priorities. Public Council packages can be found at the fgllq!49,[4!.

ftli: respr:nse rs "poftiairy" ot "no", ;s the Collcgc plftrnlnq lo inrprouc lts pefi:rnrorrce {rv.trthc next rcportinq perio.l?

,4c1diticn<tl tanntetits f{r{ L:la ri!:ctiian Iif ne*ded)

d. Meeting materials for Council

enable the public to clearly

identify the public interest
rationale and the evidence

supporting a decision related to
the College's strategic direction
or regulatory processes and

actions (e.9., the minutes include

a link to a publicly available

briefing note).

Yes

26 | P age



KD
College of Chiropractors ol Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

244
YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please provide the year that the formal approach was last reviewed.

Please insert a link to the internal and external risks identified by the College OR Council meeting materials where the risks were discussed and integrated into the
College's strategic planning activities and indicate page number.

CCO regularly reviews, assesses, and manages internal and external risks in the following manner:
. CCO reviews all standards of practice, policies and guidelines on an annual basis. This review involves how assessing internal and

external risks may inform the review and any amendments considered for these documents. Review of standards of practice,
policies and guidelines are also informed by internal communication, such as communication from the lnquiries, Complaints and

Reports Committee based on trends in complaints, and external communication, such as communication f rom system partners and

stakeholders, as well as circulation of documents for feedback from stakeholders, including members, organizations and patients.
r The lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee continued to apply risk management tools developed in 2O2L, available to the

public and posted on the complaints webpage, to identify, assess and manage risk associated with complaints.
. ln2022, CCO continued to prioritize identifying, assessing, and managing risk associated with lTfunctions and cyber security,

including obtaining enhanced cyber security insurance, requiring dual factor identification for logins, training for staff, reviewing and

enhancing cyber security requirements and conducting an independent assessment on cyber security. CCO also amended record
keeping standards, including Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keeping and 5-022: Ownership, Storaee. Securitv and Destruction of
Records of Personal Health lnformation to include further requirements and resources related to protection of electronic records
and cyber security.

e. The College has and regularly
reviews a formal approach to
identify, assess, and manage
internal and external risks. This
approach is integrated into the
College's strategic planning and
operations.

Further clarification:
Formal approach refers to the
documented method or
which a College undertakes to
identify, assess, and manage risk. This
method or process should
be regularly reviewed and
appropriate.

Risk management planning activities
should be tied to strategic objectives
of Council since internal and external
risks may impact the ability of Council
to fulfill its mandate, especially in the
absence of mitigations.

lnternal risks are related to operations
of the College and may impact its

ability to meet its strategic objectives.
External risks are economic, political
and/or natural factors that happen
outside of the organization-

27 lP age



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdrc des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

245
f rhe responsc rs "partit:!ly" or "no", isthe Calleqe phnning b iffiprow it:; llerformtn(p.)verihe nexl (if)/li/rg prriodl

Ad<1itiorr.tI r:c'rltnents i<tr c!arificntion (rf ne etled)

Choose an item

23lPage



KD
College ol Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31,2023 246

I -c,-, r :'t:t

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the webpage where Council minutes are posted.

Please insert a link to where the status updates on implementation of Council decisions to date are posted OR where the process for requesting these materials is

posted.

:CO posts on its ACIgS_&_U.p_d_aICg:pegC and distributes to members and stakeholders President's Messages, which often include new and

rmended CCO regulations, standards of practice, policies and guidelines approved by Council, once they come into effect following approval
lf the minutes. Status reports are also publicly communicated through committee reports as part of public Council packages.

3CO publishes Council minutes once they are approved, in accordance with Policv l-017: Minutes for CCO Meetines (page 493 of the April
L4,202L public Council package).

council minutes (once approved)
and status updates on the
implementation of Council
decisions to date are accessible
on the College's website, or a

process for requesting materials
is clearly outlined.

trl(J
z
z
E
L!

o(,
J
z
a
oo

{Yt

o
&
oz
Ftt

29 1- ,i ie



KD
College of Chiropractors of Onlario
Uordre des chitoprsticiens de l'onlario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

247
Yes

Choose an item.

The College fulfills this requirement:

. Please insert a link to the webpage where Executive Committee minutes/meeting information are posted.

3CO publishes Executive Committee meetings dates in its public Council packages, posts them on the CCO website on the Qgggl!3199!ng
4gg. The public Council package includes committee reports, including the Executive Committee report to Council, which includes all

"ecommendations recommended to Council by the Executive Committee. Recommendations include a description of the recommendation,

rll relevant documents, including marked up copies of changes to existing documents, relevant information from other regulators,

;takeholders and system partners, and feedback from members and stakeholders, if applicable. The Executive Committee report a lso

ncludes any decisions or approvals made by the Executive Committee to be ratified by Council, if properly constituted.

fthcrcsprrr"eris"partiully'or'no",istheCalltge plannitg lolmprov*ilsoerlnrnronceovcr{l'cnclrtrepaftingaeiad?

b. The following information about

Executive Committee meetings is

clearly posted on the college's

website (alternatively the College

can post the approved minutes if
it includes the following

information).

i. the meetingdate;

ii. the rationale for the

meeting;

iii. a report on discussions and

decisions when Executive

Committee acts as Council

30lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 248
or discusses/deliberates on

matters or materials that
will be brought forward to or

affect Council; and

iv. if decisions will be ratified by

Council.

Additioflal (cnn(nts far c!arif ic{ition (aptitrnal)

31 lPage



@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3L, 2023

249

Yes

Clcc:;r lr-r iiln.

Yes

The College fulfills this requirement:

e Please insert a link to where past Council meeting materials can be accessed OR where the process for requesting these materials is clearly posted.

CCO posts its upcoming Council meeting dates and public council meeting materials once they are prepared, general one week in advance.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Notices of discipline hearirg5 are posted both on the CCO website and under the member profile on the public register. These postings

include a link to the Notice of Hearing and disclpline hearing dates once they are scheduled. Following the discipline hearing, an agreed

statement of fact, discipline decision and suspension dates are posted.

Please insert a link to the College's Notice of Discipline Hearings.

a. With respect to Council

meetings:

i. Notice of council meeting
and relevant materials are
posted at least one week in

advance; and
ii. Council meeting materials

remain accessible on the
College's website for a

minimum of 3 years, or a

process for requesting

materials is clearly outlined.

b. Notice of Discipline Hearings are
posted at least one month in

advance and include a link to
allegations posted on the public

register.

32lFege



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

250
Choose an item

Yes

.,{at:i:iiii/'f.' al,'Iri,!.';l,i,tr- lli:ri/lr;:t;;l ili:iilt;lir

The College fulfills this requirement:a. The DEI plan is reflected in the
Council's strategic planning

activities and appropriately
resourced within the
organization to support relevant
operational initiatives (e.g., DEI

training for staff).

Please insert a link to the College's DEI plan.

Please insert a linkto the Council meeting minutes where DEI was discussed as part ofstrategic planning and appropriate resources were approved and indicate
number.

Council approved a Diversitv, Equitv and lnclusion (DEl) Plan on April 20,2022. Among the objectives in the DEI Plan are:
Appointing three CCO staff members as DEI officers.
Directing CCO committees to review standards of practice, policies and guidelines through a DEI lens. CCO Council approved
amendments to several standards of practice, policies and guidelines, including Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keepins and

a

a

a

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients. and the Application Form for
initial reeistration to amend certain demographics and gender requirements and further describe CCO's accessibility policies for
examinations.
ldentify current CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines which include DEI principles for both members and CCO, such as
Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients and Policv P-057: Accessibilitv Policv
Publish CCO's Land Acknowledgement on the CCO website, and begin every Council meeting with a reading of this.
DEI training for Council and staff as part of the Strategic Planning sessions on September 9 - tt,2022.
lncluding questions related to DEI in the interview process in August 2022in selecting new peer assessors.
Planning for a DEI presentation at the Peer Assessor Workshop on January 28,2023.
Attendance at DEI consultation sessions from the HPRO in December 2022.

a

a

a

a

o

33lPage



@
College of Chiropractors ol Ontario
Lordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

251
CCO actively supports the work of HPRO on anti-racism and Diversity, Equity and lnclusion and wil I be reviewing and applying its

resourcesandguidesin2o23.TheworkoftheHPRointheseareashashelpedinformCCoworkon@.
Attendance at an educational session "Equality, Diversity and lnclusion: Cultural Competence Skills for Legal Professbnals", put on by
york University on Novembe r t5,2O22 and "Changing Tides: The Ebb and Flow of Administrative Justice" put on by tre Society of

Ontario Adjudicators and Regulators on November 3,2022.
DEI events for staff, including the celebration and education on various events and holidays throughout the year.

Choose an itenffle respcnsr is "partia{ll" ar "na", ts the Collegt plQnning to irn,Lrovi: lfs perfr:rmr:ilcr ovrr ihc text reporli,'lg pe riotii'

.1idd/:ldnol ccmrn ents jor clarif rcation @priclwl)

34lPage



@) r;*:;
of Chiropractors of Ontario
des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 252
PartiallyThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the Equity lmpact Assessments conducted by the College and indicate the page number Ofl please briefly describe how the College conducts
Equity lmpact Assessments.

lfthe Equity lmpact Assessments are not publicly accessible, please provide examples ofthe circumstances (e.g., applied to a policy, program, or process) in which
Equity lmpact Assessments were conducted.

CCO has several policies and procedures intended to ensure that decisions are fair and non-discriminatory. These include the following
documents and excerpts from those documents:

Diversitv. Eouitv and lnclusion Plan
r Direction to Committees to review standards of practice, policies and guidelines through a DEI lens.

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients
r Members are to be sensitive to those with language difficulties and to provide an interpreter, when necessary
r Members are to address the patient directly, even if an interpreter or support person is present

Guideline G-009: Code of Ethics
r Chiropractors shall render care to those who seek it, without discrimination on the basis of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour,

ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, marital status, family status, socio-
economic status or disability

Guideline G-011; Accommodation of Human Rights and Disabilities
. To encourage members to foster an environment in which the rights, autonomy, dignity, and diversity of all patients are respected;
r To outline members' obligations under the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, (the Code) and Accessibility for Ontarians with

Disabilities Act, 2005 (AODA) to:
o provide health care services without discrimination; and
o accommodate patients who may face barriers to accessing care

Policv P-045: CCO's Lesislation and Ethics Examination
r CCO is committed to accommodating candidates with physical and/or learning disabilities in completing its Legislation and Ethics

examination. A candidate who is otherwise eligible to write the Legislation and Ethics examination may file a written request to the
Registrar, along with proof of the disability, for reasonable, alternative testing accommodations if he/she is unable to write the
examination under standard circumstances. CCO will make reasonable efforts to accommodate individuals with disabilities.

b. The College conducts Equity lmpact
Assessments to ensure that
decisions are fair and that a

policy, or program, or process is

not discriminatory.

Fu rther clarification:

Colleges are best placed to determine
how best to report on an Evidence.
There are several Equity lmpact
Assessments from which a College
may draw upon. The ministry
encourages Colleges to use the tool
best suited to its situation based on
the profession, stakeholders, and
patients it serves.

35lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

253

Yes

tolicv P-057: Accessibilitv Policv
r CCO is committed to providing inclusive and responsive services, in accordance with the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, the

Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2004, that accommodates applicants, members of CCO and members of the public

with disabilities in accessing CCO services.

Comoetencies for Council and Committee Members (November 25.20211

r The experience and background of Council and committee members should complement each other and represent the diversity of
practice in Ontario.

r Council and committee members should demonstrate a commitment to diversity and inclusion.

Amendments to document in2O22 related to DEl, included Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keepine and Policv P-045: CCO's Legislation

tnd Ethics Examination, Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients, and the to amend certain

Jemographics and gender requirements and further describe CCO's accessibility policies for examinations.

f ilre resporlse is "t;art.iu lly" tsr "nc", is the College Flanninq Ia ifi]{)rove lls 6tcrfcrnonce over the text reparting perijt?

/\{J.1i t io nai c o m m.nts for ( lr rifitolia n (a ptianol )

CCO will continue to review and adopt DEI principles, including further review and revisions of CCO's DEI plan, participation and adoption of

HRPO DEI resources, and further education and training related to DEl.

36lPage



@D
College ol Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3L,2023

254

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

' Please insert a link to Council meeting materials that include discussions about activities or projects to support the strategic plan A,VD a link to the most recent
approved budget and indicate the page number.

' Please briefly describe how resources were allocated to activities/projects in support ofthe strategic plan.

Among its strategic objectives is "Continue to meet CCO's statutory mandate resource priorities in a fiscally responsible manner".

Fiscal management is one criterion at which CCO has excelled, as evidenced by the following:
. Through extensive efforts over many years, CCO built sufficient resources to purchase a new home for CCO headquarters in 2019 at

Yonge and Bloor;
. CCO's new office space was built out on budget (despite many setbacks);
r CCO increased members'fees for 2023 renewal by the Cost-of-Living-Adjustment (COLA), as authorized in Bv-law L3: Fees. This

resulted in a S50 increase to General members'fees for 2023 renewal. This was the first fee increase since 2011;
r The staff complement is small, competent, and loyal; there are 12 staff members for just over 5300 members.

3CO has operated in a fiscally responsible manner as evidenced in its financial reports published in its annual reports and in every Council
Teeting package. 2021 audited financial statements are included in the 2021 Annual Report and 2022 financial statements will be posted in
lhe 2022 Annual Report, once the auditing of them is complete. CCO has operated with a surplus in every year in the recent past and ha s

'eserves that are sufficient to operate CCO for at least one fiscal year.

At every Council meeting, CCO Council reviews its expenses vs. budget for every budget item ongoing during the fiscal year. CCO will review
lny budget items where the actual expenses may be in excess of the budgeted cost. This may occur for committees such as lnquiries,
3omplaints and Reports and Discipline where the costs of the committees are contingent on the number of complaints and discipline
rearings and may be difficult to predict exactly when approving a budget. Since these are core functions, CCO has always been able to fulfill
lhe mandate of these committees by increasing the budget line for that particular college committee or function. CCO will also use these
ncreased figures as a guide for budgeting for the next year.

The College identifies activities

and/or projects that support its
strategic plan including how

resources have been allocated.

Further clarification:

A College's strategic plan and budget

should be designed to complement

and support each other. To that end,

budget allocation should depend on

the activities or programs a College

undertakes or identifies to achieve its

goals. To do this, a College should

have estimated the costs of each

activity or program and the budget

should be allocated accordingly.

Iilr
1

ql
6c
6
2
Ftn

N
z
3n2UoE
O=o(n

UJ
E.

3TlPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tjordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

255

Choose an item

)espite the requirement to increase particular budget items or committees as described above, CCO has not gone over budget as a whole

Juring a fiscal year.

At every Council and Executive meeting, actual financial results are compared with the budget and significant variances are reviewed and

nvestigated further.

Add,t i onat c an1 m( nls fat t lorif i catir: n (opti ana I )

38lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chircpraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March37,2023

256

Choose an item.

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

' Please insert a link to the financial reserve polid' OR Council meeting materials where financial reserve policy has been discussed and approved and indicate the
page number.

' Please insert the most recent date when the "financial reserve policy'' has been developed OR reviewed/updated.

. Has the financial reserve policy been validated by a financial auditor? Yes

ICO Council approved a financial reserve policv (page 554 oftheJune 22,2022 public Council package) on November 25,2021-, based on
'ecommendations from the Executive Committee. This policy was developed in collaboration with CCO'S financial auditor.

il ihe iespr:nse'ls "parfialiy" at "na". is the (cllege plonning io improve its pert'ormunct csver thr nut r€po{iinq p€flolJ l
Atiditiotta! ca:ttntpnLt Iar ckl it'ir.Jtton (if nt:eded)

has a "financial reserve
policy" that sets out the level
of reserves the College
needs to build and maintain
in order to meet its
legislative requirements in

case there are unexpected
expenses and/or a reduction

reserve set out in its
'financial reserve policy''.

t.

il-

b. TheCollege:

level of
in revenue and
possesses the

39lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tjordre des Chiroptaticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

257
lv"tThe Collqe fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the college's written operational policies which address staffing complement to address current and future needs.

. please insert a link to Council meeting materials where the operational policy was last reviewed and indicate the page number.

Note: Colleges are encouraged to add examples ofwritten operational policies that they identify as enablirE a sustainable human resource comtlement to ensure

organizational success.

CCO includes detailed financial statements in the in-camera section of each Council package as well as each Executive Committee meeting

package. At each meeting, the Treasurer provides a detailed report on CCO's updated financial information, including assets and liabilities,

yearly spending vs. budget items, details around various fixed costs and reports about human resources, staff and stafftraining updates.

CCO's financial and human resources information is publicly available in CCO's annual reports.

council is accountable for the

success and sustainability of the

organization it governs. This

includes:

i. regularly reviewing and

updating written

operational policies to

ensure that the organization

has the staffing complement

it needs to be successful now

and, in the future (e.g.,

processes and procedures

for succession planning for

Senior Leadership and

ensuring an organizational

culture that attracts and

retains key talent, through

elements such as training

and engagement).

Benchmarked Evidence

c.

ztO I Page



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

258
,eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be taking, expected timelines ond ony barriers to implementotion,

41 lPage



KD
College of Chimpractorc of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

259
Yes

Choose an item

TheCollege fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the College's data and technology plan which speaks to improving College processes OR please

n 2022, CCO continued to prioritize identifying, assessing and managing risk associated with lT functions and cyber security, including
.equiring dual factor identification for logins, training for staff, reviewing and enhancing cyber security requirements and conducting an

ndependent assessment on cyber security. CCO obtained additional cyber security insurance, and continued requiring two factor

authentication for remote access to CCO emails and files. CCO Council and staff received training in cyber security as part of its Strategic

Planning sessions on Septemb er 9 - !t, 2022.

CCO continues to review its use of technology as it applies to virtual council and committee meetings, virtual discipline hearines, member

and corporation renewal, and reporting of qualitv assurance activities.

briefly describe the plan.

d.Jdilrorcl co,i?i" e nt.t f$t r:iorlli("oi ir.tn loptianal)

regularly reviewing and

updating the college's data

and technology plan to
reflect how it adapts its use

of technology to improve
College processes in order to
meet its mandate (e.g.,

digitization of processes

such as registration, updated
cyber security technology,

searchable databases).

I.

42lP age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

260

*I I

Standard 5: The College actively engages with other health regulatory colleges and system partners to align oversight ofthe practice ofthe profession and support execution

other system partners to support and strengthen alignment of practice expectations, discipline processes, and quality improvement across all parts of the health system

where the profession practices. ln particular, a College is asked to report on:

. How it hos engdged other heolth regulotory Colleges ond other system portners to strengthen the execution of its oversight mondate ond aligned proctice

expectotionsT Pleose provide detoils of initiotives unciertoken, how engagement hos shoped the outcome of the policy/program and identify the specific chonges

implemented at the College (e.g., joint stondords of practice, common expectations in workplace settings, communications, policies, guidance, website, etc.).

3CO actively engages with other health regulatory colleges, system partners and stakeholders to align the oversight ofthe practice ofthe
lrofession and support execution of its mandate. The following is a description of several of those organizations and CCO's involvement in them
ipecific initiatives with stakeholders and system partners are further described in standards 5 and 6.

Health Professions Regulators of Ontario (HPRO): is an organization comprised of all health regulatory colleges governed under the RHPA. HPRO

"egularly has meetings of all its directors and Executive Committee, as well as several sub-committees, including Communications and Corporate

iervices. HPRO conducts training and seminars for council and staff of regulatory colleges, such as governance training, basic and advanced

Jiscipline training and prevention of sexual abuse of patients. The discipline trainine is a requirement for CCO Council and committee members to
:omplete before sittine on a Discipline panel. Additionallv, HPRO has conducted manV virtual meetings in 2022, primarily to communicate with the

of its mandate,

The two standards under this domain are not assessed

based on measures and evidence like other domains, as

there is no 'best practice' regarding the execution of

these two standards.

..,:ll -^^^,+ ^^ L^., ^^+i.,i+i^-

outcomes, and next steps that have emerged through a

dialogue with the ministrv.

Beyond discussing what Colleges have done, the

dialogue might also identify other potential areas for
alignment with other Colleges and system partners.

a ^|^-^-lnstead,

DOMAIN 3: SYSTEM PARTNER

STANDARD 5 and STANDARD 6

43lFage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropratieiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

261
Cntario Government and Ministry of Health and communicate among health regulatory colleges to ensure consistent messages and regulation

with respect to the COVID-19 pandemic. CCO staff have attended many meetings and educational session conducted by HRPO, including ongoing

meetings related to the CPMF and DEI consultation in December 2022. CCO staff participate in several HPRO groups including those related to
practice advisors, DEl, CPMF and others.

Ihe Ontario Fairness Commissioner (OFC) is the organization that assesses the registration practices of regulated professions and trades in Ontario

lo make sure they are transparent, objective, impartial and fair for anyone applying to practise his or her profession in Ontario. CCO provides

annual reports to the OFC, posted on CCO's website and has annual meetings with the OFC to discuss ongoing developments in registration
practices. CCO's 2021 annual reoort to the OFC is posted on CCO's website.

Ihe Federation of Canadian Chiropractic (FCC) is a national federation of chiropractic regulators, educational institutions and specialty colleges

whose purpose is to promote effective communication and cooperation among its members relating to education, accreditation and regulation of
:hiropractic in the public interest that enhances the work of the members collectively and individually. The FCC typically holds board meetings in

April and November. CCO actively participates in these meetings, and specifically in the chiropractic regulatory group. The FCC provides a national

lorum to:
r exchange best practices concerning regulatory issues, develop the capacity to:
. develop the capacity to:

o educate federal government policy makers in the public interest concerning regulatory affairs

o educate those involved in chiropractic regulation
o educate the chiropractic profession concerning the public interest

. establish standards and to evaluate and accredit chiropractic educational programs

. provide leadership on issues such as licensure, accreditation, examination, continuing competence, inter-jurisdictional mobility, scope of
practice, standards of practice, codes of ethics and specialty designation.

Ihe FCC regularly holds two multi-day meetings, typically taking place in April and November each year, as well as holding additional meetings and

communication exchanges throughout the year.

Ihe Canadian Chiropractic Protective Association (CCPA): the largest malpractice protective association for chiropractors in Canada. The CCPA

rttends meetings at the FCC and has presented on issues related to professional liability protection. CCO engages in regular communication with
the CCPA and both organizations often refer members with questions related to professional liability protection vs. professional regulation. The

CCPA was also instrumental in helping to develop the "Roadmap of Care" documents (linked above).

44lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tiordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

262
fhe Canadian Chiropractic Examinins Board (CCEB): conducts clinical competency examinations for individuals seeking licensure to practise
:hiropractic in Canada. The CCEB is responsible for the development, delivery and administration of three examinations:

. Component A - Chiropractic Knowledge

. Component B - Clinical Decision Making

. Component C - Clinical Skills Demonstration

\s a member of its board of directors, CCO attends annual meetings of the CCEB, along with all other chiropractic regulators across Canada. Board
rleetings include presentations, discussions and review of topics such as examination composition and administration, psychometric analysis of
:he examination, modified examinations for experienced practitioners, as well as the election of various board positions the review and approval
rf financial information. CCO attended the CCEB Board Meeting on November 24,2022.

fhe Canadian Memorial Chiropractic College (CMCC) is the only English-speaking accredited chiropractic college in Canada. CMCC is a member of
:he FCC and attends those meetings to participate in discussions and policy development around accreditation and educational. CCO is in
:ontinuous communication with CMCC concerning the requirements for new graduates to become registered with CCO following graduation. CCO,

llong with other stakeholders and system partners will often present to students at CMCC on matters related to professional regulation. CCO

rresented on two occasions to CMCC students in 2O22 on topics related to professional regulation, on August 26,2022 to third year students and
rn November 7,2022 to first year students. These presentations are included in the September 9. 2022 (page 1008) and November 24. 2022 (page
/49) Council packages.

fhe Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA) is the largest professional association for chiropractors in Ontario. CCO continuously engages in
:ommunication with the OCA. The OCA is a stakeholder for CCO and is included as a recipient for CCO communications, including the distribution
rf draft documents for feedback.

lhe Canadian Chiropractic Association (CCA) the largest professional association for chiropractors in Canada. CCO continuously engages in
:ommunication with the CCA. The CCA is a stakeholder for CCO and is included as a recipient for CCO communications, including the distribution
rf draft documents for feedback.

lhe Alliance for Chiropractic (AFC) is an Ontario chiropractic advocacy group that exists to heighten public awareness of the multitude of health
renefits associated with chiropractic care. CCO continuously engages in communication with the AFC. The AFC is a stakeholder for CCO and is

ncluded as a recipient for CCO communications, including the distribution of draft documents for feedback.

45lPage



@
Collegre of Chiropractos of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropr€ticiens de foilatio CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

263
ICO received and participated in communication with various chiropractic associations on topics related to orthotics and assistive devices with
.espectto&i!ggs@Bes,chiropracticcareofanimal5and@relatedtoelectionstoCCoCouncil.

46lPage



@
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 264CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Standard 6: The College maintains cooperative and collaborative relationships and responds in a timely and effective manner to changing public/societal expectations.

The intent of Standard 5 is to demonstrate that a College has formed the necessary relationships with system partners to ensure that it receives and

:ontributes information about relevant changes to public expectations. This could include both relationships where the College is asked to provide information by

;ystem partners, or where the College proactively seeks information in a timely manner.

o Pleose provide examples oJ key successes ond ochievements from the reporting yedr where the College engaged with po,tners, including potients/public to ensure

it can respond to changing public/societol expectotions (e.9., COVID-7g Pandemic, mentol heolth, labor mobility etc.). Pleose olso describe the motters thot were

discussed with eoch ofthese partners ond how the informotion thatthe College obtoined/provided was used to ensure the College could respond to o public/societdl

expectation.

o ln oddition to the portners it regulorly interocts with, the College is osked to include inJormation obout how it identilies relevant system portners, mointains

relotionships so that the College is able access relevont informotion from portne$ in o timely manner, and leveroges the informotion obtained to respond

(specific examples of when ond how o College responded is requested in Stonddrd 7).

Health Professions Regulators of Ontario (HPRO): CCO Council and committee members attended various training sessions conducted by
HRPO related to conducting discipline hearings, governance and other professional regulatory topics. Staff participated in various HRPO

meetings, committees and educational sessions related to the COVID-19 pandemic, communications with the Ministry of Health, Quality
Assurance, Practice Advisory, CPMF and DEI training. Council and committee members applied the knowledge from discipline training to
serve on seven discipline panels in 2022, which were all uncontested hearings, decided by agreed statement of fact and penalty. CCO

actively supports the work of HPRO on anti-racism and Diversity, Equity and lnclusion and will be reviewing and applying its resources and
guides in 2023. The work of the HPRO in these areas has helped inform CCO work on Diversitv, Equitv and lnclusion. Participating in the
Quality Assurance and Practice Advisory groups has helped inform amendments to CCO's Qualitv Assurance program, including introducing
more mandatorv continuins education proqrams for the July 'J.,2022 - June 30, 2024 CE cycle, updating a second version of the Self
Assessment for more experienced practitioners, and updating Peer and Practice Assessment 2.0 to include more examples and case

scenarios to be analyzed as part of Peer and Practice Assessment.

CCO filed its 2021Annual Report to the OFC, posted on CCO's website. CCO continues to be meet its key performance indicators for
registering applicants in a timely, consistent and transparent manner, as reported to the OFC, including those registering under labour
mobility and from other jurisdictions outside of Canada. CCO regularly communicates with other regulators inside and outside Canada to
obtain letters of standing and other information relevant to registration of applicants.

47 lP age



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

265
ICO discussed and reviewed practices of other Ontario health regulatory colleges in implementing and revoking policies related the COVID-

[9 pandemic. These updates were then communicated to members and stakeholders and posted on the CCO website to be implemented.

ICO attends annual meetings of the CCEB as a member of the board, along with all other chiropractic regulators across Canada. Board meetings

nclude presentations, discussions and review of topics such as examination composition and administration, psychometric analysis of the

txamination, modified examinations for experienced practitioners, the election of various board positions the review and approval of financial

nformation. CCO attended the CCEB Board Meeting on November 24,2022.

ICO approved in principle a draft national code of ethics approved by the FCC in an effort to help harmonize standards across Canada. This draft

rill be brought forward for final approval in 2023.

ICO presented on two occasions to CMCC students in 2022 on topics related to professional regulation, on August 26, 2022 to third year students

rnd on November 7,2O22 to first year students. These presentations are included in the September 9, 2022 (page 1008) and November 24, 2022

,page 749) Council packages.

:CO received rcmmunications from chiropractic professional associations on business practices as they related to orthotics and assistive devices

rnd recent discipline decision on this topic. CCO's Quality Assurance Committee reviewed this issue and CCO Council approved amendments to

itandard of Practice 5-012: Orthotics, Standard of Practice S-021: Assistive Devices and Guideline G-008: Business Practices. Amendments

:mphasize the sections of the professional misconduct regulation that requires that accounts for services must not be false or misleading, fees

nust be disclosed in advance to the patient, including fees that are not payable by the patient (i.e., payable by an insurance company or third

tarty payor) and that an account for professional services must be itemized upon request.

f,n December 2,2022, proposed amendments to By-law 6 and By-law 12 were circulated to stakeholders, including members, for feedback on

ncreasing the cooling off period from to six years from three years the amount of time that must have elapsed since a disciplinary finding or

lisqualification from serving against any prospective Council candidate or committee appointee. This circulation is available at the @llqingljn!.
Extensive feedback was received from members and stakeholders, including chiropractic patients, members of the public and chiropractic

lrganizations. Feedback and final approval for these amendments were reviewed and considered in January 2023.

3CO representatives attended the Ontario Chiropractic Association's AGM and Gala on January 29,2022.

43lPage



@D
College ol Chiropractors of Ontario
ljordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3L, 2023 266

Yes

Ci'rase fil rte fi

The College fulfills this requirement:

' Please insert a Iink to policies and processes OR please briefly describe the respective policies and processes that addresses disclosu re and requests for information.

3CO has various policies and by-laws intended to maintain privacy and the prevent unauthorized disclosure of information:
r CCO has a Privacv Code outlining the privacy practices of the College, available on the CCO website.
. CCO Council and committee members and peer assessors are required to sign annually a confidentialitv undertaking.
r CCO staff members have all signed a confidentialitv undertakins with regard to working remotely. This undertaking outlines the

expectations of maintaining privacy and confidentiality specific to remote work.
r CCO staff members have participated in various continuing education events related to confidentiality and privacy in the face of the

COVID-19 pandemic, specifically addressing working remotely.
3CO makes member information public in accordance with the public register requirements of the Health Professions Procedural Code and
3v-law 17: Public Reeister.

The College demonstrates
how it:

uses policies and
processes to govern the
disclosure ol and
requests for
information;

a.

I
Lllr

Fz
LU

lll(,
z

z
o
=
d
o
u-z
+
z

oo

o
G,

o2
F

491?3gg



KD
College o{ Chiropraciors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

267
Yes

f the rcsponse is 'partially" or "no', describe the College's plon to Iully implement this medsure. Outline the steps (i.e., drofting policies, consulting
.eviewing/revising existing poticies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expeded timelines ond ony boniers to implementation.

n conjunction with its lT providers, CCO will continue prioritizing lT and cyber security reviews in2023, enhancing security, and performing

ndependent assessments.

stokeholders, or

The College fulfills this requirement:

please insert a link to policies and processes OR please briefly describe the respective policies and processes to

CCO implemented several cyber security initiatives in2O22:
o CCO conducted an internal audit of its information technology and cyber security processes

. CCO continued to apply and expand its use of two-factor authentication access to CCO emails and files while working remotely.

r CCO approved several amendments to record keeping standards to enhance requirements for members' use of electronic record

keeping and cyber security (referenced later in this document)

address cybersecurity and accidental or unauthorized

disclosure of information.

uses cybersecurity

measures to Protect
against unauthorized
disclosure of
information; and

uses policies, practices

and processes to address

accidental or
unauthorized disclosure

of information.

Benchmorked Evidence

lL

ilt.

50lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tjordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 37,2023

268

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to document(s) that outline how the College evaluates its policies, standards of practice, and practice guidelines to ensure they are up to date

andrelevanttothecurrentpracticeenvironmentandindicatethepagenumber(s) ORpleasebrieflydescribetheCollege'sevaluationprocess(e.g.,what

triggers an evaluation, how often are evaluations conducted, what steps are being taken, which stakeholders are being engaged in the evaluation and how are

they involved).

At the first committee meeting, following the constitution of new committees annually, every committee reviews all of its standards of
tractice, policies, guidelines, policies and by-laws and identifies documents that should be reviewed and considered for amendments.

:ommittees may recommend amendments to documents for various reasons, including receiving a memorandum from the lnquiries,

3omplaints and Reports Committee on recent complaints matters, complying with legislative and regulatory amendments, researching

lnd applying best practices from other professional regulators and other jurisdictions and other communications from system partners

;uch as the Office of the Fairness Commissioner, chiropractic professional associations and malpractice insurance providers and members

rf the public. The following are examples of revisions made to CCO documents in 2022:

r Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keeping and

Records of Personal Health lnformation were amended to include the requirement to collect demographic information as necessary

to identify, assess and treat patients, instead of requiring the collection of specific demographic information such as gender. This is

a practice taken by many other Ontario health regulatory colleges in their record keeping standards. Members may exercise

professionaljudgment in collecting and recording demographic information necessary to identify, assess and treat patients.

Amendments to the electronic record keeping section of Standard of Practice 5-002 and s-022 further emphasize the importance of
the security, protection and confidentiality of patient personal health information maintained in electronic record keeping systems.

This includes ensuring that electronic record keeping system are compliant with the Personal Health lnformation Protection Act,

2004 (PHIPA), having cyber security protections in place to protect personal health information from loss, tampering, interference
and unauthorized use and access, and having protocols in place on steps to take in the event of a privacy breach. lt is imperative

that members have an understanding and are educated in their electronic record keeping systems and employ best practices to
ensure the protection of patient personal health information. ln the process of this review, practices and standards of other Ontario

a.The College regularly evaluates

its policies, standards of

practice, and practice

guidelines to determine

whether they are

appropriate, or require

revisions, or if new direction

or guidance is required based

on the current practice

environment.

Benchmdrked Evidence

rfr
ir
6
o
&.E3(J2

=<oh
d

oF
J
f
(9
LIJ
t
lr";
z

oo

51 lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Onl6rio

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 269

a

health regulatory colleges were researched and reviewed.

Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio was amended to require members registered in the General (i.e., Active) class of
registration to attend the CCO Virtual Regulatory Excellence Workshop at least once every three CE cycles (or once every six years)

as part of their structured CE hours. Members may complete this requirement over the next three CE cycles or until June 30, 2028.
The Regulatory Excellence Workshop builds upon the previous Record Keeping Workshop and includes topics related to all aspects
of the regulation of chiropractic in Ontario. This virtual workshop is typically offered three times per year and is free for all CCO

members.
Standard of Practice 5-013: Consent was amended to include language that the requirement for a patient to bring another
individual to any future appointment is considered a breach of patient privacy and is inappropriate, except for reasons of capacity
to consent and/or substitute-decision making. Amendments to this standard were approved based on a recent lnquiries,
Complaints and Reports decision. A patient's right to privary and confidentiality must be respected and it must be the patient's
choice of whether they wish to bring another individual with them to future appointments. Review of this standard was a result of
a memorandum from the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee to address complaints related to this issue.

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients was amended to include requirements that members should be particularly
sensitive to individual patient's comprehension of verbal, written and non-verbal communication, and communicate using as plain
language as possible. lf there are any barriers in communication, language or interpretation, members should support patients in
identifying potential resources for reducing these barriers. Members should also ensure that communication with patients is

consistent with Standard of Practice 5-001: Chiropractic Scope of Practice and Standard of Practice 5-013: Consent, including that
communication should be patient-centred, focusing on the patient's reasons, objectives and goals for seeking chiropractic care,
using clear and concise language to communicate matters related to examination, care and informed consent, and referring a

patient to an appropriate health professional if a matter is beyond the chiropractic scope of practice. Members should respect any
patient requests to have a third-party of their choosing present (e.g., spouse, trusted friend) for any appointments, subject to any
safety, public health and privacy measures. However, it must be the patient's choice whether they would like to have a third-party
present, and a member must not require this, subject to any capacity to consent and/or substitute-decision making issues.

Standard of Practice 5-012: Orthotics, Standard of Practice 5-021: Assistive Devices and Guideline G-008: Business Practices were
amended to address the following:
o There have been past disciplinary findings related to improper billing practices and documentation related to the

prescribing, manufacturing, selling and dispensing of orthotics. The amendments emphasize the sections of the professional
misconduct regulation that requires that accounts for services must not be false or misleading, fees must be disclosed in
advance to the patient, including fees that are not payable by the patient (i.e., payable by an insurance company or third
party payor) and that an account for professional services must be itemized upon request.

a

a

o fees cha for orthotics or assistive device must be ied in accordance with the member's fee

52lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Oniario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 270
schedule and based on a clinical history, examination, diagnosis or clinical impression, consent, instructions and

recommendations and follow-up, as documented in the patient health record.
o A member should familiarize themselves with a patient's insurance company or third-party payor if any third-party is

involved with reimbursement for services or products related to chiropractic care.
o Recommendations for amendments include the use of gender neutral pronouns.

Review and amendments to these documents were conducted following communications from system partners, such as
professional associations, and involved research from other Ontario health regulatory colleges.

CCO updated its COVID-19 suidance for members and the public, based on changing directives from the Ontario Government and
adopted COVID-19 protocols for hvbrid meetines (page 585 of the February 24,2023 public Council package) reviewed and
amended throughout the year.

a

"eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines ond dny bdrriers to implementotion.

53 | Page



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

271
Yes

f the response is "paftidlly" or "no", describe the College's plon to fully implement this measure. Outline the steps
.eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines and ony bdrciers to implementotion.

(i.e., drofting policies, consulting stokeholders, or

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to document(s) that outline how the College develops or amends its policies, standards

address the listed components and indicate the page number(s) OR please briefly describe the College's development and amendment process.

3CO reviews all its by-laws, internal policies standards of practice, policies and guidelines on an annual basis or if there is a regulatory

reason for review, such as a change in legislation, a direction from the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee or Discipline

Committee or a change in public health requirements (e.g., related to the COVID-19 pandemic). ln its review, CCO committees will include

as part of their review, as included in committee materials:
r Evidence and data related to inquiries, complaints and discipline trends and results

e Risk based analysis posed to patients and the public, including the review of journal and academic articles

. Comparable documents from other Ontario Health regulatory colleges and other chiropractic regulators across Canada and

sometimes in other jurisdictions (USA Australia, UK)

Submissions and responses to distributions and requests for feedback from members, patients, stakeholders, system partners,

professional associations, academic institutions, and professional malpractice insurance providers.

of practice, and practice guidelines to ensure they

b. Provide information on how
the College takes into
account the following
components when

developing or amending
policies, standards and
practice guidelines:

i. evidence and data;

ii. the risk posedto patients/

the public;

iii. the current Practice

environmenU

iv. alignment with other
health regulatory Colleges

(where appropriate, for
example where practice

matters overlap);

v. expectations of the public;

and

vi. stakeholder views and

feedback.

Benchmorked Evidence

54lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of onlario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

272
Yes

. please briefly describe how the College reviews its policies, guidelines, standards and Code of Ethics to ensure that they promote Diversity, Equity and lnclusion.

. Please highlight some examples of policies, guidelines, standards or the Code of Ethics where Diversity, Equity and lnclusion are reflected.

ICO has several policies and procedures intended to ensure that decisions are fair and non-discriminatory. These include the following

locuments and excerpts from those documents:

Diversitv, Equitv and lnclusion Plan

o Direction to Committees to review standards of practice, policies and guidelines through a DEI lens.

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients
r Members are to be sensitive to those with language difficulties and to provide an interpreter, when necessary

r Members are to address the patient directly, even if an interpreter or support person is present

Guideline G-009: Code of Ethics
r Chiropractors shall render care to those who seek it, without discrimination on the basis of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour,

ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, marital status, family status, socio-

economic status or disability
Guideline G-011: Accommodation of Human Rights and Disabilities

r To encourage members to foster an environment in which the rights, autonomy, dignity, and diversity of all patients are respected;

r To outline members' obligations under the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, (the Code) and Accessibility for Ontarians with
Disabilities Act, 2005 (AODA) to:

o provide health care services without discrimination; and

o accommodate patients who may face barriers to accessing care

Policv P-045: CCO'S Leqislation and Ethics Examination
. CCO is committed to accommodating candidates with physical and/or learning disabilities in completing its Legislation and Ethics

examination. A candidate who is otherwise eligible to write the Legislation and Ethics examination may file a written request to the

Registrar, along with proof of the disability, for reasonable, alternative testing accommodations if he/she is unable to write the

examination under standard circumstances. CCO will make reasonable efforts to accommodate individuals with disabilities.

Policv P-057: AccessibiliW Policv
r CCO is committed to providing inclusive and responsive services, in accordance with the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, the

Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2004, that accommodates applicants, members of CCO and members of the public

with disabilities in accessing CCO services.

The College fulfills this requirement:c. The college's policies,

guidelines, standards and

Code of Ethics should
promote Diversity, Equity,

and lnclusion (DEl) so that
these principles and values

are reflected in the care
provided by the registrants of
the College.

55lPage



KD
College of Chiropmctors of Ontario
lordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

273

Yes

Competencies for Council and Committee Members (November 25, 20211
r The experience and background of Council and committee members should complement each other and represent the diversity of

practice in Ontario.
o Council and committee members should demonstrate a commitment to diversity and inclusion.

Various amendments to CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines reflect DEI principles as discussed further in this document.
Amendments include Standard of Practice 5-013; Consent, Guideline G-001: Communication
with Patients, Policv P-045: CCO's Legislation and Ethics Examination, and CCO's initial resistration forms.

4r/oltlcncl,i <;rnrnelfs /rl c/crificoiic n (<:plir; na lJ

CCO will continue to review its by-laws, standards of practice, policies and guidelines as well as its processes and educational
opportunities for short term and long term objectives in enhancing DEI related issues.

56lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

274

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link that outlines the policies or processes in place to ensu re the documentation provided by ca ndidates meets registration requirements a nd indicate
page number OR please briefly describe in a few words the processes and checks that are carried out.

Please insert a link and indlcate the page number OR please briefly describe an overview of the process undertaken to review how a College operationalizes its
registration processes to ensure documentation provided by candidates meets registration requirements (e.g., communication with other regulators in other
jurisdictions to secure records of good conduct, confirmation of information from supervisors, educators, etc.).

ICO's Prospective Members section of its website includes all regulations, by-laws, policies, application forms, decision-making charts for
'equirements for registration and links to outside organizations, such as educational accrediting agencies and the clinical competency

-'xamining board.

3CO's Registration Coordinator receives completed applications from prospective members and verifies them to determine if all the
'equirements for registration are included. As part of the registration application submission, CCO will receive documents from outside
lrganizations, such as transcripts from accredited chiropractic educational institutions, examination results from the CCEB and Vulnerable
iector Police Checks from police departments.

)nce a completed application is received and reviewed bythe Registration Coordinator, it will then be reviewed bythe Registrar and
Seneral Counsel. The Registration Coordinator and Registrar and General Counsel will review each application to ensure that all
'equirements for registration in CCO's Reeistration Regulation and various registration by-laws and polices have been met.

f any application is missing a requirement or if there is a question as to the completeness of an application, the applicant will be asked to
lrovide additional information.

a. Processes are in place to
ensure that those who meet the

registration requirements receive

a certificate to practice

(e.g., how it operationalizes the

registration of members,

including the review and

validation of submitted

documentation to detect

fraudulent documents,

confirmation of information from

supervisors, etc.)1-

t
ol
oE
c:z:,.i<YFF.n(J

E.
o_

oF
F
J
co

F
=tJt

6
z

o
O

5TlPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

any certificate of registration, including whether an applicant is eligible to be granted an exemption from a particular requirement.

n5
3nly after review and approvalfrom the Registrar and General Counsel, will an application

be issued a certificate of registration. Approximately 95% of applications are approved by the Registrar and General Counsel.

f there is a question whether the applicant meets the requirements for registration, the application and additional information will be

referred to the Registration Committee for review and a decision. Review of the application may include additional information for review,

such as a member's professional portfolio, outlining their quality assurance and continuing education activities, letters of good standing

lrom other regulated jurisdictions in which the member practised and any applicable letters from medical or legal practitioners or experts.

Ihe Registration Committee will also review CCO lggla.ljcns and p[gigg as well as decision-making charts based on specific criteria and

past precedents to help guide its decisions for @9.-EC-n[bers and new applicants.

Following review of an application and all applicable information, the Registration Committee may make the following decisions:

. Register the applicant
r Register the applicant with terms, conditions and limitations
e Not register the applicant
. Require the applicant to complete further requirements to be eligible for registration
. Request further information

for registration be approved and the applicant

58lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L0rdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

276
Choose an item.

Yes

Choose an item

lllhe respor;se is "aartially" ar "nt:", is the Coll*ge plt:nnirtr:l ta inprove ita petarfianc? o'er fhr nexffeportina peri<sril

,'1d rl itio n a i can) n( nts fa t dti rification (optia nal)

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link that outlines the policies or processes in place for identifying best practices to assess whether an applicant meets registration requirements
(e.g., how to assess English proficiency, suitability to practice etc.), a link to Council meeting materials where these have been discussed and decided upon and

indicate page numbers OR please briefly describe the process and checks that are carried out.

Please provide the date when the criteria to assess registration requirements was last reviewed and updated.

Ihe Registration Committee annually reviews its regulations, policies and by-laws related to criteria and processes for registration. CCO

also reviews its annual recommendations from the Ontario Fairness Commissioner for ways to further ensure its registration processes are
tair, impartial, and transparent. CCO's bi-annual meetings with the Federation of Canadian Chiropractic often include discussions and
tharing of best practices regarding registration issues, accreditation and movement of members and applicants across jurisdictions within
Canada.

Ad{Irlioro/ ca,?rn e nls for cla rificdlion (optit:nal}

b. The College periodically

reviews its criteria and

processes for determining

whether an applicant meets

its registration requirements,

against best practices (e.9.,

how a College determines

language proficiency, how

Colleges detect fraudulent

applications or documents

including applicant use of
third parties, how Colleges

confirm registration status in

other jurisdictions or
professions where relevant

etc.).

59lPage



KD
College of Chiroprcctors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric CCO CPMF Recorting Tool - March 31, 2023

277

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please briefly describe the currency and competency requirements registrants are required to meet.

Please briefly describe howthe College identified currency and competency requirements.

Please provide the date when currency and competency requirements were last reviewed and updated.

please briefly describe how the College monitors that registrants meet currency and competency requirements (e.g., self-declaration, audits, ra'rdom audit etc.)

and how frequently this is done.

Ihe Registration Committee reviews its annual renewal processes each year to ensure that members self-declare on various aspects of

lheir practice, including their business addresses, preferred methods of communications with CCO, professional malpractice insurance

provider and coverage, mental and physical competency to practise chiropractic, good character reporting, reporting of any criminal

charges or convictions or findings of professional negligence and other practice information. Every two years, during the same renewal

period, members are also required to report on their compliance with CCO's Quality Assurance requirements, such as compliance with self

assessment and continuing education. Quality Assurance requirements and reporting are found in the Quality Assurance section of this

document. lnformation related to 2022 renewal can be found at the fq[lqi4gfn!.

CCO's Registration Committee reviews legislation and regulation, specifically the RHPA and its regulations, for any updates tt registration,

renewal or public register requirements to ensure its renewal process is compliant with existing legislation and regulation. As well, in its

review,the Registration Committeewill reviewall relevant bv-laws, resulationsand policiesforanyupdatestothe renewal crocess. lf

necessary, CCO will consult with outside legal counsel for any advice.

For the 2023 renewal process, the Registration Committee met in July 2O22 to review the 2023 renewal memorandum and online

questionnaire and made recommendations to Council, which were approved in September 2022.

lf a member answers certain questions, such as disclosing that they have a criminal offence or charge or that they lack the mental or

physical capacity to practise chiropractic, CCO's Registration Coordinator will automatically be notified by email through the renewal

system, and that member's renewal will be pending a review by the Registrar and if necessarY, the Registration Committee. Following

review, the renewal status of the member may be approved, denied or approved with terms, conditions and limitations.

c. A risk-based approach is used

to ensure that currencyz and

other competency

requirements are monitored
and regularly validated (e.g.,

procedures are in place to
verify good character,

continuing education,
practice hours requirements
etc.).

60lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario 278CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3L, 2023

assessed as part of registration processes are included (e.g., during renewal of a certificate of registration, or at any other time).

Choose an item
Ad,Ji!ianni ( om nlc |lts Icr clorifi(.:atiafi lopli()na!)

61 lPage



KD
College of Chiroptactors of Ontario
[Ordre des ChiroprEticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

279

Choose an item

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the most recent assessment report by the OFC OF please provide a summary of outcorne assessment report.

Where an action plan was issued, is it: completed

ICO has continuously updated the "Prospective Members" section of its website to ensure that its registration practices are transparent,

)bjective, impartial and fair. These updates, based on its meetings and self assessments with the OFC, have included more links to outside

)rganizations, costs associated with the registration process, lists of requirements and forms to be completed for registration with CCO,

inks to all relevant by-laws, regulations and policies associated with registration, and flowcharts to visualize requirements for registration

'or different types of applicants, depending on their circumstances.

3CO's meetings with chiropractic stakeholders, such as educational accrediting boards and clinical competency examination providers

nclude discussions and meetings to ensure that CCO's registration practices, including those administered by third parties, are transparent,

rbjective, impartial and fair.

lCo's OFC reports can all be found at the followine link.

a. The College addressed all

recommendations, actions

for improvement and next

steps from its most recent

Audit by the Office of the

Fairness Commissioner (OFC).

62lPage



@
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tjordre des Chiropraticbns de lOntatio CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

280
Acldil:ifrnnl carrments for clorificotictn (if needed)

63lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontar,ic
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaria

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

281

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

a

Please briefly describe a recent example of howthe College has assisted its registrants in the uptake ofa new oramended standard:

- Name of Standard

- Duration of period that support was provided

- Activities undertaken to support registrants

- % of registrants reached/participated by each activity

- Evaluation conducted on effectiveness of support provided

Does the College a lways provide this level of sup port:
lf not, pledse provide o brief explonation:

Yes

Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keepine and Standard of Practice 5-022: Ownershio, Storage, Securitv and Destruction of
Records of Personal Health lnformation were amended to include the requirement to collect demographic information as necessary
to identify, assess and treat patients, instead of requiring the collection of specific demographic information such as gender. This is

a practice taken by many other Ontario health regulatory colleges in their record keeping standards. Members may exercise
professionaljudgment in collecting and recording demographic information necessary to identify, assess and treat patients.
Amendments to the electronic record keeping section of Standard of Practice 5-002 and s-022 further emphasize the importance of
the security, protection and confidentiality of patient personal health information maintained in electronic record keeping systems.
This includes ensuringthat electronic record keeping system are compliant with the Personal Health lnformation Protection Act,
2004 (PHIPA), having cyber security protections in place to protect personal health information from loss, tampering, interference
and unauthorized use and access, and having protocols in place on steps to take in the event of a privacy breach. lt is imperative
that members have an understanding and are educated in their electronic record keeping systems and employ best practices to
ensure the protection of patient personal health information. ln the process of this review, practices and standards of other Ontario
health regulatory colleges were researched and reviewed.
Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio was amended to require members registered in the General (i.e., Active) class of
registration to attend the CCO Virtual Regulatory Excellence Workshop at least once every three CE cycles (or once every six years)

as part of their structured CE hours. Members may complete this requirement over the next three CE cycles or until June 30,2028.
The Regulatory Excellence Workshop builds upon the previous'Record Keeping Workshop and includes topics related to all aspects

a. Provide examples of how the
College assists registrants in

implementing required
changes to standards of
practice or practice guidelines

(beyond

communicating the existence
of new standard, FAQs, or
supporting documents).

Further clarification:

Colleges are encouraged to
support registrants when
implementing changes to
standards of practice or
guidelines. Such activities could
include carrying out a follow-up
survey on how registrants are
adopting updated standards of
practice and addressing
identifiable gaps.

Lll(J

=(J
E
o-
oF
F
J
a
F
l
\n
6
z

oo

o
6E
oz
Fvl

64llaEe



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 282

a

of the regulation of chiropractic in Ontario. This virtual workshop is typically offered three times per year and is free for all CCO

members.

Standard of Practice 5-013: Consent was amended to include language that the requirement for a patient to bring another

individual to any future appointment is considered a breach of patient privacy and is inappropriate, except for reasons of capacity

to consent and/or substitute-decision making. Amendments to this standard were approved based on a recent lnquiries,

Complaints and Reports decision. A patient's right to privacy and confidentiality must be respected and it must be the patient's

choice of whether they wish to bring another individual with them to future appointments. Review of this standard was a result of
a memorandum from the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee to address complaints related to this issue.

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients was amended to include requirements that members should be particularly

sensitive to individual patient's comprehension of verbal, written and non-verbal communication, and communicate using as plain

language as possible. lf there are any barriers in communication, language or interpretation, members should support patients in

identifying potential resources for reducing these barriers. Members should also ensure that communication with patients is

consistent with Standard of Practice 5-001: Chiropractic Scope of Practice and Standard of Practice 5-01-3: Consent, including that
communication should be patient-centred, focusing on the patient's reasons, objectives and goals for seeking chiropractic care,

using clear and concise language to communicate matters related to examination, care and informed consent, and referring a

patient to an appropriate health professional if a matter is beyond the chiropractic scope of practice. Members should respect any

patient requests to have a third-party of their choosing present (e.g., spouse, trusted friend) for any appointments, subject to any

safety, public health and privacy measures. However, it must be the patient's choice whether they would like to have a third-party
present, and a member must not require this, subject to any capacity to consent and/or substitute-decision making issues.

Standard of Practice 5-012: Orthotics, Standard of Practice S-021: Assistive Devices and Guideline G-008: Business Practices were

amended to address the following:
o There have been past disciplinary findings related to improper billing practices and documentation related to the

prescribing, manufacturing, selling and dispensing of orthotics. The amendments emphasize the sections of the professional

misconduct regulation that requires that accounts for services must not be false or misleading, fees must be disclosed in

advance to the patient, including fees that are not payable by the patient (i.e., payable by an insurance company or third
party payor) and that an accountfor professional services must be itemized upon request.

o Any fees charged for orthotics or any assistive device must be consistently applied in accordance with the member's fee

schedule and based on a clinical history, examination, diagnosis or clinical impression, consent, instructions and

recommendations and follow-up, as documented in the patient health record.

o A member should familiarize themselves with a patient's insurance company or third-party payor if any third-party is

involved with reimbursement for services or products related to chiropractic care.

a

a

o Recommendations for amendments include the use of neutral

65lPage



KD
College of Chiropraciors of Ontario
L0rdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

283CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Choose an item

Review and amendments to these docurnents were conducted following communications from system partners, such as

professional associations, and involved research from other Ontario health regulatory colleges.
r CCO updating its COVID-19 euidance for members and the public, based on changing directives from the Ontario Government.
r CCO communicates and actively supports implementation of new and amended documents through President's Messages and

communications to stakeholders, includins members, the Regulatorv Excellence Workshop and updates to its Peer and Practice

Assessment 1.0 and 2.0 checklists and programs. Further statistics about these initiatives can be found in the Quantitative section
of this document related to Quality Assurance initiatives.

r As of July !,2022, the Regulatory Excellence Workshop (REW) has become a mandatory component of CE requirements. to be

completed once every six years. The REW is continuously updated to include the most recent version of standards of practice,
policies and guidelines, as they related to all aspects of professional regulation and patient care, as well as new and amended
documents and how they apply to practice.

o CCO staff is always available to respond to questions from members, stakeholders, and members of the public. lf there is a novel
issue raised, this may be brought to the attention of the appropriate committee for further review.

lf f/rr rrsirrr)sr: is ''partia!ly" or'nr:', ls fhr &rlle'gc pfu:n$inq to inlprovo ii.gpcr,for,ar(ir)ar ov{:rfh? ntxl re pariinq p{tiad}

;ldrJi l;r:irnl 
','r:rnDr 

tr;r.s Jot c!uillicat ion lcptir:r;nl)

66lPage



@D
College ol Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 284

The College fulfills this requirement: Yes

please list the College's priority areas of focus for QA assessment and briefly describe how they have been identified OR please insert a link to the website where

this information can be found and indicate the page number.

Is the process taken above for identifying priority areas codified in a policy: Cloosl .jn ilelr'

lf yes, pleose insert link to the policy.

Ihe Q7\ Program is described on CCO's website and consists of many components, including Professional Portfolio, Self Assessment,

Continuing Education, Peer and Practice L.0, Peer and Practice Assessment 2.0 and Resulatorv Excellence Workshops and the Core

Competencies Document.

All members are required to participate in the quality assurance program and are required within a two-year Continuing Education (CE)

cycle to complete a self assessment, participate in continuing education and report these activities to CCO through the member portal. The

requirements of the quality assurance program are described in Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio. As well, approximately

250 - 500 members are selected for either Peer and Practice Assessment 1.0 or 2.0 each year. These selections are random in nature;

however, there are several factors which may trigger a member being selected for a peer and practice assessment, a requirement to
attend a record keeping workshop or additional educational activities:

r Members re-entering the General (i.e., active) class of registration after a period of at least two years are required to attend a

record keeping workshop and be peer assessed, in addition to re-taking CCO's legislation and ethics examination. This is described

further in Policv P-053: Returnine to the General Class of Certificate of Reeistration.

. Members who are subject to the inquiries, complaints and reports or discipline process are often required to participate in various

components ofthe quality assurance program, such as a record keeping workshop and peer and practice assessment, through

undertakings and discipline decision. These activities are intended to remediate deficiencies found as a result of the complaints or

discipline processes.

a. The College has processes

and policies in place

outlining:

i. how areas of practice that
are evaluated in QA
assessments are identified
in order to ensure the
most impact on the quality

of a registrant's practice;

6TlPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdrc des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 285

Yes

CCO receives feedback on its quality assurance program through several mechanisms:
. CCO holds an annual peer and practice assessment workshop with all its peer assessors. ln2O27, CCO did not hold this workshop

due to the COVID-19 pandemic; however, it did conduct a virtual workshop on January 29,2022. This workshop provided an
opportunity for peer assessors to offer valuable feedback on both versions of the PPA program. Each peer assessor corducts
approximately 70 - 20 peer assessments per year and, as representatives of CCO who have the opportunity to assess and interact
with members in an educational setting, they provide invaluable feedback on strengths, weaknesses and areas of improvement for
the PPA program and the quality assurance program in general. Peer Assessors can provide feedback to the program through a

number of exercises and all feedback is brought back to the QA Committee for review and consideration of further changes to the
program.

r Each peer and practice assessment includes a feedback form that is completed by the member being assessed. All feedback is

reviewed by the QA Committee for the purposes of improving the program.
r All substantive new or amended by-laws, regulation, standards of practice, policies and guidelines are distributed to members and

stakeholders for feedback, as well as posted publicly on the "News & Updates" section of the CCO website providing an opportu nity
for the public and patients to provide feedback as well. All feedback related to quality assurance initiatives is reviewed by the
Quality Assurance Committee and Councilfor further amendments.

r The Quality Assurance Committee reviewed in detail the "Right Touch" regulation document and will be including it in all
committee information packages. ln late 2021, the Quality Assurance Committee reviewed the principles of the document to be
applied to the review of standards of practice, policies, guidelines and processes. The current Peer and Practice Assessment
program utilizes the "Right Touch" principles as it is clearly an educational and remediation program and not punitive in nature.
Only continued non-compliance has resulted in punitive measures, such as referral to the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports
Committee.

ICO continuously reviews and assesses its quality assurance initiatives and participates on HPRO groups involving quality assurance staff of
/arious Ontario health regulatory colleges. This sharing of best practices assists in identifying areas for improvement for CCO's QA
)rogram. CCO will also continue to review the "Right Touch" model of regulation for opportunities to incorporate elements of this
rpproach into its Quality Assurance program.

rirldifirrr;r,' ccrrriilni,r for c/c.'iflcrlro n (a ptia fi c ! i

63lPage



@m* of Chiropractors of ffiario
des Chiropraticiens de fontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

https://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/publications/right-touch-regulation).

286

69lPage



@):;lrru
of Chiropractors of Ontario
des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

287
The College fulfills this requirement: lY"'

Please insert a linkto document(s) outliningdetailsofrighttouch approach and evidence used (e.g., data, literature, expert panel)to inform assessment approach

and indicate page number(s).

OR please briefly describe right touch approach and evidence used.

Please provide the year the right touch approach was implemented Ofr when it was evaluated/updated (if applicable).

Ihe Quality Assurance Committee reviewed the Right Touch regulation document in detail at several meetings in Fall 2021 and reported on
this as part of the Qualitv Assurance report to Council on November 25,2027. As part of its review, the Quality Assurance Committee
applied the following principles:

. Using a risk-based approach, primarily risk to the patient, in reviewing standards of practice, policies and guidelines as well as

programs and processes of Quality Assurance.

r Reviewing relevant information in the review of standards of practice, policies and guidelines, including but not limited to:
comparable documents from other Ontario health profession and other chiropractic regulators from other jurisdictions,

memoranda from the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee, statistics related to complaints and discipline, feedback from
members, stakeholders, patients and organizations, and research and academic articles.

r Amendments to various CCO documents and programs such as the Regulatory Excellence Workshop are reported on elsewhere in

this document.

lfevaluoted/updoted, did the college engoge the following stakeholders in the evoluation:

- Public Yes
' Employers Yes

' Registrants Yes

- otherstokeholders Yes

lt",

CCO continuously reviews and assesses its quality assurance initiatives and participates on HPRO groups involving quality assurance staff of
rrarious Ontario health regulatory colleges. This sharing of best practices assists in identifying areas for improvement for CCO's QA
Program. CCO will also continue to review the "Right Touch" model of regulation for opportunities to incorporate elements of this
approach into its Quality Assurance program.

,4rjrjillonrl ccnrr;r e n !..s fo t r'ln ri ti cation I or;tio n :t I )

ii. details of how the College

uses a right touch,
evidence informed
approach to determine
which registrants will
undergo an assessment
activity (and which type of
multiple assessment
activities); and

70lPage



@
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 288

Yeslf tlti response is "1:.tortially" or "no", isthe Callege planninq t:o imprtsve ils pert'annLinc€ aver the next reporting perio{l?

CCO updates its peer and practice assessment materials annually to reflect new and amended standards of
practice, policies and guidelines and will continue to review and update these materials to incorporate "Right

Touch" resulation principles.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the document that outlines criteria to inform remediation activities and indicate page

As described above, the Quality Assurance program and specifically Peer and Practice Assessment is primarily an educational and

remediation program, and punitive measures, such as referral to the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee have only occurred in

situations of non-compliance. lndividual peer and practice assessments may result in additional remediation or member requirements,

such as re-submitting patient health records for review.

number OR list criteria.
iii. criteria that will inform the

remediation activities a

registrant must undergo
based on the OA

assessment, where
necessary.

71 lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropratieiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

289

Yes

Chnose an item.

r'i;/dir ;nlrlr r:;llilrarrts ior. iir./ii"otior,. loplio$ol,

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the College's process for monitoring whether registrant's complete remediation activities OR please briefly describe the process.

Please insert a link to the College's process for determining whether a registrant has demonstrated the knowledge, skills and judgement following remediation
OR please briefly describe the process.

Both peer and practice assessment (PPA) streams are designed to be non-punitive, providing real-time feedback to members on a wide
range of topics related to chiropractic practice. Additionally, the QA Committee reviews the summary reports and provides all members
with an official Disposition Report. This report would include, if appropriate, specific remediation recommendations for the member to
lollow. Further remediation follow-up is scheduled on a case-by-case basis and CCO staff follows up with these members to ensure
remediation recommendations are incorporated into their practices. This can occur through resubmission of updated record keeping
forms.

A/ri;:icrtrl li;*;lrfl /ris foi' rl{l ifi.dlicr-. liinpfdi:(lj

a. The College tracks the results
of remediation activities a

registrant is directed to
undertake as part of any
College committee and
assesses whether the
registrant subsequently
demonstrates the required
knowledge, skill and
judgement while practicing.

72lP age



KD
College of Chiropraciors of Ontario
llOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

290

YesThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the College's website that clearly describes the College's complalnts process incl ud ing, options to resolve a complaint, the potential outcomes

associated with the respective options and supports available to the complainant.

Please insert a link to the polices/procedures for ensuring all relevant information is received during intake OR please briefly describe the policies and procedures

ifthe documents are not publicly accessible.

ICO has several pages on its website describing the complaints process, including how to file a complaint, the information to be included in

r complaint, template letters involved in the complaints process, the various steps of the complaints process and the possible outcomes of
:he complaints process. Any complaint involving allegations of sexual abuse involve communication from CCO staff informing the
:omplainant of their ability to apply for funding for therapy and counselling and direction to the webpage with the appropriate information
and forms. These are included at the following links, under both the "Members of the Public" and "Members of CCO" tab on the website:

. https://cco.on.calmembers-of-the-public/how-to-file-a-complaint/

. https://cco.on.ca/members-of-the-public/how-to-file-a-complaint/ihe-complaints-process-2/

. https://cco.on.calmembers-of-the-public/how-to-file-a-complaint/appointment-and-powers-of-investigators/
a

a

3CO staff will often correspond with potential complainants by phone and/or email to assist them with the complaints process.

a. The different stages of the

complaints process and all

relevant supports available to
complainants are:

i. supported by formal

policies and procedures

to ensure all relevant

information is received

during intake at each

stage, including next

steps for follow up;

ii. clearly communicated

directly to complainants

who are engaged in the

complaints process,

including what a

complainant can expect

at each stage and the

supports available to

them (e.9., funding for

sexual abuse therapy);

and;

LIJ(J
F-U
e
o-
oF
F
J
co

F
f
v'l
6
z
a
oo

F{r{
o
G,

oz
th

73lPag*



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chirograticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

291
Choose an item.f lhr" :espcrrse is "partiolly" at "no", is the College p/dnnin$ fo intprave its perfcrrnance aver tht: t)s,yf frpc/'tine p<r/iodi

ArJ Ll i t ia tw l ca m ts e nts io r c lo riji c ol i c: n (a pt io n a l )

T4lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Onlario
Uordre des chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

292

Yes

The College fulfills this requirement: Yes

. Please provide details of how the College evaluates whether the information provided to complainants is clear and useful.

\ll committee, including the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee, review their policies and procedures on an annual basis, or if
:here is any regulatory amendment or committee or stakeholder feedback that will result in changes, to reflect any updated policies and

trocesses.

.eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines and ony barriers to implementotion.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert rate (see Companion Document: Technical Soecifications for Quantitative CPMF Measures).

Responses to inquiries from the public or members regarding the filing of an inquiry, complaint or report, are provided within one to five

business days. Emails and phone inquiries are directed to the staff member associated with the question or concern. lf staff are away for a

period of time, an auto response is provided by email or phone to contact another staff member who will be able to assist the individual.

College staff will also inform individuals of the timeline associated with a response to their inquiry, complaint or report. This includes the

date of the next lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee meeting, an upcoming investigation or other process within the complaints

committee.

iii. evaluated by the College to
ensure the information
provided to
complainants is clear and
useful.

Benchmorked Evidence

b. The College responds to 90% of

inquiries from the public

within 5 business days, with

follow-up timelines as

neces5ary.

T5lPage



@
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

293
Choose an item

llthe rcsponse is "portiolly" or "no", is the Colleae plonni\e to impro'r€ its perfarmdnce averthe next rep<srtinq periadl

Add ;tion (t | (omme nt,s fa r t ldtificc t ioil (optiono l)

76 | Page



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontarao
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

294
Yes

Cho0se an item.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please list supports available for the public during the complaints process.

Please briefly describe at what points during the complaints process that complainants are made aware of supports available.

Ihe College supports the public in a number of ways:
. Communicating with the member of the public by phone and/or email to aid in understanding the existing standards of practice,

policies and guidelines of the College;
. Communications to members and members of the public involve the complaint process, possible outcomes of a complaint and links

to relevant tools used by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee. lnformation and sample letters are included in the
inquiries, complaints and reports webpaees.

. Assisting the member of the public with information on how to draft a letter of complaint and what accompanying information is to
be included;

r Assisting the member of the public in understanding the various steps of the complaints process, such as communication with the
member, review by the ICRC, investigation including the collection and review of clinical notes and records, timelines of the
complaints process and possible outcomes for complaints;

. CCO has assisted members of the public who are unable to write a letter of complaint. An example of this is CCO taking a recording
of the individual's complaint through a telephone conversation and transcribing this as a letter of complaints.

. CCO has provided members with translated documents upon request.

Ihe College will inform a complainant who is making a complaint for an allegation on sexual abuse on the right of the complainant to apply
lo the College for funding for therapy or counselling. The College will inform the complainant on the process for this application and direct
them to the various forms associated with the complaints process.

Addit/r)noi 4oil)r;)r:r;ts Jr:r clrrificoiion /r;piifl r<;/l

c. Demonstrate how the College
supports the public during
the complaints process to
ensure that the process is

inclusive and transparent
(e.g., translation services are
available, use of technology,
access outside regular
business hours, transparency
in decision-making to make
sure the public understand
how the College makes
decisions that affect them
etc.).

77 lP age



@D
College of Chiropraciors of Ontario
|jOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

295

Yes

Choose an item

The College fulfills this requirement:

ining how complainants can contact the College during the complaints process and indicate the page number(s) Ofl please

provide a brief description.

please insert a link to document(s) outlining how complainants are supported to participate in the complaints process and indicate the page numberis) OR please

provide a brief description.

Ihe College provides formal letters to the complainant and member within the timelines of the complaints process under the Health

Professions Procedural Code under th e RHPA. CCO will log and track complaints within the internal member database which includes key

Cates that are required for communications consistent with the RHPA requirements. lnformation and sample letters are included in the

inquiries. complaints and reports webpases.

Please insert a link to document(s) outl

tfills ,r^tpoit"rr is "*rtrtiolh," o" "nt>'. is lha Col/roo tlLrnnlig fo ifprovi: ils p{ri /oriro,ic{'dvsr lh{r nexf lspcrtlng p*riltli

a. Provide details about how the
College ensures that all parties

are regularly updated on the
progress of their complaint or
discipline case, including how
complainants can contact the
College for information (e.g.,

availability and accessibility to
relevant information,
translation services etc.).

T8lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

296

Yes

r'.lldrllllal r-r.rrperi-r icr lilrilicr;ti1;r l17f 1if,.il1)lj

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to guidance document and indicate the page number OR please briefly describe the framework and how it is being applied.

Please provide the year when it was implemented OR evaluated/updated (if applicable).

CCO's ICRC prioritizes complaints that have a high level of public risk, such as allegations of sexual abuse, patient harm and
financial/insurance fraud. ln 202O, CCO also prioritized complaints that were related to allegations of failure to comply with COVID-19
protocols and with respect to advertising or posts for claims related to COVID-19 that fall outside of the chiropractic scope of practice
claims.
CCO developed a number of risk assessment tools for reviewing and prioritizing complaints, which are posted publicly on the CCO
webpages related to complaints:

. Risk Assessment Framework Statement

. Risk Assessment Framework

. Risk Assessment Framework Tool

. lnterim Order Assessment Tool

. TransparencvPrinciples

The College has accessible, up-
to-date, documented
guidance setting out the
framework for assessing risk
and acting on complaints,
including the prioritization of
investigations, complaints,
and reports (e.g., risk matrix,
decision matrix/tree, triage
protocol).

I.JJ

U

=U
e.
o_

o
F
F
J
cO

F
l

6
z
a
oo

ot
o2
F

T9lPage



KD
College of Chiropraciors ol Ontario
tjordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

297
lf the respcnse is "purticlly" ar "na", is the Callrye p:onnit g l.o improve its perfnrmance av?r the rtext ft.partitttx pcriad? Choose an item

Additianal cornme nts for clnrificotin (optiatnl)

80lPage



@d
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

298

C\lns,: ;r ;1rlr.

Yes
The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the policy and indicate page number OR please briefly describe the policy.

Please provide an overview ofwhom the College has shared information with overthe pastyearand the purpose ofsharingthat information (i.e., general sectors
ofsystem partner, such as 'hospital', or 'long-term care home').

Historically, CCO has communicated and shared information with other authorities, such as law enforcement, criminal and civil courts, as
authorized by governing legislation, when there are matters or concerns related to professional regulation as well as another governing
authority. These matters may arise in the inquiries, complaints and reports, discipline, fitness to practise and registration processes when
lhere are simultaneous investigations or decisions of other external system partners.

CCO developed a "Transparencv Principles" policy document, available to the public, which outlines this framework of transparency and
Cisclosure to outside parties.

The College's policy outlining
consistent criteria for
disclosure and examples of
the general circumstances
and type of information that
has been shared between the
College and other relevant
system partners, within the
legal framework, about
concerns with individuals and
any results.

LU
U
FU
E.

o
F
F
J
co

F
l
v)
6
z
a
oo

(t
rl
o
0c

oz
t-th

8'l lPage



@D
College ol Chiropractors of Ontarao
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

299

Choose an item.

Yes

/f ilr1 resiror-se 15 "porilnl!';t" cr "rio", ls tic ftrl/lge s/0r,.,,,.ino io ilrrrcyii ii:s p.:rfcrnrcrice oyfl tlic noxl rcfO{i}t perl0di

The College fulfills this requirement:

Kpls tells, and how it relates to the college meeting its strategic objectives and is therefore relevant to track), a link to council meeting materials where this

information is included and indicate page number OR list KPls and rationale for selection'

addition to its mission. vision. values and stratesic obiectives and @.![mitte,g lbicl:tivg!, CCO approved the Kev Performance lndicators

for core CCO functions. Kpls are regularly included in Council and committee packages, and are intended to identify the core

of certain statutory committees and the annual review of standards of practice, policies and guidelines.

for why these KPls have been selected (including what the results the respective
Please insert a link to a document that list College's KPls with an explanation

Outline the College's KPls,

including a clear rationale for
why each is important.

a.

Fz
t!

LIJ

o
E.
o-

=oZ
(t
z
Fto
o-
trJ
E
F--z
LU

LU
E
l
tn
LIJ

l-
z
a
a)
o

\t
ot
oz
F(t,

82lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

300

Partially

Yes

..Xdolirr;nol r:ornrn enis far c!arificaticn (il necd*d)

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials where the College reported to Council on its progress against stated strategic objectives, regulatory outcomes

and risks that may impact the College's ability to meet its objectives and the corresponding meeting minutes and indicate the page number.

Public Council packases include materials and reports from committees, describing their statutory objectives. This includes

recommendations for new and existing standards of practices, policies and guidelines, reports on inquiries, complaints and reports

appeals to the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB), discipline decisions, and communications and materials from
uarious stakeholders and system partners. Recommendations from committee to Council are guided by CCO's statutory mandate,

regulation objectives, mission, vision and strategic objectives, and risks identified by the committee and Council.

i/llre re-cpO;r.se is "pattidlly" at "t1o", ls thi: Coliege plunninr,"t l() !nprov,: its ntrt'tJrn:cnct cvr:r lhe r;erl repcriii;r: pcrildl

CCO developed a number of risk management tools for the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports process. lt will continue to work on
formalizing its practices for the college and committees regarding identifying and tracking risks.

Addilianol camments f{}t ciorificolion lil needed)

b. The College regularly reports to
Council on its performance and

risk review against:

i. stated strategic objectives

(i.e., the objectives set out
in a College's strategic

plan);

ii. regulatory outcomes (i.e.,

operational

indicators/targets with

reference to the goals we

are expected to achieve

under the RHPA); and

iii. its risk management

approach.

33lPage



@)
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaria

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3L, 2023

301

Partially

Yes

The College fulfills this requirement:

please insert a link to Council meeting materials where the Council used performance and risk review findings to identify where the College needs to implement

improvement activities and indicate the page number.

Public Council packages include materials and reports from committees, describing their statutory objectives. This includes

recommendations for new and existing standards of practices, policies and guidelines, reports on inquiries, complaints and reports

appeals to the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB), discipline decisions, and communications and materials from

irarious stakeholders and system partners. Recommendations from committee to Council are guided by CCO's statutory mandate,

regulation objectives, mission, vision and strategic objectives, and risks identified by the committee and Council.

tfthe responsc is "partiolty" or "no", describe the College's plon tolully implementthis meosure. Outline the steps
,eviewing/revising existing poticies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines and any borriers to implementation.

CCO developed a number of risk management tools for the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports process. lt will continue to work on

iormalizing its practices for the college and committees regarding identifying and tracking risks.

(i.e., drofting policies, consulting stdkeholders, or

The College fulfills this requirement:

. Please insert a link to the College's dashboard or relevant section of the College's website.

All decisions addressing these issues are included in public Council package and communicated to members, stakeholders and system

partners and posted on the CCO website under the "New & Updates" section.

a. Council uses performance and

risk review findings to identify
where improvement activities
are needed.

Eenchmarked Evidence

Performance results related to a

College's strateBic objectives

and regulatory outcomes are
made public on the College's
website.

84lPrgn



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

302
Choose an itemlf t/rer{spcf5ei.!"lsurticllv'ar"ni",islhe{:clIeqepicnn!ngtc,itny:ro'teilsperfcrn:ct:ct {]v€rl|{fsxlrcpattingp(riodI

Adtliiional u)mnients fcr clarifict;tion (if nrcrJ*tl)

85lPage



@D
College ol Chiropraclors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chiroprsticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

303
Part 2: Context Measures

recommended manner (e.g., due to differences in definitions), a College can report the information in a manner that is conducive to its data infrastructure and availability.

future.

order to understand how the information provided was calculated.

The ministry has also included hyperlinks of the definitions to a glossary of terms for easier navigation.

86lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaria

Table 1- Context Measure 1

Regulatory Excellence Workshops

for many years, has mandated that all members attend a mandatory, in-person
nd interactive record-keeping workshop within the first year of registering with CCO.

is workshop is led by CCO staff, including one member of the profession, the Director
Professional Practice. This workshop is also available to all CCO members to refresh

nd review updates to standards, polices and guidelines and their implementation
It also provides an opportunity, for the College to communicate to members,

messages about expectations related to advertising, social media, and prevention of
I abuse. These workshops are also used as a remediation tool for QA, ICRC and

iscipline Committee decisions and undertakings.

2022, CCO changed the name of this workshop to the Regulatory Excellence
hop (REW), since it includes so much more material related to chiropractic care of

ients and professional regulation. CCO continued to provide these workshops, (three
total) for members to attend virtually. The interactive workshops continue to be a

good opportunity for the college to set member expectations, to talk about

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

304

3 Workshops
351 Members

I*I

I

What does this informotion tell us? Quolity ossuronce (QA) and Quolity
lmprovement (Ql) ore critical components in ensuring thot professionols provide
core that is sdfe, effective, potient-centred ond ethicol. ln oddition, heolth core
professionols face a number of ongoing chonges thot might impoct how they
practice (e.9., chonging roles ond responsibilities, chonging public expectotions,
legislative changes).

The information provided here illustrates the diversity of QA octivities the College
undertook in assessing the competency of its registronts ond the QA ond Ql
octivities its registronts undertook to mointain competency in CY 2022. The diversity
of aA/al 6ctivities and ossessments is reflective of o College's risk-bosed opprooch
in executing its QA program, whereby the frequency of ossessment ond octivities to
mointoin competency ore informed by the risk of o registront not octing
competenily. Details of how the College determined the opproprioteness of its
ossessment component of its QA progrom are described or referenced by the
College in Measure 10.2(o) of Standord L0.

#

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method orthe College's own method: Clcns* ;rl ir*rr
lf o College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

Context Measure (CM)

CM 1. Type and distribution of QA/QI activities and assessments used in CY 2022x

Type of QA/QI activity or assessrnent:

DON/lAlN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

87lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Lordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaria

trends, to quantify and qualify and address potential risks as members enter
practice life, all in keeping with the principles of "right touch regulation"

e workshop features a STEP-BY-STEP approach that includes:

. an introduction to CCO

r accurately documenting the "story" of the doctor/patient relationship

(consultation, history, examination, diagnostic imaging, report of findings,

communicating a diagnosis, treatment, SOAP notes, re-assessment, dismissal)

o informed consent - when and how
r communication with patients, avoiding boundary crossings and prevention of

sexual abuse
. chiropractic scope of practice

. billing and business practices

r adjunctive therapies and assistive devices

o assignment and referral of care
r advertising, websites and social media
. privacy of personal health information
. changes to and dissolution of practice

r COVID-19 protocols and updates
. new and amended CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines

. current events

is the link to CCO's posted announcements for the upcoming REW

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

305

SSlPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 306
is the total number of attendees for each workshop help in 2022:

24-Feb-22
8-Jun-22

28-Oct-22

33

772

r46

l: 351

2. Peer and Practice Assessment

surrounding the Peer and Practice Assessment Program can be found on CCO's

r Peer and Practice fusessment 1.0
e Peer and Practice Assessment 2.0

Quality Assurance (QA) Committee developed the Peer and Practice Assessment

) Program to enhance members' learning opportunities and ensure their
pliance with the regulations, standards of practice, policies, and guidelines.

n becoming registered with CCO, members have the right to call themselves
and to practice chiropractic within the scope of practice identified in

Chiroproctic Act, 7997.1n assuming the right to practice, members also assume the
associated with this right, including the responsibility to maintain

petence.

e public must feel confident that chiropractors within Ontario, who demonstrated
evel competencies when they registered with CCO, continue to demonstrate

petence for the duration of their practice. As such, there is an expectation that
embers engage in life-long learning, continually building their competencies

their career

557 Members

Actual Number
ofAttendees

Present
Workshop

Date

89lPage



KD
College of Chiropraciors of Ontario
ljordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

During the assessment, peer assessors can flag any deficiencies noted with the

Tembers'.record keeping and/or knowledge of the College's standards of practice,

oolicies, and guidelines. This process also allows the member to engage in conversations

nrith their peer assessor regarding any noted deficiencies so that they may address them

mmediately.

lCO has developed two phases (thus far) to the PPA Program tb acknowledge and

rddress the changes in member competencies that are gained with clinical experience.

PPA 7.0 is intended for use with entry-to-practice new registrants/practitioners. PPA 2.0

has been developed for assessing more experienced practitioners and typically, is only

used after a member has undergone PPA 1.0 and addressed any issues revealed in that
process. These two streams of assessments also provide opportunities to interact, one-

)n-one, with members at different stages of their professional lives.

Building on successful elements of PPA 1.0, the PPA 2.0 assessment process involves:
. A more in-depth, conversational review of a selection of patient files to

better ensure that members are maintaining an accurate patient health

record, reflective of the patient encounter and "story".
. A review and conversation related to scenarios commonly encountered in

clinical practice that show implementation of regulations, standards of
practice, policies, and guidelines in real life situations.

. A more complete review of the member's professional portfolio to ensure

that all components, especially areas needing improvement identified in the

member's Self-Assessment Plan of Action, are being addressed by the
member.

loth PPA Lr".t, are designed to be non-punitive, providing real-time feedback to
nembers on a wide range of topics related to chiropractic practice. Members are
'andomly selected to participate in the program. Once assessments have been

:ompleted, the QA Committee reviews the summary reports and provides all members

,vith an official disposition report. This report would include, if appropriate, specific

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

307

90lFage



@D
College of Chiropractors ol Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

'emedial recommendations for the member to address. lf required, further remedial

'ollow-up is scheduled on a case-by-case basis. A system has been implemented to
nembers who require additional submissions due to deficiencies noted during their
PPA. This is to help reduce the potential risk of members receiving complaints and

naintain the interest of the public.

[he number of selected members for both PPA 1.0 and PPA 2.O for 2022 are as follows

PPAL.O2022,
members selected
Totals
PPA1.0 26?

PPA2.O2022,
members selected
Totals
PPA2.0 294

rarticipation is Mandatory

Members who hold a General (i.e., General Active, General Non-Practising and General
tlon-Resident) Certificate of Registration are required to participate in this program.

f a member is registered as General Non- Practising and General Non-Resident, they
ivill undergo a modified assessment. For example, if the member does not actively see

)atients (General Non- Practising), the assessment would entail a review of their
<nowledge of CCO regulations, standards of practice, policies, and guidelines.

lhe QA Committee has taken steps to ensure that ALL members registered, regardless
rf whether they work in direct patient care or not, take steps to maintain the skills and

<nowledge that is core to providing direct patient care.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 308

91 lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
lordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

nformation gathered during the peer assessment is shared with the members of the

lity Assurance Committee only

ber Selection

randomly selects members to participate in the program and matches the selected

with a suitable peer assessor: a colleague trained to identify areas of
provement and encourage members to strive for continuous quality improvement

conduct the assessment, designed to be educational, not punitive.

should also be noted that, in keeping with "right touch regulation" principles, the PPA

m has been increasingly utilized by both CCO's Registration Committee (e.g.

members undergo a proactive PPA when returning to practice after an absence)

nd ICRC (e.g. creating the Peer Mentoring Program, based on PPA 2.0, that helps guide

embers' understanding and implementation of better practices after behaviour has

identified as non-compliant in some manner).

Assessors, Training and Support

continues to maintain a core group of highly trained peer assessors since the

nception ofthe program. These assessors play a key and vital role in the success of both

development and implementation of the program. Successful peer assessors must

the conditions and elements outlined in our Peer Assessor Policy, CCO Policv P-

n2022, GCO had a roster of 29 trained and experienced peer assessors working in the
providing valuable guidance to members, in-person and remotely.

year, since the start of the PPA program, the QA Committee has hosted all peer

rs for an in-person day-long training workshop. This workshop typically involves

following elements:

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31., 2023

309

92lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'ontario

Review of updates to regulations, standards of practice, policies and guidelines

related to the practice of chiropractic;
Review of changes to the PPA programs to accommodate the above updates;

Gathering front-line feedback from assessors on their experiences of the past

year's PPA cycle;

Group and/or individual performance feedback to peer assessors;

Small group break-out sessions that often task assessors with brainstorming,
creating and developing ideas for new elements, changes or refinements of
future PPA or other QA initiatives;
Guest speakers with experience in quality assurance, continuing competencies
or other areas relevant to this initiative;
Updates on current events such as professional or government trends and/or
initiatives;
Plenty of opportunity for assessors from all over the province to interact with
their colleagues.

January 29,2022, the Annual Peer Assessor Workshop was held virtually, to
for restrictions regarding COVID-19. This year's workshop, which is

a full day in-person workshop, was condensed into a four-hour virtual
rience. Although a guest speaker was not present for this workshop, all other

ements were effectively covered within the tight schedule.

(page797 ofthe February 25,2022 public Council package) from the
was obtained from all attendees. Once again, feedback was quite positive,

nd assessors provided various suggestions for future workshops

assessors are always encouraged to contact the Director of Professional Practice if
have any questions/concerns regarding the PPA Program or if they encounter a

situation/question during an assessment.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 310

a

a

a

a

93lPage



@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

lPeer asserrors are always encouraged to contact the Director of Professional Practice if 
I

hhey have any questions/concerns regarding the PPA Program or if they encounter a 
I

llft*::::::::::s.f,hePPAPr.sram ncudng,he 
I

lrequirement for additional peer assessors. Considerations when appointing a peer assessor 
I

lmay 
include: 

I

| .interview evaluation 
I

I .n""d for peer assessor(s) in each CCO district 
I

I rgeographical location of the member's practice 
I

| .tyne of practice and/or practice style 
II rexpertence 

,__ _-__:-rr_. I

| .additional professional qualifications, expertise and/or specialty 
I

| .languages spoken I

| ..ottrnication skills 
I

I .successful completion of both the internal and field training portions of the 
I

I Atr"rtor-ln-Training (AlT) Program 
I

I r additional qualifications and characteristics to complement the attributes of the 
I

I p"", and Practice Assessment program. 
I

I

hs per Policv P-051: Peer Assessors, members who are successfully appointed as peer 
I

|,,*,,o-o,".".t1,,."-y.arterm,withtheeligibilitytocompleteuptothreeteimsi
lconsecutively. The assessors are ineligible for re-appointment until a full three-year 

I

ferm 

hasbeen completed. 
I

lln ZOZZ,the QA Committee and supporting staff determined the need to appoint new 
I

lpeer assessors due to five assessors having reached their maximum nine-year 
I

lappointment, and one assessor who needed to resign due to medical reasons. 
I

lMor.ou"r, it was noted that there were areas within the province that could benefit 
I

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023 311

94lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
tjordre des Chi.opraticiens de l'Ontdrio

from having an assigned assessor for that region

A call for new peer assessors was released in the President's Message dated June 29,

2O22,with a deadline for applications set for luly 22,2022. After reviewing the
numerous applications, interviews were held and a total of nine new peer assessors
were appointed, one of whom was a former peer assessor.

ln-field training began with each new assessor (AlT) being required to observe a current
peer assessor as they conducted both a PPA 1.0 and a PPA 2.0. For any AIT who had yet
to complete PPA 2.0, they were required to undergo this assessment which would then
count toward their observations.

Training for the new assessors continued into 2023 with an Orientation Day, as well as

being reguired to attend the Peer Assessor Workshop the following day. Finally, in-field
training willtake place once again where AlTs will, this time, be observed by a current
peer assessor as they conduct two assessments (PPA 1.0 and PPA 2.0). This particular
portion of the training will allow the new assessor to hone their assessment skills with
the aid and experience of their colleague.

3. Professional Portfolio and Continuing Education

CCO requires that members maintain a Professional Portfolio log where they track
compliance with all CCO continuing competency initiatives. The professional portfolio
would include, among other things:

. Self-Assessment Plan of Action Summarv Sheet

. Alog of all completed continuing education activities

. materials collected while fulfilling their continuing education (CE) requirements
(e.g., course outlines brochures from conventions/conferences, etc.)

. current samples of advertising.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31., 2023 312

Approximately
4892 Members

95lPage



College of Chiropractors of Ontario
ljordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

professional portfolio information is available at the following links:

r https://cco.on.calmem bers-of-cco/qualitv-assu ra nce/professional-portfolio/
r https://cco.on.calwp-content/uploads/2017l10/PP handbook Jan2017'pdf

embers were encouraged to log and track all their continuing education activities

a confidential on-line member portal. This was developed to provide CCO the

lity to track member activities as well as link registration actions to a member's

n of other mandatory activities.

2020, the QA Committee completed a lengthy process of developing, prototyping,

and gathering feedback to further make improvements on the

lopment of a second generation self-assessment.

noted above, in the report on Peer ond Practice Assessment, we acknowledge the

ce which supports that members should be demonstrating ongoing and evolving

petencies throughout their careers. This would be demonstrited in the types of CE

es undertaken. lt was the Committee's view that it would also be prudent to have

self-assessment suitable to reflect on basic, entry-to-practice competencies and then

have further self-assessments that engaged the member in self-reflection on

petencies more relevant to advancing experience and expertise.

e new version of the Self-Assessment, now referred to as $].,Q] was launched at

start of the new CE cycle, July 1,2022. lt is important to note that, where elements

SA 1.0 focus on entry-to-practice competencies such as knowledge of regulations,

ndards of practice, policies and guidelines, SA 2.0 was framed around the revised

2.0 is designed to assist more experienced members of the profession to reflect on

competencies after several years of practice experience. For example, members

on various scenarios they may have encountered or may encounter in practice.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023 313

96lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Ljordre des Chiropraficiens de I'Ontario

scenarios are based on archival case examples and trends. The Core

mpetencies for CCO Members also clearly lays out basic expectations members

be aware of when providing care to the public in the section titled: "What to
when attending a chiropractor appointment: an application of the core

cies."

2022,the QA Committee revised the latest draft of SA 2.0 to better reflect the needs

nd expectations of the experienced chiropractor, and common issues that might arise

to each core competency. Members were notified of the new Self-Assessment

ire via the President's Messaee dated June 29. 2022 and its official launch at

beginning of Cycle 7 (tuly 7,2022 - June 30, 2024).

Education Requirements

in all previous CE cycles, CCO has developed a mandatory CE prosram that is built on

best available evidence, with respect to professional continuing competency. As

our program is a balance of 'trust" and "proof" models, i.e., providing members a

of options for meeting their requirements that embrace the diversity of practices

populations served by those practices.

nally, CCO has always allowed members to engage in ongoing, continuing
cy development that is relevant to their areas of interest and expertise. This

been true even for those members who may not be engaged in direct patient care,

rather serving in administrative, research or academic roles. However, CCO still

uires that all members comply with the 5-hours of structured activities related to the
controlled acts (e.g., diagnosis and treatment of patients) in the event that they

oose to engage in direct patient care at any point in time.

mentioned in the section Regulatory Excellence Workshop, it is now mandatory for
to attend one REW every three CE cycles, or rather, once every six years. This

re is meant to be proactive and educational in nature, to ensure all members are

up to date with all standards of practice, policies, and guidelines, including their

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 314

9TlPage



College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaria

keeping skills.

4. Peer Mentoring Program

mentioned above, PPAS were often used as a means of remediation from both ICRC

the Discipline Committee. The results of a complaint lrom 2OI9 prompted ICRC to
nd the member undergo a series of peer assessments (up to four peer

within a l2-month period. This one-year remedial process was to garner

confidence in the member's competency to practice, ensure their adherence
CCO's standards of practice, policies, and guideline, and provide the member with
ple opportunity to amend any deficiencies noted throughout the process.

to the positive findings of this specified continued educational remedial program

P), this remained as a SCERP option for ICRC, as well as a course of action for
with disciplinary findings. To distinguish this new format of remediation from

PPA Program, this process was termed the "Peer Mentoring Program", and
nues to be used by both ICRC and the Discipline Committee.

formal training session for the Peer Mentoring Program took place on November 9,

as a joint endeavor between the Discipline, lCR, and QA Committees. A guest

who practices in regulatory law, attended the workshop, along with 13 peer

ntors: a group of individuals who are currentformer peer assessors who bring with
hem a wealth of knowledge from their role as a PA, and potential expertise within a

rticular field of chiropractic (e.g., the peer mentor is a Fellow of the College of
c Orthopedic Specialists). During the training session, mentors learned

bout the purpose and development of the program, the role of the mentor, and in-
details pertaining to the PM process. lt was stressed to the mentors that

Ithough the PM process is similar to PPA 2.0, the premise of peer mentoring is

the educational nature ofthe peer assessment, but rather PM is in fact
Therefore, mentors should gear the PM session toward the findings

by the ICR or Discipline Committee.

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 315

7 Members

98lPage



@
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Lordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

was obtained from all 13 peer mentors, all of whom rated the training
ion 5 out of 5.

2022, a total of seven members began the Peer Mentoring Program. Members are
with the process and all participating mentors have commented on the

attitude and feedback from the members.

<lnsert QA octivity or assessmen>

<lnsert QA activity or assessmen>

<lnsert QA octivity or ossessment>

<lnsert QA octivity or ossessment>

<lnsert OA activity or ossessment>

<lnsert QA activity or ossessment>

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023 316

:

vii.

viii.

ix.

X.

99lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 317

moy evolve to capture the different permutotions of pothwoys registrdnts

requested stotisticol inJormotion recognizes the current limitotians in dota

distribution of OA/QI activities or ossessments used in the reporFng period

the
ond

CPMF

type

the

to

of
Program,OA

limited

iterotions
College's

future

therefore
of
is

While

ond
pdrto5

todoy

period.

undergo
reporting

moy
ovoilability

theofcDursetheoveroctivitiesAAmultipleundergoingbemoyRegistronts

Additiono I com m e nts Jo r cla rifi cotion ( if needed )

100 | Page



KD
College ol Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

Table 2 - Context Measures 2 and 3

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3t,2023

318

.:*

Whot does this informotion tell us? lf o registront's knowledge, skills,

and judgement to practicz sofely, effectively, ond ethically have been

assessed or reossessed and found to be unsotisfactory or o registront
is non-complidnt with a College's QA Progrom, the College may refer
them to the College's QA Committee.

The information provideC here shows how mony registronts who
underwent on octivity or 7ssessment os port of the QA progrom where
the QA Committee deemed thot their proctice is unsotisfoctory ond os

o result have been directed to porticipote in specified continuing
education or remedioticn progrom as of the stort of CY 2022,
understonding thot some coses moy corry over.

%

Regulatory
Excellence

Workshop:7.2%

Peer and Practice

Assessment 1.0:

sA%

Peer and Practice

Assessment 2.0:

6.0%

Self Assessment,

Professiona I

Portfolio and

Continuing

#

Regulatory
Excellence

Workshop: 35L
members

Peer and Practice

Assessment L.O:263
members

Peer and Practice

Assessment 2.0:294
members

Self Assessment,

Professional
Portfolio and

Continuine

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recom mended method or the College own method: Ch oc:e a r: ric::r

lf o College method is used, please specify the rationole for its use:

Context Measure (CM)

CM 2. Total number of reglstrants who participated in the OA Program CY 2022

DOMAIN 6:SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

101 | P age



KD
College of Chiropmctors of Ontario
ljordrc des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

319
Education: tOO%of
members registered
in the General class

of registration

o.1,4%

NR

Additionol comments for clarificotion (if needed)

Education:

Approximately:
Approximately 4892
Members (Members

registered in the
General class of

registration)

7

CM 3. Rate of registrants who were referred to the QA Comrrittee as part of the QA

Program where the QA Committee directed the registrant to undertake remediation in

cY 2022.

102 | P age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
lJordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

Table 3 - Context Measure 4

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

320

:l*

Whot does this informotion tell us? This information provides insight into the

autcome of the College's remedial octivities directed by the QA Committee ond moy
help o College evoluote the effectiveness of its "QA remediotion activities". Without
odditionol context no conclusions can be drown on how successful the QA

remediotion octivities ore, os mony factors moy influence the practice ond

behoviour registronts (continue to) disploy.

%

42.86%

57.14%

#

3

4

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method or the College's own method: ahoose a n ite iil

lf a College method is used, please specify the rotionole for its use:

Context Measure {CMl

CM 4. Outcome of remedial activities as at the end of CY 2022:*+

l. Registrants who demonstrated required knowledge, skills, and judgement following remediation*

ll. Registrants still undertaking remediation (i.e., remediation in progress)

NR
* This number may include registronts who were directed to undertake remediotion in the previous yeor ond completed reassessment in CY 2022.
**This meosure moy include any outcomes from the previous yeor thot were corried over into CY 2022.

Addif.i.)nal cammenls fot cldrification (if needed)

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

103 | P ags



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

Table 4 - Context Measure 5

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

321

Whot does this informotion tell us? This informotion

focilitates tronsparency to the public, registronts ond the
ministry regording the most prevolent themes identified in

formol comploints received ond Registror's lnvestigotions
undertcken by o College.

7

29

0

14

27

0

1,4

t4
0

0

0

LOO%

Registrar lnvestigations
initiated

#

t4

L

4

0

2

3

0

2

2

0

0

0

%

Formal Complaints
recei'red

#

2

27

28

25

5

15

15

4

5

0

2

21,

22

20

4

72

t2
3

5

0

00

727 too%

;tatistical dataiscollectedinaccordancewiththerecommendedmethodortheCollege'sownmethod: i:ilos;a:l11 iicsl
lf a College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its tse:

Cont€xt Measure (CMl

CM 5, Distribution of forma I complaints and Registrar's lnvestigations by theme in CY 2022

Themes

t.

il.

ilt.

lv.

vt.

vil.

vilt.

tx.

X.

xl.

Advertising

Billing and Fees

Communication

Competence / Patient care

lntent to Mislead including Fraud

Professional Conduct & Behaviour

Record keeping

Sexual Abuse

Harassment / Boundary Violations

Unauthorized Practice

Qther <please specify>

Total number of formal complaints and Registrar's lnvestigations**

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

104 | F a9e



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l0ntario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

322

Additional comments for cldrificdtion (if needed)

Formal Complaints

30

25

20

L5

10

5

0

l.Advertising il.BillingandFees Ill.Communication lV.Competence,i V. lntenttoMislead Vl.Professional Vll.Recordkeeping Vlll.sexual Abuse
palient Care including Fraud Conduct &

Behaviour

lX. Harassment /
Boundary
Violations

X. Unauthorized
Practice

Xl. Other <please

specify>

Formal Complaints
A/R

Resistra/s lnvestigation

**The requested stotisticol informotion (number ond distrihution by theme) recognizes thot formdl comploints dnd Registror's tnvestigotions moy
include ollegotions thdt Ioll under multiple themes identified above, therefore when odded together the numberc set out per theme moy not equol
the total number of formal complaints or Reoistra/s lnvestioations.

105lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontarao
[Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March37,2023 323

Registrar lnitiated

4.5

4

3.5

2.5

2

1

0.5

0
t.Advertising ll.BillingandFees lll.Communication lV Competence/ V.lntenltoMislead Vl.Professional Vll.Recordkeeping Vlll.SexualAbuse lX.Harassment/

Patient Care including Fraud ConJuct & Boundary

Behaviour Violations

X. Unauthori?ed
Practice

Xl. other <please

specify>

106 | P age



KD
College of Chiropractors ot Ontario
ljordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Table 5 - Context Measures 5, 7, 8 and 9

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

324

,;l*

Whot does this informotion tell us? The information helps the
public better understand how formol comploints filed with the
College ond Registrar's lnvestigotions ore disposed of or
resolved. Furthermore, it provides tronsporency on key sources
of concern thot ore being brought forword to the College's
lnquiries, Comploints ond Reports Committee.

/o

0

0

82

L7

0

0

99

1,1

8

#

0

0

82

77

0

0

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method or the College's own method: Ch cc$e a r ite:-r.

lf o College method is used, please specify the rutionole for its use:

Context Measure (Cn )

CM 6, Total number offormal complaints that were brought forward to the ICRC in 3Y 2022

CM 7. Total number of ICRC matters brought forward as a result of a Registrar's lnvestigation in CY 2022

CM8, Total number of requests or notifications for appointment ofan investiga:orthrough a Registrar's
lnvestigation brought forward to the ICRC that were approved in CY 2022

CM 9, Ofthe formal complaints and Registrar/s lnvestigations received in CY 2022**:

l. Formal complaints that proceeded to Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR)

ll. Formal complaints that were resolved through ADR

lll. Formal complaints that were disposed of by ICRC

lV. Formal complaints that proceeded to ICRC and are still pending

V. Formal complaints withdrawn by Registrar at the request of a complainant

Vl. Formal complaints that are disposed of by the ICRC as frivolous and vexatious

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

107 | F age



@D
College of €hiropractors of Oniario
LOrdre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

325

ADR

Disposal

Formal Comolaints
Formal Complaints withdrawn bv Resistrar at the request of a corplainant
NR

Registrar's lnvestiqation

# May relote to Registro/s lnvestigotions thot were broughtto tllr lCRc in the previous year'

disposes of as frivolous ond vexqtious ond o referrdl to the Discipine Committee will also be counted in totdl number of comploints disposed oJ by the ICRC.

Additional comments for cl0rificotion (if needed)

Outcomes of Formal Complaints

90

80

70

60

5r0

4A

30

2A

10

0
l. Formal complaints that
p.oceeded to Alternative
Dispute Resolution (ADR)

ll. Formal complaints that
were resolved through AOR

lll. Formal complaints that
were disposed of by ICRC

IV. Formal complailts that V. Formal complaints Vl. Formal complajnts that are Vll. Formal complaints and

proceeded to laRC and are still withdrawn by Regislrar at the disposed of by tre ICBC as Regislrar's lnvestigations that
perding request of a complainant frivolous and vexatious are d;sposed of by the ICRC as

a referral t0 the Discipline
C0mmittee

00vil Formal complaints and Registrar's lnvestigations that are disposed of by the ICRC as

a referral to the Discipline Committee

108 | P age



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UO.dre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontaric

Table 5 - Context Measure 10 326

t.

il.

ilt.

tv.

V.

vt.

vil.

vilt.
tx.

rtising

Billing and Fees

Communication

Competence / Patient Care

lntent to Mislead lncluding Fraud

Professional Conduct & Behaviour

Record Keeping

Sexual Abuse

Harassment / Boundary Violations

0

2

t3
I4
2

L0

4

1

1.

t
2

'1,

0

0

0

7

0

7

0

0

0

0

0

0

3

0

0

1,

0

9

1

1

7

7

0
'1.

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

I*

Takes any other action it
considers appropriate that is

not inconsistent with its

governing legislation,
regulations, or by-laws.

Refers specified

allegations to the

Discipline

Committee

toAgrees
undertaking

Orders a specified

continuing education or

remediation program

lssues a

caution (oral

or written)

Proves advice or

recommendations

# of ICRC Decisions++

Take no
a ction

Context Measur€ (CM)

CM 10. Total number of ICRC decisions in 2022

Distribution of ICRC decisions bv theme in 2022+

Nature of Decision

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recom mended method or the College's own method: {h ccsf i n ilrrl.

lf a College method is used, please specify the rdtionole for its use:

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

'109lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

X. UnauthorizedPractice

Xl. Other <p/eose specify>

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

327
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

above, therefore when added together the numbers set out per theme may not equol the totol number of formal complaints or registro/s investigotions, or decisions.

NR

or Registror investigotion ond could focilitote a diologue with the public obout the approprioteness of on outcome reloted to o porticulor formol comploint.

Additional comments for clorification (if needed)

110lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Oniario
Lordre des chiropraticiens de l'ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023 328

Distribution of ICRC Decisions by Theme

3,6

t4

12

10

8

6

4

2

0 II
l. Advertising

II l. il,1 I lll
lX. Harassment /

Boundary
Violations

ll.BillingandFees lll.Communication lV.Competence/ V.lntenttoMislead Vl.Professional Vll.RecordKeeping Vlll.SexualAbuse
Patient Care lncluding Fraud Conduct &

Behaviour

X. Unauthorized
Practice

Xl. Other <please

specifii>

t Take no action

I proves advice or recommendations

I lssues a caution {oral or written)

t Orders a specified continuing education or remediation program

I Agrees t0 undertaking

I Refers specified allegations to the Discipline Committee

I Takes any other action it considers appropriate that js not inconsistent with its governing legislation, regulations, or by-laws.

111 lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
llordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontaric

Table 7 - Context Measure 11

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

329

What does this int'ormotion tell us? This informotion illustrotes the maximum length of time in which 9 out of 10 formtl
comploints or Registror's investigotions ore being disposed by the College.

The informotion enhances tronsporency obout the timeliness with which o College disposes of formol comploints or
Registror's investigotions. As such, the information provides the public, ministry, ond other stokeholders with infornotion
regording the cpproximdte timelines they con expect for the disposol of o formol comploint filed with, or Registror's

investigotion undertoken by, the College.

Days

139

199

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended rrethod or the College own method: {it $r se ; n itc'l

lf College method is used, pleose specify the rutionole for its use:

Context Measure (cM)

CM 11. 90th Percentile disposal of:

l. A formal complaint in working days in CY 2022

ll. A Registrar's investigation in working days in CY 2022

Disposal

Additionai cornmcnts jor clorifica!:ian {if neede ri)

DOMAIN 6:SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

112lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

Table 8 - Context Measure 12

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

s30

Whot does this informot:on tell us? This informotion illustrotes the moximum length of time in which 9

out of 10 uncontested discipline heorings ond 9 out of 10 contested discipline heorings ore being

disposed.

The informotion enhorces tronsparency obout the timeliness with which o discipline hearing

undertokenbyoCollegeisconcluded. Assuch,theinformotionprovidesthepublic,ministry,ondother
stokeholders with information regording the approximote tlmelines they con expect for the resolution

of o discipline proceedinq undertoken bv the Colleqe.

23r

N/A

Days

Statistical datacollectedinaccordancewiththerecommendedmethodortheCollege'sownmethod: Recommended

lf a College method is used, pledse specify the rotionale for its use:

context Measure (qu)

CM 12. 90th Percentile disposal of:

l. An uncontested discipline hearing in working days in CY 2022

ll. A contested discipline hearing in working days in CY 2022

Disposal

Uncontested Discipline Hearine
Contested Discipline Hearine

Additional coffvtletts Jor clarificcttion (if needed)

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

113lPage



@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fOrdre des Chrropraticiens de l'Ontaric

Table 9 - Context Measure 13

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

331

Whot does this informotion tell us? This informotion facilitotes tronsporency to the public, regis:ronts

and the ministry regording the most prevolent discipline findings where o formol complalnt or
Registrar's lnvestigatton is reJerred to the Discipline Committee by the ICRC.

#

3

0

6

0

0

4

0

0

0

0

4

4

0

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended nrethod orthe College's own method: R eco m m e n d ed

lf College method is used, pleose specify the rationale for its use:

Discipline decisions may have more than one finding by type. There were a total of 7 discipline decisions in2022.

Context Measure (CM)

CM 13. Distribution of Discipline finding by type*

Type

I. Sexual abuse

ll. lncompetence

lll. Fail to maintain Standard

lV. lmproper use of a controlled act

V. Conduct unbecoming

Vl. Dishonourable,disgraceful, unprofessional

Vll. Offenceconviction

Vlll. Contravenecertificaterestrictions

lX. Findingsinanotherjurisdiction

X. Breach of orders and/or undertaking

Xl. Falsifying records

Xll. False or misleading document

Xlll. Contravene relevant Acts

DOMAIN 6:SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

114lPage



@D r;'m
of Chiropraetors of Ontario
des Chiroprsticiens de I'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

332
* The requested stotisticdl information recognizes that on individudl discipline cose moy include multiple findings identified above,
number of dixipline coses.

therefore when odded together the number oJfindings may not equol the total

NR

Additionol comments for clarificotion (if needed)

Disribution of Discipline Decisions by Type
7

6

5

4

3

2

l. Sexual abuse il-

lncompetence
lll. Fail to
maintain
Standard

lV. lmproper use V. Conduct
of a controlled unbecoming

act

vt^

Dishonourable,
disgraceful,

unprofessional

Vll. Offence Vlll. Contravene lX. Findings in
conviction certificate another

restrictions jurisdiction

X. Breach of Xl. Falsifying
orders and/or records
undertaking

Xll. False or
misleading
document

Xlll. Contravene
relevant Acts

115lPage



@) le*; ;::iffi r,:ffi: ?!i?Jt .,,, CCO :PMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

333
Table 10 - Context Measure 14

V/hot does this informotion tetl us? This informatnn witl help strengthen tronspdrency on the \tpe of
actions taken to protect the public through decisions rendered by the Discipline Committee. lt is imWrtant

to note thot no conclusions can be drown on the dppropridteness of the discipline decisions without

knowing intimote detoils of eoch case including the rotionole behind the decision'

needed)Additio no I co m me nts ;for clurlfication ( il

A discipline decision may have multiple orders

lzl. Revocation

5ll. Suspension

of Registration lslll. Terms, conditions and Limitations on a Certificate

7lV. Reprimand

5V. Undertaking

not equol the total number of discipline cases.

Revocation
Suspension

Terms, Conditions and Limitations

Reprimand

Undertaking

above, therefore when odded together the numbers set out for findings and orders may
discipline case moy include multiple findings identified* The requested stotisticol information recognizes thot on individual

College orvn method: Cl-:ccse *ti jiel"r
Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method or the

lf a Cottege method is used, please specify the rotionale for its use:

Context Measure (CIM)

CM 14. Distribution of Discipline orders by type*

Type l*

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

116 | F age



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
fordre des Chiropraticiens de fontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 3L, 2023 334

Distribution of Discipline Decisions by Type
8

7

6

4

2

0

l. Revocation ll. Suspension lll. Terms, Conditions and Limitations on s
Certificate of Registration

lV. Reprimand V- Undertakine

117lPage



KD
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiroptaticiens de l'Ontario CCO CPMF Reporting Tool - March 31, 2023

Glossary

Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR): Means mediation, conciliation, negotiation, or any other means of facilitating the resolution of issues in dispute'

Return toi:lable !

Contested Discipline Hearing: ln a contested hearing, the College and registrant disagree on some or all ofthe allegations, penalty and/or costs'

Return to: Table 8

both liability and penalty decisions, where relevant).

Return to: Table 5, Table 7, Table 8

complaint inquiries and other interactions with the College that do not result in a formally submitted complaint'

Return to: Table 4, Table 5

request of the complainant, where the Registrar believed that the withdrawal was in the public interest.

Return to: Table 5

NR: Non-reportable: Results are not shown due to < 5 cases (for both # and %). This may include 0 reported cases'

Return to: Teble L Table 2, Table 3, Table 4' Table 5. Table 6, Table 9' Table 10

must inform the ICRC of the appointment within five days.

118 | P age

335



@D
College of Chiropractors o{ Ontario
Uordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

CCO CPMF Reporting Tool- March 31, 2023

Return to: Table 4. Table 5

certificate which terminates the registrant's registration with the College and therefore their ability to practice the profession.

Return to: Table 10

Suspensionl A suspension of a registrant's Certificate of Registration occurs for a set period of time duringwhich the registrant is not permitted to:

. Hold themselves out as a person qualified to practice the profession in Ontario, including using restricted titles (e.g., doctor, nurse),

. Practice the profession in Ontario, or

. Perform controlled acts restricted to the profession under the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991.

Return to: Table 10

Reprimand: A reprimand is where a registrant is required to attend publicly before a discipline panel of the College to hear the concerns that the panel has with their practice.

Return to: Table 10

website.

Return to: Table L0

College and the respondent may make a joint submission on penalty and costs or the College may make submissions which are uncontested by the Respondent.

Return to:Table 8

Undertaking: ls a written promise from a registrant that they will carry out certain activities or meet specified conditions requested by the College committee.

Return to: Table 10

336

119lPage



CPMF Action Plon - November 25, 2027

ITEM 4.1.21
Key Performance lndicators
Recommended to Council: November 25,2O2t

Registration
o Applications for registration that do not require a referral to the Registration Committee

are processed within L0 business days of receipt of a completed application
. Applications for registration that require a referral to the Registration Committee are

responded to within 60 days. Often, application to the Registration Committee will

require review by the Committee and further requirements from the applicant

lnquiries, Complaints and Reports
o The lnquiries, Complaints and Reports (lCR) Committee's review of inquiries, complaints

and reports meets or exceeds the timeline requirements of the Regulated Heqlth

Professions Act, 199L

o The majority of the ICR Committee decisions are upheld by the Health Professions

Appeal and review Board (HPARB)

Quality Assurance
e 5 - tO% of members registered in the General class of registration undergo a peer and

practice assessment everY Year
r Close to L00% of members registered in the General class of registration for the entire

CE cycle complete the self assessment and continuing education requirements every

two years

Review of Standards of Practice, Policies and Guidelines
o All CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines are reviewed by their respective

committee on an annual basis, or as required by emerging regulatory issues

337



338|TEM 4-1.22

college of chiropractors of ontario's DEI Audit and Recommendations

APPROVED BY COUNCIT -APRII 20'2022

The College performance Measurement Framework (CPMF) has included areas of reporting that

reference Diversity, Equity and lnclusion (DEl). As a result, CCO has undertaken an audit of current DEI

practices to identify gaps and make recommendations for short- and long-term goals for DEl.

There are three areas of CPMF reporting that relate to DEI

1. Ongoing training provided to Council and committee members informed by evolving public

expectations including Diversity, Equity and lnclusion.

2. Council code of conduct and conflict of interest policies that reflects emerging initiatives (e.g

Diversity, EquitY and lnclusion).

3. The College has a Diversity, Equity and lnclusion Plan (DEl) plan. The DEI plan is reflected in

Council's strategic planning activities and appropriately resource.d within the organization to

support relevant operational initiatives (e.g. DEI training for staff). The College conducts Equity

lmpact Assessments to ensure that decisions are fair and that a policy, or program, or process is

not discriminatorY.

As a result of the new reporting requirements, CCO is in the process of developing a DEI plan. To do

that, we have examined the policies, procedures, and practices of CCO currently, to determine where

we have strengths, where we have weaknesses and areas that are on the right trackyet require further

development.

ln the section below, we have identified some ways in which DEI has been incorporated. We believe it is

important to highlight some of the initiatives and efforts that CCO has already undertaken, and which

reflect the commitment of CCO towards diversity, equity and inclusion'

Guideline G-001: Communication with Patients (February 6, 2018)

r Members are to be sensitive to those with language difficulties and to provide an interpreter,

when necessarY

r Members are to talk directly to a patient when working with an interpreter or any support staff

Guideline G-009: Code of Ethics {February 26,2O2O - came into effect April t5,2O2Ol

o Chiropractors shall render care to those who seek it, without discrimination on the basis of race,

ancestry, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender

identity, gender expression, age, marital status, family status, socio-economic status or disability

7
CCO - DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCIL APRIL 20,2022



339
Guideline G-011: Accommodation of Human Rights and Disabilities (September 15, 20tG)

o To encourage members to foster an environment in which the rights, autonomy, dignity, and
diversity of all patients are respected;

o To outline members' obligations under the ontario Human Rights Code, L990, (the Code) and
Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2005 (AODA) to:

o provide health care services without discrimination; and
o accommodate patients who may face barriers to accessing care

Policy P-057: Accessibility Policy (November gO,2OL7l

r The College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO) is committed to providing inclusive and
responsive services, in accordance with the Ontario Human Rights Code, 1990, the Accessibility
for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2004, that accommodates applicants, members of CCO and
members of the public with disabilities in accessing CCO services.

Competencies for Counciland Committee Members (November 25,2D2tl
o The experience and background of Council and committee members should complement each

other and represent the diversity of practice in Ontario.
r Council and committee members should demonstrate a commitment to diversity and inclusion

Committee Specific DEI Efforts
o The newly developed Risk Assessment Framework for the ICRC is based on the principle of

transparency, fairness, accountability.
r As part of the Return to Practice, following a discipline suspension, members can select a

mentor of their choosing.

Partnership of Care - Patient's Charter of Rights and Responsibilities (April26,2ot7l
r Available in nine (9) languages.

Peer Assessor Workshop, 2022
o Each year, CCO hosts a Peer Assessor Workshop whereby assessors are briefed on new and/or

updated standards, policies, and guidelines, as well as learn about current CCO initiatives.
o Durin8 the last workshop, which was held on January 29,2022, assessors were briefly

introduced to DEI in relation to white privilege and race. Also, assessors were notified of the
requirements made during a recent discipline hearing. As soon as the member is to return to
practice, they are to enter a mentoring program approved of by the Registrar with a CCO
member in good standing who has been approved of in advance by the Registrar. The mentor
will review and evaluate the member's practice and billings and provide written reports to the
Registrar at a frequency determined by the Registrar.

Self-Assessment 2.0
I The Quality Assurance Committee is currently working on a new self-assessment tool for its

professional members, set to be launched at the beginning of the next CE cycle. With this
tool, members will be asked to reflect on what steps they have taken and plan to take to
incorporate DEI training as part of their continued education.

Training/Consultations
. CCO's staff have attended DEI workshops hosted by CNAR, HpRO and CCA

2CCO - DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCILAPRIL 20,2OZ2



340

a Staff also attended in-house fire training to ensure that in the event of a fire, staff understood

their fire plan obligations to those with various accessibility/mobility issues.

Office Design
r CCO consulted with a third-party to ensure its current premises is physically accessible to

those requiring barrier free environments.

After completing an audit of CCO's current DEI efforts, and conducted interviews, we have created a

plan inclusive of Short-term and Longer-term recommendations.

Short-term (0-6 months)

3

STANDARDS,

POLICIES, AND

GUIDELINES

Language r Use language that is "people first" (e.g. instead of using

the term "an autistic person", use the term "person with

autism")
o Use language that is strengths-based and focuses on

one's ability rather than their disability
o Remove cisgender pronouns (e'g. "he/she") and replace

with nonbinary pronou ns (e.9. "thev/them)

Handouts/p ri ntouts Those with low vision:
e Option for larger font documents
. Option to have documents available in formats that are

conducive to audio conversion
. Option for high contrast slides for committee meeting

Committees r Conduct a yearly review of standards, policies, and

guidelines and ensure they are adhering to aspects

rtaini to DEI

TRAINING r Ask Council, Committee Members, and staff what they

would like to receive with respect to DEI training.

o Provide ongoing training for Council, Committee

Mem and staff on various ics related to DEl.

DEICOMMITTEE . Establish a committee of well-informed individuals to
guide Council and members regarding issues related to

DEI.

r lnclude on this committee, external parties with lived

experien an lnd ous consultant

AWARENESS r Start all council meetings with a land acknowledgement.

o Post a land acknowledgement on the CCO website.

o Post an annual DEI Calendar in the CCO Offices'

o Acknowledge diversity in our workplace by celebrating

international d of recognition duri staff meetings

CCO - DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCIL APRIL 20,2022



341

o lnclude the Canadian Native Flag and LGBTQ+ Flag
alongside the Canadian or Ontario Flag, if/when they are
used. Iilt *

WRITTEN

COMMUNICATION
r Review the Conflict of lnterest and Code of Conduct with

a DEI lens.
o Remove cisgender pronouns (e.g. "he/she") and replace

with nonbinary pronouns (e.g. "they/them")
o Remove traditional marriage titles (Ms./ Mr./ Miss) when

referring to Public Council Member.
o Expand Partnership of Care document to reference

expectation of DEl.

COUNCIL and
COMMITTEE

MEMBER

o Provide a recommendation to the public appointments
office to consider appointing a French speaking public
member to Council.

r lnclude the following general direction to the Discipline
Committee Chair:
r When selecting panels for discipline hearings, the

Discipline Committee Chair is encouraged to
consider the skills and abilities of all potential panel
members and to reflect CCO's commitment to
Diversity, Equity and lnclusion wherever practicable.
All adjudicators must continue to meet the core
requirements of impartiality, independence and
integrity.

r lnclude an optional, open ended question on applications,
for non-council committee members to answer:
o "CCO is committed to Diversity, Equity and lnclusion

- please include any information you feel
comfortable disclosing that would be relevant to
CCO's consideration of your application".

r lnclude a mandatory question on applications for non-
council committee members to answer:
o "Are you bilingual in both of Canada's Official

Languages (English and French)?"

4CCO - DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCILAPRIL 20,2022



MEETINGS/

HEARINGS

Those with low hearing:
r Provide closed captioning during meetings
. option for hearings to be held in French
o Option for interpretation (e.g. another language, ASL)

WEBSITE Those with low vision:
o Option to view the website in high contrast
o Option to convert text into audio

Those with cognitive disabilities:

r Use language that can be understood by all members of the public

AWARENESS o Create a reporting mechanism so CCO is aware of DEI initiatives undertaken
by Members within their community.

342
[ong-term {6-12 months}

Other DEI suggestions to consider:
o Provide one paid working day per year for each staff member to spend volunteering at a charity

of their choice,
o Organize a staff outing to prepare and serve a meal at Covenant House, sort food at Daily Bread

Food Bank, etc.1

Anuli Ausbeth-Aiaeu. CCO Public Council Member. Chair of Patient Relations. and Member of the ICRC

Anuli Ausbeth-Ajagu has a varied and fascinating career - she is a certified Human Resource Leader,

Professor and Author, an Ordained Minister, among many other things. She founded the organization,

Youth and Gender Network (YGN), that serves as a platform for empowerment, inspiration, advocacy

and development of womenfolk and youths in Nigeria. YGN has organized several national youth

summits as part of its effort to developing the capacity of the future leaders and promoting peaceful

coexistence and nation building. YGN has consistently made remarkable changes in the Nigerian nation

as bridge builders, positive change agents, and development advocates. As an author, Anuli promotes

the rights of African woman, and highlights the oppression and discrimination that exists ih Nigeria.

Since its publication, Anuli's book continues to be a resource in numerous schools. Anuli is starting her

Doctorate of Business Administration at Royal Roads University, where she hopes to research black-

owned business to determine whether there are systemic challenges for racial minorities to own a

successful business in Canada. The focus of her doctorate is on the gaps to success and the cause of
those gaps and hergoal isto create qualitative Canadian research that can be leveraged in the future by

a variety of users.

Markus de Domenico - CCO Public Council Member and Member of the Discipline Committee

Markus de Domenico has been a Trustee with the Toronto Catholic District School Board (TCDSB) since

2018. During his time as Trustee, the Board implemented the raising of the Pride flag and Pride Month,

for the first time in June 2021. As one of the largest publicly funded Catholic school boards, TCDSB

asked themselves, "What is in the best interest of the students?" when it comes to LGBTQ2S+ issues.

1 ln some instances, there is an associated cost to an event like this.

5CCO. DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCILAPRIL 20,2022



343

Their answer was to be welcoming and acceptingof oll its members, as well as providing education
about thc LGBTQ2S r community. For this reason, the Board of Trustees agreed Lhat il. was el.lrically and

morally necessary for the Board to accept the human rights of all people, while still acknowledging
everyone's personal experience with God.

Jarrod Goldin - CCO Council Member and Chair of the Advertising Committee

Dr. Jarrod Goldin spearheaded CMCC's satellite clinic at Anishnawbe Health Toronto (AHT). Although

chiropractic services are no longer available at AHT, the teachings and practices experienced by Dr.

Goldin are still of great meaning to him today. He has developed an appreciation for different kinds of
medicine and embraces the integration of one's cultural needs with respect to chiropractic care.

Through AHT and his personal experiences as a South African of Jewish descent, Dr. Goldin believes that
cultural awareness is important for any member of the profession. He urges each member to be aware

that one's history may have played a role in their current circumstance. He also asks members to
consider familiarizing themselves with marginalized groups within their community and look for ways to
serve them better. One of his key messages to members is for them to go out into the community and

SERVE - to hold outreaches, consider their fee structure for those who would otherwise not be able to
afford chiropractic care, etc.

Robvn Gravelle - CCO Council Treasurer, and Chair of both the Fitness to Practise Committee and the
Qualitv Assurance Committee.

Robyn Gravelle's background academically is in Health Policy where she studied social determinants of
health, and healthcare inequality and inequities related to access to perinatal care for refugee women. A

large part of her career has been in social services (public housing specifically) where she has worked

with a diverse group of individuals from visible minority communities. Additionally, she has been

involved in employer-led initiatives for women in leadership programs, lndigenous engagement

strategies and inclusive spaces through a DEI employer group. Robyn believes that there must be

meaningful engagement in order to develop a successful DEI program and she feels that involving

individuals with lived experience is one of the ways to do that.

Zoe Kariunas - CCO Public Council Member and Member of the Qualitv Assurance Committee

As a professional in developmental services currently with Developmental Services Ontario Toronto
Region as a Housing Navigator supporting individuals and families to access services and resources, Zoe

Kariunas shared with us insights regarding diversity, equity and inclusion for people with varying
abilities. She brought to light the intersectionality of socioeconomics, race, and gender identity of
people with invisible disabilities which often results in marginalization. When discussing accessibility,
Zoe Kariunas highlighted that many people are able to create accommodations for those with visible
disabilities, yet accommodations those with invisible disabilities are often missed. She encourages one
to embrace all levels of ability and think to oneself how all people can be accommodated in order to
meaningfully contribute from lived experiences.

6CCO - DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCIL APRIL 20,2022



344

Robert MacKav - Former CCO Council President and Current Member of the Discipline Committee

Robert MacKay spent years advocating for people living with HIV during his time with HIV & AIDS Legal

Clinic Ontario (HALCO), a charitable non-profit community-based legal clinic that provides free legal

assistance to people living with HIV/AIDS. Here, he provided support to numerous people who found

themselves in discriminatory situations because of their medical diagnosis. As a guest lecturer with
HALCO, Robert's role was to provide information sessions to various groups where he was able to
educate people on what he has coined, the Trilogy of Long-Term Survival with HlV. His lectures were

so well received that he was invited to be a guest lecturer for most of Ontario AIDS Network's (OAN)

30+ member agencies, and for CATIE, a national health information organization.

Dennis Mizel - CCO Council President and Member of the Discipline and Fitness to Practise

Committees.

Quest Community Health Centre's Volunteer Chiropractic Program was developed in 2013, which was

when Dr. Mizel began volunteering for this initiative. The program provides access to a range of health

care providers which patients could otherwise not afford while waiting for access to OHIP coverage.

This program has proven especially helpful for people with active pain, who have experienced trauma or
addiction, and/or who have specialized mental health needs. Through this service, the volunteer
chiropractic team members complete an assessment and develop individualized care plans. Quest CHC

normalizes free services for clients. Dr. Mizel believes that his time working with Quest CHC's clients has

taught him the importance of communication and trust, and compassion, empathy and understanding,

between a patient and a practitioner.

Kellv Malcolm - Staff Member and lnvestieator

ln the fall of 202'J., Kelly Malcolm launched the Toronto Chapter of The Fresh Start Project (TFSP). TFSP

partners with local shelters to identify families that need support and works mostly with single women

and their children. The purpose of TFSP is to help families make an easier transition from a shelter to
their own apartment, feeling supported by their community, by providing basic household and personal

items, to create a place that feels like home. Each client requests items that would help give them the

foundation to make their day-to-day living (and the first couple months in their new home) easier,

helping ease the financial burden and stress levels. This is only possible with a large team of volunteers

who donate items and/or their time each month. Kelly feels this work enables the team to appreciate

the strength, determination, and persistence of these women who, despite adversity and barriers, work
to make a better life for themselves and their children.

7CCO. DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCILAPRIL 20,2022



345

lndigenous awareness and cultural
sensitivity

Bear Standing Tall and Association
httos : //www. bea rsta nd i n gta I l. com /
o Toronto-based company dedicated to "creating bridge

between lndigenous and Non-lndigenous nations"
Native Canadian Centre of Toronto
https://ncct.on.cal
r Toronto-based organization that hosts a variety of

workshops and activities based on lndigenous teachings
and traditions

LGBTQ2S+ awareness and
educational

Sherbourne Health
https://sherbo u rne.on.cal
o Toronto-based health care clinic that serves many

groups, including LGBTQ2S+ communitv
Mr. Robert MacKay
o With further guidance from CCO regarding its needs, Mr.

MacKay has offered to provide CCO with contacts of
those may be able to conduct seminars based on
LGBTQ2S+ issues, as well as other topics surrounding DEI

Abilities Awareness Abilities Centre
LEAD Canada'" I Abilities Centre Whitbv
o An internationally renowned, innovative community hub

that offers a program, LEAD (Leading Equitable and
Accessible Delivery) to help organizations understand
and embrace inclusion and accessibility into strategic
planning, daily operations, programming, and
organizational culture

Below is a list of potential organizations that may provide training to Council, committee members
and Staff to further their knowledge of specific DEI issues.

It might also be worth reaching out to other Colleges who are further along in their DEljourney (i.e.
College of Nurses of Ontario) and who may be able to provide recommendations for DEI Consultants
who are familiar with the world of Health Regulators.

8CCO - DEI PLAN, APROVED BY COUNCILAPRIL 20,2022



3110123,8:26 AM Constant Contact

394
Co{lege nf ShinopratrtCIrs of Sntsris
H$rdre des Ghirspraticien$ de l'Ontanio

|TEM 4.1.24

Proposed Amendments to Registration Regulation:
Creation of Emergency C/ass of Registration ' February
2& 2023

On February 24,2023, CCO Council approved circulation for feedback of
proposed amendments to Regulation L37/L1: Registration to create an
Emergency class of registration. Amendments to the Regulated Health
Professions Act, 7997 require all colleges to create an Emergency class of
registration, in accordance wilh Ontario Regulation 508/22: Registation
AeguiremenE.

Pursuant to section 95(1.4) of the Health Professions Procedural Code under
the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1997, regulations must be circulated to
members at least 60 days before they are approved by Council'

CCO's draft regulation is generally consistent with the regulations of other
regulators, posted on the Ontario Government's Regulatorv-Rcgl5gy'

Please review the following documents and provide any feedback by April 28'
2O23t 9 am.

. Proposed Amendments to Regulation 137l11r Registration with rationale

. ComplgEe-Regulation 137111: Registration with re@

. Survey_lor Eeedbaek

CCO Council will review all feedback from stakeholders, including members, as
part of its deliberations before submitting the regulation to the Ministry of
Health for processing. Thank you for participating in the self regulation of the
chiropractic profession in Ontario.

College of Chiropraclors of Ontario I 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Tcronlo, ON M4Y 087 Canada

U nsu bsct"i be { reci piglls-gmail}

Upigle_Prcilg I Constant ContaEl Dale-Nqtice

Sent by cco,info@cco.on.ca powered by

Zh Constont
\:7 contqct
Try email marketing for free today:

hftps:i/app.constantcontact.com/pages/campaigns/email-details/details/activity/ee7d2806-2779-4d38-91c3-893a10332b6b 1t1



395

PRoposeo Enaencerucv Gmss or RrclsrRATloN:
Dnerr AruenorueNTs ro Onrlnlo Ree ulelorl 1 37l11 Uruoen rue GHlRoPRAcrlc Act, 1991

AppRoveo sv GouNct L FoR DrsrnleurloN AND Freoeecx: Feenuenv 24, 2023

Rationale for Proposed Provision

An emergency class of registration is being
proposed in accordance with the Pandemic
and Emergency Preparedness Act, 2022

requirements and amendments to Regulation

508/22: Registration Requirements undet the
Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991.

It is not the intention that the Emergency
class of registration be available at all times.

The regulation specifies emergency
circumstances that will cause the class to be

open for issuance and renewal of emergency
certificates of registration

Proposed Provision (changes
underlined)

The following are prescribed
as classes ofcertificate of
registration:

1. General.
2. Temporary.
3. Inactive.
4. Retired.
5. Emergency

The Council may declare that emergency
circumstances exist such that it is in the
nublic interest to issue certificates of
registration in the emergencv class. ln
making this determination. the Council
may take into account all of the relevant

circumstances includins the presence of a
significant intemrption in the processing

of applications for registration for other

classes such that there is a lenethy delay

in their being reeistered and any requests

bv the Minister to initiate registrations
under the Emergency class.

Current Provision

The following are prescribed
as classes of certificate of
registration:

1. General.
2. Temporary
3. Inactive.
4. Retired.

New

Section

t

16.1(1)

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Proposed Emergency Class of Registratior:
Draft Amendments to Ontario Regulation '37111 Under the Chiropractic Act, 1991
February 24,2023

2

396
Registration requirements that are applicable
for all classes ofregistration are applicable to
an Emergency class of registration (see
sections 3,4, and 5 of the Registration
Regulation).

Graduation from an accredited chiropractic
education program or a chiropractic
education program considered equivalent by
the Council is a non-exemptible requirement
for regisffation in any class of registration,
including the Emergency class.

Depending on the nature and effect of the
emergency (e.g., cancellation of entry-to-
practice examinations), applicants for an
Emergency class of registration must satisfy
the Registration Committee that they are
competent to practise, which may include
competing modified examinations and/or a
refresher course.

The following are requirements for an
Emergency certificate of registration:

l. Emergency circumstances must exist
as dec.criherl in cenfi onl6'.I( I \ qhnrre

2. The applicant must have satisfied the
reqistration req uirements in sections
3.4. 5. 6(1). 6(3) and 6(4) of this
regulation. The educational
requirement in subsection 6(1) is non-
exemptible.

3. The applicant must submit a criminal
record check. in accordance with CCO
policy.

4. The applicant must complete
examination requirements andlor a
refresher course approved by the
Registration Committee or otherwise
satisfu'the Resistration that the
member is competent to practise.

New1 6 I (2)

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Terms, conditions and limitations for an

Emergency certificate of registration are

consistent with similar past supervised
classes of registration, such as the General
(Provisional) class of registration.

Terms, conditions and limitations for an
Emergency class of registration, include
requirements to protect the public interest,
such as: only practising within the scope of
practice of an emergency certificate,
representation and use of title that indicates
an Emergency class of registration, and only
practising under the supervision of a member
in the General class of registration who
meets the listed requirements.

Every certificate of registration in the
emergency class of reeistration is subject
to the following terms. conditions and
limitations:

1. The member shall practise the
profession onlv within the scope of
practice of the Emergency
certificate.

2. The member shall at all times
when providing chiropractic
services identif,i themselves as

member reeistered in the
Emergency class of registration.
only authorized to practise under
supervision.

3. The member shall be restricted to
the title Chiropractor (Emergency
Class).

4. The rnember shall only practise the
profession while under the direct
supervision of a member who:

a. Holds a General certificate
of registration

b. Is current activelv
providing direct patient
care to patients

New16. l(3)

Proposed Emergency Class of Registration:
Draft Amendments to Ontario Regulation 137111 Under the Chiropractic Act, 1991
February 24,2023

397
3

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Pr.oposed Emergency Class of Registration:
Drait Amendments to Ontario Regulation 137111 Under the Ghiropractic Act, 1991

February 24,2023
398 4:

f.

c. Is in gopd standing with

d-

e.

cco

4

@ College of Chinrpractors of Ontario



399
5

Proposed Emergency Class of Registration:
Drait Amendments to Ontario Regulation 137111 Under the Chiropractic Act, 1991

February 24,2023

The legislation allows for up to a one year

expiration period. Six months is an

appropriate length of time to allow for
planning and adjustments based on the nature

of the emergency. Three months after the
declaration that the emergency has ended

provides sufficient time to complete the

requirements for a General certificate of
registration.

An emergency certificate of registration
expires:

1. Unless stated otherwise on the

certificate. six months after it is
issued. unless it is renerved.

2. Unless stated othgrwise on the

certificate. a renewed certificate
exoires six months after it is
renewed" unless it is renewed
again.

3, Despite subsections 1 and 2 above.

an emergency certificate expires
on the earlier of the any of the
following:

&. Three months after the date

the Council declares that
the emergency
circumstances in which it
is in the interest of the
nublic to issue and renew
emergency certificates of
resistration have ended.

b. The date the member is

issued a General certificate
of registration.

New6.I 1(4)

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



This section provides the requirements for a
member in the Emergency class of
registration tc apply and be issued a General
certificate of registration.

A member who holds a certificate of
registration in the emergency class of
registration may be issued a certifigate of
registration in the General class of
registration if the member satisfies the'
requirements for a General class
certificate of registration' including
meeting any requiremegrts in Resulation.
By-law and Policy and pavine all
applicable fees. and completes an
application for resistration in the General
class that is apJroved by the Registrar.

New16.1(s)

Proposed Emergency Class of Registration:
Draft Amendments to Ontario Regulation 137111 Under the Chiropractic Act, 1991
February 24,2023 400

6

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Draft Amendments to Regulatio n t37 /LL: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration /
Version Date: Februa ry 24, 2023

ONTARIO REGULATION 1 37 111: REGISTRATION
UNDER THE CH'ROPRACTIC ACT, 1991
Effective Date: May 6, 2011.
Proposed Amendments Approved bv Gouncil for Circulation and Feedback:
Februarv 24. 2023 (indicated in underline)

Note to readers: In the event of any inconsistency between this document and the legislation that

affects chiropractic practice, the legislation governs.

GeNeRnr

Classes of certificate

1. The following are prescribed as classes of certificate of registration:

1. General.
2. Temporary.
3. Inactive.
4. Retired. O. Reg. l37ll1, s. 7.

5. Emergency

Application

A person shall apply for a certificate of registration by submitting a completed

application in the provided form together with the applicable fees under the by-laws
O. Reg. l37lIl, s. 2.

Registration requiremenls, all classes

3. The following are registration requirements for a certificate of registration of any class:

1. Ifthe applicant has previously been or is registered or licensed to practise another

health profession in Ontario, or chiropractic or another health profession in any other
jurisdiction, the applicant must provide evidence that there has been no finding of, and

that there is no current investigation or proceeding involving an allegation of,
professional misconduct, incompetence or incapacity or similar conduct.

2. The applicant must be able to speak and write either English or French with
reasonable fluency.

3. The applicant must be a Canadian citizen or a permanent resident of Canada or be

authorized under the Immigration and Refugee Protection Act (Canada) to engage in
the practice of the profession.

4. The applicant's past and present conduct must afford reasonable grounds for belief
that the applicant,

401

2

1



Draft Amendments to Regulation 1,37 /LL: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration
Version Date: February 24,2023

is mentally and physically competent to practise chiropractic,

will practise chiropractic with decency, integrity, honesty and in accordance
with the law,

has suffrcient knowledge, skill and judgment to engage in chiropractic, and

will display professional behaviour. O. Reg. I37l1I, s.3,

Requirement to provide details

Every applicant is required to provide the College with details of the following with
respect to the applicant that occur or arise after the applicant has submitted his or her
application, and if the applicant becomes a member, it is a condition of the member's
certificate of registration that he or she provide such details:

1. A finding of professional misconduct, incompetence or incapacity or similar finding in
Ontario in relation to another health profession or in any other jurisdiction in which
the applicant is registered or licensed to practise chiropractic or another health
profession.

2. An investigation or proceeding for professional misconduct, incompetence or
incapacity or similor finding in Ontario in relation to another health profession or in
any other jurisdiction in which the applicant is regist€red or licensed to practise
chiropractic or another health profession.

3. A finding of guilt in relation to any offence. O. Reg. l37lll, s. 4.

Revocation for false and misleading statements

5 The Registrar may revoke the member's certificate of registration if the member made a
false or misleading statement in his or her application for registration or on any form
related to his or her renewal or reinstatement of registration. O. Reg. l37lll, s. 5.

Geruennl CeRrtncRtes

Additional requi rements, general certificate

6. The following are additional registration requirements for a general certificate of
registration:

1. The applicant must have successfully completed the requirements for graduation from
either a chiropractic education program that is accredited or recognized by the Council
on Chiropractic Education (Canada) or a chiropractic education program considered

402

1.

ii.

iii

iv

4

2



403Draft Amendments to Regulation 137 /Lt: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration

Version Date: Februa ry 24,2O23

equivalent by the Council to such a program. Subject to section 7, this requirement rs

non-exemptible.

2. Before applying for the certificate, the applicant must have passed,

a legislation examination set by the Council or set by another person or body and

accepted by the Council as sufftciently testing the applicant's knowledge of
relevant legislation, and

the examinations set by the Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board or set by
another person or association ofpersons and accepted by the Council as

equivalent to the examinations set by the Board.

3. The applicant must complete a refresher course approved by the Registration
Committee or otherwise satisfy the Registration Committee that he or she is currently
competent to practise if the applicant applies for registration more than two years after
completing the education program required under paragraphl.

4. The applicant must provide evidence satisfactory to the Registrar that, as of the
anticipated date for the issuance of his or her certificate of registration, the applicant,

i. will have professional liability insurance in the amount and in the form as

required by the by-laws, or

ii. will belong to an association that is specified in the by-laws as providing the
member with personal protection against professional liability. O. Reg. I37lII,
s. 6.

Labour mobility, general certificate

(1) Where section 22.18 of the Health Professions Procedural Code applies to an

applicant the requirements of paragraph 1, subparagraph2 ii and paragraph
3 of section 6 are deemed to have been met by the applicant. O. Reg. l37lII, s. 7
( 1).

(2) Despite subsection (1), it is a non-exemptible registration requirement that an

applicant referred to in subsection (1) provide one or more certificates or letters or
other evidence satisfactory to the Registrar or a panel of the Registration
Committee establishing that the applicant is in good standing as a chiropractor in
every jurisdiction where the applicant holds an out-of-province certificate.
O. Reg. 137/ll, s.7 (2).

(3) An applicant referred to in subsection (1) is deemed to have met the requirements
of paragraph 2 of section 3 where the requirements for the issuance of the
applicant' s out-of-province certifi cate of registration included language

11.

7

3



404

8.

Draft Amendments to Regulation 137 /1.L: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration

Version Date: February 24,2023

proficiency requirements equivalent to those required by that paragraph. O. Reg.
l37l1l, s. 7 (3).

(4) Despite subsection (1), an applicant is not deemed to have met a requirement if
that requirement is described in subsection22.18 (3) of the Health Professions
Procedural Code. O. Reg. l37lll, s. 7 (a).

lssuance of general certificate of registration to retired or inactive member

(l) The following rules apply where a member who holds a retired or inactive
certificate of registration wishes to be issued a general certificate of registration:

An application must be made to the Registrar.

The member shall pay the applicable fee for a general certificate of
registration.

A member who has held an inactive or retired certificate of registration for
more than two consecutive years preceding his or her application for a
general certificate of registration shall only be entitled to have a general

certificate of registration issued if he or she satisfies the Registration
Committee that he or she is currently competent to practise.

4. The member shall nbt resume active practice until his or her application
for issuance ofa general certificate ofregistration has been approved by
the Registration Committee. O. Reg. 137111, s. 8 (1).

(2) Where a momber who lvishos to bo issued a general certificate of
registration pursuant to subsection (1) was issued his or her inactive or
retired certificate ofregistration pursuant to section 13 or 16, the reference
to "iRactive or retired certificate ofregistration" in paragraph 3 of
subsection (1) shall be a reference to any out-of-province certificate that
was, at the time he or she was issued their inactive or retired certificate of
registration, considered by the Registration Committee to be substantially
equivalent to an inactive or retired certificate of registration. O. Reg.

l37lll, s. 8 (2).

TemponRnY CERTTFTcATES

Additional requirements, temporary certificate

1

2

J

9 The following are additional registration requirements for a temporary certificate ot
registration:

1. The applicant must have successfully completed the requirements for graduation from
either a chiropractic education program that is accredited or recognized by the Council

4



Draft Amendments to Regulation I37 /71: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration

Version Date: Februa ry 24,2023

on Chiropractic Education (Canada) or a chiropractic education program considered
equivalent by the Council to such a program. This requirement is non-exemptible.

2. The applicant must be registered or licensed to practise chiropractic in another
jurisdiction

3. The applicant must provide evidence satisfactory to the Registrar that, as of the
anticipated date for the issuance of his or her certificate of registration, the applicant,

i. will have professional liability insurance in the amount and in the form as

required by the by-laws, or

ii. will belong to an association that is specifiod in the by-laws as providing the
member with personal protection against professional liability. O. Reg.

L37lll, s.9.

Temporary certificate, expiry

10. A temporary certificate of registration expires on the earliest of the following:

l. The expiry date set out on the certificate.

2. Twelve weeks after the date the temporary certificate of registration was issued.

3. If the temporary certificate of registration was issued for a temporary appointment or
exchange program, the date of termination of the temporary appointment or exchange
program for which it was issued. O. Reg. 137111, s. 10.

lrulcrve GeRrrnceres

Additional requ irements, i nactive certificate

11 The following are additional registration requirements for an inactive certificate of
registration:

1. The applicant must hold, or be eligible to hold, a general certificate of registration

2. The applicant must not be in default of any fee, fine or other amount owed to the

College or in default in providing any information to the College.

3. The applicant must give a written undertaking to the College not to engage in
chiropractic practice in Ontario and not to submit accounts to the Workplace Safety
and Insurance Board or any otherthird party payer in respect ofchiropractic services.

O. Reg. l37lLI,s.ll.

405

5



406Draft Amendments to Regulation L37 /'J,t: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration
Verslon Date: February 24,2O23

Conditionsn inactive certificate

12. The following are conditions of an inactive certificate of registration

1. The member shall not engage in chiropractic practice in Ontario.

2. The member shall not submit an account to the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board
or any other third party payer in respect of a chiropractic service. O. Reg. l37lll,
s. 12.

Labour mobility, inactive eertificate

13. Where an applicant holds an out-of-province certificate which, in the opinion of the
Registration Committee, is substantially equivalent to an inactive certificate of
registration, the requirement of paragraph 1 of section 11 is deemed to have been met by
the applicant if he or she provides one or rnore certificates or letters or other evidence
satisfactory to the Registrar or a panel of the Registration Committee establishing that the
applicant is in good standing as a chiropractor in every jurisdiction where the applicant
holds an out-of-province certificate. O. Reg. 137111, s. 13.

Rerrneo Cenrrrrcnres

Additional requirements, retlred certificate

14. The following are additional requirements for a retired certificate of registration:

i. The applicant must hold either a general or an inactive certificate of registration.

2. The applicant must not be in default of any fee, fine or other amount owed to the
College or in default in providing any information to the College.

3. The applicant must give a written undertaking to the College not to engage in
chiropractic practice in Ontario and not to submit accounts to the Workplace
Safety and Insurance Board or any other third party payer in respect of
chiropractic services. O. Reg. l37llI, s.14.

Conditions, retired certificate

t t. The following are conditions of a retired certificate of registration:

1. The member shall not engage in chiropractic practice in Ontario.

6



407Draft Amendments to Regulation L37 h1,: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration

Version Date: February 24,2023

2. The member shall not submit an account to the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board
or any other third parfy payer in respect of a chiropractic service. O. Reg. l37lll,
s. 15.

Labour mobility, retired certificate

16. Where an applicant holds an out-of-province certificate which, in the opinion of the

Registration Committee, is substantially equivalent to a retired certificate of registration,
the requirement of paragraph I of section 14 is deemed to have been met by the applicant

if he or she provides one or more certificates or letters qr other evidence satisfactory to

the Registrar or a panel of the Registration Committee establishing that the applicant is in
good standing as a chiropractor in every jurisdiction where the applicant holds an out-of-
province certificate. O. Reg. 137lll, s. 16.

Euencerucv Crnrrrrcnres

16.1 (]) The Council malz declare that emergency circumstances exist such that it is in the
public interest to issue certificates of registration in the emergency class. In
making this determination" the Council may take into account all of the relevant

circumstances including the presence of a significant intemrotion in the

processing ofapplications forregistration for other classes such that there is a

lengthy delav in their being registered and anlz requests by the Minister to initiate
registrations under the Emergency class.

Q The following are requirements for an Emergency certificate of registration:

Emergency citcumstances must exist as described in section 16.1(1)

above.

2. The applicant must have satisfied the registration requirements in sections

4 \6( \ 6/?\ end 6(4\ nf this

1

rlqlinn The erfi rcqfinr, al renrrirement

in subsection 6(1) is non-exemptible.

The applicant must submit a criminal record check. in accordance with
CCO policy.

The applicant must complete examination requirements and/or a refresher

course approved blz the Registration Committee or otherwise satisff the

Registration that the member is competent to practise.

(Q Every certificate of registration in the Emergency class of registration is subject to

the followine terms. conditions and limitations:

The member shall practise the profession only within the scope of practice

of the Emereency certificate.

1

J

4

1

7



408Draft Amendments to Regulation t37 /LL: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration
Version Date: February 24,2023

The member shall at all times when providing chiropractic services
ideulify {.hsnrsclves as rneurber regisl.ered in the Emergency class of

to under

The member shall be restricted to the title Chiropractor (Emergenclz
Class).

4. The member shail onllu practise the profession whiie under the direct

Holds a General certificate of registration
Ts crrrrent activelv nroviding direct natient care to natients
Is in sood standins with CCO
Is not the subject of any disciplinary or incapacit)' proceedine or
has an outstanding referral for a disciplinary of incapacity
proceeding
Is authorized to practise in any area ofchiropractic that requires
specific additional education or certificate. such as acupuncfure
and chiropractic care of animals" if the member in the emergenclz
class ofregistration is authorized to practise in these areas of
practice
Any other criteria identified in CCO policy

g) An Emergency certiticate of registration expires:

Unless stated otherwise on the certificate. six months after it is issued.
unless it is renewed.

2. Uuless stalcd otherwisc on the certificate, a renewcd ceftificate cxpires six
months after it is renewed. unless it is renewed again.

the earlier of the any of the following:
a. Three months after the date the Council declares that the

emergenc)' circumstances in which it is in the interest of the
public to issue and renew emergency certificates of registration
have ended.
The date the member is issued a General certificate of
registration.

6) A member who holds a certificate of registration in the Emergency class of
registration may be issued a certificate of registration in the General class of
registration if the member satisfies the requirements for a General class certificate
of registration. including meeting any requirements in Regulation. By-law and
Policy and payins all applicable fees. and completes an application for
reeistration in the General class that is approved by the Registrar.

2.

-1

superuision of a member who:
a.

b"

c.

d.

e.

f.

1

an2J 1

b.

8



Draft Amendments to RegulationI3T/1,1: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration

Version Date: February 24,2023

InsuRnnce

T7 It is a condition of every general certificate of registration and of every temporary

certificate of registration that the member continue,

(a) to maintain professional liability insurance in accordance with the by-laws; or

(b) to belong to an association that is specified in the by-laws as providing the member

with personal protection against professional liability. O. Reg. 137lIl, s.17.

FnrluRe ro PAY Fres

18 (1) If the Registrar suspends a member's certificate of registration for failure to pay a

required fee, the Registrar shall lift the suspension on payment of,

(a) the fee the member failed to PaY;

(b) the annual fee for the year in which the suspension is to be lifted; and

(c) any applicable penalty. O. Reg. I37/11, s. 18 (1).

(2) Ifa certificate ofregistration has been suspended for failure to pay a required fee

for more than two years from the date of the suspension and the suspension has

not been lifted under subsection (1), fhe certificate is automatically revoked.

O. Reg. I37ll1, s. 18 (2).

A person whose certificate of registration was revoked under subsection (2) ot a
predecessor provision and who applies to be reinstated is required to pay,

(3)

(a) the applicable application fee under the by-laws;

(b) the annual fees and any applicable penalties the member failed to pay up

to the date of revocation; and

(.) the annual fee for the year in which the member wishes to be reinstated

O. Reg. 137lII, s. 18 (3).

(4) A person whose certificate of registration was revoked pursuant to subsection (2)

or a predecessor provision must successfully complete a refresher course

approved by the Registration Committee, or otherwise satisfy the Registration

Committee that he or she is currently competent to practise before being entitled

to have his or her general certificate of registration reinstated. O. Reg. l37lll,
s. 18 (a).

, '409

9



:;t4r1'0
Draft Amendments to Regulatlon t37 /LL: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration

nVersion 
Date: Februa ry 24,2O23

TnensmoNlr

19. (l) A certificate of registration of any class that was valid immediatelybefore the
coming into force of this Regulation is deemed to be the equivalent certificate of
registration under this Regulation, and continues until it is revoked or otherwise
expires. O. Reg. I37lll, s. 19 (1).

(2) Where a person submitted an application for a certificate of registration before the
coming into force of this Regulation, and that applioation was still being dealt
with at the time this Regrrlation came into Regulation 862193
(Registration) made rmder the Act, as it read befcrre this R egulation
came into force, applies with respect to O. Reg. I37l1l, s. 19 (2).

Omitted (revokes other Regulations). O. 1 s.20.

21. of this . O. Reg.Omitted (provides for coming into
I37lll, s.21.

10



3110123,8:26 AM Distribution for Feedback: Proposed Amendments to Regulation 1 37111 : Registration - Emergency Class of Registration Survey

Gollege of ehirnpracter$ of OntariE
L'Ordre des Chiropratisient de I'Ontario

Distribution for Feedback Proposed
Amendments to Regulation 13il112

Registration - Emergency Class of
Registration

" ".l. Are you a Member of CCO

Q ves

No

" 2.lf you are not a member of CCO, what type of
stakeholder are you?

Q wember of the Public

Q chiropractic organization

Q t"tot Appticable (Member of CCO)

Other (pLease specify)

.3. lf you are a member of CCO, how long have you

been in practice?

Q Less than 5 years

411

hft ps:i/www.surveymonkey.com/r/SGMBDGD 1t3



3110123,8:26 AM Distribution for Feedback: Proposed Amendments to Regulation 1 37111 : Registration - Emergency Class of Registration Survey

O o-loyears 412
C tt - 2o years

Q Vore than 20 years

Q ruot applicable

" 4. lf you are a member of CCO, what is the location
of your primary practice or residence

Ontario

Q Outside of Ontario, in Canada

Outside of Canada

Q Not Applicable

* 5. I agree/disagree with the draft proposed
amendments to the Registration Regulation to
create an Emergency Class of Registration

Q Strongly Agree

Q Rgree

Q Disagree

Q strongly Disagree

O No opinion

hft psJ/www.surveymonkey.com/r/SGMBDGD 2t3



3110123,8:26 AM Distribution for Feedback: proposed Amendments to Regulaiion 137/11: Registration - Emergency class of Registration Survey

6. The fotlowing amendments wou[d better protect

the pubtic interest:
413

7. Any other comments

Dcne

Powered by

A sutu"yMonkey"
See how easy it is to create a survey.

Privacy & Cookie Notice

https ://www. surveymonkey. com/TiSGMBDGD 3/3



318123. 12:13 PM about:blank

..Regutation.:,...LGr.c ITEM 4'1'25 414
College of Chiropractors of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of

Registration

Regulation Number(s):

O. Reg. L37ltL

Instrument Type:

Regulation - LGIC

Bill or Act:

Chiropractic Act, 1991

Summary of Proposal:

In Ontario, the regulation of health professions is based on a self-governance model. There are 26 health regulatory colleges
governing 28 health professions under the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, (RHPA) and their respective health
profession Acts.

The RHPA was amended in October 2O22to reduce barriers to registration and require Colleges to establish an Emergency
Class, To meet this requirement, the College of Chiropractors of Ontario is proposing to amend its Registration regulation
made under the Chiropractic Act, 1991, to add an emergency class certificate of registration,

The proposed regulation amendments are subject to prior review by the Minister of Health and the approval of the Lieutenant
Governor in Council.

Analysis of Regulatory Impact:

The proposed regulation amendment is not anticipated to result in increased administrative costs to members and/or
businesses as it creates additional pathways for new health professionals to begin practicing their profession in Ontario.

Further Information:

fi Cott"g" of Chiropractors of Ontario - Public Consultation:

Proposal Number:

23-HLTC028

Posting Date:

March B, 2023

Comments Due Date:

April 24, 2023

Contact Address:

Health Workforce Regulatory Oversight Branch
Nursing and Professional Practice Division
438 University Avenue, 10th Floor
Toronto ON M5G 2K8
Regulatoryprojects@Ontario. ca

comment on this proposal via email

about Ontario
accessibility
news
privacy
terms of use

about:blank

. O King's Printer for Ontario, 2023

1t1



Joel Friedman

From:
Sent:
To:
Cc:

Ali, Asna (MOH) <Asna.Ali@ontario.ca>

Wednesday, March 8,2023 12:00 PM

Joel Friedman
Jo-Ann Willson; Maurier, Jason (MOH); Pang, Vivian (MOH)

RE: CCO's Emergency Class - Regulatory Registry Posting

415

Subject:

CAUTION EXIERNAL; This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have

verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Good Afternoon Joel,

ljust wanted to circle back and let you know that CCO's proposed registration regulation amendment has

been posted to the Regulatory Registry. The posting will be active for 45 days, and is scheduled to end on April
24,2023. You can find the posting here: Colleqe of Chiropractors of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class
Certificate of Reoistration .

Thanks,
Asna

Asna Ali

Senior Policy Analyst, Regulatory Oversight and Performance Unit
Health Workforce Regulatory Oversight Branch
Ministry of Health

438 University Ave, LOth floor
Toronto, ON M7A 1N3

P:437.243.8547
E: asna.ali@ontario.ca

From: Joel Friedman <JFriedman@cco.on.ca>

Sent: February 28,2023 3:58 PM

To: Ali, Asna (MOH) <Asna.Ali@ontario.ca>
Cc: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>; Maurier, Jason (MOH)<Jason.Maurier@ontario.ca>; Pang, Vivian (MOH)

<Vivian. Pang@onta rio.ca>
Subject: RE: CCO's Emergency Class

CAUTION - EXTERNAL E-MAIL - Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender.
Good Afternoon,

1

Thank you



I can confirm that statement to be true - that the proposed regulation amendment is not anticipated to result in

increased administrative costs to members and/or businesses as it creates additional pathways for new health
professionals to begin practicing their profession in Ontario.

Regards,

Joel D. Friedman, BSc, LL.B

Deputy Registrar
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, Ontario M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416)922-6355 ext. 104

Toll Free: t-877 -577 -477 2

Fax: (416) 925-961-0

E-rrrail : ifriednran@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") servlces continue as staff follow recommended health and safeiy guidelines related to the COVID-19

global pandemic. ln-office seryices are available by appointment only. Piease use the email or phone contact information abcve or, if you require

urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone al 416-922-6355 ext. 100 or email reception@cco.on.ca and your inquiry will be directed

a ppropriately.

CCO is commitied to providing inciusirre, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated with dignity and

respect- Please contact us if you require accommodations. Please ensure that all communications with CCO are respectful anci professicnai.

CONFI DENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or
disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including any
attachments without readlng lt or maklng a copy. Thank you.

From: Ali, Asna (MOH) <Asna.Ali@ontario.ca>

Sent: Tuesday, February 28,2023 3:33 PM

To: Joel Friedman <JFriedman@cco.on.ca>

Cc: Jo-Ann Willson <ipwillson@cco.on.ca>; Maurier, Jason (MOH) <Jason.Maurier@ontario.ca>; Pang, Vivian (MOH)

<Vivia n.Pang@ontario.ca>
Subject: RE: CCO's Emergency Class

CAUTION EX'I-ERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have

verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Good Afternoon Joel,

Thank you for the update We will prepare the posting for the Regulatory Registry and hopefully will have this
proposal posted on it by week's end.

At your earliest convenience, could you please confirm the following relating to the costs associated with
proposed regulation? The proposed language is consistent with the rest of the Emergency Class proposals

posted on the Regulatory Registry.

The proposed regulation amendment is not anticipated to result in increased administrative costs to
members and/or businesses as it creates additional pathways for new health professionals to begin
practicing their profession in Ontario.

416

2



Thanks,
Asna

417
Asna Ali

Senior Policy Analyst, Regulatory Oversight and Performance Unit

Health Workforce Regulatory Oversight Branch

Ministry of Health

438 University Ave, 10th floor
Toronto, ON M7A 1N3

P: 437.243.8547
E: asna.ali@ontario.ca

From: Joel Friedman <JFriedman@cco.on.ca>

Sent: Febru ary 28, 2O23 t2:24 PM

To: Pa ng, Vivian (MOH) <Vivian. Pa ng@ontario.ca>

Cc: Jo-Ann Willson <ipwillson@cco.on.ca>; Maurier, Jason (MOH) <Jason.Maurier@ontario.ca>; Ali, Asna (MOH)

<Asna.Ali @onta rio.ca>

Subject: RE: CCO's EmergencY Class

GAUTION -- EXTERNAT E-MAIL - Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender.

Good Afternoon,

CCO Council approved distribution for feedback of draft amendments to the Registration Regulation to create an

Emergency class of registration on February 24,2023. This has been circulated to stakeholders, including members. The

distribution can be accessed on the CCO website at the following link: https://cco.on.cal2023101/25lproposed-

amendments-to-registration-regulation/.

Regards,

Joel D. Friedman, BSc, LL.B

Deputy Registrar

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800

Toronto, Ontario M4Y 0E7

Tel: (4L6)922-6355 ext. 104

Toll Free: L-877 -577 -477 2

Fax: (416) 925-9510
E-mail: ifriedma n @cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

Coltege of Chiropractors of ontario {"Cco") services continue as staff foiiow recommended health and safety guidelines related to the COVID-19

global panoemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the email or phone contact information above or, if you require

urgent assistance, piease contact Reception by phone at 410-922-6355 ext. 100 or email reception@cco,on'ca and your inquiry will be directed

a ppro priate ly.

CCo is cammitted to providing inclusive, accommcciating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are ii'eated with dignity and

resp€ct. please contact us if you require accommodations. Please ensu.e that aii communications with CCo are respectfuland professional'

3

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:



Thls e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any
disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notif CCO immediately by reply e-mail and delete all
attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

other distribution, copying or
copies including any

From : Pa ng, Vivian (MO H ) <Vivia n. Pa nsqo nta rio.ca> 418
Sent: Wednesday, February 22,2023 9:16 AM
To: Joel Friedman <JFriedman@cco.on.ca>

Cc: Jo-Ann Willson <ipydllsg!-@cco.gllq>; Maurier, Jason (MOH)<Jason.Maurier@ontario.ca>; Ali, Asna (MOH)
<Asna.Ali@ontario.ca>

Subject: CCO's Emergency Class

CAUTION TXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization, Do not click links or open attachments unless you have
verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Hi Joel!

Hope you're doing well since the last we spoke at the system partner meeting. We heard you were working on
the emergency class file and wanted to follow up.

We reviewed the council meeting package for the meeting this Friday and see that the Registration Committee
is developing a draft. Could you let us know what CCO's plans were to begin its 60-day circulation in order to
meet the May 1st deadline?

Thanks,
Vivian

Vivian Pang I Senior Policy Analyst
Regulatory Oversight and Performance Unit
Health Workforce Regulatory Oversight Branch
Nursing and Professional Practice Division I Ministry of Health
t:437-227-0324 | e vtvtan bend ntario.ca

Confidentiality Notice: This e-mail message and any attachments are intended only for the above-named recipient(s) and
may contain information that is confidential. lf you have received this message in error, please notify me immediately and
delete this email and any attachments without copying, distributing or disclosing their contents.

4



3110123,8:26 AM

Current Proposals

Regulatory Registry - Current Proposals

Instrument Type:

!{,.sleLl i:lai-e i-lryrr:c:rii; llii,:r: liir.:
ITEM 4.1.26 419

A Fropasal to Modernize the Veterinarians F.ct

The Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs (OMAFRA) is consulting on a proposal for legislative
changes to modernize the Veterinarians Act, to allow for legislation and regulations that are flexible, modern, and
reflective of the current practice of veterinary medicine, including more current approaches to professional
regulation and governance.
Posting Date: March 1,2023
Open for Comments: March l, 2023 - May 3O, 2O23

National a*d entario eode C*nsultations on the 20?5 f*ational Construction Codes

Ontario's Building Code is a regulation under the Building Code Act, 1992 which sets out minimum administrative
and technical requirements for new construction, renovation, and change of use of buildings. New editions or
major amendments to Ontario's Building Code are generally released every five years to coincide with updates to
the National Construction Codes.
Posting Date: February 27,2O2?
Open for Comments: February 27, 2A23 - April 27, 2023

Cr:llege of Chiropractors cf Ontario: Creaticn of Frnergency Class Certificate of Registration
College of Chiropractors of Ontario is proposing amendments to O. Reg. t37 /tL made under the Chiropractic Act,
1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Dater March 8,2O27
Open for Commentsl March 8, 2023 - April 24, 2Q23

Ccllege of Psycholcgists cf Ontario: Creaticn of En'lergency Class Certificate of Registrat!on
The College of Psychologists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 74/t5 made under the Psychology

Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
PostinE Date: March 8,2423
Open for Comments: March 8. 2023 - Apr-l 24, 2()23

Ccllege of Dental Techn*logists of Ontario: Creaticn of Fmergency Class Certificate of
Registration
College of Dental Technologists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O. Reg. 874/93 made under the Dental
Technology Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of registration amongst other proposed amendments.
Posting Date: March 8,2O2?
Open for €omments: March 8, 2fl23 - AVril 24,2A23

College of Optcmetrists of Gntario: Creatien of Er*ergeney elass Certificate of R.egistraticn

College of Optometrists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 837/93 made under the Optometry Act,
1991, to create this new ceftificate of registration among other changes.
Posting Date: March 8, 2023
Open for Comments: March 8, ZA23 - Apr-l 24,2023

Prop*sed reg*latory chanEes to closure plan rehabilitation requiremerits fcr advanced
explaration and m:ne production and addang an additiona! class of facilities to the list af sueh
classes that are excluded from the definitian cf "m!ne". (source; Environmental Registry)

If enacted, Bill 77, will add clarity and flexibility to mine rehabilitation requirements, Proposed regulatory
amendments to closure planning and the Mine Rehabilitation Code would make the rehabilitation framework more
adaptable to new technology and expert-driven, while ensuring protection for the environment, public health and

safety.
Posting Date: March 9, 2023
Open for Comments: March 9, 2(}23 - April 23, 2O23

https:i/www.ontariocanad a. com/registry/qu ickSearch.do?searchType=current 1t7



3110t23,8:26 AM Regulatory Registry - Current Proposals

proposal to make consequential administrative amendments to several regulations under tlre
Mining Act (source: Environmental Registry)

If enacted, Bill 71, Building More Mines Act,2023 will create new statutory authorities for conditional filing and

phased financial assurance, and the decision-maker for some decisions under the Mining Act will change. As a

result, administrative amendments to several Ontario regulations will be required. This posting describes the
proposed regulatory changes.
Posting Date; March 9,2023
Open for Comments: March 9, 2A23 - April 23, 2O23 420

Proposed Amendments to R,R.O. 1990, Regulation 430: Sheep - Plan and R.R.O. 1990,
R.egulation 429: Sheep - Marketing under the Farm Products Marketing Act.

Following a request of the Ontario Sheep Marketing Agency (OSMA), the Ontario Farm Products Marketing

Commission (Commission) is proposing amendments to Regulation 430: Sheep - Plan that would introduce a limit
to the number of years a sheep producer could serve consecutively as a member on the board before having a

break in service as well as change the board's name from OSMA to "Ontario Sheep Farmers". A consequential

change to the name of the board in Regulation 429: Sheep - Marketing is also required.

Posting Date: March 7t 2023
Open for Comments: March 7, 2023 - April 21, 2O23

Amendments to the Mining Act: Recovery of Minerals and Decision-making Authorities (source:

Environmental Registry)

Through Bill 71, Building More Mines Act,2O23, the Ministry of Mines is proposing amendments to the Mining Act

that would: (1) amend one of the requirements for obtaining a "recovery permit" and (2) provide the Minister
with decision-making authorities in respect of exploration and mine rehabilitation.
Posting Date: March 2,2023
open for Comments: March 2, 2A23 - April 16, 2O23

Proposed, Building More Mines Act' 2O23 (source: Environmental Registry)

Through Bill 71, Building More Mines Act,2O23, the Ministry of Mines is proposing to make amendments to the
Mining Act that are intended to ensure Ontario has a modern and competitive regime for mineral exploration and

development. The proposed amendments aim to reduce administrative burden, clarify requirements for
rehabilitation and create regulatory efficiencies
PostinE Date: March 2,2Q23
Open for Comments: March 2' 2023 - April 15' 2O23

Annendrnents to the Mining Act: Clasure Flans and Financial Assuran€€ (source: Environmental

Registry)

Through Bill 71, Building More Mines Act, 2023, the Ministry of Mines is proposing to make amendments to the

closure plan framework under the Mining Act to improve timelines for preparing closure plans, reduce

proponents' up-front expenses for opening or changing a mine, reduce the frequency of notifications and closure
plan amendments required, and improve flexibility in closure planning'

Posting Date: March 2,2023
Open for Comments: March 2, 2A23 - April 16, 2O23

ColleEe of Dental Hygienists of Ontario: Creation of Ernergency Class CertEficate of Registration

The College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 218/94 made under the Dental

Hygiene Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of registration'
Posting Date: February 21,2O23
Open for Comments: February 2t' 2023 - April 11' 2023

College af Physiotherapists of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of Registration

College of Physiotherapists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 532/98 made under the Physiotherapy

Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of registration'
Posting Date: February 21' 2O23

Open for Comments: February 2t, 2023 - April 1,L' 2A23

CotleEe of Audiologists and Speech-Language Pathologists of Ontario: Creation of Emergency
Class Certificate of Registraticn

hftps://wwrv.ontariocanada.comhegistry/quickSearch.do?searchType=current 217



3110123,8:26 AM Regulatory Registry - Current Proposals

College of Audiologists and Speech-Language Pathologists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 21l12
made under the Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of
registration.
Postins Dater February 21, 2023 421
Open for Comments: February 21, 2AZ3 - April 11. 2023

Proposal to arnend Ontario Regulation L&Lf L7 to the Fublic Lands Act tc change the
requirements far campit1g cn water over Ontaric's public lands (sourcer Environmentat Registry)

We are proposing to amend Ontario Regulation L67/77 to the Public Lands Act. The key proposed amendments
relate to conditions that would need to be met to camp on water and are intended to reduce the environmental
and social impacts of floating accommodations and long camping stays.
Posting Date: February 24,2023
Open for Comments! February 24t 2A23 - April LL,202il

Propcsed Amendrnents ta tl':e General Reg*lation {O. R.eg" 37/09) ef the Taxation Aet. 2OS7
regarcling the Ontaria Filnt and T*levisicr'* Tax Cred!t and the Ontaric Froductio* Serviccs Tax
Credit
Proposed amendments to O. Reg. 37109 would expand eligibility of Ontario's film and television tax credits to
include film and television productions distributed online and would introduce a requirement that eligible
productions provide on-screen acknowledgement of Ontario tax credit support.
Posting Date: February 2t,2O23
Open for Comments: February 21,2A23 - April 11, 2023

Ccllege of Denturists of Sntario: Creatian of Enrerge*cy Class Certifieate of R.egistration
College of Denturists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 833/93 made underthe Denturism Act,
1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Date: February 21, 2O23

Open for Comments: February 21,2Q23 - April tLt 2A23

College of Medical Laboratery Technc*agists of Ontario: Cneation cf Emergency Class
Certificate of Registratian
The College of Medical Laboratory Technologists of Ontario (CMLTO) is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 207/94
made under the Medical Laboratory Technology Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Dater February 2L,2O23
Open for Comments: February 21-, 2O2? - April LLt 2023

College of fiietitians of *ntario: Creatien *f Frnergency Class Certlfieate of Registraticn
College of Dietitians of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 593/94 made underthe DieteticsAct, 1991,
to create this new certificate of registration.
Fosting Date: February 23,2Q23
Open for Comments: February 23, 2923 - April 

'-t, 
2A23

College of Registered psycl"lctherapists anet Registered Mental Healtl'l Therapists of Ontaris;
Creatia{'! of Emergency €lass Certificate cf R.egistrati*n
College of Registered Psychotherapists and Registered Mental Health Therapists of Ontario is proposing
amendments to O.Reg. 67/t5 made underthe Psychotherapy Act,2O07, to create this new certificate of
registration.
Posting Date: February 2lf 2023
Open for Comments: February 2t, 2023 -- April t t , 2AZ3

follege of Kinesiologists of Ontar!*: f reatisn of Ernerge:'lcy Class Certificate of ReE;stration
Collegeof Kinesiologistsof OntarioisproposingamendmentstoO.Reg.40I/LZ madeundertheKinesiologyAct,
2007, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Date: February 23. 2O23

Open for Comments: February 23,2023 - April 11. 2023

College of Respiratory Therapists of Ontaria: Creation of Ernergency Class Certificate of
Registration

hitps://www.ontariocanada. com/registry/qu ickSearch.do?searchType=curreni 3t7



3110123,8:26 AM Regulatory Registry - Current Proposals

The College of Respiratory Therapists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 596/94 made under the

Respiratory Therapy Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of registration. A ,|al
Posting Date: February 23,2O23 +12
Open for Comments: February 23,2023 - April 11, 2023

College of Occupational Therapists of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of
Registration

College of Occupational Therapists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 226/96 made under the

Occupational Therapy Act, 1991, to create this new ceftificate of registration'
Posting Date: February 23.2O23
Open for Comments: February 23' 2A23 - April ,.t, 2023

lrtew HObby Mineral ColleCting Guide (sourcer Environmental Registry)

The Ministry of Mines (MINES) wants to provide further clarity for those requesting guidance on hobby mineral

collecting.
Posting Date; March 2t 20zg
Open for Comments: March 2, 2023 - April 8' 2O23

Coltege of Chiropodists of Ontario: Creaticn of Emergency Class Certificate of Registratian

The College of Chiropodists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 830/93 made under the Chiropody

Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Date: February 15' 2023

Open for Comments: February 15' 2023 - April 3,2023

Cc!lege of Massage Therapists of Ontario: Creatian of Ernergency Class Certificate of
Registration
The College of Massage Therapists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 864/93 made under the

Massage Therapy Act, 1991, to create a new Emergency Class certificate of registration'

Foeting Datc: Fcbruary 15, 2O23

Open for Comments: February 15' 2023 - April 3' 2023

College af HomeoFaths of Ontariol Creatian of Emergency Class Certificate of R.egistration

The College of Homeopaths of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 18/14 made under the Homeopathy

Act, 2007 , to create this new certificate of registration'
Posting Date: February 13' 2O23

Open for Comments: February t"3,2023 - March ?4,2023

Pharmacy Reconciliation Adjustment Extension

The Ministry of Health is proposing amendments to Ontario Regulation 2Ot/96 under the Ontario Drug Benefits

Act (ODBA), to advance a short-term extension of the reconciliation adjustment to pharmacy payments under the

Ontario Drug Benefit Program, for a time-limited basis to ensure the continued financial sustainability of the
program and cooperation on necessary sector innovations and improvements are advanced, including initiatives

that consider the challenges of rural and independent pharmacies.

Posting Date! February 27,2O23
Open for Comments: February 27, 2023 - March 29, 2073

providing Authority ts Waive or Alter the 3$-day WaitEng Period for Class Environmental
Assessment Froiects
We have proposed an amendment to the Environmental Assessment Act to provide the Minister of the

Environment, Conservation and Parks with authority to waive or alter the 30-day waiting period following

completion of a class environmental assessment (EA) process. This will help critical projects to proceed more

quickly.
Posting Oate: February 27'2O23
Open for Comments: February 27,2(J23 - March 28'2023

Centralization of Broader Rea! Estate Autharity (CBR.EA) Proposed Legis!ative Amendments

The proposed amendments to the Ministry of Infrastructure Act, 2011 (MOI Act) and nine (9) other Acts would, if
passed, establish a framework to remove and/or modify the realty authority of fourteen (14) entities under Phase

1 of the Centralization of Broader Real Estate Authority (CBREA) initiative and to provide the Minister of

hftps://www.ontariocanada.com/registry/quickSearch.do?searchType=current 417



3110123,8:26 AM Regulatory Registry - Current Proposals

Infrastructure (the MOI Minister) with the ability to oversee and manage this real estate This would help improve
the management of realty property across ministries and entities
Posting Date: February 27,2O23
Open for Comments: February 27, 2023 - March 28, 2023

R.oyal College of Dental Surgeons of Ontario (RCDSO): Creation of Emergency Class Certificate
of Registration
The Royal College of Dental Surgeons of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 205/94 made under the
Dentistry Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Date: February 9,2O23
Open for Comments: February 9f 2023 - March 27,2023

College of Midwives of Ontario: Creation of Ernergency Class Certificate of Registration
The College of Midwives of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 168/11 made under the Midwifery Act,
1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Date; February 1O,2O23
Open for Comments: February 10, 2023 - March 27t 2fJ23

College of Opticians of Ontario: Creation of Ernergency Class Certificate of Registration
The College of Opticians of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 869/93 made under the Opticianry Act,
1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Date: February 1O.2O23
Open fcr Comments: February LA, ZA2? - March 27,2f,23

College of Medical Radiation and Imaging Technologists of Ontario (CMRITO): Creation of
Emergency Class Certificate of Registration
College of Medical Radiation and Imaging Technologists of Ontario is proposing amendmentsto O.Reg.866/93
made under the Medical Radiation and Imaging Technology Act,2Qt7, to create this new certificate of
registration.
Posting Date: February 10,2023
Open for Comments: February tO.2g23 - March 27.2023

ColleEe af Physicians and SurEeons of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of
Registration

The College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg.865/93 made underthe
Medicine Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Date: February IA,2O23
Open for Comments: February LOt 2023 - March 27, 2023

College of Naturopaths of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of Registration
The College of Naturopaths of Ontario is proposing amendments to O. Reg. 84/74 made under the Naturopathy
Act, 2007, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Date: February LQ,2A23
Open for Comments: February LA, 2A23 - March 27, 2023

Regulatory fee increase for body trarrsport services required as part of death investigations
The Ministry of the Solicitor General intends to make a minister's regulation amendment to increase provincial
rates paid to service providers for the transportation of deceased persons as part of a coroner's investigation.
This increase in rates is meant to support the licensed funeral establishments and transfer service operators to
manage mounting operational costs.
Posting Date: February 22,2023
Open for Comments: February 22,2O2? - March 24,2fl23

Proposed Legislative Amendments to Enable fnterjurisdictional Mobility for Select Registered
Health Professionals
The Ministry of Health is proposing legislative amendments to the Medicine Act, 1991; Nursing Act, 1991; Medical
Laboratory Technology Act, 1991; and the Respiratory Therapy Act, 1991 to give the Minister regulation-making
powers regarding exempting persons from the provisions that place restrictions around the use of professional
titles and holding oneself out as being qualified to practice the profession. Additionally, consequential changes to

https://wwl.ontariocanada.com/registry/qu ickSearch.do?searchType=current

423

5t7



3110123,8:26 AM Regulatory Registry - Current Proposals

numerous Acts are proposed to ensure there no barriers to providing care'

Posting Date: February 21' 2O23

OpenforComments: February 21,2023 - March 23,2fJ23

A legislative proposal to repeai the Independent Health Facilities Act and the Oversight of
Health Facilities and pevices Act and replace with new legislation, the Integrated Community
Health Services Centres Act' 2O23

The proposed repeal of the Independent Health Facilities Act and replacement with the Integrated Community

Health Services Centres Act, 2023.
Posting Date: February 2I,2O23
Open for Comments: February Zt , 2023 - March 23, ZO23

proposed Amendments to Ontario Regulation 413/O5 (Vehicle Weights and Dimensions - For
Safe, Productive, tnfrastructure-Friendty (SPIF) Vehicles)

The Ministry of Transportation is proposing to amend Ontario Regulation 4t3/OS under the Highway Traffic Act

which outlines requirements related to optional emergency lift axle override control on trucks and tractors' The

proposed change would provide flexibility to manufacturers in how they ensure road safety without prescribing a

narrowly defined technical approach and provide a clarification edit to regulatory wording recently identified.

Posting Date: February 6' 2O23

Open for Comments: February 6, 2A23 - March 23, 2023

Froposed Anrendments to the Pharrnacy Act, 1991

The Ministry of Health is proposing legislative amendments to section 3 of the Pharmacy Act, 1991 to update the

scope of practice statement to include the term assessment.
Posting Date: FebruarY 2l',2O23
Open for Comments: February 2t,2OZ3 - March 23' 2023

proposed amendments to extra-ministerial data integratien units in the Freedsnr of
Informaticn and Frotection of Privacy Act
proposing amendments to the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act to extend its application to

external data integrators that are not FIPPA institutions. If passed, such integrators would need to make

information available about how the public may make requests for records, publish certain information annually

and report annually to the Information and Privacy Commissioner'
Posting Date: February 21,2O23
Open for Comments: February 21,2023 - March 23' 2423

College cf Psychologists of Ontario's Proposed Amendnrents to its Regulations for Behaviour
Ana!ysts
The College of Psychologists of Ontario is proposing regulatory amendments made under the Psychology and

Applied BehaviourAnalysisAct,202l needed to regulatethe profession of Applied BehaviourAnalysis (ABA). The

affected regulations include Ontario Regulation 74115 (Registration), Ontario Regulation 2Ugl94 (General), and

Ontario Regulation 801/93 (Professional Misconduct).

Posting Date: February 6' 2O23

Open for Comments: February'6, 2023 - March 23, 2O23

Clranges to Panel Cornposition Requirements of tlre Law Society Tribunal

1. In certain proceedings before the Law Society Tribunal, an elected bencher lawyer is required to sit on the

panel. It is proposed that this requirement be amended such that either an elected lawyer bencher or the Chair

of the Tribunal are required to sit on those panels. 2. A motion in a Hearing Division proceeding may be heard by

a one-person panel, unless a three-person panel is required. It is proposed that the requirement for a three-

person motion panel in certain circumstances be replaced by the authority of the Tribunal Chair to decide

whether a one-person or three-person panel should be assigned in each matter.

Posting Date: March 3' 2023
Open for Comments: March 3, 2fJ23 - March 17r 2O23

Consultation Paper on Mgdernizing the Consumer Frotection l\ct' 2OO2

The ministry is re-engaging with stakeholders through a consultation paper that sets out proposals for reform to

the Consumer protection Act, 2002 grouped in two categories broad consumer protection and empowerment, and

sector-specific protections. This paper builds on the consultation that occurred in 2020-21 and includes many of

424

https:i/wvwv.ontariocanada.com/registry/qu ickSearch.do?searchType=current 6t7



3110123,8:26 AM Regulatory Registry - Current Proposals

the proposals that were in the 2020 consultation paper. Some of the proposals from 2020 have been updated to
reflect feedback from respondents to the previous consultation and new proposals are also included. The ministry
is seeking feedback on whether these proposals are supported by consumers and businesses.
Posting Date: February 61 2O23

Open for Comments: February 6, 2023 - March L7, 2A23
,Air Brake Renewal Kncwledge Test and Learning Modules
The Ministry of Transportation (MTO) is proposing to introduce a digital learning module for air brake holders that
may be completed as an alternative to the knowledge test currently required at time of renewal. The module can
be accessed by drivers at any time, from any location, and will take about 30 minutes to complete. The learning
module will be designed specifically for drivers and will focus on operational and practical knowledge a driver
should have to operate a vehicle with air brakes. Drivers will have the option to complete either the air brake
learning module or the current air brake knowledge test; both will satisfy the knowledge renewal requirement.
Posting Date: January 3O,2023
Open for Comments: .lanuary 30. 2023 - March 15, 2023

Proposed Regulatory Amendments to Ontario Regulation 1O7 /96 (Controlled Acts) made under
the Regulated Health Frofessions A,ct, 1991.

TheMinistryof HealthisproposingtomakeregulatoryamendmentstoO.Reg, LO7/96 madeundertheRegulated
Health Professions Act, 1991, to exempt respiratory therapists from the prohibition on the controlled act of
applying soundwaves for diagnostic ultrasound when acting under the order of a physician or nurse practitioner.
Posting Date: February 16.2O23
Open for Comments: February 1,6, 2023 - March 10, 2023

about Onlai-io accessibility news privacy terms of use

O King's Printer for Ontario, 2023

425

hftps://wwr,v.ontariocanada.com/registry/qu ickSearch.do?searchTypd=current 717



NEWS RELEASE ITEM 4.1 .27

New "As of Right" Rutes a First in canada to Attract More
HeaLth Care Workers to Ontario
Changes will automatically recognize the credentials of health care workers registered in
other provinces and territories

January 19,2023

Office of the Premier

WINDSOR - With new "As of Right" rules, the Ontario government will allow health

care workers registered in other provinces and territories to immediately start
working and caring for people in Ontario.

"As we connect people to more convenient care, we need to be bold, innovative

and creative," said Premier Doug Ford. "with our new "As of Right" rules, ontario is

the first province in Canada to allow health care workers from across the country to
immediately start providing care. That's the kind of innovative solutions that will cut
down unnecessary bureaucratic delays and help bring reinforcements to the
frontlines of our health care system."

The government will introduce legislative changes in February 2023 that, if passed,

will allow Canadian health care workers that are already registered or licensed in

another Canadian jurisdiction to practice in Ontario immediately, without having to
first register with one of Ontario's health regulatory colleges. These changes will
help health-care workers overcome bureaucratic delays that have made it difficult
to practice in Ontario.

"Our government is making health care more accessible for Ontarians, which

means recruiting more health care professionals to bolster our health care system

and making it easier for them to start working," said Sylvia Jones, Deputy Premier

and Minister of Health. 'A highly-skilled health care worker from British Columbia

or Nova Scotia shouldn't have to pause their career or face barriers to practice here
in Ontario."

ln addition, Ontario will also be helping hospitals and other health organizations
temporarily increase staffing when they need to fill vacancies or manage periods of
high patient volume, such as during the covlD-19 pandemic. ln February, the
government will introduce legislation that, if passed, will increase staffing Ievels on

426

113



a short-term basis by allowing health care professionals, including nurses, 427
paramedics, respiratory therapists, and others, to work outside of their regular

responsibilities or settings, as long as they have the knowledge skill, and judgement

to do so. This will provide hospitals and other settings with more flexibility to

ensure health care professionals are filling the most in-demand roles at the right

time.

As a part of the government's focus on making health care more convenient for

Ontarians, the province is hiring more health care professionals to better connect

Ontarians to the care they need, when and where they need it. This work is on top

of other initiatives to recruit more health care workers, such as making it easier for

internationally-educated nurses to join Ontario's workforce and investing to upskill

nurses currently working in the province. As Ontario continues to expand its health

workforce, patients can expect more services in their community, shorter wait

times and greater access to high-quality care.

Quick Facts

. These changes, if passed, will mark the first step towards a pan-Canadian

portable registration model, the first of its kind for health care professionals in

Canada.

. Under this proposal, health care professionals from outside the province will

only be eligible and permitted to work in Ontario if they have provided safe,

competent, and ethical health care in their home province or territory.

. lnformation on practicing in Ontario as an out-of-province health care

professional can be found on the HealthForceOntario website.

. The Ontario government is expanding medical school education. Ontario is

adding 160 undergraduate seats and 295 postgradutate positions over the next

five years, the largest expansion of undergraduate and postgraduate education

in over 10 years.

Additionat Resources

o Ontario Doing More to Further Ex@
. Ontario Up5[.!.[!jng More Nurses to Work in Critical Care

a

Related Topics

Government

Learn about the government services available to you and how government works

Learn more
2t3



Heal,th and Wellness

Get help navigating Ontario's health care system and connecting with the programs

or services you're looking for. Learn more

Media Contacts

Caitlin Clark

Premier's Office

Ca itli n.Clark2@onta rio.ca

Hannah jensen

Minister jones'Office

Hannah. RJensen@onta rio.ca

Anna Miller

Communications Division

416-314-6197

media.moh@ontario.ca

428

liri*ssihliri.y'

F rl tl.) cti

{*rila'-1- r-;:

C iii:':,9': Frii-rte r fi'r i.lr:ia,";*, l-*'i 7-"7-t);3

3/3



ITEM 4.1.28l-IE\AfS RFLEASE

Ontario Reducing Wait Times for PubLicl,y Funded 429
Surgeries and Diagnostics
New legislation outlines next steps in province's plan to connect people to convenient
care, close to home

February 21,2023

Health

TORONTO - Today, the Ontario government introduced the Your Heolth Act,2023,

which outlines the province's next steps in its plan to reduce wait times for
surgeries, procedures and diagnostic imaging, while enabling its new'As of Right"

rules to automatically recognize the credentials of health care workers registered in

other provinces and territories.

"With lhe Your Health Acf, Ontario is boldly breaking with a status quo that has

stifled innovation and struggled to respond to growing challenges and changing

needs," said Sylvia Jones, Deputy Premier and Minister of Health. "lnstead, our

government is being bold, innovative and creative. We're making it easier and faster

for people to connect to convenient care closer to home, including and especially

the surgeries they need to maintain a high quality of life."

Based on feedback from frontline partners, the Your Heolth Act, 2023 will, if passed,

enhance guardrails to integrate community surgical and diagnostic centres into the

health system, enhance quality standards and oversight while protecting the

stability of doctors, nurses and other health-care workers in public hospitals and

other health-care settings. The legislation will also, if passed, put into law that

people will always access insured services at community surgical and diagnostic

centres with their OHIP card and never their credit card, consistent with the Cansda

Heolth Act.

Integration with Hospitals and Other Health-care Settings to Reduce Wait Times

lf passed, lhe Your Heulth Act, 2023 will require applicants to outline how the new

community surgical and diagnostic centre will promote connected and convenient

care, including its capacity to improve patient wait times and improve patient

experiences, as well as its plans to integrate with the health system. The legislation

1t7



will also, if passed, require centres to provide a description of current linkages with

health system partners and how the centre will maintain and improve those

linkages to promote optimal patient care pathways. 43S
Ontario Health will also ensure that these centres are included in regional health

system planning, including connection and reporting into the province's wait times

information system and participation in regional central intakes, where available.

Community surgical and diagnostic centres will also coordinate with local public

hospitals to accept patients that are being referred, ensuring people get the

surgery they need as quickly as possible.

Quality and Oversight

As the province expands the types of surgeries and procedures being done in the

community to include hips and knees and orthopedics, it will ensure the new

community surgical and diagnostic centres have in place the highest quality

standards with strong oversight. The Your Heqlth Act, 2023 will, if passed, enable the

province to designate one or more expert organizations as inspecting bodies of the

centres. To be completed before hips and knees and orthopedics are expanded to

community surgical and diagnostic centres, these expert organizations will work

with Ontario Health and the Ministry of Health to establish, maintain and publish

quality and safety standards and establish schedules for regular inspections of the

centres. The province is working with its frontline partners to determine what

organizations are best positioned to serve as inspecting bodies and is exploring

several options, including continuing the role of regulatory colleges to ensure

continuity of the existing quality assurance programs. By naming inspecting bodies,

the government will ensure flexibility to appoint additional or alternate inspecting

bodies in the future to support system change as required.

fhe Your Health Act, 2023 will also, if passed, require centres applying for a licence

to provide details of its quality assurance and continuous quality improvement

programming, including policies for infection prevention and control. These details

will be considered against the quality standards set by the expert organizations

designaied as inspecting bodies.

lf an individual believes they did not receive the highest quality care, the Your Heolth

Act, 2023 will, if passed, also mandate that every community surgical and diagnostic

centre must have a process for receiving and responding to patient complaints.

This process will include the documentation of all complaints and the timely

217



response and actions taken by the centre. lf patients are not able to have their

complaints addressed at the centre, they will be able to seek help from the patient

ombudsman.
43'l

The your Heolth Act, 2023 will also, if passed, include community surgical and

diagnostic centres under the oversight of Ontario's patient ombudsman. The

province also expects the patient ombudsman to report on any patient complaints

and will adjust quality and oversight controls as needed to be responsive to these

concerns.

Protecting Stability of Doctors, Nurses and Other Health-care Workers

The legislation will, if passed, mandate several components of a proposed centre's

application to protect the stability of doctors, nurses and other health-care workers

at public hospitals and other health-care settings. This includes the requirement to

submit a detailed staffing model, including evidence of its sustainability and the

specific model for staffing anaesthesia delivery, given specific concerns about the

global availability of these professionals. The centres will also be required to

provide a description of how it consulted with health system partners, including

public hospitals; in the development of its application, including any endorsements,

which will be considered before any licence is granted.

lf passed, the Your Health Act, 2023 will lead to a requirement that physicians

employed by community surgical and diagnostic centres must also have privileges

to do the same work in a hospital. This will ensure that anyone seeking emergency

care at a hospital will be able to receive the urgent treatment they need. The

legislation will also, if passed, enable Ontario Health and the Ministry of Health to

require centres to report on their compliance with these health care workforce

protections.

Paying with Your OHIP Card, Not Your Credit Card

Consistent with the Conodo HealthAcf, the Your Heolth Act, 2023 will, if passed,

reinforce that people always receive insured services using their OHIP card, never

their credit card. lf passed, no centre will be allowed to refuse service to someone

because they choose not to purchase upgrades, such as an upgraded cataract lens,

and people cannot pay an additional fee to receive services faster than anyone

else. The Your Heqlth Act, 2023 will also, if passed, require centres to transparently

provide this information upfront and ensure there is a mechanism to address

people's concerns.

First-in-Canada "As of Right" Rules and Stronger Data Protections
3t7



The Your Health Act, 2023 will, if passed, enable the recently announced 'As of Right"
rules that allow health care workers registered in other provinces and territories to
immediately start working and caring for people in Ontario without having to first
register with one of Ontario's health regulatory colleges. These changes will help

health-care workers overcome bureaucratic delays that have made it difficult to
practice in Ontario. 432
The legislation will also, if passed, strengthen protections for personal health
information and data as the province puts in place new models to better inform
policy and program planning to improve services. These changes will support
improvements to the health care system by integrating data while enhancing
privacy protection, transparency and accountability for organizations that collect
and use data.

Your Health: A Plan for Connected and Convenient Care will put Ontarians back in
charge of their health, making it easier and more convenient to navigate care at
every stage of their life, providing more ways to receive care closer to home, and

ensuring that people will be able to get the care they need faster, when it can have

the greatest impact to their health.

Quick Facts

o On February 2,2023, the Ontario government released Your Health: A Plan for
Connected and Convenient Care. The plan focuses on providing people with a

better health care experience by connecting them to more convenient options
closer to home while shortening wait times for key services across the province
and growing the health care workforce for years to come.

o Ontario is making it more convenient for people to connect to care closer to
home by allowing pharmacists to treat and prescribe medications for thirteen
common ailments, including rashes, pink eye, insect bites and urinary tract
infections.

417



Quotes

"The OMA is very encouraged by this next important step to reduce wait times.

We support the government's action to move lower acuity surgeries out of

hospitals, which in turn will free up hospital resources to focus on emergency,

acute and complex cases, while relieving strain and capacity issues. The

introduction of legislation to move from independent health facilities to

integrated community health centres is the strongest signal yet of the

government's intention to ensure the necessary safeguards are in place as part

of this transformative reform."

- Dr. Rose Zacharias

President, Ontario Medical Association

"The OMA appreciates the collaboration with Ontario's government and their

commitment to thoughtfully implement the shift of more procedures out of

hospitals into the community. We are very encouraged this legislation, if
passed, aligns with OMAs recommendation to replace the independent health

facilities act with a more comprehensive framework that strengthens

prohibitions against two-tier health care, creates greater capacity for quality

and safety controls, and transitions towards a more integrated health care

system. We look forward to participating fully in the legislative process to
ensure shared principles are met for Ontario's patients."

- Allan O'Dette

CEO, Ontario Medical Association

433

5t7



"With the introduction of the government's Your Health Act, Ontario is setting

the foundation to expand and integrate community-based surgical and

diagnostic centres into the public system. The Ontario Hospital Association

(OHA) welcomes the legislation which will require, for the first time,
434

prospective clinics to satisfy public interest requirements and expectations to

be granted a license. Ontario's hospitals look forward to working closely with

proponents in developing new partnerships, while ensuring equity, access, and

the prevention of unintended consequences, particularly in relation to health

human resources. Our shared goal must be to create additional flexibility and

health services capacity to meet the needs of all Ontarians. The OHA and

Ontario's hospitals also look forward to working with the Ministry of Health,

Ontario Health, clinical experts, and system partners in establishing the

policies and regulations needed to ensure the successful implementation of

the government's strategy, beginning with the allocation of new surgical

volumes for hip and knee replacements starting in 2024. Ontario's hospitals

are leaders in clinical innovation and will continue to develop new solutions to

strengthen Ontario's health care system, and ensure it meetsthe needs of the

patients it exists to serve."

- Anthony Dale

President and CEO, Ontario Hospital Association

Additional. Resources

a Vnr rr eelth' A Plen fnr Cnn artaA rnd /-nnrranianf frraH

o Ontario Connecting More People to Care at Home

o Ontario Connecting Long-Term Care Home Residents to More Diagnostic

Services

o Ontario Expanding Mental Health Services for Children and Youth in Every{

Corner of the Province

o Ontario Exoandins Learn and Stav Grant to Train More Health Care Workers

. New "As of Risht" Rules a First in Canada to Attract More Health Carelfforkets

to Ontario
o Ontario Reducing Wait Times for Surgeries and Procedures

r Pharmacists Now Treating Thirteen Common Ailments and Renewing

Prescriotions for Most Medications
r Visit ontario.calyourhealth to find the health care services you need, close to

home.

6t7



Related Topics

Government

Learn about the government services available to you and how government works.

Learn more 435
HeaLth and Wellness

Get help navigating Ontario's health care system and connecting with the programs

or services you're looking for. Learn more

Media Contacts

Hannah Jensen

Minister Jones' Office

Han na h. RJensen@ontario.ca

Anna Miller

Commun ications Division

media.moh@ontario.ca

416-314-6197

lrr.c*s:i1:iliiy

ll.';,,":-.-rJ

{tr;{;*ri'*::

{} i{ir-ig': P:'ii:i*r {i:r' {Jiri;r.it, ?lli ?--2r:i3

7t7



Health
Profession
Requlators
of 0ntarioFIPRO

|TEM 4.1.30 439
Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO)

Suite 301 - 396 Osborne St, PO Box 244,Beaverton ON LOK 1A0
email : bakenny@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca

web: www.regu lated health professions.on.ca

Ph on e : 416- 493 -407 6 / F ax: I-866-874-6456

February 9,2023

Allison Henry, Director
Health Workforce Regulatory Oversight Branch
Office of Chief Nursing and Professional Practice
Ministry of Health
438 University Ave, LOth Floor
Toronto ON M7A 1N3 Transmitted by email: Allison.Henry@ontario.ca

Re: As of Right Rules Legislation

Dear Ms Henry:

Thank you for giving the Health Profession Regulators of Ontario ("HPRO"), the opportunity to
provide feedback with respect to the proposal to allow practitioners registered in other
Canadian jurisdictions to practise in Ontario without being registered in the Province. We have
identified a number of areas that we believe will be helpful to the Ministry, and those have
been captured in Appendix A.

As the Government of Ontario further develops its proposal and legislative reforms, we suggest
there are existing provisions that will help the Government achieve its goal. Several existing
provisions in the Code would achieve what the recent proposal seems to be aimed at achieving
in a way that best protects the health and safety of Ontarians. We believe there are sufficient
options available under current registration practices and those in development.

The health regulatory Colleges certainly support initiatives that would enable a strong health
care system and safe, effective patient care. lt would be helpful if we could better understand
the Ontario Government's proposal and goals so that we can serve as partners with the
Ministry in finding more specific solutions.

We understand the Ministry's desire to consider novel solutions to remedy the shortages of
qualified health practitioners in the province. To that end, we believe that the existing labour
mobility provisions in the Health Professions Procedural Code, (the "Code"l, Schedule 2 to the
Regulated Health Professions Act, 1-997 (RHPA") currently give the Ministry the tools it needs
to allow Canadian practitioners to join the Ontario workforce quickly and safely.

The Code (sections 22.!6to22.23) already requires health regulators to register applicants who
are in good standing and currently registered in other Canadian jurisdictions without imposing
additional obligations on them. lt is our understanding that, for most health professions, it
takes less than a week to review a completed labour mobility application.



HPRO Letter re. As of Right Rules Legislation

The Code permits an Ontario health regulator to obtain a letter of standing from the applicant's

home jurisdiction to ensure that they meet the professional suitability (i.e., "good character",

maintained competencies) requirements, and this can happen even before the healthcare

professional arrives in Ontario, i.e., it does not delay registration processes. This is a crucial

requirement in order to protect the public in Ontario because the information that statutory
regulators are permitted to share with other statutory regulators generally goes beyond what is

found on the public registers of those bodies. HPRO would ask if the Ministry has views on the
tolerable length of time (in days) that it would take for a regulator to approve an out-of-
province application to ensure good standing in their home province.

The Ministry has also recently amended lhe RHPA to remove the ability of a regulator to
require Canadian experience. We would offer that insufficient time has passed to determine

whether this amendment will result in increased registration by internationally trained

applicants.

Regarding team-based care, provisions exist to support the best use of healthcare

professionals' scopes of practice. As raised as examples during our recent meeting, redeploying

trained healthcare professions to perform important but basic patient care duties like feeding

and ambulating, we suggest, is not an effective use of resources. lf the Ministry does not

believe the existing provisions in the RHPA and Code are sufficient to allow for more team-

based care, the Ministry could make a regulation under the RHPA, that applies to all colleges,

permitting members with sufficient knowledge, skills, and judgment to work outside of their
usual scope of practice along the lines of Regulation 3O5/2L which was in place under the
Emergency Manogement and Civil Protection Act last year.

HPRO is of the view that the proposal may introduce a lack of safeguards and additional risks to
the public, and we are open to discussing any further options to address scope of practice

impediments and solutions.

Sincerely,

440

{A*, !0,r,,

Elinor tarney, chJir

cc Stephen Cheng, Manager
HPRO Board of Directors

HPRO Letter to Director Allison Henry, MOH - February 9,2023 - Page 2



HPRO Letter re. As of Right Rules Legislation

441
APPENDIX A

The list below highlights what regulators take care of as part of regulation of healthcare
professionals. Without regulation, other organizations will need to consider how to identify,
prevent, and respond to these and other issues.

Authority

. HPRO has already heard from the regulators of some provinces that they will not serve

as regulators of members/registrants who are practising outside of their jurisdiction.

. The power of an investigator to summons documents and witnesses is a provincial

authority (i.e., it does not extend beyond provincial boundaries) so a regulator in

another jurisdiction would not be able to summons the documents or witnesses in

Ontario in the case of a complaint or disciplinary hearing about an occurrence in

Ontario. Regulators of other provinces will face barriers investigating a complaint in

Ontario, and Ontario health Colleges will have no authority to investigate the conduct of
the practitioner because they would not be registered in Ontario. This raises the crucial
issue of a lack of accountability and oversight relating to labour mobility professionals

who come to Ontario and are not required to register with a regulatory college. Some
mechanism to apply the RHPA provisions - especially those relating to complaints -
needs to be put in place.

. The proposal says that only those who have practiced safely, ethically and competently
in their home jurisdiction will be able to practise in Ontario, but how that will be

enforced is unknown, including who would determine that status.

o The sexual abuse provisions in the RHPA are some of the most robust in Canada but
those provisions will not be available to patients if they are sexually abused by a
practitioner who is not registered in Ontario.

. lt is a provincial offence to use a protected title in Ontario (such as nurse, doctor,
medical laboratory technologist) without being a member of the respective college.

Team-Based Care

. Differing scopes of practice between jurisdictions will need to be addressed, i.e., if the
scope of practice of a profession is broader in Ontario, the practitioner might not have

received the adequate education or training necessary to provide safe patient care.

. There is flexibility in the RHPA and profession-specific Acfs to allow hospitals to
implement efficient team-based care. There might be other remedies to resolve issues

related to health human resources by investigating financial aspects of recruitment and

retention, e.g., collective agreements that restrict who can do what in a hospital.

HPRO Letter to Director Allison Henry, MOH - February 9,2023 - Page 3



HPRO Letter re. As of Right Rules legislation

442
a

Regulatory History

The information on the public portion of a regulator's register is often only a small part

of the information known to the regulator about a practitioner, e.9., built-in terms
conditions, and limitations. Most regulatory statutes have confidentiality provisions

similar to the RHPA which prohibit a regulator in another province from sharing
information other than that on the public register to an Ontario employer or even the
Ontario government.

HPRO is aware of instances where some out-of-province practitioners applying through
the labour mobility process have been refused on the basis of a serious, ongoing
investigation or complaint. These decisions have been upheld by the Health Professions

Appeal and Review Board (or court in some cases). The only reason the current
complaint or investigation became known was through the letter of standing process.

Safeguards would be needed to be considered if that process will be bypassed and
practitioners, facing serious allegations that have not yet gone to a discipline hearing,

would be able to practise in Ontario.

a

Liability lnsurance

r An individual's professional liability insurance may not cover care given in a jurisdiction

other than the one in which the practitioner is registered.

. Some healthcare practitioners do not have individual liability insurance and are instead

covered by the insurance of their employer; as such it would not "travel" with them.

Use of Registration Number

. How third-party payors, e.g., OHIP, will be able to manage compensation processes

where payments are made based on healthcare practitioner registration numbers will
need to be considered.

Timing

e A recommendation of a much shorter timeframe for someone to practice without being
registered if the one year option continues to be pursued.

HPRO Letter to Director Allison Henry, MOH - February 9,2023 - Page 4



3117123,7:50 AM Bill 60, Your Health Act, 2023 - Legislative Assembly of Ontario

Home (www.ola.orgZen;-> Legislative business (www.ola.org/en/legislative-businessl-> All bills (www.ola.org/glggislative-business/bills)-D Current

(www.ola.org/enllegislative-business/bills/cunentl> Bill 60, Your Health Aat,2023

(www.ola-orp)
|TEM 4.1.31

Bill 60, Your Health Act, 2023

Jones-$gg$ylvig.(w!vw.ola.o!c/ms!sbe!94&b ybbjonesLMinis t er of He alth

Current status: Second Reading Ordered referred to Standing Committee

(www.ola.org/en/legislative-business/bil1s/parliament-43/sessi )

443

1,2023

March 1,2023

March 1,2023

'F"b*ury 28,2023

February 28,2023

,February 28,2023
;F"b*ury 27,2023

February 23,2023

February 22,2023

rFebruary 22,2023

,February 21,2023 ,First Reading

BiIl stage Event

,Second Reading ,Ordered referred to Standing Committee

,second Reading Vote

,Second Reading'Closure

,Second Reading

:second Reading

,Second Reading

,Second Reading

,second Reading

,second Reading

Second Reading

Outcome 'Committee

: Standing Committee on Social Policy

Carried on division -

Carried on division -

Vote deferred

Debate adjoumed

Debate adjourned

Debate adjoumed

Debate adjourned

Carried

Was this page helpful?

,Moved closure

Debated

Debated

.Debated

'Debated

,Debated

Debated

,Vote

https://www.ola.org/en/legislative-business/bills/parliament-43/session-1/bill-60/status 1t1



gl17ln,7:51 AM Bill 60, Your Health ACt, 2023 - Legislative Assembly of Ontario

Home (wwwola.orgren;_> Legislative business (www.ola.org/en/legislative-business)-> All bills (www.ola.org/en/legislative-business/bills)-> Current

(wwwola.org/edlegisld D Bill 60, Your Health Act,2023

(www.ola.org)

Bill 60, Your Health Act, 2023

Jones,-@Sy!!{www. ola.org/members/all/s vlu n-ioneslMinis t er of H e alth

444

a

o

a

a

a

o

a

current status; Second Reading ordered referred to Standing committee

(www.ola.org/en/legislative-business/bills/parliament-43/sessi )

(www. ol a. org I enl includes I libr arvl 87-A-695).

Acts affected - Bill60

The First Reading version of this bill proposed amendments to these acts (available to view on @(laury@sgttttps:llw'wwpst"rj9.callaws)-)

NursingAct, 1991

Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act

Public Hospitals Act

Respiratory Therapy Act, 1991

Narcotics Safety and Awareness Act, 2010

PharmacyAct, l99l
Ontario Medical Association Dues Act, 1991

MedicineAct, 1991

Medical Laboratory Technology Act, 1991

Fixing Long-Term Care Act,202l

Health Insurance Act

Healing Arts Radiation Protection Act

Tobacco Damages and Health Care Costs Recovery Act,2009

Commitment to the Future of Medicare Act,2004

Social Contract Act, 1993

Substitute Decisions Act, 1992

Regulated Health Professions AcI, l99l

Quality of Care Information Protection Act,2016

Private Hospitals Act

Gift of Life Act

Protecting What Matters MostAct (Budget Measures), 2019

Personal Health Information Protection AcI, 2004

Opioid Damages and Health Costs Recovery Act,2019

Plan to Build Ontario Together Act, 2019

Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care Appeal and Review Boards Act, 1998

Oversight of Health Facilities and Devices Ac1,2017

Independent Health Facilities Act

Health Protection and Promotion Act

Excellent Care for Al1 Act, 2010

Connecting Care Act, 2019

Simpler, Faster, Better Services Act, 2019

a

a

a

a

a

o

a

o

a

o

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

hftps://www.ola.org/en/legislative-business/bills/parliament-43/session-1/bill60/acts-affected
112



3117123,7:51 AM Bill 60, your Hea1h Act, 2023 - Legislative Assembly of Ontario

. Providing More Care, Protecting Seniors, and Building More Beds Act,Zl2l

. Economic and Fiscal Update Act, 2020

. The People?s Health CareAct,2019
445

Was this page helptul?

https://www.ola.org/en/legislative-business/bills/parliament-43/session-1/bill-60/acts-affected 2t2



446
Caution:
Bills are published by the Legislative Assembly in print and on its website. Thts copy hqs not been published by

the Legislative Assembly and is being providedfor convenience only.

Your Health 4ct,2023

EXPLANATORY NOTE

SCHEDULE 1

INTEGRATED COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICES CENTRES ACT,2023

The Schedule enacts the Integrated Community Health Services Centres Act, 2023 and makes

consequential and related amendments to several other Acts. The major elements of the Act are

described below.

Part I sets out interpretive provisions that apply to the Act and the application of the Act.

Part II provides for the appointment of one or more Directors, who have various functions,
duties and powers under the Act.

Part III provides for the licensing of integrated community health services centres and related
matters. It provides a prohibition for establishing and operating such a centre without a licence.

It also sets out the process for applying for licences, the considerations in issuing licences and

the processes for the renewal, relocation or transfer of licences. Provisions are provided for
orders by the Director to take control of a centre in certain circumstances and for the revocation,
suspension or amendment of licences. It also sets out requirements on all licensees, including the

requirement to comply with requirements under this Act and to comply with the applicable
quality and safety standards.

Part IV establishes the rules that apply with respect to payments and financial accountability. It
permits the Minister to pay for facility costs or other operating costs of integrated community
health services centres. It establishes a prohibition on charging afacility cost without a licence
and provides that facility costs may only be charged to, and accepted from, the Minister or a
prescribed person. It creates prohibitions on charging or accepting payments for providing a

preference in obtaining access to an insured service at an integrated community health services

centre. It also prohibits refusing to provide insured services to a person who chooses not to pay

for any product, device or service offered at the integrated community health services centre. It
also sets out situations in which payments may be refused or where the Minister may require
reimbursement of payments, such as when the service was not in fact rendered, and provides for
appeals from those payment decisions.

Part V establishes the procedures for inspections and the issuance of compliance orders.

Inspectors may be appointed by the Minister, the Director or an organizalion that is prescribed

as an inspecting body under the Act. Inspecting bodies are charged with several responsibilities,



44711

including performing inspections and establishing and publishing quality and safety standards.
The powers of inspectors to conduct inspections are set out. The Director and inspecting bodies
are given powers to issue compliance orders to require licensees to achieve compliance with the
Act.

Part VI sets out a number of miscellaneous provisions, including provisions respecting service,
the confidentiality of information and the liability of the Crown.

Part VII sets out offences under the Act and establishes the penalty for committing an offence. It
also empowers the Attorney General to seek a restraining order fbr contraventions of section 4
or 29.

Part VIII sets out the power to make regulations under the Act.

Part IX provides for the repeal of the Independent Health Facilities Act, the revocation of the
regulations made under that Act and the repeal of the Oversight of Health Facilities and Devices
Act, 2017.

Part X sets out consequential and related amendments

Part XI sets out the commencemcnt and short titlc of the Act set out in the Schedule.

SCHEDULN 2
REGULATED PROFESSIONS AMENDMENTS

The Schedule makes amendments to several Acts

In the Commitment to the Future of Medicare Act, 2004,the Fixing Long-Term Care Act, 2021,
the Gift of Lfe Act,the Health Insurance Act andthe Public Hospitals Act,the definitions of
"physician" are expanded to allow persons prescribed in the regulations to meet those
definitions. The amendments to the Fixing [,ong-Term Care Act, 2021 also allow prescrihed
persons to meet the definition for different classes of nurses, and include a regulation-making
power to set conditions on the manner in which prescribed persons may carry out their duties
and responsibilities under the Act.

The Healing Arts Radiation Protection Act is amended to allow for the operation of an x-ray
machine in accordance with a prescription from a prescribed person.

The Medical Laboratory Technology Act, 1991 , the Medicine Act, 199I , the Nursing Act, 199l
and the Respiratory Therapy Act, I99I are amended to add a new power allowing the Minister
of Health, with the approval of the Lieutenant Governor in Council, to make regulations
exempting persons from the restricted title provisions and the holding out provisions of those
Acts.



448
111

The Narcotics Safety and Awareness Act, 2010 is amended to expand the definition of
"dispenser" and "prescriber" to include prescribed persons. Persons who are prescribed as a

"prescriber" are exempt from the requirement to record their health profession College

registration number on a prescription.

The application of the Ontario Medical Association Dues Act, l99I is expanded so that the Act

applies to prescribed persons who are engaged in the practice of medicine in Ontario.

The Pharmacy Act, 1991 is amended to expand pharmacists' scope of practice to include the

assessment of conditions for the purposes of providing medication therapies.

SCHEDULE 3
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND PROTECTION OF PRIVACY ACT

The Schedule amends the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act to extend the

application of the Act to extra-ministerial data integration units that are not institutions under the

Act, or part of such institutions. In such cases, the Act applies to extra-ministerial data

integration units with specified modifications, including any modifications prescribed by the

regulations. A new requirement is imposed on senior officers of such extra-ministerial data

integration units to publish specified information on an annual basis.



449

Bill

1.

2.

3.
Schedule 1

Schedule 2
Schedule 3

2023

An Act to amend and enact various Acts with respect to the health system

CONTENTS

Contents of this Act
Commencement
Short title
Integrated Community Health Services Centres Act,2023
Regulated Professions Amendments
Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act

His Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly of the Province of
Ontario, enacts as follows:

Contents of this Act
1. This Act consists of this section, sections 2 and,3 and the Schedules to this Act.

Commencement
2. (l) Except as otherwise provided in this section, this Act comes into force on the day

it receives Royal Assent.

(2) The Schedules to this Act come into force as provided in each Schedule.

(3) If a Schedule to this Act provides that any provisions are to come into force on a
day to be named by proclamation of the Lieutenant Governor, a proclamation may apply
to one or more of those provisions, and proclamations may be issued at different times
with respect to any of those provisions.

Short title
3. The short title of this Act is the Your IIeaIth Act, 2023.



2 450

1.

2.

-1.

SCHEDULE 1

INTEGRATED COMMUNITY HEALTH SERVICES CENTRES ACT,2023

CONTENTS

Preamble

PART I
INTERPRETATION AND APPLICATION

Interpretation
Applicaiion of Act

PART II
DIRf,,C'T'OR

Director
PART III

LICENSING AND RELATED MATTERS
LICENCE APPLICATIoNS

Licence required
Call for applications
Issuance of licence
Minister may direct refusal to issue licence in respect of call for applications
Expiry and surrender oflicence

RENEWAL" RELocATroN. Tp"ANSFER. ETC.
Renewal of licence
Relocation
Transfer of licence
Order by Director to take control

REvocATroNS. SuspENsroNS. R-EFUSALS To RnNEw ANp LTCENCE AMENpMENTS
Revocation or suspension of licence
Amendments to conditions of licence
Process where Director refuses renewal, revokes or suspends, etc.
Hearings before the Board
Appeal from decision ofBoard
Minister's direction

LICENSEE REoUIREMENTS

Requirements for all applications
Rcquituuruuts ulr liuulscc
Truthfulness
Complaints process
Incident review process
Posting
Licence not to be used as security
Contracts
Share transfer
Duty of corporation to noti$r Director

PAYMENTS
Payments and facility costs
Record-keeping

PART IV
ANDACCOUNT

Refusal to pay if not required form, etc.
Refusal to pay, pay reduced amount or substitute amount: circumstances
Reimbursement, non-entitled person
Debt
Transition
Settlement
Interest
Hearing by Board
Powers of Board
Appeal to Board
Ontario Health lnsurance

PARTV
AI\D COMPLIAIICE

Inspectors
Inspecting bodies

4.
5.

6.
7.
8.

9.
10.

11.

12.

13.

t4.
15.

16.
17.
18.

19.
20.
2t.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.

29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.
39.
40.
41.

42.

4L

ABILITY

INSPECTIONS
INSPECTI0NS

ORDERS



J

44.
45.
46.
47.
48.

49,

50.
51.
52.
53.
54.
55.
56.
57.
58.
59.
60.
61.
62.

63.
64.

65.

66.
67.

68.
69.
70.
71.
72.
73.
74.
't5.

76.
77.
78.
79.
80.
81.
82.
83.
84.
85.
86.
87.

88.
89.

Inspections
copy
Order

constitutes evidence
to enter

451
Obstruction offence
Production order

Corvlpt-raNcp OR-pens

Compliance orders
PART VI

MTSCELLANEOUS
Consideration of past conduct
Service ofnotice
Not compellable witness
Protection of information
Certain documents
Filing with court
Publication
Confidentiality for inspecting body and inspectors
Personal information
Disclosure of information to the Director
Crown liability
No compensation
Transition

PART VII
OFFENCES AND COMPLIAI\CE

Offences
Restraining order

PART VIII
REGULATIONS

Regulations
PART IX

REPEALS AND REVOCATIONS
Independent Health Facilities Act
Oversight of Health Facilities and Devices Act, 2017

PART X
CONSEQUENTIAL AIID RELATED AMEI\DMENTS

Commitment to the Future of Medicare Act,2004
Connecting Care Act, 20 19

Excellent Care for All Act, 2010
Health Insurance Act
Health Protection and Promotion Act
Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care Appeal and Review Boards Act, 1998

Opioid Damages and Health Care Costs Recovery Act, 2019
Personal Health lnformation Protection Act, 2004
Plan to Build Ontario Together Act, 2019
Private Hospitals Act
Protecting What Matters Most Act (Budget Measures), 2019
Providing More Care, Protecting Seniors, and Building More Beds Act,2021
Public Hospitals Act
Quality of Care Information Protection Act, 2016
Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991

Simpler, Faster, Better Services Act,2019
Social Contract Act, 1993
Substitute Decisions Act, 1992
The People's Health Care Act, 2019
Tobacco Damages and Health Care Costs Recovery 4ct,2009

PART XI
COMMENCEMENTAND SHORT TITLE

Commencement
Short title

Preamble
The people of Ontario and their Goverirment:



4 452
Share a vision for connected and convenient care, where the health and wellbeing of all OHIP-
insured Ontarians is enabled through health services that are available at no cost to patients;

Commit to supporting access to safe, effective, equitable, efficient and pcrson-centred care;

Recognize the value of a healthcare system that collaboratively integrates publicly funded,
community-based health services with local and regional health system partners;

Intend to expand access to publicly ftinded community-based health services to improve patient
wait times, patient experience and access to care in a way that considers the needs of diverse,
vulnerable, priority and underserviced populations, taking into account linguistic needs; and

Acknowledge the importance of advancing initiatives to optimize health human resources today
and in the future.

PART I
INTERPRETATION AND APPLICATION

Interpretation
1. (1) In this Act,

ooBoard" means the Health Services Appeal and Review Board under the Ministry of Health and
Long-Tervn Care Appeal and Review Boards Act, 1998; ("Conrmission")

"compliance order" means an order made under section 49; ("ordre de conformit6")

"Director" means the Director or Directors appointed under section 3 and, where more than one
Director has been appointed, means the Director or Directors that have been assigned the
power, function or duty in the provision in which the term appears; ("directeur")

"facility cost" means,

(a) a charge, fee or payment for or in respect of a service or operating uost that,

(i) supports, assists and is a necessary adjunct, or any of them, to an insured
service, and

(ii) is not part of the insured service, or

(b) any other charge, fee or payment that is prescribed as a facility cost; ("co0ts
d'6tablissement")

"health facility" means a place in which one or more members of the public receive health
services and includes an integrated community health services centre; ("6tablissement de

sant6")



59

SCHEDULE 2
RB,GULATED PROFESSIONS AMENDMENTS

453

Commitment to the Future of Medicare Act, 2004
1. The definition of "physician" in section 8 of the Commitment to the Future of

Medicare Act, 2004 is repealed,and the following substituted:

"physician" means a legally qualified medical practitioner who is lawfully entitled to practise

medicine in Ontario or another prescribed person; ("m6decin")

Fixing Long-Term Care Act, 2021
2. (l) The definition of "physiciano'in subsection 2 (1) of the Fixing Long-Term Care

Act, 2021is repealed and the following substituted:

"physician" means a member of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario or another
person prescribed by the regulations; ("m6decin")

(2) The definition of "registered nurse" in subsection 2 (1) of the Act is repealed and
the following substituted:

"registered nurse" means a member of the College of Nurses of Ontario who holds a certificate
of registration as a registered nurse under the Nursing Act, l99l or another person prescribed

by the regulations; ("infirmidre autoris6e" or "infirmier autoris6")

(3) The definition of 6'registered nurse in the extended class'o in subsection 2 (1) of the
Act is repealed and the following substituted:

"registered nurse in the extended class" means a registered nurse who holds an extended

certificate of registration under the Nursing Act, I99I or another person prescribed by the

regulations; ("infirmidre autoris6e ou infirmier autoris6 de la cat6gorie sup6rieure")

(a) The definition of 'oregistered practical nurse" in subsection 2 (1) of the Act is
repealed and the following substituted:

"registered practical nurse" means a member of the College of Nurses of Ontario who holds a
certificate of registration as a registered practical nurse under the Nursing Act, I99l or
another person prescribed by the regulations; ("infirmidre auxiliaire autoris6e" or "infirmier
auxiliaire autoris6")

(5) Subsection 28 (4) of the Act is amended by adding the following paragraph:

3. Any other person prescribed by the regulations.

(6) Subsection 193 (2) of the Act is amended by adding the following paragraphs:



60

454
8.1 prescribing persons who are "physicians", ooregistered nurses", ooregistered nurses in

the extended class" or "registered practical nurses" for the purposes of this Act or for
the purposes of specilied provisions of this Act;

8.2 establishing and governing limitations, terms or conditions on the manner in which
persons referred to in paragraph 8.1 may carry out their duties and responsibilities
under this Act and the duties of licensees with respect to those persons;

Gift of Life Act
3. (1) The definition of "physician" in section 1 of the Gift of Life Act is repealed and

the following substituted:

"physician" means a member of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario or another
prescribed person; ("m6decin")

(2) Section 14 of the Act is repealed and the following substituted:

Regulations, Lieutenant Governor in Council
14. The Lieutenant Governor in Council may make regulations,

(a) prescribing persons for the puryoses of the definition of a "physician" in section 1;

(b) providing that the definition of "tissue" in section 1 includes one or more of the
following: bone marrow, spefinatozoa, an ovum, an embryo, a foetus, blood or blood
constituents.

Healing Arts Radiation Protection Act
4. (1) Clause 6 (1) (a) of the Healing Arts Radistion Protection Act is repealed and the

following substituted:

(a) a legally qualified medical practitioner or another person prescribed by the
regulations;

(2) Clause 6 (1) (g) of the Act is repealed and the following substituted:

(g) a member of the College of Nurses of Ontario who holds an extended certificate of
registration under the Nursing Act, 199I or another person prescribed by the
regulations.

Health fnsurance Act
5. The definition of "physician" in section 1 of the Health Insarance Act is repealed and

the following substituted:



455
61

"physician" means a legally qualified medical practitioner lawfully entitled to practise medicine
in the place where medical services are rendered by the physician or another prescribed
person; ("m6decin")

Medical Luboratory Technology Act, l99l
6. The Medical Laboratory Technology Act, 1991is amended by adding the following

section:

Minister regulations
12.1 Subject to the approval of the Lieutenant Governor in Council, the Minister may make

regulations exempting a person from subsection 9 (1) or (2) and setting conditions on such an
exemption.

Medicine Act, 1991
7. The Medicine Act, 1991is amended by adding the following section:

Minister regulations
12.2 Subject to the approval of the Lieutenant Governor in Council, the Minister may make

regulations exempting a person from subsection 9 (l) or (3) and setting conditions on such an
exemption.

Narcotics Safety and Awureness Act, 2010
8. (1) The definition of o'dispenser" in section 2 of the Narcotics Safety and Awureness

Act, 2010 is repealed and the following substituted:

"dispenser" means a person authorized, under a health profession Act as defined in the
Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, to dispense drugs or another person designated by
the regulations; ("pr6pos6 d la pr6paration")

(2) The definition of "Minister" in section 2 of the Act is repealed and the following
substituted:

"Minister" means the Minister of Health or such other member of the Executive Council to
whom the administration of this Act is assigned under the Executive Council Act;
("ministre")

(3) The definition of "prescriber" in section 2 of the Act is repealed and the following
substituted:

"prescriber" means a person authorized under a health profession Act, as defined in the
Regulated Health Professtons Act, 1991, to prescribe drugs or another person designated by
the regulations; ("personne autoris6e d prescrire des medicaments)

(4) Section 10 of the Act is amended by adding the following subsection:



62 456

Applicntion to prcscribcr that is not a membcr of a Collcgc
(3) A prescriber who is not a member of a College, as defined in the Regulated Health

Professions Act, I 99 I , is not required to record the ilformation required under paragraph 1 of
subsection (1).

(5) Subsection 17 (1) of the Act is amended by adding the following clause:

(a.1) designating persons for the purposes of the definition of a "dispenser" or "prescriber";

(6) Subsection 17 (2) of the Act is amended by striking out o'clause (1) (b)' in the
portion before clause (a) and substituting "clause (1) (a.1), (b)".

Nursing Act, 1991
9. The Nursing Act, 1991is amended by adding the following section:

Minister regulations
14.1 Subject to the approval of the Lieutenant Governor in Council, the Minister may make

regulations exempting a person from subsection 11 (1) or (5) and setting conditions on such an

exemption.

Ontario Medical Association Dues Act, 1991

10. (1) Subsection 1 (1) of the Ontario Medical Association Dues Act, 1991is repealed
and the following substituted:

Application- 
(1) This Act applies to,

(a) physicians who are legally qualified medical practitioners and who are engaged in the
practice of medicine in Ontario or who conduct health research in Ontario; and

(b) persons prescribed by the regulations made under this Act who are engaged in the
practice of medicine in Ontario.

(2) The Act is amended by adding the following section:

Regulations
9. The Lieutenant Governor in Council may make reguiations respecting any matter that this

Act describes as being prescribed or provided for in the regulations.

Pharmacy Act, 1991
L1. Section 3 of the Pharmacy Act, 1991is amended by striking out 65and" at the end of

clause (c), by adding 66and" at the end of clause (d) and by adding the following clause:



457 63

(e) the assessment of conditions for the purposes of providing medication therapies

Public Hospitals Act
12. (l) The definition of oophysician" in section L of the Public Hospitals Act is repealed

and the following substituted:

"physician" means a member of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario or another
prescribed person; ("m6decin")

(2) Subsection 32 (l) of the Act is amended by adding the following clause:

(v. 1) prescribing persons for the purposes of the definition of a "physician" in section 1 ;

Respiratory Therapy Act, 1991
13. The Respiratory Therapy Act, 1991is amended by adding the following section:

Minister regulations
12.1 Subject to the approval of the Lieutenant Governor in Council, the Minister may make

regulations exempting a person from subsection 9 (1) or (2) and setting conditions on such an
exemption.

Commencement
14. (1) Except as otherwise provided in this sectiono this Schedule comes into force on

the day the Your Health Act, 2023 receives Royal Assent.

(2) Sections 1 to 10,12 and 13 come into force on a day to be named by proclamation
of the Lieutenant Governor.



64 458
SCHEDULE 3

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND PROTECTION OF PRIVACY ACT

1. Part II of the Freedom of Infurmution und Protection of Privacy Act is amcndcd by
adding the following section:

Extra-ministerial data integration units
36.1 (1) Where an extra-ministerial data integration unit under Part III.1 is not an

institution, or part of an institution, the senior officer of the extra-ministerial data integration

unit shall cause to be published annually inforrnation respecting,

(a) where a request for a record should be made;

(b) the name, title, business telephone number and business address of the senior officer;

(c) a description of the unit's programs and functions as they relate to Part III.1;

(d) an indication of the general types of records that are prepared by or are otherwise in
the custody or under the control of the unit in relation to Part III.l ; and

(e) an inclication of any changes to the information previously published under this

section.

(2) The senior officer shall also cause the information to be provided to the responsible

minister upon its publication.

2. (l) Clause (a) of the definition of o'member" in subsection 49.1 (1) of the Act is
amended by striking out oowho works in the unit" and substituting "who works as part of
the unit".

(2) The French version of clause (b) of the definition of "member" in subsection 49.1

(1) of the Act is amended by striking out "qui travaille dans le service'o and substituting

"qui travaille au sein du service".

3. The Act is amended by adding the following section:

Application of Act to extra-ministerial data integration units
4g.l.l (1) Where an extra-ministerial data integration unit is not an instit'-rtion, or part of an

institution, the extra-ministerial data integration unit is deemed to also be an institution under

this Act, but only in respect of personal information that is collected by a member of the extra-

ministerial data integration unit under this Part, and, for that purpose, its senior officer is deemed

to be the head of the institution.



65

459
Modifications

(2) The application of this Act to an extra-ministerial data integration unit and its senior
officer under subsection (l) is subject to the following modifications:

1. Sections 31,32 and 33 do not apply with respect to the extra-ministerial data
integration unit.

Section 62 shall be read without reference to subsection 62 (3).

Any other modifications prescribed by the regulations

4. The English version of subclause 49.9 (1) (d) (i) of the Act is amended by striking out
6'ministerial data integration unit" and substituting 6'ministry data integration unit''.

5. Subsection 60 (1) of the Act is amended by adding the following clause:

(g.1) prescribing additional modifications to this Act for the purposes of subsection 49.1.1
(2);

Economic and Fiscal Update Act, 2020
6. Subsection 1 (2) and section 15 of Schedule 2 to the Economic and Fiscal (Ipdate Act,

2020 are repealed.

Commencement
7. (l) Except as otherwise provided in this section, this Schedule comes into force on

the day the Yoar Heulth Act, 2023 receives Royal Assent.

(2) Sections L to 5 come into force on a day to be named by proclamation of the
Lieutenant Governor.

2

J



|TEM 4.1.32
Rose Bustria 460
Sent:
To:
Cc:

From: Jo-Ann Willson
February 22,2023 12:43 PM

Rose Bustria

Joel Friedman
FW: Update on the Oversight of Health Facilities and Devices Act

Exec and Council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Toll Free: 1-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ('CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related
to the COVID-L9 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the emailor phone contact
information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 41-6-922-6355 ext. 100 or email
rece ption @ cco.o n.ca

and your inquiry will be directed appropriately,

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated
with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require accommodations, Please ensure that all communications with CCO are
respectful and professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
dishibution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in enor, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Ng, Vivian (MOH) <Vivian.Ng@ontario.ca> On Behalf Of Dicerni, Patrick (MOH)

Sent: Wednesday, February 22,2023 11:05 AM
To:'nancy.barrett@ccpm.ca'<nancy.barrett@ccpm.ca>;'olove@cdha.ca'<olove@cdha.ca>;
'smartel@cdha.ca'<smartel@cdha.ca>;'jjackson@cdha.ca'<jjackson@cdha.ca>;
'kavita.murthy@canada.ca'<kavita.murthy@canada.ca>;'nancy.barrett@comp-ocpm.cal
<nancy.barrett@comp-ocpm.ca>;'secretariat@crpa-acrp.ca'<secretariat@crpa-acrp.ca>;
'Julie.Himmelman@cancercare.on.ca' <Julie.Himmelman@cancercare.on.ca>; 'OH-
CCO_RTP@ontariohealth.ca'<OH-CCO_RTP@ontariohealth.ca>;'deanna.langer@cancercare.on.ca'
<deanna.langer@cancercare.on.ca>;'ActingRegistrar@cocoo.on.ca'<ActingRegistrar@cocoo.on.ca>;
'nzwiers@cocoo.on.car <nzwiers@cocoo.on.ca>; Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>;
'dadams@cdho.org'<dadams@cdho.org>;'gpettifer@denturists-cdo.com' <gpettifer@denturists-
cdo.com>; 'linda.gough@cmrito.org' <linda.gough@cmrito.org>; 'ED@cnomail.org' <ED@cnomail.org>;

'nwhitmore@cpso.on.ca' <nwhitmore@cpso.on.ca>; 'rhamilton@collegept.org'
<rhamilton@collegept.org>; 'kmichell@caho-hospitals.com' <kmichell@caho-hospitals.com>;
'prez@dhpo.ca' <prez@dhpo.ca>;' kstilwell@denturistassociation.ca'
<kstilwell@denturistassociation.ca>;'info@denturistassociation.ca'<info@denturistassociation.ca>;

'doug.watt@ehealthontario.on.ca'<doug.watt@ehealthontario.on.ca>;'rina.mafrici@canada.ca'
<rina.mafrici@canada.ca>;'ba kenny@regulated hea lthprofessions.on.ca'
<bakenny@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca>;'Michelle.Rossi@hqontario.ca'

Subject:

1



<Michelle.Rossi@hqontario.ca>;'Anna.Greenberg@hqontario.ca'<Anna.Greenberg@hqontario.ca>;
'ghartman@truenorthimaging.com'<ghartman@truenorthimaging.com>;'commissioner@ipc.on.ca'
<commissioner@ipc.on.ca>; 'info@ipc.on.ca' <info@ipc.on.ca>; 'aGillani@iqmh.org'
<aGillani@iqmh.org>; 'info@iqmh.org' <info@iqmh.org>; 'dcooper@npao.org' <dcooper@npao.org>;

'info@oamponline.net.' <info@oamponline.net.>; 'toffnerg@oamrs.org' <toffnerg@oamrs.org>;

'mail@oarinfo.ca' <mail@oarinfo.ca>; 'headoffice@oarm.org' <headoffice@oarm.org>;

'cbrereton@chiropractic.on.ca'<cbrereton@chiropractic.on.ca>;'ngale@chiropractic.on.ca'
<ngale@chiropractic.on.ca>; 'tfitzpatrick@odaa.org' <tfitzpatrick@odaa.org>; 'odapresident@oda.ca'
<odapresident@oda.ca>;'dgentili@oda.ca'<dgentili@oda.ca>;'president@odha.on.ca'
<president@odha.on.ca>; Anthony Dale <adale@oha.com>; 'vickim@ona.org' <vickim@ona.org>;

'dsauve@opa.on.ca'<dsauve@opa.on.ca>;'contact@opma.ca'<contact@opma.ca>;
'president@ontariochiropodist.com'<president@ontariochiropodist.com>;'dgracey@cggroup.com'
<dgracey@cggroup.com>;'NMozayani@radiationsafety.ca'<NMozayani@radiationsafety.ca>;
'dgrinspun@rnao.ca'<dgrinspun@rnao.ca>;'dfaulkner@rcdso.org'<dfaulkner@rcdso.org>; Ron Gersh

<ron@theccsgroup.ca>;'info@thermographyclinic.com'<info@thermographyclinic.com>
Cc: Dicerni, Patrick (MOH)<Patrick.Dicerni@ontario.ca>; Pinkney, Laura (MOH)

<Laura.Pinkney@ontario.ca>; Sarta, Neeta (MOH) <Neeta.Sarta@ontario.ca>

Subject: Update on the Oversight of Health Facilities and Devices Act

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments

unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Hello,

On February 2nd, the government released Your Health: A Plan for Connected and
Convenient Care ("lhe Plan"). The P/an puts people at its heart, by adding and
expanding health care services closer to home. This long-term plan is built on three
pillars: The Right Care in the Right Place, Faster Access to Care, and Hiring More
Health Care Workers.

Through the Plan, the government is working to expand the delivery of OHIP-insured
surgeries that can be safely performed outside of hospitals into community-based
centres currently named lndependent Health Facilities (lHFs). Patients with valid OHIP
coverage will be able to access these insured services at no charge. This expansion will
position Ontario to better meet the surgical care needs of a growing, aging population.

On February 21,2023, the government introduced lhe lntegrated Community Health
Selrzrces Centres Act,2023 (ICHSCA) as Schedule 1 under Bill 60, Your Health Act.
2023. lf passed, this new legislation would repeal the current lndependent Health
Facilities Acf, building on that legislative framework by:

Changing the name and definition of 'lndependent Health Facility'to
'lntegrated Community Health Services Centre' (ICHSC) to better reflect the
purpose and role of these centres;
Expanding existing quality oversight frameworks through the implementation
of a new ICHSC Quality Assurance program;
lmproving health system integration, oversight and planning by enabling the
appointment of more than one ICHSC Director to enable appropriate
oversight of ICHSCs and integrated system planning, and by taking into
account the needs of diverse, vulnerable, priority and underserviced
populations, and linguistic needs.

461

a

a

a

2



a

Reducing red tape and financial burdens for ICHSC licensees, including by
removing administrative fees, streamlining the call for applications process;
Protecting patients by prohibiting IHCSCs from requiring a patient to purchase
something in order to access OHIP-covered services, including ICHSCs in the
mandate of the Patient Ombudsman, and by requiring ICHSC to have a
process for addressing complaints; and
Protecting Health Human Resources by expanding access to services in a
way that takes into account the availability of sustainable health human
resources in the health system.

462
a

lf passed, the legislation and corresponding regulations and program changes will
modernize the oversight of lCHSCs, ensuring patient safety and quality of care is
maintained at the highest standards.

This legislation also proposes to repeal the Oversight of Health Facilities and Devices
Act, 2012 (OFHDA), which was intended to establish a regulatory scheme for
community health facilities and energy applying and detecting medical devices. OFHDA
was passed in 2017 but has not been proclaimed into force. ln order to ensure a
seamless passage of the proposed legislation, ICHSCA, once passed, would repeal
OHFDA.

In the time since OFHDA was passed, the ministry has taken targeted steps to
modernize the Healing Arts Radiation Protection Acf (HARPA), including implementing
updated safety standards in 2022.

Oversight and quality assurance of private hospitals will continue to be regulated
through the Private Hospitals Act. For corporations that are granted a license to provide
community-based surgical services, the quality of those services will be overseen using
the same quality assurance framework and regulations that will apply to all lCHSCs.

Additional details on these changes are available in the government's news release

Please let me know if you have any questions.

Regards,

Patrick
Patrick Dicerni (he/him)
Assistant Deputy Minister I Health Programs and Delivery Division
Ministry of Health

647-588-5345

ontarmB

3



3113123,9:31 AM Ontario considers expanding scope of practice for nurses, pharmacists, and more I CP24.com

trEM 4.1.33
Ontario considers expanding scope of practice for nurses,
pharmacists, and more

She did not offer information on how "short term basis" or periods of "high patient 
RELATED STORIES

volume" will be defined.

The ministry is tooking at giving registered nurses prescribing powers, allowing nrr"" iljij'],1]jorv 
to meet h€arth-care

practitioners to order and apply defibrillation and apply ECGs, allowing pnur*l"iti" :,""f.,::":J#:rspendins 
and

to administer "certain substances" by injection or inhalation, and allowing
chiropodists, midwives, naturopaths and optometrists to prescribe more drugs, :n1".'n.n:'"'nn's 

real:'Nurses call

among other expansions, Jensen said. 
ror ontario lo slrensthen tho

profession

"Maximizing professional scopes to increase flexibility is a lesson learned from the ontario hospitals optimistic health-

COVID-1 g pandemic and a key part in building a healthcare system that is easier to rerom billwill prevent drain or

navigate and provides Ontarians with access to faster, more convenient care, when worksrs

and where they need it," She Said in the Statement. More nurses and doctors prioritvfor

Ontario under possible federal health

Doris Grinspun, CEO of the Registered Nurses'Association of Ontario, said d6al: Ford

prescribing powers for registered nurses would be great news, as her association
has been pushing for it for more than 10 years.

"lt will transform primary care overnight" by taking pressures off the rest of the system, she said.

463

a

announcement on heallhcare wilh Premier lJoug Ford in the province in Toronto, lvlonday, Jan. 16, 2023, THE CANADIAN PRESS/Frank Gunn

Allison Jones and Liam Casey, The Canadian Press

Published Thursday, March 9,2023 2:43PM EST

Last Updated Thursday, March 9, 2023 5:07PM EST

TORONTO - Ontario is considering expanding the scope of what certain health professionals, such as nurses, can do

in periods of "high patient volumes."

A spokesperson for Health Minister Sylvia Jones said in a statement that the government has already recently

expanded the scope of practice for pharmacists, allowing them to prescribe for certain conditions, and allowing nurse
practitioners to order MRI and CT scans, and now the government is looking to give more professionals more powers.

"Our government's Your Health act, if passed, will increase staffing levels on a short term basis to manage periods of
high patient volume by allowing health care professionals to work outside of their regular responsibilities," Hannah

Jensen wrote.

,W/,-1,,
!@o

Your heal,th

1t4



3113123,9:31 AM Ontario considers expanding scope of practice for nurses, pharmacists, and more I CP24.com

464"We welcome the change."

A key aim of the legislation is to allow more private clinics to offer certain publicly funded surgeries and procedures, in

a bid to lower wait times, though critics are concerned about the expansion of private delivery of public health care.

The NDP and the Ontario Health Coalition advocacy group raised concerns Thursday about language in the health bill
they say could deregulate certain health professions and allow people to call themselves doctors and nurses, even if
not necessarily qualified.

Jones said at an unrelated announcement in Hamilton that section of the bill is intended to allow for new "as of right"
rules, which would let health professionals work in Ontario without having to immediately register with the regulatory
colleges in this province.

Liberal health critic Adil Shamji said he suspects that is indeed what that schedule of the bill is intended to do, but he
criticized the Progressive Conservatives for leaving that and too much else in the bill up to regulations that get
decided by government and not debated in the legislature as part of the legislation itself.

"The devil is in the details," he said

"lt is unfortunate that we are facing very significant changes to things like the definition of regulated health
professionals, without having the opportunity for input by the legislators, by all of us, and by the public in order to give
the best input and share good insight."

This report by The Canadian Press yyas first published March 9, 2023.

TOP VIDEOS

London man
arrested after
lengthy standoff

LOCAL NEWS

Millard, Smich bring
appeals before
Ontario's highest
court in Bosma,
Babcock murders

Ontario municipalities feel impacls of

housing law, worry over little audit

progress

Flair Airlines has 4 Third anniversary
planes seized of COVID

pandemic

WORLD NEWS

lran judiciary head:
22,000 arrested in
protests pardoned

Michael Cohen to testify before grand

jury in Trump hush money probe

US, South Korea hold drills as North sub

test-fires missiles

REAL ESTATE NEWS

These are the Ontario
communities that are
expected to see the
biggest home price
declines

Toronto-area home prices down 1B%

from last February sales halved: board

Canadian commercial real estate

investment could reach high of $59B in

rFT:l

2t4



3113123,9:47 AM G6linas worried unregistered health workers might abuse system - Sudbury News

sudbury@f
|TEM 4.1.34

465

G6linas worried unregistered health workers might abuse
system
Sudbury.com Staff
20h

NDP official oppositian health critic France G6linas spoke out against Ontario Bill 60 at a news

conference at Queen's Park Friday, (Ontario Parliamentary Channel)

Listen to this article

00:02:31

Nickel Belt MPF France G6linas is continuing her fight against the proposed Bill 60, the

plan by the Ontario government to reduce wait times for surgeries and also to recognize

the credentials of health care workers registered in other provinces and territories.

https://wvwv.sudbury.com/local-news/gelinas-worried-unregistered-health-workers-might-abuse-system-6685510?utm_source=Email_Share&utm_med.. . 113



3113123,9:47 AM G6linas worried unregistered health workers might abuse system - Sudbury News

466
Speaking at the Queen's Park media studio on Friday, G6linas said there is a serious

problem in that one section of the bill could allow for professional health care titles to be

misused by those who might not be registered or qualified to hold those titles.

Gelinas was referring to Schedule-2 of Bill 60

"Currently the titles of physician, nurse, registered practical nurse, respiratory therapist,

laboratory technician are all protected titles for health professionals that are supervised by

a lrealth college," G6linas told reporters.

G6linas said the professional health colleges ensure that the registered health-care worker

has achieved a prescribed level of education and experience.

She said by removing that requirement, there is the possibility that certain titles can be

used by people who are not registered, and possibly not qualified.

"The college ensures that the title is held by a professional with prescribed level of

education, experience and is registered" G6linas said.

"schedule 2 of Bill 60 allows these titles to be used by people who are not registered

members of a regulatory health college," she added.

Gelinas said the danger that exists is that a for-profit health clinic might decide to use an

unregistered health worker to perform duties that should only be done by registered health

workers. The difference she said is in the rate of pay. lt can be a lot cheaper to use an

unregistered health worker than a fully qualified Registered Nurse, for example.

The other concern is that the definition of a physician, according to Schedule-2, means a

legally qualified medical practitioner who is lawfully entitled to practice medicine in

Ontario, or "another prescribed person," said the NDP news release. The concern is that so

far there is no description of another prescribed person.

ln order for people to receive quality care they need to trust that the physician or the nurse

or the respiratory therapist in front of them have the knowledge and the skills of that

profession, said Gelinas.

Bill 60 has passed second reading and will be brought before the Ontario Legislature's

Social Policy Committee for public comment on March 20 and 21.

https://www.sudbury.com/local-news/gelinas-worried-unregistered-health-workers-might-abuse-system-6685510?utm-source=Email-Share&utm-med... 2/3



3l'13123,9:47 AM Gdlinas worried unregistered health workers might abuse system - Sudbury News

Reader Feedback (zl

467
Op_ik t e h

The professional health colleges also ensure that doctors and nurses from other countries are

driving taxis or working at a fast food place. These colleges are also there to insure that Ontario

health care graduates have the highest paying jobs because there is such a shortage. There

should be a system set up to fast track foreign health care workers skills development in Ontario

as long as they agree to work in under served communities for five years. LU and NOSM would

be great places to try this training out.

nt_
UI

Boosters Forall z tr

Opik,

Maybe for PSWs, but I want my Drs and RNs to be as highly trained and competent as possible

Do you want them to mess up when it's your health on the line?

Would you approve of fast tracking pilots in a pilot shortage?

I wouldn't

Add to the story Have a story idea?

Report a mistake Ask a question

I

https://wrarw.sudbury.com/locat-news/gelinas-worried-unregistered-health-workers-might-abuse-system-66855'10?utm-source=Email-Share&utm-med
3/3



|TEM 4.1.35
Rose Bustria 468
From:
Sent:
To:
Subiect:

Jo-Ann Willson
April 5, 2023 1:04 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: Ontario to expand list of tests midwives can order - The Canadian
Press

Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 111

Toll Free: 1-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services cont:nue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related
to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the emailor phone contact
information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 43-6-922-6355 ext. 100 or email
reception@cco.on.ca
and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated
with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require accommodations, Please ensure that all communications with CCO are
respectful and professional,

CONFI DENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

Ontario to expand list of tests midwives can order: midwives sav it's a
first step
April 5,2023

TORONTO - Ontario is set to expand the list of tests midwives can

order and perform, as part of the government's push to increase

community care options and ease health system pressures.

L



However, midwives say that while the step is welcome,

government regulations are still preventing them from practising

within their full scope.

They have been pushing for the government to remove those

listsentirely, as well as the list of drugs they can prescribe, and just

allow midwives to order the full range of tests and medications

used in pregnancy and post-partum care.

"The big problem with lists is that they quickly become out of date

when there is new evidence or when there are shifting standards

of practice," said Jasmin Tecson, president of the Association of

Ontario Midwives.

Further expansions would help clients receive care even more

quickly and would eliminate unnecessary doctor and hospital

visits, the midwives say.

"We are definitely in line with the provincial government's

priorities around serving client needs like convenient accessible

care for health-care consumers in the community, where they're

at, and where and when they have that need," Tecson said.

Part of the government's plan for giving people more convenient

health-care optlons closer to home involves "rnaxirttizirtg llte

expertise of our health care workforce by expanding scopes of

practice," Health Minister Sylvia Jones said in a recent letter to

the chair of the College of Midwives of Ontario.

"To that end, I am delighted to inform you that the ministry has

begun the work to advance a proposal to expand midwives'

authority to order additional laboratory tests as well as to allow

midwives to perform certain point of care tests," Jones wrote.

469

2



Claire Ramlogan-Salanga, the chair of the college, said the college

is still in talks with the government on expanding the drugs

midwives can prescribe, though the ultimate goal is doing away

with the lists.

"The aim is to get us to that place to have clients have ... equal

access to drugs and tests in the pregnancy and postpartum that

they would get with any other health-care provider providing the

same care," she said in an interview.

"lt just feels like that (lab test) piece, we're having actual traction

and we're able to move forward and that we're really pleased

about. We just have the other component that still needs

pushing."

The college on March 27 sent the government a list of tests it

wants to see added for now and isn't sharing that list while it

waits to hear back. But one example cited by Tecson is non-

invasive prenatal testing, which is genetic testing if an initial

screen finds an increased likelihood of Down Syndrome.

When it comes to medications, older versions of a drug to manage

post-partum hemorrhaging are on the list, but not better and

newer ones, Tecson said. They are also unable to prescribe

medications for severe nausea and vomiting in pregnancy.

It has been frustrating to see how quickly the government has

expanded the scope for pharmacists, Tecson said. Ontario

announced in its budget last month that pharmacists would be

able to prescribe for six more common ailments, in addition to the

13 added to their powers earlierthis year, and is considering

further expansions.

"We know that an expeditious process and creativity from the

government is possible and that's very heartening, and so our ask

470

3



for the government is that that same creative thinking, that same

commitment to facilitating a change for the sake of improved

health care happen for midwives and their clients," Tecson said.

The government has said it is considering other scope expansions

for health professionals, including allowing registered nurses to

prescribe, allowing nurse practitioners to order and apply

defibril lators and ECGs, and allowing chiropod ists/pod iatrists,

optometrists and naturopaths to prescribe more drugs.

Jessica Carfagnini, a board member of the Ontario Association of

Naturopathic Doctor, said their hopes are similar to the midwives'

- to be able to prescribe whatever they deem medically

necessary. Leaning more on naturopaths would ease pressures on

family doctors as well as lower health system costs, since

naturopath services are not covered by the Ontario Health

lnsurance Plan, she said.

"l really think that they have a huge opportunity here," she said.

"lf they turn their analysis towards naturopathic medicine, they

can see that there are really highly educated qr,ralified primary

health-care practitioners in the province of Ontario who are

willing to help, but just right now, our hands are tied."

The Ontario Society of Podiatrists has also been asking for the

province to do away with a list of drugs they can prescribe,

because it becomes so out of date in between updates. They also

want the province to allow their members to order lab tests such

as X-rays, CT scans, MRls and ultrasounds, and communicate a

diagnosis to a patient.

This report by The Canadian Press was first published April 5,

2023.

&71

4



Shawn Cruz (he/him)
Research Associate, Counsel Public Affairs lnc.
95 St. Clair Avenue West, Suite 1606, Toronto, ON, M4V 1N5

Cz 647.828.3779 | counselpa.com | @CounselPA

Subscribe to l's lnsishts

This e-mail is intended only for the person(s) named above and may contain information that
is privileged and confidential. lf you are not an intended recipient of this e-mail you are

hereby notified that any retaining, disseminating distribution or copying is strictly
prohibited. lf you are not an intended recipient of this e-mail please notify us immediately by

a collect telephone call to the above number. Thank you for your cooperation,

472

5



3l Marsh
ITEM 4.1.38 493

Cyber resiliencei 12 key controls to
strengthen your security

Cyberattacks continue to dominate news headlines, driven by a surge in

ransomware events, which increased by an overwhelming 148o/o in 2021. The

perpetrators of these attacks now demand multimillion-dollar ransom

payments as they cripple a business's operations, bringing them to a standstill

until a payment is made.

As cyberattacks become more prolific, related insurance claims follow, meaning

underwriters have been able to identifo a correlation between certain controls

and corresponding cyber incidents. Through this analysis and the continuous

examination of relevant data points, the insurance industry has a rich

understanding of the technical steps that organizations can take to build their

cyber resiliency.

However, due to the growth in attritional losses, consequently insurers are now

taking a much more cautious position. Insurers are tightening their

underwriting terms, carefully analyzing all cyber insurance applications, and

asking more questions than ever before about an applicant's cyber operating

environment and risk controls.

The adoption of certain controls has now become a minimum requirement of

insurers, with organizations' potential insurability on the line. Organizations are

undoubtedly placing more emphasis on controls than ever before to help

mitigate their ransomware risks and improve their overall cybersecurity

position and resilience.



Organizations are recommended to implement a number of cyber hygiene

controls that are key to achieving cyber resilience and insurability.
494

q

MutHa* tor arrili€fitkstfon
fog renute atcesr alrd
*fiiri/lnMt*ged

ft lvl*eged Acecr*
f'lal*geol€nt {PAt'u

Cybcr incidmt r c*pome
Filtuhrg ard teillng

t otrfu W i$$ nnrnitorinXtrf
netut(t proteeiiorut

Enu* filt**llrgalxt v*b
:ecrrrity

Saf, u *dlr *rir t ypt*{[. $rd
tffte$h*clrrps

PJtrlt il rfln{gan}ant nlr$
rn llner ability l$arlag€rtrcrrt

Vxrtlorldigital slrBpty c{rahr
t'ble nr*nagelrnirt

€rldpoht Dctectiolr
Rcaponss tEDnl

Cyb,ei *culity a*r{lensrs
t ahing ant! fld$bhrE tcsting

Hardrn&gt€chni e*
irctudlq*enrotcD*$ftop
ProtQcol tlD9) mitigation

E{d-ot-*Ie tystsn$
rep{acrdor fnotected

While these controls have been established best practice for several years,

some companies are still struggling to adopt them - most often because they

have been unable to justify the cost of implementation, did not deploy them

comprehensively, or did not understand or see the need for controls. In many

regulated industries where cyber resilience controls have been required for
years, the effort was often more about checking a box, than enhancing security.

a

o
c.8

I
lll

I

frt



Take action now 4gs
Marsh has recommended 12 key cybersecurity controls providing practical deep

dives into their characteristics and requirements. Download our report to start

bu ilding your organization's cyber resi I ience.

In addition, Marsh's Cyber Self-Assessment diagnostic empowers your

organization to evaluate your maturity in relation to these controls, and your

cybersecurity program in general. Based on the NIST cybersecurity framework,

this online diagnostic tool is a robust, secure yet easy to use form that allows

different functions within the same organization to contribute their input. The

diagnostic scorecard and report is useful both to prepare for insurance

underwriting submissions and also to identify vital areas of improvement.

fu4ursPc Mci-er:rrarr is t[']e leerfer iar r"isk, s"frrecegy artd pe*p!e, *leEplr':g e$ier;ts

maviga?:e a dynanris envi:'el'lnt*nt ei:e"*e"rgh fr*ua" ggF*hell ba;si!,e*5s*5"

i"rlx l's 9-"r

r-i liiyCa rp*nc*a"

ff!er**r'

e:iiv*r'k1fys,Yi&*"r

*$u*n
Terms *f rj:e Frivacy not;{e {o*l<ie nclice ivlMB Web:ite Discicsr,:i"e Ma*age {nakies

O 2023 h"4arsh Ll-C. All Righls Re:erved



Jo-Ann Willson |TEM 4.1.39
Registrars < registrars-bounces@ regulated healthprofessions.on.ca > on
behalf of Beth Ann Kenny
< ba ke n ny@ reg u I ated h ea lth p rofessio ns.o n.ca >

Monday, March 13,2023 7:06 PM

Beth Ann Kenny

[Registrars] Reminder: RSVP - CDHO Regulatory Cybersecurity Summit
ATT00001.txt

496
From:

Sent:
To:
Subject:
Attachments:

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

This emoil is being forwarded to you on behalf of the College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario (reminder of
March 6th invitation).

View this email in vour browser

Presenters

1

ReguNatony Cybersecurity Summit

Thursday, March 23,2A23 - 2:00 p.m. to 4:00 p.m.

r')))

(<(. .

{3.r (<{i(

V
(((.' @

<(1i{

<(((

oooo

'.'ti'".-:1.-1i

Dental Hygienists
, 'i-)r ,'lir

:t ll.l

. . rll&l



Marek Druviega Busrness Development Manager, The Syscomm Group

Cybersecurity Threats Are Mitigated at the Network and Organizational

Jon Oliva IT Manager, Colleoe of Dental Hygienists of Ontario

KnowBe4 Platform Demonstration

Edward Gho College of Optometrists of Ontario

Cyber lncident Response Plan

Floyd Garvey College of NursesptOntg'io - Cyber lncident Presentation

HIROC Representative HIROC - lnsurance Requirements and lmplications

497

Please click !!RE to RSVP. Zoom link will be emailed in advance of March 23rd

Feel free to forward this invitation to other individuals at your organization

We would be happy to include everyone!

o@0
Copyright (C) 2023 College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario. All rights reserued

You are receiving this email because you opted in via our website.

Our mailing address is:

College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario

175 Bloor St E

Suite 601N

Toronto, On M4W3R8

Canada

Add us to your address book

2



316123,3:4'l PM Navigating Cybersecurity Risks: A Legal Update on Protecting Against Cyber Threats in Canada and the US I Navigating Cybersec

You're invited I Navigaling Cybersecurity Risks View on web

WeirFogfulsr,rr 498

Navigating Gybersecurity Risks:
A Legal Update on Protecting Against Cyber Threats in

Ganada and the United States

Wednesday, March 29,2023 | 11:30 a.m. - 'l:30 p.m.

Organizations are increasingly dependant on digital leclrnologies. and with thal comes greater exposure

to cyber security risks. Cyberattacks are affecting organizations across industries and are becoming more

sophisiicated. According to the Canadian Centre for Cyber Security, cybercrime is the most common

threat faced by Canadian organizaiions of all sizes.

While the cyber risks faced by organizations are similar regardless of whether located in Canada or the

United Slates, the legal obligations. risks. and liabilities differ based upon whether Canadian, US or both

sels of laws apply. As many organizations have cross-border operations, it's important 1o understand the

dilferences and how 1o respond to and comply with one's obligations.

Join us for a discussion abou{ how Canadian cybersecurily and privacy laws compare to laws in the

United Staies and how to proteci against cybersecurity risks.

Our presenters will cover the following topics:

. How 1o mitigate the risk of a breach

. Cross-border considerations

. Cybersecurity trends in Canada and the United States

. Legislative reform

** The program has been accredited for 1 .15 hour of substantive content by the Law Society of Ontario.



Joel Friedman |TEM 4.1.40

Jo-Ann Willson
Wednesday, March 8,2023 9:35 AM
Matthew Pierce

Joel Friedman

RE: CBC Media Request - HPARB Delay Notices

499
From:
Sent:
To:
Cc:

Subject:

Hello Mathew,

Thank you for your interest in the regulation of chiropractic in Ontario. As you know, like all other health regulators in
Ontario, it is the responsibility of the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC) to ensure that a fair and

thorough investigation is conducted, and that an appropriate decision is reached based on the results of investigation.
The obligation to uphold both the fairness and thoroughness of the process is prescribed by legislation and is taken very
seriously by CCO.

Sometimes during an investigation there are extenuating circumstances that affect the duration of the committee's
work and result in a notice of delay. These circumstances can include, but are not limited to, delays arisingfrom:

o Collection of records from the insurance companies

o Collection of supporting documentation from complainants

o Collection of supporting documentation from other health care practitioners or hospital records

. Responses from the member

o Availability of complainant for an interview

o Volume of records provided.

As you noted, some investigations will result in more than one notices of delay being sent to a single complainant.

The CCO received 275 complaints in 2O2O, I37 complaints in 2021 and L27 complaints in 2O22.ln 2O22,1-7 complainants
received a notice of delay and 12 complainants received more than one notice. The majority of complaints were
disposed of in a timely manner consistent with the requirements of the Reguloted Heolth Professions Act, 7997.The
ICRC meets monthly to'address all inquiries, complaints and reports received by CCO. A complete record of the work of
CCO's ICRC is published annually in CCO's Annual Report and includes anonymized data on the nature and provenance of
complaints, and summary of actions taken. Annual Reports are published on the CCO website under publications and

may assist you in your research.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 522-6355 ext. 1'11

Toll Free: 1 -877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on,ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related to the COVID-19
global pandemic. ln-office services are ava!lable by appointment only. Please use the emaii or phone contact information above or, if you require
urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 41"6-922-6355 ext. 100 or email reception@cco.on.ca

1



and your inquiry will be directed appropriately 500
CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated with dignity and

respeci. Please contact us if you require accommodations. Please ensure that al! communrcations with CCO are respectful and professional.

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or
disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including any

aftachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Matthew Pierce <matthew.pierce@cbc.ca>

Sent: Tuesday, March 7 ,2023 1:28 PM

To: cco.info <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Subject: CBC Media Request - HPARB Delay Notices

CAUTION EXTERNAI.: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have

verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Hello,

I work at CBC News in Toronto

lnformation I recently received from the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board indicates that between January

and December 2022 your college issued 57 complaint process delay notices as required by the RHPA when the
resolution of complaints against members extend beyond legislated timelines.

ln light of this, could you please answer the following questions?

1. How many individual complainants received delay notices regarding their complaints in 2022? I understand that a

single complainant may receive multiple delay notices in a year, and want to report information about delays at the

college accurately.

2. How many of your memhers are involved in a complaint process where a delay notice has been issued?

3. Are there any extenuating circumstances that have caused delays with the college's complaint proceedings?

I intend to report a story on HPARB delay notices this week. lf you could please provide a response by Thursday, I would

greatly appreciate it.

Thank you,

L4atlhew Piei'ce

Associate Prcducei", e 8f News

2



3113123,9:41 AM Backlogged tribunals creating 'distress'for Ontarians waiting months or years to be heard I CBC News

|TEM 4.1.41,ilcBc Q Search !, sign ln

Toronto

Backlogged tribunals creating'distress' for Ontarians
waitirry monUrs or years tobe heard

Tribunals Ontario says it is making progress in addressing delays

Muriel Draaisma . CBC News . Posted: Mar 11 ,2023 4:00 AM EST I Last Updated: March 1 1

Shawn Hsiao, a rooming house tenant in Toronto, is pictured here in a blue jacket and toque, with a

roommate, a neighbour and friends in October 2020. The group was demanding his landlord stop
harassing him. (Submitted by Shawn Hsiao)

504

https://www.cbc.calnews/canada/toronto/tribunal-backlogs-ontario-justice-1 .6766594 1t9



3113123,9:41AM Backlogged tribunals creating 'distress'for Ontarians waiting months or years to be heard I CBC News

505
comments

Long backlogs at four tribunals mean Ontarians are waiting months or even years to

have their cases heard, and critics, lawyers and advocates are calling on the government

to fix what they say is a broken system.

Thousands of cases are being held up at the Landlord and Tenant Board (LTB), the

Human Rights Tribunal of Ontario (HRTO), the Social Benefits Tribunal (SBT) and the

Automobile Accident Benefits Service (AABS), a division of the Licence Appeal Tribunal,

according to opposition MPPs and TribunalWatch Ontario, a non-partisan public interest

organization. Lawyers say the system isn't working for some human rights cases.

Politicians, lawyers and the public interest group say the backlogs are preventing timely

resolutions to legal disputes and impeding access to justice.

The LTB resolves disputes between landlords and tenants. The HRTO resolves claims of

discrimination and harassment under the Human Rights Code. The SBT hears appeals

from people who have been refused social assistance or who disagree with decisions

affecting their eligibility, social assistance amount or benefits. The AABS deals with

claims involving car accident victims and their insurance companies.

"We are seeing many people struggling as they are waiting for their hearing date, and of

course, while they're waiting, that means everything is in limbo," said New Democratic

Party MPP Kristyn Wong-Tam.

"lt benefits no one when the tribunal system doesn't work."

https://www.cbc.calnews/canada/toronto/tribunal-backlogs-ontario-justice-1 .6766594 2t9



3113123,9:41 AM Backlogged tribunals creating 'distress'for Ontarians waiting months or years to be heard I CBC News

NDP MPP Kristyn Wong-Tam is a vocal critic of what she says is the government's lailure to adequately
address problems at provincial lribunals. (Talia Ricci/CBC)

Wong-Tam said she and her colleagues at Queen's Park are hearing complaints from

constituents about the delays and are urging Premier Doug Ford's government to

address the backlogs before an impending Ontario Ombudsman's report on the LTB is

released.

The ombudsman received 1 ,110 complaints about Tribunals Ontario in 2Q21-2022, an

increase from 935 the previous year, according to its last annual report. The majority,

964 complaints, were about the LTB.

Current backlog numbers not available

Tribunals Ontario, the umbrella organization of 13 adjudicative tribunals that administer

justice, declined to provide current backlog numbers, saying those figures are not yet

available. lt said the number of cases at the human rights tribunal that are 18 months or

older is about 5,200 as of Dec. 31,2022.lt also said the SBT has reduced its "active

caseload" from 1 1,000 to fewer than 6,700 since May 2021.

506

https://www.cbc.calnews/canadaitoronto/tribunal-backlogs-ontario-justice-1 .6766594 3/9



3113123,9:41 AM Backlogged tribunals creating 'distress'for Ontarians waiting months or years to be heard I CBC News

507While it did not provide figures for the LTB or AABS, Tribunals Ontario said its annual

report shows the LTB had 32,800 "active cases at year end," while the AABS had 1 6,204

"active appeals at fiscal year end."

e This GTA condo owner says he's struggling'to make ends meet'as tenant
won't pay $20K in rent

o Months-long delays at Ontario tribunal crushing some small landlords under

debt from unpaid rent

The organization said it is working to reduce the backlogs.

"Tribunals Ontario has taken steps to address delays as a result of the COVID-19

pandemic, and we are making significant progress," spokespersonJanet Deline said in an

email to CBC Toronto.

"The tribunals and boards experiencing service delays have implemented a number of

strategies to improve services, including by increasing the number of adjudicators so as

to reach full complement and enhancing the efficiency of caseload management."

lr

Trlbunals Ontarlo
t.andlord arrd Tenant Board

OiIr

https://www.cbc.calnews/canada/toronto/tribunal-backlogs-ontario-justice-1 .6766594

- .. --J fifttltl

4t9



3113123,9:41 AM Backlogged lribunals creating 'distress'for Ontarians waiting months or years to be heard I CBC News

A spokesperson for Tribunals Ontario said the organization is making 'significant progress' in clearing
backlogs that were made worse by the COVID-l9 pandemic. (Amanda Pfeffer/CBC)

Last April, the province committed $4.5 million over three years to help reduce LTB

backlogs. Then, in November, it said it would spend an additional $1.4 million to help

resolve those cases faster. |n2020, the tribunal system adopted a digital-first strategy,

which means hearings are conducted virtually except when people ask for
accommodation.

Deline said the measures are easing the backlogs. But Wong-Tam said more funding is

needed and the digital-first strategy has disadvantaged low-income Ontarians.

"Every single applicant who's waiting in line is now waiting in line more than just one

month or two months. They are now waiting in line for months on end, and in some

cases, for years," Wong-Tam said.

o Landlord and Tenant Board's 'digitalfirst'system harms vulnerable renters,
advocacy group says

'People cannot afford to wait this long'

Shawn Hsiao, a tenant in Toronto, said he had to wait over a year for an LTB hearing.

Hsiao moved into a rooming house in October 2017 . Four months later, his landlord
asked the tenants to pay for hydro, contrary to their lease. The tenants refused to pay,

Then the landlord began harassing him, Hsiao alleged. He filed an application with the
LTB in October 2019.

The landlord filed her own application to have Hsiao exempted from the Residential

Tenancies Act. The LTB heard the case in May 2021.

Hsiao won, with the adjudicator ruling that the act applies. The landlord appealed the
matter but lost the following May.

Despite that ruling, Hsiao said the LTB backlogs, plus his landlord's alleged actions, left
him without protection.

508

https://www.cbc.calnews/canada/toronto/tribunal-backlogs-ontario-justice-1 .6766594 5/9



3113123,9:41 AM Backlogged tribunals creating 'distress'for Ontarians waiting months or years to be heard I CBC News

"l think no one can live in a harassment situation for such a long time," he said. "People

cannot afford to wait this long."

509
'We definitely see distress,' lawyer says

Amy Brubacher, a staff lawyer at Don Valley Community Legal Services, said problems

are especially acute at the human rights tribunal, with cases that may have merit being

dismissed before they are heard.

lmployment lawyer Amy Brubacher sald lhe delays at the human righrs tribunal are taking a loll on

her clients. {Edward lf,'Souza)

She said she has a number of cases filed four years ago that are still waiting for a

hearing.

"We're dealing with issues of discrimination, harassment, racism, discrimination on the

basis of disability, sexual harassment. Having these cases lingering and waiting fcr years,

there's no finality, there's no justice," she said.

"We definitely see distress as a result of that."

httpsJ/www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/tribunal-backlogs-ontario-justice-1 '6766594 6/9



3113123,9:41AM Backlogged tribunals crealing 'distress'for Ontarians waiting months or years to be heard I CBC News

510
r Oakville couple says house sale at risk due to tenants who refuse to leave,

Landlord and Tenant Board delays

According to Tribunal Watch Ontario, the backlogs began growing in 2018 after the Ford

government came to power.

Kathy Laird, a member of TribunalWatch Ontario and former counselto the chair of the
human rights tribunal, said the government declined to reappoint or retain many

existing adjudicators when their terms came up for renewal and then failed to make new
appointments.

CBC Toronto requested comment from Ontario's attorney general's office on the
appointment of adjudicators, but did not receive a response.

When the government did make new appointments, those who filled the roles were not
qualified in the area of laws in which they were required to adjudicate, Laird said.

"When there's a change in government, Liberal to Conservative, Conservative to Liberal,

NDP to Liberal, we don't get rid of all of our judges. We don't fire the chief justice. Of
course, we keep them in place," Laird said.

"We have to have those experienced judges to remain in place to bring their expertise to
future cases."

https://www.cbc.calnews/canada/toronto/tribunal-backlogs-ontario-justice-1 .6766594 7t9



3113123,9:41 AM Backlogged tribunals creating 'distress'for Ontarians waiting months or years to be heard I CBC News

511

Kathy Laird, a member of TribunalWatch Ontario, says the Ford government's politicized approach to

appointing adjudicators has made delays worse. (Shin lmai)

Recommendations from the group to fix the problems include

o Create a group of specialized adjudicators to clear the backlogs.

o Make sure that everyone appointed to a tribunal is qualified.

o Reinstate in-person hearings.

o Create an adjudicative tribunaljustice council that would oversee the system and

appointments to depoliticize the process.

o Restore "stakeholder advisory committees" that were disbanded in 2018 and allow

them to provide "meaningful input" into the system.

. Review the HRTO to see if it is complying with its statutory obligations.

CBC'sJournalistic Standards and Practices I About CBC News

Corrections and clarifications I Submit a news tip I Report error v

httpsJ/wwwcbc.calnews/canada/toronto/tribunal-backlogs-ontario-justice-1 .6766594 8/9



4111123,8:24 AM Constant Contact

Cotlege of Chiropractors of Ontario
UOrdre des Chiropraticiens de I'Gntario

ITEM 4-1-42

Message from the CCO President - March 2& 2O2g

Last Monday March 20,2023, at precisely 5:24 pm Ell was the vernal (spring)
equinox. If you recall, the vernal equinox is one of only two times per year
when the Earth's axis is tilted neither toward nor away from the sun, which
results in an almost equal amount of daylight and darkness at all latitudes.

I'm sure that for many of us, the busyness of our personal and professional
lives meant that this moment passed by unnoticed. Yet for me, in addition to
being a welcoming harbinger of the increasing warmth and light of spring, the
equinox is a comforting reminder of the consistent cycle of events within our
celestial calendar.

2023 Peer Assessor Workshop and Orientation

One of the significant recurring events within the CCO calendar is the annual
workshops for new and returning peer assessors, held this year on January
27ttt and 28LIr respectively. Peer assessment is a cornerstone of CCO's eA
initiative and obligations, and central to that commitment is the training and
support provided to CCO's peer assessors themselves. This year saw nine new
members welcomed as peer assessors, and 32 returning. The sessions
highlighted the role and conduct of peer assessment, and focused on core
competencies for CCO members as well as a review of amendments to specific
policies and guidelines. Post-workshop evaluations were uniformly positive,
with participants valuing the detailed agenda, dynamic presentations and
opportunity to work within small groups to share experience and learnings. I
too was greatly impressed by the quality of the discussions I witnessed.
congratulations to Dr. Katherine Tibor, the QA team and cco staff, for these
very successful sessions,

Amendments to Record Keeping standards of Practice, rmportance of
Cyber Security and Resources from the fnformation and privacy
Commissioner

Please note that minor amendments to Standard of Practice 5-002: Record
Keep_ing and Standard of Practice 5-022: Ownership, Storage, Secufty__aM
Destruction of Records of Personal Health Information came into effect on
February 24, 2023 (having been previously approved by cco council on
November 24,2022).

Amendments to standard of Practice s-002: Record Keeping now reflect
the requirement to collect demographic information as necessary lo
identify, assess and treat patients, instead of requiring the collection of
specific demographic information such as gender. (This is a common
practice at many Ontario health regulatory colleges) Members may
exercise professional judgment in collecting and recording necessary
demog ra ph ic information.
Amendments to the electronic record keeping section of standard of
Practice 5-002 and 5-022 further emphasize the importance of the
security, protection and confidentiality of patient personal health

https://app.constantcontact. com/pages/campaigns/view/l ist

512

1t4



4111123,8:24 AM Constant Contact

information maintained in electronic record keeping systems. This
includes ensuring compliance with the Personal Health Information
Protection Act, 2004 (PHIPA), having protections in place to protect
personal health information from loss, tampering, interference and
unauthorized access, and having protocols in place in the event of a
prlvacy breach. Members must understand and employ best practices to
ensure the protection of patient personal health information in their
electronic record keeping systems.

To assist members in their cyber security effort, the following are excellent
resources available from the Information and Privacy Commissioner of
Ontario:

. Digital Health Under PHIPA a Selected Overview

. Responeling to Privacy_Ereaehes

Please continue to visit CCO's Privacy-page for updates and links to resources
on private and the protection of patient personal health information.

Treatment of Concussion and Rowan's Law

Members who may be involved in the management or co-management of
patients with mild traumatic brain injury/concussion are reminded to comply
fully with relevant CCO standards of practice, policies, guidelines. These
include:

. achieving, maintaining and being able to demonstrate clinical
competency in the assessment, diagnosis and management of
concussion, in accordance with Standard of Practice S-001: Chiropractic
Scope of Practice

. obtaining informed consent for examination and care, consistent with
Standard of Practice S-013: Consent

. performing a thorough health history, physical examination and report of
findings

. providing care within the chiropractic scope of practice including
perform i n g appropriate re-assessments, consistent with CCO sta nda rds
of practice, policies and guldellnes

. coliaborating and communicating with other appropriate health care
professionals in the provision of care

. providing a referral to an appropriate health care professional if:
. the patient's initial or subsequent condition is beyond the

member's competence or the chiropractic scope of practice
. the patient requires advanced diagnostic tests that members are

not authorized to order
. th€ patient's return to a specific activity requires assessment by

and medical clearance from another regulated health professional
(e.9., Rowan's Law).

"Rowan's Law" (Concussion Safety 2018) and related sport protocols that
came into effect on January t,2022 require that:

. Athletes who have sustained a concussion, or are suspected of having
sustained a concussion, must be removed from further training, practice,
or competition, and cannot return to full participation in amateur
competitive sport until medically assessed and cleared by a physician or
nurse practitioner.

As posted on CCO's web last August, members will find more ministry
information directed to health care professionals on the implementation of
Rowan's Law here.

513

https://app.constantcontact.com/pages/campaigns/view/list 2t4



4111123,8:24 AM Constant Contact

cco council Elections update - voting closes in District 6 March 29,
2023 at 4 pm

Another significant recurring event within the CCO calendar is election to CCO
council. This year, as per cco's electoral cycle, nominations were open for
candidates in Districts 5,6 & 7, Congratulations to Dr. Sarah Green (District 5:
Central West) and Dr. Jarrod Goldin (District 7: Academic), who were
acclaimed in their respective districts. The election for District 6: Western is
ongoing with voting closing Tuesday March 28.

Beyond election to Council, there are other avenues to become involved with
CCO and to contribute to the regulation of chiropractic in Ontario, CCO has
several non-council p-osttjAns available to CCO members to participate on the
IcRc, Discipline, Patient Relations, QA and Advertising committees, pursuant
to the College's bylaws.

Competent, caring and committed committee members are essential to CCO's
strength and performance as a self-regulated organization. I consider it a high
honour to serve the public interest in the regulation of chiropractic in Ontario.
Wishing all the best to you and yours this spring,

Sincerely,

514

7r*, *Mg.lr.
Dr. Dennis Mizel
CCO President

CCO Peer Assessor Workshop - January 28,2023

College of Chiropractors of Ontario | 59 Hayden Street, Suile 800, Toronto, ON M4y 0E7 Canada

https://app. constantcontact. com/pages/campaigns/view/l ist 3t4



ITEM 4.1.44

COVID-I 9 PnorocoLs FoR Hyeruo (1ru-Penson/Vlnrue[
CourucrL AND Goruutrrre MeelNGs

@D
Approved by Gouncil: June 22,2022
Amended: September 9. 2022, November 24,2022

517

Pnorocor-s

As CCO returns to in-person and hybrid Council and committee meetings, health and
safety practices and protocols shall be followed to reduce risks associated with COVID-
19, in accordance with regulations, directives and guidance from the Ontario
Government, Ministry of health and Chief Medical Officer of Health, as well as the
Occupational Health and Safety Act 1990.

These protocols will continue to be reviewed as regulations, directives and guidance with
respect to COVID-l9 continue to evolve.

The following protocols shall be followed for attendance of Council or committee
members at in-person/hybrid CCO Council meetings:

Council and committee members are encouraged to attend Council meetings in
person where practicable and possible.

Council or committee members shall notiff CCO in advance whether they are
attending a Council or committee meeting in-person or attending remotely via
virtual platform.

Council or committee members who attend a CCO Council or committee meeting
in person shall within 24 hours of the meeting:

o self screen for COVID-l9 symptoms https://covid-
l9.ontario.calexposed#symtoms and not attend if they screen positive for
symptoms consistent with COVID-I 9.

a

a

a

a

Council or committee members shall be respectful of individuals' comfort levels
with respect to COVID-19, including practices related to mask wearing, hand
hygiene and physical distancing.

CCO will comply with any rules and regulations of any venue that hosts a CCO
Council or committee meeting, if a meeting takes place outside of the CCO office

The CCO Council room has transparent partitions placed in a manner to separate in-
person participants, HEPA filters running, and hand sanitizer readily available.



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1.46

Jo-Ann Willson
March 28,2023 4:05 PM
michelle@campbellcc.com; Dr. Colin Goudreau
Unofficial Results of Election to CCO Council - District 6
2BB7_001.pdf

520
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:
Attachments:

Please see attached the unofficial results of Election to CCO Council in District 6. Thank you to both
candidates for putting their names forward to serve on CCO
Council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 11'1

Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of ontario ("cco") services continue as staff follow recommended heaJth and safety guidelines related
to the covlD-19 global pandemic' ln-office services are available by appointment only, please use the emailor phone contact
information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 4t6-922-635.5 ext. 100 or emall
reception@cco,on.ca
and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCo is commltted to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuringthat individuals are treated
with dignity and respect' Please contact us if you require accommodations. Please ensure that all communications with CCo are
respectful and professional.

WARNING:
T.his.e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information'and is intended only for the person(s)hamed above. Any otherdistribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received tnis e-miil in enor,'ptease tioiifybb-6 ilrediatety by repty e-mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.



521
MEMORANDUM

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO

To: Candidates in March 2023 Elections
Council
Noncouncil Committee Members
Gouncil Appointed Members
Ch iropractic Sta keholderg Ic

From: Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Date March 28,2023

Subject: Unofficial Resulb of Election to CCO Gouncil - District 6

Unofricial Results

The unofficial Election Results are as follows:

Request for a Recount

Please note that the deadline to make a written request for a recount with a $150.00 deposit, must
be received by CCO by April 12,2023 at 4 p.m. (please refer to the notice of election and
nomination guide). The first regular meeting of Council is scheduled for Wednesday, April 19,
2023, followed by the internal elections and orientation meeting on Thursday, April 20,2023.

All ne#returning Council members will be asked to participate in a virtual training session to
review, sign and return the Code of Conduct, Confidentiality Undertaking, CCO Internal Policy
I-015: Zero Tolerance of Abuse, Neglect and Harassment and Elected Member Undertaking.

Thank you to both candidates for participating in the self-regulation of
Ontario!

tn

0

I Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA), Canadian Chiropractic Association (CCA), Canadian Chiropractic
Examining Board (CCEB), Canadian Chiropractic Protective Association (CCPA), Federation of Canadian
Chiropractic (FCC), Canadian Memorial Chiropractic College (CMCC), Alliance for Chiropractic (AFC) and World
Federation of Chiropractic (WFC).

Mffi*oW,(

Name of Candidate Number of Votes
Dr. Michelle Camobell 127
Dr. Colin Goudreau 150
Elieible voters 588
Percentase voted 47.tL%



3l'17123,11:06 AM Constant Contact

522Conkge of Chireprffstsrs of Srdario
H0rdre des Chir*pratieiens de I'Ontario

ITEM 4.1.47

Pursuant to By-law 6: Election of Council Members, elections to CCO Council
will be held in Districts 5, 6 and 7 in Spring 2O23.

Please note, as part of CCO's College Performance Measurement Framework
Action Plan, CCO Council approved:

. Competencies for Council and Committee Members on November 25,
202L, and

. A mandatory orientation session for all candidates scheduled for
February 2L,2023,6 pm, to outline the roles and responsibilities for CCO
Council members, focusing on CCO's public interest mandate.

Please review the documents below for further details. Nomination papers,
candidate undertakings, biographical information and additional campaign
material must be received by CCO by February L7,2023 at 4 p.m.

. Notice of Election

. Nomination Pare.f

. Candidate Undertaking

. Competencies for Counc

Thank you for your interest and participation in the self-regulation of the
chiropractic profession.

College of Chiropractors of Ontario | 59 Hayden Sl., Sulte 800, Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7 Canada

U ns u bscri be { reci p-ienl[Ssm-ajl}

UBdete-Ero$le I Constant Contast Data Notice

Sent by cco.info@cco.on.ca powered by

Zt Constqnt
lSz contqct
lry email marketrng For free lodayl

hftps://app.constantcontact.com/pages/campaigns/email-details/details/activity/011aea60-8ba3-4b7e-b041-4cebde5a8de8 1t1



523

2@2& Nouce eF EteemaN AND

Nonn*xAT[oN Guloe FoR EueeuoNs ro
Drsrnlers So 6 a*o 7

College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO)

Norce

Pursuant to By-law 6: Election of Council
Members, notice is hereby given that elections to
CCO Council will be held in Districts 5, 6 and 7.
Elections in these districts will be for a term of
approximately 3 years.

District 5: Central West comprised of the counties
of Brant, Dufferin, Wellington, Haldimand and
Norfolk, the regional municipalities of Halton,
Niagara, Peel and Waterloo, and the city of
Hamilton.

District 6: Western comprised of the counties of
Essex, Bruce, Grey, Lambton, Elgin, Middlesex,
Huron, Perth and Oxford, and the municipality of
Chatham-Kent.

District 7: Academic comprised of the entire
province of Ontario (member of faculty of an
accredited academic institution).

Elecrolt PRoceouRes

CCO will not be providing candidates with a list
of members in their districts or mailing labels.
However, CCO will post on CCO's website and
distribute to members in their districts on
behalf of candidates biographical information
and one additional page of campaign materials,
in accordance with the election timetable and
campaign guidelines.

The elections are carried out by electronic vote
and secret ballot, The Registrar supervises all
aspects of the election.

Janu 2023

a

a

January 26,2023: Notice of Election and
Nomination Guide sent electronically to all

members.

February 17,2023: Nomination Date:
Nomination papers, candidate undertakings,
biographical information and additional cam-
paign material to be circulated by CCO in a
format suitable for distribution to voters must
be received by CCO by 4 p.m.

February 21,2023,6 pm: Mandatory
orientation for all candidates to be held
virtually.

February 24,20232 Deadline for candidates to
withdraw from the election by 4 p.m.

March 6, 2023: CCO posts on its website and
distributes by email a list of candidates and
biographical information reviewed and
approved by CCO to eligible voters in each
district.

March 10, 2023: CCO posts on its website
and distributes by email additional campaign
material submitted by candidates and reviewed
and approved by CCO to eligible voters in
each district.

March 13, 2023: List of candidates,
biographical information, and voting
procedures sent by email to all eligible voters.

March 28, 2023: All votes must be received by
CCO by 4 p.m.

March 28, 2023: Unofficial election results
announced.

April 12, 2023: Deadline to make a wriften
request for a recount with a $150 deposit,
which must be received by CCO by 4 p.m.
Election results posted on CCO's website at
wvvw.cco.on.ca.

Chiropractors
of Ontario

Chiropraticiens
de I'Ontario

College of L'Ordre des 59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail : cco.info@cco.on.ca
Web site: www.cco.on.ca



524
CCO Notice of Election and Nomination Guide, January 2023 2

Candidates are required to submit their
nomination papers, candidate undertak-
ings, biographical information and one
additional piece of campaign material in a
format suitable for distribution on or
before February 17,2023 at 4 p.m. CCO
will review all materials for general consis-
tency with the campaign guidelines for
elections, the biographical information
guidelines, the principles of fair, accurate
and appropriate election statements and,
by analogr, Standard of Practice 5-016:
Advertising, and will forwarci a response to
the candidate as soon as possible. If you
have any questions about any campaign
material, contact CCO.

Any additional campaign material and
communications, including written materi-
al, oral presentations/speeches and gener-
al decorum of candidates must comply
with the campaign guidelines for elections
in this document. Material should be sub-
mitted to the CCO Election Review
Committee in advance of February 17,
2023.

Elections are conducted in a fair and
transparent manner, consistent vzith dem-
ocratic principles. Failure to comply with
the principles of fairness by candidates
and others may jeopardize the election
process and results.

Eligibility to nominate, vote and stand for
elections to CCO Council is reflective of By-
law 6.

Alliance for Chiropractic
Canadian Chiropractic Association
Council on Chiropractic Education
tCanada)
Canadian Chiropractic &amining Board
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Canadian Chiropractic Protective
Association
Canadian Chiropractic Research
For-rndation
Canadian Memorial Chiropractic College
Canatiian National Alliance for Chiropractic
Canadian Society of Chiropractic
Eualuators
Federation of Canadian Chiropractic
Ontario Chiropractic Association
Regulated. Health hofessions Ad, 1991
UniversiG du Qur6bec d Trois-Rividres

ELrcrerlrrv ro NoMTNATE AND/oR Vore

A member holding a General (active),
Inactive or Retired certificate of registra-
tion is eligible to nominate and vote in
the electoral district in which the member,
as of January l"t of the election year, has
his/her primary practice, or if the member
is not engaged in the practice of
chiropractic, in which the member has
his/her primary residence.

A member is ineligible to nominate or
vote in a Council election if he/she is in
default of payment of any fees prescribed
by by-law or any fine or order for costs to
CCO imposed by a CCO committee or
court of law or is in default in completing
and returning any form required by CCO.

a

ElrcretLrw ro SrAND FoR ELEcnoN

A member ts eligible for election to Council
in an electoral district, if, on the closing date
of nominations and any time up to and includ-
ing the date of the election:

. the member has his/her primar5r practice
of chiropractic located in the electoral
district in which he/she is nominated or, if
the member is not engaged in the practice
of chiropractic, has his/her primary resi-
dence located in the electoral district in
which he/she is nominated;

the member is not in default of payments
ofany fees prescribed by by-law or any fine
or ord.er for costs to CCO imposed, by a
CCO committee or court of law;

the member is not in default in completing
and returning any form required by CCO;

the member is not the subject of any
disciplinary or incapacity proceeding;

a finding of professional misconduct,
incompetence or incapacity has not been
made against the member in the preceding
six years; (continued on next page);

Acnouwrts
AFC
ccA
ccEc

CCEB
cco
CCPA

CCRF

cMcc
CNAC
cscE

FCC
ocA
RWA
ugrR

@8 3;ll'""n0",."'J,.,"
L'Ordre des
Chiropraticiens
de I'Ontario

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922.6355
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -477 2
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail : cco.info@cco.on.ca
Web site: www.cco,on.ca



525
CCO Notice of Election and Nomination Guide, January 2O23 3

the member has not resigned from a posi-
tion on Council, before completing their
term, within the last three years and four
months;

the member does not have an outstanding
code of conduct matter with the College;

the member is not, and has not been in the
preceding three years, an employee, officer
or director of any professional chiropractic
association such that a real or apparent
conflict of interest may arise, including but
not limited to being an employee, officer or
director of the OCA, CCA, CCPA, AFC,
CCEB, CSCE, the CCEC ofthe FCC, CCRF
or CNAC;

the member is not, and has not been in the
preceeding three years, an officer, director,
or administrator of any chiropractic educa-
tional institution, including but not limited
to, CMCC and UQTR, such that a real or
apparent conflict of interest may arise;

the member has not been disqua-lified from
the Council or a committee of the Council
in the previous six years;

Mlssroru

T?re College of Chiropractors of Ontario
regulates the profession in the public interest to assure
etlical and competent chiropractic care.

Vrstorrt

Committed to Regulatory Excellence in the Public Interest
in a Diverse Environment.

Vr-ues

Integrity, Respect, Collaborative, Innovative, Transparent,
Responsive

Srnareec OeJecr'wEs

1. Build public trrrst and confidence and promote under-
standing of the role of CCO amongst all stakeholders.

2. Ensure the practice of members is safe, ethical, and
patient-centered.

3. Ensure standards and core competencies promote
q<cellence of care while responding to emerging devel-
opments.

4. Optirnize the use of technologr to facilitate regr:latory
fu nctions and communications.

5. Continue to meet CCO's statutory mandate and
resource priorities in a fiscally responsible rnamner.

Deuelnped at the Xmtegic Hsnn*V Sessioa'
Septenber 2017

the member is not a member of the Council
or of a committee of the college of any other
health profession;

the member has not been a member of the
staff of CCO at any time within the preced-
ing three years;

for District 7 only, the member is a mem-
ber of the faculty of an accredited educa-
tional institution; and

for any district other than District 7, t}:e
member is not eligible for election in
District 7, and has not been eligible for
election in District 7 in the preceding three
years (three year cooling off period effective
on a go forward basis November 25,2021).

Tenu oF OFFTcE

The term of office of a member elected to
Council is approximately three years com-
mencing with the first regular meeting of
Council immediately following the election
(currently scheduled on April 19, 2023).
Incumbents continue to serve in office until
the first regular Council meeting, unless oth-
erwise disqualified from Council. By-law 6:
Election of Council Members outlines the cir-
cumstances in which a member may be
removed from Council.

Pledse note: A member who has served on
Council for nine consecutive years is ineligible
for election to Council until a full three-year
term has passed since that member last
served on Council. A non-Council member
may only serve on CCO committees for nine
consecutive years, whether the time is served
as a Council member or as a non-Council
member.

ORteruraroN FoR Clttororres

Candidates are required to attend the virtual
orientation session, schedule for February 21,
2023,6 pm.

a

a
a

Gollege of L'Ordre des
Chiropractors Ghiropraticiens
of Ontario de I'Ontario

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail : cco.info@cco.on.ca
Web site: www.cbo.on.ca



526
CCO Notice of Election and Nomination Guide, January 2023 4

Role or CCO aruo Cour.rcll- MeMeens

CCO is the regulatory body for chiropractors
in Ontario, governed by a 15-16 member
Council comprised of 6-7 public members
appointed by the provincial government and 9
registered chiropractors elected by the mem-
bership.

CCO's legislative mandate is to govern
chiropractic in the public interest. CCO's main
responsibilities include:
. developing standards of admission to the

profession;
. investigating complaints and disciplining

members who have committed acts of
professional misconduct or are
incompetent;

. implementing a quality assurance program
to ensure continuous quality improvement
in the profession, including the develop-
ment of standards of practice, policies and
guidelines to which all members of the pro-
fession must conform;

. maintaining a public register; and

. implementing a patient relations program.

True ComnnrrMENTS

Council membership involves a significant
time commitment, which varies according to
committee. Members attend Council meetings
four or more times per year and may serve on
one or more committees. Preparatory readings
and work for Council and committee meetings
can be extensive. Candidates should also note
that, whenever possible, all Council and
committee meetings are held during regular
business hours, Monday to Friday.

Members should review the Competencies for
Council and Committee Members document,
posted on the election page of CCO's website,
for further information about competencies,
expectations and time commitments on
Council and committees.

Couprrusanon

Council members are compensated for their
time spent on CCO work in accordance with

CCO By-law 9: Remuneration and Internal
Policy I-012. However, per diems and expens-
es paid by CCO to Council members are
intended to partially offset the cost of a contri-
bution to the self-regulation of the chiropractic
profession rather than to pay for services ren-
dered or to compensate for lost income or the
opportunity to earn income.

Gnuplrcn Guroeunes FoR ELEcrloNs ro
CCO Couxcrl

The following guidelines are for candidates for
election or re-election to CCO Council and any
member who produces or distributes cam-
paign material on behalf of a candidate. These
guidelines are intended to apply to the candi-
date biography, additional material distributed
by CCO, any other written campaign materials
distributed by any means, including email,
websites or social media, oral
presentations/speeches and general decorum
of candidates. It is each candidate's responsi-
bility to ensure that his/her campaign materi-
al and behaviour complies with the campaign
guidelines:

Do the following:

Be respectful, polite, dignified and profes-
sional in everything you do;
Announce your qualifications and compe-
tencies rather than denouncing another
candidate's qualifi cations;
Rely on and promote information that is
both factual and provable;
Focus on your ideas and the positives that
you have to offer;
Ensure the words you use are inclusive
and would not offend any specific group;
Remember the public interest mandate of
CCO and don't make any promises that
could be viewed as inconsistent with that
mandate;
Remember that you are a professional and
a member of a regulated health profession
and so are other candidates;
Take all reasonable steps to ensure anyone
campaigning on your behalf also acts and
communicates in a respectful, professional
manner; (continued on next page)

a

a

a

a

@,8 glli'r:n.j,"'"
L'Ordre des
Ghiropraticiens
de l'Ontario

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 4772
Fax: (4,l6) 925-9610
E-mail : cco.info@cco.on.ca
Web site: wwwcco.on.ca



527
CCO Notice of Election and Nomination Guide, January 2023 5

a

Comply with CCO regulations, standards
of practice, policies and guidelines, includ-
ing, but not limited to: CCO's Code of
Ethics, CCO's Code of Conduct, the
Candidate Undertaking, the Professional
Misconduct Regulation, Policy P-01 1:
Conflict of Interest for Council and
Committee Members, Standard of Practice
S-0i6: Advertising, Guideline G-016:
Advertising and common law.

Do not do the following:

Include any information or material that is
false or misleading, not readily compre-
hensible by the persons to whom it is
intended, or disgraceful, dishonourable or
unprofessional;
Compare yourself to another member's or
other health care provider's practice, qual-
ification or expertise;
Imply, in any way, that CCO or any CCO
Council or committee member supports
your candidacy; or
Mount a personal or professional attack on
arly candidate.

Non-compliance with the guidelines may
result in a private or public direction issued by
CCO during the election and a review as to
whether the election is valid after the votes are
counted. Non-compliance may result in the
election of a district being recalled.

Professional, respectful discourse
is essential to a fair election process!

Gutpeurues ro CANDTDATES FoR PRovrorr.rc
BIocnnpurcAL INFoRMATToN

In addition to the guidelines above, a
candidate's biographical information must
meet the following guidelines.

Biographical information must:

Reflect CCO's role in protecting the public
interest and be typewritten on one 8.5" x
11"-page white paper with a minimum of
one-inch margins on all four sides, in por-
trait format (not landscape);

The candidate's name must appear on the
top of the page.
The candidate's photograph may be
included - head and shoulders only.
Candidates must NOT imply, in any way,
that CCO or any CCO Council or commit-
tee member supports their candidacy.
Candidates MUST include the following
statement verbatim in their biographical
information and, based upon it, describe
in the statement how they would con-
tribute to the regulation of chiropractic in
the public interest:

"Chiropractors u,tho are elected will reflect
their commitment to the public's ight to
safe, effectiue and etltical chiropractb care."

Candidates should include information
that is relevant to their knowledge, compe-
tencies, expertise, skills and attributes
related to:
. chiropractic care of patients, including

patients from different backgrounds
. protection of the public interest
. serving on boards in an oversight role
. interpersonal and communication

skills
. previous roles and experience in

business, organizational planning,
human resources, health and safety,
policy development, risk management,
education and research, financial or
accounting, information technologr
and any other roles relevant to CCO's
mandate and functions.

In addition to the candidate biography,
candidates may submit one additional piece
of campaign material that CCO will distribute
to eligible voters in their district in accordance
with the election timetable. This additional
campaign material must comply with CCO
election guidelines, be received by CCO on or
before February 77, 2023, 4 pm, and only be
written material [pewritten on one 8.5" x 11"-
page white paper with a minimum of
one-inch margins on all four sides, in portrait
format (not landscape).

K,@ FIll?:#*" hlfl[,,?1i,i.""
Tel: (416) 922-6355
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail : cco.info@cco.on.ca
Web site: www.cco.on.ca

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7



528
CCO Notice of Election and Nomination Guide, January 2023 6

GCO Committees

Statutory:

. Executive

. Inquiries, Complaints and Reports

. Discipline

. Fitness to Practise

. Patient Relations

. Quality Assurance

. RegisLraliun

Non-Statutory:

. Advertising

. Election Review Sub-Committee

Thank you for
participating

in the
self-regulation

of your profession!

Gunneur CGO Gouucll-

ELECTED MEMBERS

Name District

Dr. Angelo Santin, Thunder Bag
Dr. Paul Groulx, Stittsuille
Dr. Michael Gauthier, A.7'ax

Dr. Kyle Grice, Toronto
Dr. Julia Viscomi, Maple
*Dr. Sarah Green, Elmira
Dr. Dennis Mizel, St. Catharines
*Dr. Colin Goudreau, Chatham-Kent
*Dr. Jarrod Goldin, Toronto

*Ternt of office expires Apdl 2O23. Dligible for re-election.

PUBLIC MEMBERS

Name
Ms Anuli Ausbeth-Ajaga, Brampton
Mr. Markus de Domenico, Toronto
Mr. Gagandeep Dhanda, Mississauga
Ms Robyn Gravelle, Burlirryton
Ms Zoe Kariunas, Toronto
Mr. Shawn Southern, Union
Mr. Scott Stewart, Cquan Monaghan

Term of Office
(Aprilto April)
April2O2l - April2O24
April.2022 - April 2025
Aprrl2022 - April 2025
April2022 - April 2025
Apri.2O2l - April2O24
April2O2O - April 2023
Aprt 2O2l - ApriI2O24
April 2O2O - April2023
April 2O21 - April2O23

Date Order-in Gouncil Expires
December 2024
December 2024
April2024
May 2023
Aprll2024
October 2024
March 2025

1

,
3
4
4
5
5
6
7

Gollege of
iropractors
Ontario

ch
L'Ordre des
Chiropraticiens
de I'Ontario

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355
Toll Free: 1-877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail : cco.info@cco-on.ca
Web site: www.cco.on.ca

of



529
CCO Notice of Election and Nomination Guide, January 2023 7

Elecrorus Quesrolrs & Aruswens

Q. What is the purpose of the election of
professional members to the Gouncil?

A. The RHPA and the Chiropractic Act, 1991
provide for the election of the majority of
the Council from among the membership
of the profession. Since chiropractic is a
self-regulating profession, it is important
that the majority of the Council be mem-
bers of the profession. While there could be
a number of ways for the professional
members to be chosen, the legislation
requires an election system to ensure that
Council members have the confidence and
respect of those whom they regulate.

Q. ls the election of Council members similar
to the election of MPPs or municipal
councillors?

A. While the form of election is somewhat
similar (i.e., voting for candidates by secret
ballot), the purpose is actually quite differ-
ent. Your MPP represents the interests of
those who elected him/her. A Council
member does not represent the specific
interests of chiropractors, but rather the
broader public interest as described in the
RHPA.

CCO, unlike the legislature, is a corpora-
tion. The Council, as the Board of
Directors of the corporation, has a
fiduciary (trust) dut5r to fulfill the public
interest mandate of the corporation /CCO
and not the specific interests of the
professional electorate.

Q. Does a Council member represent his/her
constituents?

A. No, a Council member does not have
constituents. A Council member is some-
what like the trustee of an estate: he/she
acts in the best interest of the beneficiary,
not the persons who selected him/her as
Trustee. The beneficiary under the RHPA

and the Chiropractic Act, 1991is the public
interest. If a chiropractor from a Council
member's district has a problem with CCO,
it would be inappropriate for the Council
member to intervene on the chiropractor's
behalf with the pertinent cor?rmittee or
CCO staff person.

Q. How does this affect a candidate's
'campaign' materials?

A. While people sometimes do refer to the
election process as a'campaign', this, too,
is a bit of a misnomer. Candidates for
election can and should provide informa-
tion about themselves and their
philosophy to the other chiropractors in
their district to assist them in making an
informed choice. However, there is not
really a role for campaign 'promises' or
statements about how a candidate, if elect-
ed, will decide specific matters that might
arise in the future. In addition, candidates
are strongly urged to forward their cam-
paign material to CCO before distribution
to ensure the elections are conducted in a
fair manner.

The Election Review Sub-Committee will
review all material for compliance with
CCO standards and policies and consis-
tency with the requirement for profession-
al, respectful communication.

Q. Why, then, are Gouncil members elected
from districts?

A. Perspective. Having Council members
elected from various districts ensures that
the perspective of all chiropractors, not
just those from one region {e.9., the
Greater Toronto Area), is reflected on
Council. Some issues might have a
different impact on the public from rural or
northern areas, small towns, medium-
sized cities and Toronto. It is important
that all perspectives are heard.

This notice explains the election rules established under the Chiropractic Act, 1991. To th.e
extent of any inconsistency, the legislation and the by-laws govern. If you have any questions,
please contact CCO at (4161922-6355.

L'Ordre des
Chiropraticiens
de I'Ontario

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax (416) 925-9610
E-mail : cco.info@cco.on,ca
Web site: www.cco.on.ca

@ glffi'r:#*"



530
CCO Notice of Election and Nomination Guide, January 2023 8

CCO ELECTORAL DISTRICTS
[map not to scale, illustrative of

districts onlyl

1

District l: Northern comprised of the dis'
tricts of Kenora, Rainy River, Thunder Bay,
Algoma, Cochrane, Manitoulin, Parry
Sound, Nipissing, Timiskaming; the district
municipality of Muskoka, and the city of
Greater Sudbury.

NORTI-]ERN ONTARIO

District 3: Gentral East
comprised of the counties of
Haliburton, Northumberland,
Peterborough, and Simcoe,
the city of Kawartha Lakes,
the regional municipality of
Durham and the township
of Scugog.

District 2: Eastern
comprised of the counties of
Frontenac, Hastings, Lanark,
Prince Edward, Renf,rew,
Lennox and Addington; the
united counties of Leeds and
Grenville, Prescott and
Russell, Stormont, Dundas
and Glengarry and the
City of Ottawa.

Ottar,Ja

Distrlpt 4: Gedtral

, aotuprlqed of the dry
of Toronto and the
rogionpl municipality
ofYork.

District 5: Gentral West
comprised of the counties of
Brant, Dufferin, Wellington,
Haldimand and Norfolk, the
regional municipalities of
Halton, Niagara, Peel and
Waterloo, and the city of
Hamilton.

i. --_-.i,--.

2

Thurder hy

t
sault StE ttlHrie

I

SOUTHERN, CI{TARIO

rdsirr

District 6: Western
comprised of the counties
of Essex, Bruce, Grey,
Lambton, Elgin, Middlesex,
Huron, Perth and Oxford,
and the municipality of
Chatham-Kent.

@ gFti'r,#-"
L'Ordre des
Chiropraticiens
de I'Ontario

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355
Toll Free:'l -877 -577 4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail : cco.info@cco.on.ca
Web site: www.cco.on,ca



531

Eleclolt NorrrtnRnoru PnpeR - Euecrrons FoR Dlsrrucrs 5, 6 nuo 7
College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO) January 2023

The Election Nomination Paper must be received with the Candidate Undertaking Form at CCO by
4 p.m. on February 17,2023. Please type or print neatly, using black ink. Forms may be emailed to
CCO at cco.info@cco.on.ca, faxed to GGO at 416-925-9610.

Candidate's Registration Number:

Business Phone: ( )

We, the undersigned members of CCO, eligible to vote in Electoral District

nominate of
(Name of Candidate)

as a candidate for the March 2023 election to CCO Council.

(City / Town)

Nominator's Namel
(please print)

City / Town Registration
Number

Signature

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

I
I
10

11

12

Business Address

Confidential E-mail Address

CANDIDATE'S CONSENT: I consent to allow my name to stand for election as a member of CCO for the
ElectoralDistrictof-andagreetoserveifelected.lwillattendtheFebruary21,
2A23 Orienlation Session for all candidates.

Candidate's Name Gandidate's Signature Date

I Minimum of 10 eligible members who support the nomination and who are eligible to vote in the electoral district is required.



532

UruoeRrRxrNc To rnE GCO ReorsrnnR FRoM CRruoroRre
College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO) January 2023

Note to elected members of CCO Council: Inilial the box/boxes that apply. Leave blank box/boxes that do not apply and provide an

explanation on a seporate page.

l, _, candidate for CCO Gouncil in District _, undertake to the Registrar as follows:

1. Districts 5 and 6
(a) I am not a member offaculty at an accredited educational institution

-AND_
(b) My primary practice of chiropractic is located in the electoral district for

which I was nominated.

-oR-
(c) I am not engaged in the practice ofchiropractic and my primary residence is

located in the electoral district for which I was nominated.

District 7

(a) I am a member of faculty of an accredited educational instinrtion (attach document to confirm).
- AND.

(b) I primarily practise in or live in Ontario.

AIID

OR

ANI)

2. I am not:
r in default ofpayments ofany fees prescribed by byJaw or any fine or order for costs to CCO imposed by a

CCO committee or court of law.
. in default in completing and returning any form required by CCO.
o the subject ofa disciplinary or incapacity proceeding.
r the subject ofa finding ofprofessional misconduct, incompetence or incapacity in the preceding six years.

o the subject of an outstanding code of conduct matter with the College.
. and have not been in the preceding three years, an employee, officer or director ofany professional

chiropractic association such that a real or apparent conflict ofinterest may arise, including but not limited
to being an employee, officer or director of the OCA, CCA, CCPA, AFC, CCEB, CSCE, the Council on
Chiropractic Education (Canada) of the FCC, CCRF or CNAC'.

. and have not been in the preceding three years, an officer, director, or administrator ofany chiropractic
educational institution, including but not limited to, CMCC and UQTR, such that areal or apparent conflict
of interest may arise.

. a member of the Council or of a committee of the college of any other health profession.
o a member ofthe faculty ofan accredited educational institution (except for District 7).

for any district other than District 7, eligible for election in District 7, and have not been eligible for election
in District 7 in the preceding three years (three year cooling offperiod effective on a go forward basis

November 25, 2021).

If applicable, I have attached to this undertaking a copy of all letters of resignation from my position

as an employee, officer or director of any professional chiropractic association or an officer, director or
administrator of any chiropractic educational institution such that a real or apparent conflict of interest may arise.

Ifappiicable, I have taken all reasonable and necessary steps to ensure I am not reflected in any

documents or on any websites as an employee, officer or director of any professional chiropractic association or
an officer, director or administrator of any chiropractic educational institution such that a real or apparent conflict
of interest may arise.

j 
The effective date on which the candidate must not be an employee, officer or director ofany professional chiropractic association, or an officer,

director or administrator ofany chiropractic educational institution such that a real or apparent conflict ofinterest may arise, is the closing date of
nominations and any time up to and including the date ofthe election (i.e., before the election results are known). Copies ofrelevant letters of
resignation must be filed with CCO, along with the candidate's nomination papers. The candidate should take all reasonable and necessary steps

to ensure he/she is not reflected in any documents or on any websites as an employee, officer or director of any professional chiropractic
association, or an officer, director or administrator ofany chiropractic educational instifirtion, such that a real or apparent conflict ofinterest may

arise.

3.

4.



533
Undertaking to the CCO Registrar from Candidate, Version Date: January 2023

I undertake to maintain all confidentiality within the election process, including but not limited to,

maintaining conhdentiality with respect to which members voted or did not vote and/or submitted spoiled ballots.

I have not:
. been disqualified from the Council or a committee of the Council in the previous six years.

r resigned from a position on Council, before completing my term, within the last three years and four
months.

. seryed on Council for nine consecutive years without a full three-year term passing since I last served on
Council.

r been a member of the staff of the College at any time within the preceding three years.

A finding ofprofessional misconduct, incompetence or incapacity has not been made against

me in the preceding six years.

I confirm I have reviewed my active personal and business communications, including those on social media,

and there is no current content that could embarrass or harm the reputation of CCO or give cause to consider that
I am unable or unwilling to comply with CCO's mission, vision, values, strategic objectives and by-laws, and the
duty to be fair and impartial in all considerations.

9. I acknowledge that as a member of Council, my primary duty is to serve and protect the public interest.

10. I undertake to:
. review and comply with CCO's provisions, including the Code of Conduct, CCO Internal Policy I-015

Policy to Avoid Abuse, Neglect and Harassment, Policy P-01 1: Conflict of Interest for Council and

Committee Members, and CCO's mission, vision, values and strategic objectives,
. review CCO's orientation material and attend any relevant training workshop,
r participate in CCO's Peer and Practice Assessment Program within six months of my election

(ifI have not already been peer assessed by that time), and
r participate as a member ofa disciplinc panel or fitness to practise panel ifselected by the Chair ofthe

Discipline or Fitness to Practise Committee, unless I have a conflict of interest.

11 I confirm that I have access to and agree to use the following confidential e-mail address for any and all CCO
matters:

12. I recognize that, ifl were to resign from Council, it will not be properly constituted. Therefore, if elected,

I undertake not to resign from Council without first giving 60 days written notice to the President and Registrar
so that the Council can take steps to ensure that Council can remain properly constituted at all times.

13. I confirm all the information in this undertaking is accurate, complete and true.

14. I further undertake to advise the Registrar forthwith of any change in the above-noted statements.

15 I understand it is an act ofprofessional misconduct to fail to comply with an undertaking

to the Registrar.

2

5.

6.

7

8.

I

I

Candidate's Name Candidate's Signature Date

Witness'Name Witness' Signature Date



534

ComperENGrEs FoR Goutrtclt- AND Gourratrtee MeMee

Executive Committee
Approved by Council: November 25,2021

lrurRooucnoN

Effective regulation is enhanced when Council and committee members possess specific
competencies to act in accordance with the objects of health regulatory colleges under the

Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA) and the mission, vision, values and

strategic objectives of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO), and to regulate the

full scope of practice of chiropractic. Many of these competencies may be acquired
through ongoing orientation, continuing education and professional development once on
CCO Council and committees.

The following document outlines the competencies expected of Council and Committee
members, as they relate to the duties and objects of the college and the mission, vision,
values and strategic objectives of CCO. Please note that it is not expected that candidates

for Council and committees possess all of these competencies prior to being elected or
appointed to CCO Council or committees. CCO provides ongoing training, orientation
and education opportunities both through Council and committees and through the Health
Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO).

Oe.,ecrs OF THE COLLEGE

Section 3(1) of the Health Professions Procedural Code, under the RHPA identifies the
following objects of the College:

The College has the following objects:

i. To regulate the practice of the profession and to govern the members in
accordance with the health profession Act, this Code and the Regulated Health
Professions Act, 1991 and the regulations and by-laws.

2. To develop, establish and maintain standards of qualification for persons to be

issued certificates of registration.

3. To develop, establish and maintain programs and standards of practice to assure

the quality of the practice of the profession.

4. To develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge and skill and
programs to promote continuing evaluation, competence and improvement
among the members.



535Competencies for Council and Committee Members
Approved by Council: November 25,2021

4.1 To develop, in collaboration and consultation with other Colleges, standards of
knowledge, skill and judgment relating to the performance of controlled acts
common among health professions to enhance interprofessional collaboration,
while respecting the unique character of individual health professions and their
members.

5. To develop, establish and maintain standards of professional ethics for the
members.

6. To develop, establish and maintain programs to assist individuals to exercise their
rights under this Code and the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991.

7. To administer the health profession Act, this Code and the Regulated Health
Professions Act, 1991 as it relates to the profession and to perform the other
duties and exercise the other powers that are imposed or conferred on the
College.

8. To promote and enhance relations between the College and its members, other
health profession colleges, key stakeholders, and the public.

9. To promote inter-professional collaboration with other health profession colleges

10. To develop, establish, and maintain standards and programs to promote the
ability of members to respond to changes in practice environments, advances in
technology and other emerging issues.

11. Any other objects relating to human health care that the Council considers
desirable.

(2)ln carrying out its objects, the College has a duty to serve and protect the public
interest.

CCO Mrssroru, VrsroN, Vnlues AND Srnarectc OBJEcnvES

Mission

The College of Chiropractors of Ontario regulates the profession in the public interest to
assure ethical and competent chiropractic care.

Vision

Committed to Regulatory Excellence in the Public Interest in a Diverse Environment.

2



Competencies for Council and Committee Members
Approved by Council: November 25,2021

Values

. Integrity

. Respect

. Collaborative

. Innovative

. Transparent

. Responsive

Strategic Objectives

1. Build public trust and confidence and promote understanding of the role of CCO

amongst all stakeholders.
2. Ensure the practice of members is safe, ethical, and patient-centered.

3. Ensure standards and core competencies promote excellence of care while
responding to emerging developments.

4. Optimize the use of technology to facilitate regulatory functions and

communications.
5, Continue to meet CCO's statutory mandate and resource priorities in a fiscally

responsible manner.

ConaperENcrES FoR Couttctt- M enneens

The following document outlines the competencies expected of Council and Committee

members, as they relate to the duties and obiects of the college and the mission, vision,
values and strategic objectives of CCO.

Please note that it is not expected that candidates for Council and committees possess all
of these competencies prior to being elected or appointed to CCO Council or committees.

CCO provides ongoing training, orientation and education opportunities both through

Council and committees and through the Health Profession Regulators of Ontario
(HPRO). Council and committee members should be prepared to participate in ongoing

orientation, continuing education and professional development, once elected or
appointed to CCO.

Furthermore, it is not the expectation that all Council and committee members possess all

of the following competencies. Rather the different competencies of Council and

committee members should complement each other and be diverse to represent the public

of Ontario.

536

J



Competencies for Council and Committee Members
Approved by Council: November 25,2021

Career Skills, Knowledge and Experience

Professional C hiropractic Experience

Experience in providing chiropractic care to a diverse group of patients in various
practice settings
Experience with various aspects of chiropractic care, including, patient
consultation, examination and care, informed consent, record keeping, business
and billing practices, billing of insurance companies and third-party payors,
advertising and other communications to the public (websites and social media). It
is acknowledged that Council and commiffiee memhers may not have experience
in all of these aspects of chiropractic practice; however, the experience and
background of Council and committee members should complement each other
and represent the diversity of practice in Ontario.
Understanding of the importance of the protection of patient rights and patient
safety, including the prevention of patient abuse and boundary violations

Regulatory, Administrative and Other Experience

o Experience in professional regulation, boards of directors or other administrative
and member organizations

o Understand the role of self-regulation of health professions
o Experience with chairing and participating in meetings
r Understand rules of procedure (e.g., Roberts Rules of Order), codes of conduct,

conflict of interest policies and confidentiality undertakings
. Experience in areas such as finance/accounting, education, information

technology and governance
o Have a basic knowledge of technology and ability to use technology to perform

the work of CCO (emails, Zoommeetings and webinars, PDFs, etc.)

Values, Skills, Behaviour and Character Attributes

Communication

r Communicate effectively, concisely, constructively, respectfully and accurately,
verbally and in writing, with council and committee members, staff, members, the
public, government, and other extemal stakeholders, in the context of regulating
the profession in the public interest

o Listen in a respectful manner and ask for clarification and explanation
r Provide constructive and helpful contributions to discussion and debate with a

view towards problem solving and making effective decisions

ll/orking in a Team-Based, Diverse Environment

r Work cooperatively, collegially and respectfully in a team-based environment

4

537

a

o

a



Competencies for Council and Committee Members
Approved by Council: November 25,2021

r Demonstrate respectful behaviour to a variety of viewpoints and social and

cultural differences
. Help in building consensus
r Support decisions and positions of CCO Council
o Demonstrate leadership skills and ability to lead others to solve problems, adapt

and manage change and achieve results
r Demonstrate a commitment to diversity and inclusion

Avuilability

. Commitment to being available for regular meetings and hearings

. Commitment to being prepared for regular meetings and hearings, by reading
committee packages and background material in advance

r Punctual attendance at meetings and hearings

Commitment to and Understanding of the role of the CCO

Place the interests of the public and mandate of CCO above oneself or one's own
interests

Understand the specific role of the CCO to regulate chiropractic in the public
interest and how it differs from roles ofprofessional associations, advocacy
groups, educational institutions, protective associations and other stakeholders

Understand and respect the roles of council members, committee members and

staff
Ability to identify and declare real and perceived conflicts of interest and

appearances ofbias

Commitment to Learning

Commitment to ongoing learning and education about professional regulation,
CCO and other areas relevant to serving as a Council or committee member on
CCO
Ability to ask questions if knowledge is lacking

Critical Thinking and Problem Solving

. Use professional judgment and strategic thinking to solve problems and address

issues
. Make decisions guided by qualitative and quantitative evidence and background

material from government, other health professions, other jurisdictions and other
sources

r Adapt and demonstrate flexibility based on changing environments
e Understand and manage risk to the public in decision-making

538

a

o

a

a

a

a

5



Competencies for Council and Committee Members
Approved by Council: November 25,2021 539
Professionalism

Demonstrate professionalism and good character and act with honestly, integrity
transparency, credibility, collaboration, diplomacy and respectfulness

Knowledge of Professional Health Regulation and CCO

o Understand the role of the regulator and professional health regulation in Ontario
r Understand the difference in roles between a professional health regulator and

other stakeholders, such as professional advocacy groups, protective associations
and educational institutions

o Work within the wider context of the regulatory framework in Ontario and
consistently with the goals and objectives of the Ontario Government and
Ministry of Health

o Understand and work in accordance with the objects of the College and mission,
vision, values and strategic objectives of CCO

o Understand and work within CCO's governance and organizational strucfure,
goveming legislation, and mission, vision, values and strategic objectives

r Understand the mandates and functions of CCO Council and committees
r Understand and apply CCO regulations, by-laws, internal policies, codes of

conduct, standards ofpractice, policies and guidelines
. Apply legal authority (legislation, regulation, standards of practice, policies and

guidelines) to regulatory issues
r Understand the role of a Council member, fiduciary duties and good governance

principles, including the distinction and relationships in the roles of Council, the
Registrar and staff

r Understand and appreciate finances and financial implications of decisions
r Understand and adhere to fiduciary and confidentiality duties

CompErENcIES AND ExpecrATIoNS FoR COMMITTEE
MeMeeRs

In addition to the competencies expected of Council members, the following mandates,
meeting expectations and competencies are expected for committee members on CCO
committees. CCO provides ongoing training, orientation and education opportunities both
through Council and committees and through the Health Profession Regulators of Ontario
(HPRO).

Executive Committee

Commiffee Mandate

To exercise the powers of Council between meetings with respect to any matter
requiring immediate attention other than the power to make, amend or revoke a
regulation or by-law.

a

a

6



Competencies for Council and Committee Members
Approved by Council: November 25,2021

To provide leadership in exercising CCO's mandate to regulate chiropractic in the
public interest.

Meeting Expectations

Approximately five full day meetings per year (additional meetings on an as-

needed basis)

Competencies for the Executive Committee

o Knowledge and understanding of the regulatory framework of CCO, including the

Regulated Health Professions Act, I 99 I , the Chiropractic Act, I 991 , CCO By-
laws, internal policies, conflict of interest policies, code of conduct and rules of
order

o Communicate with key stakeholders, including members, members of the public,
government and other external stakeholders

o Contribute to the review and recommendation to Council of an annual budget,
consistent with resources, priorities and strategic objectives

r Review and analyze extensive mater\al,listen and contribute in a respectful
manner to discussion and debate and reach a decision regarding regulatory
decisions

o Effective oral and written communication skills
o Respectful and collegial communication when discussing and debating differing

opinions
r Active contribution to discussion and decision-making
r Active listening and respectful communication with committee members and staff
r Possess strategies to build consensus
r Understands issues from different perspectives

Inquiries, Cornplaints and Reports Committee

Committee Mandate

To respond to inquiries, complaints and reports in a manner consistent with its
legislative mandate under the fuHPA.
To review reports of investigations and make decisions concerning the possible

referral of specified allegations or professional misconduct to the Discipline
Committee and the imposition of interim terms, conditions and limitations on a

member's certificate of registration.

Meetings Expectations

Approximately 10-12 fulIday meetings per year

540
a

a

a

a

7

a



Competencies for Council and Committee Members
Approved by Council: November 25,2021

Competencies for the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee

r Commitment to review extensive material related to inquiries, complaints and
reports to CCO, including submissions by the complainant and member, clinical
notes and records, materials from insurance companies, third-party payors and
other third parties (e.g., employers), and expert and investigation reports

r Knowledge and understanding of the regulatory framework specific to the
complaints process, including the Regulated Health Professions Act, l99I and the
Chiropractic Act, I99I

r Knowledge and understanding of CCO regulations, standards of practice, policies
and guidelines and able to apply them to specific complaints

o Knowledge and understanding of risk assessment tools used by the committee
r Review, process and organize large amounts of information and material to

synthesize issues and provide a framework for discussion and decision-making
r Use technology effectively and review digital material
o Experience in review of complaints and other forms of adjudication
r For chiropractors - broad knowledge base and experience in chiropractic care
o For public members - ability to listen, learn, discuss and ask questions of the

professional members of the committee related to chiropractic practice
. Available and prepared for meetings
. Identify and declare any real or perceived conflicts ofinterest and/or appearances

of bias
o Understand the fiduciary duty to act honestly, in good faith and in accordance

with the duties and objects of the College
r Commitment to make informed, impartial and transparent decision
o Effective oral and written communication skills
o Respectful and collegial communication when discussing and debating differing

opinions
r Active contribution to discussion and decision-making
e Active listening and respectful communication with committee members and staff
o Possess strategies to build consensus
r Understands issues from different perspectives
o Understands regulatory outcomes of the inquiries, complaints and reports process
r Unclerstantls importance of well-supported reasons fot decision and fairness,

impartiality and transparency in decision-making
r Identify issues that require external expertise (legal advice or expert opinions)

Discipline Comrnittee

Committee Mandate

To adjudicate specific allegations of professional misconduct or incompetence
referred to the committee by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee.
To review applications for reinstatement following a discipline finding.

541

a

8



Competencies for Council and Committee Members
Approved by Council: November 25,2021

Meetings Expectations

. Approximately 1-2 full day meetings per year

. Availability for hearings on an as-needed basis

Competencies for the Discipline Committee

. Commitment to review extensive material related to discipline hearings, including
notices of hearings, submissions from CCO and the member, joint submissions

and agreed statements of fact, evidence including, clinical notes and records,

materials from insurance companies, third-parfy payors and other third parties,

and expert and investigation reports
o Knowledge and understanding of the regulatory framework specific to the

discipline process, including the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, the
Chiropractic Act, 1991, andlhe Statutory Powers Procedures Act

. Complete the Discipline Orientation from the Health Profession Regulators of
Ontario (HPRO)

o Knowledge and understanding of CCO regulations, standards of practice, policies

and guidelines and application of them to specific disciplinary matters
o Experience in sitting on regulatory or administrative panels and other forms of

adjudication
. ljse technology effectively and review digital material
o Understand the role of independent legal counsel (ILC), and able to work with

and ask questions of ILC
o Understand the roles of Counsel and witnesses in a discipline hearing
. Identiff and declare any real orperceived conflicts ofinterest andlor appearances

of bias in deliberating disciplinary matters
o Understand the fiduciary duty to act honestly, in good faith and in accordance

with the duties and objects of the College
. Commitment to make informed, impartial and transparent decisions
o Effective oral and written communication skills
o Respectful and collegial communication when discussing and debating differing

opinions
o Active contribution to discussion and decision-making
o Active listening and respectful communication with committee members and staff
r Possess strategies to build consensus
o Review, process and organize large amounts of information and material to

synthesize issues and provide a framework for discussion
o Understand issues from different perspectives
r Understand regulatory outcomes of discipline hearings and the importance of

well-supported reasons for decisions
o Understand importance of fairness, impartiality and open-mindedness in decision

making

542

9



Competencies for Council and Committee Members
Approved by Council: November 25,2021

a

543
Fitness to Practise Committee

Committee Mandate

To hear and determine allegations of mental or physical incapacity referred to the
committee by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee.
To review applications for reinstatement following an incapacity finding.

Meetings Expectations

. Approxima,tely 1 firll day meeting per year
r Availability for hearings on an as-needed basis

Competencies for Fitness to Practise
(See competencies for Discipline Committee, as they related to Fitness to Practise
Hearings)

Registration Committee

Committee Mandate

. To develop, establish and maintain standards of qualification for persons to be
issued certificates of registration.

. To review applications for registration referred by the Registrar.

. To determine the terms, conditions or limitations, if any, for granting a certificate
ofregistration to an applicant.

Meetings Expectations

Approximately l-2 full day meetings and 8-10 half day meetings per year

a

Competencies for Registration Committee

o Knowledge and understanding of the regulatory framework specific to the
registration process, including the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, the
Chiropractic Act, 1991, the registration regulation and registration policies and
decision-making tools, and ability to apply them to registration applications with
unique fact scenarios

o Understand the requirements for registration as a member of CCO in Ontario
r Possess strategies to build consensus
r Understand the importance of transparent, objective, impartial and fair decision-

making
r Active contribution to discussion and decision-making
r Active listening and respectful communication with committee members and staff

10



Competencies for Council and Committee Members
Approved by Council: November 25,2021

Understand the role of the Office of the Fairness Commissioner in overseeing the

registration practices of Ontario health regulatory colleges

Quality Assuran ce Cornmittee

Committee Mandate

To develop, establish and maintain: programs and standards of practice to assure

the quality of the profession, standards of knowledge and skill and programs to
promote continuing competence among members and standards of professional

ethics.
To develop mechanisms and protocols to assess the knowledge, skills and

continuing competence of members.

Meetings Expectations

. Approximately 6-8 full day meetings per year

. Availability for workshops on an as-needed basis

Competencies for the Quality Assurance Committee
. Knowledge and understanding of the regulatory framework specific to the Quality

Assurance Committee, including the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, the

Chiropractic Act, 1991, and CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines

. Knowledge and understanding of CCO's Quality Assurance Commiffee including
Peer and Practice Assessment, Self Assessment, Continuing Education and

Professional Development, Record Keeping Workshops and CCO's mechanisms

for monitoring compliance
. Review standards of practice, policies and guidelines from other jurisdictions and

other Ontario health professions as they apply to review of CCO standards of
practice, policies and guidelines

o Effective oral and written communication skills
r Respectful and collegial communication when discussing and debating differing

opinions
o Active contribution to discussion and decision-making
o Active listening and respectful communication with committee members and staff
o Possess strategies to build consensus
. Review, process and organize large amounts of information and material to

synthesize issues and provide a framework for discussion
o Understand issues from different perspectives

544
a

a

11



Competencies for Council and Committee Members
Approved by Council: November 25,2021

Patient Relations Committee

Committee Mandate

To develop and implement a program/guidelines to enhance the doctor-patient
relationship.
To develop and implement measures for preventing and dealing with sexual abuse
of patients.
To develop, establish and maintain programs to assist individuals in exercising
their rights under the RHPA.

Meetings Expectations

Approximately 4-6 full day meetings per year

545

a

a

a

Competencies for the Patient Relations Committee
. Knowledge and understanding of the regulatory framework specific to the Patient

Relations Committee, including the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, the
Chiropractic Act, 1991, and CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines

o Knowledge and understanding of legislation, regulations and policies related to
funding for therapy and counselling for victims of sexual abuse

. Commitment to preventing and dealing with sexual abuse of patients through
educational programs, guidelines for conduct, training for CCO staff and
provision of infbrmation to the public

o Effective oral and written communication skills
r Respectful and collegial communication when discussing and debating differing

opinions
o Active contribution to discussion and decision-making
r Active listening and respectful communication with committee members and staff
r Possess strategies to build consensus
o Review, process and organize large amounts of information and material to

synthesize issues and provide a framework for discussion
o Understand issues from different perspectives

Advertising Committee (non-statutory)

Committee Mandate

To review proposed advertisements by members to ensure compliance with
CCO's Standard of Practice S-016: Advertising and Guideline G-016:
Advertising.

Meetings Expectations

Approximately l-2 half day meetings per year

a

a

a

t2



Competencies for Council and Committee Members
Approved by Council: November 25,2021

Availability to review and provide feedback on advertisements and website and

social media material submitted by members

Competencies for the Advertising Committee

. Knowledge and understanding of CCO standards of practice and guidelines as

they relate to advertising, websites and social media
. Apply CCO standards of practice and guidelines as they relate to advertising,

websites and social media to the review and feedback provided on submitted
advertisements, website and social media content submitted by members

o Review past feedback provided from the Advertising Committee and apply to the

review of advertisements, website and social media content submitted by
members

r Effective oral and written communication skills
. Respectful and collegial communication when discussing and debating differing

opinions
o Active contribution to discussion and decision-making
o Active listening and respectful communication with committee members and staff
o Possess strategies to build consensus
o Review, process and organize large amounts of information and material to

synthesize issues and provide a framework for discussion
r Understand issues from different perspectives

GoruperENctEs FoR CHATRS oF Gouttcll AND GotvtlulrrEEs

In addition to the competencies for Council and Committee members, the following
competencies are expected of Council and committee chairs:

. Lead and guide Council/committee in achieving its goals and objectives
r Demonstrate effectiveness and skills in chairing, including, following rules and

working through meeting agendas
o Promote a strong and positive Council/commiffee culture
,. Build and maintain trusting relationships and good communication with council

members, committee members and staff
r Demonstrate values of respect, honesty and integrity
o Understand and act in accordance with CCO by-laws, internal policies, codes of

conduct and confidentiality and rules of order
o Understand the authority of Council and committees as a whole
o Promote respectful and efficient discussion and debate and helps to build

consensus in decision-making

546

a

13



3117123, 11:07 AM Constant Contact

ITEM 4.1.48
Co{lege of Chinoprflctor$ of Ontaris
f'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontsrio

To: Eligible Voters in District 6

Following the dates of candidate nomination and withdrawal, the following
candidates had filed nomination papers and supporting documents for the
2023 elections to CCO Council in District 6. Please click on each candidate's
name for their biographical statements.

Election in District 6: Western (one CCO Council position available)

. Dr. Michelle Camp-bCll

. Dr. Colin Goudreau

Please note: Voting for CCO elections will open on March t3,2O23 at 4
p.m. Eligible voters in District 6 will receive an email to vote, with voting
instructions and a link to an electronic ballot on March L3,2023 at 4 p.m.

Information on the 2023 elections to CCO Council can be found at the
following link.

Participate in the self regulation of the chiropractic profession by exercising
your right to vote!

College of Chiropractors of Ontario | 59 Hayden St., Suite 800, Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7 Canada

U nsu bscribe { reciple-0!'s.S.n-ej-l}

Undate Profile I Constant Contact Data Notice

Sent by cco.info@cco.on.ca powered by

547

Zt Constont
\1!/ contqct
Try email marketing for free loday!

https://app.constantcontact.com/pages/campaigns/email-details/details/activity/db7048bc-ac0d-4676-a840-0c71 688182bG 1t1



548
Dr. Michelle Campbell

BSc, DC, MBA (2023)

Chiropractic has given me so much, and I strongly desire to give back and ensure the public of Ontario

has the best care possible. I have experienced insights into regulation in the public interest through being

a peer assessor at CCO for five years and a peer mentor, a non-elected committee member at CCO for

three years, and I have owned my Chiropractic practice with multiple Chiropractors and other

professionals for the past fifteen years. I have recently completed all of the requirements for my

Executive MBA and will graduate in June of this year.

Other advocacy involvement and recognition have included being the president of the London

Chiropractic Association for five years, giving back as a founding member of the Salvation Army Centre

of Hope Chiropractic Clinic for ten years, and being involved in many ways in our profession. I have

been honoured with the Top 20 under 40 Award in London, the OCA Patient Care Award in2022, an

OCA Michael Brickman Award nominee, and multiple local Chiropractic awards. I have contributed to

research in the field of postpartum and published the Ultrasound Assessment of Abdominal Muscle

Thickness in Postpartum vs Nulliparous Women in the Joumal of Manipulative and Physiological

Therapeutics. I have been a guest lecturer at Fanshawe College, Western University and the University of
Waterloo. I have enjoyed guest teaching massage and business students, family doctor medical students

and Kinesiology students.

Our profession's ability to offer a diverse range of services and help a diverse range of patients is vital to

provide the public with the care they need. Whether you work with pediatrics and pregnancy, have a

rehab-style practice, or have any possible combination oftechniques and approaches available,

Chiropractic is as diverse as the communities we serve. There is a place for all of it in our scope of
practice with ethical and patient-centred care. We need strong leadership at the CCO. My experience

building a successful practice from scratch, combined with my recent Executive MBA education from

Ivey at Westem University, will only help the profession and my leadership at the CCO. I recognize the

elected role is to represent the public interest and not advocate for any particular group, and that is the

lens through which I will bring to CCO.

I enjoy lifting weights, walking in nature with my husband Chris, having kitchen and backyard dance

parties with my six-year-old twins Jackson and Alexandra and continually pushing myself to grow,

innovate and improve.

I ask for and would appreciate your vote of support.

"Chiropractors who are elected will reflect their commitment to the public's right to safe, effective and

ethical chiropractic care."



549

Colin Goudreau, D.C.
CCO Council District 6 Candidate

I am asking for your vote in this important CCO election for re-election in

District 6 and appreciate your consideration.

After graduating in 2013, I established my practice in Chatham, Ontario

(alongside working in Windsor, Ontario for 2 years). I am passionate about

portraying our profession to the public as one with an excellent knowledge

base of neuromusculoskeletal injuries, as being spinal care experts, and as a group ofhealth care providers that

"practice what we preach" in regard to healthy habits and ethical practice. This is why I have integrated

myself into my community through various roles (Chamber, former Chatham Chiropractic Society Chair,

business social groups, local health fairs, running groups, etc). I will bring the voice of a collaborative and

evidence-based clinician to the CCO Council.

I am currently finishing the three year term for this districts seat on Council at the CCO, having worked in a

variety of roles both as a Council member in regular meetings, and as a part of a number of committees

(Discipline, Inquiries Complaints and Reports, Registration). Prior to the 2020 election, I had been actively

involved in the CCO in various non-council roles (Advertising committeein20l7-18, as well as three one-year

terms on the Discipline Committee from20l7-2020). I have also done continuing education on Diversity,

Equity and Inclusion (DEI) to enhance a skill set valuable when collaborating with others at the CCO. This

experience has been valuable and I want to continue to advocate for protecting the public.

Consistent, relevant, practical and evidence based policies and standards combined with consistently and

appropriately applied sanctions for not following said standards will create trust and credibility and serves to

protect the public. The responsibility to ensure we protect the public and responsibly to self-regulate lies at the

iegulatory level. As a clinician entering into my 1Oth year of practice, I can bring a perspective that will foster

conversations and create opportunities to consider regulatory change, in a way that is responsive to the ever

changing trends and ways in which we communicate with the public. I believe I can bring viewpoint to

Council combining my experience on council by: showing up prepared, having a willingness to ask questions,

seek clarity and transparency when required, push for all perspectives to be considered, and create constructive

dialogue with the other members of Council.

I want the college to be pro-active, not reactive, to emerging issues for chiropractors and the public we serve,

in Ontario. Ensuring we are always keeping abreast of opportunities to enhance and develop standards of

practice will continue to ensure the practice of chiropractic care in Ontario will be done ethically, and in a way

where the public can have confidence in the profession. Embracing these basic principles and understanding

the diversity of the profession, is key to who we are as chiropractors. Diversity, when deployed ethically and

competently, can be a strength that enables us to best serve the public.

I am thankful for the opportunity that has been afforded to me by my peers to be at the regulatory table with

chiropractors from across Ontario, serving the public interest. I will continue to bring a fresh and unique

perspective to the self-regulation of our profession. We need to continue evolving and modernizing self-

regulation. I am committed to working hard with the rest of the Council members at the CCO' Chiropractors

who are elected will reflect their commitment to the public's right to safe and ethical chiropractic care.

It would be my honour and privilege to continue to represent our profession in this capacity. I am asking for

your vote and appreciate your consideration. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. I
can be reached on my cell: 519-784-6484, or via email at goudreaudc@gmail.com. Thanks



3117123,11:07 AM Constant Contact

College ef Chiroprf,ctsrs of Ontario
L'Ordre dss ehirsprsticiens de I'Ontariu

lrEM 4.1.49
To: Eligible Voters in District 6

Please note: Voting for CCO elections will open on March 13,2O23 at 4
p.m, Eligible voters in District 6 will receive an email to vote, with voting
instructions and a link to an electronic ballot with the candidates in District 6

on March L3,2022 at 4 p.m. Voting closes on March 28,2023 at 4 pm.

Candidates are permitted to provide one additional page of campaign material.
please see the following biographical information and one additional page of
optional campaign material.

Information on the 2023 elections to CCO Council can be found at the
following link.

Election in District 5: Western

Dr. Michelle Campbell
. Biogra@
. O@P*aLgnStatement

. Dr. Colin Goudreau
. Biogra@
. O@PaignStatement

Thank you for engaging in the self-regulation of chiropractic in Ontario

College of Chiropractors of Ontario | 59 liayden 5t., Suite 800, Toronlo, ON M4Y 0E7 Canada

U nsu bscri be { reciptgnlss meil-}.

UpjEle j.rclile I Constant Contacl Data No'[!ee

Sent by cco.info@cco.on.ca powered by

550

o

Zt Constqnt\9 Contqct
Try email marketing for tree today!

https://app.constantcontaci.com/pages/campaigns/email-details/details/activity/1831f826-a265-4ob1-977c-6d152439ac3b 1t1



551

My name is Dr. Michelle Campbell, and I am running for District 6 CCO Council, and I am asking for

your vote. I have met many of you through the peer assessment program over the past six years. I have

witnessed many similarities in how we are invested in patient outcomes. I have had a front-row seat to

how we are all invested in patient outcomes using diversity in our techniques, communication styles' and

personalities. By partnering with our patients, we work toward results that help those who walk through

our doors to improve their function, decrease pain, and improve their quality of life.

If elected, I will come to the council and work on committees as I approach my patients as a prepared,

open-minded Chiropractor for high-quality patient care using our scope of practice and standards for their

fullbenefit. We have coflrmon interests as Chiropractors and want to provide ethical, patient-centred, and

evidence-informed Chiropractic care to Ontarians. My strong interest in regulating the profession in the

public interest has stemmed from my involvement in the peer assessment program and further developed

over the past three years by serving on the CCO patient relations committee. My recent executive MBA

education has cemented my desire to be on the council at CCO, especially in diversity and inclusion and

corporate and responsible governance.

I have lived the life of a working student, spouse, and parent to build a successful practice from zero. I

know the weight of student debt and the hard work and disciplined focus it takes to survive and thrive. I

have worked across the province through many short and long-term Locums to gain as much

understanding ofhow important having diverse chiropractic techniques, care, and support is for an

ever-changing society. I know the importance and responsibility of working with and leading a clinic of

multiple disciplines and the importance of a common and clear direction. I see the fear and excitement of

putting it all on the line and purchasing a building to ensure control over the practice's future. As a small

business owner who cares deeply about my patients, staff, and family, I know the stomach-turning feeling

of walking into and through a pandemic. I have built my chiropractic practice with two hands and am

grateful for the incredibly personal, professional, and spiritual rewards the journey has given me' And it
is my turn to give back.

I look forward to contributing, considering, reflecting and discussing the items at hand at the council. I

possess the skills and experience from 15 years as a practicing Chiropractor, owning a multi-practitioner

clinic in London, Ontario, being a peer assessor and peer mentor, a non-elected committee member of the

patient relations committee, a founding volunteer member of the Salvation Army Centre of Hope

Chiropractic Clinic, a past London Chiropractic Society President, a real estate investor and entrepreneur.

I enjoyed leading our London Chiropractors by bringing a diverse spectrum of speakers to our society and

communicating Chiropractic in the media as a CTV spokesperson. I am well aware that in the position on

the council, I do not represent nor am I to advocate for an association or any particular group' I share my

experience for you to know my merits.

Ontarians benefit from the properly applied Chiropractic adjustment and protection that regulated activity

is in the public interest. I am a Chiropractor who is intensely interested in our profession to ensure we

deliver ethical, patient-centred, evidence-informed, and competent care. I am asking for your vote for the

District 6 CCO council. Please feel free to contact me at 519 642 2273 or email me at

michelle@campbellcc. com.



552
Dr. Colin Goudreau
CCO Council District 6 Candidate

I hope that you all received the biographical information page through the CCO about me and why I feel I

would be a good candidate for the role of Council Member for our District, 6.

Once again, the CCO is doing an electronic vote. Keep your eyes out for the email, as it will contain

information as to how it is done and should only take a couple of minutes to send a secure ballot. I hope

this encourages a great voter turnout in our region, so please use your vote and encourage others to do the

same. Voting begins March 13th - vote as soon as you get the e-mail so it doesn't get lost along the way.

Chatham-Kent comprises both an urban and rural demographic. I think this perspective makes my

candidacy unique and encompassing of the region, which would lend to my opinions being beneficial to

the CCO in helping to protect the public interest. I feel my CCO experience is of benefit for an

encompassing and diverse group of council members. According to the 202I Annual Report, 56.9Vo of

chiropiactors in Ontario are under the age of 45, with the largest demographic coming from 35-45

(29.BVo). This perspective should be sitting at the regulatory table. Now having gained 6 years of CCO

experience (3 as a Council member, and 3 years as a non-council committee member), having a working

knowledge of a number of roles in the college is of benefit to the CCO and their public interest mandate.

The unique chance for all of us as chiropractors, to help the neuromusculoskeletal conditions we treat, and

makes u, u u"ry valuable asset to the health care system. If positioned correctly, it gives us a great chance

to be the spinal care experts that we know we are. We just need to make sure that the public understands

this, and that any patient walking into our offices is experiencing an ethical and competent chiropractic

interaction, wherever they go. This is why we have the CCO - to ensure that public trust is there, and that

the care provided is up to the regulations and standards that are set. I want our regulatory body in Ontario

to be the envy of other regulatory bodies both in our profession and by other allied health professionals.

The CCO's values are: integrity, respect, collaborative, innovative, transparent, and responsive.

Over the 6 years of involvement at the CCO, I have pushed to ensure these values are being upheld.

Transparency in decision making is important to protect the public, gain public trust, and give

confidence to all of the members in the profession. If you had the chance to watch a council meeting

(now available virtually, not just in person), you would of seen me demonstrate these attributes, as I
ask questions, and give my opinion on topics that are being debated at council meetings. I show up

prepared, seek clarification when required, and ensure my voice is heard when matters are discussed.

We need to strive for regulatory excellence. I want our college to implement competency based

principles. I want to be a council member seen as being transparent, and not having any bias in

decision making. If I can help achieve the CCO's values, then I am up for the task'

I hope that this helps give you more information about myself, and makes you comfortable with me being

the candidate you would like to continue to see as a council member. The time is now to engage and put

an end to voter apathy. It is time for you to use your voice, through your vote in this election. If you

have any further questions, please let me know.

Contact Information: (Cell) 5 1 9-7 84-6484 (Email) goudreaudc @ gmail'com



|TEM 4.1.50
Joel Friedman 553
From:
Sent:
To:

College of Chiropractors of Ontario < noreply- 1 43389@bigpulse.com >

Friday, March 10,202312:39 PM

Joel Friedman
TEST TO ALL TESTERS: 2023 District 6 Election to CCO Council Electronic BallotSubiect:

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have

verified the sender and know the content is safe.

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
ti0rdre des Chiropraticien$ de l'Ontario

Dear Dr. Joel Friedman,

CCO Elections Open!

The 2023 District 6 election to CCO Council is now open

Every eligible voter in District 6 is receiving an electronic ballot to vote for one candidate in District 6

You are invited to vote in:2023 CCO Elections to Council - District 6

The Candidates

You may access candidate biographies, campaign material and information about the 2023 Elections to CCO Council at:

https://cco.o n.cal2023l01/2612023-e lectio ns-to-cco-cou nci l/.

You are encouraged to carefully review the candidates' information to make up your own mind before casting an

informed vote for election to CCO Council.

Please note that confidentiality will be maintained throughout the election process, including whether a member did or
did not vote.

The following candidates have filed nomination papers and supporting documents in District 5: Western (one CCO

Council position available):
r Dr. Michelle Campbell
r Dr. Colin Goudreau

Cast Your Vote!

The link below lands on the voting page and contains a list of candidates in District 6, candidate statements and an

electronic ballot to vote.

Once in the voting page, you may view each candidate's statement by clicking "click for statement". Once you have

selected your vote, please click "Proceed to vote confirm page" and click "Submit Vote" to confirm your vote. Once you

have submitted your vote, it cannot be changed.

1



Election open date: Monday 13 March 2023 16:00 EDT

Election close date:Tuesday 28 March 2023 1"6:00 EDT

554
To access the voting page click this link:
https://www.bigpulse.com/rr?c=lJtUABV6C2eAQwOQTtFDPsT4cxuWhTAubloxEQ

lf the above link does not appear to work copy and paste it into your browser.

CCO thanks all candidates for allowing their names to stand for election to CCO Council.

tmportant Security Warning: Do not forward this email because it contains your personal auto-sign-in link

CON FIDENTIALITY WARN ING :

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s)

named above. Any other distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited" lf you have received this e-mail in error,
please notify me immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or

making a copy. Thank you.

2



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1.51

-

Jo-Ann Willson
March 13,2023 1:16 PM

Rose Bustria

FW:Voting opens today for 2023 Elections to CCO Council; read

candidates' Town Hall Q&As

555
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Exec and Council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 11'1

Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related
to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the emailor phone contact
information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 4L6-922-6355 ext. L00 or email
reception@cco.on.ca
and your inquiry will be directed appropriately,

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are ireated
with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require accommodations, Please ensure that all communications with CCO are

respectful and professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s)
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

named above. Any other
immediately by reply e-

From: Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA) <OCA@chiropractic.on.ca>

Sent: Monday, March L3,20231:1-5 PM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>
Subject: Voting opens today for 2023 Elections to CCO Council; read candidates'Town Hall Q&As

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Voting opens today tor 2023 Elections to CCO Council; read candidates' Town Hall Q&As

1



H
556

Ontario
Chiropractic
Association

Voting opens today lor 2023 Elections to CCO Gouncil; read

candidates' Town Hall Q&As

We congratulate all candidates running for the 2023 Elections to Collese of

Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO) Council.

Voting opens today at 4 p.m. and will close on Tuesday, March 28,2023,

at 4 p.m.

Please find a list of all candidates by district on our Sprinq 2023 CCO Council

Elections page

ln District 5 (Central West), congratulations to Dr. Sarah Green who has been

acclaimed. In District 7 (Academic), congratulations to Dr. Jarrod Goldin who

has been acclaimed.

Elections to CCO Council are being held in District 6 (Western) for the

following candidates: Dr. Michelle Campbell and Dr. Colin Goudreau.

2

lmportant Update



Eligible voters in District 6 will receive an email to vote, with voting instructions

and a link to an electronic ballot with the candidates in District 6 today at 4

p.m.

District 6 candidates'Town Hall Q&As and additional details

To help eligible voters make an informed choice, the candidates in District 6

responded to three Town Hall questions. See below for a snapshot of one of

their answers and click on each candidate to read their full responses to each

of the three questions posed. There, you'll also find links to digital channels

where each candidate is campaigning, their biographical information, and

optional additional campaign statements.

1. Dr. Michelle Campbell

Question: lf you were elected to CCO Council, what in your opinion is the

most effective way to maintain and build public trust the profession?

Answer: The most effective way to maintain and build public trust is to combat

the risks facing our profession and the public perception of Chiropractic. The

557

3



first is Brand Risk, which has been a risk related to the overall industry of 558
Chiropractic for many years. This risk is not individualized to any individual

practice but directly related to our industry. Many myths about our profession

stem from poor communication on the Chiropractor's part, using poor business

tactics, outdated information or inappropriate advertising strategies. An

effective way is to mitigate this risk by continually improving our communication

skills with the public and the CCO members to ensure competent

communication. CCO also provides current regulations and standards to

ensure our members have the most up-to-date information. The members can

then increase our collective industry brand by levelling all of our individual

members' brands. Trust is also achieved when we can be transparent, open,

honest, and work toward continual improvement.

2. Dr. Colin Goudreau

Question: lf you were elected to CCO Council, what in your opinion is the

most effective way to maintain and build public trust the profession?

Answer: I think the best way to build public trust, and maintain it effectively, is

through open communication. Professional members of the CCO receive an

4



Annual Report, emails from the President, and emails requesting feedback

when council is looking at modifying policies, bylaws and standards. From the

public's perspective to my knowledge, the website provides information as well

as the publicly appointed Council members. Having regular

communication with the public at large would help build and maintain public

trust. Their confidence would improve when hearing firsthand, from an outward

facing communication process, about what the College is doing to help protect

their interest and in helping them gain access to competent ethical, and

patient-centered chi ropractic care.

For your reference, CCO also published this 2023 Notice of Election and

Nomination Guide.

For information about election procedures and the role of CCO Council

members, please visit 2023 Elections to CCO Council page on CCO's website.

@o@0@
We're here for You:

Contact us via your Self-Serve Member Portal or

Tel: 416-860-0070 (local) | 1-877-327-2273 (toll-free)

Ema il : oca@chi roPractic.on.ca

Our mailing address is:

Ontario Chiropractic Association

Business Building

70 University Ave Suite 201

Toronto, ON M5J 2M4

Canada

Add us to your address book

559

5



610
Standard of Practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals

|TEM 4.1 .54

CnrnopnAcrlc Cnne oF ANIMALS

Standard of Practice S'009
Quality Assurance Committee @D
Approved by Gouncil: APril25, 1998
Amended: February 19,2008, December 4,20'15, November 24,2022 (came into
effect Febru arv 24,2023

Note to Readers: In the event of any inconsistency between this document and the legislation that

affects chiropractic practice, the legislation governs'

lrurerur

To advise members on when and how they can conduct chiropractic care of animals, and to

remind them that the primary responsibility for the health care of animals is with veterinarians'

Oe.recnvrs

o To promote professionalism, safety and effectiveness in the chiropractic care of animals.

. To inform members of CCO of their obligations relating to the chiropractic care of animals.

o To ensure appropriate coordination and consultation between chiropractors and veterinarians

in the chiropractic care of animals.

o To educate the public as to the appropriate nature of the chiropractic care of animals.

DescRtploN oF STANDARD

A member is advised that:

. The primary responsibility for the health care of animals is with registrants of the CVO,

who are r.rponrlbl. for appropriate history taking, comprehensive examination,

including ciinical pathology, and imagin g, andthe overall carelmanagement of animals'

. Consent to the chiropractic care of animals must be fully informed and voluntariiy given

by the owner of the animal, and members are required to comply with all standards of

practice and applicable legislation relating to chiropractic'

In providing chiropractic care to an animal' a member shall:

. demonstrate successful completion of a program in animal chiropractic of a minimum of 200

hours of formal training thaf includes, but is not limited to, studies in the following subject

areas: anatomy, neurology, biomechanics, animal adjustment technique, diagnosis,

pathology, chiropractic philosophy, and ethics and legalities;



Standard of Practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals

ensure the record of care includes the name of the treating registrant of CVO and the relevant
portions of the veterinary record;

provide, upon request and only with the consent from the owner of the animal or otherwise in
accordance with the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, 2000
(PIPED{I a copy of relevant portions of the record to the treating registrant of CVO within
a reasonable time of providing chiropractic care to an animal;

maintain separate appointment books, separate health and financial records and, where
animals are provided with chiropractic care in the same office as humans, maintain a separate
portion of the office devoted to animal chiropractic2; and

611

a

a

a ensure that the owner of the animal(s) is fully informed about the member's insurance
coverage3.

a

Exemption

A member will be exempted from the first bulleted item above if she/she:

is enrolled and participating in an approved program in animal chiropractic, leading to the
successful completion of a program in animal chiropractic of a minimum of 200 hours of
formal training that includes, but is not limited to, studies in the following subject areas,
anatomy, neurology, biomechanics, animal adjustment technique, diagnosis, pathology,
chiropractic philosophy, and ethics and legalities;

completes the approved program in animal chiropractic within two years of their enrolment;

provides chiropractic care to animals within the parameters of their course of study; and

informs the owncr of thc animal(s) that they have emolled and are participating in but have
not yet graduated from an approved program in animal chiropractic.

1 Since the chiropractic care of animals does not involve human health care, the Personal Information Protection
and Electronic Documents Act, 2000 (PIPEDA) and not the Personal Health Information Protection Act, 2004

would apply to the collection, use and disclosure of information related to the chiropractic care of animals.
2 Maintenance of separate office space is a minimum requirement for health and sanitation r.urorrr, particularly in
light of the various communicable diseases common to human and animals.
3 This requires the member to advise the owner of the animal if the member's policy of insurance or membership in
a protective association does not provide coverage for the chiropractic care of animals. The owner should be
informed about the member's insurance coverage as part of the general requirement that there be "informed',
consent.

a

a

a



Standard of Practice S-OO9: Chiropractic Care of Animals
612

LeslstlttvE CoNTEXT

The governing legislation as it relates to human health care is the Regulated Health Professions

Act,iggl,u, u**d"d (RHPA) and the Chiropractic Act, 1991.The governing legislation as it

relates to animal health care is the Veterinarians Act, 1990 . Specific relevant provisions are

outlined below. The RHPA and the Chiropractic Act are administered by CCO and the

Veterinarians Act is administered by CVO.

Sections of the RHPA

Objects and Duty of the CCO - Section 3 of the Regulated Health Professions (Gode)'

Schedule 2to RHPA (Code):

(1) [CCOI has the following objects:

r To develop, establish and maintain programs and standards of practice to assure the

quality of the practice of the profession'

o To develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge, skill and programs to

promote continuing competence among the members'

(2) In carrying out its objects, the [CCO] has a duty to serve and protect the public

interest."

Sections of the ChiroPractic Act

Section 3: Chiropractic Scope of Practice

.,The practice of chiropractic is the assessment of conditions related to the spine, nervous system

and joints and the diagnosis, prevention and treatment, primarily by adjustment, of'

. dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structures or functions of the spine and the effects

oithose dysfunctions or disorders on the nervous system; and

. dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structures or functions of the joints."

Section 9: Restricted Titles for Ghiropractic

,.(1) No person other than a member shall use the title 'chiropractor', a variation

or abbreviation or an equivalent in another language'

(2) No person other than a member shall hold himself or herself out as a person

wtro is qualified to practise in Ontario as a chiropractor or in a specialty of

chiropractic.

(3) In this section, 'abbreviation' includes an abbreviation of a variation."



Standard of Practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals

613
Sections of Regulation 852/93 under lhe Chiropractic Act

Section 1 (2): Definition of Professional Misconduct for Chiropractors (Standards of
Practice)

"The following are acts of professional misconduct for the pulposes of clause 5 1 ( I ) (c) of the
Health Professions Procedural Code: Contravening a standard of practice of the piofession or
failing to maintain the standard of practice expected of members otttt. professidn."

Sections of the Veterinarians Act

Subsection 1 (1): Definition of Veterinary Medicine

"The 'practice of veterinary medicine' includes the practice of dentistry, obstetrics (including
ova and embryo transfer) and surgery in relation to an animal other than ahuman being."

Section 3: Objects of GVO

"(1) The principal object of the [CVO] is to regulate the practice of veterinary
medicine and to govem its members in accordance with this Act, the
regulations and the by-laws so as to serve and protect the public interest.

(2) For the purpose of carrying out its principal object, the [cvo] has the
following additional objects:

r establish, maintain and develop standards of knowledge and skill among its members;
and

o establish, maintain and develop standards of qualification and standards of practice
for the practice of veterinary medicine."

subsection 11 (1): Licence Required to practice veterinary Medicine

"No person shall engage in the practice of veterinary medicine or hold himself/herself out as
engaging in the practice of veterinary medicine unless the person is the holder of a license.,,

Sections of Regulation 1093 (General - Part ll Practice Standards) under the
Veterinarians Act

Section 17: Definition of Professional Misconduct for Veterinarians (Standards of
Practice)

"For the purposes of the Act, professional misconduct includes the following: Failing to maintain
the standard of practice of the profession."



College of
Chlropractors
of Ontario

UOrdre der
chiropraticiens
dc l'Ontario

130 Bloor St. West
Suite 902
Toronto, Ontario
MsS 1N5

Tel: 41 6-922-5355
Fax:41 6-925-951 0
cco.info@cco,on.ca
wwwcco.on.ca
Toll Free: 1-877 -577 -4772

February 24,2017 |TEM 4.1.55
Via E-mail and Ordinary Mail

Ms Jan Robinson
Registrar and Chief Executive Officer
College of Veterinarians of Ontario
2106 Gordon Street
Guelph, Ontario N1L 1G6

Re: Dialogue Concerning Animal Chiropractic between the College of Veterinarians

614

of Ontario (CVO) anf College of Chiroprtctors of Ontario (CCO)

nearPx66inson: fA-* 
:

I wanted to follow up on our informal lunch on December 2,2076 to express our
continuing interest in a dialogue relating to any proposed legislative amendments to the

cunent legislation governing the chiropractic care of animals.

As you know, this has been a topic of discussion between our respective colleges for
many years. CCO's cunent 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals (enclosed) was

originally approved by CCO Council on April 25,1998 following extensive discussions

with a former Registrar of CVO, namely the late Dr. John Henry. The standard has been

reviewed on a regular basis, with the most recent amendments being approved December

4,2AI5. A number of CCO members provide animal chiropractic care, and to date, there

hasn't been a complaint about animal chiropractic care by a member of CCO from the

public (there was one complaint many years ago from a veterinarian but the animal owner

did not wish to pursue the complaint),

CCO's Quality Assurance Committee is responsible for reviewing 5-009 on a regular

basis, and would be pleased to receive any feedback from CVO concerning the standard.

In addition, we would be pleased to review and comment on any proposed legislative

changes being considered or recommended by CVO either before or after more broad

scale public consultation. If you think it would be helpful, we would be pleased to host a

joint meeting to discuss any public interest issues consistent with our respective

mandates.

CCO has received various inquiries from members who practise chiropractic requesting

information about CVO's current efforts, and we expect to have a communication

strategy to address any issues. We are open to a joint communication to our respective

members if you think it would be both efficient and helpful.



Correspondence dated Februarv 24,2017 to Ms Robinson 2

615
In the interim, the QA Committee is in the process of gathering further background
information about the members who practice animal chiropractic, and for that purpose is
considering a brief survey asking information about how long they have been practising
animal chiropractic, where they were trained, and what formal or informal arrangements
they have with veterinarians. This information will be helpfirl in terms of confirming how
many members are involved in the chiropractic care of animals.

There is an opportunity here for interprofessional collaboration and we look forward to
hearing from you about what would be most helpful as the CVO continues its efforts to
modernize and update its legislation, potentially with the controlled and authorized acts

model of the Regulated Health Professions Act, I99l being a basis for discussion. We
look forward to an ongoing dialogue about these and any other issues. The CVO is to be

applauded for taking steps to modemize legislation that has not kept pace with other
legislative changes.

"nil'ffi il"tu}''ra-1
rfenn Willson
Registrar and General Counsel
College of Chiropractors of Ontario



evo
THE COLLEGE OF

VETERINARIANS
OF ONTARIO

616

March 13,2017

Ms. Jo-Ann Willson
Registrar and General Counsel
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
130 Bloor Street West
Suite 902
Toronto, ON MsS 1N5

aear lls.ffionJo'*w
Re: Dialogue Concerning Animal Chiropractic between the College of Veterinarians of

Ontario (CVO) and Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO)

Thank you very much for your letter of February 24,2017 outlining the CCO's interest in animal

chiropractic care and the work of your Quality Assurance Committee.

As you are aware our College is in the middle of a full legislative review of the Veterinarians Act,

inclusive of the scope of practice of veterinary medicine. Within this work we have

acknowledged the history of the dialogue between our two organizations and the CCO's

longstanding standard of practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals. ln addition, I have

appreciated our informal discussions regarding the mutual aim to recognize the scope of
practice of chiropractors within a proposed new scope modelfor veterinarians.

Our Council is meeting on March 22123 to discuss the proposed model prior to public

consultation. At present the proposal is focused on identified authorized activities rather than an

exclusive scope of practice. Furlher, it seeks to exempt chiropractors for both the use of the title

doctor (with conditions) and the performance of spinal manipulation on anitnals. Cnce Council

has approved the proposal, we will be moving to a public consultation phase in April and May.

We will reach out to you directly for a formal response.

t2

Strengthening the veterinary profession through quality practice and public accountability.

2106GorclonSt. ! Cuefh,ON I NILlG6 i Phone:519-824-5600/l-800-+24-2856 I Fax:519-824-6+97/t'888-662-9+79 t, \Y$'n'.cvo.org

Helc qJ;IHV]fIm

MAR I 4 2017

cottE4:$ *r i.li; llll i'i'ilAcI'oft $

l.;:.' i.:,'i: t:r^i'"\{.t



617

Ms. Jo-Ann Willson
Page 2

Your invitation to meet with members of your Quality Assurance Committee is welcomed, I

yoyld suggest we perhaps wait to set a time after the consultation period is complete and we
better understand any public concerns with what is proposed. You may also have the results of
yo-ur member survey regarding animol chiropractic end we would cedainly be interested in any
information you can share.

Thank you so much. We too look forward to an ongoing dialogue,

Sincerely,
COLLEGE OF VETERINARIANS OF ONTARIO

Jan Robinson
Registrar and CEO



College of
Chlropractors
of Ontario

liordre des
Chiropratlciens
de l'Ontario

130 Bloor St. West
Suite 902
Toronto, Ontario
M5S 1N5

Tel:416-922-6355
Fax:41 6-925-961 0

cco.info@cco.on.ca
www.cco.on.ca
Toll Free:'l-877 -577'477 2

618

JuneL4,2OL7

Ms. Jan Robinson

Registrar & Chief Executive Officer

College of Veterinarians of Ontario

2106 Gordon Street
Guelph, Ontario N1L1G6

Dear Ms, Robinson

L lntroduction

The College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO) commends The College of Veterinarians of

Ontario (iVO) and the Ontario Association of Veterinary Technicians (OAW) for undertaking

the review of the scope of practice of veterinary medicine. CCO supports the focus of the

review on the proteciion against risk and harm to animals and the promotion of public

health. As well, CCO supports the proposed scope of practice modelthat regulates the care

of animals through a legislative scope of practice, title protection, and authorized acts,

while authorizing the piactice of activities by duly trained health professionals through

delegation and exemPtions.

Chiropractors in Ontario, who have achieved specific additionaleducation and

competencies, have a history of providing care to animals within the chiropractic scope of

practice and in accordance with CCO standards of practice and engaging in strong inter-

professional collaboration with veterinarians, with a goal to provide the best possible care

io animals. CCO's feedback to the proposed model, as detailed below, recommends that

chiropractors continue to provide care to animals in accordance with CCO standards of

practice, within the scope of practice of chiropractic, and in collaboration with veterinarians

and veterinarY technicians.



College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Feedbock re: An Open Consultstion on the
Evolving Scope of Proctice of Veterinary Medicine
Vercion Dote: June 74,2077

619

ll. Chiropractic Scope of Practice and Controlled Aas

CCO is the governing body for chiropractors in Ontario, which regulates chiropractors in
accordance with the Regulated Health Professions Act, 7997, the Chirapractic Act, Ig9I, the
regulations under those acts, and the standards of practice, policies and guidelines of the
profession. Arnong its objectives, cco develops, establishes and maintains:
r the standards of qualification for persons to be issued a certificate of registration,
r standards of practice to assure the quality of the profession,
r a quality assurance pfogram to promote continuing evaluation, competence and

improvement among the members, and
I a complaints and discipline process to respond to inquiries, complaints and reports

concerning members of CCO.

Chiropractors are primary care health care providers, who are authorized to use the
"Doctor" title and communicate a diagnosis within the chiropractic scope of practice.

The chiropractic scope of practice is defined in the Chiropractic Act, Ig97, as follows:

"The practice of chiropractic is the assessment of conditions related to the spine, nervous
system and joints and the diagnosis, prevention and treatment, primarily by adjustment of:. dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structures or functions of the spine and the

effects of those dysfunctions or disorders on the nervous system; and
r dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structures or functions of the joints."

Chiropractors are authorized under the Chiroproctic Act, l99l to perform the following
controlled acts:

communicating a diagnosis identifying, as the cause of a person's symptoms,
o tl disorder arising from the structures or functions of the spine and their effects

on the nervous system, or
o a disorder arising from the structures or functions of the joints of the

extremities.
Moving the joints of the spine beyond a person's usual physiological range of motion
using a fast, low amplitude thrust.
Putting a finger beyond the anal verge for the purpose of manipulating the tailbone

t

a

a

As well, chiropractors are authorized under Regutotion 10U97 of the RHpAto ,,perform

acupuncture, a procedure performed on tissue below the dermis, in accordance with the standard
of practice and within the chiropractic scope of practice.,,

2



College of Chiropractors of Ontorio
Feedback re: An Open Consultation on the

Evolving Scope of Proctice of Veterinary Medicine

Version Date: June 74,2017
620

Chiropractors are authorized under the Heoting Arts Radiation Protect Act, 799Ab order and

operate an X-ray machine for the irradiation of a human being'

lll. Regutation of the Chlropractlc Care of Anlmals

Members of CCO who provide chiropractic care to animals in Ontario are required to

comply with CCO Standard of Practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals

http:llcco.on.ca/site documents/s.-0gg 2.pdf. Standard of Practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care

of Animals sets the educational, practice, inter-professional and professional liability

requirements for providing chiropractic care to animals. The educational requirements

include:

,,successful completion of a program in animal chiropractic of a minimum of 200 hours of formal

training that includes, but is not limited to, studies in the following subject areas: anatomy,

neurology, biomechanics, animal adjustment technique, diagnosis, pathology, chiropractic

philosophy, and ethics and legalities;".

The Canadian Chiropractic Protective Association (CCPA), which is the largest malpractice protection

provider for chiropractors in Canada, provides additional liability protection for members who have

demonstrated proof of completion of the educational requirements of Standard of Practice s-009'

The standard of practice also ensures that members engage in appropriate coordination and

consultation with veterinarians in providing chiropractic care to animals and specifies that "the

primary responsibility for the health care of animals is with registrants of the College of

Veterinarians of Ontario."

lV, Feedback to the Proposed Scope of Practice Model

CCO supports the proposed modelof title protection, which is similar in nature to the modelof the

RHpA.The public interest is best protected when the public is clearly informed about which health

care provider they are seeking care from'

CCO supports the model of authorized activities, with specific delegating powers and exemptions

grantej to health professionals who possess the necessary competencies. CCO commends the

proposed scope of practice model for exempting chiropractors to perform the controlled act of
;,moving the joints of the spine beyond the animal's usual physiological range of motion using a fast,

low amplitude trust."

CCo,s feedback requests similar exemptions for the controlled acts that are authorized to

chiropractors under the chiroproctic Act,1991, which would allow chiropractors to continue to

provide chiropractic care to animals within the chiropractic scope of practice and in accordance with

CCO standards of Practice.

3



College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Feedbock re: An Open Consultation on the
Evolving Scope of Practice of Veterinary Medicine
Vcrsion Date: June J4, 2072

621

Authorized Ad #7: Moklng or communicattng o dlognosis ldentilying a dlsease, dlsorder,
dysfunction or condition os the cause of an animol's signs and presentation

Members of CCO are authorized under the Chiroproctic Act, 799I to communicate a diagnosis within
the chiropractic scope of practice. ln providing chiropractic care, members are required conduct a

consultation and examination, develop and communicate a diagnosis and plan of care, obtain
informed consent, and deliver chiropractic care consistent with the chiropractic scope of practice
and in accordance with CCO standards of practice. Members are required to advise a patient to
consult with another health care professional when the members know or ought to know that:

r the patient's condition is beyond the scope of practice and competences for the members;
r the patient requires the care of another health professional; or
r the patient would be appropriately treated by another health professional.

Making and communicating a diagnosis is an essential component to informing the animals, owner
of the animal's dysfunction or disorder, proposing a plan of care, obtaining informed consent, and
providing a course of chiropractic care within the chiropractic scope of practice. As well, the
educational requirements in Standard of Practice 5-009 include the examination and diagnosis of
dysfunctions and disorders related to the chiropractic scope of practice.

CCO recommends that an exemption be granted for members of CCO to make or communicate a
diagnosis within the chiropractic scope of proctice and in accordance with the stondards set by the
College of Chiropractors of Antario,

Authorized Act #5: Ferforming a procedure on tissue on or below the dermts

Chiropractors are authorized to perform the controlled act of "acupuncture, a procedure performed
on tissue below the dermis, in accordance with this standard of practice and within the chiropractic
scope of practice."

Standard of Practice 5-017: Acupuncture httpl//cco.on.calslte documents/S-017.pdf sets the
requirements for a member of CCO to perform acupuncture as an adjunctive treatment, which
includes 200 hours of formal training, consistent with the World Health Organization Guidelines on
Bosic Troining and Sofety in Acupuncture,

A member of CCO who intends to use acupuncture as an adjunctive therapy in the course of
providing chiropractic care to animals is required to comply with both the requirements of
standards of practice 5-009 and s-017, while achieving, maintaining and demonstrating clinical
cornpetency in performing acupuncture on animals.

As well, chiropractors provide adjunctive therapies that involve soft tissue therapy that are currently
in the public domain

4



College of Chiropractors of Ontorio

Feedbock re: An Open Consultation on the

Evolving Scope of Practice of Veterinary Medicine

Version Date: June 74, 2077

Yours truly,

622

@
CCO recommends thot on exemption be granted for members of CCo to perform d procedure on or

below the dermis, within the chiropractic scope of practice dnd in accordance with the standords set

by the College of Chiropractors of Ontdrio'

Authorized Act #72: Putting dn instrument, arm' hond, or Ilnger, (vi beyand the anus

chiropractors are authorized under the chiropractic Act, 79971o perform the Controlled act of

,,putting a finger beyond the anal verge for the purpose if manipulating the tailbone"' This

controlLd act is involved in performing an adjustment or manipulation of the coccyx'

cCo recommends that on exemption be gronted for members of cco ta put a finger beyond the anol

vefge for the purpose of manipulating thre tailbone, within the scope of proctice and in occordance

withthestondordssetbytheCotlegeofChiropractorsofontorio.

Authorized Act #73: Apptying or ordering the apptication of a form or energy prcscribed by the

regulations under the Ad

Regulation 7A7 /96:Controlled Acts, under the RHPA identifies the forms of energy that are

restricted for specific regulated health professions in ontario. chiropractors are not authorized

under this regulation to appty or order the forms of energy listed in the regulation' However'

members are educated in and utilize adjunctive therapies that are in the public domain, such as

laser and electrotherapy, within the chiropractic scope of practice' lt would be CCO's intention that

chiropractors continue io be able to use forms of energy that are within the chiropractic scope of

practice and CCO standards of practice'

cco looks forward to seeing which forms of energy would be tisted in the regulation, ond diologing

further to determine if any'tisted firms of energy would be appropriate os on exemption for

members of CCO, within ihe chiroproctic scope of practice and in occordance with the stondord of

practice.

V. Conclusion

CCO thanks the CVO and OAVT for the opportunity to provide feedback on this important

consultation on the evolving scope of practice for veterinary medicine in ontario' cco looks forward

to dialoging further on this project and is committed to reviewing its relevant standards of practice

to ensure that the public interest is protected'

c

Mr. Joel Friedman, BSc., LL'8.

Director, PolicY and Research

5



SrnruoRRD oF Pnlcrtce
s-009
Quality Assurance Committee
Approved by Council: APril 25, 1 998

Amencled: June 20, 2008, D€c€mber 4,2o15

Ghiropractic Care
of Animals

623

Note to resders: bt the eaent of any inconsistency between this docttment and the legislation that

afects chiropractic practice, the legislation qoL'erns'

lrurExr

To advise members when and how they can conduct chiropractic care of

animals, and to remind. them that the prirnary responsibility for the health care of

animals is with vetetinarians'

OsJecrtves

To promote professionalism, safety and effectiveness in the chiropractic care of
a

|l

a

animals.

To inform members of their obligations relating to the chiropractic care of

animals.

To enstrre appropriate coordinatlon and consultation between members and

veterinarians in the chiropractic care of animals'

To educate the public as to the appropriate nature of the chiropractic care of

animals.

DescRtpnoN oF STANDARD

A member is advised that:

The primary responsibility for the health_care of animals is with registrants of

the tollege"of Veterinarians of Ontario (CVO), who are responsible for

appropriite history taking, comprehensive examination, including clinical

p"iiroiogy, imaging, and the ovelafi care/management of animals'

Consent to the chiropractic care of animals must be fully informed and

voluntarily given bythe ownet of the animal, andregistrants are required to

comply witfr an standards of practice and applicable legislation relating to

chiropractic.

a

1

a

Gollege ol Chiropraclors of Ontario



SrnruoanD oF Pnacrrce
s-009

Chiropractic Care
of Animals

In providing chiropractic care to an animal, a member shall:

r demonstrate succ€ssful completion of a prograrn in animal chiropractic of a
minimum of 200 hours of formal trairring that includes, but is .,o1ii*ited to,
sfrrdies in the follcruzing subject areas, attutomy, neurology, biomcchanics,
animal adjusiment technique, diagnosis, pathology, chir6practic philosophy, alc{
ethics and legalities;

' ensure the record of care includes the name of the treating registrant of CVO
and the relevant portions of the veterinary recorii;

I provide, uPon request and only with the consent from the owner of the animal
or otherwise in accordance with the Persanal Health InfanrLation prctection Acl:,

'2004, a copy of relevant portions of the record to the ireating registrant of CVO
within a reasonable time of providing chiropractic care to ai unimal;

I maintain separate appointment books, separate health and financial records
and, where animals are provided with chiropractic care in the same office as
humans, maintain a separate portio' of the office devoted to animal
chiropractic'; and

. ensure that the owrler of the animal(s) is fulIy informed ab<;ut the member,s
insurance coverage,.

Exemption

A rnember wili be exempted from the first bulletect item above if he/she:

r is eurolled and participating in a program in animal chiropractic, leading to the
successful completion of a program in animal chiropractic of a minimum of 200
hours of formal training that includes, but is not limitecl to, studies in the
following subject areas: anatomy, neurology, biomechanics, animal adjusiment
technique, diagnosis, pathology, chiropraJtic philosophy, and ethics and
legalities;

I completes the program in animal chiropractic within two years of his/her
enrolment;

I provides chiropractic care to animals within the parameters of his/her course of
study; and

' inliorms the owner of the animal(s) that he/she has enrolled and is participating
in b,t has not yet graduated from a progranl in animal chiropractii

College ot Chiropraclors of Ontario

624

2



SrnnoanD oF Pnacrlcr
s-009

Chiropractic Care
of Animals

625

Lectsmrtve Corurexr

The governing legislation as it relates to human health care is tlrle Regulate-d Health

iioy&riont aci, tigt, as amended (RHPA) and the Chiropractic Act,1991'The

goierning legislation as it relates to animal health care is the Veterinarians Act' 1994'

Specific rit"rr"urrt provisions are outlined below. The RHPA and the Cyiropractic Act

aie administered by CCo ancl the Veterinqrians Act is administered by CVo'

Sections ol the BHPA

Objects and Duty of the CCO'Section 3 of the Health Professions Procedural

Code, Schedule 2lo RHPA=

(1) ICCOI has the following objects:

r To develop, establish and maintain programs and standards of practice to

assure tlie quality of the practice of the profession'

. To clevelop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge, skill and programs

to promote continuing competence among the members'

(2) In carrying out its obiects, the [cco] has a cluty to serve and protect the public

intetest."

Sections ol the ChiroPractic Act

Section 3: Chiropractic Scope of Practice

The practice of chiropractic is the assessment of conditions related to the spine,

,r"rui 6 system anci ioints and the cliagnosis, prevention and treatment, primarily

by adjustment, of.,

. dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structttres or functions of the spine

ancl the effects of those dysfunci.ons or disorders on the nervous system; and

. dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structures or functions of the joints'

Section 9: Restricted Titles lor Ghiropractic

(1) No person other than a member shall use the iitle "chiropractor", a variation
' ' 

o, utbr"viation or an equivalent in another language'

3

College ol Chiropractors ot Ontario



SrnruoRnD oF PRncnce
s-009

Chiropractic Gare
of Animals 626

4

(2) No person other than a member shall hold himself or herself out as a person
who is qualified to practise in Ontario as a chiropractor r:r in a specialiy of
chiropractic.

(3) In this section, 'abbreviation'includes an abbreviation of a variation.

sections of Regurarion g52/93 under the chiropractic Act

s_ection 1 (2): Definition of professional Misconduct for chiropractors
(Standards of Practice)

f he following are acts of professionai misconduct for the purposes of clause 51 (1)
(c) of the tlealth Ptofessians Proceclural Cttde; Canttavening a standard of practice li
the profession or failing to maintain the stanclarcl of praftice expectec{ o}
members of the profession.

Sections qf the Veterinarians Act

Subsection 1 (1): Definition of Veterinary Medicine

The 'practice of veterinary medicine' includes the practice of dentistry, obstetrics
(including ova and embryo transfer) and surgery in relation to an animal other than
a hr"rman being.

Seclion 3: Objects of CVO

(1) The_principal object of the [CVo] is to regulate the practice of veterinary
medicine and to govern its members in accordan." *ith this Act, the
reg'lations and the by-laws so as to serve and protect the pr-rblic interest.

(2) 
Tgi the purpose of carrying out its principal object, the [cvo] has the
following additional objects;

r establish, maintain and develop standards of knowledge and skill amolg its
members; and

o establish" maintain ancl develop standards of qualification anci standards of
practice for the practice of veterinary medicine.

Gollege ot Chiropraclors of Onlario



627

Subsection 11 (1): Licence Required to Practice Veterinary Medicine

No person shall engage in the practice of veterinary medicine or hold himself/

herself out as 
"ttgugitig 

in the practice of veterinary medicine unless the person is

the holder of a license.

Sections of Regulation 1093 (General - Part ll Practice Standards) under the

Veterinarians Act

Section 17: Definition of Professional Misconduct for Veterinarians (Standards

of Practice)

For the purposes of the Act, professional misconduct inclr:des the following: Failing

to mainiain the standard of practice of the professir:n'

Maintenance of separate office space is a minimum requirement for health and

sanitation reasons, particularly in light of the various communicable

diseases common to humans and animals.

This requires the member to advise the owner of the animal if the member's

policy of ir,r,rtun." or membership in a protective association cloes not

pronia* coverage for the chiropractic care of animals. The owner shotrld be

informed abouithe member's insurance coverage as part of ihe general

requirement that there be "informed" consent.

SrRNonnD oF Pnlcrlcr
s-009

Chiropractic Care
of Animals

5

College ol Chiropractors ot Ontario



M inistry of Agricultu re,

Food and Rural Affairs

Office of the Minister

77 Grenville Street, 11th Floor

Toronto, Ontario M7A 183

Tel: 4L6-326-3O74
www.onta rio.ca/OMAFRA

|TEM 4.1.56
Ministdre de l'Agriculture, de

I'Alimentation et des Affaires rurales

Bureau du ministre

77, rue Grenville, 11" 6tage

Toronto (Ontario) M7A 183

T6l. : 416 326-3074

www.o nta rio.ca/MAAARo

628
D

Ontario

March t,2023

Caroline Brereton
Ontario Chiropractic Association

cbre reto n @ ch i ro P ractic.on.ca

Dear Caroline:

Our government recognizes the important role that veterinarians play in protecting the public

interest and is committed to providing greater access to veterinarian care by modernizing the

way the veterinary profession is overseen in Ontario.

The Veterina rians Act provides a framework for the licensing of veterinarians and the

accreditation of the facilities where veterinary professionals, including registered veterinary

technicians, practice. The last significant updates to the Act were made in 1"989 and we

recognize it may no longer reflect modern veterinary practice'

As a result of feedback we've heard from our stakeholders, we are proposing updates to the

current legislative framework to open the door to establishing a new standard of veterinary

care in ontario.

lam p leased to inform you that a Discussion Paper has been posted on the regulatory registrv, or

httos:/ ontariocanada.c /resistrv/view.do? nostineld=43867&la suase=en outlin ing the

Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs' proposed approach for several items and to ask

for your comments. This includes items such as:

. the scope of practice for veterinary medicine, such as the procedures, services and

processes a licensed veterinarian or other veterinary professional, such as a veterinary

technician, is permitted to perform in Ontario. We are also seeking to clarify the

activities, like massage therapy or animal rehabilitation, that can be provided to animals

by individuals other than veterinarians and veterinary technicians.

. how to improve accountability and transparency to make sure that powers of the

College of Veterinarians of Ontario (the College), as well as responsibilities and

processes under the Act are clear to the public'

.../2

Good things grow in Ontario
A bonne terre, bons Produits

Ministry Headquarters: 1 Stone Road West, Guelph, Ontario N1G 4Y2

Bureau principal du ministdre: 1, rue Stone ouest, Guelph (Ontario) N]-G 4Y2

Foodlond
ONTARIO

ONTARIO
Terre nourricidre



-2- 629
how to align oversight of the Ontario veterinary profession with other self-governing
regulated professions in the province to ensure that the veterinary profession continues
to be managed in the public interest. This could include, for example, altering the
composition of the governing council of the College to include a wider range of
membership and voices (including academic representatives, additional public members
and veterinary technicians).

By taking steps to solicit a broad range of input on the modernization of the Veterinarians Act,
the government will be in a position to propose informed updates to the legislation that will
reflect how veterinary care is delivered in ontario in 2023 and in the future.

The Discussion Paper will be posted for public comment for 90 days, closing on May 30, ZOZ3.
comments can also be sent directly by emailto vetact.omafra@ontario.ca.

I hope that you will provide your feedback and comments on this Discussion Paper. Your
insights are valuable as we work to help ensure that any future legislative modernization
proposals are fair, reasonable, and meet the needs of the community and the industry. your
input will help to inform the content and design of any future proposals to modernize the Act.

Should you have any questions, concerns or would like to request a meeting to discuss the
contents of the Discussion Paper in greater detail, please contact Ms. Andrea Martin, Director,
Food Safety and Environmental Policy Branch at andrea.l.ma n@ontario.ca or 519.830.0300

I want to take this opportunity to thank you for continuing these important discussions
I look forward to receiving your feedback on the Discussion paper.

Sincerely,

Lisa M. Thompson
Minister of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs

Did you know about the Farmers' Wellness lnitiative?
o Your mental health is important! lf you're a farmer or a member of a farm family and in need of mental

health support, please call 1-866-267-6255 and arrange to speak with a professional today.
o For additional resources visit: https://farmerwellnessinitiative.cal.

a



Ontario@

A Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act:
Discussion PaPer

The College authored and Published a ProPosal to modernize the Act entitled,

Gontext: The Veferinarians Act

The veterinariansAcf (the Act) is the legislative framework that governs the licensing of

veterinarians in Ontario, the practice of ieterinary medicine, as well as the accreditation

of the facilities ,r"J-to-practice veterinary medicine. The Act also establishes the

governance framewoit 
'tor 

the regulator,ihe college of Veterinarians of ontario (the

College).

Like many regulatory bodies in ontario, the college operates based on a self-regulation

,Vri"r ttreiiprincifial object is to regulate the practice of veterinary medicine and to

gbu"rn members in'accordance with ifte nct. This is done to serve and protect the

prnri" interest with the support of the regulations and the college's by-laws'

The council of the college (the council) is the governing body of the college and is

made up of memners elJcted by licensed veterlnarians and non-veterinarian public-

interest individuals *ho 
"t" 

apfointed by the Government of Ontario through the

Lieutenant Governor in council on the recottendation of cabinet' Non-veterinarians

arso serve arongside members of the coilege on committees of the college, including

the Discipline committee. A diversity of membership on the council and committees

helps to facilitate a broad range of perspectives into the. decision-making process and

policy development. The prot6ction of the public interest continues to be a critical focus

in th6 work of Council and College committees'

Summary of ProPosal

The Act has not been substantively updated since 1989' Since then, the practice of

veterinary medicine has evolved significantly' Some parts of the Act and its

corresponding regulations are in need of modernization to keep up with today's

piactices. upiating the legislation and regulations will reflect the current practice and

lxpectationi of ueieiinaryhedicine, while including contemporary approaches to

pdf";;i;"al regulation anO governance. Under the proposed modernized legislation,

the Council would continue to oversee the profession in the public interest. The Minister

of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs would continue to have specific powers under the

legisiation, including16" tniritv to review activities of the College and to exercise other

authorities.

630

of ne o ; the

pape r was submitted jointlY to the Ontario Ministry of Agricultu re, Food and Rural Affairs

(oMAF RA) by the Cotlege and the Ontario Association of Veterinary Technicians

(OAVT). The ProPosal was inform ed by finding s and recommendations from a

by the College over a three-year process. Consultationconsultation Process led

proposalto Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 1



631
participants included College members, members of the public, and other organizations
in the field of veterinary medicine including the Ontario Veterinary Medical Association.
These consultations revealed there were several challenges and needs being
experienced by veterinary professionals and the general public, including thJfollowing:

' An opportunity to more specifically define the scope of practice for veterinary
medicine.

o A need to clarify the College's oversight authority as the regulator of veterinary
medicine.

' Recognition that veterinary care is delivered by a team and acknowledging the
roles uf velerinary technicians within the systein (lncluding providing tile
protection for the terms veterinarian technician, veterinary technololist and any
recognized abbreviations, and bringing these professionals under c6rmon
oversig ht with veterinarians).

' A need to streamline the complaints and resolutions process, including the
execution of investigations.

' An opportunity to develop a formal quality assurance program to ensure
continual learning and competence of college members.-

' Other administrative changes to the legislative framework that would also be
required or desirable based on some of the above changes, including:

o Clarifying the roles and purpose of the College.
o Realigning the composition of Council (to include veterinary technicians,

individuals holding academic positions, and a greater nurber of non-
veterinarian public-interest appointees).

o Potentially renaming the College to reflect its expanded role in regulating a
broader range of professionals within the veterinary profession.

This discussion paper is focused primarily on the changes to the Act that would be
needed to enable the proposed modernization of the oversight of the profession. Should
proposed amendments to the Act be introduced, passed and become law, changes to
the existing regulation (Regulation 1093) will also be required in the future. There will be
a public consultation regarding any future regulatory updates and an additional
opportunity to provide input. In order to provide as much detail as possible on the
broader direction for the future of the veterinary profession's oversight framework, some
of.the policy concepts outlined below include subject matter that miy need to be
addressed via regulation. For a general overviewof what specific content is likely to be
outlined in the potential statutory amendments and future regulatory policy proposals,
please see Appendix A.

What We've Heard: Public Consultations
Pu b tic engagement and the oppo rtu n ity to share com me nts about modern tztng the

slative framewo rk ts occu rn tn mu aSES I n Novem ber 2022 OMAF RA

Proposalto Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion paper 2



lau nched an nitial rou nd of publ c consultationS to modern tze the Act P roposed

changes to the Act WE re posted on Ontario.ca and com ments cou td be SU bmitted V a

email or surface mail.

During this initial phase of consultations, oMAFRA heard from the public, veterinary

;;f"*ilals, professional associations, agri-food stake.holders, human health

frofessionafs, regutatory colleges, farmers, other animal owners and animal health

and welfare groups. Overatl, sirbmissions have been supportive of modernizing the

Act, including identifying opportunities to more specifically define the scope of practice

for veterinarf meOicine"and'recognizing the roles veterinary technicians play in

providing veterinary care.

Th S d rscu SSIon paper (and the accom panylng pu bl rc posting on the Reg ulatory

Reg istry ) IS part of a second round of consu Itatio NS which contiNU ES to bu ild on the
t

feedback sha red SI nce Novembe r 2 022 The Ontario.ca landing pagA wil continue to

be it ble The publ tc ca n continue to Subm it n EW or SU pplementa ry comments onava
Reg istryth S proposal VIa emai SU rface mar or th rough the Reg u latory

632

The modernization opportunities outlined in this document, would enable the scope of

veterinary medicine to become better defined, improve oversight and transparency in

the public interest, and ensure that ontario is aligned with how other provinces regulate

irre frotession (such as, in the case of some provinces, regulating veterinarians and

u"i"tin"ry tecfrnicians/veterinary technologists under a common framework)' The

propor"d modernized legislative and regulatory framework would provide a strong

foundation from which fulure efforts to aldressindustry challenges (which could include

access to veterinary services throughout Ontario) can continue'

The ontario government is committed to cutting red tape and reducing regulatory

burden for all businesses, lowering operating costs, and improving Ontario's

competitiveness. As part of this 
"frott, 

OMAFRA will look for appropriate opportunities to

reduce regulatory comptiance obligations for businesses as a part of the legislative

modernizJtion effort wf ite continuing to safeguard the public interest.

consultation questions for consideration can be found at the end of this paper'

Proposed Legislative and Regulatory Ghanges

Legislative changes are under consideration to the scope of practice, oversight and
-uifrority, quality assurance, and the complaints and resolutions process. These topics

are ouflined in more detail below. These proposed legislative changes may require

iutut" regulatory.n"ng"t to prescribe more detailed requirements'1

1 Under the current statute, these regulations are made

the Lieutenant Governor in Council through the Cabinet

the Minister. lt is anticipated that this regulation-making

by the Council of the College, with the approval of

d-ecision-making process and with prior review by

authority would continue in a modernized statute'

Proposalto Modernize the veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 3



633
1. Scope of Practice

lntroduction

The proposed changes to the scope of practice describe the procedures,
services and processes a licensed veterinarian or other veterinary professional,
such as a veterinary technician, would be permitted to perform in-Cjntario. This
includes the specific authorized activities that a professional may perform in the
course of engaging in the practice of veterinary medicine.

Context for Proposed Chanqes

Under the Act, only a licensed veterinarian can engage in the practice of
veterinary medicine. Currenily, the definition of thepractice of veterinary
medicine in the Act is not specific and stipulates oniy that it includes "th-e practice
of dentistry, obstetrics including ova and embryo trahsfer, and surgery, in relation
to an animal other than a human being"; it does not include a spec-ificlist of
authorized activities that a licensed veterinarian may perform while practicing
veterinary medicine. This lack of clarity can lead to confusion for boih the public
and the profession about what is and is not within the exclusive scope of
practice.

ln addition to this lack of specific detail, the veterinary profession has evolved
over the last several decades, with a significant expansion in the number of
veterinary technicians working in the field who have undergone comprehensive
post-secondary training in the field of veterinary technology. Bringing veterinary
technicians within the scope of professional oversight, having them 

-
acknowledged and regulated under the Act together with veterinarians, would
formally recognize that veterinary care is delivbred by a team and that the skills
of veterinary technicians contribute to the delivery of care.
During recent public consultations, OMAFRA heard from several health care
professionals such as physiotherapists and acupuncturists who expressed an
interest in including exemptions for these professionals to provide certain specific
activities as part of animal care without veterinary oversight.

Summarv of Proposed Changes: Scope of practice

Broadly, proposed changes related to scope of practice under the Act include but
may not be limited to:

' A new statutory provision stating what the practice of veterinary medicine
is, centered on the assessment of the physiological or behavioural status
of an animal or group of animals and the diagnosis, prevention and control
of any condition, disease, disorder or dysfun-tion.

' A list of proposed activities in a new statutory provision which would be
legislatively authorized to veterinarians - for example, making or

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion paper 4



634
communicating a diagnosis, performing a procedure on tissue on or below

the dermis, etc.

o This means that only a veterinarian can perform these activities, or

insomecases,delegatethemtoSomeone(aregulate9o|.
unregulated veterinary professional)who is not authorized but is

deemed competent ny ine veterinarian to perform them, as long as

delegation is not prohibited in the legislation or the regulations.

o Where the veterinarian has made a delegation, the veterinarian

remains responsible for the supervision and outcome of the

activitY.

o A list of activities that are not permitted to be delegated by a veterinarian

(i.e., activities that a veterinarian must perform and that cannot be

assigned to any person including a regulated. or unregulated veterinary

carJprofessionatl - for example, making a diagnosis or prescribing

prescriPtion medication.
'. 

A subset of authorized activities that may be performed by veterinarians or

veterinary technicians (but not other individuals) - for example, triaging

emergency patients, preparing a drug for the purposes of dispensing, etc,

. Expanding tiile protection in the Act to include the titles of veterinary

technician, Register"d Veterinary Technician (and the abbreviation RVT)

and veterinary"technologist (and other abbreviations and variations). This

would complement existing forms of title protection for veterinarians.

. Clearly enabling the Council to make regulations (subjecl to the- approval

of the Lieutenait Governor in Council upon prior review by the Minister)

providing exemptions for some regulated health care professionals and

other quititieO practitioners to support veterinary professionals by applying

their skills and expertise in animal care'z

Additional information on the proposed list of authorized activities for

veterinarians and veterinary teclrnicians that is under consideration can be found

in Appendix B.

By implementing a clear definition of the scope of practice and authorized

activities of veterinary medicine in the Act, it would elevate the level of public

trust in the college's ability to oversee veterinary medicine in ontario' As well as

ensure that the proper animal practitioner (veterinarian/veterinary

iecnnician/otnei) is'addressing issues and ailments within their skills and

knowledge to suit the evolving nature of veterinary medicine in ontario.

2 Specific details such as exemption Particulars would likely be determined through regulation, which

would be develoPed in the future, should the ProPosed legislatio n be introduced, Pass and become law

The proposal is that the Council of the College would continue to have the authority to make regulations,

subject to aPProval of the Lieutenant Governor in Council, with prior review by the Minister of Agriculture,

Food, and RuralAffairs

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 5



635
As noted above, the proposed legislation would enable regulations to be macje in
the future that would more clearly articulate the list of authbrized activities and
set any conditions that would apply to the performance of these authorized
activities or the ability to delegate any one of them to another individual. Some
very low risk animal care activities, such as massage treatments, would not be
captured by the proposed list of authorized activitiel. A future regulatory proposal
would likely provide greater detail on what exemptions may be c6nsideied in a
regulation under the Act for some other activities within tfre list of proposed
authorized activities. ln general, higher-risk activities related to anlmal care, such
as performing surgery on an animal, would most likely continue to be authorized
to veterinarians only.

The current exemptions in the Act, with respect to licensing, would continue to
apply. For example, it is anticipated that it would continue io be the case that an
animal owner (such as a farmer), a member of the animal owner's household, or
a person employed for general agricultural or domestic work by the owner of the
animal would continue to be able to treat an animal owned ny ine owner.

2. Oversight and Authority
lntroduction

The College oversees the practice of veterinary medicine in Ontario under the
Act. The Council has authority to make regulations under the Act, with the
approval of Ontario's Lieutenant Governor in Council and upon prior review by
the Minister. The council may also develop by-laws and poiicies. As the
regulatory body for veterinarians, the College licenses over 5,000 veterinarians
across the province. ln addition to licensing qualified individuals, the College is
responsible for inspecting and accrediting the veterinary facilities from which
these licensed veterinarians practise. The Act also outlines certain authorities
that the Minister of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs has, such as the authority
to review the activities of the College, receive reports, etc.

The Act currently sets out the composition of the Council (including qualifications
to serve on the Council, as well as a range of minimum and maximum numbers
of members from two distinct groups: licensed veterinarian members (elected)
and non-members (non-veterinarian public-interest individuals appoinied by
Ontario's Lieutenant Governor in Council)). The Act also establishes various
committees and stipulates when some committees, such as the Complaints
Committee or Discipline Committee, may act in panels (including the required
composition of a panel). Panels are essentially subsets of a corimittee, with a
group of committee members present. Hearings may be heard by a panel of a
committee.

Context for Proposed Chanqes

By changing the structure of how the veterinary profession is governed, we are
able to improve oversight in the public interest and increase transparency by

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion paper 6



636

presenting a more collaborative governance process' Having a more diverse

memnersiip on Council will better reflect the make-up of the profession and

allow a more comprehensive range of input to be shared. As many other

protessional regulatory bodies have done, increasing the ratio of non-veterinarian

public-interest Jppoini""s on Council to elected members would further the

brorir protection objectives of self-regulation and ensure that the perspective of

ihe public is being appropriately reflected in decisions'

ln doing so, it is ProPosed that:

o The number of non-veterinarian public-interest appointees on the Council

be increased from between three and five, to between seven and nine,

incorporating a broader range of perspectives into the decision-making

process.

o Veterinary technicians should be represented within the Council'

Consistent with changes proposed in Section 1 (above), veterinary

technicians should alio be included on Council and in committee

membershiP.

. The inclusion of representatives from post-secondary educational

programs be considered for the Council. By including those who train

future veterinarians and veterinary technicians, it is helpful to have their

insight for policy discussions on the future of the profession'

since the last update of the Act in 1989, there are several components that are

out of date and in need of modernization - including the College's oversight and

transparency. The legislative framework could be better aligned with how other

provinces oversee th! veterinary profession and with how Ontario's regulated

irealth professional colleges are governed. For example, the Act is not always

consist,ent with how numin health professional colleges in Ontario (e.9., the

coltege of Physiotherapists of ontario, the college of Physicians and surgeons

of Oritario, the Ontario College of Pharmacists, etc.) and similar professional

bodies are regulated'

To correspond to other proposals in this paper (see section 2 under Quality

Assurance and section'3 under complaints and Resolutions Process), some

changes to the existing list of commitiees are proposed' The committee-related

propisals better aligniruitn the structure used for human health professions in

bniario under the i,egutated Health Professions AcL 1991' For example, an

lnvestigations and Relolutions Committee would better encompass the outcome-

nased irandate for this body than the current Complaints Committee and the

investigative functions that ian in some cases be exercised by the Executive

Committee.

See Appendix C for a brief comparison of the oversight of several health

professions across Ontario.

The amendments proposed below are intended to support continued public trust

and transparency, aS well as ensure the safety and well-being of clients and

animals.

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 7



637
Summary of Proposed Chances: Oversiqht and Authority
Proposed changes under contemplation that are related to oversight and
authority under the Act include but may not be limited to:

. Making enhancements to formal public accountability by clarifying the
ministerial role in the Act in overseeing the activities of tfre CoilegL, which
will better demonstrate the link between self-regulation and gove-rnment
oversight.

. lntroducing mandatory reporting requirements for college members to
mitigate risk and ensure public trust and protection. l-or example:

o When a member has reason to believe that another member is
incapacitated or unwell such that their ability to provide veterinary
care is impaired, there would be a mandatory reporting obligation to
notify the College.

o The Act does not currenfly set out mandatory reporting
req u irements for veterinarians ; however, veteri naria ns have
mandatory reporting obligations under other legislation, including
animal health, public health, and animal welfare laws.

o Through mandatory reporting, the college could be engaged at an
earlier stage and be empowered to mitigate risk and ensure public
protection.

. Amendments to allow the college Registrar to appoint one or more
investigators to determine whether a member has committed an act of
professional misconduct or is incompetent.

o ln the case of an investigation, examples of investigator powers
could include inspecting or observing the practice of veterinary
medicine at a facility, taking photographs or making recordings,
removing original evidence where necessary, and collecting data
storage in order to produce information that is relevant to the
investigation.

. Proposed composition changes for the Council of the College, as follows:

Current Sfafus.' Rationale: Proposed:

Not fewer than nine and
not more than fifteen
persons who are members
of the College (i.e.,
licensed veterinarians)
and are elected by
members.

Changing the structure of
how the veterinary
profession is governed,
would improve oversight in
the public interest and
increase transparency by
presenting a more

Not fewer than ten and not
more than twelve persons
who are members of the
College (i.e., licensed
veterinarians) and are
elected by members.

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion paper g



638

Not fewer than three and
not more than five Persons
who are not members of
the College and who are
appointed by the
Government of Ontario
(non-veterinarian Public-
interest appointees).

collaborative governance
process.

A more diverse
membership on Council
will also better reflect the
make-up of the profession
and allow a more
comprehensive range of
input to be shared.

Like many other
professional regulatory
bodies have done,
increasing the ratio of non-
veierinarian Public-interest
appointees on Council to
elected members would
further the public
protection objectives of
self-regulation and ensure
that the persPective of the
public is being
appropriately refl ected in
decisions.

Not fewer than two and
not more than four
members who are
veterinary technician
members of the College
and are elected.

Not fewer than seven and
not more than nine
persons who are not
members of the College
and who are appointed bY

the Government of Ontario
(non-veterinarian/non-
veterinary technician
public-interest
appointees).

Designated positions on
Council for members from
an Ontario post-secondary
institution involved in
providing veterinary and
veterinary technologY
education for the
profession.

o Other proposed statutory changes include but are not limited to the

following:

' Adding a new Quality Assurance Committee'

. Adding an lnvestigations and Resolutions committee (to
replace the Complaints Committee as well as the Executive

Committee's current investigative role)'

' Updating the panel composition provisions'

. Allowing committee composition particulars to be set by

Council bY bY-law.

' Supplementing the statutory objects of the college as an

organization witfr additional objects to reflect key aspects of
this modernization proposal and to acknowledge the current

oversight functions of the college (e.9., its role in facility

accreditation).

Additional information on lnvestigator Appointments and proposed

lnvestigator Powers can be found in Appendix D'

3. Quality Assurance

proposalto Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 9



639
introciuction

Regulated human health professions in Ontario (e.g., dentists, pharmacists and
physiotherapists) all provide for mandatory quality assurance programs, centered
in continual learning and skills development. This is also true for many other
regulated professionals in Ontario (e.g., members of the Law Society of Ontario).
These regulatory colleges can also take steps when a member's professional
skills or competence may need remediation. Some aspects of quality assurance
are already familiar to veterinarians as the College currently requires continuing
education tracking.

Context for Proposed Chanqes

Formal quality assurance committees and programs are an integral and
mandatory part of the oversight of regulated health professions in human health
care in Ontario. Mandatory quality assurance has been demonstrated to be an
effective regulatory tool to ensure the ongoing quality and safety of the care
provided by professionals in practice.

A formal and comprehensive quality assurance program would help assure the
public that all veterinarians and veterinary technicians practise in a manner
consistent with the college standards and that oversight is being provided
through the Quality Assurance Committee. lt would also better enable, in
appropriate cases, concerns raised about the care provided by a veterinarian or
veterinary technician to be addressed through skills development and acquiring
knowledge rather than through a more rigid and punitive disciplinary process.

lntroducing a mandatory quality assurance framework would help set a baseline
for expectations around member competency and continual learning and support
public trust in the profession's capacity to offer consistent, quality care. This
would include, among other things, the creation of a euality Assurance
Committee in legislation (See Section 2 - Oversight and Authority). An effective
College framework would provide the necessary support to individuals to
ma i ntai n com petence th roughout their ca reers.

Summarv of Proposed Chanqes: Qualitv Assurance

As part of the modernization proposals, the Act would be amended to include
enabling provisions related to a quality assurance program for College members
should the proposed amendments be made and become law, the Act would
provide a legislative framework for the program and program details would
appear in a regulation and/or by-law, to be developed in the future. proposed
changes include but may not be limited to:

. A Quality Assurance Committee that would be created and recognized in
the Act.

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion paper 10



640

. Enumerated powers for the Quality Assurance Committee in the Act,

including the authority to require a member to participate in a program to

aSSeSS the member's knowledge, skill and professionaljudgement'

o Members would be required to cooperate with the committee and its

appointed advisors.

The Council would have the authority to make regulations that would prescribe

the details for a quality assurance program. The program would be mandatory for

all College members (e.g., veterinarians and veterinary technicians, should the

proposel changes to scope of practice as outlined above be approved)' Among

btnbr requirements, the regulations could require completing a minimum number

of continuing education requirements and reporting to the College' Depending on

the outcomJ of any assesslTrent of a member's knowledge, skill and.professional

judgement, a member could also be directed to participate in remediation

activities as set out by the Quality Assurance Committee. The activities would be

intended to build the member's knowledge, skills and competence as a veterinary

medicine professional, as well as provide resources related to workforce

development and succession planning.

4. Complaints and Resolutions Process

lntroduction

A key responsibility of the College is investigating and resolving concerns and/or

rorfl"intr about i veterinarian and their practice. The College seeks to ensure

public trust and transparency, including understanding risks involved in the

practice of veterinary'medicine and developing solutions in an effort to reduce the

potentialfor harm to animals and people. The college also sets standards of

practice and expects its members'(i.e., licensed veterinarians) to meet them. ln

some cases, matters are referred to the Discipline Committee for a hearing.

Context for ProPosed Chanqes

Under the current framework, a complaint about a veterinarian or their practice

must be submitted in writing (e.g., a written letter by mail, fax or a written email)

to the College to begin tne Lom[laint process. Subrnissions are then reviewed

anO iOealty iesolveO-ny the Mediated Resolutions Program (MRP):3 lf.the.

complaint is not suitable for resolution by the MRP_, the. complaint is directed to

tne Complaints Committee. As outlined on the Colleqels website, the timeline for

the completion of the complaints process from start to finish includes

adminisirative processing, investigation, meeting of theComplaints Committee

and decision writing (seJRppendix E for a summary of the current investigations

process). The Coriplaints iommittee arrives at one of the following decisions:

3 Although some complaints are not resolved at MRP stage and must proceed to the Complaints

Commitiee, all submitied complaints must go before the Complaints Committee'

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 11



641
The eommittee has no concerns with the veterinarian's actions or conduct
and will take no further action.

The committee has some concerns with the veterinarian's actions or
conduct which it feels can be addressed through education or advice.

The committee has very serious concerns and has referred the case for a
hearing of the Discipline Committee.

The complaint was frivolous, vexatious, made in bad faith or for an
improper purpose or is othenrvise an abuse of process.

ln addition, under the current Act, there is a second stream by which the conduct
of a member may be investigated. The college's Registrar m-ay, with the
approval of the Executive Committee, appoint one oi more persons to investigate
whether a veterinarian has committed an act of professional misconduct or
serious neglect, or that there is cause to refuse to issue or renew or to suspend
or revoke a cerlificate of accreditation (s. 36).

can be
found using the provided hyperlink.a

Although the College has a complaints and resolutions process in place, the
current model is complex and cumbersome, resulting in a significant backlog of
complaints. This has led to frustration for both clienti and the affected
veterinarians.

The current model is also inefficient, as the Complaints Committee does not have
the power to directly appoint an investigator. This creates an additional process
step at the investigation stage. ln a similar way, the Executive Committee does
not have the power to share information with another party. As a result, even if a
case originated with a third party who shared information with the College that
led to an investigation initiated by the Registrar, the Executive Committ6e is
unable to communicate with the third party about its inquiry into the matter.
There is an opportunity to streamline and improve the existing processes for
addressing public complaints and disciplining members. An improved process
would enable more timely resolution of complaints and improve client
satisfaction.

summary of Proposed chanqes: compraints and Resolutions process

a The Discipline Committee is separate from the Complaints Committee and hears the most serious
allegations.

a

a

a

a

m

Proposal to Modernize the veterinarians Act Discussion paper 12



642
The proposed changes aim to create a complaints, investigations and resolutions
process in the legislation that is streamlined, transparent, and upholds public

irust when dealing with matters of professional misconduct or incompetence (or,

as it is called under the current framework, "serious neglect"). lt is proposed that

the Veterinarians Actbe amended to include the following changes:

. Combine the current two-stream approach and the functions of the
Complaints Committee into a new lnvestigations and Resolutions
Committee of the College as follows.

o The new Committee would be responsible for addressing
complaints and reports brought to its attention and would resolve
them in accordance with its authority under the statute (e.9., take
no action, order some remedial action, or refer allegations to a
discipline hearing).

o The current functions of the Executive Committee (where the
Registrar believes on reasonable grounds that a member or former
member of the college has committed an act of professional
misconduct or serious neglect or that there is cause to refuse to
issue or renew or to suspend or revoke a certificate of
accreditation) relating to complaints and investigations would be

folded into a new committee- the lnvestigations and Resolutions
Committee.

o The role of this new committee would be to streamline and

centralize complaint intakes and functions.

r The current Board of lnquiry process in the Act would be continued. A
panel of the lnvestigations and Resolutions Committee, or the Registrar,
could refer a member to a Board of lnquiry if there are reasonable and
probable grounds to believe the member is incapacitated'

o Authority for the lnvestigations and Resolutions Committee to suspend or
impose terms, conditions or limitations on a member's licence.

r Create a new Screening Modelto assess complaints that are deemed to

be "frivolous and vexatious" at the outset.

o This vetting process would allow the college to focus on more
serious claims and complaints against members and their
practices.

I lntroduce enhanced investigation and discipline authorities.

o Publicize Notices of Hearing, which would include publishing a member's
name prior to a hearing to be held by the Discipline committee.

. Expand the Public Register (currently publicly available on the College's
website) to include:

o Veterinary facilities accredited by the College.

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 13



643

'''o:'olil ::T;il#i:i.ll ili;ff:ff"sations prior to the
hearing.

. Results from a decision of the Discipline Committee.

' The presence of any remedial undertaking, and its
requirements.

The presence of any other relevant information that may be
significant in terms of ensuring public safety and animal
welfare.

. lntroduce the express authority to require further education or skills
development as a resolution pathway for College members.

o Enhance current investigation and discipline authorities, such as new
investigator appointment powers for the College Registrar (i.e., the ability
for the College Registrar to appoint investigators).

o Formalize the existing (voluntary) alternative dispute resolution process as
a potential Complaints and Resolutions mechanism, where appropriate for
certain cases.

The public, animal owners, animal health and welfare organizations, and agri-
food stakeholders would recognize benefits from the proposed changes to
modernize the current complaints, investigations, and resolutions process. A
more efficient, transparent model would support the College's objective of
serving the public interest and ensuring public trust, the safety of people and
animals, and client satisfaction.

To fulfill the public interest protection expectations that self-regulation imposes
and to ensure transparency, relevant information should be available to animal
owners and the general public about members of the College. This includes
having information available about members who have a Discipline Committee
hearing scheduled, including the identity of the member and a general summary
of the allegations. ln a similar way, the College's public register should, while
respecting to the extent possible the privacy and reputational concerns of
members, provide relevant and factual information to animal owners and the
general public about the history of a member.

Consultation
The ministry is seeking feedback from veterinary professionals, animal owners
(including livestock and poultry producers), industry associations, public interest
advocacy organizations, animal athlete professionals, post-secondary education
institutions, and members of the public on the proposed amendments as outlined in this
paper. Your feedback will be considered during the development of proposed changes
to the Act.

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 14



644

Questions for Gonsultation

1. Do you agree with the changes described in this proposal? Why or why not?

2. Do you have any specific concerns with any of the items discussed in this

proposal? Please explain/describe'

3. Would the proposed changes reduce red tape or contribute to additional

opportunities or other impacts for you or your business? Please explain.

4. Do you feel any important areas for change have been left out of the proposal?

Please describe.

5. Do you feel these proposals will help make the practice of veterinary medicine

become more accessible and accountable?

Email

ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs (oMAFRA)

vetact.omafra@ontario. ca

Address
ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs (oMAFRA)

Food Safety and Environmental Policy Branch

1 Stone Road West, 2nd Floor SW

Guelph, Ontario N1G 4Y2

Attention: Consultation on Proposalto Modernize the Veterinarians Act

Your Privacy Matters

lf you submit your comments via email, some of your personal information including

yout n"t" miy ne shared. To submit anonymous feedback, please mail your

submission to:

Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs (OMAFRA)

Food Safety and Environmental Policy Branch

1 Stone Road West, 2nd Floor SW

Guelph, Ontario NIG 4Y2

Attention: Consultation on Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act

Proposalto Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper '15



645
lf you provide contact information (including where the contact information is personal
contact information), we may use it to follow up with you on your comments or to
provide you with future consultation materials.

Your feedback is necessary in order to help the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural
Affairs understand how specific animal care activities provided by veterinary
professionals can be better defined, how accountability and traniparency can be
improved, and how the Veterinarians Act can be improved more generaliy. This
feedback will be used by the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs to help
develop a more detailed proposal for amendments to the Veterinarians Act.
f nformation collected as part of this consultation is subject to the Freedom of
lnformation and Protection of Privacy Act.

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion paper 16



646
APPENDIX A

Proposed Legislative Gontent and Areas for Future Regulatory Policy
Development and Future By-Law Amendments by the Gollege

. The following table contains examples for illustrative purposes only and serves to
demonstrate how the legislative and regulatory framework governing veterinary
medicine is comprised of both statutory and regulatory components, as wellas
applicable College by-laws.

. Note that different bodies are ultimately responsible for the making of these legal
instruments. Changes to statutes require the introduction of a Bill into the
legislature and those changes must be passed by the legislature to become law.

lf that occurs, then regulations could be made (currently, the regulation making
authority is the Council of the College with approval of Cabinet and prior review
by the Minister) and by laws made (by the Council of the College).

Proposed $tatutory
Changes

Areas for Potential Future
Regulatory Policy
Development

Areas for Potential
Future By-Laws and
Amendments by the
Council of the
College

Updated description of scope of
practice for veterinary medicine

Exceptions (scope and
coverage of the legislative
framework)

New description of authorized
activities (including restrictions,
and exemptions)

Expanded scope of licensing
and membership, to include
veterinary technicians

Updated list of objects of the
College

Particulars for a quality
assurance program, including
components of the program
and requirements for members

Particulars for performing
authorized activities, including
conditions, exemptions and
any restrictions on delegation

Panel requirements and
composition

Any necessary updates to the
current content of Reg. 1093
(Licences, Certificates of
Accreditation, Facility
Accred itation, Professional
Misconduct, Drugs, Records,
Advertising, Conflict of lnterest,
etc.)

Committee composition
particulars

Other changes or
updates to by-laws
deemed necessary by
the Council

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 17



647
Council composition and
officers (e.9., President)

College committees (including
new Quality Assurance
Committee and I nvestigations
and Resolutions Committee)

Powers of committees
(including the Quality Assurance
Comrniltee and the
I nvestigations and Resolutions
Committee)

o Would include authority
of the lnvestigations and
Resolutions Committee
to make interim orders

Restricted titles, including title
protection for veterinary
technicians

Reporting by members

Offences

Authority of Council to make by-
laws

Regulation-making powers
(Council, Minister)

Minister's powers

Transitional provisions and
other provisions relating to the
governance and administration
of the College

Other regulatory changes or
updates to be proposed

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 18



648
APPENDIX B

A Proposed List of Authorized Activities to be Performed by Veterinarians and
Veterinary Technicians in the Course of Engaging in the Practice of Veterinary
Medicine

Proposed List of Authorized Activities to be Performed by Veterinarians

Should the proposed legislative changes to the scope of practice of veterinary medicine
under the Veterinarians Acf proceed, the following activities would be designated as
authorized activities to be performed by licensed veterinarians in Ontario:

. Make or communicate a diagnosis to identify a disease, disorder, dysfunction or
condition as the cause of an animal's signs and presentation.

. Perform an assessment to determine the fitness or soundness of an animal, or
group of animals, on which it is reasonably foreseeable that a person will rely on
the assessment.

. Order laboratory tests on an animal or on specimens taken from an animal.

o Prescribe, compound, dispense, or sell a drug.

. Perform a procedure on tissue on or below the dermis.

. Perform a procedure below the surface of a mucous membrane.

. Perform a procedure on or below the surfaces of the teeth, including the scaling
of teeth and occlusal equilibration.

. Perform a procedure on or below the surface of the cornea.

. Set, immobilize, or cast a fracture of a bone or a dislocation of a joint or a
severed tendon.

. Administer a substance by injection or inhalation or monitor of such.

. Move the joints of the spine beyond the animal's usual physiological range of
motion using a fast, low amplitude thrust.

. Put an instrument, arm, hand, or finger:

o beyond the external ear canal

o beyond the point in the nasal passages where they normally narrow

o beyond the larynx

o beyond the opening of the urethra

o beyond the labia majora

o beyond the anus or cloaca

o into any other natural or artificial opening into the body.

Proposalto Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 19



649

. Apply or order the application of a form of energy prescribed by the regulations
under this Act.

. Perform upon an animal any manual procedure for the diagnosis and/or
treatment of pregnancy, sterility, or infertility.

. Perform a post-mortem examination.

. Perform euthanasia.

Proposed List of Authorized Activities to be Performed by Veterinary Technicians

Should the proposed iegislative changes to the scope of practice of veierinary medicine
under lhe VeterinariansAcf proceed, the following activities would be authorized to
veterinary technicians in Ontario:

. Triage emergency patients.

. Prepare a drug for the purpose of dispensing a drug.

o Collect specimens for diagnostic tests.

. Place lV catheter for emergency purpose.

. Place lV catheter for therapeutic purpose.

. Perform dental prophylaxis, inclusive of scaling and occlusal equilibration.

o Collect specimens.

. Performing tests on the surface of the cornea.

. Apply splints and/or bandages for the purpose of immobilizing a fracture of a
bone or a dislocation of a joint.

r Administer a substance by injection or inhalation in keeping with requirements to
be prescribed should the proposed changes be introduced and become law
(please note that this is inclusive of induction, gases, nerve blocks,
chemotherapy, epidurals, and fluid therapy).

. Monitor patients under anesthesia.

. Place nasogastric tubing.

o Place esophageal or endotracheal tubing.

. Place urinary catheters.

o Vaginal swab.

. Place irrigation tubing beyond the anus or cloaca.

o Express anal sacs internally.

. lnsert intramammary cannula.

Proposalto Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 20



650

Veterinary technicians would not be able to delegate the above authorized activities to
another individual. Sub-delegation of an act that was delegated to a veterinary
technician (for example, by a veterinarian) to another individual would also not be
permitted.

Additional details on the proposed changes to the authorized activities of licensed
veterinarians and veteri
to a College resource.

nary technicians in Ontario can be found usino the

Note that this discussion paper only contemplates authorized activities provided by
veterinarians or veterinary technicians, and is not intended to propose restrictions to any
other regulated health professionalwho may currently be allowed to provide these
authorized activities. lf there are authorized activities which are currently being provided
by other regulated health professionals, participants are encouraged to share those with
the ministry in their submission.

Note to Reader

The list of proposed activities to be prescribed as authorized activities for veterinarians and
registered veterinary technicians when carrying on the practice of veterinary medicine is
presented for illustrative purposes only. lf the proposed changes to the existing statute are
introduced, passed, and become law, it is anticipated that these activities would be outlined
in greater detail in a future regulation. The activities presented in this document are not
final and there would need to be a series of exceptions and exemptions proposed as a part
of any future regulatory consultation.

ed link

Proposalto Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 21



651

APPENDIX C

Oversight and Authority: A Brief Comparison of Key Elements in the Gurrent
Veteriiarians Actand Two Regulated Health Professions in Ontario

. The chart below summarizes a comparison of health professions in Ontario. The

Health Professionals Procedural Code (HPPC), Schedule 2 to the Regulated

Heatth Professions AcL 7997 (RHPA), is deemed to be incorporated into each

regulatory college's profession specific statute (e.g., in the case of pharmacists,

the Pharmacy Act, 1991).

o Subject matter, such as Council Composition, can generally be tbunci in

profbssion-specific statutes of human health regulatory college_s, while other

subject matter including committees (e.g., Quality Assurance Committee) are

found in the HPPC.

Theme
Veterinarians
(Current Act)

Pharmacists Physiotherapists

Gouncil
Composition

9 to 15 members,
with3to5public
Lieutenant
Governor in Council
(LGiC) appointees.

9 to 17 members (2 to 4 must
be pharmacy technicians),
with 9 to 16 public LGiC
appointees and 2 academic
positions.

7 to 8 members, with 5 to 7
public LGiC appointees and
2 academic positions.

QualitY
Assurance
Gommittee and
Program

Not required Required Required

Complaints
Process

Complex - two
intake streams, with
different authorities
for each.

One intake process. lnquiries,
Complaints, and Reports
Committee (ICRC) decides
the result of the investigation.

One intake process. ICRC
decides the result of the
investigation.

lnterim
Suspensions

Limited (incapacity
and wellness
matters under a
Board of lnquiry) -
not possible for
discipline committee
to issue interim
suspensions.

Panelof ICRC may make
interim order directing
Registrar to suspend or
impose terms, conditions or
limitations on a member
where physical or mental
state of the member exposes
or is likely to expose his or
her patients to harm or injury

Panelof ICRC may make
interim order directing
Registrar to susPend or
impose terms, conditions or
limitations on a member
where physical or mental
state of the member
exposes or is likely to
expose his or her patients to
harm or injury.

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 22



652
APPENDIX D

Proposed Additions Related to the College's Registrar-Appointed lnvestigators
I nvestiqator Appointments

o lt is proposed that the College Registrar may appoint one or more investigators
to determine whether a member has committed an act of professional
misconduct or is incompetent if:

a) the College Registrar believes on reasonable and probable grounds that
the member has committed an act of professional misconduct or is
incompetent and the lnvestigations and Resolutions Committee approves
of the appointment

b) the lnvestigations and Resolutions Committee has received information
about a member from the Quality Assurance Committee under the
relevant section and has requested the College Registrar to conduct an
investigation

c) the lnvestigations and Resolutions Committee has received a written
complaint about the member and has requested the College Registrar to
conduct an investigation.

r Further, it is proposed that the College Registrar may appoint an investigator in
an emergency if all of the following three conditions are met:

o The College Registrar believes on reasonable and probable grounds that
the conduct of the member exposes or is likely to expose his or her
patients or clients to harm or injury.

o The College Registrar believes the investigator should be appointed
immediately.

o The College Registrar believes there is not time to seek approval from the
lnvestigations and Resolutions Committee.

Proposed Additions to the Existing List of lnvestigator Powers under the
Veterinarians Act
An investigator may:

i. inspect or observe the practice of veterinary medicine performed by a member or
under the supervision of a member

ii. take photographs or make audio or video records relating to the veterinary facility

iii. remove original versions of evidence where necessary (for example, where an
original document is necessary to prove tampering or fraud)

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion paper 23



653

iv. use any data storage, processing or retrieval device or system used in carrying on

busineis in order to produce information that is relevant to the investigation and

that is in any form

v. upon giving a receipt for them, remove for examination and testing and may copy

anythi-ng rJlevant to the investigation and testing, including any data storage disk

or other retrieval device in order to produce information

vi. conduct tests (e.g., those related to the role of an investigator - e.g', testing

equipment, etc.) that are reasonably necessary

vii. upon giving receipt for them, require a person to produce any documents, records,

equipment, supplies and such other things of the person being investigated that

the investigator'determines are relevant to the investigation, including using any

data storage, processing or retrieval device or system to produce information that

is relevant to the inspeciion and that is in any form, and the person shall produce

the things required and provide the assistance.

Proposalto Modernize the veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 24



654
APPENDIX E

A Brief Summary of the College's Gurrent lnvestigations Process

Current lnvestigations Process re: Complaints and Resolutions

1. The veterinarian is notified of the complaint and provided with a copy of the
submitted complaint.

2. The issues or concerns arising from the letter of complaint are summarized and
foruvarded to the complainant for confirmation.

3. When confirmed, the list of issues is then forwarded to the veterinarian
responding to the complaint. The veterinarian is asked to submit a written
explanation, pertinent medical records, x-rays, logs, etc. to the College.

4. Witnesses are contacted, and written statements are gathered.

5. A copy of the Record of lnvestigation (i.e., copies of all materials to be presented
to the Complaints Committee for an investigation) is sent to both parties, once all
information pertaining to the file is collected.

Additional information on the College's current investigator's process can be found
usinq the provided link.

Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act Discussion Paper 25



O5a-
b
b-O

Ontario
Chiropractic
Association

rrEM 4.1.57

February 16,2022

Ms. Jo-Ann Willson
Registrar and General Council
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, Ontario
M4Y OE7

Dear Ms. Willson,

On behalf of the Ontario Chiropractic Association, I am writing to share an update on
our efforts to enhance public awareness, understanding and utilization of animal
chiropractic care, and, more broadly, to facilitate interprofessional collaboration within
animal services.

Following outreach by OCA, the College of Veterinarians of Ontario established a
Working Group on Shared Care in Animal Rehabilitation in 2021, which includes
chiropractors, veterinarians, veterinary technicians, and animal physiotherapists. Since
then, the Working Group has developed guidance for the promotion of online rosters to
facilitate collaborative care with veterinarians, along with public-facing resources on
collaborative care and the roles of animal rehabilitation professionals in Ontario.
Attached is a document produced by the working group which we will be using to
promote collaboration on animal care.

ln addition to our work supporting interprofessional collaboration in animal services,
OCA has recently written to Ontario's Minister of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs
regarding the consultation on the modernization of the regulation of the veterinary
profession. OCA believes that it is essential that animal chiropractors -- as well-
established, respected, and regulated providers of evidence-based chiropractic care --
have the opportunity to provide input on ways to strengthen the role of public protection
within the Veterinarians Act.

Finally, it is important to underscore that OCA's recent request for a notation on the
profession's register to denote qualified and insured animal chiropractors is an important
collaboration toolthat will help advance inter-professional care of animals in Ontario.

The OCA welcomes further discussions with CCO on the proposed parameters of the
collaboration tool, and ways to further improve access and choice for consumers
seeking animal chiropractic care in Ontario.

655

2OL - 70 U niversity Ave.
Toronto, ON

MsJ 2M4

Tel: 416-860-0070
Tol l-f ree : t-87 7 -327 -227 3

Fax: 416-860-0857

chiropractic.on.ca



656

H
Ontario
Chiropractic
Association

Page 2

Thank you for your time and consideration

Sincerely,

C--4--/--

Caroline Brereton
Chief Executive Officer



657

Benefits of Collaboration in Animal
Physical Rehabi I itation' for
Professionals
Collaboration between diflerent providers of animal physical rehabilitation contributes to
positive outcomes for animals and their owners. Shared care in physical rehabilitation of
an animal is an example of professions coming together to ofler services that increase
function, mobility, and quality of life. Although these professions may have different skills
and capabilities, their work is complementary.

Enhancements to
atient function,
lity of life & pain
management

Many veterinarians have already made animal physical rehabilitation a focus in their work
by seeking certification and expertise in the area. There are also other care providers such
as chiropractors (DC), physiotherapists (PT), and registered veterinary technicians (R\ff)
who have sought certification in animal physical rehabilitation that work with
veterinarians to provide this shared care. This team approach to care contributes positively
to an animal's outcome and is fostered by the knowledge and skills of veterinarians and
certified animal physical rehabilitation providers.

Safe a nd
com petent ca re Ed ucation

L Animal Physical Rehabilitation is a multidisciplinary collaborative approach to the restoration, management, enhancement and
maintenance of physical fu nction of an animal for oatimal quality of life, maximized level of function, reduction of disability and pain, and
prevention of injury. lnternqtional Association of veterinoty Rehobilitation and PhFicol Therapy.



658
Choosi ng physical rehabi I itation
care for
your
animal

d

Full regulatory
oversight
Direct access to all
treatment options
Proof of training and
knowledge in
veterinary medicine
and animal care
Published standards of
practice

I

a

a

Profession specific
regulatory oversight
Direct access to animal
reha bi I itation services
Proof of training and
knowledge in animal
rehabilitation
Profession specific
standards of practice

{H}
+

a

a

a

No regulatory
oversight
Direct access to animal
reha bil itation services
No proof of training or
knowledge in animal
rehabilitation
No standards of
practice

a

a

Veterinarian
Certified, animal

retrabllitation
p ro f ess i's nal

Other public
provider

i ( ''!'' t

(
t'

\ " )o'

);
, \ j.,

:

The public has options when choosing the
healthcare that best suits their animal.)



Benefits of
Collaboration in
Animal Physical
Rehabilitation for
the Public

'1

ooo t
lncreased

communication
A collaborative

approach to animal
reha bi I itation en ha nces

com m u nication
between professionals.

Continuity of
care

A collaborative
approach promotes

consistency in
treatment plans and

common care.

S h aring of
medical records

A collaborative
approach promotes the

sharing of medical
records between

practices.

r-

l.,li,

a



|TEM 4.1.61

COLLEGE OF
CHIROPRACTORS

OF ALBERTA- .

Hearing Tribunal Written Decision and
Orders for the Hearing of:

Dr. Curtis Wall

On:

January 27,2023

Posting expiration date:

February L,2033

675
I
t
\
\\t
a
I

1'1203 70 Street NW Edmonton, Alberta T5B 1T1

T: 78O.42O.0932 | F. 7eO.425.6583 I theccoa.ca



676

IN THE MATTER OF A HEARING OF THE HEARING TRIBUNAT
oF THE COLTEGE OF CHTROPRACTORS OF ALBERTA (FORMERLY KNOWN AS

THE ALBERTA COLTEGE AND ASSOCTATTON OF CHTROPRACTORS) ('THE
coL[EGE"l |NTO THE CONDUCT OF DR. CURTTS WALL, A REGUTATED

MEMBER OF THE COIIEGE

Pursuant to THE HEALTH PROFESSIONS ACT,
R.S.A. 2000 c.P-14 being Chapter H-7 of the

Revised Statutes of Alberta

Regarding the conduct of Dr. Curtis Wall ("Dr. Wall")

DECISION OF THE HEARING TRIBUNAL

Hearing:

The Hearing was conducted virtually using the Toom application on the following dates:

September L, 2, 7 & 8, 2O2I

November L6 &20,2O2t

January 28 &29,2022

February 25,2022

April L2,2022

June L6 &L7,2022

Members of the Hearing Tribunal included:

iames Lees, Public Member, Chair

Doug Dawson, Public Member

Dianna Martens, Regulated member

Dr. Leslie Aldcorn, Regulated Member



677
Other participants included:

Walter Pavlic, lndependent Counselto the Hearing Tribunal

David Lawrence, Complaints Director, CCOA

Lloyd Fisher, Complaints Director, CCOA

Blair Maxton, Counsel for the CCOA

Curtis Wall, lnvestigated Member

James Kitchen, Counselfor Dr. Wall

Karoline Schurman, Court Reporter

Preliminarv Matters:

Dr. Wall and the College are represented by counsel. At the commencement of the Hearing, they

were asked if they had any objections to either the composition or jurisdiction of the Tribunal.

Both counsel confirmed that they had no objections. They further confirmed that they did not

object to having the Hearing heard virtually via video conference.

The parties then advised that there were a number of preliminary applications to be addressed

The first preliminary application related to the College's Complaints Director's request to amend

the Notice of Hearing to include the phrase "Alberta Health Services directions and

requirements". ln support of that amendment the College made reference to Section 66

(Subsection 3) of the Health Professions Actl ("HPA") which states that

"lf on reviewing a report prepored under this section the Complaints Directors determines

that the investigation is concluded, the Complaints Director must refer the matter to the

Hearings Director for o Heoring".

2

1 Health Professions Act, RSA 2000



678
The College also made reference to Paragraph 47 of the Wright Decision2, which states that a

professional organization has the ability to invoke and manage its professional disciplinary

regime, which power is analogous to prosecutorial discretion. The grounds of review of that

discretion are to be very narrow. They next referred to the decision in MocLeod v. College of

SociolWorkers3, which states that the particulars enable the professional to identify the event

that amounts to misconduct, and that the particulars can also have the effect of limiting the scope

of the charges. The requirement of particulars is that they be specific enough in order that the

professional knows the case that he or she has to meet. The College indicated that the proposed

amended Notice of Hearing was originally provided to Dr. Wall in March 2O2L, and that there

have been no requests made by Dr. Wall for any further particulars. The College stated that the

particulars of the charge are very well-known to Dr. Wall, and that the addition of the phrase

"Alberta Health Services directions and requirements" does not result in any prejudice to Dr. Wall

Dr. Wall objected to the amendment on the basis that the reference to "Alberta Health Services

direction and requirements" is very vague, and that those directions and requirements are not

relevant. Rather, what is relevant in this matter is the Office of the Chief Medical Officer of

Health's orders.

After hearing arguments on the matter, the Tribunal concluded that Dr. Wall had received

sufficient particulars in advance, and had not demonstrated any prejudice. Dr. Wall had ample

2 Wright v. College and Association of Registered Nurses (Alto.), (2012) 536 A.R. 349
3 MacLeod v Albenq College of Social Workers, 2078 ABCA 73

3



679
opportunity to raise any questions or concerns regarding the proposed amendments in advance

of the Hearing. He did not do so. The amendment was allowed.

The College's second Preliminary Application was to admit three Alberta Health Services ("AHS")

documents as additional exhibits. The College briefly reviewed the contents of the documents

that the College was asking to be admitted. They then made reference to Section 79(5) of the

Health Professions Act, which states that:

"Evidence may be given before the heoring tribunal in any monner that it considers

appropriate, and it is not bound by the rules of law respecting evidence applicable to

judicial hearings. (pg. 70)"

The College made reference to the Mohon Decisiona, and identified that when entering new

documents the Tribunal ought to consider three elements:

(1) ore the documents relevont;

(2) are the documents relevont to the facts and issues that are before the decision maker;

and

(3) wiltthe documents provide the decision maker'with some ossistance?

They argued that the documents sought to be entered contained important information with

respect to issues in the Hearing. They maintained that the documents would provide guidance

and were relevant.

a R. v. Mohon, 1994 ConLlt 80 (SCC), [1994] 2 
'CR 

9

4



680
Dr. Wall responded by saying that the documents failed to add any scientific value, and were

nothing more than an appeal to authority. The documents were also independent from the

CMOH's orders, and as a result they fail to add any value. The effect of the documents is only to

prejudice Dr. Wall. He stated that the documents' probative value is outweighed by their

prejudicial impact.

Following consideration of the arguments, the Tribunal concluded that the documents are

relevant and are material. There is no exclusionary rule that would support ignoring them. As a

result, the three Alberta Health Services documents were admitted as Exhibits H-2,H-9, and H-4.

Dr. Wall also had a Preliminary Application. He wanted Mr. Schaefer's CV and his report admitted

as evidence before the Tribunal. He argued that the principals of the Mohan case were satisfied.

Specifically, he argued that the report is relevant, necessary in assisting the trier of fact, does not

violate any exclusionary rule, and is prepared by a properly qualified expert. Dr. Wall argued that

the report addressed the central issue in the case, was relevant and probative, and that any

possible prejudice could be rectified by providing an adjournment to the College. He further

stated that the Alberta Rules of Court, which limit opinion evidence to one expert on any one

subject, is not strictly applicable, and should not preclude the admission of Mr. Schaefer's

evidence.

The College objected and argued that, although not binding on the Tribunal, the Rules of Court

ought to be adhered to, and that Dr. Wall already had three other experts providing evidence.

The College stated that the late provision of the report, being three weeks prior to Hearing,

created a prejudicial effect.

5



681
After considering the submissions of counsel, the panel determined that both Mr. Schaefer's

report and his CV meet the requirements for admissibility, and admitted them into evidence. The

panel then advised the College to make best efforts to obtain any Expert Report they intended

to produce in response, in order to avoid any potential adjournment.

The Allesations:

At the commencement of the hearing, the charges against Dr. Wall were amended. As a result,

the allegations for consideration by this Tribunal are as follows:

7. Beginning on or obout June of 2020 and ot the "Wall Chiropractic Clinic" (the "Clinic") Dr,

Wall:

o Failed to use Personol Protective Equipment, specifically he foiled to wear o mosk;

b. Failed to observe the required twg metres of social distoncing when unmosked;

c. lJntil on or about December of 2020, foiled to have a plexigloss barrier ot the Clinic

reception; and/or

d. Did not require patients to be mosked;

when interocting with patients, members of the public or both.

2. Beginning on or about June of 2020 ond ot the Clinic, one or more staff members of the

Clinic (the "Stoff"):

o. Foiled to use Personol Protective Equipment, specifically Staff failed to weor mosks;

b. Faited to observe the required two metres of social distancing when unmasked;

and;

c. Did not require patients to be masked

when they interacted with patients, members of the public or both.

6



682
3. Beginning on or about June of 2020, Dr. Wall treated patients while not wearing o mask

ond/or did not require patients to be masked and:

a. He did not advise patients of the increased risk of transmission of COVID-I9 due to
masks not being worn;

b. He advised patients that mosks were not required; and/or

He advised patients that wearing masks hod no effect concerning transmission of
covtD-19.

4. Beginning on or about June of 2020, Dr. Wallfailed to chart and/orfailed to properly chart
communications with his patients about:

o. Him not wearing a mask;

b. His Stoff not wearing mosks; and/or

c. His patients not weoring masks.

5. Beginning on or about June of 2020, Dr. Woll and/or the Staff:

Foited to follow the Chief Medicai Officer of Health Orders regording masking ond
COVID-79; and/or

b. Fqiled to follow the ACAC "Pondemic Practice Directive".

lT lS FURTHER ALLEGED thot the conduct described above constitutes unprofessional
conduct as defined in s. 1(1)(pp) of the Health Professions Act, and/or constitutes a
contravention of one or more of the following (in force at the relevont time): Chief Medical
Officer of Health Orders, ACAC "Pondemic Proctice Directive", Alberto Health Services
directions and requirements, ACAC Standards of Practice L.2(o), (i), (j), and/or (k),4.3, 5.7,
ond ACAC Code of Ethics Principle #2, Principle #4, A-7, B-7, C-L, and D-7.

During the hearing each of the above five charges were read to him. Dr. Wall did not dispute any

of the facts set out in the charges and acknowledged that each of the five charges was factually

correct.

c

o

7



Background Facts: 683
ln the Fall of 201"9, the world became impacted by the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. That virus

led to a disease known as COVID-19. A pandemic ensued which resulted in Governments around

the world reacting with various lockdowns, travel restrictions and quarantine requirements. ln

March of 2O20 the Alberta Government directed that health professionals stop practicing unless

there was an emergency. Chiropractors were among the health professionals impacted. Dr. Wall,

along with all of the chiropractors in Alberta, was required to close his office

On April 30,2020 The Government of Alberta published the'Sofely Staged COVID-79 Relounch"

It provided that health professionals would be allowed to resume providing services effective

May 4, 2020, if theyfollowed guidelines approved by their professional colleges. The Government

of Alberta also issued CMOH Order 76-2020, which provided that each college was required to

publish COVID-19 guidelines applicable to its regulated members, and to provide a copy of those

guidelines to the Chief Medical Officer of Health. The above Orders and Directives required the

Colleges to create and publish mandatory distancing and masking guidelines. Regulated members

of a college were required to comply with the Workplace Guidance for Community Healthcare

Settings when providing a professional service. None of the Orders or Directives provided any

exceptions to the masking requirement.

ln response to CMOH Order L6-2O2O, the CCOA issued a Pandemic Practice Directive ("Pandemic

Directive") on May 5,2020.ln developing the Pandemic Directive, the College sought input from

its members by providing notices via email, by holding virtual town hall meetings, and usage of

an online communication tool known as the "ThoughtExchange Platform". Dr. Wall

8



684
acknowledged that he received numerous documents from the College inviting members to

provide input, and asking members to contact the College with respect to the Pandemic Directive.

The Pandemic Directive that was subsequently developed by the College was submitted, to and

approved by, the CMOH. lt contained physical distancing and masking requirements and required

that all chiropractors and clinical staff were to be masked at all times while providing patient care

It also stated that non-clinical staff must be masked in circumstances where a physical distance

of two metres could not be maintained. The Pandemic Directive provided detailed information

with respect to the applicable masks, and the process for "donning and doffing" the mask.

As a result of the issuance of the Pandemic Directive Dr. Wall was able to reopen his office. He

initially wore a mask as required. ln June of 202O Dr. Wall self-diagnosed as having an anxiety

disorder. He believed that his self-diagnosis qualified him for a medical exemption from wearing

a mask. As a result, he stopped wearing a mask when treating patients. Additionally, Dr. Wall's

son, who also worked at the clinic, did not wear a mask. Dr. Wall never contacted the College to

let them know he would not be wearing a mask, nor did he ever request any medical or other

exemption from the Pandemic Directive that required he wear a mask. He also failed to tell his

patients about the risks of not masking, and did not provide any consent from any patient he

treated while unmasked

On Decemb er L,2O2O, The College was notified by Alberta Health Services ('AHS") that a patient

of Dr. Wall's had filed a complaint. The complaint stated that Dr. Wall was not masking during

patient treatment, his staff was not masking or observing social-distancing measures, and there

were no plexiglass barriers in the clinic's reception area.

9



685

On December 3,2020, the Complaint Director sought a suspension of Dr. Wall's practice permit

This was to be an interim suspension, subject to the outcome of any hearing. Dr, Wall opposed

the interim suspension. On December L0, 2020,Dr. Wall's legalcounsel advised that Dr. Wall had

installed the required plexiglass barriers, and also indicated that Dr. Wallwould be relying upon

a religious exemption

Dr. Wall did not provide the College with any medical information supporting his claimed medical

exemption until after the commencement of the investigation. On December 1"2, 2020 Dr. Wall

provided a letter from his physician Dr. Salem. The College viewed that letter as unsatisfactory,

and requested additional information. Dr. Salem was not Dr. Wall's regular family doctor, and did

not provide any prognosis, any treatment plans, or recommend any steps to address Dr. Wall's

anxiety disorder. Dr. Wall further acknowledged that in the subsequent letter provided by Dr.

Salem dated January 8, 202L, Dr. Salem at no time mentioned the existence of any medical

disability. The subsequent letter also did not provide any prognosis or any treatment options. Dr.

Wall acknowledged that despite the fact that he had no training in anxiety disorders, he self-

diagnosed an anxiety disorder that he believed was sufficient enough to qualify for a medical

exemption

ln response to the College's application for suspension, Dr. Wall stated that he was of the view

that any risk to patients by not wearing a mask was speculative, and that the COVID-19 virus was

not a real and imminent public health threat. Dr. Wall disagreed that the Complaints Director had

L0



686
a legitimate concern of risk to the public by Dr. Wall's failure to wear a face mask when treating

patients.

The College ultimately did not suspend Dr. Wall's practice permit.'lnstead, they placed conditions

upon it. The conditions were as follows

(1) Dr. Wall shall inform eoch client he sees that Dr. Wall has a medical exemption from
the public health order thot all persons in a public place must wear a face mask, and
Dr. Wall sholl obtoin the written confirmation signed by eoch patient that the potient
agrees to be seen qnd treoted by Dr. Woll without him weoring o face mosk or foce
shield. Dr. Wall shall provide copies of the written confirmation from each to the
Complaints Director by 5 p.m. on Friday of each week in which Dr. Wall sees any
potients. This requirement will remain in effect as long as the public health order for
physical borriers, social distancing and face masks are in effect.

(2) Dr. Wall sholl direct any staff person ossisting in his office, whether thot person is paid
or unpaid, to comply with the current public heolth order requiring use of physical

borriers, sociol distoncing and foce masks. lf any stoff person cloims an exemption

from the wearing of a foce mosk, Dr. Wall shall consult with Alberta Health Services

os to whether the claim of an exemption is supported by objective proof.

(3) Dr. Wall shall mointoin a log of screening questions asked and answered by all patients
and daily screening of his stoff and himself, regarding ony symptoms or events thot
would require isolation and/or testing for Covid 79. The list of screening questions is

set out on poge 10 of the ACAC Pondemic Proctice Directive issued May 3 ond revised

May 25, 2A20. Dr. Wall shall provide a copy of the log to the Complaints Director by 5
p.m. on Friday of each week that the public health orders for physical barriers, social
distancing and face masks are in effect.

(4) ln the event that Dr. wall shows any symptoms or answers positively to the screening
questions, he sholl not see or treat any patients until he has been tested for Covid 79

by Alberto Services and received confirmation of a negotive test result. Dr. Woll shall
provide proof, satisfactory to the Complaints Director, of the negative test result on
the same date that Dr. Wall receives the test result. Dr. Wall shall not see any patient
until he has received confirmotion from the Comploints Director that he can return to
seeing ond treating potients.

LL



687
At no time did Dr. Wall appeal these conditions, nor did he make any complaint to the Alberto

H u ma n Rights Com missi on

As a result of Dr. Wall's failure to wear a mask, Alberta Health Services took action. On December

8,2020 they issued an "Order of an Executive Office Notice of Public Access Closure". As a result,

Dr. Wall's office was closed. Alberta Health Services subsequently issued a rescind of closure

notice on January 5,202L. The rescind notice provided that Dr. Wall must observe the following

conditions:

(1.) Dr. Curtis Wall must follow the current reopening practice guidelines set out by the Alberta

College and Association of Chiroproctors, as well as all future iterations of this guidance.

(2.)Dr. Wall must implement his revised COVID-L9 relounch plan that was submitted on

December 24, 2020 into proctice to reduce the transmission of COVID-79 among the

attendees of the Wall Chiropractic and Wellness.

(3.)Prior to booking an appointment, Dr. Curtis Wall must inform the potient he will be

unmasked while providing services, ond obtain the potient's explicit consent to proceed

with booking an undertaking of soid services.

Q.)Dr. Curtis Wall must ensure that all potients he treats continuously weor a mosk that
covers their mouth ond nose for the duration of their time in the clinic, unless they are oble

to provide evidence that they hove been gronted a mask exemption.

Dr. Wall did not challenge or contest either the Alberta Heolth Services closure order or the terms

of the rescind notice

Dr. Wall believed that he was not endangering the public by not wearing a mask. He did not

require his son to be masked, and did not think it necessary to install any plexiglass barriers. He

L2



688
did not advise any patients as to the dangers of not being masked, as he believed people were

aware of them

Dr. Wall was aware that refusing to wear a face mask and refusing to social distance as required

by the Pandemic Directive, was a choice he made in June of 2020. Dr. Wall believed that it was

both professionally and ethically acceptable, with respect to masking and social distancing, for

him to decide, without consulting his College, how and when the Pandemic Directive applied to

him. He stated that if he personally decides that a requirement of the College causes harm, then

he does not have to follow it. Dr Wall also acknowledged that as a professional he had an

obligation to notify the College about his concerns involving the Pandemic Directive. When asked

whether it was an obligation as a professional to notify the College of his intention to not comply

with the masking and social distance requirements outlined in the Pandemic Directive, his

response was that masking was harmful to his health and he did not think it necessary to respond

to the College

The College's Submission:

The College alleges that Dr. Wall unilaterally determined that he would opt out of the Pandemic

Directive, and has ignored its requirements for masking, plexiglass barriers, and physical

distancing.

The College (by virtue of Section 3 of the Health Professions Actl has an obligation to discharge

their duties in the public interest, and must maintain and enforce standards for the profession.

The College stated that the focus of the hearing ought to be the mandatory obligations and

13



689
responsibilities of professionals. The Pandemic Directive initiated by the College is a mandatory

requirement for all members of the profession arising from an express requirement of the

Government of Alberta. The College had no discretion to deviate from that mandatory

requirement. The College further stated that the issue for this hearing waS compliance, and that

Dr. Wall did not have the ability to pick and choose which requirements he would and would not

follow. The College emphasized that what is to be considered is not the efficacy of masking or

the reasonableness of the mandatory Pandemic Directive, but rather whether or not Dr. Wall's

actions were contrary to the regulated and mandatory requirements imposed upon him by the

College.

Dr. Wall's Submission:

Dr. Wall maintains that the key issue to be determined at hearing is whether the College's

pandemic Directive violates Dr. Wall's statutory Human Rights and Charter Rights. Dr. Wall

challenges whether the Directive itself was lawful and reasonable. He further states that should

the evidence establish that the Directive was not beneficial, it cannot possibly be unprofessional

to refuse to comply with it. He states that the mask mandate of the College is unlawful, as it

unjustifiably limits Dr. Wall's Charter rights and breaches the Alberta Human Rights Act. Dr. Wall

made it clear that the only portion of the Directive being challenged is the portion that mandates

masking. He argues that if the masking requirements are unlawful, then failure to follow those

requirements cannot be considered u nprofessional conduct'

t4



690
The Collese's Evidence:

Evidence of Dr. Hu - Direct Examination:

Dr' Hu was a Medical.Officer of Health with Alberta Health Services in the Calgary zone. Dr. Hu

was tendered as an expert in the area of Public Health, in particular COVID-19 and the efficacy of

masking and related COVID-19 prevention measures. Dr. Wall objected to having Dr. Hu qualified

as an expert in the efficacy of masking or any other preventative measures. The Panel then

caucused and subsequently determined that they would qualify Dr. Hu as an expert witness as

submitted by the College.

Dr. Hu identified CMOH 38-2020 as an Order, effective November 24,2020, that applied to the

Calgary Metropolitan Region. lt made face coverings in indoor public places mandatory. The only

exception was for individuals who were unable to wear a face mask due to a mental or physical

concern or limitation. CMOH Order 42-20, Exhibit D-9 was next reviewed. Dr. Hu stated that

CMOH 42-20 was the most restrictive order produced by AHS. lt provided that a person must

wear a face mask at all times while attending at an indoor place. Dr. Hu explained that the

rationale for that order was as a result of masking in indoor public spaces reducing the

transmission of COVID-l9. He explained that the Government of Alberta had initially been

opposed to any Provincial masking bylaws. However, once Alberta was encountering a large

number of COVID-19 cases the masking order was issued. Dr. Hu further stated that even prior

to the CMOH order, Alberta Health Services had recommended continued masking in all

healthcare settings, and that there were masking mandates by every health care organization

and College in the Province that provided health care services.

15



691
Dr. Hu next reviewed Exhibit F-2, being CMOH Order L6-2O2O. Dr. Hu explained that during the

first wave of the pandemic, health care service offices were shut down. CMOH Order 76-2020

directed that all regulated health care professionals had to comply with, and every College was

directed to publish, guidelines to all members of their college and/or provide their own guidelines

to ensure a safe return to clinical services. The Order stated that where Colleges were not able

to provide suitable guidelines, the CMOH would revise them as necessary. He further confirmed

that CMOH Order t6-2O2O required that any staff providing direct client or patient care, or

working in a client and/or patient care area, must wear a surgical/procedural mask continually at

all times unless they are able to maintain adequate physical distancing. The Order further stated

that the rationale for masking was to reduce the risk of transmitting COVID-19 from individuals

in the asymptomatic phase

CMOH Order L6-2O2O required that each College was to provide the CMOH with a copy of the

published guidelines. This was to ensure that the CMOH knew what the Colleges were doing, and

what they were recommending to their members. A College would be required to amend any

guidelines if the CMOH determined that those guidelines were insufficient or inadequate

Dr. Hu then reviewed the Pandemic Directive that was issued by the Alberta College of

Chiropractors in response to CMOH Order 76-2020. The Pandemic Directive required masking,

social-distancing, and plexiglass barriers. Dr. Hu testified that the use of such measures is

scientifically supported. He indicated that there was a significant amount of evidence establishing

that wearing a mask reduces transmission of COVID-19. He stated that a mask protects both the

16



692
person wearing the mask, as well as any people that are in proximity to the person wearing the

mask

Dr. Hu next reviewed "AHS Guidelines for Continuous Masking" (Exhibit H-2). That document

makes reference to evidence that asymptomatic, pre-symptomatic or minimally symptomatic

patients are capable of transmitting COVID-19. As a result, the Public Health Agency of Canada

made a recommendation to health care workers that masks were required when providing any

care to patients. He then reviewed the AHS document titled '?ersonol Protective Equipment". He

confirmed that PPE is critical to the health and safety of all health care workers. He stated there

was significant evidence that masking is very effective at preventing the transmission of COVID-

19, and that it protects both health care workers and the patients. Dr. Hu also stated that he was

directly involved in the originalcontinuous masking policy. He indicated that in other jurisdictions

many healthcare workers contracted and died from COVID-19 because of a lack of masking. He

also stated that proof that masks were effective could be found in the fact that in Alberta, health

care professionals had contact with hundreds of thousands of COVID-19 positive individuals, yet

there were less than 100 transmission events identified by AHS that occurred from contact

between a masked health care worker and a COVID-l9-positive individual.

Dr. Hu next reviewed Alberta Health Services' directive "Use of Masks During COVID-79". He

identified that masks have a dual purpose. The first purpose is to prevent a person who has

COVID-19 from transmitting it to others. The second purpose is to prevent individuals who do

not have COVID-19 from contracting COVID-19. He confirmed that the expert report's comments

with respect to the benefits of masking and social distancing are consistent with those of both

t7



693
the Alberta Health Services and the Public Health Agency of Canada, as well as the Chief Medical

Officer of Health's office. He stated that there is an overwhelming body of evidence that supports

the wearing of masks, particularly in a health care setting. Dr. Hu then reviewed his written report,

and indicated that he relied primarily on recent publications, given that COVID-1-9 is a recent

phenomenon. He also stated that as the pandemic progressed, peer-reviewed studies

demonstrated that masking was effective in reducing COVID-L9 transmissions. He stated that

COVID-L9 is transmitted through contact and respiratory droplets and, to a lesser extent,

aerosols. He stated that it is quite infectious, and masking and physical distancing reduce the

possibility of droplet spread. He stated that there were many studies that supported the efficacy

of masking, and included 27 studies in his report. He also stated that a highly rated systematic

review concluded that wearing masks reduced the risk of contracting and transmitting COVID-19.

Dr. Hu further stated that health care workers, including chiropractors, are at a high-risk of

contracting COVID-19. The evidence of the importance of masking among health care workers is

very robust, and that there is an overwhelming body of evidence supporting the use of masking

in health care settings. Dr. Hu commented upon the reports prepared by the Defendant's

witnesses Dr. Warren, Dr. Dang, and Dr. Bridal and stated that those reports were not specifically

about masking in a health care setting, and not directly salient to the issues at hand.

Dr. Hu cited a report published in the LANCET, which he identified as a highly reputable medical

journal. That report stated that after review of 200+ studies, it was determined that there was

an approximate 85% in reduced transmission when people wear masks. He stated that the

Canadian Thoracic Society has stated that mask-wearing is not known to exacerbate any lung-

18



694
disease. The only problem with mask-wearing is that people with extreme anxiety may have

issues. He stated that a health care worker who is in direct contact with patients should not be

allowed to have an exemption from wearing a mask.

Dr. Hu also commented on Mr. Schaefer's report. He stated that the Canadian Thoracic Society

has determined that mask wearing is not dangerous. He further provided his own observations,

stating that the health care professionals that wear masks in hospitals every day have no

apparent difficulties. Finally, he stated that he was not aware of any epidemiologically valid

studies that establish that masks should not be worn by health care providers

Cross-examination of Dr. H u

At the commencement of the cross-examination, Dr. Wall made an application to introduce two

documents. These two documents were described as randomized clinical trials. Dr. Wall

maintained that his intention was to present them to Dr. Hu and have Dr. Hu comment upon

them. The College objected on the basis of the late production of the documents, unfairness to

Dr. Hu, and the fact that Dr. Wall had already tendered four expert reports. Following the

submissions of the Parties, the Tribunal determined that the two documents would be admitted.

It was noted that the documents were either in progress or recently published, and neither of

the documents contained any actual results. Dr. Wall was advised by the Tribunal that if the

intention was to simply establish that the randomized trials exist the Tribunal was prepared to

enter them on that basis. Dr. Wall then accepted entry of those documents as exhibits on those

conditions.

19



695
During his cross-examination, Dr. Hu maintained that chiropractors provide healthcare in a

community setting. He stated that there is a risk of asymptomatic transmission in chiropractic

offices, and he also stated that it is difficult for people to accurately determine whether or not

they are presenting with symptoms prior to attending a chiropractic office. He agreed that if an

individual has overt symptoms and self-identifies as being symptomatic, they could avoid contact,

however, he stated that there are many low grade symptoms or chronic symptoms that are

difficult to differentiate between COVID-1"9 and other ailments. He agreed that most people who

attend chiropractic offices are asymptomatic; however, a chiropractor would see and be exposed

to more people in a closed indoor setting than usual, and this increases the risk of transmission

and infection. He also stated that any pre-COVID-19 studies that were prepared in relation to

masks are not as salient as COVID-19 masking studies; COVID-19 is a unique and novel virus with

its own transmission dynamics. Dr. Hu stated that no one in the healthcare setting should be

exempt from wearing a mask except those with severe mental health issues. He stated that the

riskier the setting the more important it is to wear a mask. ln particular, he stated that in a

healthcare setting, the COVID-19 risk is much higher, and that there should be almost no

exemption to mask wearing. He also stated that patients in healthcare settings should wear

masks. Dr. Hu acknowledged that he had no peer-reviewed studies or scientific reports in support

of his statement that a "ton" of health care workers died in the Spring of 2020 as a result of their

failure to wear masks. He also stated that he did not have any peer-reviewed studies or scientific

reports to verify that statement. He made reference to the number of infections between

infectious patients and healthcare workers in Alberta, but he did not have the information in

relation to his comments on the number of transmission events. Dr. Hu said the information and

20



696
statements he made were based upon discussions with Workplace Health and Safety, Alberta

Health Services and hospital management leadership. Dr. Hu maintained throughout that the

evidence in support of masking in a healthcare setting is overwhelming.

Redirect examination - Dr. Hu:

ln his redirect examination Dr. Hu confirmed that chiropractic offices are healthcare settings, and

that the more patients that are sben the higher the risk of COVID-19 transmission.

Rebuttal

ln his rebuttal Dr. Hu stated that while there was no criteria in the CMOH orders as to where a

person was to get an exemption, or who was to provide that exemption, it was broadly assumed

that people seeking exemptions would go to thqir family doctors.

Evidence of Dr. Halowski - Direct Examination:

Dr. Todd Halowski, is the Registrar of the College, and a practicing chiropractor. He stated that

the responsibility of a regulatory College is to protect the public and ensure professional

competence. He stated that the College has created Bylaws, a Standard of Practice and a Code of

Ethics as required by the Heolth Professions Act. He confirmed that all Standards of Practice are

meant to be mandatory

Dr. Halowski stated that shortly after the pandemic began, the CMOH effectively ordered all

healthcare services to be closed with the exception of urgent care. lt became rapidly apparent

that the members of the College did not have any experience or exposure to practicing in a

2L



697
pandemic. lt was a novel and difficult time. As a result, the College immediately worked on

preparing a directive to assist chiropractors in safely returning to work. During that time the

College referenced Alberta Health information, as well as other regulators inside and outside the

province, including the Alberta Federation of Regulated Health Professionals, the Federation of

Chiropractic Colleges, as well as the College's Competence Committee. Once the information was

compiled, the College then initiated member consultation, where all members had an

opportunity to review and provide comments on what had been developed. There were town

halls conducted to obtain input from members as well as a digital consultation, which allowed

members to provide their input. The digital platform was called ThoughtExchange. Approximately

25% of the membership actively provided feedback on that platform. Once allthat information

was obtained, the member consultation was deemed complete. The information collected was

then used to develop the Pandemic Directive. '

Dr. Halowski stated that during these consultations masking was identified as reducing the risk

of transmission of COVID-19.

The proposed Pandemic Directive was then forwarded to the government for review. The

government approved it without amendments, and, once approved and circulated, chiropractors

were able to return to practice. The College also developed and adopted Telehealth as a practice.

Telehealth did not permit hands-on care, but did allow chiropractors to consult with patients via

the telephone to instruct them on neuromuscular exercises that might assist them.

Dr. Halowski stated that CMOH Order L6-2O2O specifically required all regulated members of the

College, as established by the Health Professions Act, to comply with the attached Workplace

22



698
Guidance for Community Healthcare Settings. That document expressly provided that all staff

providing direct patient care, or those working in patient care areas, must wear a

surgical/procedural mask continuously at all times and in all areas of the workplace if they were

either involved in direct client/patient contact or could not maintain adequate physical distancing

of two metres from clients/patients and coworkers. lt went on to state that those requirements

need not be met if a regulated members college had published COVID-19 guidelines that are

substantially equivalent to the guidelines developed by Alberta Health. Essentially, the College

was able to use the documents created by Alberta Health Services, or they could create their own,

which had to be substantially equivalent.

The Pandemic Directive was subsequently amended to require the use of a face shield or eye

protection. This was in response to published information that eye protection could prevent the

spread of the COVID-L9 virus. The College also mandated that patients were required to be

masked when they attended at a chiropractor's clinic. The Directive further stated that non-

clinical employees who were unable to maintain a two-meter distance must be continually

masked, or a plexiglass or plastic barrier was to be installed. All these requirements were

mandatory

The standard required by AHS and adopted by the College required that all chiropractors wear a

surgical procedural mask continuously at all times in all areas of their workplace when involved

in direct patient contact or where they cannot maintain adequate physical distancing from

patients and coworkers. The minimal acceptable standard was surgical or procedural masks, and

the masks were to be worn at all times. Non-clinical staff were also to be masked whenever a

23



699
physical distance of two metres could not be maintained. An exemption was not considered

because chiropractors work face-to-face with their patients, and the mask was meant to be

protection for both the patient and the chiropractor. The Pandemic Directive also provided that

given the fluidity of the virus, if a discrepancy developed between the Pandemic Directive and

the Provincial Public Health Recommendations, the latter was to take precedence. Given that

various local authorities, including the City of Calgary, were introducing their own masking

mandates, the Pandemic Directive also stated that the chiropractors had a fiduciary responsibility

to follow all civil orders that originate from any level of government

Dr. Halowski testified that from the start of the pandemic, the College was very communicative

with its members. lt sent notices to members, sometimes twice a day, to make sure they had all

necessary information. He testified that the College is an electronic communicator, and one of

its requirements is that its members must have the capability to receive communications

electronically. Dr. Halowski indicated that he was confident that Dr. Wall would have received

the notices, as when Dr. Halowski did make contact with Dr. Wall, he did so using Dr, Wall's email

address. ln the process of developing the Pandemic Directive, Dr. Halowski stated that he

received upwards of 100 emails from members providing their input and comments. He stated

that he reviewed the comments provided. He noted that Dr. Wall did not provide any feedback.

He also confirmed that mandatory compliance was necessary in order for a chiropractor to

practice. The notice to members stated that if members had any questions they were to contact

the College's office. He stated that the College was always very open and communicative with

members as questions came up. He reiterated that masking was mandatory, and that this was

made clear in the subsequent notice to members dated December 9,2O2O. He also made it clear

24



700
that the College was there to support the members, and that the College was available to be

contacted by email or telephone

When developing the Pandemic Directive, the College considered a masking exemption; however,

that exemption was never adopted, as chiropractors were unable to maintain a physical distance

of two metres with patients. As COVID-19 was a new, novel and risky virus, and given that

chiropractors are close-contact-body-workers, the College ultimately determined that masking

would be mandatory. Dr. Halowski funher stated that every Health Professions Act College

adopted mandatory masking. Further, the additional social distancing and plexiglass barrier

requirements were consistent with the approach adopted by numerous other public agencies

and regulatory bodies

Dr. Halowski testified that on December L,202?he received an email from AHS stating that they

had received a complaint that Dr. Wall and his administrative staff were not masked, and had

been within two metres of a patient. When Dr. Halowski received the complaint, he was

concerned that Dr. Wall was not following the Pandemic Directive. He then spoke to Dr. Wall,

who stated that he was mask-exempted as per CMOH 30-2020. Dr. Wall was then asked to

provide information as to which exemption he was claiming. Dr. Wallthen confirmed that he was

not masking and did not intend to mask. Dr. Wall stated that he did not think COVID-19 was

serious, and that the College was overreacting by instituting the Pandemic Directive. Dr. Wall

stated that he had briefly worn a mask, but then decided he did not want to wear it, as he did

not feel comfortable when he did. Dr. Wall also commented that COVID-19 was not real, and that

he was not comfortable wearing a mask. Dr. Halowski did not recall Dr. Wall making any

25



701
comments with respect to any religious exemptions. There was no request for any

accommodation made. Dr. Wall also told Dr. Halowski that as the City of Calgary bylaws allowed

him to be exempt, he was no longer required to wear a mask. Dr. Halowskithen advised Dr. Wall

that the Pandemic Directive required masking. Dr. Halowski also stated that since the onset of

COVID-19, two members of the College had passed away as a result of COVID-L9, and many of

the College's members had contracted COVID-19.

Cross-examination - Dr. Halowski:

ln cross-examination Dr. Halowski acknowledged that adjustments and manipulations cannot be

conducted over the phone, or when a chiropractor is more than two metres away from their

patient. Dr. Halowski confirmed that when the mandatory masking was included in the Pandemic

Directive in May, 202O, and when the College revised the Pandemic Directive in January, 202I' it

did not consult with any scientist independent of the Alberta government. Dr. Halowski also

acknowledged that Dr. Wall did not contravene Section 2 of the CMOH Order 16-2020, as the

College had developed its own COVID-L9 guidelines as required by the CMOH Order 16-2020. He

also acknowledged that none of the Pandemic Directives required chiropractors to enforce mask-

wearing bytheir patients. The December2,2O2O conversation between Dr. Halowskiand Dr. Wall

was next reviewed. Dr. Halowski disagreed that he told Dr. Wall to either wear a mask or sit out

from practicing.

26



Redirect Examination - Dr. Halowski:

702
ln redirect, Dr. Halowski stated that the College had no jurisdiction over patients, and that

patients may be asymptomatic when they attend at a chiropractor's clinic.

The Tribunal Panel then questioned Dr. Halowski. He confirmed that the ThoughExchange forum

was anonymous. He also stated that he had contacted AHS with respect to the many potential

mask exemptions that commenced in August, 2020 and continued through December of 2O2O.

Mr. Lawrence (Complaints Director) - Direct Examination:

Mr. Lawrence explained that the College's regulatory function, and its obligation under the

Health Professions Act, was to establish Codes of Ethics, Standards of practice, policies and

Directives for members to follow. He stated that in his role as a Complaints Director he is

responsible for holding members accountable if they fail to comply. He stated that all regulated

health professionals have a mandatory obligation to comply with Section 3 of the Heotth

Professions Act.

ln the Spring of 202O, a precondition to the reopening of chiropractic clinics was the

implementation of a Pandemic Directive approved by AHS. The Pandemic Directive that was

developed by the College required chiropractors and clinic staff to be masked at all times while

providing patient care. They were also required to social distance, and to install plexiglass barriers

The Pandemic Directive did not provide any exemption for masking when a chiropractor was

within two metres of their patient. He stated that as subsequently set out in CMOH Order 38-

2O2O and CMOH Order 42-2020, there were exemptions provided for individuals who had

27



703
medical conditions that prevented them from wearing a mask, which were, in his view, not

applicable to Dr. Wall. He stated that Dr. Wall never asked the College for either a masking

exemption or any accommodations.

Mr. Lawrence stated that on December 2,2O2O, he received a letter from Dr. Halowski relating

to a complaint made against Dr. Wall. Mr. Lawrence then forwarded a letter to Dr. Wall stating

that the College had received a complaint. The basis of that complaint was that Dr. Wall was in

breach of CMOH Orders, Standards of Practice, as well as the Pandemic Directive. As Dr. Wall was

not prepared to comply with those requirements. Mr. Lawrence proceeded with the complaint

Dr. Wall then inquired if there were any alternatives. Mr. Lawrence advised Dr. Wall that he could

comply with the Pandemic Directive and wear a mask. Dr. Wall stated that he had an exemption

to masking, and that he would not mask. Dr. Wall then stated that he had attempted to mask,

but had feelings of anxiety and claustrophobia, and took the position that he was exempt. As a

result of Dr. Wall's conduct, Mr. Lawrence made a request for an interim suspension to the

College's Council. He did so as he believed there was a danger in having Dr. Wall treat members

of the public without a mask. ln addition, there was no plexiglass barrier as required, the staff

were not masking as required, and Dr. Wall was not following the Pandemic Protocols of the

College and AHS when treating patients.

The College's Council refused the interim suspension request. lnstead, they placed conditions on

Dr. Wall's practice permit, Those conditions were

(1.) Dr. Wall was required to inform each patient that he has a medical exemption from

the public health order;

28



704
(2) Dr. Wall would obtain signed written confirmation from each patient agreeing to be

seen and treated by Dr. Wall without his wearing a mask or face shield;

(3) Copies of these written confirmations were to be sent to the Complaints Director by

5pm on Friday each week;

( ) Dr. Wall was to direct any staff assisting in his office that they are to comply with the

current orders including masking, physical barriers and social distancing; and

(5) Dr. Wall must maintain a log of screening questions asked and answered by all patients,

as well as daily screening of staff and himself

Mr. Lawrence also testified that AHS had issued a closure order to Dr. Wall's clinic. ln order to

reopen, AHS required Dr. Wall to immediately rgask when treating patients, required patients to

be masked, required staff to be masked, and required that Dr. Wall install a plexiglass barrier in

his office

Mr. Lawrence advised that in discussing the complaint with Dr. Wall, Dr. Wall stated that the

masking requirement was a human rights violation, and that he was exempt from wearing a mask.

Dr. Wall told him that COVID-19 had a high recovery rate, and he did not believe he would be

endangering anyone. Dr. Wall told Mr. Lawrence that he initially wore a mask, but in June of

2020 he decided to discontinue wearing one, as he believed that the facemask was causing him

anxiety and symptoms of claustrophobia. He attempted wearing a face shield, and found that the

same symptoms continued, and that it interfered with his discussions with his patients. He stated

that his patients were understanding of his position. He stated that he had not received any

29



705
diagnosis of his medical condition, and the decision not to mask was made by himself. He also

stated that his son, the only other person working at the clinic, was not required to mask either,

and Dr. Wall did not think it necessary to install any barriers. He stated that his son is young and

healthy, and did not believe he was at risk for COVID-19. Dr. Wall further stated that CMOH Order

38-2020 provided for an exemption to mask wearing. Dr. Wall stated that while he stopped

wearing a mask in June there was no need to talk to his patients about the dangers involved when

masks are not worn, as he believed that his patients were aware of these dangers. He advised

that he received no treatment for his claimed medical condition, and provided no communication

to the College. He made no mention of any religious beliefs or religious exemptions.

Mr, Lawrence then reviewed the two medical notes produced by Dr. Wall and authored by Dr

Salem. Those notes stated that Dr. Wall had anxiety about masking, and was concerned about

his inability to breath. The notes also stated that Dr. Salem conducted no tests, and had no

diagnostic information

Mr. Lawrence next discussed the concept of ungovernability, and stated that members of the

College are 'ungovernable', where they purposefully fail to comply with the requirements to

practice

Mr. Lawrence - Cross-examination

ln cross-examination, Mr. Lawrence acknowledged that when he spoke to Dr. Wall in early

December, 2020 there was a discussion as to the effect of the applicability of human rights. Mr

Lawrence also stated that while Dr. Wall could choose not to wear a mask in his personal life, if

30



706
Dr. Wall refused to comply with the College's requirements then the College would take action

ln response to being questioned on Dr. Wall's comments with respect to the efficacy of masking,

Mr. Lawrence stated that neither patient safety nor compliance was up for debate, and that if Dr

Wall refused to comply, further action would be taken. Mr. Lawrence acknowledged that in

response to the request for an interim suspension, the College identified that Dr. Wall had a

medical condition that prevented him from wearing a mask or face shield, and as a result Dr. Wall

has practiced since that time in a manner that does not comply with the Pandemic Directive. He

also acknowledged that following the rescind notice issued by AHS, Dr. Wall was permitted to

see his patients without masking

Mr, Lawrence confirmed that the conditions placed on Dr. Wall's practice by the College did not

require his patients to be masked. He also acknowledged that he had no evidence that any of Dr.

Wall's patients were harmed. He acknowledged that the complaint made against Dr. Wall was

made to Alberta Health Services, not to the College. He also confirmed that there has never been

any complaint made to the College about Dr. Wall's conduct. Mr. Lawrence stated that Dr. Wall

never asked him about any process with respect to addressing any human rights concerns and

that Dr. Wall also never asked for an exemption or accommodation

Evidence of Dr. Wall - Direct Examination:

Dr. Wall has been a practicing chiropractor in Alberta since early 1987. Since that time, he

estimates that he has treated thousands of patients. ln March of 202O, the Alberta government

ordered chiropractors to stop practicing unless there was an emergency. Chiropractors were

permitted to resume practice in May of 2O2O, provided that they follow the requirements set out

31



707
in the Pandemic Directive issued by the College. Dr. Wall testified that he understood that the

Pandemic Directive required that Chiropractors wear a surgical style mask when treating patients

He stated that he did not view the Pandemic Directive as being optional

Dr. Wall stated that he initially wore a mask, but in June of 2020 he decided that, based upon his

mental concerns, it was no longer productive for him to do so. He stopped wearing a mask at the

end of lune, 2020. He then attempted to wear a face shield, but experienced symptoms similar

to those he experienced while he was wearing a mask. He did not obtain a doctor's note that

would provide him with any medical exemption, nor did he believe that one was necessary. He

stated that he did not understand the Pandemic Directive to require him to contact the College

if he could not wear a mask. He was of the view that it was a private concern between him and

his physician. He also stated that since the Spring of 2020, he felt an additional concern, mainly

that his religious beliefs precluded him from wearing a mask. He stated that the Conadian Charter

of Rights and Freedoms and the Alberto Humon Rights Acf protected the expression of his

religiously-held beliefs, and guards anyone from discriminating against him based on those

beliefs. He stated that his face is sacred, and sacred to God, and for him to cover his face would

put a barrier between him and Jesus. Being required to wear a mask by someone who is in a

position of authority when he didn't exhibit any symptoms or have any upper respiratory issue,

results in him fearing man and not God. He also stated that when he has to wear a mask it violates

his life of faith. He stated that he believed that wearing a mask harmed him and his patients, and

that it was his obligation to educate his patients to advise them of the specific harm of mandatory

masking. lf he did not advise his patients of the harms of masking he would not be obtaining

informed consent from them.

32



708
Dr. Wall stated that when he stopped wearing a mask most of his patients made no comment.

Those that did ask about masking were told by him that he had an exemption. He stated that 99%

of those patients were understanding and not concerned.

Dr. Wall confirmed that his chiropractic office was closed by AHS in December of 2020. He further

confirmed that AHS rescinded the closure order in January of 202t. He stated that AHS permitted

him to continue treating patients without the need to wear a mask. Dr. Wall referred to CMOH

Order 38-2020, which provided for a medicalexemption to masking.

When he was approached by the College in Decembe r 2020, Dr. Wall advised them of his mental

concerns, and that he believed he was exempt from masking. He stated that he mentioned

accommodation and human rights. He also stated that Mr. Lawrence told him that while he

cannot be compelled to wear a mask, his refusal to wear a mask would result in the College

issuing a request for the suspension of his practice. Dr. Wall subsequently obtained a doctor's

note that stated that when he wore a mask he experienced feelings of anxiety that mirrored

claustrophobia. He said his concentration level had decreased, thereby preventing him from

providing the best possible care to his patients. Dr. Wall stated that the College subsequently

permitted him to continue to practice without wearing a mask, although there were further

conditions and restrictions placed upon him. Dr. Wall confirmed that when he spoke to Mr

Lawrence in January of 202L, he did not mention his religious beliefs, but rather focused on his

mental concerns relating to anxiety

33



709
Dr. Wall indicated that his son worked in his office from the Spring of 2O2O up until December of

2020. While his son was working at his office he did not wear a mask, as his son had religious

concerns and beliefs that were similar to his own.

Dr. Wall then explained the nature of his work, and confirmed that it involves physical

manipulation that cannot be provided from a distance or over the phone or by the patients

themselves. He stated that he did not believe that Telehealth was effective in his practice, and

that he could not properly care for his patients using Telehealth. He stated that his ability to

practice and earn an income would be severely impacted if he could only provide Telehealth' He

also stated that he does not require that his patients wear a mask in his office, because he

believes that each of them has a responsibility to make their own health choices. He stated that

requiring patients to wear a mask would cause harm, as it would decrease oxygen levels, increase

carbon dioxide levels, and result in imminent physical harm and danger. He also stated that he is

not aware of any circumstance where COVID-19 was transmitted in his office. He stated that his

practice is to treat patients one-by-one, so that no other person is in the office other than him

and his patient at anygiven time. He further stated that he pre-screens his patients, and if they

exhibit any symptoms, they are not treated and are required to reschedule. lt is his belief that

AHS has generally gotten it wrong with respect to masking and other COVID-19 restrictions. He

said that wearing masks does not in any way protect the public, that the College has collaborated

with Alberta Health Services, and that the College wants to please authority.

34



Cross-examination - Dr. Wall: 710
ln cross-examination, Dr. Wall stated that he was in agreement that practicing chiropractic is a

privilege and not a right. Dr. Wallthen acknowledged that Section 3 of the Heolth Professions Act

enabled the College to establish numerous mandatory requirements, and that until he decided

not to follow the Pandemic Directive he had followed all prior College requirements. Each of the

five charges were then reviewed with Dr. Wall. He did not dispute any of the facts and agreed

with those facts that formed the basis of each of the charges. He acknowledged that in June,

2020 there was no CMOH Order in force that allowed for any masking exemptions, and that those

exemptions only came into effect in Novembe r of 202O. He indicated that he was aware that the

Government of Alberta's staged COVID-19 relaunch created an obligation of the College to

establish a Pandemic Directive, and that it was,mandatory that he comply with that Pandemic

Directive. He further acknowledged that he received the Pandemic Directive from the College in

early May, 2020, and understood that the Pandemic Directive was a binding direction by the

College. He also acknowledged that he did not follow that Directive when it came to having his

staff continuously mask, or installing a plexiglass barrier, and that he was not wearing surgical

procedure masks when involved in direct patient contact. He also acknowledged that, as he was

not wearing a mask, he was not following the donning and doffing requirements for PPE set out

in the Pandemic Directive. He then stated that notwithstanding that he very strongly disagreed

with the AHS Closure Order, he did comply with it and proceeded to close his clinic. He stated

that he took issue with the science that the CMOH order relied upon when ordering masking and

social distancing. He further confirmed that he was prepared to respect the authority of the AHS

35



711
Order. He also confirmed that when he reopened his office he failed to comply with the

conditions set out in the AHS Order by failing to ensure that all patients continuously wore a mask.

Dr. Wall next stated that he did not need to obtain any diagnosis from a healthcare provider in

order to claim a medical exemption. He stated that his symptoms of anxiety and claustrophobia

were very apparent to him. He also acknowledged that the CMOH Orders that allowed for

exemptions from masking did not take place until November of 2A2O, and that he first stopped

wearing a mask in June of 2O2O. He stated that in January of 202L he advised the College that he

was of the view that any policy of the College that did not permit exceptions to mask wearing

were unreasonable. He confirmed that he never asked the College for an exemption. He then

stated that he was of the view that the Pandemic Directive implicitly permitted an exception for

legitimate mental health conditions. He acknowledged that he came to that conclusion on his

own. He stated that he was absolutely confident that his failure to mask posed absolutely no risk

to his patients. He also verified that his son did not have a doctor's note providing any medical

exemption. Dr. Wall also confirmed that he was not in compliance with reopening requirement

number 4, which stated that all patients treated by him must continuously wear a mask, unless

they are able to provide evidence that they have been provided an exemption'

Patient Witnesses - Jarvis Kosowan, Charles Russell. David Warren Hilsabeck:

Three of Dr. Wall's patients were called as witnesses. They each stated that they did not feel

threatened by Dr. Wall not wearing a mask, and that the treatments he provided could only be

provided in person. They also provided their opinions on masking, and on whether or not Dr. Wall

had acted appropriately or inappropriately. These witnesses also provided their views on the

36



712
efficacy of masking, survival rates of COVID-L9 infections, and the legitimacy of the masking

mandates.

Evidence of Dr. Gauthier:

Dr. Gauthier is a chiropractor who practices in Alberta. He testified that he provides hands-on

treatments, and that Telehealth would not be effective for him. He confirmed that he thought of

his chiropractic office as a healthcare setting, and stated that there are different types of

healthcare settings. Dr. Gauthier indicated that he was aware that the College had mandated

that all chiropractors must wear masks when treating patients, and that he had complied with

that mandatory requirement.

Direct Examination - Chris Schafer:

Mr. Schafer is an Occupational Health Consultant, and has been working in this field since 1994

He stated that his primary specialty is respirator fit testing and training, and that he was familiar

with occupational health and safety legislation and atmospheric hazards. He has also performed

tests on non-medical masks, as well as medical and procedural/surgical masks that had

commonly been in use since the beginning of COVID-19. Mr. Schafer was subsequently qualified

to give evidence regarding any harm associated with medical masking.

Mr. Schafertestified that priorto COVID-19 there was a requirement that masks be fit tested

Following COVID-19 there is no fit testing. He stated that if there is an insufficient air supply while

wearing a mask a build-up of excess carbon dioxide will occur. He then described the common

forms of masks, being tighter fitting N-95 and looser fitting blue surgical masks. He stated that it

37



713
is important to be able to breathe freely, and if there is a restriction on breathing, exhaled carbon

dioxide levels will build-up. He indicated that common symptoms of excess carbon dioxide levels

are headaches, nausea, dizziness, lack of coordination and sometimes impaired hearing and

vision. A person can also feel as if they are faint and/or overheating. He stated that the Alberta

standards for the maximum exposure to indoor carbon dioxide is one-thousand parts per million

over a twenty-four hour period. He stated that wearing a mask resulted in levels of carbon dioxide

exceeding five-thousand to ten-thousand parts per million within a minute. He testified that the

normaloxygen level in the air is 19.5 to2O.9%, and that when it drops below L9.5% it becomes

dangerous to health. He stated that wearing a mask resulted in an oxygen drop between the

mouth and the person's mask or nose to below L9.5% within the first twenty seconds. He stated

that if anyone breathes air under any circumstances that is less than L9.5% oxygen, a person's

health will be harmed. Anyone working in an environment of 19.5% or lower oxygen must be

equipped with a source of clean air.

Mr. Schafer stated that anyone wearing a procedural mask will create a hazardous environment

for their body. lf they were working in a space with less than 19.5% oxygen they would have to

be evacuated from that space. He indicated that people wearing masks will have their oxygen

drop below L9.5o/o in two minutes. He noted that while people do wear masks for hours on end

without passing out, that does not mean that harm is not being done. He stated that he found it

strange that Alberta Health Services would mandate masks without consulting with respiratory

professionals. He stated that medical doctors are not certified in respiratory protection because

they do not regularly deal with respirators. He stated that he disagreed with Dr. Hu's comment

that there were no known harmful side effects to masking.

38



Cross-examination - Ch ris Schafer:

714
During cross-examination Mr. Schafer acknowledged that individuals having a pre-existing

medical condition that impacted their ability to wear a respirator should first attend upon a

doctor. Mr. Schafer then confirmed that he ,had not been involved in developing the

government's response to COVID-19, and that he was not qualified to provide an opinion with

respect to the possible benefits that could arise from masking. He also confirmed that his views

on mandatory masking were inconsistent with the Canadian public health agencies. He further

confirmed that the testing that he conducted and reviewed was not included in his Expert's

Report.

When asked if he would wear a mask if the regulatory body he belonged to required it, Mr.

Schafer stated that he would not, as he viewed them as breathing barriers. However, Mr. Schafer

stated he would wear an actual respirator, which is something that is far and beyond a mask

Direct Examination - Dr. Dans:

Dr. Dang was qualified as an expert in the area of respirology, and the efficacy of masking and

related measures. He testified that he has an outpatient respirology practice in Medicine Hat,

and manages a pulmonary function lab. This lab conducts various breathing tests. Dr. Dang

reviewed the SARS pandemic in 2003 and compared it to the COVID-19 pandemic. He stated that

there was no masking mandated for SARS, and that the masking that is recommended for COVID-

19 is based on socio-political reasons and not scientific reasons. He disagreed with Dr. Hu's

assessment that masks are highly effective in preventing the transmission of COVID-19 in

39



715
healthcare settings. Dr. Dang stated that the only randomized controlled trial that considered

COVID-19 and masking determined that there was no effectiveness in wearing a mask. He also

stated that jurisdictions that required masking, compared to jurisdictions that did not require

masking, had no noticeable differences in the transmission of COVID-19. He also stated that, from

his observations, there is no difference between his patients that did wear masks and his patients

that did not wear masks and their contracting COVID-19. He stated that he did not believe that

masking made any impact on transmission of the COVID-L9 virus. He disagreed with Dr. Hu's

statement that the efficacy of masking on disease transmission is beyond doubt. He stated that

masks have the potential to cause harm to individuals, depending on a number of factors

including how the mask is worn, how often it is changed, and the physical condition of the

individual wearing the mask. Masks also cause a reduction in pulmonary function by L5-20%' He

stated that this reduction would not be noticeable unless you were physically exerting yourself

or had some other lung or health issue. He also disagreed with the Thoracic Society's statement

that there is no evidence for masking impacting underlying lung conditions. He stated that a lack

of evidence does not mean that an issue is not there. He also stated that there are medically valid

reasons for not wearing a mask.

Dr. Dang - Cross-examination:

ln cross-examination, Dr. Dang agreed that if an individual intends to seek a medical exemption,

the best course of action would be to obtain an exemption from their physician. He also stated

that it would generally be the case that someone claiming a medical exemption would attend

40



716
upon their physician, and that it would not be appropriate for someone to self-diagnose their

own exemption for masking.

Dr. Dang also confirmed that he had complied with the CPSA's masking requirements, as well as

Alberta Health Services' mandatory masking requirements. He indicated that he obeys the law,

even though he may not agree with it.

Direct Examination - Dr. Bridal:

Dr. Bridal testified that he obtained a Bachelor of Science Degree in Biomedical Sciences, a Master

of Science Degree in lmmunology, and a PhD in lmmunology. He then completed a six year, post-

doctoralfellowship to become certified as a Viral lmmunologist. He is now an Associate Professor

of Viral lmmunologyatthe Universityof Guelph. He indicated that heteachesveterinarystudents

in the field of General lmmunology. Dr. Bridal is not a medical doctor, and he is also not a member

of any regulatory college. He also confirmed that he has not worked with the Ontario Chief

Medical Officer of Health.

Dr. Bridal testified that the COVID-19 virus has mutated over time, and while the Omicron Variant

is more contagious, the infection fatality rate has diminished. He estimated that the infection

fatality rate at the time he gave his testimony in January ,2022 was below O.15%. He stated that

masks are helpful at stopping large droplets, but are not useful where the wearer is

asymptomatic. He stated that the surgical masks worn to prevent the spread of the COVID-19

virus are very good at trapping large particles, but are not very effective at stopping aerosols. The

reason for this is that there are gaps in the masks where exhaled air escapes without being

4L



717
filtered. He also stated that early indications suggested a LO% fatality rate from COVID-19. That

supported the declaring of a pandemic however, with subsequent variants and further data, and

an infection fatality rate of O.!5%o,COVlD-l-9 is not an issue of pandemic proportions. He states

that he agreed 100% with Dr. Hu that there is efficacy of masking with symptomatic individuals

however, masking of asymptomatic individuals does not stop the spread of aerosols, He cited a

study in China which indicated that there was no substantial evidence of asymptomatic

transmission of COVID-19. He stated that asymptomatic transmission was not the driver of the

pandemic. He testified that healthy people do not transmit the virus, and that almost all

transmission of COVID-19 occurs when people are symptomatic, as without symptoms there is

an insufficient quantity of virus to cause infection. He stated that it does not make logical sense

to require an asymptomatic health care worker and an asymptomatic patient to wear masks. ln

addition to the ineffectiveness of stopping ae/osols, masking also has the potential to create

harm, as failure to follow proper protocols when putting on, taking off, or touching the mask

while being worn, will contribute to the spread of the virus. There is also the harm caused by

inhibiting communication between individuals. An additional harm is that failing to expose

individuals, particularly children, to the microbial world risks harming their immune system

development. Additionally, mask wearing increases carbon dioxide levels, which creates a

condition of very mild hypoxia.

42



Cross-Examination - Dr. Bridal:

During cross-examination, Dr. Bridal acknowledged that his position at the University of Guelph

is in the Patho-Biology Department at the Ontario Veterinary College. He stated that much of his

teaching work is to the students enrolled in the Veterinary Medicine Program

Dr. Bridal acknowledged that the University of Guelph had implemented masking policies, and

he confirmed that he did respect the masking policies and adhered to them.

When asked by a panel member when Dr. Bridal became aware that the infection fatality rate

was below LYo, he indicated that by January, 2022 it was apparent that the virus was not as fatal

as originally anticipated

Direct Examination - Dr. Warren

Dr. Warren graduated from the University of Western Ontario in 2005, and completed two

fellowships in lnfectious Diseases and Medical Microbiology. He then completed three years of

residence at the University of Ottawa in lnternal Medicine. As an infectious disease specialist he

treats patients with diseases caused by viruses, bacteria, parasites and fungus. As a Medical

Microbiologist he manages the Microbiology Laboratory in his hospital. He also is enrolled in a

Master's of Science and Epidemiology Program at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical

Medicine. He has an adjunct appointment at McMaster University as a Clinical Assistant Professor.

He is also a member of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario

Dr. Warren stated that the infection fatality rate varies by age, but as of January of 2022 it was

approaching that of influenza. He stated that the Omicron Variant is less severe, but is more

718

43



719
infectious. Dr. Warren testified that in early April, 2020 he was of the view that COVID-l'9 was

going to become endemic, and that attempts to completely stop the virus were futile. He

indicated that symptomatic transmission is twenty-five times greater than asymptomatic

transmission.

Dr. Warren acknowledged that his workplace requires him to wear a mask even when he is

asymptomatic, and that he understands that the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario

requires him to wear a mask even when he is asymptomatic. He indicated that he does wear a

mask, even though there is no evidence that would support constant mask wearing. He stated

that masking has no effect on transmission, and that he is not aware of any literature that

supports Dr. Hu's conclusion that every country that has imposed masking has experienced a

decrease in transmission of COVID-19. He stated that the best predictor of COVID-l9 is

population weighted density, meaning that areas that have a higher population will have a

greater number of cases per capita than those areas that have a low population density.

Dr. Warren testified that asymptomatic transmission was rare or negligible, and that

symptomatic transmission occurred at a rate twenty times higher than asymptomatic

transmission, He then stated that the virus spreads as a result of population density, the cyclical

pattern of the virus, and the age-structure of the population. There is no evidence that physical

distancing reduces transmission of COVID-19. He referenced a study from Bangladesh, which

showed that cloth masks had no impact on the spread of COVID-19. Surgical masks used in that

study showed a small impact, which Dr. Warren identified as a-risk reduction of O.9o/o. He then

extrapolated that in the general population, which showed that L100 people would have to wear

44



720
masks for eight weeks to prevent one infection. Dr. Warren also testified that there is no

relevance as to whether or not an individual works in a healthcare or non-healthcare setting,

what is relevant is symptomatic people interacting with others. He also commented on the

concept of "medical reversal" being a phenomenon where assumptions become entrenched and,

once so entrenched, the practices based upon those assumptions do not change. Dr. Warren

stated that this explains why universal masking has not been abandoned, even in the face of

evidence that it is futile. Dr. Warren also alluded to political influence on mask policies.

Dr. Warren - Cross-Examination

During cross-examination Dr. Warren indicated that in April and May of 2020, during the first

wave of COVID-l9, the infection fatality rate was its highest. He also confirmed that COVID-19 is

definitely a pandemic. He agreed that it was up to the government to make decisions and orders

in response to the pandemic. He also indicated that even though he would disagree with the

requirement of masking, if his regulator or a hospital required it he would mask.

Submissions of the Collese:

The College accepts that they have the onus of establishing the facts that underlie in the charges,

and to prove that unprofessional conduct occurred. The College states that the facts are not in

dispute; there is no question that Dr. Wall was acting contrary to the conditions of the Pandemic

Directive. ln determining whether or not the Complaints Director has established that

unprofessional conduct occurred, reference is to be made to the Heolth Professions Act, the

College's Standard of Practice and Code of Ethics, and the CMOH Orders requiring masking. The

45



721
College maintains that practicing is a privilege not a right, and that Dr. Wall committed

unprofessional conduct when he decided not to comply with the Pandemic Directive. The College

also emphasized that Section 80 of the Health Profession Act establishes the powers of the

Tribunal, specifically that the Tribunal is to decide whether or not Dr. Wall's conduct is

unprofessional.

The College maintains that the issue to be determined is whether a regulated professional is

allowed to decide which professional responsibilities are applicable to him. They argue this

hearing deals with the issue of compliance, and that, pursuant to Section 80(1) of the HPA, the

Tribunal only has authority to make a determination as to whether or not Dr. Wall has committed

unprofessional conduct. The Hearing Tribunal has no authority to strike down the Pandemic

Directive, or to create and/or set any policy for the College

The College noted that the various applicable CMOH orders did not provide any exemptions for

masking until November 24,2020. This was subsequent to Dr. Wall's decision in June of 2020 to

self-diagnose and unilaterally determine that he ought to be exempt from masking on the basis

of a medical condition.

The College stated that the City of Calgary Bylaw 26M2O2O, dated August !,2020 (Exhibit D-11)

states that a masking requirement does not apply where the person has an underlying medical

condition or disability which inhibits their ability to wear a face covering. That same Bylaw goes

on to state that nothing in the Bylaw relieves a person from complying with any Federal or

Provincial applicable law and/or regulation, or any requirement of any lawful permit order or

license. The College argues that the CMOH Order 16-10, and the College's Pandemic Directive

46



722
supersede the Calgary bylaw, and the masking exemption contained within it. The College also

made reference to the various Alberta Health Services' exhibits, and maintained that these do

not set out an exemption for Alberta Health Services health care workers, and further note that

no contrary evidence in this regard has been tendered by Dr. Wall

The various Alberta Health Services exhibits repeatedly and consistently reference the

requirement for continued masking, as well as the efficacy of that masking. The consistent theme

throughout is that masking protects others and the wearer from the spread of COVID-19

The AHS documents assist in establishing the context and contents of the Pandemic Directive

issued by the College. CMOH Order t6-20 directed that the College's Pandemic Directive include

mandatory masking, social-distancing and plexiglass barriers, CMOH Order L6-2O also required

that every college was to provide the CMOH with a copy of their COVID-19 guidelines, and that

those guidelines were to be substantially equivalent to the guidelines set out in the Workplace

Guide for Community Healthcare Settings. The College maintains that they had a legal

requirement to create a Pandemic Directive and this, among other things, required the wearing

of a mask. The CMOH Order L6-20 contained no exemption for the face-masking requirement

The College states that Dr. Wall had a responsibility to ensure that his clinic and staff complied

with the Pandemic Directive. Dr. Wall expressly acknowledged that obligation in his testimony. lt

is very clear that Dr. Wall did not follow the College's Pandemic Directive. lt is also very clear that

Dr. Wall never asked the College for an exemption of any type when he stopped masking. Dr

Wall expressly acknowledged that he had an obligation to notify the College of his concerns in

the Pandemic Directive. Dr. Wall indicated that he did not think it necessary to advise the College

47



723
of his failure to wear a mask and his self-diagnosed medical condition, As a result of his failure to

communicate with the College, the College was unable to accommodate his claimed medical

condition. The College maintains that Dr. Wall, as a member of a regulated professional

organization, had an overriding obligation to advise them that he was no longer complying with

the CMOH Directive.

On Decemb er 8,2020, AHS closed Dr. Wall's clinic. There is no evidence that Dr. Wall made any

effort to contest or appeal that closure order. A reopen notice was subsequently issued by AHS

on January 5, 2O2!. As a result of the reopen notice, Dr. Wall's clinic was reopened on the

following conditions:

(1.)the College's Pandemic Directive must be followed;

(2.)the relounch plan requirements must be implemented;

(3.) explicit patient consent must be obtoined to proceed with booking and services and

patients must be odvised thot he would not be masked; and

H) att patients being treated must continuolly wear o mask that covers their mouth and

nose during their visits to his clinic (obsent any legitimote exemptions).

Dr. Wall's failure to comply with the terms of the reopening notice are not only a breach of Dr.

Wall's legal obligations, but also his professional obligations. Dr. Wall's decision to ignore this

legally binding requirement indicates his failure to satisfy his broader ethical responsibilities as a

professional.

48



724
Dr. Wall also expressly acknowledged the factual basis for each of the charges as indicated by the

following extracts of evidence:

MR. MAXSTON: Okay. l'm going to take you through each of the charges, and I want to be

very clear. l'm not osking you to make admissions of unprofessional conduct; l'm more
interested in the facts in the charges are the factual foundation. So Charge 7 says: (as reod)
Beginning on or about June of 2020 ond at the Wall Chiroproctic Clinic: (a), [you] failed to
use PPE, specifically failed to weor a mosk; (b), failed to observe the required 2 metres of
social distancing when unmasked; (c), until on or obout December 2020, failed to hove a

plexiglass borrier ot the clinic reception and/or did not require potients to mask; [ond then]
when he interacted with potients, members of the public, or both. Do you dispute ony of
those focts?

DR. WALL: No, ldo not.

MR. MAXSTON: And if we go to Chorge Number 2: (as read) Beginning on or obout June

of 2020 in the clinic, one or more staff members of the clinic, the staff, failed to use PPE,

specifically stoff failed to weor mosks; (b), failed to observe the required 2 metres of social
distancing when unmosked and/or, (c), did not require patients to be masked when they
interacted with patients, members of the public, or both. Again, l'm not asking you to
make an admission of unprofessional conduct, but do you occept those facts?

MR. KITCHEN: Mr. Maxston, I don't mind the question, but, in general, t'm going to osk
that you break it up for eoch one of these pieces.

MR. MAXSTON: Sure, l'm happy to do thot.

MR. KITCHEN: Okay, thonk you

MR. MAXSTON: Yeah.

MR. MAXSTON: Let's go to 2(a), do you dispute those facts, Dr. Wall?

DR. WALL: No, I do not.

MR. MAXSTON: And similarly for 2(b)?

DR. WALL: No, ldo not.

MR. MAXSTON: And similarly for 2(c)?

49



725
DR. WALL: No, ldo not.

MR. MAXSTON: Okay, we go to Chorge Number 3: (as read) Beginning on or obout June

2020, Dr. Wall treated patients while not weoring o mosk ond/or did not require patients

to be mosked, ond, (a), he did not advise patients of the increased risk of transmission of

COVTD-L? due to masks being worn. Do you agree with thot factually?

DR. WALL: Like "masks not being worn" I believe is -

MR. MAXSTON: Yeah

DR. WALL: whot you meant?

MR. MAXSTON: Yeah, sorry, yeoh.

DR. WALL: That's correct.

MR. MAXSTON: And (b): (as reod) He advised potients that mosks were not required. ls

that factu a I ly a ccu rote?

DR. WALL: Correct.

MR. MAXSTON: And (c): (as reod) He advised patients that wearing masks hod no effect

concerning transmission of COVID-79. ls that accurate factually?

DR. WALL: Correct.

MR. MAXSTON: So if we go to Chorge Number 4:' (as read) Beginning on or about lune of

2020, Dr. Watt foited to chart and/or failed to properly chort communications with his

patients obout, (a), him not weoring a mask. Would you agree with that?

DR. WALL: Yes, lwould.

MR. MAXSTON: (b):. (os reod) His stoff not weoring masks. Would you agree with that?

DR. WALL: Yes, lwould.

MR. MAXSTON: And (c):' (as reod) His potients not wearing mosks?

DR. WALL: Yes, lwould.

50



726
MR. MAxsroN: And then, finally, Qharge Number 5:. (os read) Beginning on or obout June

of 2020, Dr. Wall and/or the staff, (a), failed to follow CMOH orders regarding masking

and COVID-79. Do you accept that factually?

DR. WALL: Yes.

MR. MAXSTON: And (b): (as read) Failed to follow the ACAC Pandemic Practice Directive

Do you agree with that factuolly?

DR. WALL: Portially, but, yes, with respect to masking; is that what that (b) would be?

MR. MAXSTON: Yeah, lwould - y€s, I think, in fairness to you, l'm thinking of masking,

sociol distancing, ond the plexiglass barrier.

DR. WALL: Correct, yeah.

The College maintained that the evidence of the three lay witnesses' testimony was not relevant

and that despite whatever beliefs or opinions the lay witnesses may hold, their evidence bears

no relevance to the question of whether or not Dr. Wall should be found guilty of the five charges

before the Tribunal.

The College then reviewed the evidence of the experts called by Dr. Wall. Each of Mr. Schafer, Dr.

Bridal, and Dr. Dang, agreed that there were differences of opinion with respect to their views

and those of AHS, CMOH and the Public Health Agency of Canado. Each of them also indicated

they either have complied or would have complied with their professional organization's masking

requirements.

Following Alberta Health Services' closure of Dr. Wall's clinic on Decemb er 8,202O (Exhibit D-1),

there is no evidence that Dr. Wall at any time contested the closure order in court. The clinic was

reopened on January 5,202I. The reopening was subject to the following Alberta Health Services

requirements:

51



727
(1) Dr. Curtis Wall must follow the current reopening proctice guidonce os sef out by the

Alberto Coltege ond Association of Chiroproctors, as well as all future iterations of this

guidonce.

(2) Dr. Curtis Wall must implement his revised COVTD-79 Relaunch Plon thot was submitted

on December 24, 2020 into practice to reduce the risk of tronsmission of COVID-79

omong the ottendees of the Wall Chiroprdctic & Wellness.

(3) Prior to booking an appointment, Dr. Curtis Wall must inform the patient he will be

unmasked while providing services and obtoin the patient's explicit consent to proceed

with booking ond undertaking said services.

(4) Dr. Curtis Wall must ensure that olt patients he treats continuously weor o mosk that

covers their mouth and nose for the duration of their time in the clinic, unless they ore

able to provide evidence that they have been granted a mask exemption.

Dr. Wall admitted that he is not complying with the College's masking and social-distancing

requirements and was, for a period of time, not complying with the plexiglass barrier

requirements, all three of which were set out inthe Pandemic Directive issued by the College' ln

addition, Dr. Wall acknowledged that he was not in compliance with the January 5, 2021 AHS

Rescind Notice.

Counsel for the College then reviewed Section 3 of the Health Professions Act, and maintained

that Section 3, which references a college's public protection role, is mandatory. Section 3 states:

"3(1)A College

(a.) must carry out its octivities and govern its regulated members in a manner thot

protects and serves the public interest,
(b.) must provide direction to and regulote the practice of the reguloted profession by its

reguloted members,
(c.) must establish, maintoin and enforce stondards for registration and of continuing

competence and stondards of proctice of the reguloted profession,

(d.) must establish, maintain and enforce o code of ethics,

(e.) carry on the octivities of the college and perform other duties ond functions by the

exercise of the powers conferred by this Act, and

52



728
(f') moy opprove proqroms of study and education courses forthe purposes of registration

requirements."

lmportantly, use of the term "must" establishes that these are mandatory duties to be carried
out by the College.

They also referenced Section 6, which provides that:

"(6) A council manages ond conducts the octivities of the college, exercises the rights,
powers ond privileges ond carries out the duties of the college in the name of and
on behalf of the college and carries out the powers and duties of the council under
this Act and the
bylaws."

ln support of their interpretation of Section 3, counsel for the College cited the decision in

MichaelYar Zuk v. Alberta Dental Association ond Colleges. ln Zuk, the Alberta Court of Appeal

found that Section 3 of the Health Professions Act creates a statutory mandate to govern a

profession in a manner that protects and serves the public interest. The Court also adopted the

ruling of an earlier Alberta Court of Appeal Decision, Brown v. Alberta Dental Association', which

identified that the paramount objective is the protection of the public. The Court went on to state

that, in orderto protectthe public, the honorand dignityof the profession must be maintained,

and the legislative scheme must allow for controls on the businesses of professionals.

The College next referenced the Ontario Court of Appeal decision in Mussani v. College of

Physicians and Surgeons on OntorioT, where it was held that there was no constitutional right to

practice in a profession unfettered by the applicable rules and standards which regulate that

s Michoel Yar Zuk v. Alberto Dental Association and Coltege, et ol 2Ol8 ABCA2TO
6 Brown v. Alberta Dento! Assn., 2002 ABCA 24
7 Mussani v. College of Physicians ond Surgeons on Ontqrio (200Q Con 49654 (ON CA)

53



729
profession. Further case law was cited in support of the proposition that there is no common law,

proprietary or constitutional right to practice a profession free of regulation.

The College also reviewed the concept of ungovernability. They argued that while

ungovernability typically is dealt with at the penalty stage, it is also relevant to this matter at the

liability stage of the hearing. Reference was made to the Ontario College of Physicians and

Surgeons of Ontario v. Savic sdecision, where the Court commented on ungovernability, and

stated that a pattern of conduct that demonstrates that the member is unprepared to recognize

his or her professional obligations in their regulated role gives rise to ungovernability. The Court

further stated that the privilege of professional regulation is dependent upon the profession's

members willingness to be governed in the public interest, and to abide by the governing body's

directions. lt was argued that Dr. Wall's conduct demonstrated ungovernability, as he failed to

engage with the College following the issuance of the Pandemic Directive, he self-diagnosed a

medical condition, and he made a conscious decision to ignore the masking and social distance

requirements that were required of his clinic without notifying the College. Particularly egregious

is the fact that Dr. Wall made no effort whatsoever to contact the College, and the College was

unaware of his conduct until a complaint was forwarded to the College by AHS in December,

2020, six months after Dr. Wall stopped masking. The College argues that Dr. Wall's conduct

speaks to selective compliance, acting in secrecy, and failure to communicate with the College all

of which is indicative of his ungovernability,

8 College of Physicions ond Surgeons of Ontario v. Sovic 2079 ONCPS D-40

54



730
The College emphasized that the question to be considered by the Tribunal is whether or not the

College acted reasonably when it issued the Pandemic Directive. They stated that the test that

ought to be applied is whether or not there was a reasonable basis for the issuance of the

Pandemic Directive. They emphasized that the issue of whether or not masking and social

distancing and other elements of the Pandemic Directive are supported by science, or are

ineffective in reducing the transmission of COVID-19, are not issues that the Tribunal is required

to determine. Rather, the Hearing Tribunal must determine whether the College acted

reasonably when issuing the pandemic directive.

The College then reviewed the test of reasonableness in such circumstances and noted that the

Courts have repeatedly determined that the question that is to be asked is whether the decision

is one that would fall within a range of reasonable outcomes. Further, the Tribunal should only

interfere with the decision of the College if that decision is outside the range of possible

outcomes that are defensible with respect to the facts and the law. The College also noted that

case law has identified that professional associations are given a broad public interest mandate,

and have broad regulatory powers in order to accomplish that mandate. As a result, the issue the

Tribunal must determine is whether the College's decision to develop and impose a Pandemic

Directive was reasonable. The issue is not whether the Pandemic Directive's masking and social

distancing obligations are based in science, or are even valid.

The College argues that in determining whether or not the College's Pandemic Directive was

reasonable, the College undertook considerable research and consultation, which included:

(1.) Reviewing documents that Alberta Health was publishing.

55



731
(2.) Consultation with the Federation of Chiropractic Colleges.

(3.) Consultation with other Alberta HPA regulators.

(4.) Consultation with other Canadian Chiropractic colleges.

(5.) Consultation with a microbiologist.

(6.) Consultation with the College's Competence Committee.

(7.) Consultation with the Alberta Federation of Regulated Health Professionals.

(8.) Review of the AHS Exhibits.

ln addition to reviewing the above reference materials, the College also underwent a

consultation process with its members. Less restrictive directives were considered, but were

rejected given that chiropractors work in close proximity with the people they treat, and are not

able to maintain a physical distance of two meters. Human rights and constitutional rights were

also considered, and it ultimately was determined that patient safety was paramount.

ln considering whether or not the Pandemic Directive was reasonable, the College asked the

Tribunal to consider the unrefuted evidence that every profession and college adopted a masking

requirement. ln addition to other colleges adopting a masking requirement, health care

institutions did so as well. These include:

(1.) The Alberta Chief Medical Officer of Health

(2.) The Government of Alberta

(3.) The Public Health Agency of Canada

(4.) Alberta Health Services

(5.) Alberta Hospitals

56



732
It was also established that there is no evidence the College at any time acted in bad faith, in

either the preparation or dissemination of the Pandemic Directive

The College next addressed the Charter issues raised, being the right to freedom of conscience

and religion, as well as the right to freedom of expression, and the right to life, liberty and security

of the person. The College maintained that none of these rights were properly demonstrated, or

are applicable. ln any event, Section 1 of the Charter is a complete answer to any Charter claim

made by Dr. Wall.

The College argued that Section 1 of the Charter provides that the rights and freedoms set out in

it are subject only to such reasonable limits prescribed by law as can be demonstrably justified in

a free and democratic society. The case law interpreting Section 1 of the Charter has established

that it is necessary to limit rights and freedoms where exercising them would be contrary to the

collective goals of society. The College also made reference to the case law which states that the

limitation on rights is not required to be perfectly calibrated, but only has to be reasonably and

demonstrably justified. Further, courts are to take a differential position when performing a

Section 1 analysis. Counsel for the College framed the question for the Tribunal as being one of

determining whether the College had a rational foundation for relying on reasonable scientific

research regarding masks. Overall, the College argues that if there is any infringement of any

rights arising from the Pandemic Directive, that infringement is a reasonable limit that, while

imposing limited rights infringements, operates to benefit public health. The College then

reviewed the case law dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions and Charter challenges.

57



733
ln both Taylor v. Newfoundtond and Labradors and Beaudoin v. British Columbial0, the Court held

that any interference with Charter rights was justified under Section 1 of the Charter. The Court

in these cases held that the restrictions at issue were based upon available scientific evidence,

and fell within the range of reasonable outcomes.

The College next addressed the human rights matters arising from Dr. Wall's medical condition,

and his religious views. The College states that any alleged discrimination is justified on the basis

of there being a bona fide occupational requirement (BFOR). ln support, the College's counsel

reviewed several recent Alberta Human Rights Commission Cases that found that the

implementation of a masking mandate satisfied a bona fide occupational requirement. ln those

cases, the Alberta Human Rights Commission found that the masking policies at issue were

rationally connected to a legitimate business purpose, were adopted in good faith, and that it

was not possible to accommodate the complainants without there being undue hardship.

The College then argued that for Dr. Wall to successfully maintain that he had been discriminated

against, he would have to prove that (1) he had a characteristic that is protected from

discrimination under the Alberta Human Rights Act (2) he experienced an adverse impact with

respect to an area protected by the Code and (3) the protected characteristic was a factor in the

adverse impact. With respect to the first component of the test, the College argued that Dr. Wall

failed to comply with the Pandemic Directive, on the basis of his self-diagnosis of a medical

condition. The subsequent medical letters that were provided by his physician, Dr. Salem were

e Toylor v. Newfoundlond ond Lobrodor 2020 NLSC 725
ro Beoudoin v British Columbiq, 2027 BCSC 572

58



734
brief, and they contained no formal diagnosis, no treatment plan, and no prognosis. The College

also stated that Dr. Wall has failed to satisfy the onus of establishing his having experienced an

adverse impact, or that any protected ground was a factor in that adverse impact.

The College further states that the Pandemic Directive was clearly and unequivocally adopted for

a purpose rationally connected to job performance, and that the Pandemic Directive was

adopted in good faith and for legitimate purpose. When accommodating any alleged disability,

the accommodation must be balanced with other legal obligations to coworkers and other

customers.

Dr. Wall should also have made attempts to request accommodation. He failed to do so. The

College noted that at no time did Dr. Wall make any request to receive accommodation, it was

therefore impossible for the College to provide any accommodation to Dr. Wall.

The College further noted that the CMOH Orders that permitted exemptions for masking were

issued on November 24,202O and December LL,2O2O, well after June 2020, when Dr. Wall

stopped wearing a mask due to his self-diagnosed medical condition.

Submissions of Dr. Wall:

Dr. Wall argues that the Tribunal ought to find the Pandemic Directive issued by the College to

be a violation of the Alberta Human Rights Act, and that Dr. Wall suffered unlawful discrimination

on the basis of both his mental disability and his religious beliefs. As a result, all charges related

to him refusing to wear a mask must fail.

59



735
With respect to the remaining charges, Dr. Walltakes the position that he lawfully exercised his

freedom of expression rights pursuant to Section 2(b) of the Charter, that he acted professionally

by protecting his patients from the harms arising from masking, and that he did not breach any

CMOH orders.

Dr. Wall maintains that he has two protected characteristics, mental disability and religious

beliefs. He states that the actions of the College resulted in him experiencing an adverse impact,

and that his mental disability and religious beliefs are protected characteristics.

With respect to establishing his mental disability, Dr. Wall described the symptoms he

experienced when he wore a mask while treating patients, and that his description of his

symptoms were verified by his physician, Dr. Salem. Dr. Wall notes that there has been no

evidence produced to the contrary, and that Dr. Salem's medical notes identifying the medical

basis for his exemption were not contested by the College. Dr. Wall further relies upon the expert

opinion evidence from the respirologist, Dr. Bao Dang, and from the occupational health and

safety witness Chris Schaefer, who stated that some individuals who wear a mask do experience

symptoms similar to those experienced by Dr. Wall.

Dr. Wall also claims a protected religious belief. He explained his Christian beliefs regarding

masking. He argues that his religious beliefs are sincere, have a basis in Christianity, and would

be substantially interfered with, should he be required to wear a mask. He stated that he is a

Christian, and follows the requirements of the Holy Bible. He referred to quotes from Genesis

1-:27;"God created mankind in his own image. ln the image of God, he created them. Male and

female, he created them." Dr. Wall then stated that he believes his face is sacred to him and also

60



736
sacred to God, as it is a manifestation of his image. Dr. Wall believes that to cover up his face

would be a barrier between him and Jesus Christ. He further stated that complying with ah order

to wear a mask is essentially fearing man and not God. He then cited other quotes from the Bible,

and stated that the requirement to wear a mask violates his life of faith. Dr. Wall argues that

there is no question that his belief was sincere.

Dr. Wall maintains that he suffered two adverse impacts as a result of being required to wear a

mask. The first adverse impact arose when the College applied to suspend his practice permit.

The second adverse impact is the charges brought against him and the ongoing prosecution of

them

ln response to the College taking the position that Dr. Wall never requested an accommodation

of his alleged disabilities, Dr. Wall maintains that he did in fact request an accommodation when

he spoke to Dr. Halowski and Mr. Lawrence via telephone on or around December 5, 2020. He

further states that in a subsequent call with Mr. Lawrence, the issue of accommodation of his

mental disabilities was discussed. Dr. Wall states that where there is inconsistency between his

evidence and that of Dr. Halowski and Mr. Lawrence, Dr. Wall's evidence ought to be preferred.

ln addition, on approximately December L4,2020,Dr. Wall provided a doctor's note from his

physician stating that he was unable to wear a mask. Dr. Wall maintains that the provision of that

doctor's note resulted in the College being obligated to work towards an accommodation. The

religious exemption was also brought to the College's attention in the submissions made by Dr.

Wall's counselwhen responding to the Complaint Director's permit suspension application.

6L



737
Dr. Wall relied upon the lelus v. T.W.|J.11 decision, where the Court of Appeal of Alberta stated

that it was unnecessary for an employer to demonstrate knowledge of an employee's disability

in cases involving adverse effect discrimination. ln that case the Court found that the three part

test is sufficient to accommodate cases where an employer's knowledge is relevant to a prima

facie case, and thus knowledge should not be added as a fourth element of the prima facie case

test. Dr. Wall maintains that he has established a prima facie case of discrimination as a result of

his mental disability and religious beliefs. As a result, the duty to accommodate was triggered

without the College needing to become aware of it.

When determining whether or not the discrimination may be seen to be justified as a bona fide

occupational requirement the onus is to be 5hifted to the College. ln support, Dr. Wall refers to

the three part test set out in the Supreme Court of Canada's Meiorinrz decision; the first is that

the standard adopted is rationally connected to the activity within the issue; the second is that

the standard was adopted in the good faith belief that it was necessary; the third is to show that

the standard was reasonably necessary

Dr. Wall concedes the first two components of the test; that universal mandatory masking is

rationally connected to a practicing chiropractic, and that the mandatory masking was adopted

in good faith. However, Dr. Wall maintains that the College has the onus of demonstrating the

third part of the test; that it could not accommodate Dr. Wall without experiencing undue

hardship.

7r Telus Communicotions lnc. v. Telecommunications Workers Union, 2005 FCA 262
12 British Columbia (Public Service Employee Relations Commission) v. BCGSEU [1999] 3 SCR 3

62



738
The Meiorin decision in turn cites the earlier Supreme Court of Canada decision in Centrol

Okanagan School District v. Renoudl3, which held that undue hardship infers that some hardship

is acceptable, and that in order to justify a rule or requirement it must accommodate factors

relating to the unique capabilities and inherent worth and dignity of every individual, up to the

point of undue hardship. Dr. Wall maintains that the College has not produced any evidence of

any attempts to accommodate Dr. Wall in December of 2O2O. Dr. Wall maintains that it is no

answer for the College to state that it was required to adhere to the CMOH order, as the Alberto

Human Rights Act is quasi-constitutional legislation that supersedes the provisions set out in the

Public Heolth Act. Dr. Wall further argues that this supremacy was accepted by the CMOH and

AHS, who expressly permitted exemptions for masking based upon mental concerns and

limitations. He states an accommodation was clearly possible, and was demonstrated when AHS

permitted Dr. Wallto reopen his clinic in2027, and treat patients without Dr. Wall being required

to wear a mask.

With respect to masking being a bona fide occupational requirement, Dr. Wall states that it is not.

He stated that there is abundant cvidcncc to establish that masks are ineffective. He maintains

that masks do not have any impact on transmission, and there is no increase to the risk of

transmission in failing to wear a mask.

Dr. Wallthen critiqued the evidence of Dr. Hu, and challenged both his credibility and reliability

He pointed out that Dr. Hu maintains that asymptomatic transmission of COVID-19 is high, but

13 Centrol Okonagon School District No. 23 v. Renoud, 1992 ConLtt 81 (1CC), t1992l 2 SCR 970

63



739
that both Dr. Bridal and Dr. Warren testified that asymptomatic transmission of COVID-L9 is very

low or negligible.

Dr. Dang also disagreed with the evidence of Dr. Hu, and referenced a study that showed masks

have no impact on viral transmission. He also challenged Dr. Hu's claim that viral transmission

was reduced in all countries that implemented mandatory masking, stating there was no report

or study that would support Dr. Hu's claim. He also challenged Dr. Hu's comment with respect to

the number of health workers who contracted COVID-1-9 while being masked. Dr. Dang stated

that he observed hundreds of healthcare workers becoming infected with COVID-19 in Medicine

Hat alone, contrary to Dr. Hu's comment that there were less than a hundred transmissions as

identified by AHS arising between a healthcare worker and a COVID-19 positive individual in the

entire province. He then stated that mask mandites are not based on science, but were politically

influenced.

Dr. Bridal's evidence is that aerosol transmission of COVID-19 is significant, and that masks do

not prevent aerosol transmission by symptomatic individuals. He stated that aerosols are able to

escape the mask in areas where it does not seal directly to the face and as a result of the large

pore size of the mask. This is contrary to the evidence of Dr. Hu, who testified that healthy

individuals were able to regularly transmit the virus to others. Where their evidence conflicts, Dr.

Wall states that Dr. Bridal's evidence is to be preferred over Dr. Hu's.

Dr. Wall maintains that the College has the onus to establish that masks are a bona fide

occupational requirement, and that they are only able to do so if they establish the effectiveness

of masking. Dr. Wall maintains that the College failed to meet that onus.

64



740
Dr. Wall also commented on the minimal cross-examination of Dr. Wall's witnesses, and stated

that much of their evidence was unchallenged.

Dr. Wall argued that as a result of the College's wrongful discrimination against him, charges 1(a),

1(b), L(c), 2(a),2(bl, a(a), a(b) and 5(b) have not been established. He states that all of these

charges effectively are a violation of his human rights, and that the Pandemic Directive

requirements are discriminatory and unlawful. He maintains that he did not commit

unprofessional conduct by refusing to obey them.

On the issue of reasonable accommodation, Dr. Wall argues that Telehealth is not a viable

accommodation. Chiropractors must be able to provide physical manipulation to their patients,

and are only able to perform their services by physically touching their patients. He stated it is

also not a reasonable accommodation to close the office. Dr. Wall states that it is very apparent

that he could have been accommodated as proven by the conditions subsequently imposed on

him. ln the particular circumstances of Dr. Wall's practice, where he was the only chiropractor in

the office and only saw one patient at a time, these restrictions were viable.

Dr. Wall also maintains that he did not breach any CMOH order. He states that CMOH Order L5-

2020 was inapplicable, as the Pandemic Directive superseded it. The masking orders (being

CMOH 38-2020 and CMOH 42-2020) also contained exemptions which Dr. Wall claims he has

qualified for. Dr. Wall also states that those CMOH orders allowed individuals to self-diagnose

any medical conditions, and that this did not require any medical evidence. The CMOH orders

only required medical evidence after May, 2021. This postdates the relevant dates, being June-

December 2020.

65



741
Dr. Wall also maintains that charges 3-b and 3-c violate Dr. Wall's right to freedom of expression

as protected by Section 2(b) of the Charter. Dr. Wall states that telling the truth about masking

to patients cannot be unprofessional conduct, as charges 3(a) and 3(c) amount to compelled

speech which is a violation of the Charter. Charge 3(c) attempts to penalize Dr. Wall for telling

his patients information that the College does not want him to say. The only possible justification

for this compelled speech and censorship is if the College is able to establish that the comments

they wanted Dr. Wall to make were true, and that the comments Dr. Wall made were untrue. Dr.

Wall maintains that the College has not been unable to demonstrate either.

With respect to the patient masking charges, being 1(d), 2(c) and 3(b), Dr, Wall states that these

charges have no basis. He relies upon the Pandemic Directive, which makes no mention of

patients masking. He also relies on CMOH Order L6-2020, which does not instruct chiropractors

to have patients mask. Similarly, neither the Pandemic Directive nor AHS have any requirements

with respect to charting, or with respect to patients being required to mask. Dr. Wall states that

the only possible grounds for any charges with respect to patient masking, is paragraph 4 of the

Reopen Notice. That paragraph requires Dr. Wall to ensure that the patients he treats continue

to wear a mask. Dr. Wall questions the lawfulness of that notice, on the basis that neither the

CMOH or the Pubtic Heatth Act is made reference to. He also points out the contradiction in the

Reopen Notice issued by AHS with respect to the mask exemptions contained in CMOH Orders

38-2020 and 42-2020. He states that the CMOH Order supersedes the Reopen Notice, and that if

the Reopen Notice contains anything contrary to the CMOH orders it ought not to be considered.

He also states that paragraph 4 is unenforceable, as he has no way of knowing what might

constitute a mask exemption, or what evidence of that exemption might be sufficient. Finally, he

66



742
states that the charges against him make no mention of the AHS Reopen Notice, nor has the

College ever charged Dr. Wall with being in contravention of any AHS order. He maintains that

he has never been properly charged, and as a result all the patient masking charges must fail.

Dr. Wall further argues that he could not have committed professional misconduct by requiring

his patients to wear a mask in his clinic, as masks are harmful. He maintains that he acted in

accordance with his professional obligations by protecting his patients from harm. Dr. Wall

maintains that the evidence that was provided to the Tribunal makes it clear that masks are

harmful. He argues that politics and power sometimes supersede reason and science, and that

by allowing his patients to determine whether or not they wear masks in his clinic he upheld his

professional requirements of the Code of Ethics and Standard of Practice, and that doing

whatever the Government says, or whatever the College says, is not to be prioritized over the

interest of patients. He maintains that he at all times acted with the utmost professionalism, by

speaking the truth and protecting his patients.

Hearins Trib unal Analvsis:

The facts in this case are not in dispute. Dr. Wall has candidly admitted to all of the facts

underlying each of the five charges the College has brought against him

Dr. Wall is also not challenging the authority of the College to create policies in order to satisfy

the requirements set out in the Heolth ProfessionsAct, and he has acknowledged that he is bound

by the College's Rules and Standards of Practice.

67



743
Dr, Wall has also acknowledged the authority of the College to create the Pandemic Directive in

satisfaction of the requirements set out in the Health Professions Act. Dr. Wall is not challenging

the College's motivation and reasonableness when it created and established that directive.

Dr. Wall has agreed that practicing as a chiropractor is a privilege, not a right. He has also

acknowledged that he is bound by the College's rules. He has previously always abided by the

College's rules and requirements since he started practicing in Alberta in 1987. The only time that

Dr. Wall operated offside the College's requirements began in June of 2O20 when he unilaterally

determined that he would no longer wear a mask, contrary to the College's Pandemic Directive,

and chose not to notify the College of his decision.

Dr. Wall has further expressly acknowledged that practicing chiropractic is a privilege, not a right.

This is an appropriate point on which to commence our analysis

ln Mussani v. College of Physicians ond Surgeons of Ontario, the Ontario Court of Appeal clearly

stated that

"the weight of authority is that there is no constitutional right to practice a profession

unfettered by the applicoble rules and standards which regulate that profession".

This principle was accepted and reinforced in Tanase v. College of Dentol Hygienists of Ontario,

2021 ONCA482 where the Ontario Court of Appeal stated:

"Nor is there a common low right to practice a profession free of regulation... the

right to practice o profession... is a statutory right - an important right, to be sure,

but a right that is subject to odherence to the governing legislation and rules mode

under it. There is no common low, proprietary or constitutional right to practice

medicine, as this court reiteroted in Christian Medical and Dentol Society of
Canoda v. College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontorio..."

68



744
It has been made very clear by the Courts that regulated professionals have an obligation to

follow the rules and regulations instituted by their governing bodies. Failure to do so will result

in punishment and sanctions.

Dr. Wall admitted that he initially complied with the Pandemic Directive and did wear a mask

when treating his patients. Dr. Wallfound that the mask became problematic, as he had feelings

of claustrophobia and anxiety, and an inability to concentrate. He then attempted to wear a face

shield, but experienced similar symptoms. He then self-diagnosed a mental disability and stopped

wearing either a mask or face shield. His failure to wear a mask was directly contrary to the

Pandemic Directive issued by the College, and also directly contrary to the then current CMOH

Order, as neither the Pandemic Directive nor the CMOH Order provided for any exemptions for

mask wearing. Dr. Wall's defense to the charges against him is that the College has unlawfully

discriminated against him on the basis of his mental disability and his religious beliefs, and has

refused to accommodate him

Dr. Wall failed to advise the College that he was not complying with the requirements of the

College's Pandemic Directive. He also did not provide any explanation as to why he did not

immediately obtain a Doctor's note confirming his self-diagnosed mental condition. He stated

that he did not believe a doctor-confirmed medical exemption was necessary, and claimed that

he did not understand that the Pandemic Directive required him to contact the College. When

Dr. Wall initially spoke to Dr. Halowski on December 2,2020, he did not indicate that he had any

medical disability, nor did he request any accommodation. Rather, that conversation involved

69



745
him commenting that he believed COVID-L9 wasn't serious, and that he did not like how he felt

when he wore the mask

It is evident that Dr. Wall made a unilateral decision to stop wearing a mask contrary to the

express requirements of both the Pandemic Directive and the CMOH Order. This is very

concerning. We can come to no other conclusion but that Dr. Wall had unilaterally decided to

practice contrary to the express requirements of both the Pandemic Directive and the CMOH

Order. He did so deliberately, and was either willfully blind or deliberately ignorant of his

obligations. lt is also concerning that the first medical note provided was only obtained after the

College contacted him and requested one. That first medical note from Dr. Salem was deemed

unsatisfactory by the College, and a further medical note was requested. The second medical

note from Dr. Salem contained no diagnosis, no prognosis and no treatment plan. Nevertheless,

the College allowed Dr. Wall to continue to practice under certain conditions. These conditions

included requiring him to inform the patients that he had a public exemption for masking, and to

obtain a signed, written confirmation from each patient to agree to be seen and treated by Dr.

Wall without him being required to wear a mask or face shield.

Dr. Wall also made a claim for a religious exemption for not wearing a mask. Dr. Wall stated that

he was a very religious person, and that he had deeply held beliefs that he should not wear a

mask. However, he made no requests for religious exemption during the period of June 2020to

early December 2O2O. He also made no mention of any religious beliefs when he first spoke to

the College in December of 2O20. Based upon his evidence of his deep faith, one would have

expected that Dr. Wall would have made such a claim at that time, if not earlier. lnstead, the

70



746
religious exemption claim was only made via his legal counsel in response to the College's request

for an interim suspension, and after his offices were shut down by AHS. Based on Dr. Wall's claim

of deep and devout faith, one would have expected him to raise his religious exemption claim

earlier

We find that Dr. Wall knowingly and continually disobeyed the Pandemic Directive based on his

own personal beliefs that COVID-l9 was not as harmful as the authorities said it was. He has

provided no explanation as to why he failed to contact the College once he self-diagnosed his

medical disability. We also have serious doubt about his claimed religious exemption. Although

he testified that he is devoutly religious, and initially had intentions of making his life career that

of a youth pastor, he failed to invoke any religious exemption request until after his clinic was

shut down and did so only when his counsel responded to the College in mid-December, 2020.

He admits that he made no mention of any religious exemption in either of the discussions he

had with Dr. Halowski or Mr. Lawrence

Following the close of arguments, counsel for Dr. Wall forwarded two further decisions that he

asked the Tribunal to consider. The first of these decisions was CM v Alberto, 2022 ABKB 776.

That decision dealt with parents who opposed the removal of masks at schools based upon their

children's heightened health risks. ln particular, the parents sought to challenge CMOH Order 08-

22, stating that the Order was unreasonable, and violated Sections 7 and 15 of the Charter. The

Court in that case concluded that the Order of the Chief Medical Officer of Health was

unreasonable, as it was based on an interpretation of the Public Health Act as giving final

authority over public health orders to public officials. The Court further dismissed the application

7L



747
for Charter relief. This case dealt primarily with the issue of political impact on public health

orders and, in particular, political involvement in CMOH Order O8-2O22

The second case, R v Stephens, 2022 ABPC 220 involved a pastor who was charged with failing to

comply with an order of a Medical Officer of Health. The pastor was charged with failing to ensure

his congregation maintained a minimum 2 meter distance from another person. After a thorough

review of the facts, the Court concluded that while the pastor may not have taken the steps

necessary to ensure that his congregation complied with the 2 meter requirement, there was no

evidence that the pastor himself had failed to comply with the 2 meter requirement. As a result,

the pastor was found not guilty.

Neither of these cases are helpful, as they fail to address the fundamental issues in this matter

The pastorwas not a regulated professionalgoverned bythe HPA.

When the College did become aware of the request for the exemptions they accommodated him

by permitting him to practice pursuant to the terms of the January 25,2021AHS rescind notice.

That rescind notice was issued in conjunction with a letterfrom Dr. Linford of the College dated

December L8,2O2O where the following express conditions were placed upon Dr. Wall:

(1.) Dr. Wall shallinform each client he seesthat Dr. Wallhas a medicolexemption

from the pubtic health order that oll persons in a public place must wear o foce
mask, and Dr. Wall shall obtain the written confirmation signed by eoch patient

that the potient agrees to be seen qnd treated by Dr. Woll without him wearing a

face mask or face shield. Dr. Wall sholl provide copies of the written confirmotion

from eoch to the Comploints Director by 5 p.m. on Friday of eoch week in which Dr.

Woll sees any potients. This requirement will remain in effect as long as the public

heatth order for physical barriers, social distancing and face mosks are in effect,

(2.) Dr. Wall shall direct ony staff person assisting in his office, whether thot
person is paid or unpaid, to comply with the current public heolth order requiring

72



748
use of physicol barriers, social distancing ond face masks. lf any staff person claims
an exemption from the weoring of o face mosk, Dr. Wall shqll consult with Alberto
Health Services as to whether the cloim of an exemption is supported by objective
proof.

(3.) Dr. Wall sholl maintoin a log of screening questions osked and answered
by all patients ond doily screening of his staff and himself, regarding any symptoms
or events that would require isolotion and/or testing for Covid 19. The list of
screening questions is set out on poge 10 of the ACAC (now CCOA) Pondemic
Practice Directive issued Moy 3 and revised May 25,2020. Dr. Wall shall provide o
copy of the log to the Complaints Director by 5 p.m. on Friday of each week that
the public heolth orders for physical borriers, social distancing ond face masks ore
in effect.

(4.) ln the event thot Dr. wall shows any symptoms or answers positive to the
screening questions, he shall not see or treot any potients until he has been tested
for Covid 1"9 by Alberta Services and received confirmation of a negative test result.
Dr. Woll shall provide proof, sotisfoctory to the Complaints Director, of the
negative test result on the same date that Dr. Woll receives the test result. Dr. Wall
sholl not see any pqtient until he has received confirmation from the Comploints
Director that he con return to seeing and treating potients.

Dr. Wall at no time challenged the closure order,,and at no time appealed any of these conditions.

Dr. Wall's defense to the charges is that the Pandemic Directive is a violation of his Human Rights

and that his Charter Rights have been violated. He argues that The Human Rights legislation is

quasi-constitutional, and that all Provincial statutes, including the Public Health Act and the

Health Professions Act, arc subject to it. We agree that this is a correct statement of the law.

However, the Alberta Human Rights Act is limited in its application where a bona fide

occupational requirement can be established

It is well-established that a requirement may be imposed on an individual even if, on the face of

it, the requirement appears to be discriminatory. This is known as a bona fide occupational

requirement. ln order for the College to be successful in arguing that the Pandemic Directive is a

73



749
bona fide occupational requirement, they must satisfy the three part test that is set out in the

Supreme Court of Canada Meiorin decision.

It is also difficult to conceive that the College ought to be responsible for accommodating Dr.

Wall for the period of June-December, 2020, when he at no time requested any accommodation.

During that period of time Dr. Wall practiced in contravention of the Pandemic Directive, and

only stopped doing.so when a patient complaint was made to AHS, and ultimately was forwarded

to the College. Dr. Wall's comments about his personal beliefs regarding the spread of COVID-L9

and the health impacts of contracting COVID-19 support the conclusion that Dr. Wall operated in

open defiance of the Pandemic Directive.

While we have difficulty with Dr. Wall's conduct in the manner of defying the Pandemic Directive,

and his failure to claim his medical and religious'exemptions until after a complaint was received

by the College, it is not necessary for us to delve deeply in to the validity of these exemption

claims given the conclusion arising from our analysis of the Meiorin decision.

Meiorin established a three part test when determining whether or not an imposed standard is

a bona fide occupational requirement (BFOR). ln Meiorin the court stated:

2. Steps and Two

71 The first two elements of the proposed BFOR analysis, that is (7) that the

employer adopted the standard for a purpose rationolly connected to the
performance of the job; ond (2) that the employer adopted the particular standord

in on honest ond good faith belief that it was necessary to the fulfillment of thot
legitimate work-related purpose, have been fulfilled.

3. StepThree

72 lJnder the third element of the unified approach, the employer must

74



750
establish that the standard is reasonobly necessary to the occomplishment of thot
legitimote work-related purpose. To show that the standord is reasonably
necessory, it must be demonstrated thot it is impossible to accommodate
individual employees shoring the charocteristics of the claimant without imposing
undue hardship upon the employer. As noted, the burden is on the government to
demonstrate that, in the course of accomplishing this purpose, it cannot
occommodote individual or group differences without experiencing undue
hordship.

Dr. Wall has expressly conceded steps one and two of the analysis. What is at issue is whether

the College is able to establish that the pandemic directive was reasonably necessary to

accomplish a legitimate work related purpose, and that it was impossible to accommodate Dr.

Wall without experiencing undue hardship. Meiorin has established that the concept of undue

hardship means that some hardship is acceptable. ln order to satisfy the test the College must

show that the hardship is "undue". Undue hardship is an amorphous concept, and must be

considered in the context of each individual case it is applied to.

The Supreme Court in Meiorin provides useful commentary with respect to the application of this

third step:

63. When determining whether an existing standard is reasonobly necessary

for the employer to occomplish its purpose, it may be helpful to refer to the
jurisprudence of this Court deoling both with the justificotion of direct
discrimination ond the concept of accommodation within the adverse effect
discriminotion analysis. For example, dealing with adverse effect discrimination
in Central Alberto Dairy Pool, supro, ot pp. 520-21, Wilson J. oddressed the factors
thot may be considered when assessing an employer's duty to accommodate an
employee to the point of undue hardship. Among the relevont factors are the
financiol cost of the possible method of accommodation, the relative
interchongeability of the workforce and focilities, ond the prospect of substantial
interference with the rights of other employees. See also Renoud, supra, at p.

984, per Sopinka J. The various factors dre not entrenched, except to the extent
that they ore expressly included or excluded by statute. ln all cases, as Cory J.

noted in Chambly, suprd, at p. 546, such considerations "should be applied with
common sense ond flexibility in the context of the factual situation presented in
edch cdse".

75



751

64. Courts and tribunols should be sensitive to the various woys in which

individual copabilities may be accommodated. Apart from individuol testing to
determine whether the person has the optitude or qualification thot is necessary

to perform the work, the possibility that there may be different ways to perform

the job while still accomplishing the employer's legitimate work-related purpose

should be considered in oppropriqte coses. The skills, capabilities and potentiol

contributions of the individual claimant and others like him or her must be

respected as much as possible. Employers, courts dnd tribunals should be

innovative yet proctical when considering how this may best be done in
pa rticula r ci rcu msto nces.

66 Notwithstonding the overlap between the two inquiries, it may often be

useful os a proctical matter to consider separately, first, the procedure. if any,

which wes adopted to ossess the issue of occommodation ond, second,

the substontive content of either o more occommodating standard which wos

offered or alternatively the employer's reasons for not offering any such

standard: see generolly Lepofsky, supra.

67 tf the prima facie discriminotory standard is not reasonobly necessory for
the employer to accomplish its legitimate purpose or, to put it another way, if
individuotdifferences may be accommodoted without imposing undue hordship on

the employer, then the stondard is not a BFOR. The employer has foiled to
establish o defense to the charge of discrimination. Although not ot issue in this

cese, os it orose as a grievonce before o labour arbitrator, when the standard is

not a BFOR, the oppropriote remedy will be chosen with reference to the remedies

provided in the appticable human rights legislotion. Conversely, iI the general

purpose of the standdrd is rationally connected to the performdnce of the
particular job, the particuldr standdrd wos imposed with an honest, good laith
betief in its necessity, and its application in its existing lorm is reasonably

necessory for the employer to accomplish its legitimate purpose without
experiencing undue hardship, the standard is d BFOR. lf all of these criterio are

estoblished, the employer has brought itself within an exception to the generol

prohi bitio n ol discri mi notion.
("emphasis added")

The situation facing the College in the spring of 2O20 was entirely unprecedented. A worldwide

pandemic was under way. ln this case, in order to assess the existence of undue hardship we

must consider the particular facts at play at that time. ln the Spring of 2O2O the SARS COVID-2

virus and COVID-19 had been declared a pandemic. Countries around the world were wrestling

76



752
with how to contain its spread. There was uncertainty as to the manner and nature of its spread,

and as to its infection fatality rate. The Province of Alberta, along with many other jurisdictions,

imposed various lockdowns. Entire industries were shuttered, and Governments around the

world issued trillions of dollars of relief and subsidizing payments. lt was a chaotic and

unpredictable time. One of the many professions impacted by the lockdowns involved the

practice of chiropractic. That practice was completely shut down, throwing all Alberta

Chiropractors into a period of uncertainty. lt was only following the issuance of CMOH Order 16-

2020 that chiropractors were able to practice. That CMOH Order required that as a condition of

reopening the College was required to publish COVID-19 guidelines applicable to their profession.

CMOH Order L6-2O20 required guidelines for masking, social distancing and the installation of

plexiglass barriers. The objective was to prevent transmission of infection. The College had a

positive obligation to either support or create mindatory mask wearing by its members. This was

a legal obligation, and one which must be carefully considered in counterbalance to Dr. Wall's

individual rights. CMOH Order 1,6-2020 stated that:

2. Effective May 4, 2020, ond subject to section 6 of this Order, a regulated
member of a College estqblished under the Health Professions Act procticing in the
community must comply with the attoched Workplace Guidonce For Community
Heolth Care Settings to the extent possible when providing a professional service.

3. Subject to section 5 of this Order, each College established under the Health
Professions Act must, os soon as possible, publish COVID-79 guidelines applicable
to the regulated members of the College that are substantiolly equivalent to the
guidonce set out in the Workploce Guidance For Community Health Core Settings
developed by Alberto Heolth, olong with any odditional guidelines specific to the
usual practice of the regulated profession.

6. Section 2 of this order does not apply in respect to the reguloted member
under the Hedlth Professions Act whose College has published covid 79 guidelines
os required under section 3 of this order.

77



753
The Workplace Guidance For Community Health Care Settings document specifically required

that

"All stoff providing client/patient care or working in client/patient care oreas must
weqr a surgical/procedure mask continuously, at oll times ond in all areos of the
workplace if they are either involved in direct client/patient contact or cannot
maintain adequate physical distancing (2m) from clients/patients and coworkers."

There is no question that the College was obligated to follow the Workplace Guidance For

Community Health Care Settings or implement equivalent requirements. ln the circumstances it

is very clear that the College acted reasonably in invoking the mandatory masking requirement.

There is also no question that the pandemic directive was rationally connected to the practice of

chiropractic and imposed with honest and good faith belief in its necessity. lt was also reasonably

necessary in order to have the College have its members return to work. lf the College refused to

implement the mandatory Workplace Guidance For Community Health Care Settings its

members would have been unable to return to work. The College clearly had a legal obligation

to comply with CMOH Order t6-2O. That is a significant consideration in this matter. Had the

College not complied and allowed Dr. Wall to practice without wearing a mask they would have

been in breach of that Order.

The only issue to be addressed is whether Dr. Wall is able to successfully argue that there would

not be undue hardship to the College if it accommodated his claimed medical and religious

disabilities. Fortunately, the issue of reasonable accommodation for people claiming exemption

from masking has been directly addressed by the Human Rights Commission, both on their

website and in a number of decisions of the Chief Commissioner.

78



754The Alberta Human Rights Commission website expressly states that

"when accommodoting a relevont, protected ground, consideration will be given to the

need to balance accommodotion obligations with other legol obligations to coworkers

ond/or customers."

The Alberta Human Rights Commission has also recently considered five complaints involving

individuals who claimed discrimination as a result of their being required to wear a mask. These

cases have all addressed circumstances where the claimant alleged discrimination on the basis

of provision of goods, services, accommodations or facilities on the ground of a physical or mental

disability. All of the claims were dismissed by the Director in the first instance, with that dismissal

then being upheld by the Chief of the Commission and Tribunals of the Alberta Human Rights

Commission. ln all instances the Commission found that the masking requirement was rationally

connected to a legitimate business purpose, adopted in good faith, and that it was not possible

to accommodate the complainant without incurring undue hardship.

While each of the above cases involve fact scenarios that differ from the one before this Tribunal,

they are illustrative of the approach and considerations of the Alberta Human Rights Commission,

and establish that organizations are able to establish and maintain mandatory masking

requirements without running afoul of the Alberta Human Rights Act

Dr. Wall argues that masks cannot be a BFOR as the evidence establishes that masks are

ineffective and do little or nothing to protect the public from transmission of COVID-L9.

79



755

There is much evidence provided in this case by medical experts. They addressed at great lengths

the efficacy of masking, and the manner by which COVID-19 is spread, as well as the infection

fatality rate of those who contracted COVID-19. Dr. Wall argues that masking is ineffective, and

that COVID-l9 is not as serious of a concern as those in authority made it out to be. All of this

evidence is inconsequential as he has, in argument, expressly conceded that universal mandatory

masking was rationally connected to practicing chiropractic, and that universal masking was

adopted in the good faith belief that it was necessary.

ln reviewing that evidence, the Hearing Tribunal agrees with the College's submission that we

should be focused on regulatory compliance and not the efficacy of masking. lt is very telling that,

notwithstanding whatever beliefs or positions Dr. Wall's experts have on the efficacy of masking,

each and every one of the experts called by D:. Wall acknowledged in cross examination that

they either have, or would have, complied with a mandatory masking requirement. By doing so,

they have demonstrated that they recognized the obligation to be bound by mandated

requirements notwithstanding their beliefs on masking efficacy.

Dr. Wall maintains that even if the College is able to successfully establish undue hardship, the

supremacy of the Alberta Human Rights legislation supersedes any requirements of the Public

Health Act or Health Professions Act.

While courts have established both the paramountcy of the Alberta Human Rights legislation, as

well as its quasi-constitutional nature, they are also prepared to enforce mandatory masking

policies. As indicated above, the five recent decisions of the Chief of the Commission and

Tribunals of the Alberta Human Rights Commission upheld the Directors' decisions to dismiss

80



756
masking discrimination complaints in the first instance. This is a powerful statement from the

Alberta Human Rights Commission. lt indicates that such complaints have no merit and are not

even worthy of a hearing.

ln this context, Dr. Wall cannot successfully argue that the College's mandated masking

requirement would be found to be offside the Alberta Human Rights legislation

Dr. Wall further argues that there cannot be a bona fide occupational requirement for masking,

as the evidence produced at the hearing establishes that masks are entirely ineffective

While there was conflicting evidence as to the efficacy of masking there is no doubt that masks

have some ability to reduce or minimize transmission and do prevent droplet transmission from

symptomatic people. While the evidence is admittedly contradictory, we find Dr. Hu's evidence

compelling. Not only was he directly involved with the Government of Alberta's COVID response

as a Medical Officer of Health with Alberta Health Services in the Calgary

Zone, he also had significant exposure to the specific issue of masking in a health care setting. He

also identified that it is not easy to determine when an individual is symptomatic or

asymptomatic as there are many low grade symptoms that are difficult to identify. Of particular

importance is that Dr. Hu provided evidence with respect to the relevant period, being May 2020

to December 2O2O. The expert evidence produced by Dr. Wall was provided much later, i.e.,

between one to one and a half years following the relevant events. lt is apparent from the

evidence before us that there were many twists and turns in the development of responses by

scientists and governments to the COVID-19 pandemic over that period of time. COVID-19 did

81



757

not remain static. Dr. Hu's evidence is most temporally relevant. Dr. Hu also presented his

evidence reasonably and fairly throughout.

While we do not dispute that there are differences of opinion amongst the experts as to the

nature of the spread of the virus and the effectiveness of masks in controlling that speed, where

there are contradictions in the evidence we prefer the evidence of Dr. Hu. As a result, we find

that to the extent that the Pandemic Directive may have conflicted with any applicable Human

Rights Legislation, that conflict is justified as a bona fide occupational requirement.

The College has also raised the principle of ungovernability that arises when members fail to

respect their regulatory body. The College cites College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario v

Savic:

"Ungovernability speaks to o pattern of conduct thot demonstrotes that the
member is unprepared to recognize his or her professionol obligations ond the
regulator's role. The privilege of professional regulation depends on members'
willingness to be governed in the public interest and to abide by the directions of
the College."

There is no doubt that Dr. Wall failed to contact the College when he decided to unilaterally stop

wearing a mask. lt is also apparent from the facts that Dr. Wall showed no intention of ever

contacting the College; he stated that he viewed his claimed medical disability as an issue

between him and his physician. The only reason the College became aware that Dr. Wall was not

following the Pandemic Directive was a result of a patient complaining to AHS, who then

contacted the College. Dr. Wall did not provide any independent medical evidence of any

disability until after the complaint was filed and after he had been contacted by the College.

82



758
Similarly his claim for religious exemption only arose after his counsel became involved in

response to the College's attempt to obtain an order suspending his practice.

It is clear to the Hearing Tribunal that it was Dr. Wall who was required to contact the College

He failed to make any effort to advise the College that he was operating offside the Pandemic

Directive. As a member of the College he had a fiduciary responsibility to the College to advise

them of his actions. He failed or neglected to do so. This is unacceptable. These actions speak

loudly to his ungovernability.

There is also an overarching theme to the submissions of Dr. Wall that speak to his questioning

of authority and his refusal to follow government directives based upon his personal beliefs.

Throughout his submissions, Dr. Wall made reference to bowing to the authority of the

government and questioning the legitimate orders made by the government and its various

health agencies. We are satisfied that Dr. Wall intended to defy the Pandemic Directive

requirements issued by the College. ln doing so, he has clearly demonstrated ungovernability

The College has also asked us to place no weight on the evidence of Dr. Wall's patients. We agree

Their opinions and perspectives have no bearing whatsoever on this matter and their evidence is

of little or no use to this Tribunal

Decisions Re: The Allegations:

Dr. Wall attempts to avoid charge 5(a) by arguing that his admission to the factual basis was

somehow retracted or rescinded by him subsequently stating that he did not believe that he

failed to follow any CMOH orders. The standard that we must consider is an objective one. Dr

83



759
Wall's subjective belief as to what he did or did not believe constituted a failure to follow CMOH

orders is irrelevant. We find that he has admitted to this charge

Dr. Wall argues that charges 1(a), 1(b), 1(c), 2(a1,2(b1,4(a1,4 (b) and 5(b) cannot stand as they

arise from the alleged unlawful discrimination against him contrary to the Alberta Human Rights

Act. As we had previously indicated, we are fully satisfied that the College has established the

required bona fide occupational requirement for its actions. This, combined with Dr. Wall's

admission to the factual underpinnings of these charges fully satisfies, both in fact and in law,

that they have been breached

Dr. Wall argues that charges 3(a) and 3(c) are an unjustified limitation of his right to freedom of

expression. He maintains that he was telling his patients the truth about masks and that as a

result he could not have contravened the eollege's Standards of Practice or the Health

Professions Act

ln support, Dr. Wall references Strom v. Soskatchewan Registered Nurses Associationl4. ln that

case, the Saskatchewan Court of Appeal found that a nurse's unfavorable comments about a

nursing home were protected by her freedom of expression. That case was very different

factually; Strom had made several negative comments in relation to the care her grandfather was

receiving in a nursing home. She was not employed at that nursing home and her comments were

made when she was off duty. The Court found in that case that her comments presented a

balanced view and were a matter of common sense. The facts before us are very different. As

la Strom v. Saskatchewon Registered Nurses' Associotion, 2020 SKCA 772

84



760
evidenced by the testimony of the various experts produced by the parties, there is no common

ground as to the efficacy of masking. While we have no doubt that Dr. Wall does not believe that

masks are effective, and while he is certainly entitled to that view and is free to not wedr a mask

in his personal life, he remains a regulated professional and must comply with the College's

requirements. When the College makes a reasonably grounded requirement, based on sound

scientific evidence it is not for Dr. Wall to unilaterally determine they are incorrect. His failure to

advise patients of the increased risk of transmission when masks are not worn and his advising

patients that masks have no effect on the transmission of COVID-L9 was improper. Dr. Wall was

also not presenting a balanced view on masking.

There is also another basis on which to deny Dr. Wall's Charter defense to charges 3(a) and 3(c).

The Courts have firmly established that "the right to freedom of expression is not absolute and

limitations of expression may be justified under section I" (saskatchewan v. Whatcott) 1s. Section

1 of the Charter states that:

"The Canodian Charter of Rights ond Freedoms gusrontees the rights and

freedoms set out in it subject only to such reasonable limits prescribed by law as

can be demonstrobly justified in a free and democratic society."

Dr. Wall is not alone in attempting to invoke the protection of the Charter when taking issue with

the constitutional validity of public health orders. To date there have been a number of cases

where people have attempted to utilize the Charter to have the Courts void the COVID-L9

restrictions

ls Sqskotchewon (Humon Rights Commission) v. Whatcott,2013 SCCLL

85



761

lnTaylorv Newfoundland ITAB 27]the Supreme Court of Newfoundland and Labradorfound that

the provincial government's travel restrictions into the province violated the Charter's s.6

mobility rights (the Court also rejected a claim to the same travel restriction based on s.7), The

Court found that the restriction on mobility rights was to be upheld as a reasonable limit under

Section 1 of the Charter, as it was to be considered in the context of the global pandemic. The

opening line of the case conveys the context important to the judicial determination:

"745. lt is difficult to overstate the global impact of the SARS-CoV-2 virus, known more

commonly by the infectious and potentially fotol disease it couses, COVID-19

147. Accordingly, [i]n the context of such a public health emergency, with

emergent ond rapidly evolving developments, the time for seeking out and

analyzing evidence shrinks. Where the goal is to overt serious injury or deoth, the

margin for error may be narrow. ln such o circumstance, the response does not

odmit of surgicol precision. Rather, in public health decision making the

'precautionary principle' supports the case for action before confirmatory evidence

is avoilable." (poragraph 4L1).

148. ln finding the trovel restrictions proportionate to the rights infringement of

being denied entry to the province to attend her mother's funeral the Court

concluded thot "the collective benefit to the populotion as a whole must prevail.

COVID-79 is o virulent and potentially fatal disease. ln the circumstances of this

case Ms. Taylor's Chorter right to mobility must give way to the common good

(see poragroph 492)"

86



762
A similar challenge to Public Health Orders occurred in Beoudoin v. British Columbia.ln that case

the Court found:

750. Viruses con be spread by people who do not have symptoms. As long as the

reproduction rate (the averoge number of people to whom on infected person is

likely to tronsmit the Virus) is greoter thon 7, the Virus will spread exponentially,

with the capacity to overwhelm the health system." (poragraph 10). The

government conceded thot its restrictions on gatherings infringed a number of the

fundamentol freedoms under s. 2, and the Court having occepted the concession

of rights infringements under s. 2 of the Charter, did not ossess the claims

odvanced under ss.7 ond 75.

157. The Court held that any interference with s.2 Chorter Rights was justified

under s.7 of the Chorter. The public heolth orders, the Court held, were premised

upon "ovoiloble scientific evidence ... including epidemiological data regarding

transmission of the Virus." (porogroph 239). The restrictions on gatherings, the

Court found, were "ottempting to address ... the risk of acceleroted transmission

of the Virus, protecting the vulneroble, and mointaining the integrity of the

healthcare system." Accordingly, the restrictions "fellwithin a range of reosonable

outcomes. There is a reasonoble bosis to conclude that there were no other

reasonable possibilities thot would give effect to the s. 2 Charter protections more

fully, in light of the objectives of protecting heolth, and in light of the uncertainty

presented by the Virus. (paragraph 246).

87



763
As a result, the alleged violations of the Charter were found to be justified under Section 1 of the

Charter

To the extent that there were any violations of Dr. Wall's Charter Rights, those rights are subject

to the provision of Section 1 of the Charter. ln the circumstances of the pandemic it was

reasonable for the College to implement the restriction that it did

Dr. Wall next maintains that charges L(d\,2 (c),3 (b), and 4(c), relating to Dr. Wall and his son

failing to require patients to wear masks and failing to chart patient masking, have no basis in

law.

Dr. Wall argues that nothing in the Pandemic Directive requires patients to mask, and that

subsequent CMOH orders did not require masking or allowed individuals to be mask exempt

We find that the amendments made at the commencement of proceedings and in particular the

directions of Alberta Health Services Reopen Order are directly applicable. There is no doubt that

the Reopen Order required Dr. Wall to have his patients wear a mask. Dr. Wall has expressly

admitted that he was not in compliance with paragraph 4 of the AHS January 5,2O2L Reopen

Order. As a result, he was operating contrary to Alberta Health Services directions and

requirements as charged. We find that these charges have been met.

Having determined that all of the allegations are factually proven, and that the conduct of Dr.

Wall does rise to the level of unprofessional conduct as defined in s.l(l)(pp)(i), (ii), (iii) and (xii)

of the HPA, we will now await further submissions from the parties as to the appropriate sanction.

88



Dated tr,fi$ry of January ,zolsiH Edmonton, AB 764

Publ r and Chairames

89



765EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT A-1 - Amended Notice of Hearing, Notice to Attend as Witness, and Notice to Produce,
July 22,202I

EXHlBlr A-2 - Email from AHS to Member re complaint, dated December L, zozo

EXHIBIT A-3 - Letter of Complaint Referral from Registrar, dated December 2,2020

EXHIBIT A-4 - ACAC Statement on Alberta Health Notice of Closure for a Calgary Chiropractic
Clinic, December L5, 2020

EXHIBIT A-5 - Letter to Member re s.56 Complaint, dated December ZL,20ZO

EXHIBIT 4-6 - Letter from Member in Response to Complaint, January LL, ZOZ1,

EXHIBIT A-7 - ACAC Complaint lnvestigation Report

EXHIBIT A-8 - Letter from Dr. Salem, dated December L2,2020

EXHIBIT A-9 - Letter from Dr. Salem, dated January IL,202t

EXHIBIT A-10 - ACAC Code of Ethics

EXHIBIT A-11 - ACAC Standards of Practice

EXHIBIT B-1 - Letter Requesting s.55 Review, dated December g,Z02O

EXHIBIT B-2 - Letter Requesting Extension, dated December 9,2020

EXHIBIT B-3 - Response of Dr. Wall s.55 Request, dated December LO,ZO2O

EXHIBIT B-4 - Response of Dr. Wall s.65 Request and Enclosures, dated December L6,2O2O

EXHIBIT B-5 - Letter of Decision re s.65 Review, dated December IB,Z02O

EXHIBIT C-1 - ACAC Notice to Members re Telehealth Billing, dated March 26,202A

EXHIBIT C-2 - ACAC Notice to Members re Consultation, dated April2L,2O2O

EXHIBIT C-3 - ACAC Notice to Members re Consultation, April 22,2O2O

EXHIBIT C-4 - ACAC Website Update on COVID Practices, April29,202O

EXHIBIT c-5 - AcAc Notice to Members re Return to Practice, dated April 30, 2020

90



766
EXHIBIT C-6 - ACAC Notice to Members re Return to Practice, dated May L, 2020

EXHIBIT C-7 - ACAC Notice to Members re Approval of Plan, dated May 3, 2020

EXHIBIT C-8 - ACAC Notice to Members about Masking, May 25,2O2O

EXHIBIT C-9 - ACAC Notice to Members about Masking, dated luly 24,202O

EXHIBIT C-10 - ACAC Council Updates re Telehealth, July 31,2020

EXHIBIT C-11 - ACAC Registrar's Report, August 4,2020

EXHIBIT C-I2 - ACAC Notice to Members re COVID Practices, dated August LL,2020

EXHIBIT C-13 - ACAC Website re Telehealth, October 20,2020

EXHIBIT C-1.4 - ACAC Notice to Members re Directive, dated November 23,2O2O

EXHIBIT C-15 - ACAC Notice to Members re Restrictions, dated November 25,2020

EXHIBIT C-16 - ACAC Website COVID FAQs, dated November 25,2020

EXHIBIT C-t7 - ACAC Website Update on COVID Practices, December L,2O2O

EXHIBIT C-18 - Notice to Members about Maski6g, dated December 9,2020

EXHIBIT C-19 - ACAC Notice to Members re PPE, dated December L0,2O2O

EXHIBIT C-zO - ACAC COVID-19 Pandemic Practice Directive, May 5, 2020

EXHIBIT C-zL - ACAC COVID-19 Pandemic Practice Directive, May 25'2020

EXHIBIT C-22 - ACAC COVID-19 Pandemic Practice Directive, January 6,2021

EXHIBIT D-1- COVID-19 Business Closure Order CMOH 25-2020, dated December 8,2020

EXHIBIT D-2 - Has Order to Rescind Closure Notice, January 5,202L

EXHIBIT D-3 - CMOH Order L9-}OZL, dated May 6,202L

EXHIBIT D-4 - CMOH Order 2O-2O2L, dated May 5, 2021

EXHIBIT D-5 - CMOH Order 22-2O2t, dated May L3,2O2L

EXHIBIT D-6 - CMOH Order 26-2020, dated June 5, 2020

EXHIBIT D-7 - CMOH Order 34-2O2t, dated June 30, 2021

91



767
EXHIBIT D-8 - CMOH Order 38-2020, dated November 24,2O2O

EXHIBIT D-9 - CMOH Order 42-2O2O, dated December It,2020

EXHIBIT D-10 - City of Calgary - Temporary COVID-L9 Face Covering Bylaw, March IL,2020

EXHIBIT D-11 - City of Calgary - Bylaw that repeals Mask Bylaw, dated July 5,2O2L

EXHIBIT E-1 - 9-page curriculum vitae for Dr. Jia Hu

EXHIBIT E-2 - Dr. Jia Hu - Expert Report Masking

EXHIBIT E-3 - 9-page curriculum vitae for Dr. Bao Dang

EXHIBIT E-4 - Dr. Bao Dang - Expert Report Masking

EXHIBIT E-5 - 95-page curriculum vitae for Dr. Byram Bridle

EXHIBIT E-5 - Dr. Byram Bridle - Expert Report Masking

EXHIBIT E-7 - S-page curriculum vitae for Dr. Thomas A. Warren

EXHIBIT E-8 - Dr. Thomas A. Warren - Expert Report Masking

EXHIBIT F-1 - GOA Albert's safely staged COVID-L9 relaunch, dated April 30, 2020

EXHIBIT F-2 - CMOH Order t6-2O20, dated May 3, 2020

EXHIBIT F-3 - ACAC Registrar's Report, dated July 5,2021

EXHIBIT F-4 - ACAC Frequently Asked Questions, dated July 7,2O27

EXHIBIT G-l - AHS - Directive Use of Masks During COVID-19

EXHIBIT G-2 - AHS - Guidelines for Continuous Masking

EXHIBIT G-3 - AHS - Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)

EXHIBIT G-4 - 2-page curriculum vitae of Chris Schaefer

EXHIBIT G-5 - 89-page document titled "Chris Schaefer Expert Witness Report"

EXHIBIT H-1 - Preliminary Application, Complaints Director's Reference Document

EXHIBIT H-2 - Karen Macleod v. The Alberta College of Social Workers, dated January L2,20L8

EXHIBIT H-3 - R. v. Chikmaglur Mohan 1994 SCC

92



768
EXHIBIT H-4 - Genevieve Wright v. The College.and Association of Registered Nurses of Alberta,

2OL2 ABCA?67

EXHIBIT H-5 - Face Masks to reduce COVID-19 in Bangladesh RCT

EXHIBIT H-6 - Locally Produced Cloth Face Mask and COVID-19 Like lllness Prevention RCT

EXHIBIT H-7 - Response to Curtis Wall Re Vaccinations

EXHIBIT H-8 - Excerpt from the Canadian Thoracic Society guidelines (Document not Provided to
be Marked)

EXHIBIT l-1- - The June 12, 2O22,hearing decision publication

EXHIBIT l-2 - A partial publication ban

93



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1 .64
Jo-Ann Willson
March 29,2023 B:08 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: CCGI stakeholder report - March 2023

Stakeholder Report_March 2023_English.pdf

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:
Attachments:

800

Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 087
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext.'1'11
Toll Free: 1-877-577-4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontarlo ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related
to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the email or phone contact
information above or, if you require urgent assislance, please contact Reception by phone at 416-922-6355 ext. l-00 or email
rece ptio n @cco.o n.ca

and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuringthat individuals are treated
with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require accommodations. Please ensure that all communications with CCO are
respectful and professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO immediately by reply e-
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Ca rolina Ca ncelliere <Ca rolina.Cancelliere @onta riotech u.ca>

Sent: Wednesday, March 29, 2023 7 :2O PM

To: Dennis Mizel<drmizel@stcatharineschiropractic.com>; Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>
Cc: Dr. Clark Mills <clarkrmills@gmail.com>
Subject: CCGI stakeholder report - March 2023

CAUTION EXTERNAL; This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Dear Dr. Mizel and Ms. Wilson,

We hope you are doing well

Our team has been working diligently to advance the development and knowledge translation of best

practices for caring for people with musculoskeletal conditions, with the aim of improving their lives.

Our research and knowledge translation program has a range of activities. Our recent initiatives include

launching a free online module to evaluate serious pathology risk in low back patients, an ongoing video

1



series called 'Research Talks' to help people understand research evidence, and clinician and patient

tools for epicondylitis, ankle sprain and plantar heel pain. We're also developing a free online module

for diagnosing, assessing, and managing concussions in adults and children, with tools to integrate

patient preferences and enhance their experience. This year, we'll publish two systematic reviews on

rehab interventions for lumbar disc herniation and children's back pain, and a series of seven papers on

systematic reviews and evidence syntheses that informed the WHO clinical practice guideline on

managing chronic primary low back pain. Please refer to our bi-annual stakeholder report for more

details. Finally, our prior WHO project identified the best evidence-based rehab interventions for non-

specific low back pain patients, including radiculopathy, and this information will be used to develop

WHO's Package of lnterventions for Rehabilitation (article in press

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/a bs/pii/S0003999323001600?fbclid=lwAR0wcpumtd Kqd

FvFzGYboqVD6f2YviEVOlNMHDX rN-elMswD6PGvOgzMLk).

801
As you know, we r'ely on the generosity of individuals and organizations who share our vision to

continue our work. Please let us know if the CCO would be interested in supporting our mission through

a donation.

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any questions or would like to discuss this further

Sincerely,

Dr. Clark Mills, DC

Chair, Guideline Steering Committee
Canadian Chiropractic Guideline lnitiative (CCGI)

Dr. CarolCancelliere, DC, MPH, PhD

CCGI Project Lead

Scientist, lnstitute for Disability and Rehabilitation Research

Faculty of Health Sciences, Ontario Tech University
https://www.ccgi-resea rch.com/
https://id rr.o nta riotechu.cal
Mobile: 416-540-6472

2



March
2023

,::::::i!i'i'li:' IDRR 6, Ontariolech
UNIVERSITY



Stal<eholder Report: March 2023
:f-7

,,//'\/E )

tt.
S

Canadian Chiropractic
Guideline lnrtiative
/. r.//\i.r i.ii i.., i, I it i: :_i I ' : 1,, i I

803
Guideline Executive Committee

The Guideline Executive Committee (GEC) is essential for providing formal oversight of the CCGI. The GEC sets

the strategic goals for the CCGI, while keeping in mind the standard of pdtient-centered evidence-based practice

and stakeholder priorities and needs; and provides the necessary oversight to ensure that all project activities
maintain such alignment.

Dr. Clark Mills, Chair Dr. Elli Morton Dr. Shawn Thistle

Dr. Aaron Puhl Dr. Ayla Azad Dr. Patricia Tavares

*:
rr#r

i#wil -,.,,
mr
se,
r

l.

.t



Stal<eholder Report: March 2023 tEi
t(-S

Canadian Chiropractic
Guideline lnitiative

lii( ( , t\il.

804Research Team

€arol Cancelliere DC, PhD

Project Lead

Danielle Southerst DC, FCCS(C)

Research Associate

Hainan Yu MBBS, MSc

Research Project Manager -
Guidelines

Gaelan Connell BHK, DC, MRSc

Research Associate

Leslie Verville MHSc

Research Project Manager -
Knowledge Translation

Poonam Cardoso BHSc, PMP

Finance Officer



Stakeholder Report: March 2023 ,€)
Canadian Chiropractic
Guidetine lnitiative
,i ).//\i.r ,f.(, i.,1. i trl-:: ti.t':ii ,rlIli/\i:l 1. L_/\ll:

Guidelines and Evidence Syntheses
805

Little is known about the effectiveness of rehabilitation interventions following surgical procedures for back

pain and associated leg pain. With joint funding by Eurospine, we conducted a systematic review to understand

the effectiveness and safety of post-surgical rehabilitation interventions for adults. Our first review regarding

the effectiveness of rehabilitation after surgery for lumbar disc herniation has been submitted for publication.

Knowledge Translation Activities
Evaluating the risk of serious pathology in patients with
low back pain is critical. We worked with a team of
international and multi-disciplinary experts to develop an

updated, evidence-based approach for clinical assessment

and action. This course is freely accessible on the CCGI

website.

Clinical decision-making for adults with low
back pain: assessing risk for serious pathology

Using the same interactive online platform, we are

developing a module regarding the assessment, diagnosis and management of concussion for both adult and

paediatric populations. The module will be based on information presented in clinical practice guidelines and

other relevant evidence including the Ontario Neurotrauma Foundation guideline for mTBl and persistent

symptoms in adults, CDC guideline on the diagnosis and management of mTBl among children, and the 6th

lnternational Consensus Conference on Concussion in Sport, Amsterdam, Netherlands, October 2022.

Exploring the pillars of evidence-based practice: We are working with the CCA and the OCA to provide

chiropractors with tools to enhance the patient experience, as well as integrating patient preferences and values

into clinical decision-making.

Research Talks: Making sense of the world of research
Are you interested in learning all there is to know about research?

. Research Talks is the perfect place to start! Our series of videos provide

Re.€afch Talt6 easy-to-understand summaries of research concepts - from study

ma6ns senseor*tne,uor,ddresearch ffi:ffir'il:'J$:l?;Tli:-T3-I;i:;,3:Il,''" 
out on this

bogr*lo tpo \,

t6 ..i l DRR 6,,o,1'lif,r,.J*h The first video is about randomization and allocation concealment in

RCTs, and is available on our YouTube channel.

The CCGI continues to give presentations to interns and residenti at CMCC, at provincial AGMs and other events,

and at international meetings. Carol and Leslie joined the many chiropractors at the CCA National Convention

and Tradeshow in Montreal, Quebec (October 20221, where they spoke about CCGI's resources and upcoming
projects.

We continue to partner with the Canadian Chiropractic Research Foundation (CCRF) on building research

capacity and partnerships within and external to our profession.



Stakeholder Report: March 2023 i(; Canadian Chiropractic

"iio:':": l"l:l':,iY:,

Please feelfree to share with us your thoughts about how we can continue to enhance the health of
Canadians by fostering excellence in chiropractic care.

Visit our website to access all of our latest resources and projects

Our YouTube videos now have more than 1,000,000 views!

806

4,900+
YouTube

subscribers

New Twitter
account!

@CCGlresearch

1150+
Facebook
members

For more information about the CCGI and any of our initiatives,
contact us at Ca rol ina.Ca nce llie re@onta riotech u.ca



Health
Profession
Regulators
ot Ontario

I ri;ift,)
Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO

Suite 301 - 396 Osborne St, PO Box244, Beaverton ON LOK 1A0

ema il : bakennv@regulatedhealthprofessions,on.ca
web: www.regulated healthprofessions.on.ca

Phone: 416-493-4076/Fax: 1-866-8L4-6456

807
ITEM 4.1.6s

Remarks to Ontario's Standing
Committee on Social Policy

Bill 60

Your Health Act,2023

As of March 21,2023



HPRO Key Messages re. Bill 6O,Your Health Act- Script Version
As of March 21,2023

Page 2

a

808
INTRODUCTION

Good afternoon. Thank you for the opportunity to be here today.

l'm Maureen Boon, Registrar and CEO of the College of Massage Therapists of Ontario. The

College of Massage Therapists is the regulator for the province's RMTs.

With me today virtually is Dan Faulkner, Registrar and CEO of the Royal College of Dental

Surgeons of Ontario, the regulator of dentists, and Shenda Tanchak, Registrar and CEO of the
College of Pharmacists of Ontario, the regulator of pharmacists.

While we each regulate individual health professions in our day jobs, we are here today
representing the Health Profession Regulators of Ontario, or HPRO for short. Beth Ann Kenney,

also here today, is the Executive Director of HPRO.

HPRO's members are the 26 regulatory colleges that regulate all 29 professions - this includes

almost 400,000 regulated health professionals in Ontario.

The 26 health regulators (called colleges) have a legislated duty to protect the public, making

sure healthcare professionals are safe, ethical, and competent.

We have worked alongside government for the past three years to manage the pandemic. We

know how hard government has worked to provide the healthcare that Ontarians need and

deserve. Like you, we are acutely aware of the impact of COVID on healthcare professionals, on

Ontarians, and on our health human resource capacity.

As regulators, our core responsibilities lie in three areas: 1) registering competent
professionals, 2) investigating them when necessary, and 3) running quality assurance programs

to ensure they remain competent over time.

We know that Bill 60 proposes several significant changes to the province's healthcare system,

but we are here today to focus on the "As of Right" provisions. These are enabled by Schedule

2 of the Bill, but we understand the details will be further clarified in the regulations.

AS OF RIGHT PROVISIONS

Bill 60's "As of Right" provisions will allow health professionals from other provinces to work in
Ontario without registering (and being overseen) by the profession's regulator here in Ontario.

Therefore, there will be a regulatory gap from the time of arriving in Ontario to practice to the
time that the individual will be registered with the regulator.

a

a

a

a

a

a

a



HPRO Key Messages re. Bill 6O,Your Health Act- Script Version
As of March 21,2023

Page 3

We know that "As of Right" will impact 4 professions - doctors, nurses, respiratory therapists
and lab.technologists and that government is receiving input from these regulators separately.

However, as government partners in ensuring safe care for patients, we want to speak with you
from the perspective of Ontario's health profession regulators as a whole.

As regulators, we support innovation and improving our registration practices. We also support
speedy registration and inter-provincial mobility. lndividual colleges are working with their
provincial counterparts to achieve these goals.

REGISTRATION

Registration requirements, including education, exams and good character provisions, are
crucial to ensuring that regulated health professionals are competent, safe and ethical. As

regulators, we want to reduce risk and prevent problems for patients, and these requirements
help to do that.

Registration requirements differ across provinces, but significant progress has been made to
improve registration times and inter-provincial mobility. ln fact, the majority of out of province
applicants are registered in under 2 weeks.

We know that our counterparts in other provinces are as committed to the public interest as

we are. But we also know that information exchange is not perfect, and we believe our
expertise and registration processes ensure that health professionals in other jurisdictions don't
try to leave their disciplinary histories behind, as we have seen in the past, with consequences
for patients.

a As the regulations are drafted, we want to work with government to ensure that safeguards are
in place and that professionals with a complaint or a conduct issue in another province are
properly vetted before working in Ontario. We also want to ensure there is clear accountability
once they arrive.

INVESTIGATIONS

Our second core responsibility is to receive complaints about health professionals, and to
investigate and take action as needed. A concern around "As of Right" is that we cannot
investigate a health professional who is not registered with us.

Who will be accountable for the oversight of "As of Right" professionals and who will
investigate complaints? Will this be a responsibility of employers? Patients may expect to
contact the provincial regulator as they do today to oversee health professionals' conduct.

This is another important detailthat we are hoping to work with government on to identify
practical and effective solutions. Our investigations processes are legislated and can be complex

809
a

a

a

a

a

a

a



HPRO Key Messages re. Bill 6O,Your Health Act- Script Version
As of March 21,,2023

810 Page 4

for high-risk matters such as sexual abuse or professional misconduct. lt is important that these
investigations happen in a standardized, legislated way.

Ontario's regulators also require health professionals to carry professional liability insurance.

This requirement protects the public in the unfortunate instances when patients are hurt. lt is
not clear to us how "As of Right" will provide Ontarians with the safeguards they have today
through regulation.

IN CLOSING

ln closing, we acknowledge and support the need for more health professionals in Ontario.

HPRO's goal is to ensure that patients can be confident that the health professionals they see

are safe, competent and professional, and that if something goes wrong, there is clear

accountability.

We are open to innovation, to change, and are enthusiastic about working with government to
find solutions to address specific gaps in patient safety.

a

a

a

a

a

As a next step, we hope to work with Government on regulations.

Thank you again for the opportunity to be with you today, and for your work on Bill 60. We are

happy to answer any questions you might have.



Health
Profession
Regulators
of Ontario

il ilPRo

Prosram Obiectives

This program is designed to
provide professiona I regu lators

with a comprehensive

orientation to the discipline
process. At the conclusion of the
session, participants will have an

understanding of:
r' Relevant principles of

administrative law
/ Roles of various participants

in the hearings process

/ Activities that occur prior to a
hearing

/ Procedures associated with
the process, including

hearings held electronically
/ Responsibilities of panel

members

Note: scheduled subject to chonge

Facultv

Luisa Ritacca, Stockwoods LLP

&

Julie Maciura,

Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc

Discipline Orientation
Committee Members

. Tina Langlois, College of

Medical Radiation & lmaging

Tech nologists of Onta rio

. Genevieve Plummer, Ontario

College of Pharmacists

Disci pline Orientation Workshop
Basic Session-May 26, 2023 Webinar

Conducting a Discipline Hearins - ln-Person and Online Hearings

813

Registration Into the Go-To-Webinar System Opens

lntroduction and Legal Framework
Topics include: applicable legislation, jurisdiction, the public in-
terest, confidentiality, disclosure, allegations, penalties, and

costs

BREAK

Principles of Administrative Law and Fitness to Practice Process

Topics include: nature of a hearing, naturaljustice, transparency,
burden of proof, and accountability, and how the FTP process

differs from discipline, and the definition of incapacity

BREAK

Pre-Hearing Procedures and Roles of Participants in the
Hearings Process

Role-play will focus on conducting a videoconference Pre-

Hearing Conference and the goal of narrowing the issues, coming
to an agreed statement of fact, and developing joint submissions
on penalty; discussion will focus on the roles of panel members,
members, prosecution and defence counsel, independent legal

counsel, intervenors, media, experts, witnesses, court reporters,
and staff

TUNCH BREAK

Roles of Participants in the Hearing Process (Continued) and
The Discipline Hearing
Discussion willfocus on the roles of panel members, members,
prosecution and defence counsel, independent legal counsel,
intervenors, media, experts, witnesses, court reporters, and

staff; through a role-play, participants will experience an abbrevi-
ated, contested virtual hearing

BREAK

The Discipline Hearing (Continued)

BREAK

8:45 a.m.

9:00 a.m.

9:45 a.m.

10:00 a.m.

10:45 a.m.

11:00 a.m.

12:00 p.m.

1:00 p.m.

1:45 p.m.

2:00 p.m.

2:45 p.m.

3:00 p.m.

3:45 p.m.

Responsibilities of Panel Members
Discussion will focus on panel member conduct prior to, during,
and after the hearing by using real case examples of situations
where panel member conduct is questioned (completion of as-

signed homework recommended)

Wrap Up and Closing of Session

All registration will be confirmed within five (5) business days. lf you do not receive confirmation, pleose contoct HPRO qt

info@requlatedhealthprofessions.on.ca or by phone qt 476-493-4076. See Registrotion Form for rates ond payment information.



Health
Profession
Regulators
of 0ntarioPROir

ir I

Program Description

This advanced program was

developed because of the success

ofthe Basic Program and an

identified need for advanced

training. lt is a "beyond-the basics"

learning opportunity for
adjudicators. The advanced
program will help discipline panel

members develop their skills to
deal with challenging situations
while chairing hearings and

deliberations. The program is

intended to develop critical
thinking and the "how to" needed

to meet unique situations.
Participants will learn how to
confidently control the
proceedings, demonstrate
fairness, assess the evidence,

facilitate panel deliberations and

ensure adequate reasons for the
decision while meeting head-on, a

complex array of challenges that
can arise in hearings.

Note: scheduled subject to change

Faculty

Luisa Ritacca, Stockwoods LLP

&
Julie Maciura,

Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc

Discipline Orientation
Committee Members

. Tina Langlois, College of
Medical Radiation & lmaging
Tech nologists of Ontario

. Genevieve Plummer, Ontario
College of Pharmacists

Conducting a Discipline Hearing - ln-Person and Online Hearings

Discipline Orientation Virtual Workshop
Advanced Session-June 9, 2023 814

Reglstration into the Zoom Meeting

Welcome and Basic Overview
lntroduction to the concepts of controlling the proceedings,

giving parties a fair opportunity to participate, explaining the
decision, and managing conflicts/potential bias

"Give Everyone a Chance" - Role Play

Participants will act out scenes which demonstrate the first and

last rule structure for objections, motions and submissions, and

how the panel ensures fairness to the parties

"You're in Charge"
Participants will consider challenging situations that test the
panel's ability to be in charge of conducting the hearing and

control the proceedings

BREAK

"You're in Charge" (continued)

"Only the Evidence"
Participants will discuss how they would deal with the evidence

and how the evidence forms the basis for the decision

9:55 a.m.

10:10 a.m.

10:25 p.m.

3:45 p.m.

BREAK

"Only the Evidence" (continued)

LUNCH BREAK

"Explain Yourself"
Participants will interact to learn about the deliberation process,

highlighting the Chair's role in leading the deliberation process

and how it is separated from the reason-writing process. A

perfunctory credibility assessment, which could lead to an

appeal, is highlighted; requirements for adequate reasons in

decision-write are also highlighted

BREAK

"Explain Yourself' (continued)

BREAK

"No Connection with Participants"
Scenarios will be presented which demonstrate situations where
panel members may find themselves unwittingly mingling with
the parties or realize that they may know a witness from their
personal or professional lives

Concluding Remarks and Evaluation

All registration will be confirmed within five (5) business days. lf you do not receive confirmation, pleose contoct HPRO at

info@requlqtedheolthprofessions,on.ca or by phone at 476-49j-4076. See Registration Form for rotes ond payment information.

8:45 a.m.

9:00 a.m.

9:05 a.m.

9:35 a.m.

11:00 a.m.

11:15 a.m.

11:45 a.m.

12:45 p.m.

1:25 p.m.

1:40 p.m.

2:30 p.m.

2:45 p.m.



Health
Profession
Regulators
of OntarioPROi1

ri
il

REGISTRANT INFORMATION

Discipli ne Orientation Workshop-Spring 2023
Basic (May 261 & Advanced (June 9) Sessions

Registration Form

815
Name:

College:

Phone:

Email

Accommodation Needs (please advise if you wish to be contacted prior to the event re. your specific needs)

Have you attending a previous Discipline Orientation Workshop? O Yes O No

Have you participated in discipline hearings? O Yes (L) O Yes (2-5) O Yes (6+)

lf the person completing the form is not the Registrant, please share the following:

Name & email of person completing the form

x Member rotes apply to oll Council, Committee Members, ond Staff of HPRO Members HST #871392825

College to be invoiced for registrotions submitted from thot College, payoble in odvance of the session

See the HPRO website (www.requlatedheo for terms/policies related to event registrotion

SUBMIT FORM BY:

Mail: HPRO - 301-396 Osborne St, PO Box244, Beaverton ON LOK 1A0 I
Fax: 1-856-8L4-6456

Email: info@reeulatedhea horofessions.on.ca

Oruo

RATES (HST TNCLUDED)

Basic (May 26 only)

Basic (May 26 only)

Advanced (June 9 only)

Advanced (June 9 only)

Basic & Advanced (both)

Basic & Advanced (both)

Basic Session Binder Only
(by request/by courier)

HPRO Member*

Non-Member

HPRO Member*

Non-Member

HPRO Member*

Non-Member

Only'til May 1

By May 1

5+so

sss0

s4s0

Ssso

s8oo

Seoo

s7s

After May 1

ssoo

Soso

$soo

Soso

Sgoo

s1oo0

N/A

TOTAL



BETWEEN:

MICHAEL VENNERI

-and-

COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE
MEDICINE PRACTITIONERS AND
ACUPUNCTURISTS OF ONTARIO

Respondent

|TEM 4.1.68

CITATION: College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners
and Acupuncturists of Ontario, 2023 ONSC 864

DIWSIONAL COURT FILE NO.: DC-21-010-00
DATE:20230208

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

DIVISIONAL COURT

Backhouse, Newton, O'Brien JJ.

Self-represented
Appellant

830

3
Jc
o

=d'

6

azn
ao
NO
N)

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Natasha Danson, for the Respondent

Heard: by videoconference in Toronto on
February 1,2023

BACKHOUSE J.

REASONS FOR DECISION

Overview

tll Mr. Venneri (the "Appellant") has brought a statutory appeal against a decision by the
Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (the "Board"), dated August 22,2018. The Board
confirmed an earlier decision of the Registration Committee of the College of Traditional Chinese
Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario (the "Respondent" or "College"), dated
August 22,2018, which concluded that the Appellant did not meet the requirements for registration
as a Traditional Chinese Medicine ("TCM") Practitioner and Acupuncturist. The Appellant asks

the court to set aside the Board's decision. The Respondent asks the court to dismiss the appeal.



a-L-

831
Background

The Grandparented Class of Registration and the Transfer Route to the General Class

12] The College regulates the practice of TCM and acupuncture in the province of Ontario. Its
duty is to serve and protect the public interest under the Health Professions Procedural Code,
being Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, l99l (the "Code") and the Traditional
Chinese Medicine Act, 2006 (the "Act").1

t3] When the College was established on April 1, 2013, it set up several categories of
registration under O.Reg. 27113 ("TCMA Regulation";.2 The Grandparented class allowed
established TCM practitioners and acupuncturists to transition gradually into the newly regulated
profession. Effectively, those who applied to the Grandparented class between April 1, 2013 and
April l, 2014 could defer a competency assessment for up to five years.3

l4l Once admitted, Grandparented members had until April 1, 2018 to transfer to the general
class by satisfying a number of requirements. Most relevant to this appeal was the requirement to
complete a prior learning assessment process ("PLAR"). One path to completing the PLAR was
through the completion of a case study assessment which was the path chosen by the Appellant.a
The Registration Committee could exempt Grandparented members from the PLAR requirement,
but only in the clearest of cases given that these members had not otherwise had their competencies
assessed.s All Grandparented members were required to complete their PLAR case study
assessments by July 1,2017, with additional attempts permitted on an as needed basis until
November 1,2017.

t5] Only members of the College can call themselves acupuncturists and provide TCM
diagnoses. However, registered members of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario of which the
Appellant is one, can provide acupuncture.6

Events Giving Rise to the Registration Committee's Decision

t6] The Registration Committee initially refused the Appellant's application to become a

member of the Grandparented class. The Appellant applied for a Board hearing to review that
decision. Prior to the Board's review, the College retained an expert, Mr. Richard Kwan, a TCM
practitioner. He reviewed three patient records of the Appellant and opined in a Report dated
March 12,2076 that the Appellant had conducted "traditional Chinese medicine patient visits." A
copy of Mr. Kwan's report was sent to the Appellant's counsel on April 14,2016 who responded
back to the College. The Appellant denies receiving Mr. Kwan's report at this time. The
Registration Committee was satisfied on the basis of Mr. Kwan's report, that the Appellant had

I Health Professions Procedural Code,Schedule 2 ofthe Regulated Health Professions Act,1991, SO 1991, c l8 at
s. 3(1)1; Traditional Chinese Medicine Act,2006, SO 2006, c 27 at s. 5 fict).
2 (historical version for the period December 31,2013 to March 31,2019), ats.2.
3 TCMA Regulation, at ss. 6, 7 and9.
4 The other way to join the general class registration was under s.9(3) (b) (i) of O.Reg.27ll3 which entailed a portfolio
review of a person's educational qualihcations
5 TCMA Regulation, at ss. 9(3) and (4).
6 Traditional Chinese MedicineAct,2006,S.O.2006,c.27,atss.4 and 8 ITCMAI; O.Reg. 107196, at s. 8(2).

-:c
o
O
\1'
(o

az
L,,

N
c)
N



-J-

completed the requisite number of TCM patient visits and the Appellant became a member of the
Grandparented class on July 4,2016 .

l7l The Appellant attempted the PLAR case study assessment on June 8,2017 and again on

October 23, 2017 , both times unsuccessfully. The College provided a sunmary of its findings on

both occasions. He was also informed that his membership in the Grandparented class would
expire on April I,2018, after which his only path to registration in the general class would be the

same as those not transferring from the Grandparented class. The Appellant requested a more

detailed review of the results from the second attempt. The College advised that the findings
previously communicated to him were the product of deliberations by a team of professional TCM
practitioners trained in and retained to independently evaluate his case study assessment. The

Appellant was advised that further details could not be disclosed without compromising the

integrity of the PLAR process.

The Registration Committee Directs the Registrar to Refuse the Appellant's Application

t8] The Appellant applied to transfer to the general class once again on March 29,2018. The
Registrar referred the application to the Registration Committee based on the concern that the

Appellant had not completed the requisite number of TCM patient visits, nor had he successfully
completed the PLAR case study assessment.

t9l The Registration Committee rendered its decision on August 22,2018, concluding it was

in the public interest to refuse to grant the Appellant a certificate of registration. In reaching this

decision, the Committee had the benefit of written submissions from the Appellant. These

submissions set out, among other things, that his father's recent passing had affected his
performance in the PLAR case study assessments. He also referenced Mr. Kwan's report and

Mr. Kwan's determination that the Appellant's patient visits constituted TCM patient visits.T

[10] The Registration Committee was not satisfied that the Appellant met the required TCM
competencies. Neither was it convinced that the "significant deficiencies" in his knowledge of
TCM could be remedied by imposing terms, conditions or limitations on his certificate of
registration, noting it was o1ery concerned" with the findings in his PLAR case study assessments.

The committee expressed a particular concern that his treatment plans could compromise his
patients' health. While sympathetic about the passing of his father, the Committee wrote that in
the absence of evidence that he stopped his chiropractic or TCM practice this could not explain
why the Appellant could not satisfy the PLAR requirement, which tests for already-acquired skills.
Lastly, the Registration Committee explained that while it may have exempted the Appellant from
the required number of patient visits, the issue was moot as he had not satisfied the PLAR
requirement. The Registration Committee found that there was no evidence to justify exempting
him from the PLAR requirement.8

The Board Denies the Appellant's Requests to Adiourn

tl1] On September 2I,2018, the Appellant requested that the Board review the decision on his

application for registration. The parties set a timetable for the exchange of materials in May 2019

7S.9(3)(a)ofO,Reg.27ll3requiresa Grandparentedapplicanttohaveatleastthreeyearsofclinicalexperienceinthe
profession consisting of at least 1,200 traditional Chinese medicine patient visits.
8 Registration Committee Decision [B I 32-B I 35].

832

=:
c

\--J

w
rl0
()
az
C)
cr)
N(){\



4

833
(the "May 2019 Timetable"), pursuant to which the Appellant was required to provide 15 days'
notice of any witnesses he intended to call. He was also required to provide any expert reports he
intended to rely on 45 days in advance of the hearing.

ll2l On December 10, 2019, the College provided the Board with two documents: 1) Mr.
Kwan's report from 2016, and2\ the College's letter dated June 10,2016 informing the Appellant
of its decision to register him in the Grandparented class. The College forwarded these documents
to the Appellant on January 3,2020. Both had been disclosed to him in 2016 during his application
to register as a Grandparented member.

[13] On January 7,2020, the Appellant requested an adjournment of the Board hearing
scheduled for January 14,2020. He said he needed more time to prepare his case and review the
documents sent on January 3. He also stated he required full disclosure. The College responded
that it had met its disclosure obligations. The Board denied the request, noting the documents were
no[ new Lo him.

lI4J The Appellant renewed his request for an adjournment at the hearing on January 14,2020,
submitting that he wished to have his PLAR case study assessments reviewed by an independent
expert. ln connection with this, he asked the College to disclose information about the PLAR
evaluation process. Despite the May 201 9 Timetable, he indicated for the first time that he intended
to adduce an expert report. The Board denied the request. It was not satisfied that the Appellant
had taken concrete steps to line up an expert. Further, he did not meet the requirement to provide
the expert report 45 days before the hearing. Finally, the information requested about the PLAR
evaluation process would compromise the integrity of the assessment and the College was not
prepared to disclose it.

The Board ConJirms the Registration Committee's Decision

[15] The Board determined the issue on the application was whether the Appellant had satisfied
the PLAR requirement. It answered this question in the negative, largely on the basis of the
evaluation reports from his two attempts in 2017. The Board had previously found the PLAR
process was 'orelevant, comprehensive and fair", consistent with the College's public interest
mandate.e The Board found the evidence the Appellant put forward to challenge this process was
not compelling. The Appellant's reliance on a textbook prepared by Howard Xu, an acupuncturist
whose certificate of registration was revealed to be suspended at the time, was not persuasive as it
was not a resource endorsed by the College. The Board concluded that the Appellant had not met
the PLAR requirement and that an exemption would be inconsistent with the College's mandate
to protect public safety by ensuring members have demonstrated competency according to
professional standards.

Issues

t16l This oppeal raises the following issucs:

Issue 1: Did the Board err by denying the Appellant's request for an adjournment?

e Decision, at paru. 82, citing C.L.C. v College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of
Ontario,2Ol9 CanLII 24916, atpara. 58 PLq.

5:c
O

co

Oa
Z
O
N
c)
N



5 834
Issue 2: Did the Board err by determining that the Appellant did not meet the requirements
to be registered in the General Class?

Court's Jurisdiction

[17] This court has jurisdiction to hear the appeal pursuant to s. 70 of the Code. The appeal may
be made on questions of law or fact or both. The court has all the powers the Board had when it
dealt with the matter, specifically:

Confirming the order made by the panel.

Requiring the Registration Committee to make an order directing the Registrar to
issue a certificate of registration to the applicant if the applicant successfully
completes any examinations or training the Registration Committee may specify.

Requiring the Registration Committee to make an order directing the Registrar to
issue a certificate of registration to the applicant and to impose any terms,
conditions and limitations the Board considers appropriate.

Referring the matter back to the Registration Committee for further consideration
by a panel, together with any reasons and recommendations the Board considers
appropriate.

Any orders under subparagraph 3. may be made only if the applicant substantially qualifies for
registration and where the panel of the Registration Committee exercised its powers improperly.l0

Standard of Review

[18] Appellate standards of review apply: Correctness on a question of law, palpable and
overriding effor on questions of fact and mixed fact and law, unless there is an extricable question
of law.11

[19] The Respondent submits that both issues raised on the appeal are questions of mixed fact
and law. Further, it submits that the question of whether to grant an adjoumment is discretionary
and contextual as the decision-maker must balance the interests of the parties along side timely
dispositions and the administration ofjustice.

Positions of the Parties

Issue #1: Did the Board err by denying the Appellant's requestfor an adjournment?

Appellant's Position

l20l The Appellant submits the Board erred by:

to Code, ss. 22(6)-(7), 7 0(3).
tl Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration) v. Vavilov, 2019 SCC 65, atpan. 17; Housen v. Nikolaisen,2002
SCC 33, atparas. 8-18;26-37.

1

2

3

4

=
-tc(!

\l(o

L]az
f)
N
O
N



-6-
835

Denying his request for an adjournment despite the Respondent's violation of its
obligation to provide complete disclosure pursuant to s. 16.1 of the Code and Rules

15.5 and 15.6 of the Board's Consolidated Rules of Practice and Procedure.r2

Underappreciating the importance of registration for the Appellant's livelihood.

Making a factual finding that Mr. Kwan's report had been disclosed to the
Appellant.

Issue #2: Did the Board err by determining that the Appellant did not meet the requirements to
be registered in the General Class?

l2Il The Appellant submits that the Board erred by:

concluding there was no information before the Board that could challenge the

PLAR assessment.

The Board ignored the Howard Xu textbook. It did not refute the Appellant's
arguments that the textbook is authoritative and that the answers he provided using

that textbook were correct.

The Board mischaracterized the nature of the Appellant's appeal as a challenge

against the PLAR requirement rather than the process by which his answers were

evaluated.

a

a

a

=:c
a6

€
1\

z
{̂f)(\
N

a

a

a

Failing to address issues in the College's registration process exposed by the
suspension of Howard Xu.

Resoondent's Position

l22l The Respondent submits that the Appellant has not demonstrated a palpable and overriding
error in the Board's decision. It was reasonable for the Board to determine that sending a copy of
Mr. Kwan's report to the Appellant in January 2000 when it was a document already in his
possession from the 201 6 proceedings was not a sufficient reason to grant an adjoumment. Further,
the PLAR is an established basis on which the Committee may refuse to issue a certificate of
registration. The evidence here is that the Appellant did not meet the PLAR competency
assessment. It was reasonable for the Board to determine that the Xu textbook was not a reliable
basis upon which to challenge the results of the two PLAR competency assessments.

12 Consolidated Rules of Practice od Health Professions Appeal and Review Board and the Health Services Appeal

and Review Board, May lst, 2013.

o



-7 -
836

Analvsis

Issue #I: Did the Bourd ew by denying the Appellant's requestfor an adjournment?

L23l In the administrative law context, this court has held that decisions of a hearing panel are
discretionary as an inherent aspect of a tribunal's power to control its own processes. These
decisions are usually accorded deference unless they amount to a breach of natural justice or
procedural fairness. The court should examine whether the decision maker exercised its discretion
in an unreasonable or non-judicious fashion in light of all the competing interests it had to balance
and the interests ofjustice.l3

l24l On January 7,2020, the Appellant requested an adjournment of the hearing scheduled for
January 14,2020. The Board's reasons for denying that request are set out below:

Requests for Adjournment of the Board Hearing

42 On January 7,2020, the Applicant wrote to the Board requesting
an adjournment of the hearing of his application for registration. The
Applicant told the Board that he needed more time to properly
present his case and review the documents that he had received from
the College and obtain "full disclosure". The Applicant stated that
his repeated requests for disclosure from the College remained
unanswered.

43. Counsel for the College acknowledged that it would not suffer
prejudice should the request for adjournment be granted, as it did
not plan to call any witnesses at the hearing. However, Counsel
indicated that disclosure had been provided to the Applicant and the
College was anxious to "bring the matter to a close."

44. The Board noted that the documents provided by the College in
December 2019 were documents that had originated at the time of
the Applicant's application for registration in the Grandparented
class. The Applicant had referred to the expert report of Richard
Kwan, R.CTMP in his submissions to the College in May 2018.
There was no suggestion that the Applicant had not received the
letter addressed to him from the College in June 2016 informing him
of the Committee's decision to issue him with a certificate of
registration as a member of the Grandparented class.

45. The Board therefore determined that the documents sent to the
Applicant on January 3,2020 were not new documents and they did
not provide grounds for granting an adjournment of the hearing.

46. In respect of the Applicant's requests for disclosure from the
College, it appeared to the Board that the disclosure provided by the

t3 Evgueni Todorov and Sophia Nikolov v. Ontario Securities Commission,20l8 ONSC 4503 (Div. Ct.), at paru.34;
Senjulev. Law Society of Upper Canada,2013 ONSC 2817 (Div. Ct.), at paras.2l-22.

=Jc
ts

srl)
co

az

N
c)
N



-8-
837

College pursuant to its duties under section 21(3) of the Code, had

been provided to the Applicant in electronic form and in bound hard

copy. There was no information before the Board regarding other
requests for disclosure.

47. Accordingly, the Board refused the Applicant's written request

for an adjoumment.

l25l In support of his argument that he had not received Mr. Kwan's report prior to January 3,

2020,rcgrettably, the Appellant misquotes the email Ms. Durcan of the College wrote to the Board

on December 19, 2019. Inparagraph 28 of his factum the Appellant states:

28.Rebecca Durcan confirms for the CTCMPAO in her email of
January 3,2020 that the Appellant has never received Dr. Richard
Kwan's expert opinion prior to this ernail.

Rebecca Durcan's email of January 3,2020 states:

Mr. Venneri made reference to the expert opinion in his
submissions, however a copy of the expert opinion was not
provided to him. (Emphasis added).

126l The email was December 19, 2019, not January 3,2020. The Appellant added the words
"to him", which changes the meaning. The correct meaning appears to be that the College was

providing to the Board a copy of the expert report to which the Appellant had referred in his

strbmissions to the College without his having provided a copy of the report to the Board. None of
this disproves the April 14, 2016 letter showing that the Appellant's counsel was sent Mr. Kwan's
report and responded to it years before the hearing before the Board took place. Having made

reference to Mr. Kwan's repoft in his submissions, it is apparent that thc Appcllant was aware of
the report. If he no longer had a copy and required it, he could have requested it from the College

which he did not.

l27l Moreover, the Board's procedural rules apply to disclosure of expert reports the party

intends to rely on at the hearing.la Mr. Kwan's report is irrelevant to the issues before the College

and the Board. Mr. Kwan reviewed three patient records of the Appellant and opined in April,
2016 that the Appellant had conducted "traditional Chinese medicine patient visits." He did not

conduct a competency review which is what is relevant to the decision from which the Appellant

appeals.

l28l The Board made a finding of fact that the documents sent to the Appellant on January 4,

2020 were not new documents to the Appellant and that he had received disclosure from the

College pursuant to its duties. The record supports this finding. There is no palpable and

overriding error in the Board's exercise of its discretion that there were not grounds for granting

an adjournment of the hearing.

-.Jc
(g
O
sl

av

N
O
N

14 S.16.1 of the Code and Rule 15.5 and 15.6 of the Board's Consolidated Rules of Practice and Procedure



-9-
838

l29l The Board's refusal to adjourn the proceedings at the outset of the hearing so that the
Appellant could retain an independent expert to have his PLAR case study assessment reviewed
was also not an error. Again, this is a discretionary decision which requires the Board to balance
the interests of the party seeking the adjournment with the administration ofjustice including the
timely resolution of proceedings. The Board gave appropriate reasons for refusing the further
request to adjourn the proceedings-that there was no indication that the Appellant had lined up
experts who would provide an opinion regarding PLAR, that he had an obligation to provide any
report he intended to rely on at least 45 days before the hearing and the College's position which
had been conveyed to him in December 2017 that disclosing further information on competency
assessments could compromise the integrity of the assessment process.

130] The Board exercised its discretion in a reasonable, judicious fashion in light of all the
competing interests it had to balance and the interests ofjustice. There was no breach of natural
justice or procedural fairness in either of the Board's decisions not to adjourn and deference is
owed to these decisions.

[31] There is no merit to the Appellant's submission that the Respondent was in violation of its
obligation to provide complete disclosure. Nor is there any merit to the Appellant's submission
that the Board erred by underappreciating the importance of registration for the Appellant's
livelihood. The Board's role was to determine whether the Appellant did not meet the
requirements as a TCM practitioner and acupuncturist, not whether the registration was important
for his livelihood.

l32l There was no onus on the Board to refute the Appellant's submission that the Howard Xu
textbook was authoritative. The suspension of Howard Xu was not before the Board.

Issue #2: Did the Board err by determining thut the Appellant did not meet the requirements to
be registered in the General Cluss?

[33] The Appellant failed the PLAR case study assessment on two occasions with a finding of
"significant deficiencies" in his knowledge of TCM "which could potentially compromise a
patient's health." Apart from defending his own answers, the Appellant relied upon the Howard
Xu textbook which was not endorsed by the College. Mr. Xu was suspended from the College and
facing professional misconduct proceedings where it was alleged that he issued false or misleading
documents that facilitated false or misleading applications to the College. There was no error in
the Board's determination that the Xu textbook was not a reliable basis upon which to challenge
the results of the Appellant's two PLAR competency assessments. In these circumstances, the
Board did not err in concluding that there was no information before the Board that challenged the
PLAR assessments.

Conclusion

l34l In the result, the appeal is dismissed.

=:-$

(o
oo

00z
o
c/)
N
N



-t0-
839

Costs

t35l The Respondent is entitled to the costs of the appeal in the amount of $14,000

Backhouse J.

I agree Newton J.

I agree
O'Brien J.

Released: February 8, 2023

=:c
(c

s

O
U)zo
c.)NoN



840
CITATION: College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners

and Acupuncturists of Ontario, 2023 ONSC 864

DIVISIONAL COURT FILE NO.: DC-21-010-00
DATE:20230208

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

DIVISIONAL COURT

Backhouse, Newton, OoBrien JJ.

BETWEEN:

MICHAEL VENNERI
Appellant

-and-

COLLEGE OF TRADITIONAL CHINESE
MEDICINE PRACTITIONERS AND
ACUPUNCTURISTS OF ONTARIO

Respondent

REASONS FOR DECISION

Backhouse J.

=lc(!
v(os
az
o
(\
O
N

Released: February 8, 2023



Submitted to CCO April 12, 2023

ITEM 4.2

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Quality Assurance Committee Report to Gouncil
April 19,2023

841

Members:
Dr. Paul Groulx, Chair
Ms Robyn Gravelle
Dr. Kyle Grice
Ms Zoe Kariunas
Dr. Elizabeth Anderson-Peacock, non-council member

Staff:
Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar
Dr. Katherine Tibor, Director of Professional Practice
Ms. Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Gommiftee Mandate

To develop, establish and maintain:
o programs and standards of practice to assure the quality of the profession;
o standards of knowledge and skill and programs to promote continuing

competence among members; and
o standards ofprofessional ethics.

To develop mechanisms and protocols to assess the knowledge, skills and
continuing competence of members.I

Since the last meeting of Council, the Quality Assurance (QA) Committee met once on March
22,2023.

The Committee has the following recommendations to Council:

Recommendation

That Council approve that the amendment to Guideline G-014: Delegation, Assignment and
Referral of Care approved at the February 24, 2023 Council Meeting be distributed to
stakeholders, including members, for feedback before final approval.

The QA Committee had further review and discussion about the amendment to Guideline G-014
approved by Council at the February 24,2023 Council meeting. Upon further review, the
Committee is of the opinion that the amendment may have unintended consequences.

a

a



QA Report to Council: April 19, 2023

842
For this reason and for added transparency, the committee felt the CCO would benefit from
receiving feedback from stakeholders, including members prior to final approval.

Peer and Practice Assessment

Peer and Practice Assessments (PPA) have been completed for the 202212023 cycle, with
dispositions having been finalized. Atotal of 223 PPA 1.0 and 217 PPA2.0 were completed
during this cycle.

The Committee is preparing for the next cycle of Peer and Practice Assessments (PPA) and

selections for members who will be assessed have been made. CCO is finalizing updates to the
PPA forms to reflect amended standards of practice, policies and guidelines. Thank you to Dr.
Katherine Tibor and the CCO stafffor managing this program, which continues to be a great

success for the Quality Assurance program.

Peer Assessor Training Day - January 28, 2023

The Committee reviewed the feedback and ooparking lot" information from the Peer Assessor
Training Day on January 28,2023. Specifically, the Committee reviewed presentations from the
peer assessors on further ways of assessing competency in controlled acts and assessment on
issues related to diversity, equity and inclusion.

As part of its review on competency in controlled acts, the Committee reviewed the peer and
practice assessment practices of other health regulatory colleges and statistics based on2023
renewal on practice questions, including those related to the performance of controlled acts. The
Conunittee is of the opinion that CCO may benefit from further information and statistics related
to the performance of controlled acts. The Committee will be reviewing these renewal questions
further with an objective to bring recommendations to the Registration Committee to expand on
these questions to gather more detailed statistics on the performance of controlled acts for 2024
renewal.

A big thank you to all peer assessors for their presentations and for their continued work as

ambassadors for CCO as part of this successful program. As well, thank you to Dr. Katherine
Tibor for doing such an excellent job in organizing this day and managing the PPAprogram.

Wrtual Care/Tblecare

The QA Committee reviewed options for developing a more permanent document on virtual
care, including reviewing a draft guideline on virtual care and draft amendments to current
standards. The Committee is of the view that a stand-alone guideline would be appropriate and

consistent with the practices of other Ontario health regulatory colleges. The Committee is in the

2



QA Report to Council: April 19, 2023

843final stages of development of this draft guideline and anticipates that it will have

recommendations for Council at the next Council meeting.

Chiropractic C are of Animals

The Committee reviewed the consultation for proposed amendments to the Veterinarians Act, as

well as past communications and submission from CCO on the chiropractic care of animals.
Standard of Practice 5-009: Chiropractic Care ofAnimals sets the standards, including
educational requirements of 200 hours of formal training, for the chiropractic care of animals
provided by members of CCO.

The Committee anticipates that CCO will make submissions, consistent with its mandate and

past communications on this topic, as part of this consultation for the May 3I,2023 deadline.

CCO Workshops

CCO continues to present the Regulatory Excellencefor CCO Members Worlrshop (REW)

virtually, with the next workshop taking place on Jvrte2,2023. The workshop is now mandatory
to be completed at least once every three CE cycles (six years) to be completed by June 20, 2028,
in accordance with amendments to Standard of Practice 5-003: Professional Portfolio. The

workshop continues to evolve to include content related to the prevention of sexual abuse of
patients, communications and boundaries with patients, orthotics and assistive devices, and

advertising, websites and social media, including examples of Do's and Don'ts related to
advertising.

The Committee continued to have discussion on using educational software to introduce more
interaction and questions and answers as part of this workshop, and possibly having it available
on the CCO website to engage with at any time.

I would like to thank the members and staff of the QA committee for all of their contributions.

Respectfully submitted,

Dr. Paul Groulx
Chair, Quality Assurance Committee

3



|TEM 4.2.3

Responses of CCO Members Registered in the General (i.e., Active) Class of Registration for
2023 Renewal of Selected Practice-Related Questions

Version Date: March 22,2023

850

Yes No Did not answer

lwill provide direct
patient care

4748 92 LT

Communicate a

Diagnosis

4788 52 LT

Moving the joints of
the spine beyond a

person's usual
physiological range
of motion using a

fast, low amplitude
thrust

4734 106 LT

Putting a finger
beyond the anal
verge for the
purpose of
manipulating the
tailbone

888 3952 TI

Acupuncture 2256 2584 LL

Chiropractic Care of
Animals

L29 47LL LL



ITEM 4.3 Prepared Internally

Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario
Registration Committee Report to Gouncil
April 19,2023 851

Members:

Staff Support:

Mr. Markus de Domenico, Chair
Mr. Gagandeep Dhanda
Dr. Colin Goudreau
Dr. Julia Viscomi

Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar
Ms Madeline Cheng, Registration Coordinator
Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

a

Committee Mandate

o To develop, establish and maintain standards of qualification for persons to be
issued certifi cates of registration.

o To review applications for registration referred by the Registrar.
o To determine the terms, conditions or limitations, if any, for granting a certificate

ofregistration to an applicant.

I
The Registration Committee met once on March 28,2023, since the last meeting of
Council.

Amendments to the Registration Regulation (Emergency Class of Registration)

Council members will recall thatatthe February 24,2023 Council meeting, council
approved the circulation of proposed amendments to the Registration Regulation to
create an emergency class of registration. This is a regulation which requires a 60-day
circulation period. The 60-day circulation period will expire on April 28,2023, and
CCo's next regularly scheduled Council meeting is not until June 21,2-023.The
Ministry has requested that the regulation be approved and submitted on or before
May l, 2023. Accordingly, the following recommendation is for Council's
consideration:

Recommendation I

That Council approve the Registrotion Regulation, Emergency Class of Registration
amendments, subject to s review offurther feedback submitted by April 28, 2023.

The feedback to date about the regulation amendments has been minimal and
generally supportive, so we do not expect overwhelmingly different feedback over the
next l0 days. In submitting the feedback and approval of the regulation, the Ministry
requires that we report on how the public and elected members voted, so the minutes
will need to reflect a recorded vote.



Registration Committee Report to Council: April 19, 2023

Just after the deadline date of April 28,2023,Mr. Friedman will circulate any 852
additional feedback to Council to review. This will be accompanied by a request for
confirmation that Council ratifu its decision to approve the regulation.

2

o

a

Amendments to the Temporary CertiJicate of Registration Application

The Committee has a further recommendation for Council's approval:

Recommendation 2

The Council approve minor amendments to the Temporary Certificate of Registration
Application Form to include questions related to Clinical Competency Examinations

The Committee is recommending amendments to the Temporary Certificate
application form to include questions related to Clinical Competency Examinations.
Applicants for the Temporary Certificate may be applying from a jurisdiction that
does not require the Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board (CCEB) examinations,
or they may have been unsuccessful on the examinations, and the additional questions
would gather this information.

Additional Reporting

The Committee continues to review applications for registration referred to the
Committee. Since the last meeting of Council, approximately l7 new applicants have
been registered as General (i.e., acl.ive) members of CCO.

CCO continues to administer the Legislation and Ethics Examination virtually. CCO has

scheduled the next sitting of the Legislative and Ethics Examination for June 1,2023.

The deadline for 2023 rcnewal was March I,2023. CCO has suspended approximately
27 members and 3 professional corporations for non-payment of 2023 renewal fees. This
is a very low number compared to past years. Thank you to CCO staff for sending out
continuous reminders to members and professional corporations of renewal deadlines.

The Registration Committee continues to comply with Office of the Fairness
Commissioner (OFC) reporting requirements and has posted its202l Annual Report on
the CCO website. As the OFC moves to a risk informed compliance framework, CCO has

been identified as a "full compliance" regulatory college.



Registration Committee Report to Council: April 19, 2023 3

TotalGlasses
4971General

Inactive 22s
Retired 172

All classes s308

Current Member Status

Chart L: Statistics as of A 1 2023

Chart2z tn statistics for F 2023 - A I 2023

Chart 3: of Graduation for New Members

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the committee members and staff support for the Registration
Committee for their contributions.

Respectfully submitted,

Mr. Markus de Domenico
Chair, Registration Committee

853

Descriotion Total
New members (Including Provisional) t7
Female 8

Male 9

CMCC J

NCHS (Previously NYCC) 5

D'Youville 1

Life University 1

1NZCC
2University of Western States

1Palmer (Florida)
1Logan
2NHSU



3122123,3:30 PM College of Chiropractors of Ontario

|TEM 4.3.1 854
proposed Amendments to Registration Regutation: Creation of Emergency Class of
Registration - February 28, 2023

On Februa ry 24,2A23, CCO Council, approved circulation for feedback of proposed

amendmenis to Regulation L37lLL: Registration to create an Emergency ctass of registration.

Amendments to the Regutated Heatth Professions Act, J.991 require atl colleges to create an

Emergency ctass of registration, in accordance with Ontario Regutation 5OBl22: Registration

Requirements.

pursuant to section 95t1,4) of the Heatth Professions Procedurat Code under the Regutated

Heatth Professions Act, 1991, regulations must be circulated to members at least 60 days

before they are approved by Councit.

CCO's draft regulation is generatty consistent with the regulations of other regulators, posted

on the Ontario Government's Regulatory Registry.

Ptease review the foltowing documents and provide any feedback by April28, 2023,9 am.

> proposed Amendments to Regutation L37lLL: Registration with rationate

> Complete Regutation L37lLL: Registration with proposed amendments

> Survey for Feedback

CCO Councit will review att feedback from stakehotders, including members. as part of its

detiberations before submitting the regutation to the Ministry of Health for processing. Thank

you for participating in the setf regutation of the chiropractic profession in Ontario'

https://cco.on,ca l2o2Sloll2'lgroposed-amendmente-to-regiskation-regulation/
1t'l



3122123,3:31 PM O. Reg. 5OBl22; REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS

855

Ontario@
ftaaleis

Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991

oHTARTO RE€ULATION 5q8rU2

REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS

Gonsolidation Periodr From January 1,2023 to the 9:tgqgg!g1949y dalg.

Last amendment E@.

Legislative History: [ + ]

I[r1s is the English version of a bilingual regulation.

Definition
1. ln the Act,

"Canadian experience" means any work experience or experiential training obtained in Canada.

Tlmely decislons and responses

2, (1) The Registrar shall, within 15 days after receiving an application for registration, provide the applicant with a written

acknowledgment of receipt of the application along with either,

(a) confirmation that the applicant has submitted all of the required materials and information; or

(b) details regarding what other materials or information are required from the applicant in order to complete the application.

(2) lf an applicant provides materials or information in response to a notice under clause (1) (b), the Registrar shall, within 15 days after

receiving the materials or information, provide the applicant with a written acknowledgement of receipt along with either,

(a) confirmation that the applicant has submitted all of the required materials and information; or

(b) details regarding what other materials or information are required from the applicant in order to complete the application,

(3) The Registrar shall make their decision under subsection 15 (1) of the Code to register an applicant or refer the application to the

Registration Committee within 30 days after receiving a complete application that includes all of the required materials and information

(4) Subsection (3) does not apply if the Registrar needs to verify the authenticity or accuracy of the materials and information or assess

an applicant's educational program or prior learning experience for equivalency with prograrns or experiences that have already been

approved, but,

(a) the Registrar must complete their verification or assessment within a reasonable period of time; and

(b) the Registrar must make the decision described in subsection (2) within 15 days after completing the verification or assessment.

https:l/www.ontario. callaws/regulation/220508 1t2



3122123,3:31 PM O, Reg, 508/22: REGISTMTION REoUIREMENTS

Language profioiency testing requirements
3. (1) An applicant for registration satisfies a College's English or French language proficiency testing requirement if the applicant
demonstrates, within two years beforo the date of making the application, English or French language proficiency at a level satisfactory
to the College on a test that is approved under the lmmigration and Refugee Protection Act (Canada) for use in assessing language
proficiency.

(2) Subsection (1) does not limit a College's ability to accept other examinations, tests or assessmenis as evidence of English or
French language proficiency.

Exemplion from Canadian experience requirements

4. (1 ) Section 16,2 of the Code does not apply to a requirement for Canadian experience if the College permits applicants that have

equivalent experience in another country to meet the requirement.

(2) Section 16.2 of the Code does not apply to a requirement for Canadian experience if that requirement must be met while lhe
applicant is registered in a different class of registration established by the College.

(3) Section 16,2 of the Code does not apply to the requirement to complete a structured practical training program as a condition of
registration as a pharmacy technician.

Note: On December 31,2024, subsection 4 (3) of the Regulation is revoked, (See: O. Reg. 508122, s. 6)

Note: Section 5 comes into force on August 31, 2023, the day subsection 3 (3) of Schedule 6 to the Pandemlc and
Emergency Preparedness Act, 2022 comes into force.

Emergency classes of registration

5' (1) The regulations establishing an emelgency class of registration required by section 16.3 of the Code must include at least the
following requirements:

1. They must specify emergency circumstances that will cause the class to be open for issuance and renewal.

2. They must specify that the emergency class of certificates of registration expire no more than one year after they are issued
but are renewable for the same period of time, with no limit on the number of times they may be renewed as long as the

emergency circumstances persist.

3. They must specify circumstances in which a member of lhe emergency class may apply for another class of registration and

must exempl the applicant from at least some registration requirements that would ordinarily apply to the application.

(2) Paragraph 3 of subsection (1) does not prevent the Council from establishing alternative requirements that must be met by the
applicant,

6. Ourreo (rnovloes FoR AMENDMENTs ro rHts Recuulolr).

7. Orr,ttrreo (nnovroes FoR coMtNG tNTo FoRcE oF pRovtstoNs oF THts RecumrtoH).

f&sga's

856

hft ps ://www.ontario. call aws/regulation/220508 2t2



3122123,3:31 PM

Current Proposals

Regulatory Registry - Current Proposals

857
Instrument Type;

PirilCrj i)\iltc L'ftrrrfl.i(,tr-rl:, i)tie: l")arii.:

A Permanent Frameurork for Target Benefits
The Ministry of Finance has launched its consultations on proposed regulations necessary for implementing a

permanent target benefit framework in Ontario. This permanent framework would replace the temporary funding
regulations currently in place for Specified Ontario Multi-Employer Pension Plans (SOMEPPs), which expire
beginning in 2024. The objective of the proposed permanent framework for target benefit pension plans is to
strengthen governance, improve transparency and support long-term plan sustainability for plan members and
employers through written policies, disclosures and funding requirements. Regulations for consultation will be

posted to this website in stages.
Posting Datci March 15,2023
open for comments: March 15, 2023 - June 3O, 2o23

A Proposal to Modernize the Veterinarians Act

The Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs (OMAFRA) is consulting on a proposal for leglslative
changes to modernize the Veterinarians Act, to allow for legislation and regulations that are flexible, modern, and
reflective of the current practice of veterinary medicine, including more current approaches to professional

regulation and governance.
Posting Date: March lr 2023
Open for Comments: March 1, 2023 - May 3O, 2O23

Moving to a project list approach under the Environmental Assessment Act {updated) (source:

Environmental Registry)

Ontario is updating ourthe previous proposal published on November2I,2QZL, to propose changes in four
areas: to the proposed designation of rail, multi-lane highways, electricity transmission and waterfront projects.

Posting Dater March tO,2023
Open for Comments: March 10, 2{,23 - May 9, 2023

College of Nurses of Ontario; Creation of Enrergency Class Certificate of Registration

College of Nurses of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 275/94 made under the Nursing Act, 1991, to
create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Date: March 16,2023
Open for Comments: March 16,2022 - May 3,2O23

Fending the Minister of Finance's approval of the Financial Services Regulatory Authority of
Ontario (FSRA)'s proposed amendment to the Unfair and Deceptive Acts or Practices Rule
(UDAP) to ban deferred sales charges in segregated funds, public consultation on amendments
to s,10 of O.Reg 4OA/tZ and s.t 2{l} of O.Reg 347 /A4 under the Insurance Act.

The Ministry of Finance is proposing regulatory amendments that would enable FSRA's proposed amendments to
the UDAP rule to ban deferred sales charges in segregated funds, This ban would protect consumers from high

fees that they may not anticipate and is aligned with the direction announced by insurance regulators across
Canada.
Posting Date: March t7,2423
Open for Commentsl March 17, 2OZg - May 3, 2O23

Proposed amendments to Regulation 414: Grapes for ProcessinE - Marketing under the Farm
Products Marketing Act
The Ontario Farm Products Marketing Commission is proposing amendments to Regulation 414: Grapes for
Processing - Marketing under the Farm Products Marketing Act to allow negotiating agencies established under
the regulation to negotiate multi-year agreements.
Posting Date: March t6' 2023
Open for Comments: March 16, 2(,23 - May 1, 2O23

https://www.ontariocanada.com/registrylqu ickSearch.do?ssarchType=curreni 1t7



3122123,3:31 PM Regulatory Registry - Current Proposals

National and Ontario Cod€ Consultations on the 2O25 National Construction Codes

Ontario's Building Code is a regulation under the Building Code Act, 1992 which sets out mlnimum administrative
and technical requirements for new construction, renovation, and change of use of buildings. New editions or
major amendments to Ontario's Building Cdde are generally released every five years to coincide with updates to
the National Construction Codes.
Posting Dater February 27,2023
Open for Commentc: February 27, 2023 - April 27, 2023

College of Chiropractors of Ontario: Creation of Ernergency Class Certificate of Registration
College of Chiropractors of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. L37ltt made under the Chiropractic Act,
1991, to create this new certificate of registration,
Posting Date: March 8,2023
Open for Comm€nts: March 8, 2(,23 - A9rll24,2O23

College of Psychologists of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of Registration
The College of Psychologists of Ontario is proposlng amendments to O.Reg. 74/L5 made under the Psychology
Act, I991, to create thls new certlficate of registration.
Posting Date: March 8.2023
Open for Comments: March 8, 2023 - Apr-l 24, 2O23

College of Optometrists of Ontarior Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of Registration
College of Optometrists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. $7/93 made under the Optometry Act,
1991, to create this new certificate of registration among other changes.
Posting Oate: March 8f 2023
Open for Comments: l.larch 8, 2023 - Aptil 24, 2023

College of Dental Technologists of Ontariol Creation of EmerEency Class Certificate of
Registration
College of Dental Technologists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O. Reg. 974/93 made under the Dental
Technology Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of registration amongst other proposed amendments,
Posting Date: lrtarch 8f 2023
Open for Comments: March 8, 2023 ' April 24, 2O23

Prcposed regulatory changes to closure plan rehabalitation requirements for advanced
exploration and mine production and adding an additional class of facilities to the list of such
classes that are excluded from the definition of "mine". (aource: Environmental Registry)

If enacted, Bill 71, will add clarity and flexibility to mine rehabilitation requirements. Proposed regulatory
amendments to closure planning and the Mine Rehabilitation Code would make the rehabilitation framework more
adaptable to new technology and expert-driven, while ensuring protection for the environrnent, public health and
safety.
Posting Dat€r March 9,2OZg
Open for Comments: March 9, 2()23 - April 23, 2023

Fropasal to make consequential administrative amendrnents to several regulations under the
Mining r4ct (source: Environmental Registry)

If enacted, Bill 71, Building More Mines Act, 2023 will create new statutory authorities for conditional filing and
phased financial assurance, and the decision-maker for some decisions under the Mining Act will change. As a
result, administrative amendments to several Ontario regulations will be required. This posting describes the
proposed regulatory changes.
Posting Dato! l"lorch 9, 2023
Open for Commentsr March 9, 2023 - April 23, 2O23

Proposed Amendments to R,R.O. 1990, Regulation 430: Sheep - Plan and R,R.O" 1990,
Regulation 429: Sheep - Marketing under the Farm Products Marketing Act,
Following a request of the Ontario Sheep Marketing Agency (OSMA), the Ontario Farm Products Marketing
Commission (Commission) is proposing amendments to Regulation 430: Sheep - Plan that would introduce a limit
to the number of years a sheep producer could serve consecutively as a member on the board before having a
break in service as well as change the board's name from OSMA to "Ontario Sheep Farmers". A consequential

hftps://www.ontariocanada.comlregistry/quickSearch.do?searchType-cunent

858

2t7



3122123,3:31 PM Regulatory R€gistry - Current Proposals

change to the name of the board in Regulation 429i Sheep - Marketing is also required
Posting Date: March 7.2(,23
Open for Comments: March 7, 2023 - Aprll 21. 2023

Amendnrents to the Mining Act: Closure Plans and Financial Assurance (sourcei Environm€ntal
Registry)

Through Bill 71, Building More Mines Act, 2023, the Minlstry of Mines is proposing to make amendments to the
closure plan framework under the Mining Act to improve timelines for preparing closure plans, reduce
proponents' up-front expenses for opening or changlng a mine, reduce the frequency of notifications and closure
plan amendments required, and improve flexibility in closure planning.
Posting Date: March 2,2023
Open for Comments: March 2, 2023 - April 16' 2023

Arnendments to the Mining Actl Recovery of Minerals and Decision-mak;ng Authorities (sourcer

Environm€ntal Rcgistry)

Through Bill 71, Building More Mines Act, 2023, the Ministry of Mines is proposing amendments to the Mining Act
that would: (1) amend one of the requirements for obtaining a "recovery permit" and (2) provide the Minister

with decision-making authorities in respect of exploratlon and mine rehabilltation.
Posting Date: March 2,2023
open for Comments: March 2, 2oZ3 - April 16, 2O23

Froposed, Building More Mines llct/ 2O23 (source: Environmental Registry)

Through Bill 71, Building More Mines Act,2Q23, the Ministry of Mines is proposing to make amendments to the
Mining Act that are intended to ensure Ontario has a modern and competitive regime for mineral exploration and

development. The proposed amendments aim to reduce admlnistrative burden, clarify requirements for
rehabilitation and create regulatory efficlencies
Posting Dats! March 2,2023
Open for Comments: March 2. 2023 - April 16. 2O23

Froposed modernization of the Agricultural Research Institute of Ontario (ARIO) Act

The Agricultural Research Institute of Ontarlo Act dates to L962 with few changes since that time. The ARIO Act

has served ARIO, government and industry well, but does not expressly reflect current and future research and

innovation needs. The Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs is proposing to modernize the ARIO Act
which would help to ensure that the ARIO continues to be relevant today and serve the future needs of Ontario's
agriculture sector. In addition to the proposed amendment to the Act, OMAFM is proposed to amend O, Reg,

I2l/95 to update the definition of agricultural lands.
Posting Date: March 15r 2023
Open for Comments: March 15, 2OZil - April L4, 2O23

College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of Registration

The College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O,Reg. 2t8/94 made under the Dental
Hygiene Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Dater February 21,2O23
open for Comments: February 21' 2023 - April 11, 2023

College of Physiotherapists of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of Registration

College of Physiotherapists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 532/98 made under the Physiotherapy

Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Date: February 21,2O23
Open for Comments! February 21,2(,23 - April LL, 2023

Proposal to amend Ontario Regulation LGl- /L7 to the Public Lands Act to change the
requirements for camping on water over Ontario's public lands (source: Environmental Registry)

We are proposing to amend Ontario Regulation L6th7 to the Public Lands Act. The key proposed amendments
relate to conditions that would need to be met to camp on water and are intended to reduce the environmental
and social impacts of floating accommodations and long camping stays.
Posting Date: February 24,2O23
Open for Commentsi February 24,2O7t - April LL,2023

859

https:/iwww.ontariocanada.com/registrylquickSearch.do?searchType=current 317



3122123,3:31 PM Regutatory Registry - Current proposals

Froposed l\msndrnents to the General Regulation (O, R€g, 3VlOg) of the Taxation Act, ZOOT
regarding the Ontario Film and Television Tax Credit and the Ontario Production Services Tax
Credit

Proposed amendments to O. Reg, 37109 would expand eligibility of Ontario's film and televlsion tax credits to
lnclude fllm and television productions distrlbuted online and would introduce a requlrement that eligible
productions provide on-screen acknowledgement of Ontario tax credit support.
Posting Date: February 21, 2O23
Open forCommentsi Fcbruary 2L, 2023- April 11, 2023

College of Respiratory Therapists of Ontario: Creation of Ernergency Class Certificate of
Registration
The College of Respiratory Therapists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 596/94 made under the
Respiratory Therapy Act, 1991, to create this new ceftificate of registration.
Po$ting Date: Fsbruary 23,2O23
Open for Comments: February 23t 2023 - Aprll tr., 2AZg

College of Medical Laboratory Technologists of Ontario: Creation of Ernergency Class
Certificate of Registration
The College of Medical Laboratory Technologists of Ontario (CMLTO) is proposing amendments to 0. Reg. ZA7 /94
made under the Medical Laboratory Technology Act, 1991, to crcate this new certificate of registration,
Posting Date: February 21,2A23
Open for Comments: February 21r 2023 - April LL,2OZg

Coliege of Denturists of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of Registration
College of Denturists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 833/93 made under the Denturism Act,
1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
Poeting Date! February 2Lr2023
Open for Commcntst February 21f 2023 - April 11, 2023

College of Attdiologists and Speech-Language Pathologists of ontario: Creation of Fmergency
Class Certificate of Registration
College of Audiologists and Speech-Language Pathologists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 21l12
made under the Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of
registration.
Posting Dater February 21, 2O23
Open for Commentst February ztr 2023 - April 11. 2023

College af Regist*red Psyehotherapists and Registered Mental Health Therapists of Ontario:
Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of Registration
College of Registered Psychotherapists and Registered Mental Health Therapists of Ontario is proposing
amendments to O.Reg. 67115 made under the Psychotherapy Act, 2007, to create this new ceftificate of
registration.
Posting Date: February 2L,2O23
Open for Comm€nt6: February 2L,2A23 - April 11, 2023

College af Dietitians of Ontario; Creatian of Emergency Class Certificate of Registration
College of Dietitians of Ontario is proposing amendments to O,Reg. 593/94 made under the Dietetics Act. 1991,
to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Date: February 23t 2023
Opon for Commcntg: Fcbrurry 23t 2f,23 - Apl'il 11, ZOZ3

College of Kinesiologists of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of Registration
College of Kinesiologists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 4OI|I2 made under the Kinesiology Act,
2OO7, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Date: Februa|. 2?,2023
Open for Comments: February 23, 2023 - April 11, 2023

860

httpsl/www.ontariocanada,com/registrylquickSearch.do?searchType=current 4t7



3122123,3:31 PM Regulatory Registry - Current Proposals

College of Occupational Therapists of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of
Registration
College of Occupational Therapists of Ontarlo is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 226/96 made under the
Occupational Therapy Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of registration,
Posting Drte: February 23,2(J23
Open for Commentsr February 23, 2023 - April 1lf 2023

New Hobby Mineral Collecting Guide (sourcer Environmental Reglstry)

The Ministry of Mines (MINES) wants to provide fufther clarity for those requesting guidance on hobby mineral
collecting.
Posting Drte: March 2,2023
open for Comment$: March 2, 2023 - April 8, 2O23

College of Massage Therapists of Ontariol Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of
Registration
The College of Massage Therapists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O,Reg. 864/93 made under the
Massage Therapy Act, 1991, to create a new Emergency Class certificate of registration.
Posting Date: February t5,2O23
Open for Comments: February t5,2023 - April 3, 2023

College of Chiropodists of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class €ertificate of Registration
The College of Chiropodists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 830193 made under the Chiropody
Act, 1991, to create this new ceftificate of registration.
Posting Dat€: Februaty 15,2()23
Open for Comments: February 15.2023 - April 3, 2023

College of Homeopaths sf Ontario; Creation of Emergency Class Certifieate of Registration

The College of Homeopaths of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 18/14 made under the Homeopathy
Act, 2007, to create this new certiflcate of registration.
Posting Date: February 13,2O23
Open for Comment$: February 13, 2023 - March 30.2023

Fharmacy Reconciliation Adjustment Extension

The Ministry of Health is proposing amendments to Ontario Regulation 20I/96 under the Ontario Drug Benefits
Act (ODBA), to advance a shoft-term extenslon of the reconciliation adjustment to pharmacy payments under the
Ontario Drug Benefit Program, for a time-limited basis to ensure the continued financial sustainability of the
Prograrn and cooperation on necessary sector innovations and improvements are advanced, including initiatives
that consider the challenges of rural and independent pharmacies.

Posting Date: February 27,2O23
Open for Commentsr February 27,2023 - March 29t 2023

Providing Autharity to Waive or Alter the 30-day Waiting Period for elass Environmental
Assessment Projects
We have proposed an amendment to the Environmental Assessment Act to provide the Minister of the
Environment, Conservation and Parks with authority to waive or alter the 30-day waiting period following
completion of a class environmental assessment (EA) process. This will help critical projects to proceed more
quickly.
Posting Date: Februaty 27,2(,23
Open forComments: February 27,2f)23 - March 28,2A23

Centralization of Br{rader Real Estate Authority (CBREA} Proposed Legislative Amendments

The proposed amendments to the Ministry of Infrastructure Act, 2011 (MOI Act) and nine (9) other Acts would, if
passed, establish a framework to remove and/or modifu the realty authority of fourteen (14) entities under Phase
1 of the Centralization of Broader Real Estate Authority (CBREA) initiative and to provide the Minister of

. Infrastructure (the MOI Minister) with the ability to oversee and manage this real estate This would help improve
the management of realty property across ministries and entities
Posting Datei Februaty 27,2(,23
Open for Comm€nts: February 27,2023 - March 2a,2423

https:l/www.ontariocanada.com/registry/quickSearch.do?searchType=current

861

517



3122123,3:31 PM Regutatory Registry - Current pmposats

College of Medical Radiation and Imaging Technologists of ontario (cMRITo): Creation of
Emergency Class Certificate of Registration
College of Medical Radlatlon and Imaging Technologists of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. g66/93
made under the Medical Radiation and Imaging Technology Acl, 2QI7, to create this new certificate of
registratlon,
Posting Date: February 1Or 2O23
Open for Comments; February lO, ZO23 - March 27,2023

College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario: Creation of Fmergency Class Certificate of
R.egistration

The College of Physicians and Surgeons of ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 865/93 made under the
Medicine Act, 1991, to create this new ceftiflcate of registrailon,
Posting Date: Fcbruary 1O,2O23
Op€n for Commentc! February 10, 2023 - March 2Z, ZOZJ

College of Naturopaths of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of Registration
The College of Naturopaths of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 84/14 made under the Naturopathy
Acl, 2OO7, to create this new certificate of registration,
Posting Date: F€brurry fO,2O23
Opon for Comm€ntsi February 10, ZO23 - March 27t ZOZ}

College of Optlcians of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of Registration
The College of Opticians of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 869193 made under the Opticianry Act,
1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Datc: FebruarV LO,?;Q2t
Open for Comments: February 10,2023 - March 27,2A2A

College of Midwives of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Ciass Certlficate of Registration
The College of Midwives of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. 16S/11 made under the Midwifery Act,
1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
Posting Dat€i February lO,2O2?
Open for Conments; February 10, 2023 - March 27, ?,OZ1

Royal College of Denta! Surgeons of Ontario {RCDSO}: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate
of Registration
The Royal College of Dental Surgeons of Ontario is proposing amendments to O.Reg. ZOSlg4 made under the
Dentistry Act, 1991, to create this new certificate of registration.
Porting Date: February 9, 2O23
Open for Comments: February 9, ZOZS - March Zl,2OZg

Regulatory fee increase for body transport services required as part of death investigations
The Ministry of the Solicitor General intends to make a minister's regulation amendment to increase provincial
rates paid to service providers for the transpoftation of deceased persons as part of a coroner,s investigation.
This increase in rates ls meant to support the licensed luneral establlshments and transfer servlce operators to
manage mounting operational costs.
Posting Date: Febrsary 22,2Q23
Open for Comments: February 22, ZO23 - lr{arch 24. ZO23

Proposed Amendments to Ontario Regulation 413/O5 (Vehicle Weights and Dimensions - For
Safe, Froductive, Infrastl'ucLure-Frierr*lly (SpIF) Vehlcles)
The Ministry of Transportation is proposing to amend Ontario Regulation 4t3/OS under the Highway Traffic Act
which outlines requirements related to optional emergency lift axle override control on trucks and tractors. The
proposed change would provide flexibility to manufacturers in how they ensure road safety without prescribing a
narrowly defined technical approach and provide a clarification edit to regulatory wording recently identified.
Posting Dat€: Fcbrusry 6,2O23
Open for Comments: February 6, 2OZ3 - March 2Zt ZAZI

862

https://www.ontariocanada.com/registry/quickSearch.do?searchType=current 617



gnLn3,3:31 PM Regulatory Registry - Curr€nt Proposals

A legislative proposal to repeal the Ind€pendent Health Facilities Act and the Oversight of
Health Facilities and Devices Act and replace with new legislation, the Integrated Community
Health Services Centres Act, 2O23

The proposed repeal of the Independent Health Facilities Act and replacement with the Integrated Community

Health Services Centres Act, 2023.
Posting Date! February 2L,2023
open for comments! February 2r,2{J23 - March 23,2023

Proposed Legislative Amendrnents to Enable Interjurisdictional Mobility for Select Registered
Health Frofessionals
The Ministry of Health is proposing legislative amendments to the Medicine Act, 1991; Nursing Act, 1991; Medical

Laboratory Technology Act, 1991; and the Respiratory Therapy Actf 1991 to give the Minister regulatlon-maklng
powers regarding exempting persons from the provislons that place restrictions around the use of professional

titles and holding oneself out as being qualified to practice the proFession. Additionally, consequential changes to

numerous Acts are propoSed to ensure there no barriers tO providing care.

Postlng Date: February 21,2O23
Open for Comm€nts: February 21,2fJ23 - March 28,2023

College of Psychologists of Ontario's Froposed Amendments to its Regulations for Behaviour
Analysts
The College of Psychologists of Ontario ls proposing regulatory amendments made under the Psychology and

Applied Behaviour Analysis Act, 2021 needed to regulate the profession of Applied Behaviour Analysis (ABA)' The

affected regulations include Ontario Regulation 74l15 (Registration), Ontario Regulation 2A9/94 (General), and

Ontario Regulation 801/93 (Professional Misconduct).

Posting Date: FebruarY 6,2O23
open for commcnts: February 6, 2fJ23 - March 23,2023

Proposed amendments to extra-ministerial data integration units in the Fraedorn of
Information and Protectlon of Privacy Act
proposing amendments to the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act to extend its application to

external data integrators that are not FIPPA institutions. If passed, such integrators would need to make

inlormation availabte about how the public may make requests for records, publish certain information annually

and report annually to the Information and Privacy Commissioner.

Posting Date: FebruarY 21' 2O23

Open for Gomments: February 2l-,2(J23 - March zgt 2(123

Proposed Amendments to the Pharmacy Act, 1991

The Ministry of Health is proposing leglslative amendments to section 3 of the Pharmacy Act, 1991 to update the

scope of practice statement to include the term assessment'
Posting Date: February 2a,20.23
Open for Commentsi February 2L,2O2? - March zgt 2023

about Ontario accessibility news privacy terms of use

@ King's Printer for Ontario, 2023

863

https:llwww.ontariocanada.com/registry/quickSearch.do?searchType=currant 7t7



864

Pnoposso Euencerucv Guss op ReGFtRnnoN:
DRlrr AUeTDMENTS ro Onrenro REGULATToN 137111 Uroen rxe GxtnopRlcrc Acr, 1991
Appnoveo gv Gour,rcr- ron DrsrnreunoN AND Feeoaecx: FeeRulnv 2023

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario

Section Current Provision Froposed Provision {changes
underlined)

Rationale for Proposed Provision

The following are prescribed
as classes ofcertificate of
registration:

L General.
2. Temporary
3. Inactive.
4. Retired.

The following are prescribed
as classes ofcertificate of
registration:

1. Genoral.
2. Temporary.
3. Inactive.
4. Refired.
5; Emergency

An emergency class ofregistration is being
proposed in accordance with the Pandemic
and Emergency Preparedness Act, 2022
requirements and amendments to Regulatinn
508/22: Registration Requirements under the
Regulated Health Professions Act, I 991 .

16. r(1) New The Couneil may declare that ernergeacy
circumstances exist such that it is in the
public interest to issue certificates of
registration in the emereencv class. ln
makine this determination" the Council
may take into account a1l oftlte retevant
circumstances includine the presence ofa
sienificanf inten$ptiqn ia the orocessing
of aoolications for reeistuation for other
classes such tha! there is a lengbv delay
in their beins reeistered and anv requests
bv the Minister io initiate resistrations
under the Emersonc], cigs$.

It is not the intention that the Emergency
class ofregistration be available at all times.
The regulation specifies emergency
circumstances that will cause the class to be
open for issuance and renewal ofemergency
certificates of registration



865
Proposed Emergency Class of Registration:
Draft Amendments to Ontario Regulation 137i 1 1 Under lhe Chiropractic Act, 1991
February 24,2023

2

16.1 (2) New The following are requirerrgnts for an
Emergency certjfi cate of reqiskation:

l. Emergency ciraurtl$tances must.cxist
as described in section 16.1{l) above.

2. The applicaut must have salisfied the
registration requirements in sections
3. 4. 5. 6(1). 6(3) and 6t4) of this
regLrlation. The educationpi
requirement in subsectiqn 6(l) is non-
exemptjble.

3. The applicad mu$t $ubnit a crimilul
record check. in accordasce with CCO
policy.

4.' The appiicant must complete
exartin4lion requirements.andlor a
rpfresherqiiurse apnroved by the
Registration Committee or otherwise
satisfu the Resisration tbat tlre
member is competent to practise.

Registration requirements that are applicable
for all classes ofregistration are applicable to
an Emergency ciass ofregistration (see

sections 3, 4. and 5 ofthe Registlation
Regulation).

Graduation from an accredited chiropractic
education program or a chiropractic
education progtam considered equivalent by
the Council is a non-exemptible requirement
for registration in any class of registration,
including the Emergency class,

Depending on the nature and effect ofthe
emergency (e.g., cancellation of entry-to-
practice examinations), applicants for an
Emergency class of registration must satisfy
the Registration Committee that they are
competent tc practise, which may include
competing modified examinations and/or a

refresher course.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



866
Proposed Emergency Class of Registration:
Drah Amendments io Ontario Regulation 1 37/1 1 Under the Chiropractic Act, 1991

February 24,2023

?

16.r(3) New Every certificate of registration in &e
gmqrsencv class ofregistration is subjecq

to the following tenns. conditions and

linritations:

The member shall practise the
profession only witliin the scope of
practice of the Emersencv
certificate.

2. The membef shall at all times
when nrov idins chirooractic
sen ic.eq i46ilifv themselves as

member resistered in the
Emergeacy class of iegistration
onlv authorized to oractise under
suoervisiont

3 The member sh4l be restricted to
the title Chiropractor (Emergency

Class).

4. The member shali only practise the
nrofession while under the direct
supervisio* of a member wlro:

a. Holds a General certificate
of registration

b. Is current actively
providine direct Batient
care to patients

Terms, conditions and limitations for an

Emergency certificate of registration are

consistent with similar past supervised

classes ofregistration, such as the General

(Provisional) class of registration.

Terms, conditions and limitations for an

Emergency class of registration, include
requirements to protect the public interest,

such as: onlypractising withinthe scope of
practice of an emergency certificate,
representation and use oftitle that indicates

an Emergency class ofregistration, and only
practising under the supervision ofa member

in the General class ofregistration who
meets the listed requirements.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



867
Proposed Emergency Class of Registration:
Draft Amendments to Ontario Regulation 137/1 1 Under the Chiropractic Act, 1991
February 24,2a23

4

c, Is in sood standins with
cco

d.

e-

f,

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



868
Proposed Emergency Class of Rogistration:
Draft Amendments to Ontario Regulation 137/11 Under the Ghiropraclic Act, 1991

February 24,2023

5

16.1(4) New An emersency certiflcate of reqistration
expires:

1. Unless stated otherwise on the

certificate. six months after it is
issued. unless it is.renewed.

2. Unless stated othetwise on the
certificate. q relrewed certilicate
exoires six months after it is
renewed. unlsss it is re4ewed
again.

3. Despite subsections 1 and 2 above.

an emetqgncy celtificale exoires
or the earlier r>f &e a{r.v of the

followine:
a. Three months after the date

the Council declares that
the-emergeqcv
circumstances in which it
is in the iaterest of the
public to issue and renew
emergency certificates of
rogistration have ended.

b. The date the member is
issued a General certificate
ofreqistration.

The legislation allows for up to a one year
expiration period. Six months is an

appropriate length oftime to allow for
planning and adjustrnents based on the nature

of the emergency. Three months after the

declaration that the emergency has ended
provides sufficient time to complete the

requirements for a General cerfificate of
registration.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



869
Proposed Emergency Class of Registrationl
Drafl Amendments to Ontario Regulation 137111 Under the Chiropractic Act, 1991
February 24,2O23

6

l6.l(s) New A member who holds a certificate of
reqistration in the emerge,ncy class of
reeistration mav be issued a certificate of

This section provides the requirements for a

member in the Emergency class of
registration to apply and be issued a General
certifi cate of registoation.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



870

Draft Amendments to Regulation t37 /Lt: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration

Version Date: FebruarY 74,202!

ONTARIO REGULATION 137/11 : REGISTRATION
UNDER THE CH'ROPRACTIC ACT, 1991

Effective Date: May 6, 2011.

Note to readers: In the event of any incansistency betvveen this document and the legislatian that

alfects chiropractic practice, the legislatian governs'

Geruennl

Classes of certificate

1. The following afe prescribed as classes of certificate of regiStration:

1. General.
2. Temporary.
3. Inactive.
4. Retired. O. Reg. 137111,s.I.
5. Emergency

Application

t A person shall apply for a certificate Of registration by submitting a completed

apilication in the provided form together with the applicable fees under the by-laws'

O. Reg. l37lll,s.2.

Registration requirements, all classes

3. The following are registration requirements for a certificate of regisffation of any class

1 tf the applicant has previously been or is registered or licensed to practise another_

health piofession irontario, or chiropractic or another health profession in any other

jurisdiation, the applicant must provide evidence that there has been no finding of, and

that there is no current investigation or proceeding involving an allegation of,

profespional misconduct, incompetence or incapacity or similar conduct'

2. The applicant must be able to speak and write either English or French with

reasonable fluencY.

3. The applicant must be a Canadian citizen or a permanent r€sident of Canada or be

authorized under the Immigration and Refugee Protectton Act (Canada) to engage in

the practice of the Profession.

4, The applicant's past and present conduct must afford reasonable grounds for belief

that the applicant,

1



871

4

Draft Amendments to Regulation t37 lL1-: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration
Version Date: Februa ry 24,2O23

i. is mentally and physically cornpetent to practise chiropractic,

11. will practise chiropractic with decency, integrity, honesty and in accordance
with the law,

has sufficient knowledge, skill and judgment to engage in chiropractic, and

iv. will display professional behaviour. O. Reg. 137/ll, s. 3

Requirement to provide details

Every applicant is required to provide the College with details of the following with
respect to the applicant that occur or arise after the applicant has submitted his or her
application, and if the applicant becomes a flefiiber, it is a condition of the mernber's
certificate ofregistration that he or she provide such details:

A finding of professional misconduct, incompetence or incapacity sr similar finding in
Ontario in relation to another health profession or in any other jurisdiotion in which
the applicant is registered or licensed to practise chiropractic or another health
profession.

2. An investigation or proceeding for professional misconduct, incompetence or
incapacity or similar finding in Ontario in rolation to another health profession or in
any other jurisdiction in which the applieant is registered or licensed to practise
chiropractic or another health profession.

3. A finding of guilt in relation to any offense. O. Reg. 137111, s. 4

Revocation for false and misleading statements

5 The Registrar may revoke the member's cedificate of registration if the member made a
false or ralisleading statesrent in his or her application for registration or on any form
related to his or her renewal or reinstatement of registration. O. Reg. 137/11, s. 5.

GeueRal Cenuncltes

Additional requirements, general certificate

6" The following are additional registration requirements for a general certificate of
registration:

1. The applicant must have successfully completed the requirements for graduation from
either a chiropractic education program that is accredited or recognized by the Council
on Chiropractic Education (Canada) or a chiropractic education program considered

2



872
Draft Amendments to Regulation L37 ILI: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration

Version Date: Februa rY 24, 2O23

equivalent by the Council to such a program. Subject to ssction 7, this requirement is

non-exemptible.

2. Before applying for the cefiificate, the applicant must have passed,

i. a legislation examination set by the Council or set by another psfson or body and

accepted by the Council as suffrciently testing the applicant's knowledge of
relevant legislation, and

ii. the examinations set by the Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board or set by

another pemon or association of persons and accepted by the Council as

equivalent to the examinations set by the Board'

3. The applicant must complete a refresher course approved by the Registration

Cornmittee or otherwise satisfy the Registration Committee that he or she is currently

competent to practise if the applicant applies for registration more than two years after

completing the education prcgram required under paragraph 1'

4. The applicant must provide evidence satisfactory to the Registrar that, as of the

anticipated date for the issuancE of his or her aertificate of registration, the applicant,

i. will have professional iiability insurance in the arnount and in the form as

required by the bY-laws, or

ii, will belong to an association that is specified in the by-laws as providing the

member with personal protection against professional liability. O. Reg. l37l1l,
s' 6.

l-abour mobility, general certificate

7 . (1) Where section 22.18 of the Health Professions Procedural Code applies to an

applicant therequirements ofparagraph 1, subparagraph 2 ii and paragraph

3 of section 6 are deemed to have been met by the applicant. O. Reg. l37lll, s' 7

(1 ).

(Z) Despite subsection (l), it is a non-exemptible registration requirement that an

appiicant referred to in subsection (1) provide one or more certificates or letters or

other evidence satisfactory to the Registrar or a panel of the Registration

Committee establishing that the applicant is in good standing as a chiropractor in

every jurisdiction where the applicant holds an out-of-province certificate.

O. Reg. l37lll, s,7 (2).

(3) An applicant referred to in subsection (1) is deemed to have met the requirements

of paragraph 2 of section 3 where the requirements for the issuance of the

applicant's out-of-province certifi cate of registration included language

3



873
Draft Amendments to Regulation t37 ht: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration
Version Date: Februa ry 24,2O23

proficiency requirements equivalent to those required by that paragraph. O. Reg.
t37111, s.7 (3).

(4) Despite subsection (1), an applicant is not deemed to have met a requirement if
that requirement is described in subsection 22.15 (3) of the Health Professions
Procedural Code. O. Reg. 137/11, s. 7 (4).

lssuance of general certificate of registration to retired or inactive member

8. (1) The following rules apply where a member who holds a retired or inactive
certificate of registration wishes to be issued a general certificate of registration:

l. An application must be made to the Registrar,

2. The member shall pay the applicable fee for a general certificate of
regisffation.

3. A member who has held an inactive or retired certificate of registration for
more than two consecutive years preceding his or her applieation for a
general certifioate ofregistration shall only be entitled to have a general
certificate of registration issued if he or she satisfies the Registration
Committee that he or she is currently competent to practise.

4. The member shall not resume active practice until his or her application
for issuance ofa general certificate ofregistration has been approved by
the Registration Committee. O. Reg. I37lll, s. S (1).

(2) Where a member who wishes to be issued a general certificate of
registration pursuant to subsection (l) was issued his or her inactive or
retired certificate ofregistration pursuant to section 13 or 16, the reference
to "inactive or retired certificate of registration" in paragraph 3 of
subsection (1) shail be a reference to any out-of-province certificate that
was, at the time he or she was issued their inactive or retired certificate of
registration, considered by the Registration committee to be substantially
equivalent to an inactive or retired certificate of regiskation. O. Reg.
137lll, s. I (2).

TeupoRnnY CERTIFIcATES

Additional req uirements, tem porary certif icate

9 The following are additional registration requirements for a temporary certificate of
registration:

L The applicant must have successfully completed the requirements for graduation from
either a chiropractic education program that is accredited or recognized by the Council

4



874
Draft Amendments to Regulation t37 /LL: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration

Version Date; February 24,2O23

on Chiropractic Education (Canada) or a chiropractic education program considered

equivalent by the Council to such a program. This requirement is non-exemptible'

2. The applicant must be registered or licensed to practise chiropractic in another

jurisdiction.

3. The applicant must provide evidence satisfactory to the Registrar that, as of the

anticipated date for the issuance ofhis or her certificate ofregistration, the applicant,

i. will have professional liabilify insurance in the amount and in the form as

required by the bY-laws, or

ii. will belong to an association that is specified in the by-laws as providing the

mernber with personal protection against professional liability. O. Reg.

I37llI, s.9.

Temporary certificate, expiry

10. A temporary certificate of registration expires on the earliest of the following:

1. The expiry date set out on the certificate'

2. Twelve weeks after the date the temporary certificate of registration was issued.

3. If the temporary certifioate of registration was issued for a temporary appointment or

exchange program, the date of termination of the temporary appointment or exchange

program for which it was issued. O. Reg, 137111, s. 10.

lnacnve CeRnncetes

Additional requirements, inactive certificate

I l. The following are additional registration requirements for an inactive certificate of
registration:

l. The applicant rnust hold, or be eligible to hold, a general certificate of registration"

2. The applicant must not be in default of any fee, fine or other amount owed to the

College or in default in providing any information to the College.

3. The applicant must give a written undertaking to the College not to engage in
chiropractic practice in Ontario and not to submit accounts to the Workplace Safety

and Insurance Board or any other third party payer in respect of chiropractic services

O. Reg. 13711 1, s. 11.

5



875
Draft Amendments to Regulation L37 /LL: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration
Version Date: Februa ry 24,2O23

Gonditions, inactive certificate

12. The following are conditions of an inactive certificate of registration:

1. The member shall not engage in chiropractic practice in Ontario.

2. The member shall not submit an account to the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board
or any other third party payer in respect of a chiropractic service. 0. Reg. l37lll,
s^ 12.

Labour mobility, inactive certificate

13. Where an applicant holds an out-of-province certificate which, in the opinion of the
Registration Committee, is substantiatly equivalent to an inactive certificate of
registration, the requirement of paragraph I of section 11 is deemed to have been met by
the applicant if he or she provides one or more certificates or letters or other evidence
satisfactory to the Registrar or a panel of the Registration Committee establishing that the
applicant is in good standing as a chiropractor in every jurisdiction where the applicant
holds an out-of-province certificate. O. Reg. 137/11, s. 13.

Rerrneo Crnrrrrceres

Add itiona I req u i rbments, retired ce rtificate

14. The following are additional requirements fsr a retired certificate of registration:

1. The applicant must hold either a general or an inactive certificate of registration.

2. The applicant must not be in default of any fee, fine or other amount owed to the
College or in default in providing any information to the College.

3. The applicant must give a written undertaking to the College not to engage in
chiropractic practice in Ontario and not to submit accounts to the Workplace
Safety and Insurance Board or any other third party payer in respect of
chiropractic services. O. Reg. l37lll, s.14.

Conditions, retired certificate

15. The following are conditions of a retired certificate of registration:

1. The mombor shnll not eng&ge in chiropractic practicc in Ontario.

6



876
Draft Amendments to Regulation L37 /1.I: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration

Version Date: Februa ry 24, 2O73

2. The member shall not submit an account to the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board

or any other third party payer in respect of a chiropractic service. O. Reg. l37ll1,
s.15.

Labour mobility, retired certificate

16. Where an applicant holds an out-of-province certificate which, in the opinion of the

Registration Committee, is substantially equivalent to a retired certificate of registration,

the requirement of paragraph 1 of section 14 is deemed to have been met by the applicant

if he or she provides one or more certificates or letters or other evidence satisfactory to

the Registrar or a panel of the Registration Committee establishing that the applicant is in
good standing as a chiropractor in every jurisdiction where the applicant holds an out-of-
province certificate. O. Reg. l37ll1,s.16.

EMeReeNcv Cenrrrtceres

16.1 (]) The Council ma)/ declare that emergesey circumstances exist such that it is in*tbg.

public iqleresl to issue certificalg$ gf,registration in .the emetgencv class. In

processing of applicationq for registfation for other classes such that there is a

lengthy delav ig_qheilbging r-egiptered a,nd.any reqpests by the Minister to initiate
registrations qsder the Emorgency class.

{D The fol,lowing are requirements for an EmergeiloJ certifioate-of regist{ation:

Emengency circiunstanses m$st exist as described in uectioit 16,l(1)
above.

The-$.pJ:lieErt rnust submit a oriminal record chesk. in accordanee with
CCO policy.

Th*:anqlicanf.jFrt]$F.gorenlqtg exarqi.fratisti t:equirements and/sr a refreshEr:

course approved bv the Registration eqmlnitlee of othqrw-iq.e qatisff-the

Regis"ttntipglh.a! lhe membef is competent to practise.

€) Fte.qy cg{tiscate of regiStfalion itthp Emergeney cla-ss of regishqtion is subjeci to
the follswingJK,rrns. condition-s a.nd lirqitations :

T e mcmberslaU nractise the nrofession oniy within the scopg of nractige
gf !!rg Emersency .q.e, Sfi ca1e.

2

J

4.

7



877
Draft Amendments to Regulation !37/1,7: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration
Version Date: February 24,2A23

Z. The member shAll. at-all times whcrt_pn:viding chirouractic scrvices
identifv themselves as member registered ir the Enrergencv class_of
resi$lmtion" on! agt\qriz-c_d to praptisc unclcr supsrvision.

J

4.

TheJnember shatl be r.estricted to.the titlg Chiropractor (Eniergency
Class).

Jlrg-nlernber.shall only practise the prof'ession rvhile underlhe _el_i.reel

supervision of' a. nrgmber:-wh o:
a. Holds a_General ce4ificate of registration
b. ls surrent actively ploviditg direct p.Aljent cale to patients
c. ls. in qoocl standinrr with CCO
d. is rqt the srrbje.eidaty dissrplusl ll-iilsspiEly-E!'ocssdi.ne_ar

has an outstandine referral for a disciplinary *f incapacity
proqeqding

e. Is authorizcrt ta practise in any alea of chircprfictic that rgqllirqE
spocifie adclitia:ral ed*calion or ce).rtif-rcat_e. quch as acupurlgture
*nd ehilolrractic care of anin:als. if the member in the erncrgclc)'
class rf rggiltr:ation is authorized tc prgc[i$e iu the$e flreas of
pmctiae

f. Any other criteria identified in C*CO policv

(4) An E$lqlgsncy qq{iJgiat-c pf r,i8istr{tion exnirps;

U$less stated otherwise o_n the certificate. six nronths alier it is issued.
unless it is renewed.

Unless stated otherwise on the certificate. a renewed ceftificate expires six
months after it is renewed. unless it iS renewed again.

Fgsoitg.subsections I an-cl2 above. an Enrerger:cy cerlificate exnires-p"U

thq parlier eflthe an,vjf the.fallowilre:
a. Three months after the date the Council deqlares that the

afirersency circumstanees in which it is in the interest of fh*
p ubl c to i ssue an d renew enrqrgegsy lqli fi_qs l-qs_af-tsgistrari o[
have ended.

b. The date thc member is issucd a General certificate q:[
r:eeistl4lign,

(5) A member who holds a certificate of Legistration in the Emereency class of
registration may be issued a cerlificate of resistratig$ jn the_General clas*s*qf
registatlq[ if the p-egrber qqtiqtigs the requirenre[ts for a General class cerlificate
of registratiot. inclildins meeline any reeuircrnents in Reeul_a-1ion. IJy:lay i.nd
Policy and paying all applicable fees^ and completes an application for
reqislration in ihe Ceneral class that is approved b)/ tlie Registr{L

1

2.

J

8



878

l8

Draft Amendments to Regulation t37lL7: Regulation: Emergency Class of Registration
Version Date: Februa ry 24, 2A23

IrusuRaruce

17. It is a condition of every general certificate of registration and of every temporary
certificate of registration that the member continue,

(a) to maintain professional liability insurance in accordance with the by-laws; or

(b) to belong to an association that is specified in the by-laws as providing the member
with personal protection against professional liabilify. o. Reg. r37 ll l , s. 17 .

FITIune To PAY FEEs

(l) If the Registrar suspends a member's certificate of registration for failure to pay a
required fee, the Registrar shall lift the suspension on payment of,

(a) the fee the member failed to pay;

(b) the annual fee for the year in which the suspension is to be lifted; and

(c) anyapplicablepenalty. O. Reg. I37/lt, s. 18 (1).

(2) Ifa certificate ofregistration has been suspended for failure to pay a required fee
for more than two years from the date of the suspension and the suspension has
not been lifted under subsection (1), the certificate is automatically revoked.
O. Reg. 137/71, s. 18 (2).

(3) A person whsse certificate of registration was revoked under subsection (2) or a
predecessor provision and who applies to be reinstated is required to pay,

(a) the applicable application fee under the byJaws;

(b) the annual fees and any applicable penalties the member failed to pay up
to the date of revocation; and

(c) the annual fee for the year in which the member wishes to be reinstated.
O, Reg. l37ll1, s. 18 (3).

(4) A person whose certificate of registration was revoked pursuant to subsection (2)
or a predecessor provision must successfully complete a refresher course
approved by the Registration Committee, or otherwise satisfy the Registration
Committee that he or she is currently competent to practise before being entitled
to have his or her general certificate of registration reinstated. O. Reg. 137/11,
s. 18 (a).

9



879
Draft Amendments to Regulation L37/Ll: Regulation: Emergency Class of Regisfiation

Version Date: February 24,20?.3

TRINsrtonat

re. (r) A certificate of registration. of any class that wae valid immediately before the

eomilg into force of this Regulation is deemed to be the equivalent ceriificatc of
registration u*der this Regul*tion, and contbrues until it is revoked or otherwise

expires. O. Reg. t37lLl,s. t9 {l).

@ Where a person submitted an application for a cerlificate of registration before the

comi:rg irrto force nf this Regulation, and that application was still being dealt

with at the time this Regulation carne intc force, Qntario Regulation 862/93

{Registratian) rnade under the Act, as it re*d immediately before this Regulation

camc into force, appiies with respect to that applica$on. O. Reg. 137111, s. t9 {2}"

28. Omitted (revokes other Regulatious). O. Rqg. l3?/l I, s" 20..

21. Omitted {provides for coming irrto forcerof.pnrvisions of this Regulation}. O' Reg.

l37ll I, s. ?1.

10



3122123,3:31 PM Distribution for Feedback: Proposed Amendments to Regulation 137111: Registration - Emergency Class of Registration Survey

K@
880College of Chiropractors of Ontario

L'Ordre dee Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

Distribution for Feedback Proposed
Amendments to Regulation 13711:
Registration - Emergency Class of
Registration

" 1. Are you a Member of CCO

Q ves

Ono

* 2.lf you are not a member of CCO, what type of
stakeho[der are you?

Q wember of the Pubtic

Q Chi ropractic Organ ization

Q ruot Appl.icabte (Member of CCO)

Other (piease specify)

n 3. lf you are a member of CCO, how Long have you
been in practice?

Q tess than 5 years
htlps://www.surveymonkey.com/r/SGMBDG D 1t3



3122123,3:31 PM Distribution for Feedback: Proposed Amendments to Regulation 137/1 1 : Registration - Emergency Ctass of Registration Survey

881Qe-toyears

O tt - 2o years

Q wore than 20 years

Q trtot appticable

" 4^ lf you are a memloer of CCO, what is the location
of your primary praclice 0r residence

Q Orrtario

Q OutsiOe of Ontario, in Canada

Q outside of Canada

Q ruot Applicabl.e

* 5. I agree/disagree with lhe draft proposed
amendments to the Regislration ReguLation to
create an Emergency Class of Registration

Q Strongly Agree

Q ngree

Q Disagree

Q Strongl"y Disagree

O No opinion

https:l/www. surveymonkey.com/r/SG M B DGD 2t3



3122123,3:31 PM

Powered by

f* srttt"yMonkey"
See how easy it is to create a qqrvev,

Privacy & Cookie Notice

Distribulion for Feodback Proposed Amendments to Regulation 13711: Registralion - Emergoncy Ctass of Roglotration Survey

6. The following amendments would better protect
the pubtic interest:

7. Any other comments

882

D*nr

https:l/wwusurveymonkey.com/r/SGMBDGD 3ts



3/8/23, 12:13 PM about:blank

.Reg.ulation -.LGIC.-
College of Chiropractors of Ontario: Creation of Emergency Class Certificate of

Registration

Regulation Number(s):

O. Reg. 137111

Instrument Type:

Regulation - LGIC

Bill or Act:

Chiropractic Act/ 1991

Summary of ProPosal:

In ontario, the regulation of health professions is based on a self-governance.model. There are 26 health regulatory_ colleges

so;.ning zB heatlh professionr undur the Regulated Health Prsfeisions Act, 1991, (Rl'lPA) and their r€spective health

profession Acts.

The RHpA was amended in october 2022to reduce barriers to registration and require colleges to establish an Emergency

Class. To meet this requiremeni, ingCoftege of Chiropractors of dntario- is propgsing to amend its Registration regulation

made underthe Chiroiractic Aci, 1991, to add an emerg€ncy class certificate of registration.

The proposed regulation amendments are subject to prior review by the Minister of Health and the approval of the Lieutenant

Governor in Council.

Analysis of RegulatorY ImPact:

The proposed regulatian amendment is not anti{ipated to result in increased admlnistrative costs to members andlor

businesses as it creates 
"JJitionaf 

fathways for new health professionals to b€grn practicing their prafession in Ontario'

Further Informatlonl

& Coll"g" of Chiropractors of Ontario - Public Consultation:

Proposal Number:

23-HLTCo28

Postlng Datet

March 8, 2023

Comments Due Date:

April 24,2A23

Contact Addr€ssi

Health Workforce Regulatory Oversight Branch
Nursing and Professional Practice Division
438 University Avenue, 10th Floor
Toronto ON M5G 2K8
Regulatoryprojects@ontarlo.ca

Comment on this ProPosal via email

. about Ontario

. accessibility
r n€WS
. prlvacy
. terms of use

888

about:blank

. O King's Printer for Ontarlo, 2023

1t1



Distribution for Feedback: Proposed 
^ff*g?H:J,?,?:3:li,ion 

1"37111: Resistration - Emersencv

Q1 Are you a Member of CCO
889

Yes

No

Answered: 59 Skipped: 0

|TEM 4.3.3

RESPONSES

98.310/o

L.690lo

Oo/o 1on/o 2Ao/o 3}o/o 4Oo/o 5Oo/o 600/o TOYo EOVo 9OYo 100%

ANSWER CHOICES

YeS

No

TOTAL

5B

59

1,

Ltl



Disrribution for Feedback: Proposed 
^HJr11?t:J3$:3:1i.ion 

137/11: Resistration - Emersency

Q2 lf you are not a member of CCO, what type of stakeholder are you?

Answered: 59 Skipped: 0

RESPONSES

0.00o/o

1,.694/o

98.31-olo

890
Member of the

Pu blic

Chiro practic
Organizatio n

Not ApplicabIe
(Member of CCO)

ANSWER CHOICES

Member of the Public

Chiropractic Organization

Not Applicable (Member of CCO)

TOTAL

Ook 10% 2oo/o 30% 40% 50% 6oo/a 7jo/o 80o/o 9OYo IOOYo

0

1

58

59

LIL



Distribution for Feedback: Proposed Amendments to Regulation 137111: Registration - Emergency
Class of Registration

Q3 lf you are a member of CCO, how long have you been in practice?

Answered: 59 Skipped: 0

891
Less than 5

years

6 - 10 years

1'1 - 20 years

More than 20
years

Not appticable

I
I

I
Oo/o lOYo 2oo/o 3O%o 4Ao/o 50% 600/o 7oo/o 80% 90% i0O%

ANSWER CHOICES

Less than 5 years

6 - 10 years

11 - 20 years

More than 20 years

Not applicable

TOTAL

RESPONSES

LA.17o/o

IO.17o/o

23.73o/o

52.54o/o

3-390/o

6

b

I+

JI

59

2

LIL



Distribution for Feedback: Proposed Amendments to Regulation 137/1L: Registration - Emergency
Class of Registration

Q4 lf you are a member of CCO, what is the location of your primary
practice or residence

Answered: 59 Skipped: 0 892

Ontario

Outside of
Ontario, in...

Outside of
Canada

Not Appticabte

ANSWER CHOICES

Ontario

Outside of Ontario, in Canada

Outside of Canada

Not Applicable

TOTAL

I
0% 1Oo/o 2oo/o 30% 4oo/o Soo/q 6o0/o 7Qo/o 8Oo/o 9OVo 100%

RESPONSES

96.610/o

o.ooo/o

0.000/o

3.39o/o

0

0

2

57

59

ttI



Distribution for Feedback: Proposed Amendments to Regulation 137111: Registration - Emergency
Class of Registration

Q5 I agree/disagree with the draft proposed amendments to the
Registration Regulation to create an Emergency Class of Registration

Answered: 59 Skipped:t 
Bg3

Strong[y Agree

Agree

Disagree

Stro ng[y
Disagree

No Opinion

ffi
I
I

AVo 1Oo/o 2oo/o 3Oo/o 4jo/o 5Ao/o 6QYo 700/o BO% 90Yo 100o/o

ANSWER CHOICES

Strongly Agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly Disagree

No Opinion

TOTAL

RESPONSES

30.51"%

47.460/o

8.470/o

8.47o/o

5.080/o

1B

28

5

tr

J

59

TII



#

t

Distribution for Feedback: Proposed Amendments to Regulation 137/11: Registration - Emergency
Class of Registration

QG The following amendments would better protect the public interest:

Answered: 19 Skippecl: 40

894
RESPONSES DATE

31121202310:44 AM

n

2

I feel there should be a requirement of malpractice insurance in place prior to issuing the
emergency regulation

Emergency class members should not practice solo. They should be required to practice within
a practice as an associate. Le. supervised.

What is an Emergency??? Under what curcumstances would this certificate be granted? Give
examples.

The regulation is suitable as written.

I think you need to better explain how giving someone a fast/emergency license in chiropractic
is necessary in a pandemic situation. How are they to practice if the government shuts non-
essetrtial business down and doesnt see chiropractic as truly essential, and the rrational news
programs just scare people into staying locked in their homes?

They will not because the registrants may not be fully trained and understand the Canadian
and Ontario by-laws and standards of practices.

Greater clarity on the missing elements compared to a General Class.

I have sonrething to say in reading over these proposals. O College of Chiropractors of Ontario
PROPOSED EMERGENCY CLASS OF REGISTRATION: DRAFT AMENDMENTS TO
ONTARIO REGULATION 137I]-]. UNDER THE CHIROPRACTIC ACT, 1991- APPROVED BY
CoUNCIL FOR DISTRIBUTION AND FEEDBACK: FEBRUARY 24, 20231"6.1(1) New The
Council may declare that emergency circumstances exist such that it is in the public Interest
to issue ceftificates of registration in the emergency class. - I have not read the
complete regulation t37lLL. My comments are on the specific wording in this proposed
amendments to regulation 137111 document. The way this clause reads as it is, there does not
have to, in fact, really be an emergency of any kind, for atry future CCO to declare an
en'lergency. This leaves the CCO open to attack from unscrupulous people who would behave
deliberately toward not being horrest. Highjacking the CCO may be at risk with this present
wording. We only have to look south of our hrorder to see the n'less that something I'ke this can
turn into. I would suggest some sort of clause within that sentence (The Council may declare...
) which delaults to a government declared emergency, or a Ministry of Health declared
emergency, as a necessary tactor for any CCO to, on its own, declare an emergency. lf the
purpose ol this new proposal is to address future Pandemics then I suggest that this would be
a good place to start. Further, I note that there is no specifications as to what type of an
emergency, therefore, a future CCO nright be able to rnanufacture an emergency when none
actually exists. Speculation as to why that mighi be done it's not important. We cannot parse
every nuance. I can see pandemics, war and natural disasters as a few right off the top of my
head but I'm not aboL{ to make a list here. What we can do is plug the hole that the present
wording leaves with regard to some future dishonest CCO, by adding some sort of qualification
necessary. This present wording leaves a loophole, but I see the oppo.tunity right now to plug
this 'crack in the armour' so to speak.

lndicate what kind of "direct supervision" the General Certificate nrember must perform. Eg.
Does tlre General cert nrember have to be in the same room? ln the office at the same time?
Review the diagnosis and treatment plan? Review the notes? Speak with the patient to see if
he/she is satisfied with their care.

I would like to see the length of time for an emergency class to be the full 12 months allowed
for irrstead of 6 months. This will serye the pro{ession and public well.

None

I believe il would be better to have it as a "provisional license ", not an Emergency class.
Have all the same parameters except it is provisional would be available to all new graduates

3lJ-12A23 6:54 PM

311.12023 8:43 AM

311-12023 7:32 AM

317120231:14 AM

212812023 7:52 PM

212812023 6:58 PM

2l2Bl2O23 6:51PM

212812023 4:38 PM

2l2Bl2O23 4:17 PM

2l2Bl2O23 3:12 PM

2l2Bl2O23 2:32 PM

4

q

6

a

B

I

10

u,

12

Lt2



Distribution for Feedback: Proposed Amendments to Regulation 137/1"1: Registration - Emergency
Class of Registration

that are waiting to get their license.

I'm confused to what scenario would ever require an emergency Class registration. For what 212812A23 1:26 PM

specific purpose would you need to quickly immobilize this for? Are there not enough
chiropractors. Am I missing something here? And in what specific exanrple/s can you give to
enact this?

Not having "chiropractor, emergency class" as the public will have no understanding of what 212812023 L:22PM
that means

895
t3

1"4

1-5

t7

_LlJ

19

Continuing crackdown on predatory treatment plans, fringe healthcare claims etc.

Enlergency class may only practice while in direct ibservation of a member of the active class
of registration at all times. May never be alone with patients and the regislration can be easily
revoked if the regular class member sees any clinical or behavioural deficiencies

N1A.

Specific emergencies should be outlined. The lack of a defined emergerrcy definition should be

added to the new class. Emergency licenses should only be issued under specific
circumstances that have not been defined in the proposed amendlrlent.

As a recent grailuate of the 2o2aclass, I feel strongly that the Emergency Class should also

include a professional reference that can speak to the applicants character - someone who is
r.lot the applicants supervisor as this could pose a pecuniary conflict

212812A231:07 PM

2l2Bl2O23 l-2:50 PM

212812023 L2:40 PM

2l2Bt2O23 12:36 PM

212a12023 12:31 PM

2t2



Distribution for Feedback: Proposed Amendments to Regulation 137/11: Registration - Emergency
Class of Registration

Q7 Any other comments
896

#

t

Answered: 19 Skipped: 40

RESPONSES

It appears this new class is strictly for someone whos registration with the CCO is delayed for
some reason, like they were r,rnable to finislr their exams ( pandemic ) As such they don't have
a license .Could there nol be a circumstance where a lieensed practitioner from another
jurisdiction would want to apply tor short term emergency registration. Not sure in this
circumstance they should have to work under the direct superuision of anotlrer practitioner..

The Canadian Chiropractic Association (CCA) commends the College of Chiropractor of
Ontario's (CCO) effofts to create an emergency class of registration in accordance with the
Pandemic and Emergency Preparedness Act, 2022. The draft registration policy is both a
novel solution to address possible emergency circumstances that may require the CCO or the
Minister to initiate emergency registrations. Tlris class of registration will allow chiropractors to
practice with adequate supervision and require registrants to show the CCO'S Registration
Committee that they are competent to practise. This approach will allow the practitioner to
enter practice in a way that protects public safety and provides high-quality musculoskeletal
care. The enrergency registration would allow practitioners with a path into practice that is
supportive and allows practitioners lo earn a living while waiting the end of the emergency. The
CCA supports the draft amendnrents to the Ontario Regulation I37113-: Registration under the
Chiropractic Act, 1991.

This is absolutely ridiculous. Just another over reach by Health Canada. If you want to give us
the same burden to bear as MDs then give us the same privileges as well. We are treated as
an adjunctive therapy (if that) by Health Canada.

See abive

Virtual care going forward must be considered along with this emergency class of registration.

An emergency class makes r1o sense, in accordance with the Pandemic and Emergency
Preparedness Act? As if the government is going to support lhe need for more chiropractors
during a pandemic.

None

I believe this is a dangerous and unsafe proposal to public because people of Canada and
Ontario may become a subjecls and patients ol practitioners who goi a foreign training and
rnaybe exposed to standards that gerrerally unacceptable in Canada.

What licencing fees arc associated with this certificate? There are some spelling and
grarnatical errors that need to be amended before this goes on the public ledger.

lf there is a significant backlog of processing applications, how would there be time to process
enrergency applications? Would they be provided a registration number for billing (Direct,
WSIB, MVA)?

Otherwise, I agree with all that you have sent out today.

None

And just like that, CCO is right back to circulating lry-laws for 60 days. Make it more obvious.

Would not do Emergency- not sure our government would be able to "sell" the public on an
"etnergelrcy" again after what they have done this time- their actions resulted in more damage
than if they would have just RECOMMENDED caution. Past emergency and actions taken
were all found to be totally unscientific and detrimental. Don't fall into ihe "emergency" trap
again, make it a provisiolral license. Many other colleges do tlris with great success and I

believe that our college had no issues with the members that took part in this
emergency/provisional licensure. lt is in the public's interest to have new graduates out in
practice as soon after graduation as possible to work on their clinical skills while they have

DATE

311212023l-0:44 AM

31912A23 3:05 PM

313120232:O2PM

3lU2A23 8:43 AM

311120237:32 AM

31L120231:14 AM

212812023 B:07 PM

212812023 7:52 PM

212812023 7:48 PM

2l2Bl2O23 6:58 PM

2l2Bl2O23 4:17 PM

212812023 3:12 PM

2l2Bl2O23 3:04 PM

212812023 2:32 PM

/

,:

4

q

6

B

9

10

1,r

12

13

14

1t2



Distribution for Feedback: Proposed Amendments to Regulation L37l11: Registrati
Class of Registration

their book skills. This is really an extension of the clinic they have in 4th year. Do it right,
make it provisional license which is beneficial. Dr Mike Staffen

See above

Temporary licenses were given during the pandemic to new graduates, why not keep this
temporary license process as is?

I make Thai recommendation based on my experience being an examiner with the CCEB.
Some students are very deficient in the their clinical and behavioural skill set during that exam.

NIA.

I would also be interested in seeing wording around what the supervisor's role exactly is. Does
the supervisor hold any liability relating to the supervision?

on - Emergency

897
15

r.6

17

2l2Al2O23 1:26 PM

212812023 1'.22 PM

21281202312;50 PM

212812023 L2:40 PM1B

19 21281202312:31 PM

2t2



@D

College of
Chiropractors
of Ontario

L'Ordre des
Chiropraticiens
de l'Ontario

|TEM 4.3.5
59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Version date: October 2022

Tel.: 416-922-6355
Toll Free: 1-877-5774772
Fax:416-925-9610
E-mail: cco.info@cco.on.ca
www.cco.on.ca

AppucRloN FoR
TemponaRy CERTTFTcATE oF REGrsrRATroN

902
A Tenporary Certificate of Registration is intended for chiropractors registered in another jurisdiction to practise in Ontario, and
specijically to perform a controlled act ander the Chiropractic Act, 1991. A temporary cerfficate of registration expires on the
earliest of thefollowing: the expiry date set out on the certiJicate, twelve weeks after the date the temporuty cerfficate of
registration was issued or if the ten porary certiftcute of registration was issued for a temporsry appointment or exchange progrsrn,
the date of termination of the temporury appointment or exchange program for which it was issued. Please note: It is a condition
of registration that you provide CCO with any changes to the information on this application IMMEDIATELY.

PLEASE PRINT OR TYPE

Name:
Last Name First Name

Gender: I Male ! Female ! Ottrer (If other, please specify)

Previous Name:

(please provide a copy ofyour birth certification ifthere has been any alteration in or change ofname since registration at birth)

Date of Birth:

Middle Name or lnitial

Proposed Ontario
Business
Address:
(necessaryfor
public register)

Strest

City Province/StatB Postal/Zip Code Country

Telephone (with area code) Fax (with area code) E-mail

Gurrent Mailing
Address: Street

City Province/State Postal/Zip Code Country

Telephone (with area code) Fax (with area code) E-mail

Chiropractic College Attended Graduation Date:

Please answer each question completely, providing details where appropriate. Use a separate piece of paper if
necessary.

E I confirm I am registered or licensed to practise chiropractic in anotherjurisdiction
In order to be granted temporary registration in Ontario, you must be registered or licensed to practise chiropractic in another
jurisdiction. List all jurisdiction(s) where you are currently registered or licensed to practise chiropractic and provide letter(s)
of professional standing from each jurisdiction.



2.

-2-

Please indicate your purpose for applying for a temporary registration in Ontario: 903
I am applying for a temporary certificate to actively
practice chiropractic in Ontario
(an application fee of$52 plus a certificate fee of$155: total
$207)

n I am applying for a temporary certificate OR n
to participate in a specihc event involving the performance
of a controlled act
(application fee of $52)

Please indicate the specihc event below:

u
trun

To teach/participate in a course in Ontario
To participate in a research project in Ontario
To participate in a specific event in Ontario
Other

3. Please provide details of your proposed chiropractic activities while in Ontario

4. What is the proposed start date and end date of your requested temporary certificate of registration in Ontario'l

Start Date: Expiry Date:
(no later than 12 weeks after date of issue)

Authorization To Work in Ganada
You must be authorized to work in Canada by one of the following provisions. Please indicate which provision applies to you.

tr Canadiancitizen
tr Permanentresident

Engage in the practice of chiropractic profession tnder the Immigrution and Refugee Protection Act, 2001

Ifno category applies, provide an explanation:
tr
tr

1.

2.

Do you speak and write either English or French with reasonable fluency?

What is your language of preference? ! English ! French f] oth.t
Other languages in which you can provide professional services:

nves nNo

PRoFEsstoNAL MlscoNDUcr, SELF-REpoRTtNG, lr,rconttpeteHGE AND lNcapecrv

Please answer the ibllowing questions related to any prof-essional misconduct, self-reporting, incompetence and incapacity findings. In accordance
with section 23 ofthe Health Professions Procedural Code under the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA) and Regulation 261118 under
the RHPA, members of all Ontario health regulatory colleges are required to report on the following information to appear on the public register:

. every finding ofa disciplinary decision or a finding ofprofessional misconduct or incompetence by another regulatory or licensing
authority in any jurisdiction

. every finding ofprofessional negligence or malpractice, which has not been reversed on appeal;

. every finding of guilt or charge related to an offence under the Criminal Code (Canada), the Health Insurance Act or the Conholled Drugs
and Substances Act (Canada) that has not been overtumed on appeal, pardoned or ordered for a record suspension by the Parole Board of
Canada,

r every bail conditions or other restrictions related to a charge for an offence under the Criminal Code (Canada), the Health Insurance Act or
the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act (Canada)

Has a regulatory body made a finding against you or are you currently facing a regulatory proceeding ofprofessional misconduct, incompetence or
incapacity, since the date of your most recent renewal with CCO. Check the appropriate box(es) below:

In anotherjurisdiction as a chiropractor

In another profession

Have you been found guilty of an offence under the Criminal
Code (Canada), the Health Insurance Act or the Controlled Drugs
and Substances Act (Canada) that has not been reversed on appeal,
pardoned or ordered for a record suspension by the Parole Board
of Canada?

IfYES to any question, please provide details on a separate
sheet ofpaper, including the nature, description, and date of
any finding.

IfYES to any question, please provide
details on a separate sheet ofpaper,
including the nature, description, date of any
finding, name and location ofthe court, and
any appeal status relating to the finding.

tr YEs

tr YES

NO

NO

tr

tr
tr2

J YES tr NO



Have you been charged with an offence under the Criminal Code
(Canada), the Health Inswance Act or the Controlled Drugs and
Substances Act (Canada)?

-3-
trYEStr 904NO4.

5.

6.

Do you have any bail conditions or other restrictions related to a
charge for an offence under the Criminal Code (Canada), the
Health Insurance Act or the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act
(Canada)?

Has there been a finding of professional negligence or malpractice tr YES
made against you which has not been reversed on appeal?

tr YEs NO

NO

SueMIsstor.r oF PoLtcE GRltulnel Recono Gxecx

As, an applicant, you are required to submit a Canadian Police Information Centre (CPIC) Vulnerable Sector (VS) check, or its equivalent, consistent
with Regulation 13711 I under the Chiropractic Act, and Policy P-056: Requirement to Disclose Police Criminal Record Checks.

1. I confirm that I or the police have submitted a Canadian Police Information Centre Vulnerable Sector Check, tr YES tr NO
consistent with Regulation 1 37ll I under th e Chiropractic Acl and Policy P-056: Requirement to Disclose Police
Criminal Record Checks

AcxttowleocEMENT oF CoMpETENcE AND Gooo Cnanecren
(ifyou answerNO to either question, please provide a written explanation on a separate paper)

1. I confirm that I am mentally and physically competent to practise chiropractic.

2. I confirm that I will practise chiropractic with professionalism, decency, integrity, honesty and in accordance

with the law in Ontario.

tr YEs

tr YES

medical facility

NO

NO

2

PRAGTIGE INFoRMATIoN

l. Willyoubetakingyourownx-rays: E YES tr NO tr N/A
If NO, do you plan to use a: tr chiropractic facility tr hospital facility

tr independent health facility other (please specifu):

Registrants are required to report any change in their x-ray status to CCO.

Indicate proposed malpractice protection carrier and coverage,
in accordance with CCO By-law l6 that will cover you while
you are practising in Ontario:

The infonnation collected on thk form is used only for the purpose of regulating the profession and practice of chiropractic. For more
information, see the College's Voluntary Privacy Code available at www.cco.on.ca

DECLARATION

, in the
Print Name Ciiy/Town^y'illage

County of declare the information as recorded in this fotm to be true and complete, and

undertake to advise CCO immediately if there is any change in the information provided on this form. I understand it may be considered an

act of professional misconduct to providefalse information to CCO. I declare this as if I am doing so under oath.

I, of

Signature of Applicant



-4-

905
ATTAGH:

1. Application Fee of $52 (otal $52) OR Application Fee of $52 + Temporary Certificate of Registration Fee of $155 (total $207)

Qtayable to " College of Chiropractors of Ontario " by certilied cheque or monqt order only)

2. 2" x 2" coloured photograph of self taken within the past year. Name of applicant must also appear on the back of the photograph

3. Colour copy of Government issued photo l.D. with photograph and signature of candidate

4. Canadian Police lnformation Centre (CPIC) Vulnerable Sector Check, or equivalent

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

Date of Registration

Registration Number

Date of Registration Expiry



|TEM 4.3.6 906
Rose Bustria

From:
Sent:
To:
Subiect:

Registration.

lo-Ann Wlllson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrsr & G€n€ral Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontarlo
59 Hayden Slreet, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
TaL (416) 922€355 ext. 111
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 47 7 2
Fax: (416) 925-9810
E-mail: ioElllson@cca.oF.cg
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related

to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the email or phone contact

information above or, ifyou require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone al416-922-6355 ext. 100 or email

feceFtlo4@cco,on:ca
and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuringthat individuals are treated
with dignitv and respect. Please contact us if you require accommodations. Please ensure that all communications with CCO are

respectful and professional.

CONFI DENTIALITY WARN ING:
This e-mail including any atlachmenls may contain conRdential lnformation and is lntond€d only for the person(s) named abovs. Any other
distribulion, copying or disclosure is stric{ly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in enor, pleaso notify CCO immodiately by reply €-
mail and del€te all copies including any attachmenls without reading it or making a copy. Thank you,

From: Joel Friedman <JFriedman@cco.on.ca>

Sent: Thursday, March 23,2A2310:18 AM
To: Mendel, James {MLITSD) <James.Mendel@ontario.ca>; Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Cc: Tam, M ing-You ng ( M LITSD) <M ing-Young.Ta m @ontario.ca>
Subiect: RE: Publishing FRP Report and updating your organization's details.

Good Morning,

Here is a link to the 2021 Fair Registration Practices Report posted on CCO'S website
httos:/1cco.on.ca/wo-conterit/uoloads/2023/03ICCO-tRP-202 1.pdf,

All Ontario Fairness Commissioner Annual Reports are posted on the following webpage
https:/lcco.on"calprosnectlve-members/off ice-of-t he-fa irness-commigsioner/.

Regards,

Joel D. Friedman, BSc, LL.B

Deputy Registrar
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800

Jo-Ann Willson
March 23,202310:20 AM
Rose Bustria
FW: Publishing FRP Report and updating your organization's details.

1



907
Toronto, Ontario M4Y 0E7

Tel: (a16) 922-6355 ext. 104
To ll Free: 1,-877 -577 -477 2

Fax: (415) 925-9610
E-mail: ifriedmai@cco.on,ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

Lollege of Lhrropractors of Untano ("LLU") servrces contrnue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelrnes related
to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment onlV. Please use the email or phone contact
information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 416-922-6355 ext, 100 or email
recedllond.Cco,on.ca and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated
with dignity and respect. Please contact us it you require accommodations. Please ensure that all communications with CCO are

respectful and professional.

G(JNFITJEN I IALI I Y WAI{NING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intend€d only for the person(s)
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received lhis e-mail in enor, please notify CCO
msil and delote oll oopios including any attachments without roading it or making a copy. Thank you.

named above. Any other
immediately by reply e-

From : Mendel, Ja mes (MLITSD) <Jamds. Mendel@ontario.ca>
Sent: Thursday, March 23,202310:02 AM
To: Jo-An n Wi I I son <jroill9on@cce"o"n.ca>
Cc: Joel Friedman <JFriedman@cco;on.ea>; Tam, Ming-Young (MLITSD) <Ming-Young.Tam@o >

Subject: RE: Publishing FRP Report and updating your organization's details.

CAUTION EXIERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Dear Jo-Ann,

I hope that this email finds you well.

This is a gentle reminder that regulatory bodies are required to make their Fair Registration
Practices (FRP) report publicly available, with the same content that was submitted to the
OFC. Thank you if you have already done so.

I would also kindly ask that you please provide the website link to where your organization has
published its 2021 FRP report. Or please provide details of how your organization intends to
make its 2021 FRP report available to the public.

Last, please take a moment to verify the details of your organization that have been posted to
the OFC website in the Professions aild Trades (fairnesscommissioner.ca) section. This includes
your organization's logo, website address and contact details. lf there are updates, please e-

mailthem to Marc Lalonde (Marc.Lalonde@ontario.ca) and we will make the changes as soon
as possible.

Once again, thank you for your ongoing efforts to improve your registration practices.

lf you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me or Ming Young Tam, Manager,
Business and Ope rations Plann i n& at mins-voq nq.lam @ontqrio. ca.

2



908
Yours truly,

James Mendel

SUBSCRIBE to the OFC Newsletter

James Mendel
Compliance Analyst
Office of the Fairness Commissioner
(437) 233-486s
www.fairnesscom m issione r. ca

FAniltlt C€l{ l,llSElO{.rER
cFncl 6f tHt F tnll3tl col.lilOtttotltt
tutr^v tu (giltvlt*rnf r r'3qutra

;

cor'{F.rt$AmE A ttour?t

The information transmitted in lhis email is intended only for
th€ person to whom it is address€d and may contain
confidential material. Any review, diss€mination, or other uss
ol this informalion by persons other than the intended
recipient is prohibited. lf you rec€ivod this message in error,
please contact the sender and permanently delete it,
including any atlachments, withoul making a copy. Please
contact me if you nesd this communication in another
format Thank you.

3



909
Joel Friedman

From: Mendel, James (MLITSD) <James.Mendel@ontario.ca>
Thursday, March 9,2A23 9:47 AM
Joel Friedman
Tam, Ming-Young (MLITSD)

RE: Office of the Fairness Commissioner 2Q21 FRP Report - College of Chiropractors

To:
Cc:

Sent:

Subject:

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have
verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Hi Joel, yes that is the document that is to be posted on the website,

Thanks
James

SUBSCRIBE to the OFC Newsletter

James Mendel
Compliance Analyst
Office of the Fairness Commissioner
(437) 233-486s
www.fairnesscom m issioner.ca

FAnilClt coFrr'{tsstoNE R
of HcI 0F txt FAfi$a33 cot{Hllfloti3t
rwrAu Du caxfirtSi|ff A t'aourl

coHMrssAlRE A L'lout?l

The information lransmitted in this email is intend6d only for
the person to whom it is addressed and may contain
confidential material. Any review, dissemination, or othor use
of this information by persons other than the intended
recipienl is prohibited. lf you receMed this message in error,
please contact the sender and permanently del€te it,
including any atlachments, without making a copy. Please
cor,tact me if you need this communlcation in another
format Thank you.

From: Joel Friedman <JFriedman@cco.on.ca>

Sent: March 8,2023 4:00 PM
To: Mendel, Ja mes (M LITSD) <James. Mende l@o nta rio.ca>

1



910
Cc: Ta m, Ming-Young ( MLTTSD) <M ing-young.Tam @o nta rio.ca>
Subiect: RE: Office of the Fairness Commissioner 2021 FRP Report - College of Chiropractors

CAUTION -- EXTERNAT E-MAIL - Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognire the sender.
Good Afternoon,

Thank you.

To clarify, this is the document that is to be posted on the CCO website?

Regards,

JoelD. Friedman, BSc, LL.B

Deputy Registrar
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, Ontario M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-5355 ext. 104
Toll Free: 1.-877 -577 -4772
Fax: (41-6) 925-9610
E-mail : ifrigdman@cco.on,ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related to the COVID-19
global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only, Please use the email or phone contact inforrnation above or, if you require
urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 416-922-6355 ext, LOo or email recepli$@cco.on,ca and your lnquiry wili be directed
appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuringthat individuals are treated with dignity and
respect' Please contact us if you require accommodations. Please ensure that all communications with CCO are respectful and professional,

From: Mendel, ja mes (ML|TSD) <James.Mendel@ontario.ca>
Sent: Wednesday, March 8,2A231:58 PM
To: Joel Fried m a n <lfliedman@$eg_.on.ga>

Cc : Ta m, M i ng-Yo ung ( M LITSD) <M ing-Youns.TFm@onta rio.ca>
Subject: Office of the Fairness Commissioner 2021 FRP Report - College of Chiropractors

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
T.his.e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential informalion and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other dislribution, copying or
dlsclosure ls striclly prohibited. lf you havo received this e-mail in enor, please notiry CCo immedlatety'by rept| i-mait and delete sil copies inctuotng anv
attachments without rcading it or making a copy. Thank you.

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have
verified the sender and know the content is safe.

Hello Joel,

Please find attached the College's formatted 2A21 Fair Registration Practices report. You'll notice
that it is in a different format than previous FRP reports, which reflects the capabilities of the survey
tool used for this round.

Thanks
James

2



911

SUBSCRIBE to the OFC Newsletter

James Mendel
Compliance Analyst
Office of the Fairness Commissioner
(4371233-4865
www.fa irnesscomm issioner.ca

FAtr{ttt corl MlgSlol*ER
0FFtGl oF tl'l FAllllla3 colllllltloalSt
lunr^U $, cer{ilrtrllni A L'3ol,ltl

;

coHr.ttscAlRE A LtOUI?l

The informalion transmitted in this email is intended only for
the person to whom it is addressed and may contain
confldential material- Any review, disseminalion, or other use

of this information by persons other than the intended
recipient is prohibited, lf you recoived this message in eror'
please contact the sender and permanently delete it'
including any attachments, without making a copy' Please
contacl me if you need lhis communication in another
format Thank you.

3



2021 Fair Registration Practices Report 912

#15

Collector;
Startedr
Last Modifiodr
Time Spsnt:
lF Address:

Web Link 1(Web Link)

Tuesday, December t3,2022 8:24:07 AM
Tuesday, December L3,2A22 8:35:36 AM
00:11:29
38.LL7.75,230

Page 1": Fair Registration Practices Report 2021

Q1

Please indicate which regulator you are and your main point of contact should we require follow up.

College of Chiropraetors ol Ontario

Joel Friedman, D€puty Registrar
jfriedman@cco.(}n.ca

4l-6-922-6355, ext. 104

COiVP T5

1/13



913

Q2

Section 1" - During the reporting period (January 1st-
December 3l-st, 202L), please indicate if your organization
has introduced any changes in the following areas
impacting your registration processes by clicking on each
of the appropriate boxes belowRegistration requirements
either through regulation, by-law or policy.

Q3

New or consolidated class of certificates or licenses

2021 Fair Registration Practices Report

Yes,

Description of charrge/improvement that would impact fair
registration outcomes ;

CCO approved amendments to the following policies related

to registration: Amendments to Policy P-058: Policy on

Considering Applications for Registration During the COVID-

19 Pandemic and Application Form on February 26,2A2L.

Council approved amendments to this policy to allow

applicants to practise under in the General (Provisional)

Class of Registration under the supervision of an active

chiropractor registered in the General Class of Registration

in good standing with CCO. This amendnrent was approved

due to the carrcellation of the in-person component of the

clinical competency entryto-practice examinatiorrs

administered by the Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board

in February 2021". This policy, initially approved on August

1'2., 2022 allowed for the registration of approximately 150

members in the General (Provisional) Class of Registration

until they were able to complete the in-person clinical

competency entry-to-practice examinations in June 2021

and become fully registered in the General Class of

Registration. This policy was identified as a best practice by

the Office of the Fairness Commissioner. Amendments to

Policy P-053; Returning to the General Class of Certificate

of Registration on November 25,2021. Approved

amendments explained and referenced what is meant by

"regulated jurisdiction" with respect ta appticants returning

to Ontario to practise after practising elsewhere.

Anlendments to Policy P-050: Supervision and Direction of

Chiropractors in Training and Policy P-058: Policy on

Considering Applications for Registration During the COVID-

19 Pandemic on Nsvember 25,ZO?L. Approved
amendments clarified what is meant by a member in "good

standing" with CCO for the purposes of acting as a
superuising chiropractor, as well as considerations the

Registration Committee will apply in reviewing an application

tor a supervising chiropractor with a past disciplinary

finding.

Yes,

Description of change/improvement that would impact fair
registration outcomes :

The General (Provisional) Class of Registration was

temporarily passed for applicants affected by the

cancellation of in-person clinical competency entryto-
practise examinations due to the COVID-l-g pandemic.

Please see a further description in Question 2.

2 tL3



914

Q4

Assess ment of qualifications

Qs
'Imelines for registration, decisions and/or responses

Q6

Registration and assessnrent fees

Q7

Resources for applicants

Q8

Changes to internal review or appeal process

Qe

Access by applicants to their records

Q10

M utual recognition agreements

Q1X

Training and resources for staff regarding registration

2021 Fair Registration Practices Report

No'

Description of change/improvement that would impac! fair

registration outcomes:

Applications for registration continued to be teviewed and

approved wiihin 7 - 10 business days, if all requirements

were met. Meetings of the Registration Committee were

conducted approximately every month or on an as needed

basis to review refetrals of applications for registration.

No,

Description oi changelimprovement that would impact fair

registration outconles :

No change in fees in 2021.

No,

Descriptiorl of changelimprovement fhat would impact fair

registration outcomes:

Staff continued to participate in contitruing educaticn and

professional development oppofiunities from internal and

external sources.

No

No

No

No

No

3 t13



915

Q12

Relationship with third party service provider(s)

Q13

Accreditation of educational programs

Q14

Teclrnological or digital im provements

Q15

Anti-racism and inclusion-based policies and practices

Q16

Organizational structure

Q17

Contingency or continuity of operations plans

2021 Fair Registration Practices Report

No,

Description of change/improvernent that would impact fair

registration outcomes:

CCO continues to be a board member of the Canadian

Chiropractic Examining Board. ln 2021, CCO increased its
communications and correspondences with CCEB to

discuss and find solutions to issues related to the COVID-

L9 pandemic's effect on in-person clinical competency

entry-to-practis e examinations.

Yes,

Description of Change/lmprovement that would impact Fair

Registration Outcomes:

CCO committees continued to review and apply policies

related to accessibility for wdting CCO's Legislation and

Ethics Examination and applying tor registration. CCO

moved to a complete viftual Legislation and Fthics

Examination in October 2020 and continued to implement
this in 2021,. CCO considered and acconrmodated requests

for accommodation for this examination, such as providing

extra lime. CCO approved a Diversity, Equity and lnclusion

Plan in April 2O22 (not applicable b 2A2'J. reporling year).

No

Yes,

Description of Change/lmprovement that would impact Fair

Registration Outcomes:

CCO continued to move between remote and in person

working conditions based on the COVID-l9 pandemic.

RegisUatiun uf appliearrts arrtl Registratiult Cutrtnlittee
meetings continued regardless of the work conditions. CCO

conducted 10 virtual Registration Committee meetirrgs in

2O2t la review applications for registration and review and

recommend policy amendmenls to Council.

Yes,

No

No

4 lt3



916
202L Fair Registration Practices Report

Q18

Documentation requirements for registration

Yes,

Description of Charrge/lmprovement that would impact Fair

Registration Outcomes :

CCO had relaxed certain application requirements in May

2022due to the COVID-19 pandemic, such as no longer

requiring examination and registration applications to be

notarized, which continued into 2021.

Q1e

English I French language proficiency testing

No

Q20

Section 2 - lf applicable, please list your organization's top three accomplishments during the reporting period that relate

to fair registration practices.

r Amendments to General (Provisional) Policy and

Application Form

2 Amendments to clarafy certain requirements in

Registration policies

I Continued offering ol a virtual Legislation and Ethica

Examination with no issues

Q2L

Section 3 - lf applicable, please list the top three risks that impacted your organization's ability to achieve better

registration outcomes for applicants during the reporting period. Please also indicate the measures you have taken to

mitigate the impacts of these risks.

1 Cancellation of in-person clinical competency entry to
practise examinations due to the covlD-lg Pandemic'

Amendments to policy and application form {described
in more detail above)

2 Avoidance of any cyber security issues with respect to

the administration ol a virtual examination

Risk of General (Provisional) class of registration

applied for the first time in 2020 and 2021. Requirement

for supervising chiropractors to be active, registered in

the General Glass of Registration, be in good standing

with CCO, have gone through Peer and Practice

Assessment, and requirement to practise in any

additional areas if required for supervision (e.9.,

acupuncture).

c

5lt3



917

Q22

Section 4 - Do you beiieve that you have a Canadian
Fxperience Reqrrirement (CFR)? tf so, please descrihe
the applicant competencies that you seek to develop
through this requirement in the comment box below CER
work experience or experientialtraining obtained in
Canada.

Q23

Q UANTITATIVE S ECTI O N The followi ng quantitative
information is collected for the purpose of discerning
statisticalchanges and trends related to a reglrlator's
membership, application volumes, licensure/certification
results, and appeals year over year, Languages lndicate
the languages in which you make available application
materials and information about the application process.

Q24

Membership Data Demographics Data As of December
3L,2O2L, please indicate the number of members in each
gender category identified below and the number of total
members.

Q25

ln relation to your members: Do you collect race-based
data?

Q26

Do you collect other identity-based or demographics data?

Q27

Do you plan io collect race-based data in the future?

Q28

Class of License/Certificate Data As of December 3l_, of
the reporting year, please indicate the number ol members
under each class or license category as applicable.

2021 Fair Registration Practices Report

Engllsh ,

French,

Other (please specify)

French upon request,

Total Male

Total Female

Total Non-binary

Gender not provided

Overall Total

No

Yes,

Otlrer (please specify):

CCO collects data with respect lo year of birth, gender,

location of practice and residence and various practice

related data.

NO

Full/lndependent Practice

Provisional/Limited

License/Ceftificate

Emergency

LicenselCertif icate

All other classes

Overall Total

4816

No

3070

2X79

0

0

5249

0

0

433

6/13

5249



2021 Fair Registration Practices Report
918

Q2e

Jurisdiction where members were initially trainedAs of December 31, of the reporting year, please indicate the
membership type and total number of registered members for each category listed below

ontario 3788

Other Canadian Frovinces and Territories 13

usA 1395

Other Countries 53

Multiple arrd/or Unspecified Jurisdiction g

Toral 5249

Q30

Please indicate the total number of registered members for the top 3-2 international countries or jurisdictions where these
individuals obtained their initial education in the profession or trade.

1 United States - 1395

2 Australia - 18

3 United Kingdom - L7

4 New Zealand - 16

5 France - 1

6 South Africa - 1

Q31

Applications Data Demographics Data lndicate the number
of applicants who filed an application between January 1
and December 31 of the reporting year, in each applicable
category,

Total Male

Total Female

Total Non-binary

Gender not provided

Overall Total

1(}4

l.24
0

0

228

Q32

ln relation to the applications, you received:Do you collect
race-based data?

Q33

Do you collect other identity-based or demographics data?

No

Yes,

lf yes, please indicate the type: :

CCO collects data with respect to year oi bir4h, gender,

location of practice and residence and various practice

related data.

7 /L3



919
2021 Fair Registratiorr Practices Report

Q34

Category of Applicants Number of applicants who voluntarily or involuntarily (through inactive and lapsed applications)
withdre.w frnm the application prncess between January 1 anfl December 31,zA?-Ii

Q35

Please indicate the total number of applicants from Ontario
who filed an application between January l and December
3L,2A2l for tlie following categories as applicable.

Number of Applicants 151

Number of Applicants 151

LicensedlCertif ied

Average Time t0 Process 3

Application in Weeks from

First Point of Applicant

Contact

Average Tinre to Process 2

Application in Weeks irom

Receipt of all Required

Documents

Q35

Please indicate the total number of applicants from
Canadian provinces and territories (excluding Ontarioi who
filed an application between January l- and December 31,
2Q21-tor each of lhe following categories as applicable.

Number of applicants

Number of applicanis fully
licensed/certi{ied

Avetage Time to Process

Application in Weeks from

First Point ol Applicant
Contact

Average Time tc Process
Application in Weeks from

Receipt ol all Required

DocLrments

Q37

Please indicate the total number ol certilicate-to-certificate
(labour mobility) applicants who filed an application
between Januxy 1 and December 31, 2AZL1nr each of the
categories as applicable.

Number of applicants

Number of applicants fully

licensed/certified

Average Time to Process

Application in Weeks from

First Point of Applicant

Contact

Average Time to Frocess

Application in Weeks fiom

Receipt of all Required

Documents

1

L

3

2

7

7

3

2

8/r.3



920
2021 Fair Registration Practices Report

Q38

Please indicate the total number of applicants {rom
internationaljurisdictions (not including USA) who {iled an

application brewveen January l and December 31, 2A2Llor
each of the categories as applicable,

Q3e

Please rndicate the total number of applicants from multtple
and/or jurisdictions not specilied who filed an application
behrueen January 1 and December 31, 2A2lfur each of the
categories as applicable.

Q40

Please indicate the total number of applicants from
ac c redited Canadian post'sec ondary institutions who filed
an application between January 1 and December 31', ?O2!
for each of the categories as applicable.

Number of applicants

Number ol applicants lully

licensed/certif ied

Average Time to Process

Appllcation in Weeks from

Firsi Point of Applicant

C0ntact

Average Time to Process

Application in Weeks from

Receipt of all Required

Docurnents

Number of applicants

Nurnber of applicants fully

licensedicertif ied

Average Titne to Plocess

Application in Weeks from

First Point o{ Applicant

Contact

Average Time to Ptocess

Application in Weeks from

Receipt of all Required

Documents

Number of applicants L51

Number of applicarrts fullY 150

licensed/ceftified

Average Time to Process Lz

Application in Weeks from

First Point of Applicant

Contact

Average Time to Process I
Application in Weeks front

Receipt of all Required

Documents

2

I
7

3

0

0

0

0

9/13



921
2021 Fair Registratiop Practices Report

Q41

Please indicate the total number of applicants who re-
registered after withdrawing from the application process
between January l- and December 31, 2A21fur each of the
categories as applicable,

Q4s

Please lndicate the total number of applicants who
received full licensurelcertification between January 1- and
December 3!,202I, according to the following timelines.

Number of appJicants

Number of applicants fully
licAnsedlcenilied

Average Time to Process

Application in Weeks frcm

First Point of Applicant
Contact

Average Time to Process

Application in Wccks from

Receipt of all Required

Documents

0 - less than 3 months

3 months - less than 6

months

6 months - less than 12

months

12 months - less than 1"8

months

18 rnsnlhs - less tlran 24

months

24 months and greater

0

0

0

0

Q42

Please provide any additional comments you may have for questions 33-4L.

All General (Ptovisional) menrbers became registered in Full General Class by December 3L, 2A2I, so the number of General

(Provisional) nrembers on December 31, 2021 was 0.

Qrt3

Jurisdiction where applicants obtained tlreir initial educationPlease indicate the total number of applicants for the top t2
international countries or jurisdiclion where applicants obtained their inhial education in the profession or trade.

1 usA-69

2 New Zealand - 4

3 Australia - 3

4 United Kingdom .1

Q44

Processing Time As of December 31-,2021., how many full licenseslcertificates did your organization issue?

223

2L5

I

0

0

0

0

r.0 i 13



2021 Fair Registration Practices Report

Qq6

Age of Active Applications As of December 31, 2021. what were the total number of active applications in your case
inventory?

2

922

Q47

Please provide a breakdown (and total) of active
applications according to the length of time (age) that they
have been open.

Q/t8

Other Licenses/Certificates of Registration
ProcessedPlease indicate the number of applicants who
were issued an alternative class of license* that your
organization processed in the reporting year (January 1-
December 31, 202L).Enter the data by the jurisdiction
where applicants were initially trained in the profession, i.e.
before they were granted use of the protected title or
professionaldesignation in Ontario.* An alternative class of
licenseicertificate enables the holder to practice with
limitations, but additional requirements must be met for the
member to be fully licensedlcertified.

Q4e

Other Licenses/Certificates of Registration
ProcessedPlease indicate the number of applications, lf
applicable, who were issued an emergency
license/certificate that your organization processed in the
reporting year {Januaty l.-December 3L, 202L). Enter the
data by the jurisdiction where applicants were initially
trained in the profession, i.e. before they were granted use
of the protected title or professional designation in Ontario.

0 - less than 3 months

3 months - less than 6

months

6 months - less than 12

months

L2 months - less than 18

months

18 months - less than 24

months

TOTAL

Ontario 68

Other Canadian Provinces 0

and Tenitories

Certificate to Certiflcate 0

(Labour Mobility)

usA 11

Other lnternational 3
Multiple and/or Unspecified 0

Jurisdictions
TOTAL 82

Ontario 68

Other Canadian Provinces 0

and Territories

Certificate to Certificate 0

(Labour Mobility)

USA LL

Other lnternational 3

Multiple and/or Unspecified 0

Jurisdictions

TOTAL 82

2

0

0

0

0

2

1L/13



202L Fair Registration Practices Report 923

Q50

Other LicenseslCertificates of Registration
ProcessedPlcacc indicatc the number of provisional
I icense/certif icate or alternative c lass of license/certif icate
holders who were fully licensedicertified by your
organization which were processed in the reporting year
(January l-December 3L,2O2r. Enter the dara by the
jurisdiction where applicants were initially trained in the
profession, i.e. before they were granted use of the
protected title or professionaldesignation in ontario.

Q51

Number of Reviews and Appeals Processed State the
number of reviews and appeals that your organization
processed in the repofting year (January l"-December 3L,
202J.). For applicants who were subject to an internal
review or who were referred to a statutory committee of
your governing council, such as a Registration Comminee
Enter the data by the jurisdiction where applicants were
initially trained in the profession, i.e. before they were
granted use of the protected tifle or professional
designation in Ontario.

Q52

State the number of reviews and appeals that your
organization processed in the reporting year (January J.-

December 31,,202L). For applicants who initiated an
appeal of a registration decision. Enter the data by the
jurisdiction where applicants were initially trained in the
profession, i.e. before they were granted use of the
prolected title or professi0naldesignalion in Ontario.

Q53

State the number of reviews and appeals heard in the
reporting year (Januzuy 1-December 3t,2O2I). Enter the
data by the jurisdiction where applicants were initially
trained in the profession, i,e. before they were granted use
of the protected title or professional designation in Ontario.

Ontario 68

Other Canadian Provinces 0

and Territories

Certificate to Certificate 0

(Labour Mobility)

usA tl"
Other lnternational 3

Mrdtiple andlor Unspecitied O

Jurisdictions

TOTAL W2

Ontario 5

Other Canadian Provinces 0

USA 8

Othercountries 1.

Multiple and/or Unspecified 0

Countries

TOTAL T4

Ontario

Other Canadian Provinces

USA

Othercountries
Multiple andlor Unspecified

Countries

TOTAL

Ontario 6

Other Canadian Provinces 0

USA 8

Othercountries 1

Multiple and/or Unspecified O

Countries

TOTAL L4

5

0

I
1

0

t4

'l.2 tL3



2O2L Fair Registration Practices Report 924
Q54

State the number of registration decisrons changed
following an appeal and/or review that your organization
processed in the reporting year (January 1-December 31,
2O2L). Enter the data by lhe jurisdiction where applicants
were initially trained in the profession, i.e, before they were
granted use of the protected title or professional
designation in Ontario.

Ontario 0

Other Canadiarr Provinces 0

USA O

OtherCountries 0

Multiple and/or Unspecified 0

Countries

TOTAL O

I

Qs5

Lrst the top three reason for appeals (by percentage) of a registration decision

Applicants requesting to become registered in Ontario
following practising in another regulated jurisdiction
outside ol Canada

Applicants requesting to become registered in Ontario
after more than 2 years of being inactive

Applicants requesting specific exemptions to the
General {Provisional) requirement

Qs6

List the top five reasons (by percentage) for not lssuing a License/Certification to lnternationally Trained lndividuals

L Applicant did not complete requirements for registration
(examination, etc,)

Qs7

List the top Five Reasons (by percentage) for not lssuing a LicenselCertification to Canadian Graduates

Applicant did not complete requirements for registration
(examination, etc,)

Q58

Please provide any additionalcomments you may have

The statistics for questions 48 - 50 all reference applicants registered in the General (Provisional) class of Registration, who
subsequently became fully registered in the General class of Registration.

The statistics for questions 50 - 54 all apply to referrals to the Registration Cornmittee for review There were no extenral reviews or
appeals of Registration Committee decisions in 2O2L.

2

1_

L3/13



|TEM 4.3.7 925
Joel Friedman

From:
Sent:
Cc:

Subject:
Attachments:

Mendel, James (MLITSD) <James.Mendel@ontario.ca>

Wednesday, March 15,2A2311:08 AM
Tam, Ming-Young (M LITS D); Forgie- Resnick, Hilary (M LITSD)

Office of the Fairness Commissioner - Fair Registration Practice reporting updates
2023 03 13 - Memo - March updates Health Regulators (FINAL) EN.docx

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not cllck links or open attachments unless you have

verified the sender and know the content is safe,

Hello,

Please find a memo attached regarding the Office of the Fairness Commissioner's (OFC) Fair
Registration Practice reportin g.

SUBSCRIBE to the OFC Newsletter

James Mendel
Compliance Analyst
Office of the Fairness Commissioner
(437) 233-486s
www.fairnesgcom m issioner.ca

fatr1r1115 CQriMlgsloN ER
oFFrct oF rFr FArFr{G13 CortllliilotaF
curSlu ou {or{Hrr! rrBt A ('agurri

coHr'tlssatRE tr L'tout?l

The information transmitted in this omail is intended only for
the person to whom it is addressed and may contain
conftdential material, Any review, dissemination, or other use
of this information by persons other than the intended
recipient is prohibited. lf you received this message in eror,
please contact the sender and permanently delet€ it,
including any attachments, without making a copy. Please
conlact me if you need this communication in another
format Thank you.



926
FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

oFFtct oF THE FAtiN:tt coltMrtStollli
180 Dundo8 slreel W., Sullo 300, loronto ON M7A zsg

ruRrAu Du coil[r3s^n- A L'lourlt
160, rue Dundas o.,8ureru 300, Toronlo (onlarlo) M7A 2S6COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUtTE

March 15,2023

Dear Regulated Health Professionals,

As part of our commitment to provide you with more support and outreach in 2023, we are writing to
provide you an update.

2022 Fair Registration Practices (FRPI report

The Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC) will be sending out the 2022 FRP report in May 2023.

Regulators will have 50 business days to complete and file their submissions with the OFC. We

anticipate that the 2022 FRP report will be largely like the 2021 report in its format and content, but
some regulated professions can expect changes to the 2023 report based on the recent legislative

amendments to the Fair Accels to Regulated Professions and Comnulgorv Trades Act. 2006 and Ontario

Be4ulation 261/22.

You might also recall, the changes to the 2021 FRP submission was in part a result of our continuing
effort to modernizing our lT infrastructure. The OFC continues to work towards building a data portal

as more permanent solution for future FRP submissions including the 2023 report. We hope to share

more on the data portal later in the year.

Thank you for your patience with these processes and your ongoing efforts to improve your

registration practices.

lf you have any questions, please contact your assigned cornpliance analyst or e-mail Ming Young Tam,

M a nager, Busi ness and Operations Plann i n g, at m ine-vou ng,tarn @ontarlo.ca.

Yours truly,

Hilary Forgie-Resn ick,

Director

www.fairnesscommissioner ca
OFC@ontario ca

An agency of the Government of Ontario
Un organisme du gouvernement de l'Ontario



927
View ln Browser

FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE

THE OFC NEWSLETTER

MARCH 2023

REGULATOR SPOTLIGHT

Periodically, the Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC) highlights regulators that have adopted innovative
approaches to improve their fair registration practices.

This March, we want to spotlight the Ontario Association of Certified Engineering Technicians and Technologists
(OACETT), which has managed to successfully eliminate its previous one-year Canadian Experience
Requirements (CER) from its registration process, in favour of a competency-based examination.

The following infographic was authored by OACETT and presents this regulator's solution and the process

through which it was developed.

The OFC wishes to congratulate OACETT for its proactive efforts to remove this registration banier.

A copy of this infographic may be downloaded from the OFC website by clicking on QACELLCERSsblias.



928
FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

COMMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE

oFftcE oF 1l{E rAtira333 coitlil59toilEi
lB0 l-Unrris Jtrci Vd , slillc 300, Tnton:o tjli tJiA 25fi

ruit^U Du coMHt3SAriC A L'lOUtra
1{I0, (r. Or.rnlni O . Rurrarr l0O l$rqrlo iorttrr}1rl l\47A 2So

-\;. lr :r;. 1' :: , ,, I

:r.' ;-lr:i: ' -

/.,1.,,y.,,:y rr i , , .: i; ,r
Uiti:: ;:,!ii.l :: a ri..,!,,1i:: r.r"r:',ii'r.i.',i .

Howto Eliminate the
Canadian Experience Requirement

SOLUTION proposed by
Ontario Association of Certified
Engineering Technicians and

Technologists OACEIT

I ) TASK FORCE

ln November 2013, a task force (with members from
industry and acadcmia) was created to address the
Ontario Human Rights Commission's finding that
Canadian experience requirements can constitute
discrimination in employment unless proven otherwise.

4) THE |NTERV|EW QUESTTONS

2) RECOMMENDATION
ln 2O15, an Enhanced Professional Practice Exam (ppEl is
proposed to substitute the one year Canadian experience.

P

3) EMPLOYER INTERVIEWS
TEN industry employers were int€rviewed in 2Ol5 to
help understand what was needed to develop a
supplementary manual, seminar and exam for
lnternationally Educated Professionals (lEPs).

Questions covered employee workplace performance:



929
:urilHiiliffi ilffi l[nl,fiffi :ti;?:.#"$xliT:,r";,-"El

Whot challenges do new employees (efther Canadian or
internationatty trained) hsve with respect to this ospect
of workploce perfor m o nce?

Hove you noticed any differences between the
integration process of Canodian troined new
employees ond interndtionally troined employees with
respect to this ospect of workplqce performance?

s) NEW EXAM
With proper research and due diligence, OACFIT's
I nternationa lly Educated Professional Practice Exam (lEpPE)

was crgatcd.
. The IEPPE has four sections: Law, Ethicg, Practice, and

Enhanced Practice
. The PFE is three and a half hours long
. Onlinc 24f7 with6 proctor overseeing bywebcam
. llo multiple choice quertions

6) ENHANCED SECTION
. The enhanced section focuges on Legislation and Profursional

Practice, Workplece Culture, and Health and Safety' and
. includer 3O additional quartions.

AN INTERVIEW WITH OACETT

ln order to assist other regulators that are considering ways to eliminate their own CERs, the OFC has provided

the tollowrng Qs and As that elaborate on OACETT's experlence.

OACETT



Please provide some detairs on your consurtations with emproyers. 930
Multiple employers were interviewed to provide their insights into the perceived gaps of internationally
educated professionals (lEPs). They covered private and government organizations and came from a variety
of engineering technology and applied sciences disciplines. Several of the employers were lEps and shared
their personal experiences of integrating into and succeeding in canadian engineering technology and
applied sciences workplaces. These employer insights were interwoven into the exam.

After the consultations, did you continue to maintain a professional relationship with the employers?

Many of the employers who were contacted already had oAcETT certified members and had been
advocates for certified technicians and technologists. A strong relationship continues with the employers
who provided input on the creation of the alternate solution to a 1-year Canadian work experience.

How would oAcETT define the distinct elements of a Canadian workplace culture that were canvassed in
its examination?

Canadian workplace culture includes the legislation, standards and codes used in the workplace that are
specific to Canada' This includes the policies and procedures that Canadian employees are following, the
documents being used, and the symbols that hold meaningfor the employees in the Canadian workplace
(logos, brands, and safety symbols). lt also includes employee and management behaviours including
those typically found in Canada.

What did OACETT identify as critical competencies that demonstrated knowledge of the Canadian
workplace?

success as an engineering technician or technologist does not just depend upon knowledge of legislation,
codes and standards, lt also depends upon appropriately applying the legislation, codes and standards to
the canadian workplace context. Effective practice must, therefore, integrate both knowledge and how it
is applied

To provide more knowledge, additional information was included about the federal, provincial and local
departments and agencies to be familiar with along with the relevant legislation, codes or standards they
are responsible for, the tendering process, understanding contracts, and the government procurement
process.

Additional health and safety information in the workplace was also included to close gaps with
unfamiliarity with Canadian practices. This included information on basic health and safety strategies
including why workplace health and safety is important, internal responsibility systems for workplace
health and safety, the rights of employees, health and safety representatives and committees, and the
types of workplace health and safety hazards.

Could you share feedback from professionals that completed the lnternationally Educated professional
Practice Exam (IEPPE)?

Several months after the launch of the IEPPE, several of the first candidates to complete the exam were
interviewed about their experiences. All were happy and grateful to have an efficient and accessible way
to demonstrate their understanding of the Canadian workplace. They all felt this process allowed them to
access the canadian labour market sooner and more effectively.

EMERGENCY REGTSTRATTON PLANS (ERp)



ln 2022,the Government of Ontario introduced an amendment to the FariAccess to Regulated Professions and

Ci*puisory Trades Act,2006 to require that professional regulators enact emergency registration plans (ERPs)

More particularly, regulators must create and file an ERP with the office of the Fairness commissioner (oFC) by

1uly-zi zaz+, enlureihat it addresses the stipulated elements, and keep the plan up to date.

please refer to the following links for addiiional details: Fal:rAccess fo Requlaled,Professlons and Conlpu/sery

Trades Act, 2006 and Ontario Reg!la$on291/22.

Given the requirements, we are offering information and advice to regulated professionals to assist them to:

. Develop their ERps and understand how the OFG intends to determine if the obligation have been met; and

. AdoPt associated best practices in their organizations.

The ERp obligation and guidetines are now included in the OFC's l.egisIafpd po/,getions 6nd Besl Practc6J

Gurde-Regukfed Frofesslons and C '

931

Rru

2a22FA.RREG|STRAT|oNPRAcTlcEs(FRP)REPoRTS

The OFC will be sendlng out the 2022 FRP report in May 2023'

we anticipate that the 2022 FRp report will be largely like. the 2021 report in its format and content, but regulated

professions on 
"*p""t "n"nges 

to'the 2023 repdrtio address and incorporate recent legislative and regulatory

changes.

Regulators will have 60 business days to complete and file their submissions with the OFC'

The oFC continues to work towards building a data portal as more permanent solution for future FRP submissions

including the 2023 report. We hope to share more on the data portal later in the year.



3123123,9:38 AM hftps://mmail.lst.fin.gov.on.ca/list/euidlxqe/23O322Jle4h4z5ecsjtr.vib?a2=thcaavwT&a1=jpwillson%40CCO.ON.CA&ao=1699

|TEM 4.3.8

932
FAIRNESS COMMISSIONER

COMMISSAIRE A T'EOUITE

THE OFC NEWSLETTER

MARCH 2023

REGULATOR SPOTLIGHT

Periodically, the Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC) highlights regulators that have adopted innovative
approaches to improve their fair registration practices.

This March, we want to spotlight the Ontario Association of Certified Engineering Technicians and Technologists
(OACETT), which has managed to successfully eliminate its previous one-year Canadian Experidnce
Requirements (CER) from its registration process, in favour of a competency-based eiamination.

The following infographic was authored by OACETT and presents this regulator's solution and the process
through which it was developed.

The OFC wishes to congratulate OACETT for its proactive efforts to remove this registration barrier.

A copy of this infographic may be downloaded from the OFC website by clicking on OACETT CER Solution.

hftps://mmail.lst.fin.gov.on.ca/list/euidlxqe/230322Jle4hAzlecsjtr.vib?a2=thcaavwT&a1=jpwillson%40CCO.ON.CA&a0=1699 1t9



^.ao 
An,JtzJtzJ. Y.oo nrvr https://mmail.lst.fin.gov.on.ca/list/euidlxqe/23 0322Jle4h4ziecsjtr.vib?a2=thcaavwT&a1=jpwillson%40CCO'ON'CA&a0=1699

933

FAIRN ESS CCIVT MI SSIONE ft

CO!.IMISSAIRE A L'EOUITE

oFarcg or tHE FAtRtlCsg eoilMtgslollER
i8il l:u!ds5 gs6Bt W. Sule JOS. Torciie tlf"'l il/A ?5li

tuR[ u ou colltttltsAlRr A L'iqulrt
l{!. r@ Slnds$ 0 , gu!*!{ J{*. JdirFto {cE{n!b} id?A 23S

r.;, , 4.li .!: -.,ir'i! .1,'r -.
A.r..i: ,i1::!ai: r:a-,', , '"''ri't: !:

: j.r,t.ir9"ti:ali l-i _1i' trii: ri:i rl ile i lt:ni .r'

How to Eliminate the
Canadian Experience Requirement

SOLUTIOil ProPosed bY

Ontario Association of Certified
Engineeri ng Technicians andr 

Technologists OACETT

1) TASK FORCE

ln November 2O13, a task force {with rnembers from
industry and academia) was created to address the
Ontario Human Rights Commission's finding that
Canadian experience requirements ca n constitute
discrimination in ernployment unless proven otherwise

4) THE TNTERVIEW QUESTIONS

Questions covered employee workplace performance:

. Understanding and applying legislation.

. Understanding and applying health and safety regulations'
, understandinq canadian workplace culture and cultural norms.

2) RECOMMENDATION
ln 2O15, an Enhanced Professional Practice Exam (pPE) is
proposed to substitute the one year Canadian experience.

?

3)EMPLOYER INTERVIEWS
TEN industry employers were interviewed in 2Ol5 to
help understand what was needed to develop a

supplementary manual, seminar and exam for
lnternationally Educated Professionals {lEPs}'

httpe://mmail.lst.fin.gov,on.ca/list/ouidlxqe/23 0322Jlo4h4zlecsjtr.vib?a2=thcaavwT&al =jpwillson%40CCo.ON.CA&a0=1699 2t9



3123123,9:38 AM https://mmail.lst.fin.gov.on.ca/list/euidlxqe/230322Jle4h4z\ecsjtr.vib?a2=thcaavwT&a1=jpwillson%40CCO.ON.CA&a0=1699

Whot challenges do new emplayees feithe r Conqdiqn ar
internstionally trained) hoye with respect to thrs ospect
of workploce perfor mo n ce?

934

Hoye you noticed any differences between the
integrotion process of Csnadion trained new
employees ond internotionally troined emplayees with
respect to thrs ospect of workplcrce performonce?

r1fltt
d

1r*
''+

5)NEW EXAM
With proper research and due diligence, OACEfi's
lnternationally Educated Professional Fractice Exam (tEppE)
was created.

. The IEPPE has four sections: Law, Ethics, Practice, and
Enhanced Practice

' The PPE is three and a half hours long
. Online 2+17 with a proctor overseeing bywebcam
. l3O multiple choice questions

6) ENHANCED SECTION
. The enhanced section focuses on Legislation and professional

Practice, Workplace Culture, and Health and Safety, and
' includes 3O additional questions.

AN INTERVIEW WITH OACETT

ln order to assist other regulators that are considering ways to eliminate their own CERs, the OFC has provided
the following Qs and As that elaborate on OACETT's experience.

ru
OACETT

Please provide some details on your consultations with employers.

Multiple employers were interviewed to provide their insights into the perceived gaps of internationally
educated professionals (lEPs). They covered private and government organizations and came from a variety
of engineering technology and applied sciences disciplines. Several of the employers were lEPs and shared

https://mmail.lst.fin.gov.on.callist/euidlxqe/230322Jle4h4z5ecsjtr.vib?a2=thcaavwT&a 1 =jpwillson%40CCO.ON.CA&a0= 1699 3t9



3123123,9:38 AM https:/immail.lst.fin.gov.on.ca/lisVeuidlxqe/230322Jte4h4zlecsjtr.vib?a2=thcaavwT&a1=jpwillson%40CCO.ON.CA&a0=1699

their personal experiences of integrating into and succeeding in Canadian engineering technology and

applied sciences workplaces. These employer insights were interwoven into the exam.

After the consultations, did you continue to maintain a professional relationship with the employers?

Many of the employers who were contacted already had OACETT certified members and had been

advocates for certified technicians and technologists. A strong relationship continues with the employers

who provided input on the creation of the alternate solution to a 1-year Canadian work experience.

How would OACETT define the distinct elements of a Canadian workplace culture that were canvassed in

its examination?

Canadian workplace culture includes the legislation, standards and codes used in the workplace that are

specific to Canada. This includes the policies and procedures that Canadian employees are following, the

documents being used, and the symbols that hold meaning for the employees in the Canadian workplace

(logos, brands, and safety symbols). lt also includes employee and management behaviours including

those typically found in Canada.

What did OACETT ldentify as critical competencies that demonstrated knowledge of the Canadian

workplace?

Success as an engineering technician or technologist does not just depend upon knowledge of legislation,

codes and standards. lt also depends upon appropriately applying the legislation, codes and standards to

the Canadian workplace context: Effective practice must, therefore, integrate both knowledge and how it

is applied

To provide more knowledge, additional information was included about the federal, provincial and local

departments and agencies to be familiar with along with the relevant legislation, codes or standards they

are responsible for, the tendering process, understanding contracts, and the government procurement

process.

Additional health and safety information in the workplace was also included to close gaps with

unfamiliarity with Canadian practices. This included information on basic health and safety strategies

including why workplace health and safety is important, internal responsibility systems for workplace

health and safety, the rights of employees, health and safety representatives and cornmittees, and the

types of workplace health and safety hazards.

Could you share feedback from professionals that completed the lnternationally Educated Professional

Practice Exam (IEPPE)?

Several months after the launch of the IEPPE, several of the first candidates to complete the exam were

interviewed about their experiences. All were happy and grateful to have an efficient and accessible way

to demonstrate their understanding of the Canadian workplace. They all felt this process allowed them to

access the Canadian labour market sooner and more effectively'

EMERGENCY REGISTRAf,ION PLANS (ERP)

935

effi
https;l/mmail.lst.fin.gov.on.ca/lisVer"ridlxqe/238322JleAh{ziecsjtr.vib?a2=thcaavwT&a1=jpwillson%40CCO.ON'CA&a0=1699 4t9



3123123,9:38 AM https://mmail.lst.fin.gov.on.ca/lisVeuidlxqe/230322Jle4h4z5ecsjtr.vib?a2=thcaavwT&a1=jpwillson%40CCO.ON.CA&a0=1699

ln 2022, the Government of Ontario introduced an amendment to the Fair Access to Regulated Professrons and
Compulsory Trades Act,2006 to require that professional regulators enact emergency registration plans (ERPs)

More particularly, regulators must create and file an ERP with the Office of the Fairness Commissioner (OFC) by
July 2,2024, ensure that it addresses the stipulated elements, and keep the plan up to date.

Please refer to the following links for additional details: Faf Access fo ReSulated Professions and Wlspry.
Trades Act, 2006 and Ontario ReSulalipn2ill2.

Given the requirements, we are offering information and advice to regulated professionals to assist them to:

. Develop their ERPs and understand how the OFC intends to determine if the obligation have been met; and

" Adopt associated best practices in their organizations.

The ERP obligation and guidelines are now included in the OFC's Lest$lated_gfusations and Best Practi
Guide-Regulated Professions a BalsoryJrcdas.

2022 F AtR REG TSTRATTON PRACTT CES (FRP) REPORTS

The OFC will be sending out the 2022 FRP report in May 2023.

We anticipate that the 2022 FRP report will be largely like the 2021 report in its format and content, but regulated
professions can expect changes to the 2023 report to address and incorporate recent legislative and regulatory
changes.

Regulators will have 60 business days to complete and file their submissions with the OFC.

The OFC continues to work towards building a data portal as more permanent solution for future FRP submissions
including the 2023 report. We hope to share more on the data portal later in the year.

BULLETIN DE NOUVELLE DU BCE

MARS 2023

936

COUP DE PROJECTEUR SUR UN ORGANISME DE REGLEMENTATION

De temps en temps, le Bureau du commissaire d l'6quit6 (BCE) met en lumidre les organismes de r6glementation
qui ont adopt6 des approches innovantes pour amdliorer leurs pratiques d'inscription 6quitables.

En mars, nous souhaitons vous pr6senter I'Association des techniciens et technologues certifi6s en g6nie de
I'Ontario (OACETT), qui a r6ussi d dliminer, de son processus d'inscription, I'exigence en matidre d'exp6rience
canadienne d'une dur6e d'un an, pour la remplacer par un examen ax6 sur les comp6tences.

L'infographie suivante a 6t6 r6dig6e par I'OACETT et pr6sente la solution de cet organisme de r6glementation et
le processus par lequel elle a 6t6 ddvelopp6e.

La BCE tient d f6liciter I'OACETT pour ses efforts proactifs visant d 6liminer cet obstacle d I'inscription.

Une copie de cette infographie peut 6tre t6l6charg6e d partir du site web de la BCE en cliquant sur Solution
prepjsee_psLOrcE'fT.

https://mmail.lst.fin.gov.on.callisVeuidlxqe/230322Jle4h4z5ecsjtr.vib?a2=thcaavw7&a1=jpwillson%40CCO.ON.CA&a0=1699 5/9



Kawchuk et o/.

Chiroproctic&ManualTherapies (2023)31:4

https://doi.orgl1 0.1 1 86/sl 2998-022-00469-7 ITEM 6.1
Chiropractic &

ManualTherapies

937

A two-year follow-up: Twitter activity
regarding misinformation about spinal
manipulatioh, chiropractic care and boosting
immunity during the COVID-19 pandemic
Gregory Neil Kawchukl,3.@, Steen Harste d2, Jan Hartvigsen2'3, Luana Nyiroa and Casper Glissmann Nim2's'6

Abstract

Background Spinal manipulative therapy (SMT) is offered by many health professions, most often by chiroprac-

tors. While SMT can be effective for some musculoskeletal disorders, there is no evidence that SMT improves human

immunity in a clinically meaningful way. Despite this, we showed previously that Twitter misinformation about
chiropractic/SMT improving immunity increased sharply at the start of the COVID-'l 9 pandemic. Here, we perform a

two-year follow-up.

Methods We previously employed specialized software (i.e. Talkwalker) to search the entirety of Twitter activity in

the monrhsbeforeandaftertheCOVlD-lgpandemicwasdeclared(March11,2020).lnthispaper,weconducted
follow-up searches over two successive 12 month periods using terms related to SMT, immunity and chiropractic.

The resulting tweets were then coded lnto those promoting/refuting a relaiion between SMT and immunity (tone)

and messaging about chiropractic/interventions (content). Further analyses were performed to subcategorize tweet

content, tally likes, retweets and followers, and evaluate refuting tweets and the country of origin. Finally, we created a

chronology of Twitter activity superimposed with dates of promoting or refuting activities undertaken by chiropractic

organizations.

Resufts Over the 27 month study period,Twitter activity peaked on March 31 ,2020 then declined continuously. As in

our first paper, our follow-up data showed that (1) the ratio of refuting/promoting tweets remained constant and (2)

tweets that refuted a relationship between SMT and immunity were substantially more liked, retweeted and followed

than those promoting. We also observed that promoting tweets suggesting that SMT improves immunity decreased

more rapidly. Overwhelmingly, promoting tweets originated in the USA while refuting tweets originated in Canada,

Europe and Australia.The timing of the decline in peakTwitter activity, together with a parallel decline in tweets

claiming that SMT improves immunity, was colncident with inltiatives by chiropractic organizations and regulators

targeti ng m isinformation.

Conclusion Overwhelmingly, Twitter activity during the COVID-1 9 pandemic focussed on refuting a relation

between chiropractic/SMT and immunity. A decline in Twitter activity promoting a relation between SMT and immu-

nity was observed to coincide with initiatives from chiropractic organizations and regulators to refute these claims.

The majority of misinformation about this topic is generated in the United States.

16
:Check for
: lF(lates

nCorrespondence:

Gregory Neil Kawchuk
greg.kawchukqual berta.ca

Full list of author information is available at the end ofthe article

olhe Autho(s) 2023. Open A(cessThis anicle is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which
permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium orformat, as long as you give appropriate credit to the

original autho(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made.The images or

other third party material in this article are included in the anicles Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line

to the material. lfmaterial is not included in the article3 Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory

regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission dkectly from the copyright holderTo view a copy ofthls

licence, visit http://creativecommons.org Aicenses/by/4.0/.Thte Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (httP://creativeco

mmons.orglpublicdomain/zeroll.01) applies to the data made available in this anicle, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.

IBMC



Kawchuk et a/. Ch iroproctic & ManualTherapies (2023) 31;4 Page2 of 12

938
Keywords Social media,Twitter, Spinal manipulation, Chiropractic, Misinformation, lmmunity

lntrnduction
On March 1,I,2020, the World Health Organization offi-
cially declared a pandemic for COVID-l9 [1]. Since then,
the SARS-CoV-2 virus has been responsible for more
than 550 million infections and 6 million deaths [2],

As the pandemic evolved, the resulting mass of infor-
mation generated by media, government, scientists and
social media created what has become known as an
"infodemic" [3]. Navigating this infodemic has become
a challenge not only because of its sheer volume, but
also because of the patchwork nature of information
describing regional policies, spot outbreaks, new vari-
arlts, and researcll distribution.

Adding to this challenge was the emergence and
growth of pandemic-specific misinformation t4].
Defined as inaccurate information spread without spe-

cific intent, misinformation occurs regularly in daily
life such as a misquoted address, but on a global level,
misinformation wreaked havoc on efforts to combat
the pandemic; sometimes with fatal consequences [4].
Specifically, the 

.WHO 
has stated, "The unfolding of the

COVID-19 pandemic has demonstrated how the spread
of misinformation, amplified on social media and other
digital platforms, is proving to be as much a threat to
global public health as the virus itself [5]j'

As a result, studying the genesis, spread and evolu-
tion of pandemic misinformation is a growing academic
area that now piaces misinformation into categories
about the virus itself, vaccines, politics, conspiracy the-
ories and possible cures and/or interventions [6]. Early
in the pandemic, before vaccinations or anti-viral drugs
were available, a great amount of misinformation was
focused on interventions purported to "boost" immu-
nity for the prevention or mitigation of covid infections

[7]. These "boosting" interventions are typically asso-
ciated with optimizing basic human functions such as

eating, sleep, exercise, or through specific products like
nutritional supplements.

lncluded in these "immune-boosting" interventions
is Spinal Manipulative Therapy (SMT) [8]. Most com-
monly delivered by chiropractors in the management
of musculoskeletal conditions, SMT is sometimes pro-
moted as having systemic effects including the ability to
boost immunity [9]. W'hile there is evidence support-
ing the use of SMT as an intervention for Iow back pain
and other MSI( conditions [10], we are not aware of any
robust evidence that SMT, nor a specific profession that
provides SMT, creates a clinically meaningful improve-
ment in the human immune system [11, 12].

Nonefheless, we have shown that social media claims
of a positive association between SMT provided in a chi-
ropractic context, and boosting immunity, rose sharply
at the onset of the pandemic [8]. Although these claims
have also been documented outside of social media [9],
our prior analysis of the entirety of Twitter data demon-
strated that:

. Twitter misinformation claiming a positive reiation
between SMT and immunity increased dramatically
during the onset of the COVID crisis compared to
the 12 months prior.

. The iJotential reach (audierrce) of Lweels refuLing a
Iink between SMT and immunity was 3 times higher
than those promoting a link.

. IJsers with the greatest influence on Twitter, as either
promoters or refuters, were individuals, not institu-
tions or organizations.

. Of tweets mentioning a profession, chiropractic was

most frequent.
. The majority of tweets promoting a relation between

SMT and immunity were generated in the USA while
the majority of refuting tweets originated from Can-
ada.

Since then, we have collected two years of follow-up
data with the goal of determining if, and how Twitter
messaging regarding SMT and immunity has evoived
during the pandemic. Here, we compare Twitter data
from the first 3 months of the pandemic (fanuary 2020-
March 2020), the next 12 months of the pandemic (April
2020-April 2O'2I) and, then the following 12 months
(April 202 1 -April 2022).

Given the number of efforts by the chiropractic profes-
sion aimed at decreasing misinformation about chiro-
practic/SMT and immunity during the early pandemic,
we hypothesized that: (1) tweet frequency regarding
chiropractic/SMT and immunity would decrease, (2) the
proportion of refuting versus promoting tweets would
remain stable over time and (3) the content (chiropractic/
intervention) of the promoting tweets would change over
time.

Methods
Search strategy
Social media searching was performed using Talkwalker

Quick Search (Luxembourg, Luxembourg), the details
of which we have published previously [8]. Talkwalker
searches were performed exclusively on Twitter data for



Kawchuk et a/. Chiropractic & ManualTherapies (2023) 3l:4

three time periods: period A ()anuary 1, 2020-March
31, 2020), period B (April 1, 2020-March 31, 2021)

and period C (April L,2OZI-March 31,2022). W'e con-

structed our searches to identify tweets related to SMT,
chiropractic and immunity. For period A (performed pre-
viously), our search terms were (adjustn OR manipulatn
OR smt) AND (chiroo OR physioo OR "physical therapo"
OR naturon OR osteon OR napra*) AND (immun*). Based

on our prior results from this search that showed chiro-
practic to be the profession most often associated with
SMT and claims of boosting immunitp search terms for
periods B and C were constructed as (smt AND immuno)

OR (chiro* AND immun) AND NOT (immunocompro-
mised) AND NOT (immune-compromised). The above

searches.identified tweets that contained the search

terms in the body of the tweet as words and/or hashtags
(e.g. #chiropractic). For each search result, individual
tweet attributes were obtained including date, creator,
messaging, country of origin, language, likes, retweets
and followers.

Coding of tweets
Resulting tweets were coded manually for their tone
using the Twitter Tone lndex (TTI). The TTI [8] is a

nominal index of four coding options: (1) promoting a

relation between SMT and/or a profession providing
SMT and improved immunity, (2) refuting that same

relation, (3) neutral messaging or (4) irrelevant messag-

ing. Prior calibration resulted in a Fleiss l(appa score of
0.85 interpreted as almost perfect agreement [13]. Three

evaluators (LN, SH, CN) independently assessed each

tweet using the TTI. Tweets not having complete agree-

ment were discussed until agreement was obtained.
Tweets in all four categories were tallied. Only tweets
that were promoting or refuting were taken forward for
analysis.

Search results were then coded for mentions of profes-

sions/interventions by the same evaluators. First, tweets

were coded using any combination of the following 5

categories: chiropractic mentioned, SMT mentioned,
health advice mentioned (not chiropractic or SMT), sup-
plements mentioned, or other interventions mentioned.
Again, Tweets not having complete agreement were
discussed to determine a majority rating. From these

results, the 5 content categories create 120 possible com-
binations (5 factorial). These were then pooled into three
main categories based on their content: Chiropractic care
only (CC), SMT only (SMT) and Chiropractic care with
non-SMT interventions (noSMT).

Engagement was defined as the likes plus retweets
linked to any one tweet while reach was defined as the
number of followers associated with a tweet.

Data analysis
First, the number of tweets was tallied, as was engage-

ment and reach, then stratified into promoting and
refuting tweets. The data were then plotted over time as

weekly totals and also plotted to show the proportion of
promoting and refuting tweets for periods A, B and C.

We then divided absolute counts by the number of
months in each period to arrive at monthly rates for
tweets, measures of engagement and reach. These results

were then plotted by period.
For refuting tweets, we tallied their content (chiroprac-

tic/intervention) coded as CC, SMT and CC noSMT for
periods A, B and C then determined the percentage dis-
tribution of these three codes in each period. We then
wanted to know if the percentage distribution of the

three content codes in period A was preserved in period
B and period C in order to determine if any change from
period to period was spread equally between the three
content codes, or if the content codes shifted unequally.
W'e first divided code counts by the months in each

period to determine the monthly rate of tweets for each

code, then we did the same for the total number of codes

in each period. Expecting the percentage distribution of
the three content codes in period A would remain the

same in period B, we calculated the expected change rate
by dividing the total monthly rate in period B by the same

in period A (39y") and then did the same from period B to
C (46%o). We then calculated the difference between the
expected rate of change and the actual rate of change for
each code in each period. This difference allowed us to
determine if the changes in content codes distribution
from period to period was spread equally across the three
content codes, or if the codes changed unequally from
period to period.

Tweets were then plotted geospatially with their indi-
vidual latitude and longitude coordinates.

Chronological event plot
In order to illustrate potential impact of activity from
chiropractic organizations and regulators designed to
combat misinformation about SMT/chiropractic and

immunity, we plotted weekly tweet counts together with
the dates of these activities. Specifically, between March
L0 and March 3L, 2020 several chiropractic organizations
made formal announcements that emphasized the lack of
evidence for chiropractic/SMT and a clinically significant
improvement in human immunity. These announcements
came from several sources including a joint announce-
ment from organizations in the United I(ingdom (Brit-
ish Chiropractic Association, McTimoney Chiropractic,
Scottish Chiropractic Association, United Chiroprac-
tic Association, Royal College of Chiropractors) [14],

Page 3 of 12

939



Kawchuk et d/. Ch ircpractic & ManualTherapies (2023) 31'A

the Canadian Chiropractic Association [15], the World
Federation of Chiropractic [11], the European Union of
Chiropractors A ssociate Memhers [1 6], a Facehnnk inter-
view between the President of Parker University and a

staffresearcher [I7], the Amencan Chiropractic Associa-
tion [18] and the Swedish Chiropractic Association [19].

In addition, several chiropractic regulators made offi-
cial statements outlining the consequences of making
misleading claims about chiropractic care, SMT, immu-
nity and COVID infections (Fig. 6). Examples include
statements from The College of Chiropractors of Alberta

[20], The College of Chiropractors of British Columbia

[21] and the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation
Authority [22] with regulators from British Columbia

[23] and Alberta using specialized software to monitor
their member's social media activity.

Finally, we plotted announcements from chiropractic
organizations and individuals with contrary messaging
l)a"_1'71

Results
Our searches identified 916 tweets in total. After elimi-
nating tweets coded as neutral (e.g, "#ChironRetrograde
after yet another bout of reoccurring auto-immune") or
lrrelevant (e.g. "No one is immune to this situation. This

is not a chiropractic thingi'), there were 792 remaining
tweets that were then stratified by period, Tone and tal-
lied for metrics of engagement (Table 1, Figs. 1, 2 and 3).

Table 1 and Fig. 1 show that monthly tweet rates

declined during the study from a high in period A (361

month promoting, 39/month refuting) to approximately
half that in period B (16/month promoting, l5/month
refuting) and then approximately half that again in period
C (7/month promoting, 9/month refuting).

The ratio of tweets that promoted and refuted a rela-
tion between chiropractic/SMT and immunity was

approxlmately equal ln all tlme perlods (Table 1, Ftg. 2).

Likes, retweets and followers were plotted over time
(Fig. 1) with proportions plotted in Fig. 3, Over the study,

a much greater proportion of Iikes were expressed for
refuting tweets which captured at least 90o/o of all likes
compared to around l0% for promoting tweets. For

Retweets, the proportion in support of refuting tweets
remained above 93% for all time periods. In periods A
and C, followers nf refrrting tweets were in the majorify
at99Yo and84o/o, respectively. In period B, the percentage
of followers between refuting and promotlng tweets was
roughly equal.

For tweets promoting a relation between chiroprac-
tic/SMT and immunity, tweet content (chiropractic/
interventions) for period A (Table 3, Fig. 4) was distrib-
uted as follows: CC (38.9o/o), noSMT (13.9yo) and SMT
(47.2yo). To maintain the same percentage distribution
from period A to B, we would expect each of these three
content codes to decrease equally by 39o/o each (Table 3).

This was not observed. The proportion of CC, SMT and
noSMT tweets changed at different rates from period A
to B. Tweets promoting a positive relation between SMT
and immunity decreased at a rate of 22o/o which was 17%

faster than expected. Content coded as CC and noSMT
decreased to 55o/o and 55o/o respectively, which was 15%

and 167o slower than expected. Similarly, for periods
B-C, the expected rate of declin e was 460/o. In this period,
promoting tweets coded as SMT declined faster than
expected (40%) while CC and no SMT tweets declined
less quickly than expected (48% and 52% respectively).

Geospatial analysis demonstrated that over all time
periods, tweets that promoted a positive relation between
chiropractic/SMT and improved immunity originated
overwhelmingly in the USA whereas tweets that refuted
such a relationship originated primarily in Canada,
Europe and Australia. Figure 5 shows the distribution of
promoting and refuting tweets for each time period.

Figure 5 plots total Twitter activity over time with the
superimposed dates of announcements from chiropractic
organizations and regulators that were designed to either
refute, or promote, a relation between chiropractic/SMT
and immunity.

Discussion
This paper presents a 27 month time-series analy-
sis of Twitter messaging related to chiropractic/SMT
and immunity. From fanuary l, 2O2O, Twitter activ-
ity increased until March 3I, 2020 when it peaked then

Page4ofi2

940

Table 1 Absolute counts and rates (per month)

Period Tone Tweet count Total likes Total retweets Total followers Count rate Like rate Retweet rate Follower rate

r08

118

194

r80

79

113

A

B

Promoting

Refuting

Promoting

Refuting

Promotrng

Refuting

44

1837

581

7053

61

2657

23

558

114

1484

26

484

38,157

42,71,250

1),86,766

9,99,842

82,939

4,40,109

3rt

39

16

r5

7

9

l5

612

48

588

5

721

8

186

10

124

2

40

t2,919

14,23,750

1,07,230

83,320

6912

36,676

c



Kawchuketa/. Chiroproctic& ManualTherapies (2023) 31:4

1000

'10

2020-o't 2020.o7 2A21-01

Year-Month

Fig, 1 Weekly count of tweets, engagement (likes + retweets) and reach (followers)

Count
lOOo/a

75olo

50olo

25o/e

Page5ofl2

Petiod A Peiod B Peilod C
941

3
d

Ioo

40

30

20

10

0

.- E iooo
6E
;e
..I

;E 100qP

P* 10U;

100000o
F

3F

O,Q9o

TONE

+ Promoting

+ Refuting

2021-O7

Relative distribution

2022-01

150

100

TONE

f, Rromotino

I n"t tins

50

Ao/o

B
0

c B C

l\1ili
rIuifi/

ltt
.eq l/\

Fig. 2 Absolute and relative distribution of promoting and refuting tweets by period



il rl lirf/!qlli:H
\lt:\.tlv

,i1I;,it: :-rlDr,!ir.:

ii /rl i r,-,{rjlr liilqilbr,'.:l(-i

tiJt)2)tl1

Kawchuk et a/. Ch iropractic & ManualTherapies (2023) 3l:4

75%

50v^

25%

Likes

Fig.3 Total engagement (likes plus retweets) and reach (followers)

Count

declined steadily over the remaining 24 months. The ratio
of tweets promoting a relation between chiropractic/
SMT and immunity and those tweets refuting the same

relation, remained relatively constant over the 27 months.
Metrics of engagement overwhelmingly supported tweets
that refuted a relation between chiropractic/SMT and

Page6of12

1 00olo 942

TONE

Promoting

Relqting

oo

Relative distribution

75

100%

75%

50%

0o/o

50

0

lEa

ti-, I

Subject

nilI
CC NOSMT

CC SMT

ABCABC
Fig,4 Proportionofsubjectcontent(chiropractic/interventions) inpromotingtweets(CC,SMT,CCnoSMT)inmonthlytweetratesforeachtime
period

immunity. Following peak Twitter activity, tweets pro-
moting a relation between chiropractic/SMT and immu-
nity decreased at a rate that was higher than expected.
Possible reasons for this observation include efforts by
chiropractic organizations and regulators to address

misinformation early in the pandemic. There remains a

I'l til{a I it:11,,{1{ l:
tlail*,1.



Kawchuk et d/. Chiropractic & MonuolTherapies (2023) 31:4

&nut -T

Fig. 5 Geospatial heat map of promoting and refuting tweets in time periods A, B and C

divide between the geospatial origin of tweets promot-
ing a relation between chiropractic/SMT and immunity
(United States of America) and tweets refuting this rela-
tion (Canada, Europe and Australia).

Promoting

o.4

It should be noted that in our previous paper, chiro-
practic was mentioned most often in tweets associated
with immunity (21yo) followed by naturopathy (6%). As
a result, this two-year follow-up was limited specifically

PageT of 12

943

A

0.8

0.6

0.4

B

c



Kawchuk et a/. Ch iropractic & Manual Therapies (2023) 31:4

60.

20"

Pandemic Declared

Fig. 6 Tweets superimposed with dates of promoting and refuting announcements from the chiropractic profession

Page8ofl2

944

6 40-
o
3
j
c

o

o
o
3F

to the chiropractic profession as it was clearly most often
associated with SMT and immunity.

In this two-year follow-up study, our first hypothesis

was supported; Twitter activity rcachcd its pcok juot

20 days following the pandemic declaration. Once reach-

ing its peak, Twitter activity declined steadily without any

sign ofrebound (Fig. 1, Table 1).

Our second hypothesis was also supported. Through

the 27 months of data collection, the ratio of promot-

ing versus refuting tweets remained constant at - 5oo/o

(Table 2, Fig.2). This constant ratio suggests that authors

of promoting or refuting tweets tend to counter-post in
response to tweets of opposing viewpoints thereby bal-

ancing out the ratio over time.
Interestingly, engagement and reach of promoting ver-

sus refuting tweets were far from equivalent. As was the

case in our first paper [8], the total likes, retweets and

followers of refuting tweets were orders of magnitude

greater compared to promoting tweets. The result was

Tone

Promotlng

Refuting

that refuting tweets were much more impactful (Table 1,

Fig. 3).
tilThile the decline of Twitter activity after March 31,

?0?0 could be explained by social media fatigrre' con-

fusion, or dilution of attention by other media sources

[28], we also observed a parallel decrease in tweets with
messaging that SMT boosts immunity (Tables 2 and 3.

Figure 4). Interestingly, these tweets declined at a higher-

than-expected rate (Table 3) compared to tweets sug-

gesting that chiropractic care or nonSMT interventions

improve immunity (both of which declined at a less-

than-expected rate).
The decrease in Twitter activity following March 31,

2020, combined with a coincident decrease in controver-

sial tweets with messaging that SMT boosts immunity'
strongly suggests the appearance of some external factor

driving these parallel changes. \ilhile we cannot confirm
the chiropractic announcements plotted in Fig. 6 caused

a parallel decline in Twitter activity and SMT messaging,

the intended effect was observed; there is quantitatively



Kawchuk et a/. Chiropractic & ManualTheropies (2023) 3l:4 Page9ofl2

Table 2 Engagement of tweets (absolute counts and monthly percentages) stratified by period and content

Period Content Tweet count Total likes Total retweets Total followers o/o Count o/o Likes o/o Retweets o/o Followers

945

22

61

17

44

26

30

27

69

4

5

14

4

49

29
l2

7

t8

I

B

C

cc 42

CC NOSMT 15

CCSMT 51

CC 92

cc NOSMT 33

CCSMT 45

CC 44

CC NOSMT 17

CCSMT 18

14

16

14

212

82

278

21

37

3

17,856

7329

13,572

1,40,176

5,78,450

5,16,349

69,057

11,787

2095

38.9

13.9

47.2

54.1

19.4

26.5

21.5

22.8

32

36

32

37

14

49

34

61

5

46

19

35

1l

47

42

83

14

3

less misinformation on Twitter regarding SMT and
immunity. Interestingly, the timing of these contrary
efforts was not associated with any contrary rise in'Iwit-
ter activity nor contrary increase in SMT messaging,

The resulting decrease in Twitter activity, together with
the parallel decrease in tweets linking SMT to improved
immunity, may have been sustained by other activities
occurring weeks or months after peak Twitter activity
and include:

increased regulatory oversight), some tweet authors
may have consciously or unconsciously developed a
Trojan Horse strategy by de-emphasizing controversial
messaging about SMT while alternatively promoting
the profession that provides it. It must be emphasized
here that replacing SMT with chiropractic care to sug-
gest a positive effect on immunity, is also misinforma-
tion. As is the case with SMT, there is no evidence that
chiropractic care, however it may be defined, gener-
ates a clinically meaningful improvement in human
immunity compared to those withheld from the same
intervention. Importantly, we acknowledge studies that
report changes in immune parameters following SM!
but these studies have not shown clinical significance
in humans. They join an almost endless list of other
studies showing any number of changes in anatomy,
physiology, various biomarkers and neurology post-
SMT. The critical point in the evolution of this body of
literature is that for any of these observed changes to
be meaningful, these changes must result in a clinically
important improvement in human health compared to
persons who do not receive the same intervention(s)
[1 1].

Our observation that the majority of promoting
tweets originate in the United States is in agreement
with the data from our prior paper. W'hile it is difficult
to know the global extent of all prompting and refut-
ing messaging outside of Twitter, we also note that
announcements from chiropractic organizations that
promoted the idea of chiropractic/SMT improving
immunity also came primarily from the United States.
Explanations for this geographic separation are not
readily available, but possible avenues of future investi-
gation may include comparing the proportion of senior
versus early career chiropractors in various countries
and the location of chiropractic schools that emphasize
conservative or dogmatic chiropractic views [31].

A unified statement from more than 150 chiropractic
researchers against the claim that chiropractic care
boosts immunlty [29].
An interview with a prominent chiropractic vitalis-
tic researcher who stated that "because we have no
studies yet that look at would chiropractic care pre-
vent you from getting sick or would chiropractic care
reduce the symptoms of being sick or the frequency
ofgetting sick? Those studies haven't been done yeti'
[30].
The emergence of interventions over the course of
the pandemic (social distancing, vaccines and anti,
viral medications) that mitigated infection and/or
serious consequences of covid infection (hospitali-
zation, long-covid, death), acting to make messag-
ing about boosting immunity less relevant, urgent or
attention-grabbing.
Changes in Twitter policy designed to target misin-
formation, and account owners who distribute misin-
formation.

Although the overall decline in tweets promoting
SMT as a positive influence on immunity is a desirable
development, we note that the remaining proportion of
tweets extolling a positive benefit of chiropractic care
on immunity is no less of a concern. Although we can-
not know the intent of those posting to social media, we
suspect that given the factors listed above (especially



946

xo
€n
cF
o
o
.)>-'
!
T

ee

=s
cs
3o
d
6'

Fo
NJ

.n

Table 3 Overall tweet rates with the expected and actual tweet rates between time periods

Proportion of tweets/m (%)

Period A-B

Expe<ted
rate ofto
preserve
proportion
(v'l

Period B-C

Expected
rate ofto
preserve
proportion
(Vo)

Content Number of Promoting
Tweets

Tweets/m

14.00

5.00

i 7,00

36.00

Actual rate Difference
of change P/o'l
(%t

'15

16

-17

Actual rate Difference
ofchange Vol
(%l

PeriodPeriodBPeriodCPeriodAPeriodBPerbdCPeriodAFeriodBPeriodc
A

cc 42 92 44

noSMT 15 33 17

sMT 51 45 18

Total 108 170 79

Bold values indicate a decline in expected tlveet rates

7.67

2.75

3.75

14.17

3.67

1.42

1.5C

6.5€

39

14

47

100

54

19

26

100

56

22

100

39

39

39

55
((

22

46

46

46

48

52

40

1

-6

!o
ro
o
o
o

N



Kawchuk etal. Chiropractic & ManualTheropies (2023) 3l:4

Limitations
It is important to emphasize that it is not possible to con-
firm the occupation or affiliation of those who author
tweets. In addition, Twitter was selected for this study
as its entire corpus is searchable. While there is evi-
dence that other social media outlets such as Facebook
have many more posts regarding this issue, the major-
ity of these posts occur within private groups and are
therefore inaccessible to systematic searching and analy-
sis. The ability to search and track content of Tweets is

an advantage and is indicative of the volume of activity
in a specific topic. It is also a common way of measur-
ing impact of social media and it is done in many differ-
ent ways including through Altmetric (www.altmetric.
com). However, it must be remembered that measures of
engagement do not guarantee that tweets, like any other
written content, influences actions or public opinion.

In rating Tweets, the TTI is a new tool that is not used
widely, therefore, we took great care discussing its devel-
opment in our prior paper and then how it was applied
here by the same investigators using the same processes
to resolve any disagreement,

Finally, it is important to note that we do not infer
causal relationships between events and twitter claims;
we simply describe what was observed and suggest there
is a striking pattern between these events.

Conclusion
Overwhelmingly, Twitter activity during the COVID-19
pandemic focussed on refuting a relation between chiro-
practic/SMT and immunity. We observed that a decline
in Twitter activity promoting a relation between SMT
and immunity coincided with initiatives from chiroprac-
tic organizations and regulators to refute these claims.
The majority of misinformation about this topic is gener-
ated in the United States.

Abbreviations
CC Chiropractic care
noSMT Chiropractic care with non-SMT intervention
SMT Spinal manipulative therapy
TTI Twitter tone index

Acknowledgements
The authors would like to thank the staff at Talkwalker for their technical sup-
port and expertise.

Author contributions
All authors (GK,.JH, 5H, CN, LN) developed, wrote, edited and proofread this
work. All autho(s) read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding
Funds from the Canadlan Chiropractic Research Foundation were used to
purchase Talkwalker access.

Availability of data and materials
All data generated or analysed during this study are included in this published
arricle

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate
Approval for this project was provided by the University ofAlberta Human
Research Ethics Board (Pro00099881).

Consent for publication
Not applicable.

Competing interests
GK reports active research grants unrelated to this work from The Natural
Sciences and Engineering Research,The National lnstitutes of Health,The
Alberta Spine Foundation, The American Orthotic and Prostheric Association,
The New Frontiers in Research Fund and the Canadian Chiropractic Research

Foundation. He has received coverage oftravel expenditures from multiple
sources internationally in connection with speaking engagements. Fees for
medicaFlegal expertise unrelated to this work from the Canadian Chiropractic
Protective Association. JH reports that he holds multiplc rcsearch grant5 from
Danish and international funding agencies and charities. He has received
coverage of travcl cxpcnditurcs from multiplc 5ources internationally in
connection with speaking engagements. SH has no declarations. CN has no
declarations. LN has no declarations.

Author details
IDepartment of Physical Therapy, University ofAlberta. Edmonton, Canada.
2Department of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics, University of South-
ern Denmark, Odense, Denmark.3Chiropractic Knowledge Hub, Odense,
Denmark. aDepartment of Chiropractic Mediclne, Balgrist University Hospital,
University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland. 5Medical Research Unit, Spine Centre
of Southern Denmark, University Hospital of Southern Denmark, Middelfan,
Denmark. 6Department of Regional Health Research, University of Southern
Denmark, Odense, Denmark.

Received: 26 September 2022 Accepted: 6 December 2022
Published online: 23 lanuary 2023

References
1. WHO Director-Generall opening remarks at the media briefing on

COVID-]9 lnternetl. 2020 lcited 1 1 Mar 20201. Available from: https://
www.who.intldirector-general/speeches/detail/who-directorgeneraFs-
opening-remarks-at-the-media-briehng-on-covid-1 9-1 1 -march-2020.

2. COVID-l9 map ilnternetl. Johns Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Center.
Available from: https:,/coronavirusjhu.edu/map.html.

3. Rothk DJ. SARS also spurs an "information epidemic": lall editiont. News-
day.2003:A29. https://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.callogin?url:https://
www.proquest.com/newspapers/sars-also-spursinformation-epidemic/
docview/2797055201se-2Taccountid:1 4474. Accessed 1 5 Jan 2023.

4. lslam M5,SarkarT, Khan SH, Mostofa Kamal A-H, Hasan SMM, KabirA,
et al. COVID-19+elated infodemic and its impact on public health: a

global social media analysis. Am JTrop Med Hyg.2O20;103:1621-9.
5. Social media & COVID-19: A global study of digital crisis interaction

among Gen Z and Millennials llnternet]. Available from: https://www.
who.int,hevvs-room/feature-stories/detail/social-media-covid-1 9-a-
global-study-of-digital-crisis-interaction-among-gen-z-and-millennials.

6. Charquero-Ballester M, Walter JG, N;ssen lA, Bechmann A. Different types
of COVID-19 misinformation have different emotional valence onTwitter.
Big Data soc. 202 1 ;8:2053951 7 21 1 041 280.

7. Wagner DN, Marcon AR, Caulfield T. "lmmune Boosting" in the time of
COVID: selling immunity on lnstagram. Allergy Asthma Clin lmmunol
BioMed Cent. 2020;l 6:1 -5.

8, Kawchuk G, Hartvlgsen J, Harsted 5, Nim CG, Nyiro L. Misinformation
about spinal manipulation and boosting immunity: an analysis of Twitter
activity during the COVID-19 crisis. Chiropr Man Therap.2020;28:34.

Page11 of12

947



Kawchuketa/. Chiropractic & ManualTherapies (2023) 31:4

9. Ax6n l. Bergstrom C, Bronson M, C6td P, Nim CG, Goncalves G, et al.

Misinformation, chiropractic; and the COVID'19 pandemic. Chiropr Man

Therap. 2020;28:65.

lU. Uaseem A,WhT.J, tulclean Rlvl, FulLled MA, Cllrtical Guidelir rcs Cur'r'rrrrittee

ofthe American College of Physicians, Denberg TD, et al. Noninvasive

Lredtil reilL5 lur atuLe, suLarule, arrd cht'onic low bsck pain: 0 clinical

practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. Ann lntern

Med. 201 7;1 66:5 1 4-30.
1 1 . The effect of spinal adjustment/manipulation on immunity and the

immune system: a rapid review of relevant literature. World Fed Chirop.

2020. Available from: https://www.wfc.orglwebsite/.
1 2. Chow N, Hogg-Johnson 5, Mior S, Cancelliere C, lnjeyan S,Teodorczyk-

I njeyan J, et al. Assessment of studies evaluating spinal manipulative ther-

apy and infectious disease and immune system outcomes: a systematic

review. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4: e21 5493.

13. Landis JR, Koch GG.The measurement of observer agreementforcat-
egorical data. Biometrics.'1977;33:159.

1 4. British Chiropractic Association. McTimoney Chiropractic, Scottish

Chiropractic Association, United Chiropractic Association, Royal College

of Chiropractors. Joint Statement by the U.K. Chiropractic Associations

I nternet]. 2020. Available from: https://chiropractic-uk.co.uk/wp-conte
nil uploads /2020 /03/Statement-by-the-Chi ropractic-Profession-2'1 -

March-2020.Pd1
1 5. CCA. Canada s chiropractors, patient safety and COVID-] 9 [lnternet].

Canadian Chiropractic Association (CCA)-Association chiropratique

canadienne. 2020. Available from: https://chiropractic.calblog./canadas-

chiropractors-patient-safety-and-covid- 1 9/,

1 6. URGENT COVID-l 9 STATEMENT [l nternet]. European Chiropractors' Union

2020 [cited 2022 Sep 7]. Available fromr https://wwwchilopractic-ecu.

orglurgent-covid-1 9-statement/.

1 7. Morgan W Pohlman K. Chiropractic and COVID-I9 llnternet]. Facebook.

2020. Available from: https://wwwfacebook.com/VvilliamEMorganDC/
videos /2236485287 87 356 /.

1 8. Jones R. Let! WorkTogether to Protect and Serve Our Patients, Staff,

Families and Communities lnternetl. ACAToday.2020 lcited 2022 Sep

1 51. Available from: https://www.acatodayorg/news-publications/
lets-work-together-to-proiect-and-serve-our-patients-staff-families-and-
communities/.

1 9. Vetenskapliga r6dets kommentar p5 |CA-dokumentet [lnternet]. Swed-

ish Chiropractic Association.2020 lcited 2020 Mar 30]. Available from:

https://wwwacatoday.orglnews-publ ications/lets-work-togetherto-
protect-and-serve-our-patients-staff-families-and-commurl jtiesl

20. ACAC directive: Directive on communications regarding COVID-I9 Llnter
netl. College of Chiropractors of Alberta. 2020. Available from: https://

wwwtheccoa.calACAC/Cornmu n ications/2020/03-Ma rchlACAC-di rec

tive-on-communications-regarding-COVID- 1 9 aspx

21 , Public Notice-Novel Loronavirus (LUVID- l9) Llnternetl. Colleqe of
chiropractors of British Columbia. 2020. Available from: https://www.clriro

bc,com/novelcoronavirus-covid-l 9/
22. Chiropractic Board of Australia-False and misleading advertising on

COVID-I 9 flnternet]. 2022 [cited 2022 sep 1 5]. Available from: https://

www.chiropracticboard.gov.au/News/2020-03-31 -false-and-misleading-

advertising-on-covid-1 9.aspx?fbclid:lwAR3VJfbrUiicORG3 1 itK3gmnL-

8LLCeOk4aVU-9MTRj El pDF0mQ3aYisp0.

23. Kawchuk G, Hartvigsen J, lnnes S, Simpson JK, Gushaty B.The use of inter-

net analytlcs by a Canadian provincial chiropractic regulator to monitot
evaluate and remediate misleading claims regarding specific health

conditions, pregnancy, and COVID-1 9. Chiropr ManTherap. 2020;28:24.

24. ICA Report on lmmune Function and Chiropractic, What Does the
Evidence Provide? ilnternetl. ica.com. 2020. Available from: https://www.

chi ropractic.orglwp-content/u pload s / 2021 / 0 1 /U pdared-Report-of- 1 0-

1 0-20.pdl
25. Axiom Seminars, BGI Europe Seminars. lnternational Federation ofChiro-

practors and organizations, Foundation for Vertebral Subluxation, Chiro-

practic society ofTexas, Australian Spinal Research Foundation, League of

Chiropractlc Women, CNAC/ANCC, Chiropractik Campus, Alianza Quiro-

practica Del Peru, The Alliance of Chiropractic 5ingapore, Palmetto State

Chiropractic Association, CLA,The Art ofthe Specific, Florida Chiropractic

society, Deutsch-Amerikanische Gesellschaft Chiropractik e. V, Fountain

of Chiropractic Understanding, Alliance for Chiropracitc, Georgia Council

of Chiropractic, Amped, MH Chiropractic Foundation. Joint Statement

Response to theWFC [lnternet]. mycnac.ca 2020 Available from: https://

mycnac.calwp-content/u ploads/2020/04LJoin!Statement-Repo nse-

to-WFC.pdf./tbcl id:l wAR2CxJ N LwM5 rrxsSuu pFRfW3GFc-peuTOPl LG0J-

vQwoDT9s)(OnMnCh-0F4.

26. Fatally Flawed:WFC review of lmmunity and Chiropractic [lnternet].

mccoyprott.not. 2020. Available from: http:,/wnrw.mrrnypress net/dncs'/

fu s-rebutta l-wfc-booklet.Pdf
27. The Chiropractic Wisconsin society response to the relationship between

chiropractic, immunity and public relation in Wisconsin [lnternet]. 2020.

Available from: hnps://drive.google.corn/fi le/d/1 saQ3zyGQPPUcsOnzOVo

uBqvhAJbKzK33/view?fbclid:lwAR'l xFGnL0Til YgWT6A-jRnbus-YOE3h

621 1 mHyQem9jQtDjTPVNTk-slT-c.

28. WangT, Deng X. User characteristics, social medla use, and fatigue dur-

ing the coronavirus pandemic: a stressor-strain-outcome framework.

Comput Human Behav Rep. 2022;7:100218.

29. C6t6 B Bussidres A, Cassidy JD, Hartvigsen J, Kawchuk GN, Leboeuf-Yde C,

et al. A united statement of the global chiropractic research community

against the pseudoscientific claim that chiropractic care boosts immu-

nity. Chiropr Man Therap. 2020;28:21 .

30. Chiropractic and the immune system the experts weigh in-Heidi
haavik, DC lnternetl. Chirosecure Malpractice lnsurance. ChiroSecure;

2020. Available from: https://www.chirosecure.com/chiropractic-and-the-
immune-system-the-experts-weigh-ln-heidi-haavik-dc/.

31. lnnes 5, Goncalves G, Leboeuf-Yde C.Who are the chiropractic students

favouring a limitless scope of practice? Exploring the relationship with
personality, magical thinking, and academic achievement. Chiropr Man

Therap. 2022;30:30.

Publisher3 Note
Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in pub-

lished maps and institutional affiliations.

Pagel2ofi2

948

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

. fasi, cclvenieili crli,le suilnissisn

. iire.or;gi: ceer rc\i,?w by e\!tefrelleri atseiliailers irl your iieLj

. rtp al Fiibi;iiti,c!r +!1 Dccairtallc€

o suppcit ior reseaicn o3i.a. iaclndr.ls lJrS€ alrd acnlpi?\ iaia lvpes

r qilid Cceir iccessl.,,hlcl irsle.s wider tollabciilt,orr ;nd ilcleaselj aiiJiitrns

. lraxinl!tnt !::,t'lity lc'irlail: fes€;rcil: cvel '00\i wcl-'s,ie vie\i;s pei !ie.li

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more it:otreaiceuli al.roul,tsiJblllssiorls IBMC



ITEM 6.2
Rose Bustria 949
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 11'1

Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of Ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related
to the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the email or phone contact
information above or, if you require urgent asslstance, please contact Reception by phone at 4L6-922-6355 ext. 100 or email
reception@cco.on.ca
and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodating, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated
with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require accommodations. Please ensure that all communications with CCO are
respectfu I and professional.

Jo-Ann Willson
March 31,2023 2:30 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: Province Helping More Ontario Students Become Doctors at Home
in Ontario

named above. Any other
immediately by reply e-

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s)
distribution, copying or disclosure is shictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in enor, please notify CCO
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Ontario News <newsroom@ontario.ca>
Sent: Thursday, March 30,202310:28 AM
To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>
Subject: Province Helping More Ontario Students Become Doctors at Home in Ontario

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

1

Ontario @
NEWS RELEASE



Ontario @
Province Helping More Ontario Students
Become Doctors at Home in Ontario 950

Historic number of undergraduate and postgraduate
training seats now prioritized for Ontario residents

March 30,2023
Premier's Office

HAMILTON - The Ontario government is further expanding the number of
medical school spots to historic highs while helping Ontario students
become doctors in the province, whether they studied at home or abroad.
Starting in 2023, the government is investing an additional $33 million over
three years to add another 100 undergraduate medical school seats and
another 154 postgraduate medical training seats beginning in2024,both
now prioritized for Ontario residents.

"Too many Ontario students are having to go abroad for medical school
because they can't find residency spots here in their home province while
international students learn here then leave," said Premier Doug Ford.
"That's why we're expanding the number of undergraduate and graduate
medical school spots and putting qualified Ontario students at the front of
the line. We're training the next generation of Ontario doctors right here in
Ontario to stay here and care for Ontario communities."

The new investment in Budget2023 builds on the expansion of 160
undergraduate and 295 postgradrrate medical training seats announced last
year, the larqest expansiof.r of Ontario's medical school system in over a
decade.

"Medical seat expansion in the province's postsecondary sector is a critical
element of our plan to connect people to care close to home," said Jill
Dunlop, Minister of Colleges and Universities. "Expanding postsecondary
education opportunities that prioritize Ontarians will make it easier for the
homegrown doctors of tomorrow to receive training and provide world-class
health care right in their own communities."

This expansion is part of the government's Your Health plan, which includes
initiatives to hire more health care workers.

"lncreasing the number of doctors and other health care workers will make
it easier for Ontarians to connect to world class health care right in their
own communities," said Sylvia Jones, Deputy Premier and Minister of
Health. "We will continue to implement our bold plan to grow our health

2



Ontario @
workforce so Ontarians can continue to receive care closer to home for
years to come."

"By investing in Ontario's health workforce, our government is connecting
people to the care they need where and when they need it," said Peter
Bethlenfalvy, Minister of Finance. "Training more doctors here in Ontario is
part of our plan to build a strong Ontario that is supporting people today
while laying a strong foundation for the future."

The Ontario government's 2023 budget, Building a Strong Ontario, is
helping to drive economic growth, attract jobs and investments, and build
key infrastructure projects faster. The government's plan is also training
skilled workers to fill in-demand jobs, keeping costs down for those that
need it the most, and providing better health and public services for Ontario
families.

Quick Facts

The government is also investing $100.8 million to expand and
accelerate the rollout of undergraduate and postgraduate medical
education that was announced as part of the 2022 Ontario Budget.
60 per cent of the new postgraduate training seats will be in primary
care and 40 per cent will be in specialty care.
The new medical expansion will bring the total number of
undergraduate seats and postgraduate training seats to 1,212 and
1,637 respectively, by 2028.
The province has expa nded the Ontario Learn and Stav Grant which
provides full, upfront funding for tuition, books and other direct
educational costs to students in return for working in the region
where they studied for a term of service after graduation. ln addition
to nursing programs, the grant will now include paramedic and
medical laboratory technologist programs in priority communities.
To strengthen the health and long-term care workforce, Ontario
invested $342 million for 2021-221o add over 5,000 new and
upskilled registered nurses and registered practical nurses as well as
8,000 personal support workers. ln addition, Ontario invested $57.6
million for 2022-23 to hire 225 nurse practitioners in the longterm
care sector.
To learn more about careers in health care, please visit:
h ttps : //www. o n ta ri o. calp aq e/ca ree rs - h e a lth -ca re

951

a

a

a

a

a

3

Quotes



Ontario @ 952

"46 one of the world's top medical schools, McMaster University welcomes
the Government of Ontario's commitment to fund additional medical student
spots across the province. McMaster is pleased to continue working with its
partners to meet Ontario's increasing healthcare needs by training more
doctors to deliver better patient care."

- David Farrar
President, McMaster U niversity

"Communities across Ontario are facing a shortage of doctors, and Queen's
University applauds the government's investments to create new spaces in
the province's medical schools. Queen's is pleased to be a partner in
training more family physicians and other specialists to help provide the
care that Ontarians need."

- Dr. Patrick Deane
Principal and Vice-Ghancellor, Queen's University

"Today's investment to expand medical education recognizes the
importance of the University of Toronto's Temerty Faculty of Medicine as
Canada's top ranked and largest medical school, and the impact our
students will continue to have in advancing the health of Ontarians."

- Dr. Trevor Young
Dean, Temerty Faculty of Medicine and Vice-Provost, Relations with
Health Care lnstitutions, University of Toronto

"We are thrilled that the provincial government is expanding Western
U n iversity's u nderg rad uate med ical ed ucation prog ram. Southwestern
Ontario is among the fastest growing regions in Canada, and we know that
where a physician tralns ls a strong predictor of where they will practice.
With these additional spots, Western's Schulich School of Medicine &
Dentistry can train more doctors to serve our regional communities. We
commend the government for taking this critical step."

- Dr. Alan Shepard
President and Vice-Chancel lo r, Western U n iversity

"Toronto Metropolitan University welcomes the Ontario government's
investment in the postsecondary sector, particularly in healthcare, to
improve access to higher education and address the demand for skilled
healthcare professionals. TMU is committed to expanding its medical-
related programs and working collaboratively with the government,
hospitals, and healthcare organizations to meet the evolving needs of
Ontario's healthcare system."

4



Ontario@
- Mohamed Lachemi
President and Vice-Chancel lor, Toronto Metropol itan U n iversity

"The University of Ottawa is pleased to receive new medical school seats at
its Faculty of Medicine and help build strong and sustainable frontline
healthcare services across the province, including in rural and northern
communities. The University trains over 90 per cent of Ontario's bilingual
health care professionals who are in great demand throughout the
province's healthcare system and provide francophones with critical
services when they need them most."

- Jacques Fr6mont
President and Vice-Ghancellor, University of Ottawa

Additional Resources

2023 Ontario Budset: Buildinq a Stronq Ontario
Ontario Trainino More Doctors as it Builds a More Resilient Health
Care System

Media Gontacts

Caitlin Clark
Premier's Office
Caitlin. Clark2@ontario. ca

Liz Tuomi
Minister Dunlop's Office
Liz.Tuomi@ontario.ca

Hannah Jensen
Minister Jones' Office
Hannah. R, Jensen@ontario. ca

lvo Felipe
Communications Branch
416-325-2746

We have recently updated Ontario Newsroom Subscription. You may receive additional emails. lf
you would like to update your subscription preferences or unsubscribe, click the 'manage your
subscriptions' or'unsubscribe' links down below.

953

a

a

5



ITEM 6.3
Rose Bustria

954
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Jo-Ann Willson
April 5, 2023 10:28 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: CPSO Removes Barriers for lnternationally Educated Physicians

Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext.111
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -477 2
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: iowillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

College of Chiropractors of ontario ("CCO") services continue as staff follow recommended health and safety guidelines related
tr.: the COVID-19 global pandemic. ln-office services are available by appointment only. Please use the emailor phone contact
information above or, if you require urgent assistance, please contact Reception by phone at 41,6-922-6355 ext. l-00 or email
rece ptio n @ cco.on.ca
and your inquiry will be directed appropriately.

CCO is committed to providing inclusive, accommodaiing, and responsive services and ensuring that individuals are treated
with dignity and respect. Please contact us if you require accommodations. Please ensure that allcommunications with CCO are
respectful a nd professional.

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s)
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify CCO
mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

named above. Any other
immediately by reply e-

From: Dr. Nancy Whitmore, CPSO Registrar and CEO <registrarceo@cpso.on.ca>
Sent: Wednesday, April 5, 2023 10:02 AM
To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson @cco.on.ca>
Subject: CPSO Removes Barriers for lnternationally Educated Physicians

CAUTION EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you have verified the sender and know the content is safe.

View this email online

1



955

MESSAGE FROM THE REGISTRAR
0 n. fu''nt-",,'y fu l.r/rt'"'o t-e,

{:ps()

Good morning,

I am pleased to announce that CPSO has taken another significant step to help address

the physician shortage in Ontario. Yesterday, CPSO Executive Committee of Council

removed supervision and assessment requirements for physicians who are trained and

Board Certified in the U.S., allowing them to begin independent practise in Ontario

immediately. The Committee also approved changes to make it easier for family

physicians from Australia, lreland, the United Kingdom and the United States to practice

in Ontario.

Throughout the pandemic, CPSO has been working with several health system

stakeholders to identiff opportunities to address physician supply issues within the

constructs of the legislation.

The approval of these policy amendments is a major win for lnternationally Educated

Physicians and Ontario patients struggling to get the care they need. I ask for your

continued support in sharing these changes so we can bring more physicians to Ontario

For more information, you can find our News Release and Backqrounder on our

website.

Regards,

Nancy Whitmore, MD, FRCSC, MBA

Registrar and Chief Executive Officer

oo@@
2



956

E@ @ '1:r"i:*iri'm' E

Unsubscribe from this list

CPSO uses omail to communicate with membsrs about important membership and regulatory updates and works on the assumption that our members receive

all of our emails. lt is the responsibility of each member to make sure CPSO has your current mntact information, updated within 30 days of a change, and to

ensure that the organization you work for does not block CPSO emails. Acmrdingly, it is not an option for members to unsubssibe from CPSO emails.

College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario is the licensing and regulatory body governing the practice of medicine in Ontario. The College is responsible for

setting and maintaining standards, liconsing physicians, investigating oomplaints about physicianE on bshalf of ths public, and discipljning doctors found to have

committed act(s) of professional misconduct. For more information please visit tho CPSO website.

College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario 80 College Street, Toronto, Ontario MsG 2E2

cDi;-rlogur

3



3128123,2:27 PM Matlow broke council code, should face 10-day suspension, commissioner finds I CP24.com

ITEM 6.4
Coun. Josh Matlow broke code of conduct on Twitter, should face 1O.day pay
suspension, says commissioner

$ OUOy O'Brien, CTV News Toronto Multi-Platform Writer

@abbyjobrien
957

Published Friday, March 24,202310:36AM EDT

Last Updated Friday, March 24,2023 11:42AM EDT

Toronto Coun. Josh Matlow broke council's code of conduct by criticizing two
city bureaucrats on Twitter before retaliating against one of them after she filed
a complaint, the city's integrity commissioner has found.

The sr-p"se report, released Friday by lntegrity Commissioner Jonathan Batty,
outlines two complaints lodged by city officials over Matlow's Twitter posts. In
the first, the Ward 12 representative and recently announced mayoral
candidate accused a city staff member of lying to him regarding the opening of
washrooms in spring 2022.In the second, Matlow referred to the newly
appointed interim city manager Tracey Cook as the "very wrong person" for
the job.

Batty said Matlow violated city council's code of conduct, which says members
must treats city employees appropriately and not engage in reprisal.

In turn, the commissioner has recommended the
council suspend Matlow's pay for 10 days.

The news comes just days after the councillor
announced his intention to run for Mayor of Toronto in

this year's byelection.

RELATED

STORIES

Council expected to reprimand

Thompson and Matlow for codo of

Matlow has disputed the findings. After the conducrviorarions

commissioner rgleased the report Friday, thecounciuorissuedarhreemorecandidatesannounce

statemenr, saying hg believes "elected representatives rorontomavorarruns

have a responsibility to put residents first."

"That includes taking a stand when encampment pHOTOS
clearings are done violently, advocating for park
bathrooms and water fountains to be open and
functioning, and demanding that billion-dollar projects

https://www.cp24.com/news/coun-josh-matlow-broke-code-of-conduct-on-twifter-should-face-10-day-pay-suspension-says-commission er-1 .6327467# 118



3128123,2:27 PM Matlow broke council code, should face 10-day suspension, commissioner finds I CP24.com

are never approved based on misleading figures," he

said.
958

Within the findings, Matlow argued that his tweets
protected by lris Clrarter right to free expression - a

notion that Batty dismissed.

Matlow did not issue an apology in his statement, but said he will "work to

ensure that Senior Staff are encouraged to provide their best advice to Council

and all Torontonians, independent from political pressure."

Council will consider the integrity commissioner's recommendations at its

meeting next week.
FIRST TWEET INVESTIGATED

The first complaint was filed by former city manager Chris Murray over a tweet
published by Matlow in mid-June 2022.

ln the tweet, Matlow said he had been "lied to" by staff about when park

washrooms opened for the season.

Josh MatlowO Jun 16,2022 Y
@JoshMatlow ' Follow
Replying to @JoshMatlow

One more thing. ln response to our questions, City staff write that
"this summer, all of our washrooms were open by May 24". I don't
believe that's true.

Josh MatlowO
@JoshMatlow Follow

I don't appreciate being lied to. Nor should you. All park
bathrooms were not opened by May 24 this year. That's
unquestionably untrure.

1 1:11 AM . )un 16,2022

a 275 O Reply l, share

o

Read 9 replies

Matlow alleged that the general manager of the city's parks department Janie

Romoff had lied to him in response to a motion Matlow tabled asking whether

the city met its timelines for opening public facilities.

"For this summer, all of our washrooms were open by May 24 and all water

fountains have now been activated, a few washrooms are down for repairs

https://www.cp24.com/news/coun-josh-matlow-broke-code-of-conduct-on-twitter-should-face-10-day-pay-suspension-says-commissioner-1 '6327467# 2t8



3128123,2:27 PM Matlow broke council code, should face 1O-day suspension, commissioner finds I CP24.com

and approximately 5% of our total water fountains are currently inoperable due
to mechanical issues," Romoff said in the email, included in Batty's report. 959
MatlOW postedascreenshotof theemaittoTwitterandwrote, "l dOn't appfeOiate being lied tO. NOf
should you. All park bathrooms were not opened by May 24 this year. That's
unquestionably untrue."

Murray alleged this tweet damaged the manager of the park's department's
reputation and made her so upset she was unable to speak at council.

He also said it led to an "onslaught" of online harassment directed at the
bureaucrat.

In response, on Friday, Matlow said that evidence provided by residents
demonstrated that Romoff's claim was false.

"They just weren't open," he said.

Matlow says Batty's findings contradicted Romoff's email, which he says were
written at the "private direction of the mayor [...] to kill the prolonged
conversation about seryice."

SECON D TWEET INVESTIGATED

The second complaint was filed by interim city manager at the time, Tracey
Cook, after Matlow called her "the very wrong person" for the job on social
media.

"l believe the mayor & council chose the very wrong person," Matlow postedto

Twitter on July 19

Josh MatlowO
@JoshMatlow .Follow

I believe the mayor & council chose the very wrong
person to serve our city as Acting City Manager. I refuse
to ignore Tracey Cook's decisions to omit facts regarding
SmartTrack, and her approach to the violent encampment
clearings. I can't support this choice in good conscience.

5:40 PM .tul 19,2A22 O

a 464 {) neply l, share

Read 21 replies

Y

https://www.cp24.com/news/coun-josh-matlow-broke-code-of-conduct-on-twifter-should-face-10-day-pay-suspension-says-commission er-1 .6327467# 3/8



3128123,2:27 PM Matlow broke council code, should face 10-day suspension, commissioner finds I CP24.corn

960
Matlow was the only councillor to vote against the decision to appoint Cook to

replace Murray after he stepped down in June.

The councillor accused Cook of omitting facts in information given to council

about former mayor John Tory's SmartTrack transit plan.

ln Friday's findings, Cook said that Matlow "impugned her professional

integrity and personal reputation."

Cook announced her retirement as a civil servant in January 2023.

INSTANGE OF REPRISAL

At a March 3 meeting, Matlow asked a city staffer if they were deliberately

withholding information on the SmartTrack project from the committee, Batty

found.

Matlow's comments were determined to have acted as a reprisal against Cook

after she filed her complaint.

Initially, the commissioner recommended docking Matlow five days' pay, but

later increased it to 10.

Batty wrote that it was necessary to impose a stiff penalty because Matlow's

use of social media represented "an escalation" of misconduct.

SOME ALLEGATIONS DISMISSED

Not all of the allegations made against Matlow were upheld by Batty in

Friday's findings.

For example, Batty determined Matlow was in fact entitled to express his

opinion about Cook's professional record, and didn't violate the code by

voicing his opinion that she shouldn't have been appointed city manager.

That being said, Batty found Matlow broke the code of conduct rule against

bullying or intimidating employees by choosing to criticize both staffers on

social media, and again when he "falsely" harmed Romoff's reputation by

accusing her of lying.

Batty also found Matlow's tweets violated the city's anti-harassmentporicy.

https://www.cp24.com/news/coun-josh-matlow-broke-code-of-conduct-on-twitter-should-face-10-day-pay-suspension-says-commissioner-1 .6327467# 4t8



3128123,2:27 PM Matlow broke council code, should face 10-day suspension, commissioner finds I CP24.com

J

"A member of council who Tweets critically about a specific City employee
subjects that employee to attack in a forum in which they cannot respond."

ln his Friday statement, Matlow said, "in all instances, the information Staff
provided to the public, and the actions they took, supported former Mayor
Tory's political direction rather than provide independent and objective advice."

Going fonvard, Matlow said he " will work to ensure that staff are encouraged
to provide their best advice to council and all Torontonians, independent from
political pressure."

961

Josh MatlowO
@JoshMatlow Follow

Elected representatives have a responsibility to put
residents we serve first. That includes taking a stand
against violent encampment clearings, advocating
for functioning park bathrooms & demanding that
billion-dollar projects are never approved based on
misleading figures...

9:40 AM .Mar 24,2.O23 O

Read the full conversation on Twitter

Read 33 replies

TOP VIDEOS

Ford says
more police
the solution
to TTG
violence

Nashville
bodycam
footage of
school
shooter

WARNING:
Nashville
shooter
inside
school

https://www.cp24.com/news/coun-josh-matlow-broke-code-of-conduct-on-twitter-should-face-1 0-day-pay-suspension-says-commissioner-1 .6327467# 518



962

Report on Councillor Josh Matlow's
Tweet criticizing a committee decision

Jonathan Batty
lntegrity Gommissioner

December 6, 2021

rcT OFFICE OF THE
INTEGRITY
COMMISSIONER
TORONTO



rcT OFFICE OF TI-]E
INTEGRITY
comMrssroNen
TORONTO

963

lntroduction

1. This report describes my investigation of an allegation that on April 27,2021 Councillor Josh

Matlow breached the Code of Conduct for Members of Council(the "Code of Conduct")

when he Tweeted the following comment about the outcome of a vote at the Economic and

Community Development Committee:

The committee referred the motion off to staff with zero timeline for it coming back.

During this pandemic summer, the very time when we don't want people congregating
indoors, placing unreasonable restrictions on the use of our parks is cowardly,
dangerous, inequitable & wrong.

2. I reviewed the complaint and determined it to be within my jurisdiction and that there were

sufficient grounds to investigate the allegation. However, for the reasons set out below, I do

not find Councillor Matlow's conduct is prohibited under the rules of the Code of Conduct.

The Allegations of Misconduct and Councillor Matlow's Reply

The Allegations of Misconduct

3. Deputy Mayor Michael Thompson filed a complaint on May 5,2021alleging that Councillor

Matlow's Tweet was discreditable conduct for purposes of Article XIV (Discreditable

Conduct) of the Code of Conduct and submitted a screenshot of this Tweet. As Deputy

Mayor Thompson publicly announced in Committee, as Chair, his intention to pursue this

matter after the meeting, I have referred to him by name as the complainant.

Ca u n ci I I or M atlow's Response

4. Councillor Matlow acknowledged he Tweeted these remarks and said he believed the

decision of the committee was "cowardly" and he wished that they had demonstrated

courage on an issue that he believed was important tor "equrty and public health." He said

lre stuucl by his renrarks, but he also acknowledged he deleted the Tweet a few minutes

after he had posted it.

lnvestigation

Committee Proceedings

5. The Economic and Community Development Committee (the "Committee") met on April 27,

2021 and considered the following motion: Agenda ltem EC21.15 - Enjoying a Drink

Outdoors: Providing Safe, Responsible and Equitable Options for All Torontonians.

6. Councillor Matlow is not a member of the Committee. He sent a communication to the

Committee on April 12,2021which became the basis for this agenda item. Although

Chapter 27 of lhe Toronto Municipal Code, Council Procedures (the "Council Procedures")

Office of the lntegrity Commissioner
Report on Councillor Josh Matlow's Tweet criticizing a commiitee decision

2ofO



ICT oFf-lcE oF lt.rE

IORONTO

INTEGRITY
cor'rMtsSroNER

964

allows members of Council who are not members of a committee to attend its meetings, ask
questions and make statements, they are not allowed to make motions or vote on items at
that committee. Members of Council who are not members of a committee, however, are
afforded the ability to communicate to a committee to ask them to consider a matter "not on
the meeting agenda but within the committee's mandate.l" This affords such members a
procedural courtesy to put a matter, in the form of an agenda item, before their peers even if
they themselves are not permitted to vote on an item. Agenda ltem EC21.15 was just such
an item.

7. The Committee met by public videoconference and, as is standard practice, the meeting
was streamed live on the City of Toronto's YouTube channel, where a recording of it can still
be viewed. There was a very typical debate on this agenda item. Some members of the
public spoke in favour of the proposed measures in their deputations, some spoke against.
Councillor Matlow spoke in favour, some councillors spoke against (including councillors
who were not members of the Committee). Some voting members did not speak at all in the
debate on this item. The tone of the meeting was business-like and cordial. Councillor
Matlow, for instance, had decided to participate by joining while he was in a park. Ultimately,
however, the Committee did not agree to adopt Councillor Matlow's proposal. lnstead, it
voted to refer the subject to City staff. lmmediately after this vote, the Committee recessed
for lunch.

8. After the Committee voted, Councillor Matlow Tweeted these remarks. He also Tweeted
other comments regarding the meeting that did not employ similar rhetoric as the Tweet that
is subject of this complaint. Those Tweets indicated how disappointed he was with the
outcome but did not name any members of the Committee.

9. Almost immediately, members of the Committee saw all these Tweets and at least one
member, as Councillor Matlow advised me, complained to him about the Tweet referring to
their decision as "cowardly." Councillor Matlow then deleted that Tweet. Following the lunch
recess, Deputy Mayor Thompson, spoke from the chair about this Tweet and advised the
other members he would speak with them about pursuing "the appropriate action to take
with respect to this matter."

10. Although the complaint about Councillor Matlow concerned his reaction to what had
transpired at Committee, he posted the Tweet after he left the Committee. As the conduct at
issue took place outside Committee, it was within my jurisdiction to investigate upon receipt
of a complaint. Had Councillor Matlow used this language in debate, the Chair could have
dealt with it according to the Committee's procedures. ln that case, I would only have
jurisdiction to investigate such remarks if the Committee moved to ask me to do so.

1 Council Procedures 527-17.5. A (2) Members'options for presenting communications.

Office of the lntegrity Commissioner
Report on Councillor Josh Matlow's Tweet criticizing a committee decision

3of6



rcr OFFICE OF THE
INTEGRITY
COMMISSIONER
TORONTO

965

11. Although the Tweet was posted after Councillor Matlow left the Committee meeting, it was

helpful for me to contact the voting members of the Committee who had been present

because it was alleged Councillor Matlow's remarks were dlrected at them personally. Tlre

extent to which members took exception to these remarks varied. Some members told me

they were offended by the Tweet and some chose not to respond to my inquiry at all. While

the collective response from the Committee's members is not determinative of my findings, it

was relevant for me to contact them as the Tweet at issue was critical of their decision.

Findings

Councillor Matlow's Actions

12.The substance of policy debates and voting outcomes are not matters that can, or should

be, reviewed under the Code of Conduct. My jurisdiction is limited to examining personal

conduct of members of Council.

13. ln the legislative process, motions are often amended, defeated or referred for further study

by staff. Councillor Matlow posted this Tweet right after the Committee dealt with his

proposal in a way that he disliked. Councillor Matlow's remarks were deliberate rather than

inadvertent. He told me he deleted them within a few minutes of posting only because a

colleague had expressed displeasure. He did not retract or apologize for these remarks. He

said to me he stood by them, which seems contradictory given that he almost immediately

deleted them.

14. Although Councillor Matlow quickly deleted this Tweet, it was immediately picked up by

online media and remains "live" to this day. Metaphorically, deleting this Tweet could not

"unring that bell" in the world of online content. Deleting a comment is not the same as

retracting a statement. A retraction is a public acknowledgement that something needs to be

withdrawn bccause it is inaccurate or hurtful. As a courtesy, a retraction is often then

coupled with an apology.

What is prohibited under Ariicle XIV (Discreditable Conduct)?

15. Article XIV (Discreditable Conduct) states:

All members of Council have a duty to treat members of the public, one another, and

staff appropriately and without abuse, bullying or intimidation, and to ensure that their

work environment is free from discrimination and harassment. The Ontario Human Rtghfs

Code applies and if applicable, the City's Human Rights and Anti-harassment Policy, and

Hate Activity Policy.

Office of the lntegrity Commissioner
Report on Councillor Josh Matlow's Tweet criticizing a committee decision

4ofG



rcT OFFICE OF TI.IE
INTEGRITY
coilMtsstoNER
IORONTO

966

16. As former lntegrity Commissioner Lorne Sossin noted in a report2 considering whether a
councillor's remarks about another councillor were discreditable conduct:

Councillors will of course from time to time disagree about positions and engage in
political rhetoric in order to criticize the judgment of other Councillors. Councillors must
be permitted sufficient leeway for public criticism in order for municipal democracy to
thrive. There must also be, however, limits on the legitimate scope for public criticism.
One such limit is imposed by Article XIV of the Code, and the duty on Councillors to treat
one another "appropriately."

Discreditable conduct, however, includes not only deliberately lying, but also acting in a
manner that treats other Councillors unfairly.

17. ln that case, a member of Council filed a complaint about what another member said about
him in a radio interview. He was accused of having a conflict of interest and having voted on
a matter concerning it. However, the minutes of Council showed the member had not been
present for the vote. Even if he had been, it was also established he would have had no
conflict. Commissioner Sossin found this was discreditable conduct because the member
did not have due regard for the direct personal consequences these statements would have.
No penalty was recommended, though, because the comments were later retracted and an
apology was made on the same radio program.

18. ln another report3, former lntegrity Commissioner Janet Leiper considered a complaint about
a member of Council made by a person running against her in an upcoming municipal
election. ln that matter, the member told a newspaper that her political opponent was a
"criminal." The person had no criminal record and Commissioner Leiper found this sort of
name-calling to be discreditable conduct. No penalty was recommended because an
unqualified apology was made and accepted before the matter was considered by Council.

19. ln those two cases, an individual was singled out and a factually incorrect statement was
made about that individual,

20. ln contrast, the remarks in this case do not single out any one person; they are aimed at the
Committee, which is a collective entity. Objectively, the critical comment is directed at the
collective judgement of the Committee rather than the character of individual Committee
members. No one appears to have suffered an adverse personal consequence because of
the Tweet. As such, I believe on the spectrum of political discourse, the Tweet was political
rhetoric critical of a legislative outcome rather than an incorrect statement of a factual nature
or a remark individually impugning someone's personal character. As such, Councillor

2 Report on Code of Conduct Violation by Councillor Ford (February 13, 2009)
https:/iwww.toronto.callegdocs/mmis 12009lcclbgrdlbackgroundfile-18977.pdf
3 Report on Violation of Code of Conduct for Members of Council: Councillor Maria Augimeri (August 1,
2014)https://www.toronto.callegdocslmmisl2ol4lcc/bgrd/backgroundfile-72911.pdf

Office of the lntegrity Commissioner
Report on Councillor Josh Matlow's Tweet criticizing a committee decision

5of6



ICT
OFFICE OF THE
INTEGRITY
COMMISSIONER
TORONTO

967

Matlow's Tweet does not amount to discreditable conduct for purposes of the Code of

Conduct.

21. lronically, if anyone has suffered an adverse personal consequence because of the Tweet, it

may be Councillor Matlow. Deleting a Tweet because it has offended your colleagues, but

not apologizing for it, is a half-measure that does not go unnoticed. Although leeway in

political debate is granted under the Code of Conduct, Members may find that observing

higher standards in their political rhetoric will help them accomplish their legislative

objectives.

Gonclusion

22. As I have made no finding of misconduct, no penalty or remedial measure is recommended.

23. Because the remarks I investigated were directed at the Committee's decision and the Chair

discussed with other Committee members that he would be pursuing this matter, all

members of Council (not just the Committee's members) will have an interest in knowing the

outcome as will the public. For these reasons, I am reporting on the outcome of my

investigation to Council.

Respectfully submitted,

Jonathan Batty
I ntegrity Comm issioner

Office of the lntegrity Commissioner
Report on Councillor Josh Matlow's Tweet criticizing a committee decision

6ofG



Crey Areas ITEM 6.5
Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc

Eariste6 & Solicitorg

A COMMENTARY ON LECAL ISSUES AFFECTINC PROFESSIONAL RECULATINN

SML

968
Using the Discipline Process to Enforce

Governance Obl igations

by Julie Maciura
of the Ontario and New Brunswick Bars
March 2023 - No. 276

Council/Board members of professional regulators
have a fiduciary duty to the organization and its public
interest mandate. For example, they must avoid
breaching confidentiality or acting when in a conflict of
interest. A significant breach of those obligations will
result in a "Code of Conduct" process that could result
in censure or even removal from their office. ln serious
matters, those investigations and recommendations
for action are usually performed by external experts.

Where the individual is also a registrant, can the
regulatory complaints and discipline process be used
instead? lf so, should it?

Most regulators strongly discourage the use of the
disciplinary process to address governance matters.
Complaints about governance issues are frequently
screened out as either an abuse of process or not
warranting disciplinary action. The primary process,
using the regulator's Code of Conduct, is best suited
to address those matters. Using the disciplinary
process can easily be misused by those who disagree
with the views of the Council/Board member. lt can
"politicize" regulatory activities. Regulatory
committees are placed in the awkward position of
considering the conduct of those who appoint them to
the committee and who review their performance.
Using the discipline process to address governance
matters can also discourage registrants from serving
in these important positions.

Ultimately, the discipline process has a different
mandate than a Code of Conduct process. The former
protects the public from the incompetent or unethical
conduct of registrants. lt is not designed to ensure that

the leadership of the regulator comply with their
fiduciary duties.

Perhaps these considerations were best illustrated
two decades ago in Manitoba Chiropractors Assn. v.
Alevizos, 2003 MBCA 80 (CanLll). There, a Board
member was referred to discipline for allegations of
revealing confidential information about an
investigation of a practitioner to the practitioner's legal
counsel and spouse. The hearing panel concluded
that there had been a serious breach of confidentiality,
but that it did not amount to professional misconduct
in the circumstances. After further litigation,
Manitoba's highest court upheld the dismissal of the
allegations.

lnterestingly, the Board member then sued the
regulator and many of its representatives for malicious
prosecution and other torts for having tried,
unsuccessfully, to discipline him. Years later, after a
full civil trial, the court concluded that the regulator had
not acted improperly in taking the matter to discipline.

However, a recent case illustrates the successful use
of the discipline process to address governance
concerns. ln Wanqlin v Colleqe of Acupuncturists of
Albefta, 2023 ABCA 25 (CanLll), a registrant was
disciplined for having a conflict of interest while
serving on the Council of the regulator. While on the
Council, she also served on its executive including as
its President. A complaint was made by another
member of the profession that the registrant was
continuing to serve in a leadership position, including
as President, of a professional advocacy and support
association. Having such a dual role is prohibited by
most regulators and was contrary to this regulator's
policies and by-laws.

At the hearing, the regulator rejected the registrant's
"innocent explanation" defence attributing the
apparent dual role on the lack of updated records for
the professional association. This evidence included
information on website pages, including both the

FOR MORE INFORMATION
This newsletter is published by Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc, a law firm practising in the field of professional regulation. lf you are not receiving a copy and would like one,
pleasecontact:SteineckeMaciuraLeBlanc,40lEayStreet,Suite2303,P.O.Box23,Toronto,ONMsH2Y4,Tel:416-599-2200 Fax:416-593-7867,
E-Mail: info@srrl-law.com

WANT TO REPRINT AN ARTICLE
A number of readers have asked to reprint articles in their own newsletters. Our policy is that readers may reprint an arlicle as long as credit is given to both the newsletter
and the firm. Please send us a copy of the issue of the newsletter which contains a reprint from Grey Areas.



Crey Areas 969 SML
Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc

lJ.rrristers & S0licitoN

A COMMENTARY ON LECAL ISSUES AFFECTINC PROFESSIONAL RECULATION

registrant's and the association's pages, recent
association cheques signed by the registrant, and that
the professional association's corporate mailing
address remained the registrant's office. lt concluded
that the documents and testimony established that she
had maintained her leadership role with the
association.

The regulator required the registrant to take an ethics
course, pay a $3,000 fine, and reimburse the
organization for part of its costs in the amount of
$72,000.

The Court found that there were no palpable and
overriding errors in the factual findings of the regulator,
or the finding that the policies and by-laws were
breached. lnterestingly, the registrant identified certain
"disclosures" that she had made (e.9., that she was
"affiliated" with the professional association during
discussion of relevant by-law amendments). The
Court observed that those statements did not
meaningfully disclose the nature and currency of her
position with the professional association.

As in the Alevizos case, the registrant argued that
these governance lapses did not amount to
professional misconduct. The Court upheld the
regulator's finding that it was, stating:

The crux ot this issue ts that the Hearing Panel
and the Review Panel are better positioned
than this Court to assess the impact of Dr.
Wanglin's conduct on the public interest and
the reputation of the profession from the
perspective of a reasonable member of the
public. We must defer to their findings on this
topic absent some clearly unreasonable
conclusion or clear mistake of fact or error of
principle. Dr. Wanglin has not shown any such
error.

We agree with Dr. Wanglin that not every
breach of a policy, including the College's

Conflict of lnterest Policy, necessarily amounts
to professional misconduct. However, the
factual record in this case is extensive and
nuanced, and there is no basis for interfering
with the Hearing Tribunal's conclusions that
Dr. Wanglin's overlapping involvement as
President of the College and executive
member of the AATCMPA constituted
professional misconduct.

The Court also found that the existence of a separate
Code of Conduct process, that could have better
addressed the issue, does not preclude using the
disciplinary process in appropriate cases.

Regulators will probably continue to strongly view the
Code of Conduct process as the preferred option for
most governance transgressions. However, where
there is a serious breach of a fiduciary duty that brings
the credibility of the regulator into doubt and which
reflects on the ability of the registrant to practise with
integrity, the discipline process might also be
available.

Hopefully, lhe Wanglin decision will not result in a
flurry of governance complaints being addressed
through the disciplinary process of regulators.

Page | 2



Gouncil Member Terms as of April 12,20231

1 Please advise Ms Rose Bustria a.s.a.p. if you aware of aware of any discrepancies.
2 CCO requires at least 6 public members to be properly constituted.

ITEM 6.6 970
Date of Expiry of Current
Term

April2025
April2025
Aoril2026
April2026
April2026
Aor1l2025
April2024
April2024
April2024

December 10"2024
December 10.2024
Aoril9-2024
Mav 16.2023
October 14,2024
March 4"2025
October 7.2024

Date Re-elected/
Reappointed

NA
Awil2022
Aoril2023
April2023
Aoril2023
April2022
April202l
NA
NA

December 10.2021
December 10,2021
Aoril9"202l
Mav 16.2020
NA
NA
October 8,2021

Date First
Elected/Annointed

April2022
Ar,ril202l
April202l
April2020
April2020
April2019
April2018
April202l
April202l

December 10,2020
December 10"2020
Awil9.2020
Mav 16.2019
October 14.2021
March 4,2022
October 8"2020

District

3 (Central East)
4 (Central)

7 (Academic)

6 (Western)

5 (Central West)
2 (Eastern)

5 (Central West)
I CNorthern)
4 (Central)

Mississausa
Toronto
Mississauga
Burlineton
Toronto
Cavan Monashan
Union

Name

Elected Members
Dr. Michael Gautier
Dr. Kyle Grice
Dr. Jarrod Goldin
Dr. Colin Goudreau
Dr. Sarah Green
Dr. Paul Groulx
Dr. Dennis Mizel
Dr. Aneelo Santin
Dr. Julia Viscomi

Appointed Members 2

Ms Anuli Ausbeth-Aiaeu
Mr. Markus de Domenico
Mr. Gasandeeo Dhanda
Ms Robyn Gravelle
Ms Zoe Kariunas
Mr. Scott Stewart
Mr. Shawn Southern


	cover page.pdf
	Duties and Objects of Colleges
	17mission, vision, values and  objectives.pdf
	CCO Code of Conduct
	Rules of Order of the Council
	List of Commonly Used Acronyms at CCO
	AGENDA
	1.1 Discipline Committee Report
	1.1.1 HPRO Training (Discipline) –May 26, June 9, 2023
	1.2 Fitness to Practise Committee Report
	1.3 Inquiries, Complaints, and Reports Committee (ICRC)Report
	1.3.1 Shannel Pearson and Chris Triantafilou (received January 31, 2023) (ICRC decision upheld)
	1.3.2 Channel Pearson and Guy Pelletier (received January 31, 2023) (ICRC decision upheld)
	1.4 Patient Relations Committee Report
	1.5 Advertising Committee Report
	4.1 Executive Committee Report
	4.1.17 Endorsement of Justice O’Brienre: hearing on February 17, 2023
	4.1.18 Order dated February 17, 2023
	4.1.19 Grey Areas dated April 2023“The Legal Value of a Sound Policy-Making Process”
	4.1.20 CPMF Report (filed March 31,2023)
	4.1.21 Key Performance Indicators dated November 21, 2021
	4.1.22 DEI Plan (approved April 20, 2022)
	4.1.24 Circulation of ProposedAmendments to Registration Regulation: Creation of Emergency Class of Registration– February 28, 2023
	4.1.25 Posting of CCO Draft Regulationon Regulatory Registry
	4.1.26 Regulatory Registry – Current Proposals
	4.1.27 News Release dated January 19,2023 entitled “New “As of Right” Rules a First in Canada to Attract More Health Care Workers to Ontario”
	4.1.28 News Release dated February 21, 2023 entitled “Ontario Reducing Wait Times for Publicly FundedSurgeries and Diagnostics”
	4.1.30 Correspondence dated February 9, 2023 to Ms Henry, Director, Health Workforce Regulatory Oversight Branch, MOH from Elinor Larney, Chair, HPRO
	4.1.31 Extract from Bill 60, Your Health Act, 2023
	4.1.32 Communication dated February 22, 2023 re: Your Health: A Planfor Connected and Convenient Care
	4.1.33 Media dated March 9, 2023entitled “Ontario considers expanding scope of practice for nurses, pharmacists, and more”
	4.1.34 Media dated March 13, 2023“Gelinas worried unregistered health workers might abuse system”
	4.1.35 Media dated April 5, 2023 entitled “Ontario to expand list of tests midwives can order; midwives say it’s a first step”
	4.1.38 Article from October 21, 2022 meeting entitled “Cyber resilience:12 key controls to strengthen your security”
	4.1.39 Various Cyber Security Training Sessions
	4.1.40 Communication exchange with CBC Reporter
	4.1.41 CBC article dated March 11, 2023 entitled “Backlogged tribunals creating distress for Ontarians waiting months or years to be heard”
	4.1.42 President’s Message – March 28, 2023
	4.1.44 COVID-19 Protocols for Hybrid(In-Person/Virtual) Council and Committee Meetings
	4.1.46 Announcement of Election Results
	4.1.47 Distribution of Election information dated January 26, 2023
	4.1.48 Distribution of Candidate Biographies in District 6 dated March 6, 2023
	4.1.49 Distribution of further Candidate information in District 6 dated March 10, 2023
	4.1.50 Distribution of ballots in District 6 dated March 13, 2023
	4.1.51 Communication from OCA re:Voting for 2023 Elections to CCO Council
	4.1.54 S-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals
	4.1.55 Historical Correspondence re:Chiropractic Care of Animals with CVO
	4.1.56 New Discussion paper from Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs dated March 1,2023
	4.1.57 Correspondence dated February 16, 2023 to Ms Willson from Ms Caroline Brereton, CEO, OCA
	4.1.61 Hearing Tribunal Written Decision and Orders for the Hearing of Dr. Curtis Wall on January 27, 2023
	4.1.64 CCGI Stakeholder Report –March 2023
	4.1.65 HPRO Remarks to Ontario’s Standing Committee on Social Policy Bill 60 Your Health Act, 2023 (March 21, 2023)
	4.1.66 HPRO Correspondence dated March 10, 2023, re: Registration Open for Spring 2023 Discipline Orientation Workshop – Basic and Advanced Sessions
	4.1.68 Michael Venneri v. College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Ontario
	4.2 Quality Assurance Committee Report
	4.2.3 Responses of CCO Members Registered in the General (i.e., Active) Class of Registration for 2023 Renewal of Selected Practice-Related Questions
	4.3 Registration Committee Report
	4.3.1 CCO distribution of proposed amendments to Registration Regulation (Emergency Class of Registration) February 28, 2023
	4.3.2 Communication with the Ministry re: CCO’s Emergency Class –Regulatory Registry Posting
	4.3.3 Feedback as of April 10, 2023
	4.3.5 Application for Temporary Certificate of Registration (current)
	4.3.6 CCO’s 2021 Fair Registration Practices Report
	4.3.7 Notification dated March 15, 2023 re: Fair Registration Practice reporting
	4.3.8 OFC Newsletter dated March 2023 - Regulator Spotlight
	6.1 Chiropractic and Manual Therapies (2023) “A two-year follow up:Twitter activity regarding misinformation about spinal manipulation chiropractic care and boosting immunity during the COVID-19 pandemic”
	6.2 Press Release dated March 30, 2023“Province Helping More Ontario Students Become Doctors at Home in Ontario”
	6.3 Announcement dated April 5, 2023“CPSO Removes Barriers forInternationally Educated Physicians”
	6.4 CTV news March 24, 2023 “Coun. Josh Matlow broke code of conducton Twitter, should face 10-day pay suspension, says commissioner”
	6.5 Grey Areas (March 2023)
	6.6 Council Members Terms (dated March 17, 2023)



